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Abstract 

This thesis is a political history of the Nagas of the Naga hills, from the 1820s to the 1960s. By 

drawing on a wealth of primary sources unutilised hitheno, and an extensive contextualisation 

with comparative and theoretical literature, it seeks to render the respective agents' actions 

meaningful and thus challenges the established historiography in three periods - pre-colonial, 

colonial, and post-colonial. 

While imperialist historiography of the pre-colonial period still predominates, and made the 

Nagas responsible for their own subjugation, this work shows that the logic of the British empire 

made it poised for conquest. Subsequently the colonial rulers were able to blame the vicissitudes 

of Naga society on the Nagas themselves. This thesis offers an alternative version of the Naga 

hill region as home to a plethora of polities conscious of the superior power of their plains' 

neighbours. 

While social science' writings tend to blame colonialism for post-colonial identities and wars, here 

it is demonstrated that agency and identity-formation are an on-going process and neither staned 

nor ended with colonialism. Although the interaction of the local population with colonialism 

produced a Naga national elite, it was the Indian political class that came into existence the same 

way which succeeded in, having access to superior means of nation and state-building so as to 

enable it undenake the modem Indo-Naga war. And it was this war that firmly made the Nagas 

into a "nation" - setting them onto the road to independence. This work fundamentally revises 

our understanding of the existing "histories" of the Nagas by exposing them as ahistorical -

consciously or unconsciously - influenced by colonial or post-colonial narratives of domination. 
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Introduction 

The political history of the Nagas of Northeast India is the subject of this work This history 

culminated in the Indo-Naga war in the 1950s - a war which had profound consequences for the 

Nagas, the wider region and India to this day. Covering the period from the 1820s to the 1960s, 

this thesis aims to contribute to the understanding of this trajectory. 

The Indo-Naga war, fought with varying degrees of intensity since the 1950s, bears in its 

consequences heaviest on the Nagas themselves: decades of violence have destroyed their social 

fabric;! drug abuse and HIV has developed on an epidemic scald the lack of prospects forced 

many young Nagas to emigrate to Indian cities/ where they are either perceived as East-Asians,4 

or as savages,S and where they watch their feIlow- Nagas being paraded as folkloric attractions 

during Indian national celebrations.6 

The Indian policy vis-a.-vis the Nagas (and towards all other people inside India, who are 

fighting for their independence) consists of a three-tiered strategy: 

... brute force to crush the physical capacity to resist, a flood of funds to soften the resolve of indigenous 

groups and a fierce campaign to portray them as renegades, 'misguided' elements who would see sense if 

only they were given a chance.! 

As well as the policy of divide-and-rule, which began with the creation of the Nagaland state,8 the 

emergence of a local political caste that developed a vested interest in the perpetuation of the 

war.9 As f-Iazarika notes: 

The new elite comprises politicians and their relatives, contractors (and their relatives) and senior 

bureaucrats and police officials. Over the years, the dream of independence has faded for many, only to 

be replaced by a I1JU1.£aU rUhe culture of sex and violence, drugs and music, bribery and corruption. le 

1 M. Horam, Naff1S cid 7m)5 ard rx:wtrerris (New Delhi, 1988), p. 140. 
2 SanjoyHazarika, Stra11fPS in the Mist' Tak ifWarardPetUEfromlrrlia's Northeast (New Delhi, 1994), p. 241. 
3 Horam, Naff1S cid 7m)5 ard IXWtren:is, p. 140. 
4 Hazarika, StraYfPS in the Mist, pp. 63-64. 
5 Nari Rustomji, Inperillai Frontiers: Irrlia's North-EastemBarderlands (Delhi, 1983), p. 13. 
6 M. Horam, Na[F Insurg::rr:y The last thirtyy:a~ (New Delhi, 1988), p. 216. 
7 Hazarika, StraYfPS in the Mist, p. 249. 
8 Luingam Luithui and Nandita Haksar, NafJdardFile: A qu£stionifHurrunRif!fots (New Delhi, 1984), p. 29. 
9 Nehemiah Panmei, 'Naga movement and ist ramifications', In R Vas hum, Aleube Iheilung et al (eds.), Nagas at 
Work, 1996), pp. 85-100, p. 97. 
10 Hazarika, S traYfPS in the Mist, p. 241. 
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The result is the creation of profound inequalities in Naga society,!! and the criminalisation of 

parts of the resistance. 12 Neither the union government, nor the Nagaland state government has a 

real interest in ending the war. For the Nagas' public opinion appears to be overwhelmingly in 

favour of an independence of Nagaland.13 

The death-toll of the war among the Nagas is said to be around 100,000.!4 Life in 

Nagaland since 1955 is " ... characterised by constant fear, physical danger and suspicion ... ".!5 A 

11 Horam, N afPS dd W:t)5 ani rew trends, p. 94. 
12 Panmei, 'Naga movement and ist ramifications', p. 97. 
13 Hazarika, Strarws in the Mist, p. 242. 
14 Manfred Scheuch, Bal:rchte Vdker (Wien, 1995), p. 117. Although there never has been a count, nor a 
differentiation of the direct and indirect casualties resulting from that war, so any number given is only an 
approximate indicator of how bad the situation is. 
15 Horam, NafPS dd W:t)5 ani rewtrends, p. 121. Louanne Richards, belonging to a group of Westemerss who, heavily 
guarded, could travel in 1995 to Manipur and Nagaland, in order to visit the graves of their relatives that were killed 
there during World War Two, and confirms Horam's statement, see Louanne Richards, A jOU'rYl?)' into Nagalani 
(Oxford, 1995). This was also corroborated to me in the course of a telephone interview with a filmmaker in 
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mass of security forces - army, paramilitary, police and secret services - have, on the basis of 

special laws ,16 in the whole of the Northeast, a free hand to do whatever they want" ... to shoot, 

kill, conduct search and destroy operations, to enter private premises and search them as well as 

to arrest individuals without warrants." 17 This form of violence continued in the Naga hills up to 

the 1990s: 

Churches were burned, villages were razed, aircraft were used to bomb and harass the Nagas, women 

were raped and continue to be molested even these days by troops, nearly forty years after the first shots 

of the Naga uprising were fired. 18 

The result is that today violence is employed as the main means to solve conflicts, is endemic in 

the whole of the Northeast and prevails in a complex pattern that would be hard to untangle. 19 

Leaving aside the government of India's (GOI) obsession with the balkanisation of India, 

as well as the overrated relevance for the relations between India and its neighbours,20 it is exactly 

the growing unrest in the Northeast that seemingly is the most important result of the Indo-Naga 

war. This is so since the Nagas played a domino role for other resistance groups in the Northeast, 

the reason why an Indian intelligence officer described the National Socialist Council of N agalim 

(NSCN) as the" ... rnother of the north-eastern insurgencies ... ".zl 

Bangkok on 21 March 2001 who in June 1999 could do limited work in the Naga hills and described the atmosphere 
there as extremely repressed due to the long··term military occupation, and that people still obeyed curfew, though it 
had been lifted since long. 
16 Forthe text of that special laws, see R Vas hum, et al (eds.), Nagas at Work (New Delhi, 1996), Appendix XL-XVI., 
pp. 183-198. 
17 Horam, Nagas d.d Wl)S am rEWtrmis, p. 105. About human rights abuses in Nagaland, see Neville Maxwell, IrdiJ. 
am the Nagps (London, 1973); Luingam Luithui and Nandita Haksar, NagalamFile: A questionofHurmnRigpts (New 
Delhi, 1984), Chapters 15-26, pp. 189-277; Naga People's Movement For Human Rights, 'Report of NPMHR', In A. 
R Desai (ed.) , Reprr:ssionamResistana: inlrdiJ. (London, 1990), pp. 288-291; Idem, 'Abrogation of Fundamental 
Rights in Naga Areas', In ibid., pp. 308-311 and P. Dandavate, Haksar, N. et al1990, 'Report of a Fact Finding 
Team', In ibid., pp. 292-307; Neingulo Krome, 'Human Rights Movement in Nagaland', In Naorem Sanajaoba (ed.), 
HummRigpts: Prirripks, Practicts amA buses (New Delhi, 1994), pp. 173-178; Nunai N. Singh, 'Human Rights Abuses 
by Security Forces in Manipur', In ibid., pp. 179-193 and Narth-EastSun 1998, Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 10-11 and Vol. 4, 
No. 10, p. 17. 
18 Hazarika, StrarliPS in the Mist, p. 101. 
19 U.S. Department of State, Int:Ii:l Cmntry Repo;t an HummRiffots Practicts for 1998, Released by the Bureau of 
Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor, February 26, 1999, pp. 6-7, 
http:// www.state.gov/www/ global/human _ rights/ 1998_ hrp Jeport/ india.html. 
20 The Indo-Naga war that was started in the middle of the 1950s may have had minor consequences for Indian 
foreign policy in the past due to the support the Nagas received from Pakistan, China and Burma, and due to the use 
of Bangladesh's territory by Nagas for training and sanctuary. This, however, will have never posed an important 
factor in India's relationship to those countries. For the opposite opinion that indeed the Naga case played a strong 
role in India's foreign policy towards these countries, see Subir Bhaumk, InsUl"fP1l Crossfire: North-East IrdiJ. (New 
Delhi, 1996) and Idem., 'North-East India: The Evolution of a post-colonial Region', In Partha Chatterjee (ed.), 
Wa~ c{FrmIom Fifty Yam cfthe IrdiJ.nNation-State (Delhi, 1998), pp. 310-327. 
21 Ibid., p. 110. By 1962 the Mizos had decided to follow the example of the Nagas and founded the Mizo National 
Front (MNF). The Nagas helped them to establish contacts with Pakistan, China and the independence movements 
in Burma. The MNF in turn helped the Tripura Upajati Juma Samiti, who followed Phizos (the central figure of 
Naga nationalism) call for the unification of the Northeast. Inspired were also the Meitis of Manipur, experimenting, 
from the middle of the 1960s onwards, with revolutionary activities. The United Liberation Front of Assam (ULFA) 
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Now it has been argued by some that because the peripheral areas (Northeast and Northwest) 

command less than 7 per cent of the total population of the Indian State today and roughly the 

same amount of political representation in New Delhi, that "wars" in these regions do not pose a 

problem for India's democracy.22 But such an argument overlooks the fact that 40 million are 

living under martial rule;23 and that this condition has a detrimental effect on India's polity. The 

was founded by Pradip and Someshwar Gogoi after consultations with the NSCN, and ULF A cadres received 
training in the camps of the NSCN in the Somra Tracts of Burma. The NSCN had also been involved in the 
organisation and training of further resistance groups from Assam, Meghalaya, Manipur, and Arunachal Pradesh 
(Panmei, 'Naga movement and ist ramifications', p. 96 and Hazarika, Stra11iPS in the Mist, p. 134). Among them were 
the United Peoples Manipur Liberation Army and the Bodo Security Force (ibid., pp. 165-166). Phiw, the central 
figure in the independence movement of the Nagas, is often described as the father of Naga-nationalism. He 
repeatedly called for an unified Northeast. Even in Assam, when the situation there worsened at the end of the 
19705, people demanded a unification of the Northeast under the leadership of Phizo, see Numal Nibedon, North 
East Irdia: ?he E thnic Exp1c6ion (New Delhi: Lancers Publishers, 1981), p. 124. 
22 James Manor, "Ethnicity' and politics in India', InlemltionaiAjJairs, 1996, Vol. 72, 3, pp. 459-475. 
23 Subash Gatade, 'W'hy the Armed Forces Special Powers Act should be Dumped', Mainln'am, Vol. XLII, No. 32, 
July 31,2004, pp. 3-5. 



5 

argument is funher contradicted by the fact that materially the war involves heavy expenditure 

and that the loss of potential legitimacy is a pennanent drain on the Indian state. 

But more importantly the treatment of Others in the periphery by the Indian state 

exemplifies the ruthlessness with which it deals with Others inside its borders, and those Others 

are increasing in numbers - Muslims, Sikhs, Assamese, Kashmiris, Untouchables, Tribals, 

Christians, women etc.24 The Indo-Naga warthen is an invaluable case-study for the chauvinistic 

and expansionist quality of the Indian polity since 1947 and of course it is in the interest of every 

Indian citizen to reverse this trajectory. 

Most Indian authors trace the origin of the Indo-Naga war to colonialism. In essence they 

argue there was no widespread support for independence among the Nagas which was supported 

only by few extremists. Consequently the GOI was justified in suppressing the insurgency and 

the challenge to its territorial integrity.25 

The only reason why we have to take this seriously is that we are dealing here not with 

badly disguised propaganda, but with propaganda that has turned into an outlook, a worldview, 

an objective truth. So much so that a professor for political science of Indian origin once told me 

in a discussion, that for him, as for every Indian, it is perceived as nonnal to send the army into 

any peripheral area, where terrorists are creating problems.26 That people who are resisting the 

violent subjugation at the hands of the Indian state are understood as terrorists by the average 

Indian, and that decades of fighting and tens of thousands killed does not call this view of the 

situation into question, shows how deeply engraved in the Indian mind it is by now. If educated 

and enlightened Indians cannot countenance in the face of overwhelming evidence, then there is 

something profoundly wrong. 

Indeed if it is not the foreign hand, it is the colonial legacy during which British and 

missionaries had created division in the form of other people, and their existence alone suffices 

as explanation for the wars on India's periphery. Kakar, for example, sees ethnicity, from his 

ahistorical, psycho-analytic perspective, as inherently aggressive-belligerent. Writing of the war in 

Punjab in the 1980s and 1990s,he notes: 

The division of humans into mutually exclusive group identities of tribe, nation, caste, religion and class 

seems to serve two important psychological functions. The first is to increase the feeling of well being in 

24 Paul R Brass, 'Secularism out of its place', In Contribution; to [rKii£lnsOOdugy (n.s.) 32,2 (1998), pp. 485-505. 
25 D. R Mankekar, On the SLippery Slope in Nag:Jand (Bombay, 1967); Y. D. Gundevia, WarandPeaa:inNag:Jand~ew 
Delhi, 1975); V. K. Anand, OJrflict in Nag:Jand: A StudyifIruqpryand ClwrJerinslfl/F'l)' (Delhi, 1980); B. B. Gosh, 
HistoryofNag:Jand ~ew Delhi, 1982); Joysankar Hazarika, GropditUs if North East India: A Straterjml Study ~ew 
Delhi, 1996); B. G. Verghese,IrKii£l's Northeast R5Ur;pTt: Ethniaty, [nsU"f'iFXY, Gou:rrWl:E, Deudoprrmt (New Delhi, 1996); 
V. A Panandiker, 'Foreword', In ibid., pp. VII-IX and S. K. Khanna, En::yiopaaIUz ifNorth-East[rKii£l (Delhi, 1999). 
26 This was in an informal conversation, not in an interview. For literature that sees the Naga question simply as one 
of terrorism, see Bhawani Singh, 'Terrorism in Asia: The Indian Variant', PolitimL Scierre Re1iew, 1986, Vo!. 25, No. 3-
4, pp. 78-93 and Ved Marwah, Urri'1il Win>: Patbiugy ifTerrarism in[rKii£l ~ew Delhi: HarperCollins, 1995). 
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the narcissistic realm by locating one's own group at the centre of the universe, superior to others. The 

shared grandiose self, maintained by legends, myths and rituals, seems to demand a concomitant 

conviction that other groups are inferior ( ... ) the, second function of division into ethnic groups, namely 

the need to have other groups as container's for one's disavowed aspectsP 

The group-narcissism of the Sikhs, their ethnicity according to Kakar, was responsible for the fall 

of the magnificent self of the Sikhs, into a narcissistic rage when faced with the destruction of the 

Golden Temple.28 When seen in contrast with the ethnicity of the Sikhs, for Kakar the ethnicity 

of the Hindus appears to be less aggressive. In the same anthology and in the same vein Veena 

Das analyses the discourse of Sikh militants, and compares it with the reality. For Das the 

narratives and discourse among the Sikh population about the violent excesses of the police are 

responsible for the violence of the Sikhs, not the excesses themselves.29 Terror is the result of the 

discourse of the Sikhs, not the terror and the discourse a result of state terrorism30 Indira 

Gandhi's remarks that the state, in case of demands for independence by the Sikhs, is not able to 

protect those Sikhs outside Punjab, is for Das an admission of helplessness.3
! Ethnicity, especially 

if it concerns minorities who want to opt out of the state, seems in the Indian discourse to be 

something that combines the negative with the irrational and the aggressive. The origin for this 

dissident ethnicity, i.e. the existence of other people than Indians, which are the causes of 

communal and ethnic violence, is to be found in the times of colonialism. 

This argument is also perpetuated in recent publications in South Asian history, politics 

and social anthropology respectively: Peter Robb, in his 'The Colonial State and Constructions of 

Indian Identity: An Example on the Northeast Frontier in the 1880s', takes the Naga hills not to 

explain the genesis of the Naga identity itself, but as an example of how the colonial state with its 

administration and its boundaries created an all-Indian identity. However, since his example itself 

is faulted, due to his reliance on limited sources, that what he wants to elucidate might share the 

same fate.32 While for Robb both the Indian and the Naga identity were created by colonialism, 

Sanjib Baruah, in 'Confronting Constructionism: Ending India's Naga War', only takes the Naga 

identity as constructed, and sees the other collective identities as unproblematic. His argument 

roughly runs like this: colonial rule led to a break-down of traditional hierarchy, that in turn 

27 Sudhir Kakar, 'Some Unconscious Aspects of Ethnic Violence in India', In N. ]ayaram and Satish Saberwal (ed.), 
Sa:ia1 OJrflia (Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1996), pp. 149-158, p. 151. 
28 Ibid., pp. 154-156. 
29 Veena Das, 'Time, Self, and Community. Features of the Sikh Militant Discourse', In N. ]ayaram & Satish 
Saberwal (eds.), Sa:ia1 OJrflia (Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1996), pp. 175-191, p. 187. 
lO Contraty to such an understanding stresses Istvan Kende the relationship between violence exerted by states and 
the phenomenon of terrorism. Idem, Terrorism, wars, nuclear holocaust', Internatiornl Sa:ia1 Scierr:eJournal110, 1986, 
pp. 529-538. 
31 Veena Das, 'Time, Self, and Community. Features of the Sikh Militant Discourse', p. 189. 
32 Peter Robb, 'The Colonial State and Constructions of Indian Identity An Example on the Northeast Frontier in 
the 1880s', McxlernA sian Studits 31, 2 (1997), pp. 245-283. 
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resulted in the acceptance of Orristianity which enabled a collective Naga identity in the first 

place, and that led to conflict, and more Christianity. He stresses pre-colonial Naga divisiveness, 

but at the same time, that they had close and varied ties with the Assamese, i.e. a peaceful 

coexistence.33 Both Robb and Baruah suffer from an insufficient historical rootedness and an 

uncritical reliance on institutional history. While Robb may be excused, since his aims lie 

elsewhere, Baruah's argwnent runs risk of associating with Greater Assam, and since he himself 

contradicts his own argwnentation in the conclusion to his anicle, it leads one to ask for what 

reasons this constructionism is employed at all. Andrew West, in The Ma;t Da~ Legpcy: the 

deudoprrvu if identity, pouer and rmrinality in the British transfer to India and the Nagas, jumps even 

more blatantly on the "invented" and "imagined" bandwagon that not only denies any agency to 

people like the Nagas, but also holds them responsible for their own suffering.34 To the same 

school of thinking belongs Julian Jacobs beautiful illustrated The Nagas: Hill Peopk if Northeast 

India, implicitly pretending to be a pre-colonial historical anthropology of the Nagas, while 

drawing nearly exclusively on only published material of late colonial investigations. Thus, though 

clear in writing and in form, in its ahistorical and apolitical construction, it presents a distorted 

picture of Naga history and present,35 None of these authors uses the colonial files that are the 

main source on Naga history, and if they do to a little extent, as in the case of Robb, they take the 

writing already for the action, and do not question their relationship, i.e. compare them among 

themselves and interrogate their validity by contextualisation. An exception is Paula Banerjee, 

'Between Two Anned Patriarchies: Women in Assam and Nagaland', who by investigating the 

women's role in the political process of the last twenty years takes them serious as agents and 

does not seem to profess self-censorship either.36 

In the works on Assam's history, like the The Corrprr:hensi'l£ History if Assam, edited by H 

K. Barpujari, or his Prcblem if the Hill T rih:s: North-East Frontier and Amalendu Guha's PldnJer-Raj 

to Swraj: FreedomStrugie and Eleaoral Pditicr in Assam 1826-1947, the Nagas are dealt with in a 

relation to Assam and thus in a cursory form. If primary sources are used in relation to the 

Nagas, it is done in an unproblematic way. In addition, theorising and contextualising is hardly 

undertaken, and this all is accompanied by an obvious Assamese bias ponraying the Nagas as 

33 Sanjib Baruah, 'Confronting Constructionism: Ending India's Naga War'']oumal cf pe£U£ Rtsearrh, vol. 40, no. 3, 
2003, pp. 321-338. This article is an extension of O1apter Two of his, IniiaA lFinst Itself A ssamam the Pditic; cf 
N atWrnlity (philadelphia, 1999). 
34 Andrew West, The Mc£t Darr;prxts Lt?fUY the deuiopnwt cf identity, pcmer am nurgjn:dity in the British tran/er to lniia am 
the Nagps (Hull, 1999). For this critique, see Jocelyn Linnekin, 'Cultural Invention and the Dilemma of Authenticity', 
A nxric:tnA nthrvpdqjst, March 1991, Vol. 93, No. 1, pp. 446-449, p. 447: " ... all traditions - Western and indigenous -
are invented, in that they are symbolically constructed in the present and reflect contemporary concerns and 
purposes rather than a passively inherited legacy." 
35 Julian Jacobs, TI'Je Nagps: Hill Peoples cfNartheast lniia (Stuttgart, 1990). 
)6 Paula Bane~ee, 'Between Two Armed Patriarchies: Women in Assam and Nagaland', In Rita Manchanda (ed.), 
Wonw, War am Pe£U£ in South Asia: Bey:;n:i V ictirrIxxxi am A wrY (New Delhi, Thousand Oaks & London, 2001). 
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primitives.37 An exception is Girin Phukon, AssamA ttitude to Federalism who, however, focuses on 

the time around the Transfer of Power.38 Shibanikinkar Chaube's Hill Pditi(5 in North-East Iruiid is 

certainly a good overview work on the Northeast in regard to theory and context, but the cursory 

anention of the Nagas is not satisfying.39 Sanjoy Hazarika's StraYlfPS in the Mist: Tales if War & 

Peaa: from Iruiid 's Nmtheast, though lacking in theory and context, takes the Nagas serious as actors 

but also deals with the whole of the Northeast.4o Udayon Misra's The Periphery Strik(5 Bade: 

OJalfenr!s to the Nation-State in A ssamand Naffd4nd is, where it deals with the Nagas, an uninspired 

repetition of the above outlined argument of Indian authors.41 

Personal accounts on Assam based on his own professional insight, like Nari Rustomji's 

EnmantedFrontiers: Sikkim, BhutanandIruiid's North-Eastern Borderlands and InperilledFruntiers: Iruiid's 

North-Eastern Borderlands and journalistic works on the Northeast and Nagaland like Nirmal 

Nibedon's North East India: The Ethnic Exp1c6ion and his Nagp-land: The Nigpt if the Guenillas, 

although being valuable sources, cannot be considered as scholarly works. Moreover they, like 

Verrier Elwin's Nagp-land, seem to be characterised by a self-censorship that clearly is in the 

interest of the Indian state.42 

Works on Naga history by Naga scholars themselves such as M Alemchimba's A Brief 

Historical Account if Nagaland and Y.L. Roland Shirnmi's CmparatiU! History if the NagjlS: From 

Ancient Perial Till 1826 also suffer from a paucity of historical sources, contextualisation and 

theorising.43 Although the books of Atola L. Changkiri, The A ngarri NagjlS and the British, 1832-

1947 and Visier Sanyu, A History if Nagas and Nagaland: Dynami£s if Oral Tradition in Villa~ 

Fomution have a solid basis of historical sources, they neither subject them to critical scrutiny nor 

37 H K. Barpujari (ed.), The ~i'1£ History if Assam, Vols. I-Ill (Guwahati, 1990-1992); Idem., ProIiemifthe Hill 
Trib:s: NortbEast Frontier, Vols. I-Ill (Gauhati, 1970-1981) and Amalendu Guha, Planter·Raj to Suaraj: FrmlomStm[J!}e 
ani E Ie:toral PditUs inAssam, 1826-1947 (New Delhi, 1977). 
38 Girin Phukon,AssamAttitude to Faleralism (New Delhi, 1984). 
39 Shibanikinkar Chaube, Hill Pditil:s in NortbEast In:lia (New Delhi, 1973). 
40 Sanjoy Hazarika, StraY'if!YS in the Mise Tale if War & Peaafrumln:lia's Northeast (New Delhi, 1994). I met Hazarika in 
August 2000 in Delhi and while he back then saw the Naga question as an inner-Naga one, perpetuated by their own 
armed groups, two years later he had developed a more sympathetic stand towards the Nagas and their concerns, 
while keeping the messed-up situation of the whole of the Northeast in view. This notwithstanding, he sees the sixth 
schedule as unproblematic, see Sanjoy Hazarika, 'India's Northeast: Ethnic Conflict, Peace and Civil Society', the little 
ml/}lZire, vo!. Ill, issue 5 and 6, 2002, pp. 36-41. 
41 Udayon Misra, The Penphery Strikes Back: ~ to the Nation-State inA ssamani Nagplani (Shimla, 2000). 
42 Nari Rustomji, Errhal11:eiFmntiers: Sikkirn, Bhutdnaniln:lia's NortbEasternBorrlerumis (Bombay, 1971) and Idem, 
1 nperilIed F mntiers: 1 n:lia 's N ortb Eastern Border&:nls (Delhi, 1983); Nmnal Nibedon, North East IrrM: The E thnic 
Explaion (New Delhi, 1981) and Idem, Nagplani' The Nifft if the Guerrillas (New Delhi, 1983) and Verrier Elwin, 
Nagplani (Guwahati, 1997 [1961]. Cynthia Keppley Mahmood also came across this phenomenon in relation to her 
experience in Punjab: " ... despite a strong commitment to academic freedom in India, a fair amount of self­
censorship goes on all the time, especially in peripheral locations." Idem, Figfotirrgfor Faith ani Nation: D~ uith 
Sikh Militants (Philadelphia, 1996), p. 4. 
43 M. Alemchimba, A BrUfHistorical A cwu:rrl ifNagpland (Kohima, 1970) and YL. Roland Shimmi, Conparati'1£ History 
if the Nagp.s: FromA rrient Pericd Till 1826 (New Delhi, 1988). 
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contextualise or theorise to a satisfying degree.44 This has as a consequence that Naga history as 

narrated by British imperial historians, as Alexander Mackenzie, History if the Relations if the 

Gar.emmmt mth the Hill Trik if the North-East Frontier if Bengal and Sir Robert Reid, History if the 

Frontier A reas Bordering on Assam From 1883-1941 retains its hegemony till today.45 An exception is 

Pieter Steyn's Zapuphizo· VoW? if the Nag:ts (London, 2002), which breaks the viewpoint of the 

coloniser and presents us with the perspective of the Nagas. Unfortunately, however, he does not 

give his work a scholarly form and thus it is unlikely that it will have the desired impact to shatter 

established historiography.46 

All works that focus on the post-colonial political history of the Nagas have an 

introductory historical part that more or less gives the colonial view. Moreover, even the better 

works among them, like Asoso Yonuo, The Rising Nag:ts: A Historical and Pditical Study and M 

Horam, Naga Insurg;ncy: The last thirty)ears do not theorise or contextualise as a rule, and very 

often do not give their sources. While Aosenba, The Naga Rf5istana: Mozerrent: Pmpects if PetUE and 

A mm Con/lia does the last, he also misses on the first twO.47 

This short discussion of literature on the Nagas shows that the research into Naga history 

and politics has only started. The reason for this is the war. This work thus can be seen as part of 

a new departure. 

The methodology used is closely related to my research history. In the second half of 

1997 I decided to write my Magister-thesis at the Social Anthropology Department of the South 

Asian Institute of the University of Heidelberg, Germany, on the Nagas. Before that I had done 

extensive research into historical anthropology and the understanding I thus gained also informs 

my current thesis.48 I also had worked on Southeast Asian history, politics, and anthropology, 

44 Atola L. Changkiri, The A 17iFm Nagas ani the British, 1832·1947 (New Delhi, 1999) and Visier Sanyu, A History of 
N agas ani N affdani: Dyrnmits if Oral Tradition in V illa~ F OImltion (New Delhi, 1996). 
45 Alexander Mackenzie, History if the Relations if the Gm.emm:nt 71ith the Hill Trih:s of the Narth-East FrontierifBerfj1i 
(Calcutta, 1884) and Sir Robert Reid, History if the Frontier Areas Bordering onAssam From 1883·1941 (Guwahati and 
Delhi, 1997 [1942]. 
46 PieterSteyn, Zapuphizu' Voia?iftheNagas (London, 2002). 
47 Asoso Yonuo, The Risirrg Nagas: A Historiatl aniPditical Study (Delhi, 1974); M. Horam, NaIF Insl4f'iPCJ The last 
thirty )l'ms (New Delhi, 1988) and Aosenba, The NaIF RfSisWre M merrmt: Pmperts of PeLUE ani A rmd O:Jnjlict (New 
Delhi, 2001). In addition to this three works one could also name Ashikho Daili Mao, Nagas: Prrliem ardPditUs 
(New Delhi, 1992); Nehmiah Panmei, 'Naga movement and ist ramifications', In R Vashum, Aleube Iheilung et al 
(eds.), Nagas at Work (New Delhi: NSUD Publication, 1996), pp. 85-100; the personal account of Qlafles Chasie, The 
NaIF Irrbrriio (Kohima, 1999); the kind of a source book full of anecdotes, eye-witness accounts, documents and 
known histotyby Kaka D. Iralu, NafFlaniard Iniia: The Blocdani the Tears (2000) and R Vashum, Naga's Rigpts toSelj 
detemirution (New Delhi, 2000). 
48 See, for instance, the following: Marshal! Sahlins, Historical Metaphors aniM'}thiad Realities (Ann Arbor, 1981); Eric 
Wolf, Europe ani the People Wzt/:;wt History (Berkeley, 1982); Johannes Fabian, Tirreani the O:her. HawA nthrvpdogy 
rrukfS its objru (New York, 1983); Sherry B. Ortner, 'Theory in Anthropology since the Sixties', Corrparatiu! Studie in 
SocietyardHistory, 1984,26, pp. 126-166; Marshal! Sahlins, Islands if History (Chicago, 1985); Maurice Bloch, From 
1dessirrg to Wlem: (Cambridge, 1986); John D. Kelly, 'From Holi to Divali in Fiji: An Essay on Ritual and History', 
Man, 1988, 23, pp. 40-55; Nicholas Thomas, Out (Titre History ani E ulution inA nthropdugical Discourse (Cambridge, 
1989); Bemard S. Cohn, A nA nthropdagist arn:JrTg the HisWrians ani Other EsstT)5 (Delhi, 1990); John D. Kellyand 
Manha Kaplan, 'History, Structure and Ritual',A nntd Reutw( A nthmpdogy, 1990, 19, pp. 119-115; James G. Carrier 
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among them the pre-colonial history of Indonesia, the history of US-American involvement in 

the Vietnam war, the genesis of the Khmer Rouge in Cambodia and state-minorities conflict in 

Southeast Asia. Although not much of this has gone directly into this thesis, I felt I was in a 

familiar area in studying the Nagas. 

When I decided to work on the war in the Naga hills I started to engage with 

anthropological literature on war of which most, however, is ethology not anthropology, i.e. 

separates the reasons for wars among ahistorical (stone age) tribals etc. from the reasons for wars 

among us historical beings, a distinction that is unjustifiable.49 Part of this analysis and 

anthropological and other literature on war that does not make this distinction have gone into 

Chapter Six where I try to explain why the Nagas resorted to arms and why they continued to 

fight, and why those who did the actual combat had the widespread support of the population.so 

In 1998 I signed up with the International Cormittee if the Red ems as an English-Urdu­

translator for Jammu and Kashmir for a little bit over a year. I believe that the experiences I had 

made in this theatre of war, considerably helped my further engagement with the Naga case, but 

also in the understanding about the dynamics and complexities of comparable armed conflicts in 

general. The most astounding thing I found was that I had to revise or abandon most of what I 

(ed.), History and tradition in M elamian A nthrvpdOf!)' (Berkeley, 1992); John and Jean Comaroff, E thrugraphy and the 
Historica1Irrng£rntion (Boulder, 1992); Kirsten Hastrup (ed.), Oher Historits (London, 1992); Charles F. Keyes, Laurell 
Kendall and Helen Hardcare (eds.), Asian Visions if A uthori1:;r Religion and the Maiem States if East and Smtheast A sia 
(Honolulu, 1994). 
49 See the ecological determinism of Marvin Harris, in his works 0mJ, PitJ, war> and Wztk: The Riddk if Odtme 
(New York, 1974); Idem, 'The Yanomamo and the causes of War in Band and Village societies,' In M. Margolis and 
W. Carter (eds.), Brazil, A nthopolcfjcd Pmpe:.t£us: Esstl)S £nHomr ifOJarfes Wagky (New York, 1979), pp. 121-132; 
Idem, 'A Cultural Materialist Theory of Band and Village Warfare: The Yanomamo Test', In Brian R Ferguson (ed.), 
Wa¥n'; Odture, andEwironm:nt (Orlando, 1984), pp. 111-140 and Idem, 'Animal Capture and Yanomamo Warfare: 
Retrospect and New Evidence 'Journal if A nthrofxlaljml Researrh, 1984,40, pp. 183-201; or the biological determinism 
of Napoleon A. Chagnon in 'Die soziale Organisation und die Kriege der Yanomamo-Indianer', In Morton Fried, 
Marvin Harris and Robert Murphy (eds.) , Der Krie;J Zur A nthropclo:;j.e der A f?JSY5sion und des lxrmffreten Korfliktes 
(Frankfurt, 1971), pp. 131-189; Idem, Yammmn' TheFierrePwple (New York, 1983); Idem, 'Reproductive and 
somatic conflicts of interest in the genesis of violence and warfare among tribesmen', In Jonathan Haas (ed.), The 
Anthropology of War (Cambridge, 1990), pp. 77-104 and Idem, Die Yamrrnnii' Leb?nundSterb?nder Indiarx:ram 
Orini?o (Berlin, 1994); or the economic determinism of Brian R Ferguson in his 'Introduction: Studying War', In 
Idem (ed.), Wa¥n'; Odtme and E mironm:nt (Orlando, 1984), pp. 1-81; Idem, 'A Reexamination of the Causes of 
Northwest Coast Warfare' In ibid., pp. 267-328 and Idem, 'Explaining war', In Jonathan Haas (ed.), TheA nthropdogy 
if War (Cambridge, 1990), pp. 26-55; and for a more recent ahistorical, comparative and cognitive anthropology of 
war that degenerates into an ethology, see Erwin Orywal, 'Krieg als Konfliktaustragungsstrategie - Zur Plausibilitat 
von Kriegsursachentheorien aus kognitionsethnologischer Sicht', Zeitsdmjt for E thrdo;je 121 (1996) pp. 1-48 and that 
this "ethology" collapses as soon as it is confronted with historical data see the following discussion, ibid., pp. 49-99. 
so Donald L. Horowitz, Ethnic Groups £n OJrflia (Berkeley, 1985); Georges Balandier, 'An Anthropology of violence 
and war', Internat£onal Scierrejournal, 1986, 110, pp. 499-511; Mary LeG-on Foster and Robert A. Rubinstein (eds.), 
Peaa:anduar: Cm;s·Odtural Pmpmius (New Brunswick, 1986); Istvan Kende, 'Terrorism, wars, nuclear holocaust', 
IntemJ.tiornl Social Scierre journal 110, 1986, pp. 529-538; Jack S. Levi, 'The Causes of War: A Review of Theories and 
Evidence', In Philip E. Tetlock et al (eds.), Beha7ior, SocietyandNudear War (New York, 1989), Vol. 1, pp. 209-333; 
Thomas Gregor, 'Uneasy peace: intertribal relations in Brazil's Upper Xingu', In Jonathan Haas (ed.), The 
:mthropology of War (Cambridge, 1990), pp. 105-124; Thomas Gibson, 'Raiding, trading, and tribal autonomy in 
1llSular Southeast Asia', In ibid., pp. 125-145; Clayton Robarchek, 'Motivation and material causes: on the explanation 
of conflict and war', In ibid., pp. 56-76; Peter J. Braunlein and Andrea Lauser (eds.), Krieg und Frieden: 
Ethnologische Perspektiven (Bremen, 1995); Antonius Robben and Carolyn Nordstrom (eds.), Fieldoork wrier Fire: 
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had believed before I arrived there. It took me approximately nine month in the field with access 

to all sides, readings and discussions also with knowledgeable colleagues, before I was able to 

understand the different lines of conflict and common interest. This taught me a lesson about the 

complexities of such wars and how much effort is required to understand them, and though my 

work is a historical, since I never have been in the Naga hills, nor been able to talk to a wide array 

of people there, I consider my work as preliminary effort, subject to revision once I do obtain 

access.51 

Returning to Heidelberg in spring 1999 I wrote my Magister-thesis. In this I established 

already a narrative of modem Naga political history with the help of secondary sources, available 

at or via the University of Heidelberg, while clarifying some points also in interviews with Nagas. 

The thesis questioned concepts of state, nation and nationalism, ethnicity and ethnic group and 

war and their inherent relationship. At least a little of this has gone into the theoretical part of 

Chapter Six. 

In the summer 2000 I got the offer to continue the work on the Nagas at the University 

of Hull. I registered for the PhD training course during the academic year 2000/2001, and in the 

course of which I wrote, among other things, several papers for Professor Gurharpal Singh 

regarding centre-state relations in Indian, his transfer of the concept of ethnic democracy to the 

Indian polity and Ernest Gellner's theory of nationalism, material that can be found in Chapter 

Five and Six. 

In March 2001, I went to Bangkok to meet and interview representatives of the NSCN (1-

M) for about three weeks, where I had especially very extensive talks with its general secretary 

Th. Muivah and, while nothing directly informed this thesis, it greatly enlarged my understanding 

of the more recent affairs. 

From June 2001 to June 2002 I spent doing research on Naga history in the archives of 

the British Library in London, in addition to an ongoing series of interviews with Nagas. 

ContenpararyStudits ifViderreandSuniud (Berkeley, 1995); Envin Orywal, Aparna Rao and Michael Bollig (eds.), Krieg 
un:lKanpf Die Gew:dt inunserenKapfen (Berlin, 1996); Hidemi Suganemi, On the causf5 ifuar (Oxford, 1996). 
51 This experience led me to appreciate, for instance, the following literature on torture, state terror, nationalism and 
war: Michael Taussig, 'Gtlture of Terror - Space of Death: Roger Casement's Putumayo Report and the Explanation 
of Torture', OJrrparatz7.e Studits inSaiety and History, 1984,26, pp. 467-497; S. J. Tambiah, Sri Lama: Ethnic Fratricide 
am the Dismmtlirg if Demx:racy (Dehli, 1986); A J. Wuson, The Break· Up ifS ri Lama: The S inhaie;(' Tarril OJrflia 
(London, 1988); Pierre L. Van den Berghe (ed.), 5tdte viderxE amEthnicity (Nwot, 1990); Imtiaz Ahmed, 'State, 
military and modernity. the experience of South Asia', OJnterrporarySoothAsia (1994), 3 (1); pp. 53-66; Carole 
Nagengast, 'Violence, Terror, and the Crisis ofthe State',A mual Raiewif A nthrupdogy, 1994,23, pp. 109-136; Miles 
D. Wolpin, 'State terrorism and death squads in the New World Order', In Kumar Rupesinghe and Marcial Rubio C. 
(eds.), The adture if'l.idern: (Tokyo, 1994), pp. 198-236; Ronald D. Crelinsten and Alex P. Schmid (eds.), The PditUs if 
Pain: Torturers and Their Masters (Boulder, 1995); Joyce Penigrew, The Sikhs if the Punjab: unheard wUxs ifstdteam fJIfl7Ilk 
Uderx:e (London and New Jersey, 1995); Cynthia Keppley Mahmood, FigfJtirgfor Faith am Natiorr DialOf!Jll!S uith S igfJ 
M ilztants (Philadelphia, 1996); S umantra Bose, The Oxdleiw in Kashmir: Derrrxracy, Self Defemination am a Just Pwe 
(New Delhi, Thousand Oaks & London, 1997); E. Valentine Daniel, OJapters in anA nthrupdo/J ifVidem:: Sri 
Lamar5, Sirhalas ani Tanils (Delhi, 1997);Cynthia Keppley Mahmood, 'Trials by Fire: Dynamics of Terror in Punjab 
and Kashmir', In Jeffrey A Sluka (ed.), Death Squad: The A nthrupdo/J ifStdte Terror (Philadelphia, 2000), pp. 70-90. 
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Although I was already acquainted with most of what had been published on the Nagas, I 

decided I would leave that aside and take as little for granted as possible in order to arrive at my 

findings afresh with the help of new sources and a critical reading of them. Consequently, for the 

whole year I combed through every relevant volume and folder, and gathered the material which 

I then wrote up in the following year. 

This work therefore is very much anchored in the interplay and articulation of historical 

anthropology, history and political science. 

I analysed and contextualised this narrative via interrogating and comparing its coherence 

with "itself" and by embedding it into the wider framework, i.e. for one in the wider British 

imperial enterprise (Chapter One and Three), Southeast Asian history (Chapter Two), 

ethnogenesis under colonial rule (Chapter Four), Indian post-colonial nation-building (Chapter 

Five), and Naga nation-formation (Chapter Six). 

The thesis therefrom aims to counter the overall shortcomings of the writings on the 

Nagas as outlined above. These might be summarised as the continuation of British imperial 

history, the perpetuation of the "invented" and "imagined" argument denying them history, 

"agency", the defamation of Nagas as mentally "immature savages", and finally, the denial of the 

war and its description as "a law and order problem" . All this might be treated as in the service of 

an ongoing project of domination. Hence I have divided my thesis into six chapters, of which 

two always demonstrate the dialectic between dmination and resista1UE. 

Chapter One deals with the initial phase of contact between British and Nagas and the 

diverse manifestations of the former's desire to subjugate the latter - until this was abandoned 

due to high costs. This runs against established historiography that claims British imperial 

indifference towards the Naga hills at this stage and makes the Nagas responsible for British 

retribution and conquest. Moreover, by embedding British actions into the general context of 

British imperialism, I show that British movement into the Naga hills at this time were perfectly 

in accord with the overall imperial project. 

Chapter Two attempts to render Naga behaviour in the face of British encroachments 

understandable. This I do via a careful reading of colonial sources, then by placing them into the 

wider history of that region and by looking at comparative cases. Here in relation to one Naga 

group I am able to stress several things distorted or neglected in the established historiography: 

first, that these hill societies can only be understood when placed into the wider context, which is 

especially true for the practice of headhunting; second, that the Naga hills were not a murderous 

zone of headhunting machines; third, that the Nagas were politically conscious of themselves and 

in contradistinction to their plains' neighbours; fourth, that they were also aware about the 

superior power of their centralised neighbours and thus as a rule refrained from provocative acts; 
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fifth, that when they surrendered they did it out of the belief the victors would not want to stay 

and finally return to the plains; and sixth, and more implicitly, they also surrendered because they 

were aware of the general practice of imperialism (i.e. of rule over others, and thus more willing 

to accept it). 

Chapter Three then returns to the British agents, explains their return to and partial 

conquest of the Naga hills, the way they ruled them and the reasons for retreat. I am able to show 

here that the British, when the Transfer of Power was nearing, never wanted the Nagas to be 

independent, as it is widely believed, but were only interested in some safeguards for them, and 

that also only in the beginning. Further, this chapter describes in detail the specific colonial 

administration and thus presents us with the basis for rendering the consequences of this rule 

meaningful in regard to Naga social identity formation. 

This process of ethno- or nationgenesis under colonial rule is addressed in Chapter Four. 

At this juncture I first demonstrate that colonial rule did not have the salutary effects it is 

professed to have had in colonial historiography. Further, that the impact of colonial 

administration and Christianity were only enough to produce an elite Naga nation, but 

inconsequential in this respect for the mass of the Nagas who only were sensitised to their elite's 

concerns by the cataclysm of the Second World War, staging one of its decisive battles in the 

Naga hills. 

Chapter Five outlines the policy of the post-colonial political Indo-Assamese elite 

towards the Nagas that was characterised on the one side by lip-services at the centre towards 

granting free choice to the Nagas and sympathy with them, but on the other side, by a 

determination to keep them within the Indian union, which found its equivalents in the Indian 

constitution and in the actions of the Indo-Assamese agents on the spot who treated the Nagas 

as politically immature savages. It is shown that the Indian state, in the logic of the nation­

building process of post-colonial states, employed massive armed force, qualifying to be called 

state terror and genocide, to bring the recalcitrant Nagas to terms. 

Chapter Six expounds how the Nagas, initially voting for immediate return to their 

independence then acquiesced to an interim solution before they, because of the as insincere 

perceived Indian policy, again returned to their initial demand. Further, it examines how the 

Nagas, in emulation of the Indian Congress, fought with non-violent non-cooperation till the 

violence, employed by the Indo-Assamese administration, became in their eyes intolerable and 

resulted in them taking recourse to armed resistance. The ensuing war finally not only served as 

real catalyst for Christianity among the Nagas but also in the same vein for the Naga nation. 
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Chapter One 

British Imperial Expansion and Historical Agency - 1820s-1850s 

1.1 Introduction! 

That the British never intended to conquer the Naga hills and that this was forced on them by 

the Nagas themselves is a myth in the modem sense. The aim to defeat the Burmese, to expel 

them from Assam and to reinstall the native governments in between as a buffer zone, made the 

hill people surrounding Assam initially into potential allies, to be drawn into the violent conflict 

and made instrumental in the war efforts. At this stage they are by no means portrayed as 

negative and treated as equals in the colonial documents. The prospect for economic profit and 

the discovery of the strategic value of the mountains surrounding Assam then led to the decision 

to keep it and to reinstall only some of the native governments, and then only as dependent ones. 

The hill people now were turned from sensible and potential allies into irrational, irresponsible, 

barbarous savages, of whom the Assamese had to be protected. The reason for keeping Assam 

under British rule was to safeguard it from these "viles". In the case of the Nagas the dependent 

government of Manipur was encouraged to subjugate them When that stratagem failed and led 

to retaliations, carried out by the Nagas, the British in turn changed tactics and tried to make 

them comply with, what they called punishment expeditions. These punishment expeditions 

involved the foraging into the Nagas' territory, destroying their villages and defences together 

with their grain stores, leaving them resourceless and defenceless to the mercy of often hostile 

neighbours and trying to overawe them into subjugation. Yet when this also failed to show the 

desired effect, the British turned to add to their strategy the component of the economic break­

up and incorporation of the Naga hills into their market sphere, combined with the threat of 

military force. Simultaneously they were closing in on the Naga hills by settling other cultivator 

populations around them, as well as allowing the extensions of the tea estates up to the foot hills. 

But this was all to no avail. The Nagas were under no central rule, which could have made them 

comply. The terrain and the weather were so difficult for the British that the Nagas, when 

changing to guerrilla tactics, could not be controlled easily by them Hence a rational calculation 

brought the British to disengage from the Naga hills. More than a decade later the British 

reversed that policy. For reasons lying beyond the Naga hills, they started to conquer them bit by 

bit, never bringing them entirely under their control (see Chapter Three). 

1 For orientation the map in the pocket at the end of the thesis may also be consulted. 
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The Tengimas were part of the later Angarnis, and at the time of British anival were 

organised in a ranked clan system that can be taken as a segmentary political system (see Chapter 

Two). The clans rivalled each other for hegemony that expressed itself in tribute and enforced 

following in case of external threat, thus constituting a parallel penetrated tenitorial polity based 

on conflict and consensus. Historically, Southeast Asian, the Tengimas inhabited a refuge area 

whose inhabitants had developed their identity by stressing individual autonomy and collective 

consensus in conscious opposition to the hierarchical constituted lowland societies. Since they 

were aware of the numerical, material, and technological superiority of their centrally organised 

plains neighbours, they carefully tuned their policy towards them, appeased at one time and 

deterred on the other. Being at the same time conscious on the fact that it was the vety 

inaccessible nature of their tenitoty that allowed for their independent way of life, they put up 

staunch resistance when threatened with large-scale invasions, but gave in when resistance 

seemed futile. Plains kingdoms in Southeast Asia had thus far not seen any incentive to direct 

control or to subjugate hill regions. 

Radcliffe-Brown was at pains to justify such processes in African societies as politics.2 

Politics was the matter of states, and real states were nation-states, and nation-states, in turn, were 

European or of European descent, since only rational Europeans could devise, erect and man 

them Non-Europeans, devoid of self-consciousness, were excluded from progress and histoty, 

and thus unable to develop a national consciousness, form a nation, or build a nation-state. These 

non-nations, had to be ruled by the enlightened nations, in this way conveying legitimacy to the 

imperial project.3 So when we speak about nation or non-nation we have to be aware of this 

legacy, on the normative content of this statement, and the empowering or disempowering 

consequences that may come with it. The term nation, I would argue, always was more normative 

than it was descriptive - which is not to deny its relative reality - but to doubt its real reach and 

extent. 

I will argue that the T engimas were conscious of themselves as political different, and 

determined to retain that difference, as is proven by their sustained resistance. This consciousness 

of being different qualifies to be called as national in the sense of a self-conscious political 

community. To measure and evaluate Tengima nationalism against an idealised modem 

European nation is not only part of the above mentioned legacy, but in its teleology obstructs our 

view and inhibits us to understand both phenomena. 

2 A R Radcliffe-Brown, 'Preface' In M Fortes and E. E. Evans-Pritchard (eds.) , AjrU:anPdiJiml S)5tem (London and 
New York, 1987 [1940], pp. XI-XXIII. 
3 Prasenjit Duara, ResatingHistoryfomt:b? Natiorr QttstUmirrg, Narrati7£S ifMrx1em CJ.Jina (Chicago, 1995), pp. 22-23. 
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The evidence is overwhelming that the British had no preconception of the region, in which they 

were to encounter the hill tribes, who at that time were already called "Nagas" by the inhabitants 

of the plains - a term unknown to the Nagas. The meeting of the British and the Nagas was the 

result of the war of the former with the Burmese in 1824-26. The Burmese had invaded Assam 

and threatened territory of the East India Company (EIq until the British declared war and 

decided to expel the Burmese from the Northeast. At first the British did not want to stay in 

Assam, but rather intended to create a buffer zone between British India and the court of Ava. 

As long as the Burmese threat continued to exist, the British planned to enlist the hill tribes for 

purposes of gathering intelligence, maintaining logistics and fighting the Burmese as members of 

British troops. The British had used hill tribes in this way before. At this historical juncture, the 

British perceived and ponrayed the Nagas with moral indifference. This, however, quickly 

changed when the British discovered that the Arracan mountain range potentially formed a 

natural (geopoliticaQ boundary thus rendering Assam impottant from a strategic point of view. 

Immediately following this revelation, strategic and economic reasons for keeping Assam within 

the empire were brought forward. With an ever increasing accumulation of intelligence, the 

British fonified their strategic and economic rationale for occupying Assam, as well as the 

necessity for British civilisation4 and administration, until they both merged into one. Such 

rationales were superseded and at the same time justified by a new British awareness of their duty 

to protect Assam from the "barbarians", the name then given to the hill tribes. In other words, 

perception and description of land as well as people varied in accordance with the changing 

imperial interests. 

Interpreting the actions of Cones during the conquest of Mexico, Tzetevan T odorov 

suggests that " ... in the world of a Machiavelli and a Cones the discourse is neither determined by 

the object, which it describes, nor by congruence with a tradition, but follows in its construction 

only the aim, which it is pursuing."s Todorov explicates this argument with a theoretical analysis 

of language, beginning with the publication of the first grammar of a modem European language 

in 1492. This characterised an attitude shift from one of obedience to analysis and the 

4 "Gvilization" and "Europe" by and large took the place of the tenn "Ouistendom" to define the West against the 
rest. G. W. Stocking, VutontmA~ (New York, 1987), p. 11. About the properties of the concept: "The 
notion of "wildness" (or in its Latinate fonn 'savagery') belongs to a set of culturally self-authenticating devices 
which includes, among many others, the ideas of 'madness' and 'heresy' as well. These terms are used not merely to 
designate a specific condition or state of being but also to confinn the value of their dialectical antitheses: 
'civilization', 'sanity', and 'orthodoxy' respectively. Thus, they do not so much refer to a specific thing, place, or 
condition as dictate a particular attitude governing a relationship between a lived reality and some area of 
problematical existence that cannot be accommodated easily to conventional conceptions of the nonnal or familiar." 
Hayden White, 'The Forms of Wildness: Archeology of an Idea', In Edward Dudleyand Maximillian E. Novak 
(ecis.), The WUdMan Wzthin: A nlml~in Western J'hou#tfo:mthe Rernissarre to Rotrnnticism (Pittsburgh, 1972), pp. 3-38, 
p.4. 
5 Tzvetan Todorov, Die E~A nmkas: Das Pniienut5 A nIem1 (Frankfurt am Main, 1985), p. 142 (my 
translation; French in the original: La ~del'A rmique La qut5tWnde l'autre.). 
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concomitant consciousness that one may as well utilise language for practical pmposes.6 This may 

be likened to what Max Weber has termed the "disenchantment of the world": the knowledge or 

belief of being able to understand everything about the conditions of life by way of calculation, in 

order to dominate them.7 

For the Spaniards the spread of Christendom provided ideological legitimacy for 

conquest, expansion, and the hunt for gold. They gave Christianity and took the gold, with 

material subjugation thus a prerequisite for the spread of Olristianity and the taking of the gold. 

As such, means and ends merged into one. In cases of resistance, the Other had to be seen as 

inferior, thereby providing justification for conquest.8 The Other had to be denied equality, was 

not to be taken as a subject, but as an object. Or, as Todorov phrases it: "The other human is 

discovered and refused! rejected at the same time."9 In this respect, the British may be seen to 

have followed the pattern of their Spanish forerunners. 

Let us now have a closer look at our British conquerors, and what might have driven 

them to empire, since "[t]he study of empire, even of British society remains essential for an 

understanding of those societies which were touched by imperial powers." 10 This is not to say 

that the Nagas were created by the British. The British imperialists were not that powerful. 

Communities had older roots (see Olapter Two), and Bayly stresses this," but nevertheless they 

are (unfortunate I)) our main source, and their actions made an impact, that well justifies the 

following excursus. 

1.2 The Drive for Empire 

The literature on causation and reasons of British imperialism is immense, so the material drawn 

on here is necessarily selective. While a short account of some of the major arguments of this 

discussion is necessary, mainly to render the effects that this expansion had on the Nagas 

meaningful, it is more important to show that the quality of the relations the British entertained 

with the Nagas was in line with general imperial policy. To state this, is to counter the argument 

mentioned above and prevailing in the literature existing on the Nagas: namely, that the British 

did not wish to invade and subjugate the Naga hills, rather that the Nagas brought this conquest 

upon themselves by raiding British holdings in the Assamese plains, and the British had no 

choice but to go in and tame these "savages". Although the British right to have been in the 

Assamese plains at all is widely challenged today, this is not at all the case with their seizure of the 

6 Ibid., p. 15l. 
7 Max Weber, eesarrmite A ujstitze zur WlSserschafislmre (Tiibingen, 1973), p. 594. Weber stresses that this did not mean 
actual knowledge, only the belief. 
S T odorov, Die E ~ A rrrrikas: Das Prrliem des A rrieren, p. 59. 
9 Ibid., p. 65, (my translation). 
1: C. A Bay/y, lrrperial Meridian: The British errpire ani the '1JJJIid 1780-1830 (London, 1989), p. 218. 
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Naga hills. The reason for it not being so, may be found in the fact that thus it might convey 

some legitimacy to the successor of the raj, the Indian union, whose agents justify their later 

invasion and occupation by referring not only to the right that the British conquerors had handed 

down to them, but also by adopting and alluding to the argument brought forward by their 

forerunners to justify the annexation; that is, that this happened for the Nagas' own good. 

There is no perfect agreement on what actually imperialism is,12 since every definition tries to 

capture the phenomenon as well as the intentions that were behind its creation. It might be useful 

to start with Gallagher's and Robinson's definition: 

Imperialism, perhaps, may be defined as a sufficient political function of this process of integrating 

new regions into the expanding economy; its character is largely decided by the various and 

changing relationships between the political and economic elements of expansion in any particular 

region and time. Two qualifications must be made. First, imperialism may be only indirectly 

connected with economic integration in that it sometimes extends beyond areas of economic 

development, but acts for their strategic protection. Secondly, although imperialism is a function 

of economic expansion, it is not a necessary function. Whether imperialist phenomena show 

themselves or not, is determined not only by the factors of economic expansion, but equally by the 

political and social organization of the regions brought into the orbit of the expansive society, and 

also by the world situation in general. 

It is only when the politics of these new regions fail to provide satisfactory conditions for 

commercial or strategic integration and when their relative weakness allows, that power is used 

imperialistically to adjust those conditions.13 

Gallagher and Robinson stress four points important for our case: the overall economic objective 

and drive that was behind the whole enteIprise and did not necessarily lead to imperialism; 

whether direct political control was exercised or not;14 the allowing for the gaining of control 

over a certain territory not out of an immediate economic interest in itself but out of a strategic 

rationale, for example to protect the economically esteemed hinterland; and finally they give 

consideration to the local and global power situation that played a decisive role in whether the 

imperial decision-making machine went for direct conquest and subjugation under direct 

administration or for indirect control, or still, to abstain from any interference in the first place. 

Cain and Hopkins subscribe to this definition, but stress the point that "imperialism" is ultimately 

11 Ibid., p. 178, although with regard to mainstream Indian society. 
12 Dierk Walter, 'Colonialism and Imperialism', In E~ c!Videtre, Peace, and 0Jrflict, V cl 1 (San Diego, 1999), 
pp. 355-365, p. 355. 
13 John Gallagher and Ronald Robinson, 'The Imperialism of Free Trade', The E coraric History Reriew, Second Series, 
Vo!. VI., No. 1, 1953, pp. 1-15, pp. 5-6. 
14 "Refusals to annex are no proof of reluctance to contro!''' Ibid., p. 3. 
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part of what is generally described as "international relations", that is that states entertam 

relations and interests beyond their borders, that constitutes an external expansion, but what in 

the end qualifies for them as "imperialistic" is when these relations turn essentially unequal: 

... imperialism is a branch of international relations and not its totality. The distinguishing feature of 

imperialism is not that it takes a specific economic, cultural or political form, but that it involves an 

incursion, or an attempted incursion, into the sovereignty of another state. ( ... ) What matters for 

purposes of definition is that one power has the will, and, if it is to succeed, the capacity to shape the 

affairs of another by imposing upon it. The relations established by imperialism are therefore based 

upon inequality and not upon mutual compromises of the kind which characterise states of 

independence.!5 

To see imperialism as a function, as the aggressive possibility, of the external relations of states 

enables us to develop an open and non-compartmentalised view on the phenomenon itself. This 

is to say that imperialism is not limited to the European expansion that took place since the end 

of the fifteenth century,16 nor to a specific period of it, but that imperialism had already existed 

before and still does afterwards and that it was and still is also carried on by non-European 

polities. In addition we have to free our depiction and narration of political history from the 

perspective of the state and remind ourselves that imperialism was, especially in the past, carried 

out by all kinds of socio-political formations that were called empires, kingdoms etc., and in turn 

also had them as targets. Today, it is especially state-less people, who are the often unrecognised 

object of imperial policies. "Empire", so Anthony Pagden, states: 

is represented as a mode of political oppression, a denial by one people of the rights - above all the 

right to self-detennination - of countless others. 

Empires, it is assumed, are in some sense artificial creations. They are created by conquest, and 

conquerors have always attempted to keep those they have conquered in subservience. This has been 

achieved by a mixture of simple force and some kind of ideology; in the case of the Roman Empire 

this ideology was that of 'civilization', the lure of a more desirable, more comfortable and infinitely 

richer way of life. In the case of the Spanish, French and British empires, it was the same, but 

reinforced now by differing brands of Ouistianity.17 

Having stated this, and thus suggested the lmgue cIu:rre of ideas, and also possibly of 

phenomena, it may be fruitful to take a step back Subjugation and colonisation, the business of 

empire-building, was, for Europeans, first rooted in European tradition, praxis and experience. 

15 P. J. Cain and A G. Hopkins, British inperidism i.rrrmlltion ani exparsion 1688-1914 (London, 1993), pp. 42-43. 
16 Further, that the exerted control was never as total or as unchallenged as European perpetuators liked to portray it, 
see Linda Colley, Captiu:s: Britain, errpire ani the uarId, 1600-1850 (London, 2002). 
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The British were conscious of themselves being a conquered people and their polity stemming 

from this conquest. Further, the example of the colonisation of Ireland demonstrated that the 

model of the Romans was still practicable in the modem world.18 The Roman empire dominated 

European political imagination in every way and selVed as the definite point of reference for any 

expansionist enterprise.19 Rome thus delivered a reselVoir of examples and ideas to be copied and 

followed on, or, if needed, learned from and modified. An empire was thus imagined in three 

different ways: " ... as limited and independent or 'perfect' rule, as a territory embracing more than 

one political community, and as the absolute sovereignty of a single individual..."20 Pagden sees 

this conception being" ... derived from the discursive praxis of the Roman Empire, and to a lesser 

extent the Athenian and Macedonian empires.,,21 These three ideas of empire illuminate that the 

first is incompatible with the two ensuing, yet following Aristotle's theory of natural slavery, the 

Roman Qcero wrote that the provincials had to be ruled for their own good. The Roman empire 

saw itself as the only power, the only civilisation on earth, and entenained the conviction that 

there existed a divide between those fully rational and those who were not, between those 

destined to rule and those to be ruled Pagden stresses then that ever since Aristotle's theory of 

natural slavery, the Greek conception of themselves and the barhtroi, and the Romans seeing 

themselves as the only power, the legitimacy for empire, that is to say the rule over others by 

assening it is for their own good, was provided for in European ideology.22 This legacy of ancient 

classic times of an argument that may justify anything, is still with us today, and was available to 

the British, as to other European powers, throughout their history. The Roman claim for world 

rule was succeeded by first the Ouistian and then the civilising project.23 Yet, all beginning of 

empire-building was instigated by the desire for glory achieved through conquest: 

This seemingly inescapable desire for territorial expansion through conquest was also bound by a code 

of aristocratic values which had played a crucial role in the creation of all the earliest overseas empires. 

for overseas expansion promised to those who engaged in it not only trade and, if they were lucky, 

precious metals, it also offered the promise of glory, and with glory a kind of social advancement 

which, before the mid-eighteenth century, could be acquired by almost no other means .24 

17 Anthony Pagden, PYples ani enpim (London, 2001), p. 8. 
18 Nicholas Canny, 'The Origins of Empire: An Introduction', In The Oxford history if the British enpire. V cl. 1. The 
arigins if enpire British merseas enterprise to thedae if the ser.ent££nth a?11IJ.lry (Oxford, 1998), pp. 1-34, pp. 7-9 and 15. See 
also Thomas R Metcalf, 'Ideologies of the Raj', TheNew~Historyiflrxiia, Vol. IIIA. (Cambridge, 1994), pp. 
2-3. 
19 Anthony Pagden, Lants if all the'1lnrld: ldalagjes iferrpi:re in Spain, BritainardFrarrec 1500· c1800 (New Haven and 
London, 1995), pp. 11-12 and 17. 
2e Ibid., p. 17. 
21 Ibid. 
22 Ibid., pp. 20-23. 
23 Ibid., pp. 30-31. 
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The Spaniards set the example that the English, and also the French, tried to emulate initially, but 

neither the French nor the English had the resources for large-scale conquests or found the 

conditions as the Spaniards had done. Thus they had to settle for trade and utilising the new 

territories for agricultural produce, the antithesis of the more glorious conquest. By the 

eighteenth century the earlier objective of imitating the Spaniards had been forgotten, and now 

the English set themselves apan by creating their self-image as peaceful traders and supporters of 

agriculture, not as blood-spilling conquerors.25 Nevertheless, the British shatply felt the need for 

some legitimacy for the occupation of other peoples' land, and due to their own history they 

could not find it in religion,26 and somehow found it in the 

... Roman Law argument known as 13 nullius. This maintained that all "empty things", which included 

unoccupied lands, remained the common property of all mankind until they were put to some, 

generally agricultural, use. The first person to use the land in this way became its ownerP 

This rationalisation was utilised from the 1620s onwards by English colonists (and also by the 

French). Conquest lost its legitimising value, and it was now the improvement of the land by 

agriculture that transferred the right of possession over the land to the new settler, supported by 

John Locke who argued that one only acquires right to property when one has invested labour. 

Consequently, the hunter-gatherer was as title-less to the land as any wild animal. Moreover, the 

use of the soil only gave the possibility of building up a true civity and via this conferred 

sovereignty over it. The conquest of America and later of Australia brought about the claims that 

hunter-gatherers were sub-human beings, rather like wild animals.28 Hence, there might have 

been a direct line from Aristotle's concept of "natural slaveri' that justified war agamst 

barbarians in order to bring them, or their land, into the a:rif£1s to the discussions of the 

Europeans on the legitimacy of their acquisition of foreign lands.29 

As the Roman and the own European example constituted the background from which 

experiences and justifications were drawn for the undertaking in the Americas, the Americas in 

turn represented a case that had shown what to do and what not to for the future. Finally, the 

loss of the thirteen colonies to Britain later on accelerated the push for territorial conquest that 

had supplanted the earlier trade relations with Asia and Africa. Cain and Hopkins locate the 

driving force behind this later British imperial expansion in the metropolitan itself, and thus 

counter assumptions that an ever turbulent frontier imposed expansion on an unwilling elite in 

24 Ibid., pp. 63-64. 
25 Ibid., pp. 64-68. 
26 Ibid., pp. 74-75. 
27 Ibid., p. 76. 
28 Ibid., pp. 77-79. 
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the metropolis.3D The Glorious Revolution of 1688 consolidated the political power of the land­

possessing class, by them having achieved control over parliament and therewith over the main 

power lines - the legal system, the public expenditure, and defence. In addition to that, agriculture 

was the most important economic factor until the end of the 1840s, thus combining wealth and 

power in the hands of the landed class.3! Initially, the EIC and the South Sea Q)mpany were 

exclusively the concerns of traders and merchants. Yet their position was greatly enhanced with 

the financial revolution in the 1690s, with the foundation of the bank of England, the recoinage, 

the evolution of specialised merchant banks in the city of London, the growth of market in 

mortgages, the increasing use of bills of exchange to settle obligations, the rise of the stock 

exchange, the development of insurances, and to document all this, the rise of a financial press, 

and this all in London.32 The national debt incurred to finance the wars with France helped to 

establish a closer relationship between the old landed and the new moneyed class. The former 

discovered the latter's trading companies and their overseas branches as more and more 

acceptable places for employment and enrichment of their sons.33 In this way the ruling class and 

finance became closely interwoven,34 as were England and its European and overseas empire. 

When trade fell short of its expectations, war was used to enhance it,35 and to create a powerful 

polity, founded on commerce.36 The decisive role that the wars with France had played in shaping 

the distinctive features of the British state was demonstrated by John Brewer. From the Glorious 

Revolution of 1688 onwards until 1783 Britain had fought five major and several minor wars that 

transformed Britain into what Brewer has termed a "fiscal-military state", in which the military 

apparatus constituted the growing core of the developing state, around which, through 

competition among interest groups and the crown, an ever more effective bureaucracy evolved, 

whose task it was to fuel this military with money and men.37 The landed classes that dominated 

parliament managed to retain control over the finances and therefore its relevance in opposition 

to the crown despite the external threat to the polity. In order to prevent the crown from gaining 

fiscal independence that would have threatened the achievements of the Glorious Revolution, the 

commons decided against a general excise and in favour of a land tax, which was under their 

control, to finance the wars between 1692 and 1713.38 The Seven Years' War then had increased 

29 Ibid., pp. 99-101. 
3C John S. Galbraith, 'The "Turbulent Frontier" as a Factor in British Expansion', Cmparatiu: Studies in Society ani 
History, Vo!. n., No. 1, Oct. 1959, pp. 150-168. 
31 Cain and Hopkins, British inperialism inrou:ttion ani e<.panion 1688-1914, pp. 58- 59. 
32 Ibid., pp. 60-62. 
33 Ibid., p. 67. 
34 Ibid., p. 85. 
3S John Brewer, 7hesin?u& ifpmeer. War, m:n?yanitheE1'fiishstate, 1688-1783 (London, 1989), pp. 167-178. 
36 Ibid., pp. 189-190. 
37 Ibid., pp. 27-29. 
38 Ibid., pp. 141-148. 
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state expenditure to an extent that domestic taxes, already pushed to the limits, were not 

sufficient anymore to deliver the means. Thus, the metropolitan government looked for fiscal 

revenue to the overseas possessions,39 formerly the sole field of trade companies in pursuance of 

trade-goods and markets.40 

This deduction is in line with the findings of the meticulous study conducted by Michael 

Mann on Bengal in the time between 1754 and 1793. The state-building process, that was 

simultaneously underway on the Indian subcontinent as it was in Europe, increased the financial 

needs also of the EIe that had evolved into a quasi-state struCture.41 Both the British state and 

the EIe were desperately in need of funds that mutated primarily into the pursuit of taxable 

populations. Mann calls this situation "double fiscalism" and sees it as the initial major driving 

force behind British imperial expansion in Asia.42 Mann identifies the inception of British colonial 

rule and progressive deprivation of power of the EIe in the middle of the 1760s, when Clive 

effected the subordination of private factories and enterprises in Benga1.43 Owing to war debts 

and the costs that incurred due to the troops stationed in NOM America, all reforms of the 

British government after 1763 endeavoured to achieve the appropriation of the EIGterritory, the 

expansion of administration as well as the structured levying and collection of taxes and custom 

duties.44 In turn, the expenditure for the administration and even more so for the military build­

up made it necessary to gain control over more new territory to extract its resources to cover the 

costs.45 Mann coins this motion machine (perpetuum mobile) "fiscal imperialism" and discerns it 

as the driving force behind British imperial expansion.46 The sequence seen necessary to achieve 

this supremacy was firstly, the provision of military in order to guarantee security against external 

threats, secondly, the command over tax revenue, and thirdly, the set-up of a jurisdiction and an 

effective executive.47 The colonies, argues Mann, were thus no longer the locale for British 

investors, economic emigrants or political-religious refugees, but served the progressively global 

interests of the British state.48 

39 Ibid., p. 176. 
40 Ibid., p. 168. 
41 See also P. J. Marshall, 'The English in Asia to 1700', In 1'Jx: Oxford history if tix! British errpire, Vol. 1, 1'Jx: arii-n; if 
enpire: British merseas enterprise to tix!daeiftix! ser.entE£rth a:rmry (Oxford, 1998), pp. 264-285. 
42 Michael Mann, B~ im Urrbrudx Die HerausbilduYrg, des britisdJen Kdonialsf4ates 1754-1793 (Stuttgart, 2000), p. 12. 
43 Ibid., p. 87. 
44 Ibid., pp. 104-105. 
45 Ibid., pp. 133-134. 
46 Ibid., pp. 408-410. This is in line with Bayly, brperial rmidian: 1'Jx: British errpire arri tix! uarId 1780·1830, p. 10 and 59. 
47 Mann, B~im Urrbrudx Die HerausbilduYrg,des britisdJenKdonialsf4ates 1754·1793, p. 158. Yet this was the ideal, the 
reality of tax levying was conducted following the principle of try and error, and the exertion of an effective 
executive remained a wishful thinking, ibid., respectively pp. 226-259 and 348-354ff. 
48 These interests were geopolitical, economical, and fiscal political. ibid., p. 174. 
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For the subcontinent this was already the case from 179Y9 onwards, and not only since 

1857. To state this is to stress the continuum of interest aiming at conquest and incorporation 

between metropolis and periphery. In the periphery, as F6rster shows, there might have been 

considerable lee-way for decision-making in general and for the forward policy in particular.50 

Therefore we not only have to identify the different agents when trying to make sense of their 

actions, but also the period they acted in,51 that is to say the proximate reasons for expansion, to 

which we will turn shortly. But as Cain and Hopkins have stated" ... sub-imperialism does not 

explain imperialism, and to show that actions on the frontier were not always directed from 

London is not to explain why the actors were there in the first place.,,52 However, since this is not 

a work on the reasons for British imperial expansion, we do not have to worry about what seems 

to be a simple question of weighing the different arguments, but the arguments themselves are 

not disputed. When Forster sees the governor general as the pivotal figure behind the British 

drive for conquest, this could be supported by Peers' findings on the power structure of British 

India. The governor general possessed considerable power, with the council having only an 

advisory function. The governor general could only be checked by London, and although 

London could not be ignored, it was far away. The whole power structure was set up in such a 

way that nothing could happen without the co-operation of the permanent civilian and military 

staff, with the secretaries taking a central position, even participating in council meetings.53 Thus, 

while F6rster sees the single figure of the governor general as major factor for expansion, Peers 

in turn takes the sub-imperialism even further to the periphery in holding the Anglo-Indian 

personnel in general responsible. India was conquered by the sword, and as this was the 

conviction of civilians and officers alike, could only be kept by the sword.54 Thus, peace was seen 

as harmful, as reducing vigilance, and war was necessary for growth and survivaP5 Out of about 

40,000 British in India in 1830 less than 10 per cent were civilians.56 The Indian army served 

more and more as an imperial task force, and India itself was used to station troops made 

redundant in the post-Waterloo time to remove them from parliamentarian scrutiny, and of 

49 See also Cam and Hopkins, British inperialism inmuztionani expansion 1688-1914, p. 92-93, footnote 141: "The 
principle measures were the Regulating Act of 1773, Pitt's India Act of 1784, and the aarter Act of 1793." 
se Stig Forster, DiemUhtifPZDierFrder East Irriia ~ Ursadx!nurdHirtergrUniederbritisd?enExpansionspditik in 
Siidasien, 1793-1819 (Stuttgart 1992), passim. For Forster the periphery is Calcutta, and the decisive figure behind his 
sub-imperialism is the governor general. 
5l Bernard S. Cohn, 'The British in Benares: A Nmeteenth Century Colonial Society', In ibid., A nA nthropdo;jst ~ 
the Historians ani Other Esstr)5 (Delhi 1990), pp. 422-462, p_ 425: "Too often attempts have been made to characterize 
British attitudes, knowledge of India and Indians and relations with Indians in general terms, without carefully 
sorting out the periods involved and, more imponandy, the type of work done by the British." 
52 Cam and Hopkins, British irrperiaJism inmuztimaniexpanion 1688-1914, p. 321. 
53 Douglas M. Peers, Betueen Mars ani Mamrorr QJoriaJ A mies ani the Garrison State in E arty N in:teenth-Centmy Irriia 
(London, 1995), pp. 33-39 and 50. 
54 Ibid., pp. 52-53. 
55 Ibid., pp. 62-66. The omnipresent threat of course also justified the upholding of the military apparatus, plus that 
expansion was considered as profitable by the officers. Ibid., pp_ 106-107, 129 and 136-137, 
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course, charge the Indian tax-payer with their expenses.57 Yet, even the remaining civilians were 

imbued with military ethics and pre-occupied with military concerns, due to a militaristic 

interpretation of Indian society on the one hand, and the consciousness of the fact that their 

personal self-enhancement was best to be accomplished via military achievement on the other,58 

since civilians and officers alike served in India to improve their material and social predicament. 

Booty, prize money, and the prospective of escaping the dreadfully slow seniority principle of 

promotion by some glorious victory contributed to the desire for war among the officers.59 It was 

Anglo-Indian militarist establishment, which drove Amherst to war with Bunna in the 1820s, 

despite Amherst being personally averse to war and having explicit orders from London to 

abstain from any territorial conquest.60 The garrison state also survived Bentnick's will to refonn 

by simply blocking his work 61 Adding to this, from the late 1820s onwards the board of directors 

took a more aggressive stand,62 bringing Angle-Indian establishment and London closer, and so 

Dalhousie still relied on the sword.63 

Although the periods of scrutiny of the different authors do not overlap (except for Cain 

and Hopkins, who expressively claim to cover the whole period), we can take it for granted that 

they intended to make a more general point. Even though Cain and Hopkins, Brewer and .Mann 

argue in favour of the metropolis setting the impulses for expansion, and Forster and Peers locate 

them more on the scene, we may put them together, and see it as one process. The empire was in 

essence the result of state-building efforts underway in Europe itself. What happened in India 

was only an extension of the processes pushed forward in the Gaelic fringes. The French wars 

served as a catalyst, catapulting the resource-creating and power-base-consolidating measures, 

ergo, state-building measures - knowledge, ideology, economy - to strengthen the military.64 

Britain's smallness for one provided for its aggressive drive and its success due to its cohesion 

imposed by its insular compactness.65 The survival of the British state, but even more of its ruling 

landed class depended on the outcome of this world wide power struggle with France.66 These 

56 Ibid., p. 54. 
;7 Ibid., pp. 52-53. 
;8 Ibid., pp. 44-45. 
;9 Ibid., pp. 74-79. 
be Ibid., pp. 145-146 and 150-151. 
61 Ibid., pp. 213 and 235-236. 
62 Ibid., pp. 215-217. 
63 Ibid., p. 244. 
64 Bayly, Irrperid Meridian: The British enpire arri the 7.JJJf'!d 1780-1830, see especially chapter 4, pp. 100-132. On the 
consensus in the state-building literature that war and the threat of it made state, see Thomas Ertrnan, 'The Sinews 
of Power and European State-Building Theory', In Lawrence Stone (ed.), A nlrrperial State at war. Brilainfram 1689 to 
1815 (London, 1994), pp. 33-51. 
,,; Colley, Captiu:s: Britain, Enpirearrithe War/d, 1600-1850, pp. 10-11 and passim. 
bb Linda Colley, Brztm-: Far;jrrg the Nation, 1707-1837 (New Haven and London, 1992), pp. 55-100. Lawrence Stone 
argues in favour of seeing the British state of the eighteenth and early nineteenth century not as an independ,en_t""""" .... _ ...... 
agent, but as one of the ruling class, that, for example, counted about 20,000 males out of a population of . 
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landed elites came under stress - ideological and material - with the defeat in the American War 

of Independence and the French Revolution. Its reaction was a more rigid and standardised elite 

education, in the course of which the young of the ruling class were imbued with the ethics of 

manliness, patriotism, and empire, teaching them that they were in fact a martial race, destined to 

rule and civilise the world. A picture was conveyed of a meritocracy also open, albeit limited, to 

men of not noble descent, ascetic, patriotic, in the service to their country. This was meant for 

home consumption to justify their ruling position, yet resulted from 1793 onwards in a martial 

elite.67 This brings the circle back to Peers and his concept of a "garrison state" in India. Colley, 

moreover, reminds us that the congruence of the ideological with the material must not 

necessarily bother us as a contradiction: 

Recognising that an ostentatious cult of heroism and state service served an important propaganda 

function for the British elite does not mean, of course, that we should dismiss it as artificial or 

insincere. All aristocracies have a strong military tradition, and for many British patricians the 

protracted warfare of this period was a god-send. It gave them a job and, more important, a purpose, 

an opportunity to carry out what they had been trained to do since childhood: ride horses, fire guns, 

exercise their undoubted physical courage and tell other people what to do. Even more parvenu 

members of the elite were likely, as we have seen, to have been exposed to an aggressively patriotic 

curriculum at public school or in the universities. And almost all of them were influenced by an 

exhilarating sense of expanding British power in the world, a particular kind of arrogance of place 

which was badly dented but not long depressed by defeat in America. One sees this arrogance, a pride 

in nation as well as a pride in blood, reflected very clearly in the portraits of the time.68 

That Colley later on gives voice to the subaltern of the imperial entetprise and strongly argues 

against a uniform outlook by British actors on the Others and the rest of the world69 does not 

have to disturb us here. The decision makers with whom we are concerned and whose sources 

we are about to utilise will have subscribed to the above outlined world-view. At least they will 

have done this sufficiently enough to serve us as an ideal-t}pe construct for the sake of giving our 

analysis a point of approximation. Of course we should always keep in mind that the actors' 

outlook and motivation, but also their actions were in reality far more complex than we will ever 

know. This together with the fact that we don't know anything about most of the other actors 

involved and their praxis should remind us about the scarcity of our picture painted and world 

evoked. 

people in 1750, but that, nevertheless, had a vital interest in a strong state. Lawrence Stone, 'Introduction', In Idem 
(ed.) , A nlrrperid State at War: Britainftom 1689 to 1815 (London, 1994), pp. 1-32. 
67 Ibid., see chapter 4, pp. 147-193. 
,R Ibid, p. 178. 
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1.3 The First Anglo-Burman War, February 1824 - March 1825 

From August, 12th 1765 the EIe was the de facto ruler of the lower Gangetic valley. By 1766, the 

provinces of Bengal, Bihar and Orissa had been added, including " ... the present district of 

Goalpara in the State of Assam [being] ... a border area, separating the Ahom kingdom in Assam 

from the Company's dominions."7o Although Koch Bihar was made a tributary by 1773, there 

was no British move to interfere in Assam in any political way. Banerjee sees the reason for that 

in the purely commercial nature of British interest.71 Peers, on the contrary, sees the 

contemporary concept of "natural frontier" as responsible for the lack of British interest into 

what is nowadays Northeast India. While the Indus river or the Hindu Kush mountains to the 

north-west and the Himalayas to the north clearly could be taken as such a "natural frontier", the 

terrain north and east of Ollttagong, on the other hand, with all its hills and jungles, presented 

itself to the British rather as a zone than a frontier.72 Furthermore, the territory was considered as 

anything but salubrious, the Burmese market as too unpromising, and the Burmese empire as 

such not perceived as a threat. Otherwise, reasons for war with the Burmese had been given from 

the time of Hastings.73 However, the British did interfere in the Assam disturbances, raging from 

the 1780s/4 the first time from 1792 - 1794.75 

The Burmese on the other side of the theatre were asked by the Moamarias, the Singphos 

and by the Ahom monarch to intervene on their behalf in Assam. Following their annexation of 

Arakan between 1784 and 1785, the Burmese increased their activity in Ollttagong but had no 

intention of intervening on either side in Assam.76 Yet in 1819 the Burmese invaded Assam for 

the second time (the first having been in 1817) and installed themselves in Gauhati (today 

Guwahat~.77 By 1822 the Burmese had complete control over Assam, subsequently being seen as 

a province of the Burmese empire.78 The historical basis of British and Nagas coming into 

contact includes this Burmese conquest of Assam and Manipur, the Burmese threat of annexing 

Cachar and Synthia (the latter then considered a dependency of East BengaQ, and of invading 

69 L. Colley, Captiw, pp. 15-16 and passim. 
78 A C Banerjee, 'The East-India Company and Assam', In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The ~i'1£ History if A ssam 
Vd Il MIXliewlPerial: PditUd FrrmThirteen CenturyA. D. wthe TrattyifYarrlaJ:xJ, 1826 (Guwahati, 1992), pp. 300-
331, p. 300. 
71 Ibid., p. 301. 
72 Peers, Bet:u.renMars andMammn, p. 57. 
7
3 Ibid., pp. 147-149. 

74 This was so, since gangs operating from El Cs territory were partially responsible for these, see Banerjee, 'The 
East-India Company and Assam', p. 306. 
75 Ibid., p. 306-328. Under the command of Captain Welsh, 'Welsh's Report on Assam, 1794', In Alexander 
Mackenzie, History if the R~ if the Gm.ernm:nt uith the Hill T rib:s if the The N arth-E ast Frontier if Berrs;d (Calcutta, 
1884), Appendix A, 377-394. That Welsh's expedition was instigated by the prospect for commerce, see A C. 
Banerjee, The Eastem Frontier if British IrrIia 1784·1826 (Calcutta, 1946[1943], pp. 109-111. 
76 Ibid., p. 330. 
77 A C Banerjee, 'Internal Dissensions and Foreign Invasions', In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The ~i'1£ Historycf 
Assam Vol. n., (Guwahati: Publication Board, Assam, 1992), pp. 332-352, p. 347. 
78 Ibid., p. 351. 
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British territory itself. This was the situation, or how it was described, at least, in contemporary 

British correspondence. From the same documents we may infer that the British would have 

preferred to avoid confrontation, respecting one another's respective zones of influence, which 
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were guaranteed by a buffer zone between the two powers?9 By February 1824, the British no 

longer believed in the possibility of a peaceful settlement with Ava.80 In a private lener, Scon, the 

then agent to the governor general on the Northeast Frontier, to Swinton, the then secretary to 

the governor general in Fort William, Scon praised the strategic value of the Assam valley, south 

of the Brahmaputra,81 offering evidence for reasons to extend British territory into Assam. In a 

declaration to the council on February 24th 1824, governor general Amherst justified this position 

with an account of Burmese aggressions against the British, going on to announce war against the 

Burmese with the aim of dislodging them from Assam, where they threatened the eastern frontier 

of Benga1.82 The British suddenly did want to see the border disputes and skinnishes with the 

Burmese as a threat justifying war, despite Amherst starting with an explicit order to abstain from 

any offensive action.83 For Peers it was Angle-Indian militarism again that construed the Burmese 

threat into one that was portrayed of being able to incite the whole of India, and! or suspected 

even the Russians behind it. In addition in 1824 six years of peace had already prevailed putting at 

risk the vigilance of the troops. Consequently, a show of force was deemed necessary and 

Amherst was pressured into it by those he was supposed to govern.84 

That revenue stagnation and decline in the 1820s might have been a further incentive to 

look for prospective territory.8S Bengal's agency houses may also have played a not too neglecting 

part. Established during the 1780s by merchants pooling their resources to cope with the new 

opportunities and demands of the China trade, they became the locus for investment for 

company employees, having been barred from conducting private trade by Cornwallis' reform of 

1793. These agency houses on the one hand used this capital for commercial expansion into 

Southeast Asia, and on the other hand " ... also became major creditors to the Company 

administration in India, financing warfare, and the general costs of territorial expansion.,,86 They 

entered into a symbiotic and influential relationship with military-fiscal British-India, and were 

allowed a great deal of say on companys policy in Southeast Asia and its eventual expansion.87 

The Burmese kingdom and British India were two expanding empires. While the British gave 

refuge to rebels operating from their territory against the Burmese, the latter tested the former by 

violating their territory. Both had already known each other intimately for decades before the 

79 BerrtJ:d Socret am Pditical Onultation (BsPq, Vo!. 320, 2nd January 1824 - 27. February 1824, listed under Fon 
William 2nd January, Doe. No. 16, letter written by H Gordon, Lieutt. Dept. Staff to Captain Truman, commanding 
at the disputed island of Shapuree, dt. Dec. 13th 1823. 
8: Ibid., listed under Fort William 6th February 1824, Doe. No. 6. 
81 Ibid., dt. Budderpree, 25th January 1824. 
82 BSPC, Vo!. 321, 5th March 1824 - 9th April 1824, listed under Fon William, 5th March 1824, Doe. No. 1, dated 24th 
February 1824. 
83 Peers, Bemu:nMars amMarmrm, pp. 145-146. 
84 Ibid., pp. 150-152. 
8S Ibid., p. 195. 
&; Anthony Webster, Gentlenrn Gtpitalists: British Irrperidismin Scuth EastAsia 1770·1890 (London, 1998), pp. 40-42. 
87 Ibid. 
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British finally decided to wage war. Thus we may say that although the Bunnese were 

expansionist towards the smaller kingdoms in their neighbourhood, they did not seek a full-scale 

war with the British, and were thus completely taken aback by their response and assault even on 

mainland Burma. This is to say that the evidence seems to agree with Peers, and that it was 

Anglo-Indian militarism that provoked and exaggerated the Bunnese threat to give pretext for 

further conquest.88 

On 5th March 1824, the official proclamation of war against the Bunnese by the governor 

general followed. The initial aim proclaimed in the proceedings was to reinstall the smaller 

kingdoms as a buffer zone between the two bigger powers,89 although the ultimate aim was 

already to strike at Rangoon.90 By April 1824, the British were planning to attack Ava, were 

already in Gauhati, and were hoping to use the hill tribes to expel the Bunnese from :Manipur.91 

Yet, the whole region was still a veritable terra im>gnitd to the British; their efforts then remained 

largely limited to the gathering of intelligence.92 

88 Ibid., pp. 138-145. For a detailed discussion of Anglo-Burmese affairs, that though it wants to come to a different 
conclusion, does support our argument with its data, see A C. Bane~ee, The Eastern Frontier if British IrrJia 1784-1826 
(Otlcuna, 1946). Nrrode K. Barooah, DaudSatt in NartbeastIrrJia 1802-1831: A Study in British Patemdism (New 
Delhi, 1970), pp. 63-87 and 230-231, shows that Scon, who was then conrrnissioner of Koch Bihar, and later became 
agent to the governor general on the Northeast Frontier, and of whom we will hear soon more, might have been one 
of the main propagators for territorial gain and war with the Burmese, who in turn might have been out only to 
consolidate their provinces_ 
89 BSPC, Vo!. 321, 5th March 1824 - 9th April 1824, listed under Fort William, 5th March 1824, Doe. No. 2. 
9C Ibid., Doe. No. 4 and 5. 
9! BSPC Vo!. 322, 20. April 1824 - 28th May 1824, listed under Fort William, 20th April 1824, Doe. No. 8, letter from 
Scon to Swinton. 
92 BSPC Vo!. 322, 20th April 1824 - 28th May 1824, listed under Fort William, 20th April 1824, Doe. No. 31 and 32, 
To Swinton from Quarter Master Generals Office, dated 10th April, signed Stevenson, who transmitted a paper by 
Lieut. Fisher, Deputy Quarter Master General, dated Sylhet, 26th Nov. 1823 Again, the context is the conquest of 
Assam and the plan to push the Burmese out of Manipur and the strike against Ava. Here also the lack of knowledge 
about the terrain emanates dominantly out of Fisher's report on Manipur: 

"O?py of Munipoor 
In proportion as the boundaries which are the object of the present inquiries are removed from the field of our own 
immediate observations the difficulties attendant upon the attainment of a true knowledge of their topography, 
internal condition, resources and power, become increased, we are reduced to anend for our information upon the 
reports of Natives generally ignorant, careless and credulous, and all times induced by jealously and apprehensions 
wilfully to misrepresent the subject of our researches. The only chance therefore of eliciting the truth is that which is 
afforded by a comparison of the reports of different individuals unacquainted with each other, though all the 
accounts which may be supposed to involve calculation must be received with distrust no data existing from which 
they could be formed.-
Topography. 
The modem name Munnipoor by which this country is commonly designated in India, was originally only applied to 
its Capital Gty.-
The name Capsay under which it is discovered by Travellers in Burmah is totally unknown both to the Natives of the 
Country and to the People of Bengal and Cachar, but in contradiction to the opinons entertained by some late 
authors, Mekhleyis the appellation by which it is recognized in all the writings of the inhabitants. Goudharbdis, is 
the ancient name under which it is mentioned in the Puranas ... [and] being compounded of two Sanscrit words 
Ganoharl an order of Demigods and des a region or country.-
The inhabitants are known in India by the appellation Moglye, the origin of which is not now known though it is 
possible only a corruption of Moitye the name by which the natives of Munnipoor distinguish themselves.-
It is separated on the north from Assam by a continuation of the same range of mountains which divide that 
Country from Cachar, on the East & South it is bounded by Burmah, from which it is parted on the former frontier 
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Scott may be seen to have propagated the annexation of the Assam valley for strategic 

and health reasons - a tenor which runs through all of his reports.93 Thereafter, Scott referred to 

the hill tribes and for the first time mentioned the Nagas to be utilised as auxiliaries: 

With a view to bring the Several hill Tribes to a closer intercourse with us and to conciliate and attach 

them to our Govt., we think it would be very desirable to endeavour to entertain men of the Several 

Tribes, Say one Company of Nagas ( ... ) to form a part of the Sylhet local corps ( ... ). This would gradually 

introduce a familiar intercourse with these Tribes at present Totally unknown to us, tho[ugh] little doubt 

can exist but they may be made extremely useful, if we can attach them to our Interests.94 

The relation of those hill tribes to the interests of the British at that time in history is also clear: 

the British clearly wanted them to be instrumental against a territorial rival, rather than simply 

leaving them to their own devices. The British worried about the route from Cachar to .Manipur. 

They had tried to send a large force under general Shuldham via that route into Burma in early 

1825, but had to give up this plan due to extremely difficult terrain.95 Only when reading 

Pembenon it comes clear that Shuldham failed due to his lack of local knowledge. dose to the 

route Shuldham had chosen, was another one, called the Kala Naga route, due to the name of a 

by the Neengtee River, and on the west it has Cachar and Tipperah, on which side the boundary is formed, partly by 
a range of mountains and partly by the Soormah and Barak Mulla.-
The length from North to South is commonly stated as 3 Days journey or about 30 miles and the breadth from East 
to West is byvarious accounts represented as 15 days but of that number 7 days journeys are among the hills where 
the horizontal distance cannot be reckoned more than four miles hence the probable breath is about 100 miles and 
the area 3000 British square miles of the quantities contained in each, of the natural divisions of this Superficies, no 
estimates can be obtained but it is probable the greater portion is occupied by hills exclusive of the mountains in the 
great northern range .... The basis of these mountains are covered by forests, trees and thick underwood, and they 
are entirely uninhabited, it being pretended that they are the abodes of Supernatural beings." 

Anthony Giddens, The mtiorrstate ani '1iderre (Cambridge, 1985), was right, it was all about gathering and storing of 
intelligence, but it also becomes evident that the sources colour the information not only to their knowledge, but also 
to their interest, as the Manipuris here obviously have denied the existence of hill tribes with which they must have 
had frequent and close contact. At the latest it becomes clear here, that if something was ever written about the 
Nagas already, either by Ptolomea in his Geography or by old Indian texts, it not had any impact on the British at the 
time of contact, they were completely ignorant of them, also exemplified by the next document, ibid., Doc. No. 33, 
Extracts from Dr. Francis Buchanan's Journal relating to Munnipore: 

"Page 132. In ascending the Kiaynduayn river, you have Burma towns and villages on your right but after a months 
journey you come to a nation on the left named Aynguin, inhabiting scattered villages through this Country is the 
best road to Munnipore, ... [who] are a very rude, fierce tribe, but raise a great deai of rice." 

and with which we come closer to possible Naga terrain. 

93 Ibid., Doc. No. 8, listed under Fort William 14th May 1824. Scott dreamt about turning present day Khasi hills into 
a breeding ground for" ... a race of hardy European soldiers." See Major Adam White, A MeJ'17:i.rifthelate DaUd Smt1: 
A wrt to the Gm.ermr GelrraJ. on the N artb-E ast F rantier if Berfpl ani Camissiorrr if Reu:nue am Orruit in Assam 
(Guwahati, 1988 [1831], p. 2l. 
94 BSPC Vo!. 322, 20th April 1824 - 28th May 1824, listed under Fort William, 14th May 1824, Doc. No. 8. 
95 S. K. Bhuyan, A~Assam3eR~ 1771-1826 (Gauhati, 1949), pp. 546-547. 
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village were the route started, and by which Gambhir Singh soon was to proceed.96 This shows 

how dependent the British, at least at that stage, were on local agency. However, then they 

wanted to delegate the responsibility for the Kala Naga route to the respective Naga chiefs, to 

whom they intended to provide the necessary tools for maintaining the track The governor 

general-in-council desired " ... to conciliate the Naga and Cookee Chiefs on the frontier of the 

Sylhet District ... " This was supposed to be achieved by the diplomacy of presents: 

There are I understand 5 Nagha Chiefs between Cachar and Munnipoor the service of all might be 

steadily engaged by the Distribution of presents of woolen doth, Scarlet and Blue Hindoostaunee female 

ornaments, Tobacco, Spirituous Liquours, Salt Fish, onion and Garlic, articles much in request with them 

as are Goats, Dogs and Geese.97 

Gambhir Singh, the former raja of Manipur who had fled into British territory to escape the 

Burmese, was to go to Manipur accompanied by a detachment of sepoys commanded by an 

European officer. Besides, he was to collect detailed information about the route. Singh received 

his instructions from Tucker, the commissioner of Sylhet: 

... above all it is essential to conciliate the Tribes of Naghas inhabiting the Hills; you will when in their 

neighbourhood insert the names by which the different Tribes are distinguished, the names of their 

Ollefs, which amongst them are inclined to our Interests, and which appear to favour the Bunnahs you 

will also State what appears to you the most likely methods of Established a friendly intercourse with 

them; whether by Presents in money or in kind and what articles are in estimation, ferocious or mild and 

humane, their food; whether the products of the earth are reared or whether they Subsist on animals 

killed in the Chase. whether they Trade with their neighbours and in what articles, and at what markets. 

You will also ascertain whether they any of the Nagas are willing to serve as Sepoys, if so, the Havildars 

and Naicks will be Selected form their own body. The Private Sepoy will receive a monthly allowance of 

5:8 and the officers proportionally greater according to their rank. When engaged in the field this 

allowance will be increased, and in Case of being wounded So as to be unfit for further service they will 

receive pensions for Jife.- ( ... ) 50 Sepoys 1 Naick and 1 Havildar from the Naga Tribes will be required, a 

Statement of the pay of their Several grades is appended, you will communicate with them and if willing 

to enter on these Terms send them to Sylhet.98 

% R B. Pemberton, Report on the eastemfiwtier if British lniia (Gauhati, 1966 [Calcutta, 1835], pp. 53-56. General 
Shuldham had a forerunner in captain Verelst, who already tried and failed due to the difficult terrain to enter 
Manipur from Cachar in 1763 in order to expel the Burmese, see J. B. Bhattacharjee, Guhar un:Ier British Rule in North 
East lniia (New Delhi, 1977), p. 20. 
97 BSPC Vo!. 322, 20th April 1824 - 28th May 1824, listed under Fort William, 14th May 1824, Doe. No. 9. 
98 Ibid., Doe. No. 31, listed under Fort William 21 st May 1824, Translation of a letter from Tucker to G. Singh. 
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The Nagas in question here, according to Pembenon, were the Kabui Nagas; Pembenon spells 

them "Kubooee". The requested intelligence on them included the names of the tribes and those 

of their respective chiefs. Moreover, the instruction was also to find out about their poLtical 



34 

inclination, whether they were receptive to presents, and if they were more induced to war than 

to peace, what their modes of subsistence were and with what and where they traded, the quality 

of their relations with their neighbours and whether or not they were willing to serve in the 

company troops. The gathering, storage and use of intelligence became an lffiportant 

precondition for the exaction of power, as demonstrated by Giddens.99 This production of 

knowledge was already, but not long before, practised for similar reasons in another colonial 

society, in Scotland, to salvage the "savage Gael", before it was practised in India from 1783 

onwards. lOo That this was not only necessary for conquest, but also for keeping what one had 

conquered, and hence was part not only of the British empire, but of a world-wide effort in state­

building (see Chapter Three).lOl 

The Nagas under consideration here were those living between Cachar and Manipur.102 In 

a letter to Swinton dated 29th May 1824, Scott reported his survey of Assam, this time not only 

reiterating the strategic reasons for the annexation of Assam, but adding and listing Assam's 

economic potentials. Additionally, he argued that the surrounding tributary hills states would be 

more than willing to accept British protection, thus forming a buffer zone around Assam against 

the Burmese.103 

On 10th September 1824 the commander in chief demanded an exact survey of Assam 

and the bordering regions to prevent future surprises by the Burmese as well as to establish an 

infrastructure which would enable the fast deployment of troops. Ergo he asked for the 

annexation of Assam in one way or the other.104 A month later, the future political aims were 

formulated as follows: 

Resolution of Government in the Secret Department ( ... ) the accomplishment of the desirable objects of 

expelling the Enemy from the Territory of assam and of making such arrangements with the Native 

Chiefs of that Country, and with the neighbouring hill tribes as may be best calculated to oppose an 

effectual ban to the Establishment of the Burmese power in that quarter. t05 

99 Pemberton, Report on the eastemfomtier if British Irriia, p. 56 and pp. 173-174; Giddens, The NatiorrState ani Videm:. 
IX C A Bayly, Irrperial Meridian, pp. 124-125. 
I~I Ibid., p. 126. For a similar state-building on the part of the Burmese empire, see WilliamJ. Koenig, The Burm:se 
Pdity, 1752-1819: Pdit:Us, adninistratim, ani Social ~inthe Early Kon-!:wmg Periai (Michigan, 1990), p. 31. 
1:2 BSPC Vo!. 322, 20th April 1824 - 28th May 1824, listed under Fort William, 21st May 1824, Doe. No. 31, 
Translation of a lener from Tucker to G. Singh. 
1:3 BSPC Vo!. 323, 4th June - 9th July 1824, Doe. No. 15, listed under Fort William 11th June 1824, letter from D. 
Scott, Agent to the Governor General to G. Swinton Esq., Secretary to the Secret and Political Department, dated 
Gowalpara, 29th May 1824. Scott and Swinton had been fellow-students at Fort William College, see Barooah, DaUd 
Smtt in Narth-east In:Jid 1802-1831: A Study in British Paterruiism, p. 6. 
1:4 BSPC Vo!. 324, 16th July 1824 - 10th September 1824, Doe. No. 1, listed under Fort William 10th September 1824, 
minute by the Commander in Chief, Secret Department. 
1:5 BSPC Vo!. 325, 17th September 1824 - 19th November 1824, Doe. No. 6, listed under Fort William 8th October 
1824 "To the Agent on the Northeastern Frontier To D. Scon Esqre Agent to the Governor General on the North 
East Frontier from Swinton." dated ibid. 
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It was this objective that from now on directed the British policy towards the hill communities. 

Swinton ordered Tucker to mobilise the Nagas, added that other hill tribes in Chittagong had 

already proved useful to the British, and suggested a "satisfactory arrangement" was to be made 

with Nagas and other hill tribes. That is, Swinton authorised Tucker to undertake all necessary 

steps to secure their support and to charge the political department with the incurring 

expenses.106 We can clearly see how the hill people, inhabiting the more inaccessible zones 

between the two extending empires became drawn into their war from a very early moment 

onwards. 

1.4 The British Annexation o/Assam, MalCh 1825 - June 1828 

A few months later the governor general released a resolution declaring that, once the Burmese 

forces had been expelled, Assam would be transformed provisionally into a commissioner-ship 

with Scott as senior commissioner. Scott was ordered to negotiate arrangements with the native 

princes and with the tribes bordering Assam. This change in policy instantly altered the British 

perspective of the hill people and the language portraying them: 

As a general measure of Police, no arrangement burns so immediately and urgently important, as the 

pacification and seulement of the wild hill tribes of Assam, and the protection of the inhabitants of the 

low lands from their cruel savages and inroads. lo7 

This is the first time the British depicted the hill-people as "cruel", "savages" etc., yet it is striking 

how much the relationship between British and Nagas was still an equal one at that stage,108 and 

perfectly illustrates that the superiority of the British is a post-facto fabrication, as Colley has 

demonstrated. 109 

In a note written on May 1st 1826, Swinton stated that a natural boundary had been 

discovered in the form of the Arracan Chain. On this basis, he argued that the plan of restoring 

the kingdoms between the companys territory and the Burmese should be dropped, with the 

whole area rather to be brought under British protection and rule, under which it would flourish 

again. In addition to the strategic rationale he also brought forward the economic evidence in 

favour of annexation of the conquered territory, so often produced to him by Scott, and against 

the old plan of creating a buffer zone: the ease of reaching the heartland of the Burmese from 

1:1, BSPC Vol. 328, 7th January 1825 - 4th March 1825, Doe. No. 29, from Swinton to Tucker. 
1:7 BSPC Vol. 329, 11th March 1825 - 29th April 1825, Resolution of the Gov. Gen. in Council, dated & listed under 
5th April 1825. In this resolution only the pacification of Assam and the surrounding hill tribes and the policing of 
the former was decided, not yet what had to be done with Assam in the future. 
1:8 See for example BSPC Vol. 337, 3rd March 1826 - 27th April 1826, Doe. Nos. 31 and 34, listed under Fort William 
17th March 1826. 
1:9 Colley, Captius. 
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Arracan; the salt and timber there; the access it provided to the markets of Southern Olina in 

Yunnan via Assam and Manipur; and the possibility of command over traffic with Siam and the 

control over harbours and goods of this area, hence liberating the British from dependency on 

Bangkok 110 

Nearly two years later, in February 1828, Scott wrote to Swinton how tranquil Assam had 

become, and propagated the annexation of Assam, instead of restoring the Assam kingdom as a 

dependent one.111 For suppon for his argument he referred to captain Neufville, who was, 

according to Scon, well acquainted with this area and its tribes, and who was also of the opinion 

that Assam would benefit from the superior administration of the British.112 Shortly after Scott 

had made his proposal for keeping Assam, Swinton conveyed to him the decision of the 

governor general-in-council to retain for the time-being only Lower Assam This meant the 

restoration of a native kingdom, albeit dependent, in Upper Assam This decision ran contrary to 

what Scott, Neufville, and also Swinton had in mind at that point, since the latter also had 

previously given his backing to the incorporation of the entire area and had labelled the tribes, 

which were now considered by him and the other British as "wild" and "intractable" frontier 

tribes.113 

But matters, so it seems, were not yet settled, since in May 1828 Scott wrote to Stirling, an 

assistant of Swinton's, now supponing the restoration of a native regime. Stirling, it appears had 

conveyed to him his objections beforehand. Now it was the government that wanted to retain the 

whole of Assam Exceptionally, rather than obeying the convention of arguing for an extension 

of British authority under any circumstances, as was the rule for officers on the frontier, and as 

he had done in the past, Scott suddenly was convinced that regarding the hill tribes, there was no 

trouble to be expected due to their peaceable demeanour.114 What had changed Scott's opinion 

was his more intimate knowledge of the locality. He was convinced that otherwise unrest was to 

be expected from the disempowered Assamese nobility. Calcutta, on the other hand, 

reconsidered things on grounds of the prospective gain in revenue.115 So, Stirling replied that the 

governor general-in-council would take his view into consideration but wanted to wait before 

coming to a final decision, adding that in the case of Assam having recovered - population-wise 

- from its impoverished state, it then might easily pay for a proper (i.e., British) administration. 

11: BSPC Vol. 339, 27th April 1826 - 23rd June 1826, Doe. No. 5, listed under Fort William 12th May 1826, note by 
the Secretary. In ibid., Doe. 6, another note by Swimon ....mere he argued for the retention of the southern Burmese 
territories Mergui and T avoy, because of the safe ports in this area. 
III BSPC Vol. 350, 4th January 1828 -25th April 1828, Doe. No. 4, listed under 7th March 1828, Scott to Swinton, 
dated 2nd February 1828. 
112 Ibid. 
ID Ibid., Doe. No. 8, Swinton to Scott, dated ibid. 
114 BSPC Vol. 351, 2nd May 1828 - 27th June 1828, Doe. No. 115, listed under Fort William, 27th June 1828, from 
Scott to Stirling Esq., offg. Secyto Gov. in the Sect. and Po!. Dept., dated 26th April 1828. 
115 Barooah, DaWi Scdt in NartJreast IrriUJ.1802·1831, pp. 130-156. 
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The governor general, via his secretary, continued his missive with a prediction on the future 

prosperity of Assam, emphasised the business aspect of the whole undertaking and then 

mentioned the duty of the British government to act as guardian of the eastern provinces. For 

this he used the tribes as an excuse for keeping Upper Assam: "As the British Govt. is charged 

with the entire Mily[ tary] defence of the Province and must necessarily act as Guardian of the 

Eastern Frontier which is encompassed by so many barbarous and Turbulent Tribes."1l6 This is 

all the more astounding when one considers that Scott, who was on the eastern frontier and not 

like the governor general together with Stirling in far away Calcutta, had only just conveyed to 

Fon William that there would in fact be no problem with the tribes. Stirling, nonetheless, ordered 

Scott to build a line of fonifications to fence off the tribes, for the moment.1l7 In other words, 

the tribes were to remain beyond the frontier, not within it. Funhermore, Stirling instructed Scott 

to repon the history of incursions into the territory that was to be annexed since it had been 

conquered, as well as its past revenues. Based on these, Scott was to calculate, prospective future 

revenues and had to facilitate a cost-benefit analysis of what was expected to be needed for the 

upholding of order and what was to be the possible smplus.1l8 Scon, the most important man 

based on the frontier had turned from a propagator of annexation into one who supponed the 

restoration of the native kingdom. Fon William, however, from a very early moment onwards, 

pursued the extension of direct control over Assam. 

1.5 Pushing the Frontiers, Febtu3JY 1831- October 1839 

The British and the Nagas had come into contact due to the war between the former and the 

Burmese. As long as the British did not want to stay in this area, they considered the Nagas as 

independent people; they wanted to utilise them for their war efforts, but there was no talk about 

"tribes", "savages" or "barbarians". Once strategic and economic reasons had been brought 

forward that made the British want to keep Assam, the Nagas and other hill people turned into 

bloodthirsty savages against whom Assam had to be defended, that is to say they were 

transformed into the very reason why the British had to annex Assam. In addition to that the 

superiority of British administration was to redeem the people from their savageness and uplift 

them to the one and only civilisation, the British. 1l9 Here the aspired objective simultaneously was 

the one delivering legitimacy - the British had the moral obligation to annex what they deemed 

profitable, and hence desirable to. This smokescreen seemed to protect against possible self-

116 BSPC Vol. 351, 2nd May 1828· 27th June 1828, Doe. No. 116, listed under Fort William, 27th June 1828, from 
Stirling to Scon, dated 27th June 1828. 
117 A technique that had already been practised against Sconish highlanders, see Colley, Britons, p. 117. 
118 BSPC Vol. 351, 2nd May 1828 - 27th June 1828, Doe. No. 116, listed under Fort William, 27th June 1828, from 
Stirling to Scon, dated 27th June 1828. 
119 On the British belief that they were the chosen people of providence, see Colley, Britons, especially Chapter 1. 
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criticism as well as against that from others. The argument of good government and civilisation 

was only to be countered by force, and if only in the fonn of a shifting power balance. 

The decision to keep Assam and to annex Cachar and the installation of dependent 

governments in Upper Assam and Manipur brought the British to the foot of the hills separating 

Assam from Burma. The British intention to design the plains adjoining to the hills to their gain, 

to exploit them economically by the way of searching for natural resources, as well as by settling 

fanners there who could be taxed and encouraged to grow cash crops, added an additional 

incentive to have a closer look at the hills themselves. First, by surveying them to find out 

whether there were profitable resources in the hills, and second, to secure the plains by bringing 

the hills under control and to open up and secure communications from Manipur to Assam 

through exactly these hills. Therefore, the British saw it as beneficial to subjugate the Nagas 

between Assam and Manipur, and, because it presented itself as the cheaper variant, asked the 

state of Manipur to do that job for them. The Nagas there, the Angamis, resisted and retaliated 

against British held territory itself. The British then decided to take the matter into their own 

hands and planned to make the Angamis pay with one punishment expedition. A punishment 

expedition was a military force entering the territory of the Other, forcing its way into their 

villages, killing those who resisted, burning down the village and the grain stores, driving those 

surviving into the jungle and leaving them to the mercy of often hostile neighbours and to 

starvation. Since there rarely was a real battle to be won, or a head of state or regime to be 

defeated, war had to be waged on the people,120 which reminded some classical educated officers 

of the Bacchanalian, and is, due to its rare evocative quality, worth a longer quote: 

The village being situated on rocky eminence, surrounded by jungle, in which the enemy had taken 

refuge; to secure our position, it became necessary to set fire to the houses skirting the jungle - but, 

being filled with grain, it extended to the whole village, and soon presented a scene strangely 

contrasted - looking upwards, a lofty pillar of fire rose up from the devoted village, and, beyond it, a 

dense column of smoke towered up to the highest heaven, presenting an object of great sublimity. 

Beneath, a strange Bacchanalian scene of license rose upon the view - some of the soldiers and camp­

followers were shooting pigs and fowls - others were roasting them before the fire - some were 

searching for plunder, and running about in the gay dresses of the Cassyas - a few were eagerly 

searching for their arms to carry off as trophies, whilst other joyous souls made free with their 

spirituous liquors they all made admirable cheer for the evening, and the free spirit of a camp reigned 

throughout. 121 

12: G. J. Bryant, 'Pacification in the Early British Raj, 1755-85', TheJannal iflnperial am Corrrmrm.ealth History, Vo!. 
XIV, Oct. 1985, No 1, pp. 3-19, p. 3 and H L. Wesseling, 'Colonial Wars: An Introduction', In J. A de Moor and H 
L. Wesseling (eds.), Inperialismani War. EsSd)5 on Oionid Wan inAsia aniAfiica (Leiden, 1989), pp. 1-11, pp. 2-5. 
121 White, A MerrririftklateDaWiSaxt, pp. 16-17. Although documented during a campaign against the Khasis, 
then written "Cassyas", it will not have been different among other peoples and gives us a faint idea about what 
normally was left out of the reports. 
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In February 1831 captain Francis Jenkins, the new agent to the governor general on the 

Northeast Frontier, and Pernberton were assigned to survey most of the mountain area between 

Assam and Bunna.122 Worries about continuing raids by the Singphos and fears that they might 

be turned into an instrument of the Burmese intensified the survey activio/23 and brought the 

British into direct contact with Angarni Naga territory.124 Two reconnaissance tours were 

undertaken through Angarni territory, the one mentioned above by Pemberton and Jenkins, and 

another one by lieutenant Gordon, Garnbhir Singh and a Manipur levy a year later. Both were 

strong forces, the first one counted in total around 1,500 men, but both had literally to fight 

every step of their way, making heavy use of their guns which, so the behaviour of the Angarnis 

suggested, were hitherto unknown to them The Angami clans united and even went so far as to 

destroy their villages, stored food, and crops in order to leave to the intruders only a scorched 

earth to subsist from 125 

In the process of 1832-33 Cachar was annexed by simply informing the local powers. 126 

This was done for two reasons: first, the British wanted to encourage immigration of ryulS from 

the "adjoining districts" of Dacca and Sylhet into Cachar to extend cultivation and therefore to 

increase revenue.127 Second, they hoped to establish a line of communication (i.e., a road) 

between Assam and Bengal via central Cachar.128 Cachar, although in a desolate condition due to 

perpetual internecine war since 1816, was always considered by the British as possessing a 

lucrative potential. Thus when Garnbhir Singh of Manipur finally murdered the raja of Cachar 

Govindachandra the British seized the opportunity and Cachar,129 on the pretext of 

Govindachandra having failed to produce a heir, as Mackenzie extrapolated,130 without 

mentioning that it was the British government that had prevented him from adopting one.131 

122 BSPC Vo!. 360, see the whole of Fort William, 4th February 1831 and especially Doc. No. 1, listed under Fort 
William, 11th February 1831. 
123 BSPC Vo!. 361, 6th May 1831- 26th August 1831, Doe. Nos. land 2, Minute by the Governor General in Council, 
listed under 22nd July 1831, dated 13th July 1831, where it was decided to gather more information (geographical, 
political and militaIJ? Jenkins and Pemberton got assigned the task for finding the best route for military from Sylhet 
through Cachar to Manipur. Grant was supposed to erect fortifications in Upper Assam to repel and scare tribes into 
submission, also with offensive measures. 
124 Ibid., Doc. 5, order by Swinton, dated 22nd July 1831: Jenkins and Pemberton were supposed to go from the 
north of Manipur into Upper Assam and Doe. Nos. 1-6, listed under Fort William, 19th August 1831 are all about the 
preparations for this survey through an area which until then was unknown to them. 
125 Pemberton, Report on the eastern frortier if British IrrJia, pp. 61-65. Captain John Butler, 'Rough Notes on the Anganu 
Nagas and their Language.' Jannd iftheAsiatic Saiety, Vo!. 44, No 4,1875, pp. 307-346, p. 311. Alexander 
Mackenzie, History if the R~ if the Gar.emrrEnt '11ith the Hill Trib:s if the North-East Frontier if BerfFl (Calcutta, 1884), 
p. 10l. 
126 Bet'ff1l Pdil:icd Onultatims (BPq Vo!. 126/50, 9th - 23th July 1832, Doe. 16, listed under Fort William, 9th July 
1832, Swinton to Jenkins, dt. ibid. 
127 Ibid. 
128 BPC Vo!. 126/67, 16th - 30 May 1833, Doe. 100, listed under Fort William, 30th May 1833. 
129 Bhattarcharjee, GuharwrierBritish Rule inNarth East IrrJia, pp. 25-53. 
13: Mackenzie, History if the Relatiors if the Gar.emrrEnt '11ith the Hill Trib:s if the North-East Frontier if Be1ff1l, p. 102. 
131 Bhattarcharjee, Guhar wrier British Rule in N arth East IrrJia, p. 50. 
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Cachar therefore became an integral part of the British empire on :May 30th 1833.132 As a reward, 

the eastern pan of Cachar was ceded to Manipur, to the complete opposition of its population of 

Kachha Nagas, according to Bhattarcharjee.133 

Also in 1833, Upper Assam was handed back again to the native aristocrat Purunder 

Singh134 who was chosen on grounds of his docile character,135 the handling of the whole affair is 

paradigmatic for the imperial policy of indirect rule. Purunder's kingdom was yet not more than a 

vulnerable protectorate, seemingly even more dependent on the mercy of the British than the 

ruler of :Manipur, Gambhir Singh. The cessation of British administration and the hand-over of 

Assam to Purunder Singh came into effect on April, 12th 1833.136 

By February 1833, Pembenon described the map to Swinton which he and Jenkins had 

facilitated on their survey from Manipur to Assam. The territory in question, as we know, was the 

one of the Angami Nagas. The raja of :Manipur was trying to bring that stretch of land under his 

rule. Pembenon considered this as imponant to guarantee the communication between Assam 

and :Manipur. Although he acknowledged the independent status of these tribes, he nevenheless 

left no doubt that they had no right to their independence, once it came into conflict with the 

greater designs of the British empire,m and this despite them obviously making good use of their 

soil. Robertson, agent to the government on the Nonheast Frontier, was obviously unaware of 

his own government's implication in the enterprise and warned Swinton that Gambhir Singh had 

undertaken an expedition " ... acroB the mountainous region inhabited by the Nagas between his 

own Country & assam" 138 with the aim to subjugate them. Robertson strongly opposed this and 

132 BPC Vo!. 126/68, 30th May- 21st June 1833, Doc. 110, listed under Fort William, 30th May 1833, dated ibid. 
133 Bhanarcharjee, C:uhar unlerBritish Rule inNarth East Irrlia, p. 58-60. 
134 BPC Vo!. 126/67, 16th - 30th May 1833, Doe. 84 - 86, listed under Fort William, 30th May 1833: extensive listing 
of the profound problems in Upper Assam and possibly the reasons why the British handed it over to Purunder 
Singh. 
135 BPC Vo!. 126/62, 28th January- 4th February 1833, Doe. 123, listed under Fort William, 18th January 1833: 

Poorunder Sing is a young man apparently of about 25 years of age. His continuance is pleasing and 
his manners extremely good. From the linle conversation that I had with him I am inclined to think 
that his natural abilities are respectable and his disposition mild and pacific. I suspect that he is neither 
very active or energetic, but these are qualities far from necessary, perhaps hardly desirable in one who 
is to fill a dependent Throne.-

136 BPC Vo!. 126/68, 30th May- 21st June 1833, Doe. 112, listed under Fort William, 30th May 1833, dated 20th April 
1833. 
137 BPC Vo!. 126/64, 19th February- 12th March 1833, Doe. 76, listed under Fort William, 13th February 1833: 

yd The Naga Villages noticed in the map are all large and well inhabited and the rice cultivation is 
sufficiently extensive to support a considerable increase to the present population of the hills.- 4th a 
road available for military commercial purposes might with great facility be construed along the line 
here pointed out ... ( ... ) ... at present the ranges boundary the two countries are inhabited by numerous 
peny but powerful tribes, not acknowledging dependence in either State, but Ghumbeer Singh is 
busily engaged in reducing them to Subjection and this is essential to the establishment of a safe and 
free line of communication between aBam and munnipore.-

138 BPC Vo!. 126/67, 16th - 30th May 1833, Doe. 105, listed under Fort William, 30th March 1833. 
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described the Angamis as peace-loving people and that one hardly could wish for better 

neighbours: 

4. The Nagas are a humble peaceable race who have long carried on a traffic with the people of the 

Plains whence a considerable sum has annually accrued to Govemment in the shape of duties. Better 

neighbours to the state about to be erected in upper assam it would be impossible to desire while a 

worse one than the Chieftain by whom they may be supplanted can hardly be imagined.- [referring to 

Gambhir Singh] 

( ... ) 

7. Useld~ in a commercial & pernicious in a Political Point of view I hold the measure of aiding a 

Barbarian Prince, whose conduct we never can control to subject a hannle6 and inoffensive race like 

the Nagas to his dominion to be morally unjustifiable & I must therefore hope that a repetition of this 

year's expedition will be decidedly discountenanced by the Supreme Govt." 139 

The secretary to the government, Macnaghten, explained to Robertson, that Singh undertook the 

expedition for the reason of military exercise (e.g., to be prepared in case of a repetition of a 

Singpho invasion, as had happened in 1830) and that the government approved of this. 

Moreover, the people in this region (i.e., the Nagas) " ... should be better and better known." 140 

This clearly indicates that the attack was carried out by Manipur with the consent of, and the 

possible encouragement, by its British protector and ally. It is also evident that the British 

administration justified this assault with the effect in training it might have had on the Raja's 

troops. Macnaghten informed Robertson that Manipur had already then, with the agreement of 

the British government, subjugated and made tributary a nwnber of large, populous Naga 

villages, even nonh of the watershed (the latter boundary between Nagaland and Manipur). 

Macnaghten mentioned the paramount imponance of a road from Cachar to Manipur, for the 

movement of troops, which to a large part should be build and maintained by Nagas, lowering 

the costs considerably and then referred to a report by Jenkins and Pemberton: 

In paragraph 56 it is proposed that Gumbheer Singh should be encouraged to extend his influence 

over the northern nagas and that the forest to the north should be the boundary between munipore 

and a6am. on this point the sentiments of Government have already been recorded ... [i.e. consented] 

On the A&m side towards keeping open the routes, theyUenkins and Pemberton] recommended that 

the Political Agent in upper a6am should establish a military post at the confluence of the 

Muneeoojan and Dhunsirie Nullahs, and endeavor by grants on such tenns as may be needful, to 

locate Villages there, and at other spots mentioned. On the side of munnipore the forest is the 

proposed boundary, and it is suggested that Gumbheer Singh should be held accountable for the 

L'9 Ibid. 
14: BPC Vo!. 126/68, 3()th May - 21st June 1833, Doc. 110, listed under Fort William, 30th May. 
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behaviour of the nagas thus considered to be placed under his paramount authority - you should 

ascertain and report what steps the Raja would take to keep open the communication.- 141 

Macnaghten continued how the frontier, which was understood as the inner semi-circle alongside 

the hills, was to be fortified; villages had to be located there according to strategic considerations. 

Furthermore, remarks of the governor general indicates that he wished the hill tribes should be 

given a chance for good guidance and advice, meaning British rule.142 Therefore, Robenson's 

advice was overruled and the raja of Manipur was ordered to subjugate the Nagas up to Upper 

Assam and was made responsible for their behaviour. The British authorised and ordered a 

dependent prince to conquer and control people, who hitheno had neither been under Manipuri 

nor British rule. 

Two years after Manipur had attacked them we come about the first act of retaliation by 

the Angamis on British held territory. In a dispatch from February 23rd 1835, Jenkins sent a copy 

of a letter from captain Fisher, dated Cachar February 3rd 1835, to the secretary to the 

government of Bengal in the political depanment, wherein Fisher reponed of encroachments of 

Nagas on Cachar. 

... that a party of...[up to one hundred] Nagahs from the Eastward have been recently levying 

contributions on the inhabitants of some of the village in our limits enforcing their demands by violence 

and burning the houses of those who decline Compliance with them. I have directed the Jernadar to 

proceed against them and made preparations for taking further steps .. .found necessary.143 

Jenkins, in his reply to Fisher on February 23rd 1835, assured him of suppon in punishing the 

parry of Nagas.l44 We also have evidence of incursions conducted by Nagas into Manipur in the 

first quaner of 1836.145 Increased correspondence about the Nagas indicates their rise to 

prominence.146 The commissioner of Dacca, Gordon, writing on the incursions into Upper 

Cachar, gives us a possible realistic evaluation about the effectiveness, or lack of it, of 

punishment expeditions, and on the random quality and the antagonising effect they had on the 

affected populations, not to speak of the cruelties they involved and created: 

141 Ibid. 
142 Ibid. 
143 BPe Vol. 127/28, 7th January- 30th March 1835, Doe. 4, listed under Fort Wtlliam, 13th March 1835. 
144 Ibid. 
145 BPe 127/32, 7th April- 27th September 1836, Doe. 20, listed under FW, 26th April 1836, dated 30th March 1836, 
Gordon acknowledged the receipt of a copy of the proceedings of the govt. of Bengal in which the incursions of 
Nagas into Manipur were discussed. 
146 Ibid., Doe. 1, listed under FW, 14th February 1837, dated 11th February 1837 & ibid., Doe. 1, listed under FW 21 st 

February 1837, dated 20th February 1837 (both communications from the secy. to the govt. of Bengal to the secy. to 
the govt. of India, pol. dept. - both Macnaghten). 
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( ... ) I would respectfully, but strongly urge the propriety of not anempting to seize and punish the 

perpetrators of past outrages. The only mode by which such an anempt could be made would be by 

one of those ( ... ) [expeditions, having] ... no probable chance of securing the guilty. A considerable time 

has now elapsed since the marauding incursion took place the information as to the quarter whence it 

proceeded is Security and linle to be relied upon and even admining that we could discover the 

abodes of the guilty the inaccessible nature of the Country gives so many facilities of escape, that their 

apprehension may be looked upon as next to impossible. In the Second place the expeditions resorted 

to by Native states to punish the outrages of the Nagas seem to be accompanied with gral oG 

barbarities and to involve the innoeent and guilty in one indiscriminate plan of murder, arson and 

rapine and in the third place such expeditions not only do not effectually stop, but seem to increase 

the plundering habits of their unfortunate victims .. '! have only to refer to the fruitleG efforts of the 

Detachment sent by the Munnipore state last year and to the a&rtion of Captain J enkins that the late 

incursion of the Nagas into Cachar, probably sprang from a desire to avenge the Sufferings they 

endured from the Munipooren Detachment. For these reasons I entirely agree with Captain Jenkins as 

to the inexpediency and inhumanity of adopting measures of retaliation against the Nagas. ( ... ) 147 

Gordon went on writing that in case the government decided otherwise, then any retaliation has 

to be carried out by Manipur, which had experience in this kind of warfare, besides the climate 

being fatal for British officers and troops. Hence, he suggested as further prevention of 

incursions the transfer of the border part of Upper Cachar to Manipur, which should erect a line 

of posts against the "barbarous tribes". Gordon gave us here an idea about the general quality of 

punitive expeditions and their concealed collateral damage. They were mere summary 

punishments, a random collective retaliation, pretending to be precision strikes capable of finding 

the guilty but unable to do so, and moreover, when carried out by native governments, they were 

accompanied by indiscriminate cruelties, not capable of stopping any incursions, but reinforcing 

them or in the first place, triggering them Gordon here indicated that the incursions of the 

Angamis into Cachar were rooted in the previous assaults by Manipur on them This is all the 

more interesting, since we know that punitive expeditions turned into the habitual disciplinary 

tool of the British. The commissioner of Dacca, Lewis, also suspected that the inroads of the 

Nagas could be retaliations " .. .for the devastations committed by the late Munnipore 

Detachment." He therefore recommended that all troops should have European officers to 

prevent cruelties.148 

147 Doe. 21, but says Dacca, 5th January 1837. Is the first extract of BPC 127/35, Doe. 3, listed under FW, 21" 
February 1837, To D. Mungles, Secyto the Govt. of Bengal, Judicial Dept., FW. Extracts from the Proceedings of 
the Right Honble the Gov of Bengal in the Judicial Dept., dated 17th January 1837 (copies of certain correspondence 
about the inroads on the frontier). 
148 Ibid. 
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Gordon, the political agent of Manipur, on the contrary, asked for immediate military 

action. He regarded the " ... chastisement of the Naga Tribes occupying the confines of Munipore 

and T oolarams Country. - .. .I believe it to be the desire of His Lordship to strike such terror as 

may prevent a recurrence of the aggressions ... " and went on in calling for a combined action of 

troops from Manipur and Cachar.149 A few days earlier he already had asked Macnaghten for 

permission to strike against the Nagas " ... to obtain satisfaction for the late heinous outrage 

perpetuated by Nagas occupying the confines of Munnipore and Toularams Territory ... " for the 

sake of the " .. .future peace of the Frontier."lso Captain Lister, commanding the Sylhet Light 

Infantry, had already suggested bringing the Nagas under British control in a letter to 

Macnaghten on the previous day. A European officer should command the troops of Cachar and 

Manipur: "The Officer to have Gvil control and be vested with discretionary power to bring the 

whole of the Independent Tribes of Nagas laying between Huplung in Upper Cachar and 

Munipore under our direct management and control..." in order to bring peace to the frontier. 151 

This was the first time a British officer suggested direct subjugation of the whole tract. On the 

same day, Gordon informed Lister that a Manipur contingent was ready to be put under an 

European officer, if Lister would make one available.152 Macnaghten, at that time the mouthpiece 

of the governor general of India, then George Lord Auckland, the governor of the presidency of 

Fort William in Bengal, on March, the y-rl 1837 pronounced the decision" .. .for the protection of 

the North Eastern Frontier of Cachar from the incursion of the Nagas.,,153 Yet, there was no 

specification of how this was to be accomplished. Gordon from Manipur continued to press for 

quick and combined action of Manipuri and British troops against the Angamis.154 However, the 

governor decided on February, 21st 1837 against any punishment expedition" ... against the Naga 

tribes ... " but to station a Manipur force in Northern Cachar " ... in order to cut off the retreat or to 

pursue into their fastneBes, any body of Nagas committing further aggressions.,,155 Yet, the 

problem was not laid to rest, and jenkins, when asked about his opinion, wrote to Macnaghten 

on 17th March 1837, that the country around Shemkur had neither been under Manipur nor 

under Tula Ram (North Cachar) and that the latter had no means to subjugate the Nagas of 

Shemkur. Nevertheless, he was in favour of occupying the country around Shemkur, in order to 

149 Ibid., Doe. 4, listed under FW, 21 st February 1837. Under the same Doe. are further letters listed, concerned with 
how to strike against the Nagas. The number of troops was suggested to be 800, as during the previous season, but 
this time under an European officer. The following Doe. 5 deals with how to protect Cachar. Suggestions involved 
offensive as well as defensive measures. When problems like this arose the govt. encouraged every officer on the 
frontier to give his opinion. 
IS: Ibid., Doe. 6, listed under FW, 9th January 1837. 
151 Ibid. 
152 Ibid. 
IS} Ibid., Doe. 1, listed under FW, 7th March 1837, dated FW. 

1S4 Ibid., Doe. 2, listed under FW, 11th April 1837, dated Munipore 11th February 1837. 
ISS Ibid., Doe. 2, listed under FW, 11th April 1837, Extract from the Political Dept., i.e. what the Pal. Dept. had 
decided on. 
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protect their Cacharee subjects, but not by Manipur troops, who were not well paid, travelled 

without rations and therefore had to rely on requisitions, plundering etc. Furthennore, that the 

Manipur government wanted to station its troops pennanently at Shemkur only to commit 

plunder and arson and he also assumed that the "barbarous aggressions" of the Nagas were 

maybe retaliations for the " ... devastations committed by the late Munipooree Detachment." 

Jenkins saw a solution only in the handing over of the matter to troops commanded by an 

European officer by whom the causes for the actions of the Nagas were investigated.156 

The governor general-in-council decided on 3rd April 1837 that" ... the conciliation of the 

Nagas being an object of the last importance ... ", 157 and thus the Manipur troops should or could 

be used, but nevertheless if the "Right Honble the Governor" agreed on the suggestion of 

Jenkins, then "His Lordship in (})uncil" was ready to direct captain Lister with a company of the 

Sylhet Light Infantry to investigate into the origins of " ... atrocities of the Nagas ... " to prevent 

them in the future. 158 The government of Bengal approved of the suggestions made by Jenkins/ 59 

and requested the government of India " ... that the necessary order for the coercion of the Naga 

tribes in Cachar may be illued accordingly."I60 An European officer from the Sylhet Light 

Infantry was to proceed at the beginning of the cold season (November 1837) to investigate into 

the reasons for the Naga raids.161 On 10th October 1837 the government of India infonned the 

government of Bengal that it was decided by the governor general-in-council to take action 

against the Nagas, but was not willed to put them directly under its rule: 

Sir, I am directed by the ... GovGenl of India in Council ... on the subject of the arrangement for 

employing a part of the Levy [of Manipur] against the nagas. 

2. In reply, I am directed to state that it is not the intention of Government to take the management 

of that tract referred to by you provided the Munnipore Government is disposed to rule it without 

oppression and can prevent the inroads of the Nagas into the British Territory. In directing the 

156 Ibid., Doc. 3, listed under FW, 11th April 1837. 
157 Ibid., Secy. to the Govt. of India Macnaghten to Secy. to the Govt. of Bengal, Po!. Dept., dt. FW, 3rd April 1837. 
15R Ibid. 
159 Ibid., Doc. 3, listed under FW, 2nd May 1837, Extract Judicial Dept., from the Proceedings of the Right Honble 
the Governor of Bengal in the Judicial Dept., dt. 25th April 1837. 
16C Ibid., Doe. 4, lener from Secy. Govt. Bengal Macnaghten to Secy. Govt. India, Po!. Dept. Macnaghten, undated. 
161 Ibid., Doc. 1, listed under FW, 4th July 1837. Po!. Agent Cassiah Hills Lister to Secy. Govt. India Macnaghten, dt. 
FW, 3rd June 1837: 

I do not anticipate that much, if any information, will be obtained, relative to the original cause of 
these Naga incursions. In upper Cachar these inroads are of yearly occurrence and have been carried 
on unchecked for many years past, the tribes commining the atrocities are understood to come from a 
remote distance from our frontier, not le~ than fifteen marches. It is therefore improbable, that our 
Cacharee Subjects, unwarlike as they are acknowledged to be, should have ever commined acts of 
aggreBion on them. The true cause, will, no doubt be found in the predatory habits of the people, to 
which all the barberous mountain tribes of the Frontier are more or le~ addicted, and which nothing 
but fear will make them forego. 
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employment of British troops alone in the interior of the Hills, His Lordship in Council was 

influenced by the apprehension that the Munnipore troops if so employed might be guilty of exce&s. 

( ... ) you will be pleased to impre6 upon the Munnipore Govemment the neceBity of preventing any 

aggression by the Nagas in the CompanyTerritory.162 

British troops only were deployed into the interior of the Naga hills. At the same time the tract 

between Assam and Manipur, sheltering off Cachar, was handed over to Manipur, with the 

condition to rule it without excesses and with the order to protect British territory from Naga 

incursions. By September 1838 Jenkins went one step further in suggesting the permanent 

stationing of a European officer and troops in the Naga hills to prevent further incursions by the 

Nagas and the therefrom resulting depopulation of the Cachar hills. 163 

On October 20th 1838 Burns, the superintendent (SP) of Cachar, reponed to Jenkins that 

the Angarnis had conducted another raid on Upper Cachar, killing five and abducting twenty. 

Bums asked for a " .. .speedy and Summary retaliation ... [against this] Savages.,,164 Bums seems to 

have lost his patience. Jenkins replied that he had ordered a Cacharee chief with a pany of armed 

Cacharees to Haflong, into the affected area and that he had asked the government to take 

immediate action.165 The government on its pan agreed to send at least 200 men to punish the 

Angarnis. Prinsep pressed Jenkins to take all necessary steps to put" ... the advancing pany ... in the 

position they may occupy to effect the permanent subjugation of the offending Tribes.,,166 The 

British were convinced that they could pacify and subjugate the Angarnis with one expedition, 

without knowing really who the Angarnis were or where exactly they resided. At this stage it had 

been decided on the first expedition against the Angarnis. :Many would follow. Jenkins continued 

to press for urgency to act and argued in favour of the use of Shan and Cacharee militias. Yet, the 

British had problems in gathering the force.167 Grange, sub-assistant of Nowgong, who was 

assigned to the task, was either to get hold of the perpetrators or to take hostages among the 

Nagas, in order to force them to be handed over.168 Despite the unclear origin of the hostilities 

Jenkins suggested measures against the Angarnis that were supposed to spread terror and this 

although he himself called the Nagas the original occupants of that country and was of the 

opinion that the Cacharees had brought about these attacks on themselves, by permanently trying 

162 BPC Vol. 127/36, 29th August - 28th December 1837, Doe. 3, listed under FW, 10th October 1837 FW, dated 
ibid., from the Secy to the Govt of India to the Secy to the Govt of Bengal (both Macnaghten) with copy to the 
Political Agent at Manipur (Capt. Gonion) and the Commissioner of Dacca. 
163 IrrIia Pditical OJrsultatiorE (IPq Vol. PI 195/3, 21st - 28th November 1838, Doe. 104, listed under FW, 21 \t 
November 1838, from the Agent to the govenor general to the North Eastern Frontier Jenkins to the Secy. Gov. of 
India, Pol. Dept., FWPrinsep, dt. 11th Sept. 1838. 
164 Ibid., Doe. 106, is contained as copy in a communication fromJenkins to Prinsep, dt. Assam, 10th Nov. 1838. 
165 Ibid., dt. Assam, 10th Nov. 1838. 
166 Ibid., Doe. 107, Prinsep to Jenkins, dt. FW, 21st Nov. 1838. 
167 IPC Vol. P/195/8, 16th January- 13th February 1839, Doe. 59, Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 11th Dec. 1838. 
168 Ibid. 
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to enslave the Nagas. That is to say, the Angamis' raids could have been retaliations for those 

conducted by the Cacharees on them. 

On May 20th 1939 Jenkins reponed to Prinsep about Grange's failure to carry out his 

mission of punishing the Angamis, due to the failure on the side of the authorities of Cachar to 

provide enough personnel. Yet, Grange had proceeded into and through parts of Angarni 

country in a speedy manner and had assened that the reason for the raids and their extent was for 

the sake of obtaining slaves, and foretold that the affected territory would soon be completely 

desened.!69 A month later Jenkins conveyed to Prinsep his belief in the rapid subjugation of the 

Angamis through just one further punishment expedition by Grange and that most Nagas would 

surely happily put themselves under British protection and argued for the annexation of this pan 

of country (i.e., Angarni territolJ1 in grouping it with Assam.!70 Grange had reponed that 1,500 -

2,000 Naga-houses had shown their willingness to put themselves under British protection, hence 

would produce revenue through house-tax.!7! Yet, Prinsep informed J enkins that the government 

had decided against any annexation, but had agreed on the exenion of political influence via the 

headmen of the villages.l72 In September Jenkins asked captain Gordon, the political agent of 

Manipur, for Manipuri assistance to the projected second expedition of Grange. Jenkins also 

wanted Manipur to subdue and bring under its control the Nagas south of the watershed. m By 

October Prinsep had informed Jenkins that the government had sanctioned the annexation of 

Nonh Cachar to Nowgong and another expedition against the Angamis to reduce them to 

subjection.!74 Bigge had already written to Jenkins that the annexation of Nonh Cachar was 

agreed on by the government. Bigge also told Jenkins that he was not sure how the government 

wanted to control those Nagas who were willing to put themselves under the British and those 

who were not. Lieutenant H Bigge, assistant agent to Jenkins, was critical of the government's 

decision and he doubted the possibility of controlling the Nagas without force, that is to say the 

government wanted to annex Nonh Cachar but not the Naga hills, where it didn't want to get 

too much involved. This presented an unclear policy for Bigge.!75 Jenkins replied that the Naga 

communities should be controlled through their chiefs and informed him that the management 

of the Angamis from now on was under his, Bigge's jurisdiction, since the whole communication 

with them went via Nonh Cachar, which fell from then on under Bigge.!76 The government 

169 IPe Vol. P/195/19, Doe. 56, listed under FW, 10th July 1839,Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 20th May 1839. 
17: IPe Vol. P/195/22, Doe. 107, listed under FW, 14th August 1839, Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 15th June 1839. 
171 Ibid., copyanached, Bigge to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong gth June 1839. 
172 Ibid., Doe. 109, Prinsep to Jenkins, dt. FW, 14th Aug. 1839. 
173 IPe Vol P/195/26, 2nd - 16th Oct. 1839, Doe. 89, listed under FW, 2nd Oct. 1839, copy of a lener fromJenkins to 

Captain Gordon, Political Agent of Manipur, dt. 6th Sept. 1839. 
174 IPe Vol. P/195/26, Doe. 90, listed under FW, 2nd Oct. 1839, Prinsep to Jenkins, dt. FW ibid. 
175 IPe Vol. P/195/27, 23rd Oct. - 6th Nov. 1839, Doe. 105, listed under FW, 23rd Oct. 1839,Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 
11 th Oct. 1839 of copy of Bigge to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong 1 SI Oct. 1839. 
176 Ibid., Jenkins to Bigge, dt. 7th Oct. 1839. 
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approved of Jenkins' realisation of its orders and specified and stressed again that the authority 

and power of those chiefs, whose conduct was in accordance with the British government, 

should not be touched.177 This change of mind on the pan of the government was caused by 

Grange's ponrayal of a new revenue-pregnant tenitory that was to be reaped, and Jenkins' 

unremitting assurances on the ease with which the Angarnis were to be lured into the British 

realm. The Nagas clearly did not present a priority on the government's agenda . .As long as it saw 

its security concerns warranted by the chiefs of Manipur and Upper Cachar it encouraged both to 

bring the mountain range bordering them under their control, including the population living 

there. A process begun immediately after the Bunnese had been expelled. That is why we come 

across repeated incursions by Nagas into Manipur as early as winter 1826-27,178 being retaliations 

for Manipur's incessant encroachment on them, and explains the ferocious resistance put up 

against the exploratory tour of Jenkins and Pembenon in the early 1830s. Upper Cachar, being a 

renegade province of Cachar, fought in alliance with Manipur against Cachar and, like Manipur 

emboldened by British backing, rivalled with it for predatory raids on both Cachar and the 

Angami hills.179 Yet, being both petty statelets, and for Upper Cachar this is even an exaggeration, 

they could only sustain forages, plunder, and the usual request for occasional tribute and fonnal 

acknowledgement of suzerainty, but in no way could exercise anything near effective control. The 

British government, as we have seen, only developed an interest in these affairs once local 

officers promised an easy prey. Low priority, contradicting reports about an unknown theatre, 

together with slow and difficult communications and an unclear and complicated chain of 

command allowed for a considerable scope of action on the side of the local officers,180 who all, 

as a rule, behaved as wonhy representatives of Anglo-Indian militarism This will become even 

clearer in the following pages. 

177 Ibid., Doc. 106, dt. 23rd Oct. 1839. 
178 BSPC Vol. 342, 4th November 1826 - 30th December 1826, Doc. No. 5, listed under Fort Wtlliam 30th December 
1826, from Tucker to Swinton, dated Sylhet, Omunissioner Office 16th December 1826. 
179 L. Atola C1J.angkiri, 1heA ~ Na[J1S ani the British, 1832-1947 (New Delhi, 1999), pp. 22-30. Bhauacharjee, 
Guhar under British Rule in North East Irriia, pp. 46-65. Both authors allow also for predatory raids on the part of the 
Angamis, either as compensation for interrupted trade, or out of conviction for the sake of headhunting or to trade 
slaves with Bengal. Even then agency must have been more complex as different Angami clans used to ally with 
either North Cachar or with Manipur against local rivals, and united only temporarily in case of a massive invasion of 
their territory. However, since Cachar was always thinly populated (ibid., p. 15), and was even more so by internecine 
strife since 1813 onwards, and the following Burmese invasion and occupation (ibid., pp. 25-44), but never was 
anything mentioned of any part for the Angarnis in it, I suppose the evidence suggests that they were drawn into this 
by their neighbours. H K. Barpujari, PrrJiem if the Hill Trib:s NartbEastFrantier 1822-42 (Calcuua, 1970),Vol. I, pp. 
142-146 and 173, for example, uncritically follows British sources and is only unsure whether it was the desire for 
heads, or for salt, or for plunder that triggered the raids, but not whether these raids that were raids on Naga villages 
in North Cachar, were raids on North Cachar, because North Cachar was suddenly extended over these villages. 
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1.7 Attempted Economic Integration, December 1839 - March 1843 

The end of the 1830s saw the first military action of the British against the Angamis. It involved a 

policy in which the British burned the villages and destroyed the food stores of those Nagas who 

did not welcome the invasion of their territory. This policy was supplemented by the order to the 

Nagas to refrain from any active fighting, to surrender their own means of defence and attack to 

the British. The Angamis knew this and that is why they have shaken their spears at Grange on 

his second expedition shouting that" ... their spears were their Rajas.,,181 In turn, the British 

promised the Nagas to refrain from any interference into their local affairs, but that the Nagas 

should give some symbolic tribute as sign of acceptance of British supremacy. Furthermore, the 

Angamis were ordered to surrender those of their chiefs whom the British held responsible for 

attacks on what the British had decided to be their territory; otherwise close relatives would be 

taken hostage. Subsequently, to avoid creating a power vacuum, the population was to choose 

new chiefs and they had to be installed. These new chiefs, in turn, were supposed to be held 

responsible by the British for the conduct of the tribes, that is to say the British would rule 

through them. The chiefs would be told of economic rewards via trade and it was this opening up 

of the hills by which the British hoped on the one hand to civilise, domesticate and dominate the 

Nagas,182 and on the other, to profit from this trade themselves by incorporating the Naga hills 

into their market system and possibly extract resources. This in the end meant subjugation via 

economic penetration for which it was necessary to open up the lines of communication, if 

possible without high-cost military intervention. To ensure that all this would work out, the 

British intended to establish a military post, that is to say a bridgehead, in the Angami hills, at the 

same time assuring them that this did not allude to any encroachment on their sovereignty. 

Grange, who commanded a Shan militia, was ordered for his second expedition into 

Angami country to go via Mohong Dijua, close to Dimapur, in order to clear the road as far as 

the Dhansiri river, and to establish there a " ... godown for Storing provisions, as also huts for the 

Sepoys have been ordered to be built at the different stages."183 Brodie was instructed to join 

Grange at the Dhansiri river. Identified as the main perpetrators of the raids were the " ... tribes, 

under the chiefs Ikari and Inpoji inhabiting the villages of Mangoan and SukungO ... ,,184 The aim 

was to pacify without occupying, to pursue the chiefs" ... to agree to exert themselves, to restrain 

18C Peers, Bet7iImMars ardMammn, pp. 37-39. 
181 Major John Butler, Trauis arriAdrmu:res in the Prmin:e if Assam, duri.rf,a R6iderr£ iffatrteen)Wrs (London, 1855), p. 
106. 
182 As had been done before with Scottish highlanders (as already remarked) and in the Bengal presidency, see 
Bryant, 'Pacification in the Early British Raj, 1755-85', p. 11. 
183 IPe Vol. P/195/31, Doe. 112, listed under 1st Jan. 1840, Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 6th Dec. 1839, includes copy of 
Bigge to Jenkins, dt. Mahojong 26th Nov. 1839, including copy of Bigge to Grange, dt. ibid. 
184 Ibid. The two villages mentioned here must have been Mozema and Khonoma. 
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the predatory habits of their tribes ... " to put themselves under British protection. There was not 

to be any reduction of their power and authority. As a sign of their acknowledgement of British 

protection they should send an annual present of elephant tusks. Nevertheless, Grange was to 

take hostages if he had reason to suspect that their consent was only given due to the presence of 

British troops. Ikari and the Inpoji should either be surrendered, or close relatives of them should 

be taken hostage to ensure their good conduct. In case of their resistance they should be 

attacked, apprehended and then treated as prisoners of war. Grange was to find out which chief 

the tribes wanted and should ensure to install him, so that no power-vacuum would lead to 

instability and chaos. The chiefs were to be made to understand that the British government did 

not want to deprive them of their power, and that they were only held responsible for the 

peaceful conduct of their tribes and that they would profit from a " .. .free intercourse with traders 

and others ... " but would be attacked in any case of misconduct.185 

Bigge informed Grange that a permanent military post was to be established and he, 

Grange, should suggest a location for this. The Shan were to man this post and to be asked to 

settle there. The native officers were not to exercise any control over the native chiefs and should 

avoid any offence towards them and were to act in a conciliatory manner towards the people. 186 

The government approved of these instructions.187 

Grange was ambushed during this expedition. He took the village of Khonoma by force and 

destroyed it together with its hidden store of grain.188 When retreating he realised that the Nagas 

had par9ied89 every path. On his way back he encamped in two funher villages, one of which he 

also destroyed, together with the whole of its grain stores. l90 

Jenkins reponed to the Government about his hope that Grange's expedition had had the 

desired effect on the Angami Naga tribes: 

The repetition of our incursion & the punishment inflicted on two of the largest Villages of the 

Angarni confederacy Haplongmie and Juppama the fonner for attacking him on returning from his 

search after the Munipoorees and the lauer for killing one of the Asamese Coolies during his absence 

cannot but convince the Nagas that we have power of punishing them for any offences upon our 

subjects, & it is gratifying to know that the murderous attacks of these Nagas upon the Cacharee 

185 Ibid. 
186 Ibid. 
187 Ibid., Doe. 113, Prinsep to Jenkins, dt. FW, 1st Jan. 1840. 
188 IPe Vo!. P/195/39, 25th May- 15th June 1840, Grange to Bigge, dt. Sununoo Guding, 16th Feb. 1840. 
189 Parfies were sharpened bamboo sticks, stuck into the ground to hinder the opponents progress or to injure him. 
198 Ibid., Grange to Bigge, dt. Sumoo Guding, 29th Feb. 1840. 
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Villages have been entirely suspended during the past year; & that our Ryats have been enabled to 

advance their cultivation along the Dheensiri to the South much beyond its fonner lirnits._ 191 

Grange had taken prisoners from these "hoscile and powerful tribes" who were to be used as 

messengers to exert influence on theml92 The projected pacification was obviously necessary to 

allow the further settlement and cultivation bordering the hills, indispensable for the extraction of 

revenue. Jenkins summarised and commented on the communication between Bigge and Gordon 

in a dispatch to Fort William Therein Jenkins informed the government that Gordon was in 

favour of establishing a thana in the Angami country, in order to dominate it and completely 

subjugate the Nagas. This would ensure an easy communication between Assam and Manipur via 

a road between these two parts through Angami territory. Bigge, on the contrary, was of the 

opinion that there was nothing to trade there to justify the expenses of building such a road. He 

instead would have preferred to go on a leisurely tour through Naga country to bring them in line 

and Jenkins supported this idea of a four months tour with only a small detachment. 

Furthermore, Jenkins was of the opinion that a military post at Dimapur on the Dhansiri, on the 

northern frontier of North Cachar and at Semkhur, at the southeastern frontier of the district 

would not only discourage attacks but also encourage settlers to extend their settlement towards 

the hills and if necessary Gordon's plan of a road from Manipur to Assam via Angami land could 

be implemented.193 The government approved of Bigge's plan to cafI}' out a public relations tour 

through the Naga villages.194 

A few months later in April 1841 Jenkins recalled to the government the success of the 

taken measures that the raids of the Angamis had already stopped after Grange's first expedition 

and that during each of these raids approximately 40-50 people had been killed or abducted. Thus 

J enkins suggested to go one step further and to incotporate the Naga hills economically and to 

send the ryats of the company there.195 The governor general expressed his satisfaction with the 

development, encouraged frequent mutual intercourse and, if possible, the avoidance of force 

and the use of peaceful means to encourage the Nagas to abstain from hostilities between 

themselves and from those on their neighbours.196 The government wanted to acquire an 

acknowledgement as soon as possible from the Angamis of their submission to British authority, 

and in general desired to open up and civilise slowly the Naga hills through roads, trade, traders 

191 Ibid., Jenkins to Maddoek, Secy. to the Govt. of India in the Pol. Dept., FW, dt. 2nd May 1840. 
192 Ibid. 
193 IPCVol. P/19S/42, 20th July- 3rd August 1840, Doe. 93, listed under FW, 3rd August 1840,Jenkins to Torrens, 
Officiating Secy. Govt. India, Pal. Dept., FW. 
194 Ibid., Doe. 94, Torrens to Jenkins, dt. FW, 3rd August 1840. 
195 IPC Vol. P/19S/SS, 12th - 26th April 1841, Doe. 79, listed under FW, 12th April 1841,Jenkins to Maddock, dt. 
Gowhatty, 21st March 1841. 
196 Ibid., Doe. 80, Maddoek to Jenkins, dt. FW, 12th April 1841. 
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etc.197 However, raids were resumed in December 1841. The government ordered action to be 

taken especially regarding the fixing of boundaries (e.g., between :Manipur and Angami Naga 

territory) and the protection of the frontier by the set-up of a " ... pennanent chain of Military 

posts in the hills for checking the aggressions of the Angami and other neighbouring tribes." 198 In 

March 1842 the government decided against the establishment of a post among the Angamis and 

in favour of frequent visits for " ... the conciliation and civilization of the [Angami] tribes.,,199 Yet, 

in the meantime inroads by Angamis to villages in Manipur and Cachar were continuously 

reported.zoo However, a turning point seemed to be reached when Jenkins informed the 

government of India in March 1843 as follows: 

... that two of the principal Chiefs of the Angamee Nagas and Several heads of Villages of the Rengma 

tribe of Nagas have attended at Nowgong on his Summos inviting them to a personal interview, and 

have entered into agreements with Capt. Gordon to obey the Govt and abstain form wars among 

themselves. ( ... ) [and] to pay a yearly tribute in acknowledgement of our authority ... ( ... ) ... the number of 

houses dependent on the Chiefs is estimated at 9264, which at our ordinary calculation would give a 

population of 50,000 Nagas now brought under our control, but the number will be still higher for the 

houses of the Hill Nagas are of great Size and each contains whole families. This large occasion of 

people to our Rule, who will now become valuable consumers of our products and contributors to the 

general trade of the Country, is only a small portion of the benefits which will be the consequence of 

the submission to our authority ... but from the restoration of perfect tranquilityto the vast tracts which 

surround the Angamie hills in Northern Cachar and the districts of the Dhunsiri and Jumoona Rivers, 

very important Result will gradually be obtained, the lands in the tracts in question being of varies 

nature in soil and elevation and mostly of the greatest fertility.- One of the products which will now 

become available is the Tea known to exist in the lower ranges of the angami hills which by the Shans 

is considered of a very superior quality .... 201 

J enkins was euphoric, believing, or at least wanting to convey that he believed, that the Nagas in 

this area (Angamis and Rengmas) had now accepted British supremacy. The advantages he saw, 

or which he at least wanted the government to believe, were the expected revenue through house 

tax, the addition of the Nagas to the market as consumers and producers, the full development 

and cultivation of the ostensible fertile country bordering on Naga territory, since it was now 

197 IPC Vot. P/19S/S6, 3rd - 24th May 1841, Doc.10S, Maddoek to Jenkins, dt. FW, 19th July 184l. 
198 IPCVol. P/196/4, 13th - 30th Dec. 1841, Doe. 95, listed underFW, 13th Dec. 1841, MaddocktoJenkins, 13th 

Dec. 184l. 
199 IPC Vot. P/196/10, 7th March - 30th March 1842., Doe. 39, listed under FW, 7th March 1842, Maddock to 
Jenkins, dt. 7th March 1842. 
2X IPCVol. P/196/4, 13th - 30th Dec. 1841, Doe. 94, listed underFW, 13th Dec. 1841,Jenkins to Maddock, dt. 24th 
Nov. 1841 &IPCP/I96/13, Doe. 12, listed underFW, 1st June 1842, a series of communications between Jenkins, 
Bigge and Gordon (the one in charge of Nowgong, not the one in charge of Manipur). 
lel IPC Vol. P/I96/29, 29th March - 12th April 1843, Doe. 76, listed under FW, 12th April 1843,Jenkins to Bushby, 
dt. 19th March 1843. 
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pacified and safe, and the cultivation of some high quality tea in the Naga hills themselves. He 

evoked a new flourishing area, which he would have liked to be supponed and connected by a 

school in Dimapur, helping to facilitate trade relations between the hills and the plains - at this 

stage the British, on economic grounds, wanted to enhance the relationship between these two 

areas. Only later, when they realised that the enforced fusion between hills and plains brought 

about conflicts that often precipitated unrest and rebellions, as for example already experienced 

by the British in Bengal/o2 and that then, as a rule, order had to be reinstalled with expansive 

counter-insurgency operations, was a policy of separation followed. This policy afterwards could 

be presented as a philanthropic one devised to safeguard the interests and the way of life of the 

hill people. Much later, already in the 1920s, when the Nagas resistance had been crushed, and 

when they had stopped posing even a remote danger or challenge, some of the British officers, 

serving long terms among them, would deliver a liking to the Nagas and the way of living they 

had then developed. Yet, there was nothing of that in the nineteenth century; the Nagas, together 

with the difficult terrain they lived in, were simply enemies of the British. Consequently, the 

British had developed cenain strategies to deal with those, and one of them was to try to 

incorporate them into the market system. The trade goods and opponunities were meant to be 

the carrot; the striking power of the sepoys, the stick 

After the policy to delegate the task to subjugate the Angamis to Manipur had failed and 

instead had resulted in them fighting back, the British changed their strategy. They had wanted to 

incorporate the Nagas into their market sphere with a mixture of intimidation, by appointing and 

holding chiefs accountable to the British, and opening up lines of communication and securing 

them through the establishment of a military post, by encouraging settler colonisation into the 

Naga hills, as well as around them, and in placing the Kukis in Cachar to check possible forays. 

The so-called punishment expeditions were also used to gather intelligence on a wide 

range of topics: there was first of all the military necessity to collect and document the data about 

the geo- and topography of the area, as well as about the distribution of populations, their 

cultural identification and social and political order.203 Then there was the hunt for, and 

282 As a more dated work, see Bryant, 'Pacification in the Early British Raj, 1755-85'. For a newer treatment of this 
topic see Mann, Bm;plen im Unimu.h: Die Herausbildurf, dt5 britisrkn Kdonialstaate; 1754-1793, pp. 213-259. 
2e3 Morag Bell, Robin Butler and Michael Heffeman, 'Introduction: Geography and imperialism, 1820-1940', I n idem 
(eds.), Geugraphyarrlinperidism1820-1940 (Manchester, 1995), pp. 1-12. That the created knowledge was anything but 
exact, and a long way from qualifying as monolithic or even totalizing, but rather chaotic, see Matthew H Edney, 
'The Ideologies and Praxis of Mapping and Imperialism', In idem, Mtl{7fJirf, an mpire The ~aphical ontrnaim if 
British lniia, 1765-1843 (Ollcago, 1997). Edney here especially argues against Edward Said, whose view he sees as 
follows: "The imperial power thus recreates the empire in its maps, subsuming all individuals and places within the 
map's tota1izing image. Military conquest, geographical conquest, and cultural conquest are functionally equivalent." 
(24) But even Edney admits that the so created data was valid enough to allow for conquest and control (35). 
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documentation of possible natural resources or the likelihood for growing cash-crops, as well as 

the discovery of trade opponunities. 

1.8 Direct InteJVention and Retreat, November 1844 - Febn.J3IY 1851 

Encouraging trade and contact between the plains and the hills was until hitherto the strategy of 

the British to incorporate the Naga hills into their economic sphere. This was to be the first step 

and should have had the effect of pacifying the Nagas, to civilise them in British or European 

terms, to make them dependent on trade, and hence incorporate them into their empire. But it 

was not the opening up of the Naga hills towards modernity; it was to take away their 

independence, or we could call this to dispossess them of their means of defence and production, 

and therewith their self-determination.204 

In the process of doing so, the British drew the circle closer and clashed with the 

dominant Angami groups, for whom they represented rivals. The Angami power field was 

characterised by a constant struggle between leading clans/os correlating to the territorial unit of 

the khel. It was common practice to temporarily seek for allies among the powers surrounding the 

hills to finish off a local rival. We will have a closer look at who the Angamis were in the next 

chapter. The British, seeing themselves as the paramount power of order, were drawn into the 

local power struggle, not realising that the Nagas saw them as just another contestant, and never 

wanted them to stay, nor believed that they could wish to do SO?06 Local British officers, far away 

from any direct control, also had their role in this drama, and some decided not to inform the 

government about the real situation on the spot. The government, once it had found out, and 

predominantly motivated by commercial interests, did give the order for retreat and non­

interference, once face-keeping retaliation strikes had been carried out. Subsequently, for more 

than a decade other affairs than the Nagas were more important for the British. Only after 

further parts of Lower Burma had been conquered and incOIporated into the raj, did the Naga 

hills come back onto the British political agenda. 

204 And preparing their way towards qualifying as ethnic group, Jean and John Comaroff, 'On T otemism and 
Ethnicity', In idem, 'Ethrugraphyanl the Historical Irm[!jnuion.' (Boulder, 1992), pp. 49-68. An ethnic group therefore is 
mainly one that lives in an unequal and subordinated position, by taking away their control over the means of 
production, defined and justified through cultural signifiers. Timothy Garton Ash, when writing on Bosnia and on 
the difference between a dialect and a language, quotes the linguist Max Weinreich, who said in 1945, that" A 
language is a dialect with an army and a navy." Timothy Garton Ash, History if the henl: E SSCl)S, Skeuhes am 
Dispau:hts jronEurope in the 1990s (London, 2000), pp. 218 and 477. We may say a nation is an ethnic group with an 
army. 
2:5 We will try to disentangle Angami polity in the next chapter. 
2:6 See again Bryant, 'Pacification in the Early British Raj, 1755-85.' The British asserted their control over frontier 
areas in which they were simply seen as another competitor, moreover, enforced a tighter control that hitherto had 
been exercised. 
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By November 1844 the Shan militia, stationed at the village of Lamkaje, a small outpost 

of Hosung Hajo was attacked by Angamis.207 British investigations established that Khonoma 

was behind this attack on the Shan Militia. The involved Angamis had announced that they 

would make war on the "sepoys", seeing themselves as the strongest village and therefore 

convinced that the others had to do what they said.208 The local officers Eld and Wood were 

ordered to cautiously arrest the most powerful Khonoma chief.209 Both led the two columns of 

the following military operation which burned down three villages in the process, including 

Khonoma, for not surrendering its men.2iO However, this time the government did not approve 

of the practice of burning down villages: 

The burning of these villages was not justifiable and the Officers engaged with these half civilized 

tribes on the Frontier of our possessions would in the opinion of the Governor General in Council 

gain more influence with them and be better able to cany out measures for the protection and benefit 

of our own Frontier and Subjects by acting in all circumstances with Strict Justice and moderation, 

than by having recourse to these harsh measures of general and indiscriminate Vengeance.211 

The British had entered into a local power struggle and were seen by the Angamis both as rivals 

and as potential allies. Therefore, the local officers saw the only solution in the establishment of a 

permanent military post among the Angamis.212 Additionally, the most important chiefs should 

be taken hostage to ensure the submission of the rest of the tribe.213 Mter renewed forages by 

Angamis in 1846/14 the government sanctioned all measures, especially the opening up of 

communications (roads), to enable the establishment of a temporary military post at Samaguting, 

with the aim of suppressing future Angami raids. The government was then still hoping to find 

natural resources in the Naga hills, for example coffee etc.215 For his next expedition into Angami 

m lniia Pditiad anlForeignPrrx.miirTi§ (IPFP) VoL P/196/63, 2nd - 16th Nov. 1844, Does. 74-76, listed under FW, 16th 

Nov. 1844. 
2J8 IPFP Vo!. P/197/2, 14th - 28th Dec. 1844, Doe. 87, listed under FW, 28th Dec. 1844, Subassistant to 
Commissioner Golah Ghat B. Wood to Collector! Assistant to Commissioner Nowgong Capt. P. Eld, dt. Golah 
Ghat 15th Nov. 1844. 
289 Ibid., Doe. 88, Jenkins to Eld, dt. 20th Nov. 1844. 
2!qpFP VoL P/197/16, 23rd May 1845, Doe. 69, listed under FW, 23rd May 1845, Jenkins to Currie, dt. 3rd April 
1845. This logic held whole populations responsible for the acts of their democratic elected governments, see also 
Does. 70 and 71, the reportS of Capt. Eld. 
211 Ibid., Doe. 72, Gmie to Jenkins, dt. 23rd May 1845. 
212 IPFP Vo!. P/197/19, 20th to 27th June 1845, Doe. 123, listed underFW, 27th June 1845, Eld, Principal Assistant 
to the Agent to the Governor General to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong 20th May 1845. 
213 Ibid., Doe. 12S,Jenkins to Gmie, dt. Gowahatte 5th June 1845. 
214 IPFP Vo!. P/197/44, 5th - 26th Sept. 1846, Doe 18, listed underFW, 19th Sept. 1846, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 29th 

May 1846. & Butler to Jenkins, dt. Now Gong 12th June 1846 & Doe. 17, Jenkins to Bushby, 19th August 1846. 
215 Ibid., Doe. 19, Bushbyto Jenkins, dt. FW' 19th Sept. 1846. 
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territory, Butler was especially called on to collect botanical and geological infonnation.216 The 

government was eager to find something to pay the expenses. 

The post at Samaguting was for long a success, the place itself flourishing and settlers 

poured into North Cachar to start cultivation,217 until the British decided to move their militia -

headquarters into the centre of Angami country.218 This intrusion and interference resulted in a 

surprise attack on their militia with thirteen personnel killed.219 The militia was attacked because it 

got involved itself in a local feud.220 Thereupon, the government sanctioned immediate and 

strong measures; the dispatch of military forces into the Angami hills that were allowed as a last 

resort the burning of villages and the destruction of the cropS.221 Military operations inside 

Angami country were carried on for months and the British for the first time stayed on in the 

hills during the rains.222 "When in May 1850 the government grew impatient and requested the 

agent to the Northeast to submit more infonnation about the situation in the Angami hills,223 

Jenkins reported on the impending success of the operation, that the Nagas were coming in one 

by one and were offering submission. Further, that the commanding officer in the hills, lieutenant 

Vincent, asked to stay on in the hills during the rains. Jenkins, on this occasion, conveyed his 

opinion that the mere destruction of the offending villages was not enough and suggested as 

further measures the destruction of the crops and to prevent the Nagas from cultivation, a 

strategy of scorched earth, but that this necessitated the permanent stationing of an European 

officer. This, so he continued, would finally bring them to submission, but involved " ... the 

necessity of proceeding to the harsh but unavoidable infliction of destroying villages and 

cropS.,,224 Jenkins warned not to call off the operation at this stage, since this would send the 

wrong signals. There was, so Jenkins, every justification to make an end to their " ... usele~ striving 

for their rude independence and the right to plunder and murder their neighbours .... "225 The 

government gave its approval, since it " ... may be productive ... ".226 Jenkins continued to portray 

216JPFP Vo!. P/197/ 47, 31st Oct. - 21st Nov. 1846, Doe. 18, listed under FW, 14th Nov. 1846, Jenkins to Butler, 
Principal Assistant of Nowgong, dt. 20th Oct. 1846. 
217 Ibid., Doe. 42, listed under FW, 19th May 1849, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 17th April 1849. 
218 IPFP Vo!. P/197/ 47, 31st Oct. - 21st Nov. 1846, Doe. 43,Jenkins to Butler, dt. Gowhani, 2nd May 1849 & Doe. 
44, Grey, Officiating Undersecy. Govt. India, FD, to Jenkins, dt. FW, 18th May 1849. 
219 IPFP Vo!. P/198/59, 17th - 24th Nov. 1849, Doe. 156, listed under FW, 17th Nov. 1849, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong Assam, 9th August 1849. 
220 Ibid., Doe. 157, Jenkins to Halliday, dt. Gowhatty 22nd August 1849. 
22I Ibid., Doe. 171, Hallidayto Jenkins, dt. FW, 17th Nov. 1849. 
222 IPFP Vo!. P/198/65, 4th - 18th Jan. 1850, Does. 85 & 133,listed under FW, 4th Jan. 1850; IPFP Vo!. P/199/3, 19th 

- 26th April 1850, Does. 287, 277, 285, 278, 296, 294 listed under FW, 19th April 1850; IPFP Vo!. P/199/5, 31 st May 
- 7th June 1850, Does. 139, 141, 140 listed underFW, 7th June 1850; IPFP Vo!. P/199/5, Doe. 145, listed underFW, 
7th June 1850. 
223 IPFP Vo!. P/199/4, Doe. 13, listed under FW, 10th May 1850, Grey to Jenkins, dt. FW, 10th May 1850. 
224 IPFP Vo!. P/199/5, Doe. 144, listed underFW, 7th June 1850,Jenkins to Grey, dt. Gowhatty, 10th May 1850. 
Note that J enkins reported before the request of the government could have reached him, showing him having been 
conscious that a report was long overdue. 
m Ibid. 
226 Ibid., Doe. 148, Grey to Jenkins, dt. FW, 7th June 1850 
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the course of events in the Naga hills as very positive, that the British had very good relations 

with the Nagas, yet, at the same time he requested artillery support to dislodge a stockade above 

Khonoma.227 The government, now alanned by the sudden request for artillery, ordered that no 

offensive step should be undertaken before Jenkins had submitted the details.228 Nevertheless, the 

government sanctioned the building of roads, necessary to take action against the Angamis, 

including one to be built from Golaghat and Nowgong via Dimapur to Samaguting,229 from there 

the extension up to Mozema and the transformation of Dimapur into a permanent military 

post.230 And finally agreed on Jenkins' request for two mountain howitzers from the Assam Local 

Mountain Artillery.231 

Information from around the time painted a dramatic picture of the situation for the 

British in the Angami hills. The Nagas were not at all willing to go into submission and only a 

force of 500 men with mountain guns were seen as sufficient to effect that. The whole of the hills 

was either hidden or open against the British.232 Grey, the then officiating under-secretary to the 

government of India, had undertaken the task of analysing all the previous communications 

dealing with the events that led to the then present situation in the Naga hills, and came to the 

conclusion that most of the killings had occurred since they, the British, had started their 

intervention: 

The present state of affairs in the Naga Hills bordering upon Nowgong to the eastward and lying 

North of Muneepore would seem to have arisen entirely out of the endeavours made by the British 

authorities in aBam to restrain the violent and deadly feuds existing among different tribes and villages 

of Nagas.233 

Of course, Grey had to portray here the British endeavour to subjugate the Nagas as an altruistic 

humanitarian intervention. Nevertheless, he had come to the conclusion, that the raids had 

become more lethal, that is to say, the number of killings during single raids had become higher. 

E very intervention, so he continued, was a failure, the adopted measures led to new failures and 

the result was that the whole race was up in arms and prepared to offer the most determined 

opposition to the British troopS.234 

227 IPFP Vo!. P/199/12, 23rd - 30th August 1850, Doc. 68, listed under 30th August 1850, Jenkins to Grant, Secy. 
Govt. Bengal, Judicial Dept., FW, undated. 
228 Ibid., Doc. 69, Extracts From Military Department, undated. 
229 IPFP Vo!. P/199/15, 11th - 18th Oct. 1850, Docs. 88-90, listed under FW, 18th October 1850, communications 
between Jenkins, Butler, Grant and Grey. 
230 IPFP Vo!. P/199/17, Doc. 89, listed under FW, 8th Nov. 1850, Grey to Jenkins, dt. FW, 6th Nov. 1850. 
231 Ibid., Doc. 144, Grey to Jenkins, dt. FW, 8th Nov. 1850. 
232 IPFP Vo!. P/199/21, 20th Dec. 1850, Doe. 303, listed under FW, 20th Dec. 1850, Lt. Vincent to Butler, undated. 
233 Ibid., Doc. 308, Note by Officiating Under Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Dept., Grey, dt. 
FW, 19th Oct. 1850. 
234 Ibid. 
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This brought the matter to the higher levels of British hierarchy, so the governor general 

of India Lord Dalhousie expressed his complete displeasure with the conduct of Jenkins and his 

subordinates, and also that the government now had to act with military power to suppon him 

and restore the" ... influence of our power .... " About the future policy he wrote as follows: 

It would be premature perhaps to state now my views as to what ought to be our subsequent course, 

as farther information has been called for by His Honor in Council - But I can have no hesitation in 

declaring my opinion, that our past proceedings of late years with the Nagas have not been for our 

advantage- I deprecate the continuance of any such relations with barbarous tribes as tend directly to 

the mischievous occurrence of "little Wars": and I hold that on this as on all other frontier where wild 

and plundering clans are seated, our true policy is to stand strictly on the defensive; to protect as fully 

as we can our own border, and its inhabitants, but not to interfere beyond it from any motive however 

laudable. In short we ought to mind our own business and not to meddle with other peoples.m 

Dalhousie ordered a strictly defensive stand, and discouraged any attempt to impose authority 

over the Nagas: "I...depreceate entirely any seizure of useleB and embarraBing territory ... "236 The 

orders were to defend strictly only the British borders, to protect only their own subjects and to 

abstain from any interference " ... all funher relations with the hill chiefs or attempted authoritative 

influence should be avoided."237 In a funher protocol Dalhousie underlined his stand vis-a-vis 

Angami country: 

I dissent entirely from the policy which is recommended of what is called obtaining a control, that is 

to say of taking po&Bion of these hills and of establishing our sovereignty over their savage 

inhabitants. Our po&Bion could bring no profit to us; and would be unproductive.238 

Again his order was strict non-interference, and regarding the defence of the frontier, of which 

Jenkins had said it was impossible, Dalhousie wrote that it should be possible with spirit, that the 

withdrawal after a military victory signalled British power and the will to enforce, and " ... our 

desire to show that we have no wish for territorial aggrandisement, and no designs on the 

independence of the Naga tribes. "239 As long as the Angamis were peaceful, trade should be 

carried out with them, once they offend British territory or subjects, the trade should be 

235 Ibid., Doc. 318, Minute by the Most Noble the Governor General of India Lord Dalhousie, dt. 20th Nov. 1850. 
236 IPFP Vol. P/199/32, 21st - 28th March 1851, Doc. 252, listed under FW, 21st March 1851, Minute by the 
GovGenl of India Dalhousie, dt. gth Feb. 1851. 
237 Ibid., listed under FW, 21 st March 1851. 
238 Ibid., Doc. 1, listed under FW, 2gth March 1851, Minute by the GovGenl of India Dalhousie, dt. 20th Feb. 1851. 
239 Ibid. 
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intenupted " ... to allay their natural fears of our aggreBion upon them. .. ,,240 On the next day the 

order to withdraw was immediately relayed to Jenkins.241 

The stationing of a military post inside Angami territory had first drawn the British into local 

Naga politics and then made them a target for the Angamis who were then rallying around the 

flag to expel the intruder and finally managed to do so. The local officers, guided by the problems 

on the spot were called back by their superiors, once they had realised that the cost-benefit 

calculation would come up with a deficit. Hence, the first phase of interaction between British 

and Nagas ended in 1851 with a decision in favour of non-interference, a conviction that it would 

not pay to colonise the Nagas and that the troubles with them were instigated by the interference 

into their affairs. 

1. 9 Conclusion 

Strategic rationale and the prolTIlSe for profit brought the British to the foot of the hills 

separating Burma from Assam. Strategic and economic considerations made them want to gain 

ascendancy over the hill tribes, especially since they first thought it could be done by Manipur, 

and then, after that had failed, that one powerful strike would scare the natives into compliance. 

The empire, cautiously, hesitatingly, yet steadily, expanded its search for natural and 

tradable resources, for markets, and above all for taxable populations. This expansion was 

furnished with legitimacy by inventing the mission to deliver its rule and administration and save 

the people from oriental despotism or unspeakable savage cruelties. One people after the other 

had to be redeemed when commercial interests conflated with the ideological, covering up the 

mere predatory enterprise. The British agents, we may assume, lived in their ideology, only 

sometimes questioning their right to be there, to conquer. Strangely these reflections were always 

made by the senior officials in Calcutta or London, when expecting an unprofitable enterprise. 

Military force, or force as such, seemed to be the natural tools of British policy. War was 

not the continuation of politics with other means, the policy was war.242 The British state and its 

ruling class were a martial one, " ... dressed to kill" .243 Perpetual warfare made fighting into 

something very normal and necessary, lest there were the danger of degenerating.244 Or as 

Edmund Burke, staunch critic of the empire noted in 1784: 

240 Ibid. 
241 Ibid., Doe. 241, Grey to Jenkins, dt. FW, 21st Feb. 1851. 
242 Bayiy, Irrperial Meridian, p. 105: "New markets came as a result of war and empire; they did not apparently cause 
it." 
243 Coiley, Britons, p. 186, see George Orwell, Bumrse Da;s (Utrecht: , 1967 [1934D, p. 174. 
244 Peers, Betu££nMars arriMtmmYn p.65. 
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The main drift of their policy was to keep the natives totally out of sight. We might hear enough about 

what great and illustrious exploits were daily perlonning on that great conspicuous theatre [India] by 

Britons. But ... we were never to hear of any of the natives being actors.245 

We will now try to remedy this, despite the scarcity of sources, and will try our best to understand 

who these Nagas who resisted, if only for a time, the onslaught of the garrison state. 

245 Cited from Linda Colley, Captiu!s, p. 304. 
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Chapter Two 

The Nagas, the Angami use - Polity and war, 1820s - 1880 

2.1 Introduction 

This chapter aims to demonstrate that the British, when they tried to subjugate the Naga hills 

lying between Assam and Manipur, bordering Northern Cachar, encountered a number of 

clusters of polities of which one group, calling themselves "Tengima", took central stage in the 

resistance. Why is this important? I will argue at a later stage that the societies of these polities 

shared a similar culture that allowed them to identify themselves in a political way and of which 

the former Tengimas only formed a part. Further, the hardening of the surrounding cultural and 

societal boundaries defined the extent of the conglomeration of polities. That is to say it was to a 

lesser extent the colonial vis-a-vis, his boundaries and administration, but to a far greater one the 

policy of the post-colonial successor that melded these polities into one, forming the Naga 

nation. This is an ongoing process, and will become clearer in proceeding chapters. 

Our data stems from the pens of the British conquerors. When trying to make sense of 

their writings, we have to interrogate them in a careful way and to keep in mind what we learned 

in the previous chapter on the garrison state, its personnel, their culture and interests. They 

basically give us some ethnographic accounts, but data is most comprehensive where some form 

of violence was involved. Our main problem will thus be in deciphering contemporary Naga 

practice, their polities. This will necessitate an additional and framing discussion of Southeast 

Asian history, concepts of rule, and understanding of war. In addition, wherever it seems helpful, 

I will also fall back on literature dealing with cases in other regions and times that show 

similarities to our case and were termed by Gellner "peripheral areas" .1 

2.2 The Outer Circle 

What nowadays is named Northeast India represented a long-standing crossroads between China 

and Southeast Asia on one side and the subcontinent and Afghanistan on the other. Chinese and 

Greek sources from the second century B. C. onwards tell us about routes leading from southern 

China via northern Burma through the Brahmaputra valley: one through the Patkoi range and 

Upper Burma, another through Burma alongside the Chindwin valley, and yet another through 

1 Ernest Gellner, A nthropcWgyarxlPclitia: Reuiuti0r5 in the Saam Grme (Oxford, 1995), p. 164. 
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the Arakan along the Irrawaddy valley.2 China aside, Southeast Asia was connected to South Asia 

by sea- and land-routes, the latter via the difficult terrain of the mountain chain between Assam 

and Bunna.3 Archaeological findings and observations suggest that the hill regions definitely and 

also very likely the Assam valley were influenced rather by Southeast Asia, than by South Asia.4 

While immigration from the subcontinent by the twelfth century nearly consolidated the 

Sanskritisation of the Brahmaputra valley, the hills did not respond to the new religion.5 Alastair 

Lamb delineated Northeast India and mainland Southeast Asia as one region into which the 

migration from areas corresponding to modem southern China had happened: 

... the hills ... of the Brahmaputra valley in Assam are really but westward extensions of the hill country 

of mainland South-east Asia, of Burma, Thailand, Laos and North Vietnam. The hills also extend deep 

into the Chinese province of Yunnan, and through them runs the tribal belt ( ... ) [which], because of 

geography, flows over into the north-east corner of the Indian subcontinent and within it there has 

been a history of population movement extending back far into prehistoric times. Northeast India and 

Bangladesh is were South and Southeast Asia meet, the former in the plains, the latter in the hills. 

It was only the British annexation, having its administration centre in South Asia, that removed 

the hills of these region from Southeast Asia.6 

Southeast Asia was characterised by low population density as a result mostly of incessant 

warfare. War, however, and we will come back later to this point, was fought to acquire 

manpower not to waste it.7 Adding to that precariousness was what Anthony Reid, following 

Victor Lieberman, names "law of impermanence", cultural tendencies operating in favour for the 

overthrowing of dynasties and change of the location of their capita1s.8 This fluid state of affairs 

is best described with StanleyTambiah's coinage of Southeast Asian polities as "galactic", that is 

to say, they were oriented towards a centre, that assembled around itself in concentric circles, 

2 S. Chattopadhyaya, 'Economic condition', In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The ClJrrpni?ensi'1£ History if Assam, Va. I· From 
Pre-historic Tirn:s to the Twifth CenturyA.D. (Guwahati, 1990), pp. 233-264, pp. 258-259. 
3Jbid., p. 16l. 
4 H D. Sankalia & T.e Sharma, 'The Prehistoric Age', In Barpujari (ed.), The ClJrrpni?ensi'1£ Historycf Assam, Vo. I· 
FromPre-historic Tirn:s to the Toojth Century A D., pp. 25-43, pp. 35-36. Although one can neither agree with the 
authors to call the hill tribes "primitive"(32), nor with the perception that they still are in the neolithic age (32) or 
were it in the 15th century (35), since they must have been contemporary at all times. In the same volume M M. 
Sharma contributed the article about religion (pp. 302-345), and labels the religions of the hill peoples under the 
headline "primitive religion", suggesting a not too progressive perspective on their non-Hindu and non-Muslim 
compatriots. 
5 H K. Barpujari, 'Introduction', In idem (ed.), The ClJrrpni?ensi'1£ Historycf Assam, Vd I, pp. 1-24, p. 3. 
6 Alastair Lamb, Asian Frontiers: S tJIdies in a Cnntinuirrg Prr:liem (London, 1968), this and preceding quote pp. 40-44. 
7 Anthony Reid, SwtheastAsia in theAlJ?cfOJrmrrre, 1450-1680. Vdu!rr Orx:: The Lands bdowthe Wtnds (New Haven 
and London, 1988), pp. 17-18 and 120-124. 
8 Anthony Reid, 'Introduction: A Time and a Place', In idem (ed.), Swtheast A sia in the Early Maiem Era: Trade, Pmeer, 
ardBdUf(J.thaca and London, 1993), pp. 1-23, pp. 7-8. Reid refers here to Victor Lieberman, BurnxseAdninistrati'1£ 
Cyk: A rnrrhyard Corqutst, c 1580-1760 (New Jersey, 1984), pp. 3-5. 
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following the geometric example of the mlrrlala, identical to itself but in power diminishing, 

polities, that were in effect autonomous, but over which it would overlord ritual authority. 

Competing with this centre were others that attracted or lost these minor polities to rival 

centres depending on the respective power constellation. In Tambiah's own words: 

In the center was the king's capital and the region of its direct control, which was surrounded by a 

circle of provinces ruled by princes or governors appointed by the king, and these again were 

surrounded by more of less independent "tributary" polities. ( ... ) If we keep in mind the expanding 

and shrinking character of the political constellations under scrutiny, a central, perhaps the central, 

feature to be grasped is that although the constituent political units differ in size, nevertheless each 

lesser unit is a reproduction and imitation of the larger. Thus we have before us a galactic picture of a 

central planet surrounded by differentiated satellites, which are more or less "autonomous" entities 

held in orbit and within the sphere of influence of the center. Now if we introduce at the margin other 

similar competing central principalities and their satellites, we shall be able to appreciate the logic of a 

system that is a hierarchy of central points continually subject to the dynamics of pulsation and 

changing spheres of influence.9 

This pulsating picture replicating in increasing or decreasing scope in an varying but identical 

pattern was, in essence, built on the societal principle of leader-follower delivering the building 

blocks of the traditional polity in Southeast Asia.1O In between these polities were stretches of 

territory difficult to access, either because they were mountainous or heavily forested or both, 

providing a refuge for a life outside these kingdoms, and creating 

a fundamental dualism of hill and valley, upstream and downstream, interior and coast. ( ... ) No state 

incorporated such dependents fully; they remained a stateless penumbra of the state, often 

indispensable providers of forest or sea products, messengers, warriors and slaves - tributary but 

distinct, and perceived as uncivilized but also as free.!! 

Although Lieberman sees a continuity of centralisation and state-building for mainland Southeast 

Asia, that was to a large degree comparable to what happened in Europe, and for him thus 

resembling a common Eurasian pattern, he nevertheless admits that until the arrival of the 

European colonial powers, mainland Southeast Asian polities retained their galactic quality as 

ascribed by Tambiah, and that the hill areas had by then not been affected by the state-building 

9 S tanley J. T ambiah, World Corquerur ani World Rerrnrrer: A Study if Buddhism and Pdity in Thailand affiinst a histarimJ 
bukgnun:i(Cambridge, 1976), pp. 112-113. 
10 Ibid., p. 524. 
11 Reid, 'Introduction: A Time and a Place', pp. 3-5. 
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measures.!2 Although we have to qualify this further below, this brief discussion of historical 

Southeast Asia shall suffice for the moment to render our following historical circumvention of 

the Naga hills comprehensible. We will proceed anticlockwise, first Assam, then Manipur, and 

finally Burma. 

John Peter Wade, the assistant surgeon accompanying captain Welsh into eighteenth 

century Assam, somehow served as chronicler of the expedition that was to assist the Ahom 

dynasty in its internecine strife and had" ... intercourse with the most intelligent and best­

informed natives ... "13 of the Ahom kingdom. These Ahom scholars related their history to him, a 

narrative dominated by the dynamics of extension and contraction, by attack, counter-attack and 

defence, of the different regional polities, thus exactly behaving like Tambiah's galactic polity. We 

also learn from it that the Nagas presented a fixed category in the mountains east of the Ahom 

kingdom. As chronicles of kingdoms do, they deem as notable affairs only those relating to state 

business, that is on war and conquest, alliance, betrayal and submission. Thus we are informed 

that the Ahoms had waged war against the king of the Nagas in the east, in the vicinity of the 

river Dihing. Further, that a distant successor of this Naga king was first in alliance with the 

Ahoms, but then betrayed them and was lured under a pretext down into the plains and killed; 

that an Ahom governor had complained about one of the Naga chiefs, named Tungshoo who 

had carried out raids on Ahom territory, and that thus the King of the Ahoms again had waged 

war against the Nagas. Furthermore, that Nagas of one district had submitted and, as sign of their 

submission, had presented elephants and virgins of rank. 14 The early time of the Ahom dynasty is 

undated, but one of incessant warfare against Nagas, Cacharies (then written Kacharies), and 

others. Later, in the fourteenth century, we are told the Cacharies had conquered Naga, the 

designation for the hill country.!S And that the Ahom army, when on their way to fight the 

Cacharies, had on the one hand its way shown by Nagas, but also that, on the other hand, 

support units for the army had also been plundered and massacred " ... by various parties of the 

people of Naga who infested the wild in the vicinity of the road." Nagas attacked a fortification, 

but were repulsed by a detachment of Miris. The Nagas, we are told, retreated as soon as they 

had losses. Yet, the Miris managed to kill two of them and carried their heads in triumph into the 

fort. The Nagas, however, continued to infest the roads and prevented all communications with 

the Ahom army. Miris manned several fortresses along Naga country, that the Ahom deemed 

12 See his two book-like articles: Victor Liebennan, 'Local Integration and Euroasian Analogies: Structuring 
Southeast Asian History, c. 1350-c. 1830', McdemA sian Studies 27, 3 (1993), pp. 475-572 and idem, 'Transcending 
East-West Dichotomies: State and Gllture Fonnation in Six Ostensibly Disparate Areas', MalemA sian Studies 31, 0 
(1997), pp. 463-546. 
13 Dr. John Peter Wade, 'A Geographical Sketch of Assam 1800 AD. Appendix', (Reprinted from 1heAsiaticA nnual 
Register, 1805, In idem, AnAarunt if Assam (Madhupur, 1927 [1800], edited by Benudhar Shanna, p. 2 
14 Ibid., pp. 16-17 and 20- 21. 
15 Ibid., p. 62 
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necessary to build. When the Ahom fought the Cacharies, they occasionally got attacked by 

Nagas, but were" ... compelled ... to flee to their mountain" by the Miris in Ahom service. But still 

many Ahom soldiers were killed by the Nagas.16 In the eighteenth century Manipur asked Ahom 

for assistance against the court of Ava, and the Ahom king ordered to build a road over the 

mountains into Manipur, the same undertaking around the middle of the eighteenth century as 

was carried out around 80 years later by Jenkins and Pemberton, and Gambhir Singh and Grant, 

yet unsuccessful and with more disastrous consequences, and casualties counting into the 

thousands by disease and Naga attacks. The mountains concerned were those of the people later 

to be known as Angamis, about whom we will soon have to say more, and their land seen by the 

Ahom as intractable wilds.!7 Wade's informants told him (among, of course, many other more 

important things, the Nagas were only of minor interest) of the existence of the Nagas since the 

thirteenth century, they spoke of "the land of Naga", "people of Naga", "King of Naga", "chiefs 

of Naga". Wade was not yet using any of the terms that convey legitimacy to any dispossession of 

their land. The Nagas, so we may read out of Wade's writings, were a fixed category on the 

eastern frontier in the mountains, necessitating the stationing of military against their incursions, 18 

and if we are very sceptical, we may say that this was so at the latest since the eighteenth century. 

Since peace makes bad history, we may suppose that hill and plains people for the biggest part of 

the time had a lively and unspectacular peaceful intercourse with each other that was not 

considered to be worth to be conveyed to Wade.!9 

The Nagas also had contact with the kingdom of the Meitis located in the valley of 

Manipur. From the seventeenth century onward the Meitis absorbed groups from Bengal and 

adopted Hinduism as their official religion,zo Pemberton in re-narrating the history of Manipur 

wrote about the prosperous 1770s " ... a friendly intercourse preserved with the different Naga 

tribes inhabiting the neighbouring hills."2! The Manipuris, so it seems, told Pemberton that there 

already have been hill tribes called Nagas for a long time and that they had had a friendly, and 

that meant possibly, a lively intercourse with the Manipuris. Yet from the middle of the 

eighteenth century, so Pemberton found out, the region had started to fall into chaos as a 

consequence of the war with Ava, resulting in lawless zones, the dispersion of large parts of the 

population, and many refugees.22 The whole power landscape had been upset for long before the 

16 Ibid., pp. 98-102. 
17 Ibid., pp. 146-147. 
18 Wade, 'A Geographical Sketch of Assam 1800 AD. Appendix'. 
19 H K. Barpujari, 'Introduction', In idem (ed.), 1he~t7eHistoryif Assam, Vd L' Fmm the Prehistoric Tims to 
the Twifth CenturyA.D. (Guwahati, 1990), pp. 1-24, pp. 3-4. 
20 Y.L. Roland Shimmi, OYrrparatire History if the NafPS: FmmA rrient Perial Till 1826 (New Delhi; 1988), p. 76-120. 
21 Bert;pl Secret ani Pditiad Consultations (BSPq Vol. 342, 4th November 1826 - 30th December 1826, listed under Fort 
William 30th December 1826, Doe. No. 10A16, From Hodgson, Surveyor General of India to Swinton, dated 15th 

November 1826. The report itself was signed byPemberton on October 20th 1826. 
22 BSPC Vol. 342, Doe. No. 10A16. 
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British got to know this area, as it always seemed to have been the case when expanding empires 

closed in.23 

To the east of the Naga hills the more central organised kingdoms and empires of the 

Shans, Burrnans and Mons were limited in their rule to the depressions of the larger north-south 

running river valleys. The incorporation of hill areas was out of question, even during 

extraordinarily successful centralisation and unification processes, like under the Taung-ngu 

rulers in sixteenth century Burma, the then largest land-empire in Southeast Asia. Land was 

plenty but population in demand, only people could create and represent power.24 Moreover, it 

seems as if it was difficult enough to control the river valleys as rebellions and their suppression 

happened nearly on a daily basis.25 Populations were forcible moved and resettled either to the 

heartland to strengthen the demographic core or to the plains bordering hills to check 

encroachments by hill dwellers.26 The orientation of the Burman empires was historically directed 

predominantly to the east, the west neither posing a security problem nor a lure on grounds of 

the difficult terrain. This must have contributed to the survival of independent T ai statelets in the 

upper Chindwin area.27 However, from the middle of the eighteenth century onwards the 

Burmese empire was consolidated under the Kon-baung dynasty and not only gained control 

over the upper Chindwin valley, but also extended its sway into Arrakan, Manipur, Cachar and 

Assam, after these kingdoms had been weakened by internal disputes, bringing the Burmese into 

direct contact with the EIe, as has been outlined in the previous chapter.28 Koenig's findings are 

in line with Reids' when he portrays a clear division between lowland and highland societies: 

... early Kon-baung society falls into an unequal dichotomy between the majority lowland rice­

cultivating, Buddhist peoples - Bunnans, Mons, and Shans - who, although linguistically and 

ethnically different, shared in common culture, social structure, and history, and the animist hill 

peoples such as the Karens, Chins, and Kachins, who had a different type of social structure and 

culture.29 

He goes on further specifying the difference: 

... the hill peoples, mainly the Kachins, Chins, and Karens, were marginal and generally of little concern 

to the Kon-baung rulers. Unlike the lowland paddy cultivators who lived in village communities, the 

23 Brian R Ferguson and Neil L. Whitehead, (eds.), War in the Trihd Zarr: ExpandingSfdtes arri1ndiWVUS War/cm;· 
(Santa Fe, New Mexico, 1992). 
24 WilliamJ. Koenig, The Burmse Pdity, 1752·1819: PditUs, A dninistration, arri Social Organization in the Early Korrh:mrrg 
PerUxi (Michigan, 1990), pp. 1-1l. 
25 Ibid., p. 14. 
26 Ibid., p. 11 & 13. 
27 Ibid., p. 22. 
28 Ibid., pp. 22-23. 
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hill peoples survived by shifting agriculture, trade, and warfare, were structured genealogically in terms 

of clans or lineages, lived in geographically widespread settlements, and were non-Buddhist animists. 

Such peoples were able to maintain a fair degree of independence because they were not generally 

integrated into larger political units.3D 

To stress agam, land was available in abundance, not even the lowland had been brought 

completely under cultivation, and the main concern of Kon-baung administration was that of 

control of the river depressions and to prevent rival centres of power from developing inside the 

kingdom3
! That Koenig not even mentions the Nagas indicates their irrelevance for the Burmese 

polity. Nagas will have been in direct contact only with the in-between the Burmese kingdom and 

Naga hills lying petty Shan polities. Pemberton, when reporting in the 1820s that the Burmese 

had gained control over the Chindwin valley qualifies that, in saying that this control was 

confined to the river itself, and that this limitation was due to the presence of powerful Naga 

groups in this area: 

... the fierce and warlike character of these hardy mountaineers having frequently enabled them not only to 

resist the Burmahs but to dictate terms to the Sumjok Rajah one of their tributaries who now resides at a 

village ( ... ) The whole country north of Kuboo ... is inhabited by powerful Loohooppa and T anghool tribes 

who are not likely for many years to be subjected either by Burmahs or Munypoorees, the same may be 

said to the tribes on the south, and on the west and northwest the Barak is, and always has been the 

boundary between the states of Munnipoor and Kachar.32 

However, that the Nagas were politically irrelevant to the Burmese does not say that they had no 

interaction with Burma,33 or did not venture into it. On the contrary. In a world of weak states 

individuals and! or groups must have ventured into the neighbouring countries and must have 

related their adventures to those that had stayed at home, but we will come to this in the next 

sub-chapter. Coming back to the larger structuring of the region, addressing the case of Southeast 

Asia in words which apply equally to our area of concern, Lamb writes: 

29 Ibid., p. 60. 
3C Ibid, p. 62-63. 
31 Ibid., p. 99. 
32 BSPC Vo!. 347, 6th July 1827 - 21st September 1827, Doe. No. 51, listed under Fort Wtlliam, 17th August 1827, 
from Pembenon to Hodgson, dated Munypoor, 8th July 1827. One of the main objects of Pemberton's survey was to 
find appropriate boundaries between Cachar, Manipur and Ava. 
33 BSPC Vo!. 358, 9th July 1830 - 31st December 1830, Doe. Nos. 16 & 17, listed under Fort William, 19th November 
1830, therein Pemberton's diary of his tour from Manipur to Ava and subsequently over the Yoorma mountains 
back to the Arraccan, where Pemberton mentioned Nagas in the Kabaw valley besides the Burmese officers, so it 
seemed normal and well-known that Nagas lived there and had close interaction with Manipuris, Burmese and 
British. 
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... the shape of mainland South-east Asian boundaries had not yet become stabilised when the age of 

British and French colonial penetration into the region began. ( ... ) No final solution had been arrived 

at for the problem of the limits of the Burmans, Thais, Shans and Laos, who were still actively 

competing with each other right up to the latter part of the nineteenth century. At the moment of 

European colonial impact, it would not have been easy to point to any stable delimited or demarcated 

boundary in mainland South-east Asia, ever though the location of the centres of power in the region 

was clear enough.34 

There were no boundaries, but only frontiers.35 The plains were partially under the control of 

centrally organised kingdoms, rivalling among themselves, their scope and effective control 

depending on their respective power.36 These centralised polities had neither the technical 

possibilities nor the incentives to force the hill areas under their pennanent and effective rule. 

Thus, as we have learned above, the whole region was defined by a dichotomy between plains 

and hills. However, that these hills were not incorporated by valley kingdoms does not mean that 

they presented a time warp, as will become clear in the following. 

2.3 Heart of Darkness (or 13ther Black Forest) 

When looking at the map we might imagine what was then called by the British the north-east 

frontier in the nineteenth century as a pristine, godforsaken country under the lee of the towering 

Himalayas protected by impenetrable bamboo or other jungle and nourished by torrential 

rnonsoon rains, a kind of ferry-tale Shalimar, or Conradian heart-of-darkness sans the colonial 

Kurtz. Whereas when we, for a good example, read Lieutenant Wllcox's Merrvi:?7 on his upstream 

explorations along the Brahmaputra in the second half of the 1820s, and when we look at the 

composition of his party accompanying him, we find among it several Khamtis, that is to say 

people that resided in the north-eastern corner of Assam and in the adjoining hills, further, one 

Hindustani (Indian) and one Bunnan cook (in case the fonner fell sick), one Olinese, who hoped 

to reach Yunnan, and one Assamese aristocrat.38 All of the members of that multicultural party 

had there own reasons to participate in that tour and all thus tried to contribute to its progress. 

For them the territory traversed was not, like it was for Wllcox and most probably for the 

34 Alastair Lamb,AskmFronuer, (London, 1968), p. 42. 
35 Ibid.: « A boundary is a clear divide between sovereignties which can be marked as a line on a map. It has, as it 
were, length but no area" (ibid.: 4). « A frontier, as that term was understood by authorities on British imperial border 
questions, such as Lord Guwn and Sir Henry McMahon, is a zan: [iiO] rather than a lin{iiO]. It is a tract of territory 
separating the centres of twO sovereignties. ( ... ) A frontier wne may well be of very extensive area, and a dispute a 
dispute over the exact whereabouts of a boundary line through a frontier wne can involve large tracts of territory" 
(ibid.: 6). 
36 Tambiah, Warid Corquerorard WaridRermrn:r, esp. Part 1. 
37 Lieutenant R Wtlcox, 'Memoir of a Survey of Assam and the Neighbouring Countries, executed in 1825-6-7-8', In 
L/PS/20/DI6, Political and Secret Department (Burma Office), Sdcr!ion if Papers Re;prdirrg the Hill Tracts lu:ueen 
AssamardBurrmhArd ON The Upper Brahrmputra (Printed at the Bengal Secretariat Press, 1873), pp. 1-82. 
38 Ibid., p. 29. 
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Hindustani, a terra irx:agnita,39 but a route, though maybe tedious, that had been traversed already 

several times, and that connected homelands with destinations of business. One day, while 

already high up in the mountains, WIlcox's parry rested among the Mishmis, of whom everyone 

carried a pipe and a case for flint and tinder. The cases, so the party discovered, were obviously 

of Chinese manufacture, and so the Chinese translated the inscription that said "Made at the 

shop oL.in case of being bad, bring it back to the shop for exchange." In addition the Mishmis 

possessed Chinese porcelain, wore plains-fabricated petticoats and Tibetan woollens.40 WIlcox's 

escort and guides always did send out envoys to inform the villages lying ahead and asked for 

permission to traverse their country,41 and the party everywhere was received in a friendly way. 

The hill people, so it seems, were generally hospitable people. What strikes one when reading this 

travelogue are the many individuals encountered, not different from WIlcox (or oneself for that 

matter) with their considerations, interests etc., their complete norma1cy.42 At the level of this 

narrative the natives still possessed agency, something they lost when stories were related back to 

the metropolis of London, causing Burke's criticism given at the end of the previous chapter. 

However, one day at last WIlcox describes how he and his companions were sure to encamp at 

the end of the world when suddenly workers passed by, on their way back from their fields, 

greeted, and told them that their houses were not far away. What follows is the depiction of a 

well-cultivated and inhabited landscape.43 WIlcox's memoir is to remind us that it well may have 

been European imagination that filled the unknown with the arcane. The hill areas might not 

have been worth subjugating permanently by kingdoms, as land was plenty, and people was what 

mattered, but there were all kind of interactions and transactions by individuals or groups 

between hills and plains, or across the former from one valley to another. In the case of the 

Angamis we know for example that their chiefs went down to Nowgong to negotiate the release 

of hostages taken by the British,44 or sent envoys to the British for the sake of establishing 

contact,45 and in 1843, there was even a conference held at Nowgong with several Angami and 

Rengma chiefs present.46 From then on Naga chiefs were hosted and presented with gifts over 

the following years on a regular basis.47 Further, that Nagas accompanied Butler as far as Gauhati 

39 Ibid., p. 2. 
40 Ibid., p. 34-35. 
41 Ibid., p. 40. 
42 Ibid., p. 33ff. 
43 Ibid., p. 42ff. 
44 Irxlia Pditiad OJrsultations (IPq Vo!. P/195/39, 25th May- 15th June 1840, Doe. 118, listed under 25th May 1840, 
Jenkins to Maddock, Secy. to the Govt. of India in the Po!. Dept., dt. 2nd May 1840. 
4; IPC Vo!. P/195/54, 220d March - 5th April 1841, Bigge to Jenkins, undated, attached copy to Doe. 92, listed under 
llod March 1841, Jenkins to Maddoek, dt. 10th March 1841. 
46JPC Vo!. P/196/29, 29th March - 12th April 1843, Doe. 76, listed under FW, 12th April 1843,Jenkins to Bushby, 
dt. 19th March 1843. 
47 See for example IrxliaPditiad aniForei.gn~ (IPFP) Vo!. P/197/59, 12th June 1847, Doe. 47, listed under 
FW, 12th June 1847, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong 21st May 1847; IPFP Vo!. P/198/33, 26th Aug. - 9th Sept. 1848, 
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and Tezpur simply to go shopping,48 that Nowgong developed into the principal place for the 

Nagas to barter,49 and that in the first quarter of 1849 more than 1,000 Angamis had been there 

for that matter, but also that Dirnapur had developed into a market place.50 This list could be 

continued at will, but two more striking examples shall suffice to illustrate my point. The first is 

to narrate that in the course of a feud one Angami chief went to Gauhati to purchase muskets 

and that the rival was assisted by a freebooter, formerly in service in Manipur, and his Cacharie 

mercenaries.51 This indicates that there were agents around in the Naga hills who beforehand had 

intensive contact with the wider world and of whom we normally do not get to know anything. 

Possibly there were many more of them. The second occurrence I want to convey is that the 

Angarnis, when besieged by the British, inquired about the terms of surrender via mail.52 This 

episode, though happening as late as 1880, nevertheless clarifies that the Nagas might have lived 

in an area difficult to access but that this was by no means the case for themselves. 

We should keep in mind that the hills were most certainly not inaccessible to their very 

inhabitants and were consequently not considered by them to be a frontier zone. Rather, these 

hills were for the Nagas a homeland, the very difficulty of whose terrain enabled a life outside the 

quasi-feudal state they found their plains-dwelling neighbours living in, but didn't hinder them in 

their transactions with the wider world. Further, that the examples I listed, and the one that are 

documented, only show a tiny fraction of what must have been really going on. Finally, that this 

kind of interaction was not a novelty but will have always been in process, elucidating what by 

now should be common knowledge, that people like the Nagas always lived in the present. That 

there never were any people without history. Due to human agency among the members of local 

communities, and an articulation between them and the wider world, even the most static 

seeming people were and are historical.53 Since Eric Wolf, we know that the people of all 

continents share their history with the people of Europe since its unique expansion 500 years 

Does. 142-3, listed under FW, 26th August 1848 & ibid., Does. 121-123, listed under FW, 9th Sept. 1848; IPFP Vol. 
P/198/46, 28th April- 5th May 1849, Does. 60-61, listed underFW, 5th May 1849; 
48 IPFP Vol. P/197/57, 3rd - 24th April 1847, Doe. 38, listed under FW, 24th April 1847, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong, 10th Feb. 1847. 
49 IPFP Vol. P/198/35, 30th Sept. - 21st Oct. 1848, Doe. 25, listed under FW, 14th Oct. 1848, Butlerto Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong, 25th Aug. 1848. 
50 IPFP Vol. P/198/47, 12th - 19th May 1849, Doe. 42, listed under FW, 12th May 1849, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong Assam, 17th April 1849. 
51 IPFP Vol. P/198/59, 17th - 24th Nov. 1849, Doe. 159, listed under FW, 17th Nov. 1849, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong Assam, 15th August 1849. 
52 IrriiaF(JreignPrrxm:ii~. Pditical (IFP-P), Vol. P/1552, April-June 1880, April 1880, Doe. 219, Note on Naga Hills 
affairs by the Ollef Commissioner of Assam, dt. Kohima, 10th March 1889, S. C Bayley, Offg. er, Assam, pp. 243-
248, p. 243. 
53 See for example Bemard S. Cohn, A nA ~t ~ the Historians ard Other EsslZ)$ (Delhi, 1990), especially the 
first three chapters; John and Jean Comaroff, E thmgraphy ard the HislXlriml Irrngfmtion (Boulder, 1992), chapters 1 and 
4 ; J ames Carrier (ed.), History ard Tradition in M eUlrl!SianA nthrupdqgy (Berkeley, 1992) and Kirsten Hastrup (ed.), Other 
Histories (London, 1992). 
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ago, even so in cases where direct contact was not made for a long time.54 Although it should be 

stressed that history always was one and continuOUS.55 Yet, the ideological need to legitimise the 

colonial and imperial enterprise, created a picture of the people of other continents as at best in 

need of help, or at worst as inferior, but in essence as categorically different. The political power 

imbalance between the west and the rest was reflected in the social sciences in the subsuming of 

the non-west into one and the same timeless orient vis-a-vis the historical occident.56 Differences 

in culture were defined historically,57 distances in space reflected processes in time, the non-west 

Other was denied of coevalness.58 This was even more true for societies which were organised in 

a segmentary way, or at least, not powerful enough to counter such a categorisation of 

themselves. Those "savages", "primitives", "tribals" were perceived and portrayed in the then 

dominant worldview of evolutionism as in time backward, their societies as pristine, static, 

without history, to be studied and understood in an ahistorical way.59 Following this logic the 

members of those seemingly unchanging societies were perceived and portrayed as possessing no 

agency, following the rules of their societies like puppets.60 Again, when reading the dispatches of 

the officers on the frontier we do not find anything of that. They saw the Naga as historical 

contemporary, and we may deem that direct interaction did not allow for any other 

interpretation. Moreover, when we remember that Wade, the assistant surgeon collecting 

information in eighteenth century Assam, referred to the "people", the "nation" of the Nagas 

and their" country" ,61 it becomes obvious that we are witnessing ideology at work, and that not 

only the patently derogative terms "savages", "barbarians", and "wilds" have the quality to 

legitimise the incapacitation of the thus described, but that the label "tribe" may share the same 

quality.62 

In other words, we may conclude that not the communities were imagined but their 

obscurity. Although the hinterland was less affected by changes happening in the trade and 

political centres, this does not say that it was not affected at all. Albeit inland trade is not well 

documented it nevertheless seems to be attested for that even the far off areas were touched by 

54 Eric Wolf, Europe ani the Paple WuJxxa History (Berkeley, 1982). 
55 And Wolf, to do him justice, does this extensively in his book 
56 Edward W. Said, Orientalism (New York, 1978). 
57 Jay O'Brien and William Roseberry, 'Introduction', in Idem (eds.), GddenA[f!S, Dark A[f!S: lnugj.nirrg, the Past in 
A nthrvpdagyaniHistory (Berkeley, 1991), pp. 1-18. 
58 Johannes Fabian, Tim:anitheO:her: HawAnthrupcWg;ynuke; its cbjea (New York, 1983). 
59 Nicholas Thomas, Out qTim:: HistoryaniEulution inA 111hrqx:hgjaU DisaMYSe (Cambridge, 1989). 
60 Sherry Ortner, 'Theory in Anthopology since the Sixties', Omparatiu Studies in Society ani History, 1984,26: 126-166. 
61 See for example Wade, 'A Geographical Sketch of Assam 1800 AD. Appendix' and L. W. Shakespear, History if 
Upper A ssam, Upper Burrrnh and N arth-E astern Frontier (London: MacMillan, 1914). 

To be sure, the Ahoms certainly would have tried to conquer and occupy the Naga Hills, if they would have 
seen a reason for that. Then, might was right. I do not want to give the impression here, as if then some ruler would 
have cared about the opinion of some people living on a certain land, especially when inferior in power. 
62 See John Sharp, 'Introduction: Constructing social reality', In Emile Boonzaier and John Sharp (eds.), SouthAfriam 
Key1wrds: The use; aniaiJuse; if pditical wrrepts (Cape Town and Johannesburg, 1988), pp. 1-16. 
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the trade boom that took off in Southeast Asia at around 1400, and even more so since the 

important Southeast Asian goods were forest products.63 But despite temporary successes of 

centralisation efforts hurled over hinterland people, they managed to retain their autonomy. 

"Tribute" gifts accompanied trade relations but did not represent any ruler-ruled relationship. 

The volatile political landscape made alliances mandatory (that were inherently unstable), but 

which did not touch, despite their rhetoric of absolutism, local autonomy, and remained 

voluntary federations. Where protection was sought it was at the same time made clear that one 

was determined to continue to conduct one's own affairs.64 It may have been this that led 

Lieberman to state that the hills were not affected by the continuous centralisation efforts of 

states. What he possibly meant with that might be that these ever larger polities had not been able 

to manage to incOlporate the hinterlands until the arrival of the European imperialists. For us it 

should be clear by now that the hill societies of Southeast Asia always lived their life in 

interaction with the lowlands, and this already before 1400, though possible with less intensity. 

We also have to keep in mind that the hinterland was for centuries raided for slaves to provide 

the lowland capitals and coastal towns with manpower,65 rendering any notion of "precontact", 

referring to the time before the advent of European colonialism, meaningless.66 

Keeping this in mind it remains to inquire as to what societies lived there in the later 

Naga hills and how they were politically constituted. Our access will be via the Angamis, 

following the British conquerors, who solely have provided us with contemporary sources. We 

have some contemporaneous ethnographic accounts, but the nature of the Angami-British 

relations back then provided for the fact of us becoming infonned in the main on acts involving 

actual violence, and it will be therefore also through the documentation of these that we try to 

shed some light on the political composition of the Naga hills. 

2.4 The Inner Circle 

When reading the reports dealing with the initial phase of British-Angami dealings one is puzzled 

by the chaos of the events that present a veritable mess. At the same time one is bored by the 

humdrum recurrence of an unchanging pattern: the British rushing back and forth, punishing 

here, conciliating and negotiating there, Angamis promising submission, or even asking for 

protection, and at the next moment, or even simultaneously but only reported afterwards, we 

learn about a raid conducted by another or even the same group. Possibly the chaos presented in 

63 Anthony Reid, Sattheast A sw. in the A l}? if Orrnrrre, 1450-1680. V dunx Tun: E xpan/on ani Crisis (New Haven and 
London, 1993), pp. XIV and 53-61. 
64 Ibid., 207-253, passim. 
6; Anthony Reid, S attheast A sw. in the A l}? if Orrnrrre, 1450-1680. V dunx Ch:: The Larris lxiow the Wirris (New Haven 
and London, 1988), pp. 132-133. 
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the writings reflects only the confusion of the British who, after all, were there to install their 

order and it is very likely that the logic behind all the affairs was perfectly unambiguous to the 

Angamis.67 Furthermore, that in the non-modem world of the Angamis, in which no powerful 

state existed to enforce unitary and regulated behaviour on its inhabitants, the multitude of 

practices was the rule, and this was especially true for actions transcending the boundaries of 

one's own group, the foreign relations so to say. For the Angamis, at least, there is abundant 

evidence that the British perceived them in such a way. That this seemed to include acts of 

violence was to the great annoyance of the British. It was this quality that should lead Butler to 

denote Angami resistance to British intrusion as "hydra-headed rebellion."68 But this did not 

mean that an Angami could disobey the marriage rules, that is to say Angami society had other 

rules and was constituted in a way different from the rather modem state, and different from 

what the British perceived it then to be. 

The Nagas in general, and the Angamis in particular seemed to have been able to escape 

not only from the Burmese military campaigns but also from repeated attempts to force them to 

swear allegiance: " ... all of these tribes are however remarkable for an independence of spirit that 

acknowledges no restraint .... "69 Protected by the rugged terrain they had been able to resist all 

attempts at subjugation: 

With a sagacity which has at once insured them both health & security they have in every instance 

established themselves upon the most inacce6ible peaks of the mountainous belt they inhabit & from 

these elevated positions can see & guard against approaching danger long before it is sufficiently near to 

be felt various attempts in the days of their prosperity & power were made by the Rajahs of Munipoor, 

Kachar & Tipperah to reduce these savages to a state of va6alage but uniformly without succe6 they 

steaddily refused to acknowledge allegiance to either power & policy restrained the two first from using 

coercive measures, where succe6 was at least doubtful & failure would effectually have closed against 

them the only direct communications between their respective countries.l° 

A statement that would please any present-day Naga nationalist. That Pemberton here might 

have misinterpreted the actual extent of control projected and involved in oaths of allegiance 

66 Janet Hoskins, 'Introduction: Headhunting as Practice and as Trope', In idem (ed.) Headhunting ani the Social 
IrrugjnationinSadheastAsid. (Stanford, 1996), pp. 1-49, p. 3. 
67 "The entire subfield of political anthropology is predicated on finding order where none is visible; at ground level, 
people always self-organize somehow, and they know who is gunning for whom. Anarchy - case after case suggests 
- is nothing more than an intellectual construct, and all dire predictions to the contrary, it never really exists." Anna 
Simons, 'War: Back to the Future', A nnualRedewif A~, 1999,28: 73-108, p. 92. 
68 Major John Butler, Trau:ls aniA ~ in the Prarine if A ssam, during a residem: iffameen ')ftt'YS (London, 1855), p. 
194. 
69 BSPC Vo!. 336, 6th January 1826 - 24th February 1826, Doe. Nos. 52 & 53, listed under Fort William 6th January 
1826, dated 19th December 1825, written and signed 19th November at the River Ganges, the whole style of the 
report is that of a private note, yet the very obvious feature is the rather positive portrayal of the Nagas. 
78 Ibid. 



75 

anyway, does not have to disturb us here. Polities were constantly extending or contracting due to 

their respective and relative strength. Sworn allegiance did not necessarily, or rather rarely, 

involve de facto control.71 

TlfE ANGAMI NAGA COUNTRY 
.. dWldM tdIOI>g u. 

T£NGtMA 
ai..\.KRiMA 
~EZ"MA 

M£M' 
N~rbouri"!l Trlb." (('J h/.,& 

71 See discussion above. 
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The triangle Cachar, Angami Naga Hills, and Manipur was depleted of any larger polity in the 

aftermath of the long succession of wars, and even more so, in the nearby presence of the 

powerful and victorious British-India. We have already in the previous chapter mused about the 

quality, reasons and intentions of the raids conducted by Angamis on Manipui2 and Cachar, and 

we came to the conclusion, that they might have been retaliations for attacks carried out on them 

by Gambhir Singh, (i.e. Manipur), and Tularam Senapati, (i.e. North or Hill Cachar), both trying 

to enlarge their area of control or influence in the post-war time. We know that Manipur was 

later required to do so by the British, but we may assume that neither T ularam nor Gambhir 

needed encouragement to do so in the first place. Still, neither Manipur, and even less so, North 

Cachar, had, as petty principalities, the power to exert anything that could deserve the name 

control over the Angami Hills. Moreover, that might not even have been intended. The objective 

will have been simply the occasional conduct of predatory incursions, the levying and collecting 

of tribute, and the take-over of some villages bordering the area of influence of the rival polity.73 

But let us now take a leap forward to share what intelligence the British had gathered on 

the Angamis in June 1880, just after what would take shape as the final defeat of the Angami 

Nagas at the hands of the British, when the officiating secretary to the chief commissioner of 

72 BSPC Vol. 342, 4th November 1826 - 30th December 1826, Doc. No. 5, listed under Fort Wuliam 30th December 
1826, from Tucker to Swinton, dated Sylhet, Commissioner Office 16th December 1826 and Doc. No. 6, From 
Captain Grant to Tucker, dated Munnypore, 6th December 1826; BSPC Vol. 344, 5th January 1827 - 16th March 
1828, Doc. No. 12, listed under Fort Wllliam 12th January 1827, from Grant to Tucker, dated Mannipoor, 20th 

December 1826. 
73 Simplified we might take Angamis, Cacharies and Manipuries as three polities in conflict with each other, and even 
then the situation was not an easy one to penetrate: 

In what part of the hills these Nagas inhabit I cannot exactly say but I presume in the vicinity of the 
Salt Springs near Lemkar in the vicinity of the Sources of the Dhunsiri, Tamoo and Dyung rivers.­
W'hat has led to these aggressions I cannot say, but there seems every reason to suppose they have 
originated in a long series of mutual attacks and in feuds of long standing and I think it is not 
improbable that the feuds have arisen from disputes for the possession of the Salt Springs as I 
recollect, when crossing the Cachar hills, being informed that there had been disputes between the 
Nagas and Cacharees for the Salt Springs which occupied by the former and claimed by the latter.­
The late atrocities may also have been more particularly caused by the recent expedition of the 
manipoories, who burned and destroyed many Villages in this direction and as they did not maintain 
permanent possession of the hills, they may only have exasperated the Nagas and brought on there 
retaliations upon our villages.- The munipooree expedition arose out of attacks of the Nagas upon the 
Cachares in the vicinity of the sources of the Jiri river.-
It is I presume now impossible to trace who were the original offenders in these perpetual quarrels but 
the impression on my mind is from what I learned in the hills, that the Cacharees have been 
constantly endeavouring to subject the Nagas the original occupants of the Country to Slavery and to 
have brought these attacks upon themselves and I know the Nagas did complain grievously of the 
oppressions of the Cacharee Gllefs.-
The reports therefore of the Cacharee Gllefs are to be received with suspicion, but whatever may 
have been the origin of the feuds the object now will be to get hold of the persons of some of the 
perpetrators if possible or else to inflict such punishment upon them, by burning their villages and 
crops, as may tend to deter them from future aggressions.-

IPC Vol. P/195/8, 16th January- 13th February 1839, Copy of a letter fromJenkins to Lt. Bigge, dt. 18th Dec. 1838. 
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Assam, C J. LyaIl, reported the findings to his superior about the power structure of the 

Angamis, and the reasons for coming into conflict with them: 

They have no tribal Chiefs to keep peace, scarcely even do they acknowledge the authority of village 

chiefs or elders; the only influence is that of the public opinion of the village, or rather of the 

particular khd [italic in the Original (itO)] or clan of the village to which a person belongs (for each of 

these is a separate democratic community?, and there is a chronic state of warfare between village and 

village, and even between different khels [itO] of the same village. The only check on massacre is the 

obligation which each community is under of avenging the death of any of its members; and, though 

this acts in one direction as a deterrent upon wanton outrages, it operates in another in making feuds 

perpetual.l4 

LyaIl went on, to note that these villages were all turned into fortresses and located on 

inaccessible sites. This, in combination with terrace cultivation, tended to an accumulation of 

power in a few strong villages, themselves existing in a balance of power, like for example 

Khonoma and Mozema, although being very much connected by intennarriage, were 

continuously caught in a rival position?5 The Merhema khel of Khonoma, according to Lyall, 

traded with Manipur and Assam in ponies, and bought, with the therewith acquired money, 

firearms and ammunition from Manipuris residing in Cachar. Through these firearms, Khonoma, 

and to a lesser degree also Mozema, had " ... attained a position of superiority in the Naga Hills 

district, which enabled them to lord it over the smaller Angami villages, from which they would 

requisition supplies and demand service at will." Even when only two or three of them appeared 

in Cachar or Manipur it was enough to give them a reception, which would never be given to a 

British officer or a Manipur minister. The occupation of Kohima by the British was therefore 

incompatible with the domination of Khonoma and had to lead to a confrontation.76 Writing five 

years earlier, captain Butler, based on extensive first-hand experience, has left us the following 

description about the Angami polity: 

... the Anganus have no regular settled form of government. With them might is right, and this is the 

only form of law - or rather the absence of all law - heretofore recognised among them. Every man 

follows the dictates of his own will, a form of the purest democracy which it is very difficult indeed to 

conceive as existing even for a single day; and yet that it does exist here, is an undeniable fact. In every 

village we find a number of headmen or chiefs, termed P e u m a s, who generally manage to arbitrate 

between litigants. ( ... ) The actual authority exercised by these PeUmas, who are men noted for their 

personal prowess in war, skill in diplomacy, powers of oratory, or wealth in canle and land, is, 

74 IFP-P, Vo!. P/1743, Aug. - Sept. 1881, Aug. 1881, Doe. 617, Cl Lyall, Offg Secy. CC Assam, to Lyall, SecyGovt 
India, FD, dt. Shillong, 17th June 1880, pp. 587-601, p. 593. 
7; Ibid. 



78 

however, all but nominal, and thus their orders are obeyed so far only, as they may happen to be in 

accord with the wishes of the community at large, and even then, the minority will not hold 

themselves bound in anyway by the wishes or acts of the majority. The Niga PeUma is, in fact, simply 

prim.ts inter pare; [iiO] and often that only pro tern [iiO). ( ... ) Theoretically, with the Angarni, every man is 

his own master, and avenges his own quarrel. Blood once shed can never be expiated, except by the 

death of the murderer, or some of his near relatives, and although years may pass away, vengeance will 

assuredly be taken some day. One marked peculiarity in their intestine feuds is, that we very seldom 

find the whole of one village at war with the whole of another village, but almost invariably clan is 

pitted against clan. Thus I have often seen a village split up into two hostile camps, one clan at deadly 

feud with another, whilst a third lives between them in a state of neutrality, and at perfect peace with 

bothF 

In what follows we will find confirmation of Butler's characterisation of the constitution of 

Angami polity. Grange, a British official, left us his version of an encounter in 1839 with, as he 

was told, " ... one of the greatest chiefs of the Angamees ... " Ikkari, and that" ... his own men even 

abused his timidity ... " when he showed reluctance to approach Grange?8 Leaving room for the 

possibility that Grange wanted to ridicule the Other in order to extrapolate his own fearless 

performance, he still could not have invented that Ikkari, who was known to him as one of the 

two most powerful men in these hills, was, when showing fear, insulted and mocked by his fellow 

clansmen. This would lend further confirmation on the egalitarian constitution of Angami clans 

for that period. Butler, the elder, would confirm that. Though he identifies hereditary chiefs in 

Angami villages he acknowledges their limited authority.79 He did not yet know that they were 

considered as the descendants of the village founders and thus had important ritual functions.so 

But he conveys to us a depiction of the dec is ion-finding process concerning collective violent 

action: 

In all transactions of importance, such as setting out on a predatory inroad, or to take revenge on any 

village, the aged and warriors of any village assemble together and decide on what is to be done; but it 

is believed that the counsel of warriors is more frequently adopted than the sober advice of the elders 

and peaceably disposed.81 

76 ibid., p. 594. 
77 Captain John Butler, B.5.C, Political Agent, Naga Hills, Asam, 'Rough Notes on the Angami Nagas and their 
Language',Jamul iftheAsiahcSai£1:yifBerTiJ1l, Vol. 44,1875, Part I., No. IV.-1875, pp. 307-346, p. 314-315. 
78 E. R Grange, 'Extracts from a Tour-Diary of 1849' and 'Into the Naga Hills', In Verrier Elwin (ed.), 1he NafflS in 
the Ni11?lH:nth Century (London, 1969), pp. 203-218. 
79 Butler, Trauis ani A drenture; in the P-tmirre if A ssam, D~ a R£5iderre if jmrf1£n )l'11-rs, pp. 145-146. 
sc John Henry Hutton, 1heA'lFmNafflS: WzthsorrErffl5 anm/fotuml'f,triks (London, 1921), pp. 113-114. From what 
Butler writes about this village chiefs and about the decision-finding process we may assume that the role of these 
"chiefs" was more or less congruent then with what Hutton had established in the first quarter of the twentieth 
century. 
81 Butler, Trauis aniA drenture; in the P-tmirre if Assam, p. 146. 
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Although this indicates the rule of the young and middle-aged men, it nevertheless confinns for a 

collective leadership (of this category of men). And even though an outgoing war party appointed 

a leader, the authority conveyed to him could not have been too far-reaching as the following 

example of radical democratic warlare, dating from 30th November 1846, and again taken from 

Butler, the elder, elucidates: 

One day, at about one P.M, I was surprised to see a large party with shields and spears, screeching, 

yelling, and jumping about in the most fantastical manner, coming down the Mozo-mah hill in regular 

battle array towards my camp. We immediately got under arms and warned the Nagahs not to 

approach us in this hostile manner. Our position being very strong, a stream, with perpendicular 

banks on one flank, and high, inaccessible hills on the other, leaving our front only open to attack, the 

Nagahs seemed puzzled what to do. They advanced, then halted, sat down in groups, quarrelled with 

each other, and at last, as they saw our glittering bayonets in line, ready to receive them - and that, 

though we were but a small body of men, we were not intimidated by their warwhoop, or numbers -

they suddenly lost courage and retreated.82 

The Angami, though from tender youth onwards brought up to be a warrior,8} was not trained to 

sacrifice his life in battle, rather to the contrary, such ethics were decidedly alien to him,84 the task 

was to kill and return alive which was a decisive disadvantage when confronted with regular army 

units kept under a strict discipline. This notwithstanding, the quotes above tend to confirm that 

82 Ibid., pp. 166-167. This collective form of individualistic warfare seems to have survived among the Khonoma 
men until the 1950s, even if a certain degree of self-celebration and self-stylization for the sake of stressing one's 
traditional egalitarian qualities may be admitted: "Sometime in June 1956 some of the Khonoma volunteers had 
marched towards Zeliang area to attend a rnilitaryconference of the Naga Home Guards. The officer in the 
conference asked the Khonoma contingent. "Who is your officer?" In the Angarni dialect in which the question was 
put it would be ... "Who is the biggest among you?" ( ... ) Therefore when this question about what officer was leading 
the contingent was asked, the volunteers understood the question in the literal physical sense of the word (body size). 
The volunteers replied "Golau must be the biggest one." When Guolau was summoned and the officer asked him 
"What is your rank?" Gulau replied, "What is rank?" Kaka D. Iralu, Nafj1iani ani lniia, the Bkxxi ani the tears: A 
histariml accmnt if the 52 )Wrs lnioNalF wr an;/, the story if thae Wo w:re mer allaued to tdl it (no publishing place 
mentioned, bur year, 2000), p. 215. 
83 Martial and dressed to kill as his British adversary: " At sixteen years of age a youth puts on ivory anniets, or else 
wooden, or red-coloured cane ones, round his neck He suspends the couch shells with a black thread, puts brass 
earrings into his ears, and wears the black kilt, and ties up his hair with a cotton band. If a man has killed another in 
war, he is entitled to wear one feather of the dhune's bird [hombill, the author] stuck in his hair, and one feather is 
added for every man he has killed, and these feathers are also fastened to their shields. They also use coloured plaited 
cane leggings, wear the war sword, spear, shield, and choonga or tube for carrying par9Us [iiO]. They also attach to 
the top of the shield two pieces of wood in the shape of buffalo horns, with locks of hair of human beings killed in 
action hanging from the centre." Butler, Trauis aniA ckentures in the Prr!Wre if A ssam, pp. 148-149. 
84 Compare Renato Rosaldo's findings in his,I!orgx H~ 1883·1974: A Study in Society an;/, History (Stanford, 
California, 1980), p. 18, footnote: "Ilongots .. .found it beyond their moral comprehension that army officers, as they 
saw in 1945, could command their troops to move into open fire. Soldiers, they remarked, are men who sell their 
bodies." and p. 158: "They held no notion of the valour of death in open combat, forthey could not conceive of 
asking a brother, a son, or a father to lay down his life - "to sell his body," as they said of soldiers, less in contempt 
than out of sheer moral incomprehension." 
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Angami society was, as Gellner puts it " ... blessed with a wide military (and hence political) 
•• • " 85 participatiOn... . 

This depiction of a warlike society receives confirmation from the reports on the social 

structuring of Angami landscape. Major Butler, based on his own experiences in the second half 

of the 1840s, gave an account of fortress-like villages, situated on the inaccessible peaks of hills, 

that " ... could offer serious resistance to any force assailing them without firearms."s6 The same 

was already written by Pemberton twenty years earlier, and confirmed by Lyall in 1880, as we 

have seen above. Captain Butler even left us a rather thick description of the Angami architecture 

of defence, including the structures separating each khel inside a village, that themselves could be 

instantaneously turned into an effective line of defence, in case relations were souring.s7 Yet, 

major Butler added that rather decisive qualifier "without firearms". Most villages were such 

positioned as to be overlooked by adjoining heights from which any enemy with guns could 

control the interior of the villages and render resistance useless.88 In other words, this revolution 

in military armament must have been the moment in Angami history in which the arms of 

defence, their village fortresses, were made redundant by the arms of attack. We have to keep this 

in mind when interrogating power-relations inside Angami society. 

Another feature of Angami society, concerned with violence, was the already mentioned 

duty of each Naga to avenge a killed relative. Butler, the younger, likened the Naga feud to the 

Corsican wuIetta " ... revenge being considered a most holy act, which they have been taught from 

childhood ever to revere as one of their most sacred duties", and sees a straight line from petty 

conflict to blood-feud to" ... bitter civil wars which devastate whole villages." Even Nagas having 

been in service for years with the British in the plains on their return to the hills will " ... indulge 

again and take part in all the scenes of rapine and cruelty going on around them. .. their wily plots 

of deep-laid treachery, or as they would call it 'skilful strategy'; scratch the Dobhasha and you will 

find the Naga.,,89 

At the time of major Butler's writing the British counted 87 Angami villages, containing 

19,949 houses (they give this definite number! no approximation), with an average of five persons 

per house, adding up to around 99,745 Angamis.90 On their self-perception Butler wrote: 

... they have no generic term applicable to the whole race, but use specific names for each particular 

group of villages; thus the men of Mewma, Khonoma, Kohima, Jotsoma, and their allies call 

85 Gellner, A nthropdagy amPditUs: Reulutions in the saaat Grme, p. 162. Gellner, in terminology, follows here S. 
Andreski, M ilitary ~nisation am society (London, 1954). 
86 Butler, Trauis amA dc.enJ:ure in the Prmirre if Assam, Durint, a Residerreiffonueny:ars, p. 143. 
87 Butler, 'Rough Notes on the Angann Nigas', p. 318, 
88 Butler, Trauis amAdc.enJ:ure in the Prmirre if Assam, p. 143. 
89 Previous paragraph based on Butler, 'Rough Notes on the Angann Nigas " p. 320. 
90 Butler, Trauis amAdc.enJ:ure in the Prmirre if Assam, pp. 140-141. 
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themselves Ten g i m a s, whilst others if asked who they are would reply simply that they were men 

of such a village, and seem to be quite ignorant of any distinctive tribal name connecting them to any 

particular group of villages ... 91 

Also, Butler relates two myths of origin, conveyed to him by the Angamis (since he didn't specify 

which one, we assume the myth was generally prevalent among them), or more specific, one of 

common origin for all humans, Angamis, plains people, and the "white faces", though with the 

latter a white dog was involved as founding father. The myths explains the existence of the less 

numerous Angamis in the hills, the numerous far more superior plainsmen, and, of course, of the 

"white faces" and also their material superiority.92 The myth was surely concerned to deal and 

explain the then contemporary political situation, indicating clearly a consciousness of them and 

us, unfortunately in this abridged form left to us, less cultural, but certainly political in its 

statement. For us it is not so much of interest whether such myths existed long before, but we 

may assume that, taking the "white faces" out, they surely may have existed for long, and that 

they definitely pre-date the conquest of the Angami Naga hills. 

In 1880 the British saw the Merhema khel of Khonoma as the hegemon in the Angami 

Naga hills. Thirty years earlier, Butler identified as such four villages, Khonoma, Mozema, 

Kohima, and a village called by him "Lopsheh-mah". To these villages all the smaller villages 

were obliged to pay tribute, and were in turn protected by them, in Butler's view especially against 

themselves.93 This group, so again we learned above from the younger Butler, had the generic 

"Tengima" name for itself. We also know that in 1844 the British were informed by villagers 

living on the western fringes of the Angami Naga hills that they had to consult first with their 

superiors of Khonoma and Mozema before they could decide on their further policy towards the 

British.94 

2.5 To warornotto war 

The Angamis had been spared the depredations of the wars involved and preceding the first 

Anglo-Burman war. Yet the raja of Manipur, after his re-enthronement had been effected by his 

British protectors, lost no time in his zeal to make tributary the hill people surrounding his 

kingdom, including the Angamis.95 In addition, we have evidence that during the winter months 

of 1831/32 and 1832/33 respectively, strong expedition forces, each consisting of around 1,500 

91 Ibid., p. 310. 
92 Ibid. 
93 Butler, Trauls aniAdr.eriturr5 in the Prm.inx if Assam, p. 144. 
94 Brovme-Wood, sub-assistant commissioner, Nowgong, 'Extracts from a report of a journey into the Naga Hills in 
1844', In Verrier Elwin (ed.), The NalJ1S in the Nirxte:nth Centwy (London, 1969), pp. 232-243. 
95 BSPC Vol. 344, 5th January 1827 - 16th March 1828, Doe. No. 12, listed under Fort William 12th January 1827, 
from Grant to Tucker, dated Mannipoor, 20th December 1826. 



82 

personnel, including 800 troops, crossed the Angami hills and were ferociously opposed at every 

step of their progress. The Angamis acted in unison and in some cases even went so far as to 

burn their own villages and crops, leaving only a torched earth to the intruder. It was only due to 

their superior armament with guns that British and Manipur forces did not share the fate of their 

Ahom predecessors. The second of these expeditions, led by Gambhir Singh of Manipur and the 

political agent Gordon attached to him, destroyed five villages in the process and left behind a 

stone with the footprints of the raja in order to symbolise his aspired over-Iordship.96 The British 

had ordered Manipur to subjugate the Angamis97 and equipped for this sake its troops with guns 

and ammunition.98 The Angamis possibly in retaliation raided North Cachar and Manipur, 

however, without us being given any specifics.99 

The first details on an Angami intrusion into North Cachar stem from February 1835, 

stating that the Angamis demanded tribute from there living Naga villagers, and in case the latter 

refused, burnt their houses and took by force what had not been given freely. That the British 

called this an intrusion is due to the fact that they since shortly considered North Cachar as their 

territory. It is, however, very likely that the Angamis were not yet conscious about this, and thus 

from their side constituted no intrusion at all. Moreover, the way the tribute was extracted by the 

Angamis came very near to the one the British would later adopt, though in this particular case 

the latter called it "plunder" .100 The next incident on which we happen to possess concrete 

information was reported two years later, in May 1837, when Angamis killed five people and 

abducted thiny;101 and another raid more than a year later in October 1838, with again five 

homicides and twenty abductions.102 The affected area was the one around Haflong. Who and 

what exactly was behind that raids is difficult to establish. It is a possibility that they were 

retaliations for Manipuri and Cacharie attacks, or that a dispute over salt wells was involved. The 

documents also say that these raids were a mixture of headhunting103 and slave-capturing raids, 

for the latter could either be sold to Bengali slave traders or ransomed to their respective 

96 BPe Vol. 126/64, 19th February- 12th March 1833, Doe. 76, listed under Fort William, 13th February 1833; BPe 
Vol. 127/35, 3rd January- 22nd August 1837, Doe. 4, listed under FW, 21st February 1837 and Doe. 6, listed under 
FW, 9th January 1837. 
97 BPe Vol. 126/68, 30th May- 21" June 1833, Doe. 110, listed under Fort William, 30th May. 
98 BPe 127/35, 3rd January- 22nd August 1837, Doe. 3, listed under FW, 21 st February 1837, To D. Mungles, Secyto 
the Govt. of Bengal, Judicial Dept., FW. Extracts from the Proceedings of the Right Honble the Gov of Bengal in 
the Judicial Dept., dated 17th January 1837 (copies of certain correspondence about the inroads on the frontier). 
99 Ibid. & BPe 127/32, 7th April- 27th September 1836, Doe. 20, listed under FW, 26th April 1836, dated 30th March 
1836, Gordon acknowledged the receipt of a copy of the Proceedings of the Govt. of Bengal in which the incursions 
of Nagas into Manipur were discussed and BPe Vol. 127/35, 3rd January- 22nd August 1837, Doe. 3, listed under 
FW, 11th April 1837. 
IOC BPe Vol. 127/28, 7th January- 30th March 1835, Doe. 4, listed under Fort William, 13th March 1835. 
101 BPe Vol. 127/35, 3rd January- 22nd August 1837, Doe. 1, listed under FW, 25th July 1837, dt. Cachar, 18th May 
1837. 
102 IPe Vol. P/195/3, 21st - 28th November 1838, Doe. 106, listed under FW, 21st November 1838, copy in a 
communication fromJenkins to Prinsep, dt. Assam, 10th Nov. 1838. 
lC3 We will have a closer look at headhunting in the next sub-chapter. 
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villages.104 Thus this raids, carried out on Naga villages, could also have been pan of their feuding 

system But whatever the real reasons for them or their actual petpetrators were, and whether the 

accounts themselves were part of the violent conflicts between rival groups to direct the wrath of 

the British against ones' enemy, we probably never will be able to say with certainty. What 

becomes evident though, is that the extent and the number of incidents seems to have been 

greatly exaggerated by the British officers, the portrayal of an escalation solely the produce of the 

reports' ever faster circulation. British officers on the spot, on the one hand, dramatised the 

situation to render intervention necessary, on the other hand, they exaggerated the economic 

potential of the area and the willingness of the inhabitants to be taken under British protection. 

In this way they created the pretext for pushing the frontier further. 

Thus, in the late 1830s the British decided to take the affairs into their own hands.1Os 

The official Grange, in early 1839, was sent to Haflong in North Cachar to apprehend the 

petpetrators of the raids among the Nagas or to take hostages among them in order to enforce 

their hand-over.106 It was during this tour that the earlier mentioned meeting with Ikkari took 

place. Grange failed to achieve his object and traversed the western periphery of the Angami 

territory in a rather hastened way, since his party was permanently harassed in the course of its 

tour.107 He was dispatched again into Angami country by November 1839,108 and already 

threatened at Dimapur when he seized the grain of the Angamis there, but since Grange and his 

troops laughed at them, the Angamis remained careful.109 This time he came as far as Khonoma, 

and found out that the Angami villages were not tributary to :M"anipur, but on the contrary, were 

hostile to it. Just shortly before Grange's arrival at Khonoma a :M"anipur detachment had 

destroyed the part of the village which was at enmity with it. The destruction of just a division of 

the village shows that :M"anipur had understood the political structuring of Angami society, that 

stressed the clan as political unit and in this way did not necessarily coincide with the whole 

territorial unit of the village. But, a clan, if powerful, could extend its reign over other villages 

and! or clans to collect tnbute and demand following in case of rival polities encroaching on its 

104 BPe Vo!. 127/35, 3rd January- 22nd August 1837, Doe. 3, listed under FW, 21st February 1837; IPC Vo!. 
P/195/8, 16th January- 13th February 1839, Doe. 60, Copy of a letterfromJenkins to Lt. Bigge, dt. 18th Dec. 1838; 
IPe Vo!. P/195/19, Doe. 56, listed under FW, 10th July 1839,Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 20th May 1839, copy of 
Grange's report about his expedition into Angami territory, undated, sent by Lt. Bigge to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 8th 

May 1839. 
105 IPC Vo!. P/195/8, 16th January- 13th February 1839, Doe. 59,Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 11th Dec. 1838. 
106 Ibid., Doc. 60, Copy of a letterfromJenkins to Lt. Bigge, dt. 18th Dec. 1838. 
1C7 IPe Vo!. P/195/19, Doe. 56, listed under FW, 10th July 1839, Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 20th May 1839, copy of 
Grange's report about his expedition into Angami territory, undated, sent by Lt. Bigge to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 8th 

May 1839 .. 
108 IPe Vo!. P/ 195/31, Doc. 112, listed under 1st Jan. 1840, Jenkins to Prinsep, dt. 6th Dec. 1839, includes copy of 
Bigge to Jenkins, dt. Mahojong 26th Nov. 1839, including copy of Bigge to Grange, dt. ibid. 
109 IPe Vo!. P/195/39, 25th May- 15th June 1840, letter from Grange to Bigge, dt. Sumooguding, 1840, included as 
copy in Doe. 118, listed under 25th May 1840, Jenkins to Maddoek, Secy. to the Govt. of India in the Pol. Dept., dt. 
2nd May 1840. 
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sphere of influence, as we will see below, and thus acquired and constituted a territorial 

dimension. 

Coming back to November 1839, Grange's party's progress was hindered at every step, 

he was attacked, ambushed, avalanches of rocks were unleashed on him, the vegetation around 

him was set on fire, wells were poisoned and his path panjied 110 Sometimes they seemed to agree 

with him proceeding, but just to attack him at the next moment. It was during one of this 

attempts at Samaguting (nowadays Chimakudt) that the Nagas were shouting that their spears 

were their rajas. The Angamis used beacons of light from hill tops to communicate about the 

progress of the party, all Angamis, so it appeared to Grange, were up against him, and he, in turn, 

destroyed everything he could lay his hands on to bring them to his terms. The Angamis, on their 

side, destroyed Grange's grain f!Xlmm at Samaguting. Yet, his retreat into the plains was not 

hindered. Il 
1 Both of Grange's intrusions provoked concerted and protracted resistance on the 

side of the Angamis, following the pattern that had been put up against the large expeditions that 

had traversed this hills and that were mentioned at the beginning of this sub-chapter. We know 

that they exchanged intelligence among themselves on the whereabouts of the intruders, and that 

nearly all of them participated in the resistance. Thus, of what we have learned by now, this 

opposition could have been one that was centrally commanded, or was coordinated between 

units on an egalitarian basis, or, they could as well have been the result of a series of local 

decisions. 

Grange, to ensure the conduct of the Nagas of Samaguting, took hostages from among 

them. So when Jenkins reported to Fort William that Grange had taken prisoners from these 

"hostile & powerful tribes" and further that the attacks of the Angamis on Cachar had been 

stopped for the entire previous year, ascribing it to Grange having hit at " ... the largest Villages of 

the Angami confederacy ... ".112 Both of these statements were valid only to a limited extent: first, 

Samaguting was not one of the powerful villages, but rather a vulnerable outpost, and second, 

raids, as we have discovered earlier, were anyhow much more infrequent than Jenkins and his 

110 I leave the explanation as to what par;Us are to someone with first-hand experience: "In war-time, the hill sides 
and approaches are escarped and thickly studded over with panjies. These panjies ... are sharp-pointed bamboo 
skewers or stakes, varying from six inches to three and four feet in length, some of them as thin as a pencil, others as 
thick round as a good-sized cane, and although very insignificant things to look at, the give a nasty and most painful 
wound, often causing complete lameness in a few hours. Deep pit-falls and small holes covered over with a light 
layer of earth and leaves, concealing the panjies within, are also skilfully placed along the paths by which an enemy is 
expected to approach, and a tumble into one of the former is not a thing to be despised, as I have had good reason 
to know." Butler, 'Rough Notes on the Angann Nagas', p. 317. 
111 IPCVol. P/195/39, 25th May- 15th June 1840, Grange to Bigge, dt. Summoo Guding, 16th Feb. 1840 & Grange 
to Bigge, dt. Swnoo Guding, 29th Feb. 1840, included as copies in Doe. 118, listed under 25th May 1840, Jenkins to 

Maddock, Secy. to the Govt. of India in the Pol Dept., dt. 2nd May 1840.; See also Butler, Trauis aniAdr.enturEs in the 
Prmirx:ec{Assam,pp.105-114. 
112 IPC Vol. P/195/39, 25th May- 15th June 1840,Jenkins to Maddoek, Secy. to the Govt. of India in the Pol. Dept., 
FW, dt. 2nd May 1840. Ten months later Jenkins again sells his policy of intervention to Fort William by exaggerating 
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subordinates had preferred to ponray, so that this supposed stop of raiding might as well have 

been the normal state of affairs. On the other side it could also have been that Grange's tours 

cautioned the Angamis, as hill people were, as a rule, anxious not to provoke incursions by their 

numerically superior, and better anned, central organised neighbours of the plains, as they were 

aware of at all times. 

When in May 1840 Naga chiefs of Sarnaguting had come down to Nowgong to sign a 

written agreement for the release of the nine hostages and asked for land under British protection 

that was allotted to them, 113 we may assume that this was either pan of an independent foreign 

policy on pan of that village or a strategic request to gain the release of their fellow-villagers, or 

maybe a mixture of both. 

By January-February 1841 Bigge, the British officer in charge of Nowgong district, was, 

together with his instrument of persuasion, a detachment of the Assam Light Infantry, 

despatched on a tour into the Angami hills. Bigge's party was not opposed during the course of 

its tour. Bigge talked to the Nagas via an interpreter and told them that the Dhansiri river now 

was the boundary between their and the company's territory. He was told by the Angamis that 

Khonoma was acknowledged as the most powerful of all Naga villages, Mozema coming second. 

It seems that shonly before his tour, one of the two big Khonoma chiefs, Ikasi, had moved to 

Mozema, most probably together with his clan, and that after Bigge's return to Nowgong, both 

chiefs sent a group of gwnburas to Nowgong that were wanting to see him.114 This move of Il~asi 

and his clan to Mozema marked the begin of a long feud or power struggle (or both) between 

both of their clans. In the initial phase both tried to gain the assistance of the British against the 

local rival, and from the moment on that Mozema had won it, Khonoma turned to Manipur for 

suppon, and got it, if limited and secret. That Khonoma and Manipur not long before had been 

at enmity with each other seemed not to matter in this power game (following rules that easily 

could have stemmed from the realism school of thought). For the Angamis, entering into 

alliances with outside powers to finish off a local rival must have been an established pattern by 

then, and was as much common praxis in Southeast Asia 115 as it was in Machiavelli's Italy, even 

more so, since outside powers were not assumed to want to establish effective rule over the hills, 

through implication the number of raids happened prior to Grange's tour, see IPe Vol. P/195/55, 12th - 26th April 
1841, Doe. 79, listed under FW, 12th April 1841, Jenkins to Maddock, dt. Gowhatty, 21st March 184l. 
113 IPe Vol. P/195/39, 25th May- 15th June 1840, Doe. 98, copy of Bigge's letterto Jenkins, dt. Nowgong 10th May 
1840, included inJenkins to Maddoek, dt. 15th June 1840. 
114 IPe Vol. P/195/50, 4th - 25th Jan. 1841, Does. 105 & 106, listed under 18th Jan. 1841, Maddoek to Jenkins, dt. 
FW, ibid.; IPe Vol. P/195/54, 220d March - 5th April 1841, Bigge to Jenkins, undated, attached copy to Doe. 92, 
listed under 22nd March 1841, Jenkins to Maddock, dt. 10th March 1841; IPe Vol. P/195/55, 12th - 26th April 1841, 
Bigge to Jenkins, dt. Sumiegooding, 12th March 1841, attached to Doe. 79, listed under FW, 12th April 1841, Jenkins 
to Maddoek, dt. Gowhatty, 21st March 1841. 
115 Reid, 'Introduction: A Time and a Place', p. 5. 
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that is to say to stay. I will later argue that this proved to be a decisive factor in what the Angamis 

must have considered only as a temporary submission to British military power. 

However, coming back to our sequence of events, in spring 1842 new raids by Angamis 

on villages in Manipur and Cachar were reported, but since we do not get to know anything 

specific,116 we may doubt the validity of the information. Moreover, by October 1842 " ... certain 

Naga Chiefs and their followers ... came down on a visit from the Naga Hills ... " ,117 and were 

hosted by the British at Nowgong, constituting a political practice that continued as a way of 

diplomacy between British and Angamis from then on. Then, in .March 1843 we are informed 

about a peace conference in which the Angamis took oaths to abstain from feuding and to bow 

to British suzerainty: 

... that two of the principal Chiefs of the Angamee Nagas and Several heads of Villages of the Rengma 

tribe of Nagas have attended at Nowgong on his Sununos inviting them to a personal interview, and 

have entered into agreements with Capt. Gordon to obey the Govt and abstain form wars among 

themselves. ( ... ) [and] to pay a yearly tribute in acknowledgement of our authority ... 118 

Nevertheless, in the course of 1843 the Angamis carried out two raids, killing four each, and 

taking with them considerable amount of loot. In 1844 two more assaults were carried out, this 

time on the Rengma Naga hills, killing nine in total, and taking again substantial property. The 

British seemed to know that 89 persons were involved in these incursions, but since they always 

returned immediately to the hills, no-one was ever caught.119 These raids certainly were of non­

political nature, may have been conducted by any group, carried out either for sport, i.e. to prove 

oneself, or to subsidise one's economic shortage, or, more likely, out of a combination of both 

reasons.120 By December 1843 the assistant Woods was to tour the Angami Nagas.l2l The aim 

was to keep up and renew the relationship with the already acquainted chiefs and to establish new 

relations further to the east.122 Yet the most powerful Angami chiefs, those of the villages 

Khonoma and Mozerna, refused to give the agreed on gift as sign of submission. The lesser 

116JPCP/196/13,Doc.12,listedunderFW, 1st June 1842. 
117 IPC P/196/19, 12th Oct. - 2nd. Nov. 1842, Docs. 158 & 159, listed under FW, 19th Oct. 1842, dt. 26th Sept. & 

19th Oct. 1842. 
118 IPC Vol. P/196/29, 29th March - 12th April 1843, Doe. 76, listed under FW, 12th April 1843, Jenkins to Bushby, 
clt. 19th March 1843. 
119 Butler, Trauis aniA dr.enturrs in the Prmirre <fA ssam, p. 117. 
128 See next sub-chapter. 
121 Irxlia Pditical aniForeignPro:miings (IPFP) Vol. P/196/42, 18th Nov. - 30th Dec. 1843, Doe. 21, listed under FW, 
23rd Dec. 1843, Davidson, Officiating Secy. Govt. India to Jenkins, dt. 23rd Dec. 1843. - from Vol. P/196/31 
onwards the Volumes change their name, possibly according to a change in the administrative areas of 
responsibilities, into India Political and Foreign Proceedings, or at least they are filed under that name, so I will call 
them accordingly. Yet on the Volumes themselves they are still called "Consultations". 
122 Ibid., Doc. 20, Jenkins to Brodie, dt. 17th Nov. 1843. 
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chiefs did pay tribute, yet hesitatingly, since, as they stated, and we already had learned earlier, had 

not the permission from their superiors from Khonoma and Mozema.123 

Nearly a year later, by November 1844, it was reported that the Shan militia, in the service 

of the British and stationed at the village of Lamkaye in North Cachar, had been attacked by 

Khonoma with the assistance of the neighbouring village of Akooee (Asalu), and with the 

knowledge of the people also of Lamkaye themselves. Three Shans and one Naga boy servant 

were killed.l24 Wood had found out that Khonoma had announced to make war on the "sepoys", 

were seeing themselves as the strongest village and therefore convinced that the others had to do 

what they said.125 Captain Eld, after having gone to the Angami hills to investigate the attack on 

the Shan militia, reported that he had information from the " ... Gau Boora of the Mozoma 

Gan ... " that the Khonoma Angamis had tried to persuade the Mozemas to participate in the 

attack on the Shan, that they had refused, and that the Khonoma Angamis had acquired firearms 

during the attack and had later used them against Mozema. The Mozema ~a further stated 

that all Angami villages were peaceful, except Khonoma, being the most powerful and which had 

to be stopped.126 Wood and captain Eld in retaliation burnt down the sections of the three 

villages implicated in the attack - the village "Assaloo or Akoee" (transcription by far not 

standardised, yet), the village Beren, and Khonoma.127 Khonoma, in retaliation, went against 

Mozema and destroyed that village.128 Further, Eld had received information that the Khonoma 

Angamis together with Manipur troops had attacked Mozema, which was by then considered as 

being friendly disposed to the British, and had killed some of its inhabitants.J29 All promises, so 

Eld, that the Angamis had made at Nowgong were null and void: 

... that they had no intention whatever of fulfilling them, their reply to the Kutukee sent to collect their 

tribute last year being to that very effect viz:-

"Wben at Now Gong in the Sahib's power we aBented to all he asked because we were afraid, 

now we are in our own hills and if you want any tribute you must take it by force.» 130 

123 IPFP Vol. P/196/57, 10th - 24th Aug. 1844, Doe. 34, listed under FW, 24th Aug. 1844, Jenkins to Glrrie, Secy. 
Govt. India, in the Foreign Department. 
124 IPFP Vol. P/196/63, 2nd - 16th Nov. 1844, Does. 74-76, listed underFW, 16th Nov. 1844. 
125 IPFP Vol. P/197/2, 14th - 28th Dec. 1844, Doe. 87, listed under FW, 28th Dee. 1844, Subassistant to 
Commissioner Golah Ghat B. Wood to Collector! Assistant to Commissioner Nowgong Capt. P. Eld, dt. Golah 
Ghat 15th Nov. 1844. 
126 IPFP Vol. P/197/6, 1st - 8th Feb. 1845, listed under FW, 1st Feb. 1845, Eld to Jenkins, undated. 
127 IPFP Vol. P/197/16, 23rd May 1845, Doe. 69, listed under FW, 23rd May 1845, Jenkins to Currie, dt. 3rd April 
1845. 
128 Ibid., The reports of Capt. Eld are the following Does. 70 and 71. 
129 IPFP Vol. P/197/19, 20th to 27th June 1845, Doe. 123, listed under FW, 27th June 1845, Eld, Principal Assistant 
to the Agent to the Governor General to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong 20th May 1845. 
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Major Butler was sent into the Angarni hills in winter 1845/46. The small villages on his way into 

the interior received him in a conciliatory way, presenting him with gifts, that he took mistakenly 

as signs of submission. When he arrived on the well-settled and well-cultivated Angami plateau 

he encamped near Mozema village, and all the Angamis came fearless and friendly to him at all 

times to trade with him. The chiefs of the villages, especially of Khonoma, told him that they had 

no power to force the attackers on the Shan militia to surrender themselves to the British, 

moreover, they pretended not to know the names of the perpetrators. But they swore all the 

oaths to him that he wanted to hear - those of abstaining from warfare among themselves, from 

raiding on the plains, and finally the one of submission to British supremacy. That these oaths 

were not only a mere opportunistic show on the side of the Angamis but probably also carried a 

complete different meaning for them, if they carried one at all indeed, becomes evident when 

considering that shortly after, the chief of Mozema asked Butler for a guard of twenty Sepa)5 for 

his village with whom he could fight all his enemies, but first of all, he would take his revenge on 

Khonoma. When Butler reminded him that he just had taken an oath to abstain from any 

fighting, the chief did not understand at all. In Butler's own words: "This the chief could not at 

all comprehend, and he did not want any guard if he was not allowed to make war on his 

enemies."131 When Jenkins then related to Fort William that all the smaller villages had asked 

Butler for protection, this was based on a misunderstanding of the real situation, and out of 

Jenkins' desire to portray a positive picture to his superiors, in order to attain the permission to 

further open communications towards the Angami hills and to establish military posts as 

bridgeheads in the western fringes of their territory. m That the Angamis, despite their 

conciliatory approach towards Butler, resisted this British encroachment on their sovereignty 

becomes apparent through their subsequent attacks on Hasung Hajoo and Samaguting. The first 

one, though it failed, was aimed at the established military post, the second one on Samaguting, 

for not opposing Butler's party when on its way into the interior,133 indicating clearly that they 

had understood who to target. When Butler, during the cold season 1846-47, was thus again 

dispatched to the Angamis to either apprehend the actual perpetrators of the raids or the chiefs 

of the respective villages it came to the earlier described attempted attack that I used to convey a 

picture of the democratic warfare of the Angamis. Shortly after the party of warriors had 

retreated" ... the principal chiefs of Joshe-mah and Gohee-mah Uotsoma and KohimaJ ... " visited 

130 IPFP Vol. P/197/23, 22nd - 29th August 1845, Doe. 143. listed under FW, 22nd Aug. 1845, Eld to Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong 6th May 1845. 
131 Ibid., Doe. 31, Captain John Butler, Principal Assistant Nowgong, to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 16th Jan. 1846 and 
Butler, Tra'lIis arriA dl.enturfs in the Prmine if A ssam, pp. 32-45. 
132 IPFP Vol. PI 197/23, 22nd - 29th August 1845, listed under FW, 22nd Aug. 1845, Doe. 30, Jenkins to Bushby, dt. 
Gowhani, 11th April 1846 and Doe. 32, Bushby to Jenkins, dt. FW, 23rd May 1846. 
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Butler in his camp and again took the oath of submission to the Raj. Butler, due to sickness, 

retreated empty-handed. Yet he was accompanied by Angamis who wanted to go shopping in 

Tezpur and Gauhati, again demonstrating that the area could not have been as murderous and 

apocalyptic as the British liked to depict it. On his way back Butler established a military post at 

Samaguting, in addition to the one already existing at Hasung HajoO.134 

The thana at Samaguting was manned with a Shan militia under the command of the 

suzero.ul Bhog Chand, the Angami Naga country put under his control. When shonly after his 

installation Angamis from Mozema came to Samaguting asking for revenge for one of theirs that 

had become victim of a headhunting raid of Angamis of the village of Lakeh-mah, Bhog Chand 

was sent in to investigate the case. Chand on his assignment had not even twenty fighting 

personnel with him and was threatened and harassed by at times more than 1,500 warriors whom 

he and his parry held at bay with disciplined volleys of gun fire and thus secured their retreat to 

the stockade at Samaguting. The Lakeh-mah fighters seemed not to have been acquainted to 

bullets, since they were stunned that their wooden shields did not protect them from them. It 

might have been this courageous and impressive performance that made the Angamis respect 

Bhog Chand and conveyed security to his stockade for the time being. A school and a market was 

established at Samaguting, and Angami chiefs simultaneously continued to come down to 

Nowgong, where they were hosted by the British and presented with gifts.135 

For the next two years peace ensued, with the exception of one local headhunting raid, 

and the British extended and consolidated their bases at Dimapur, Samaguting and Hasung 

Hajoo. Communications were improved and settlement of Kukis and Mikirs encouraged in 

NOM Cachar. Angamis came down to Dimapur and Samaguting in substantial numbers to trade, 

but otherwise abstained from raiding on British held territory and from attacks on British 

bases.136 The Angamis, at least for the time being, had accepted their new political neighbour and 

took advantage of the trade possibilities. 

133 IPFP Vo!. P/197 I 44, 5th - 26th Sept. 1846, listed under FW, 19th Sept. 1846, Doe. 18, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 29th 
May 1846 and Butler to Jenkins, dt. Now Gong 12th June 1846; and Ibid., Doe. 17, Jenkins to Bushby, 19th August 
1846. 
134 IPFP Vo!. PI 197/57, 3rd - 24th Apri11847, Doe. 38, listed under FW, 24th Apri11847, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong, 10th Feb. 1847 and Butler, Trawls ardAchenturr5 in the PrmirreifAssam, pp. 166 - 167. 
m IPFP Vo!. P/197/57, 3rd - 24th Apri11847, Does. 16-20, listed under FW, 29th May 1847, Jenkins to Bushby, dt. 
Gowhani 7th May 1847 and Doe. 22, P. Melville, Offig. Under-Secy. Govt. India to Jenkins, dt. FW, 29th May 1847 
and Doe. 24, listed under FW, 5th June 1847, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Gowhani, 13th May 1847; IPFP Vo!. P/197/59, 
12th June 1847, Doe. 47, listed under FW, 12th June 1847, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong 21st May 1847 and Butler, 
Trawls ardA chenturr5 in the Prmi:rrE if A ssam, pp. 168-17l. 
136 IPFP Vo!. P/198/28, 3rd June 1848, Doe. 136, listed under FW, 3rd June 1848, Butlerto Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 5th 
May 1848; Doe. 135,Jenkins to Elliot, Secy. Govt. India, FD, FW, dt. Gowhatte, 15th May 1848.; Doe. 137,Jenkins 
to Butler, dt. Gowhani, 12th May 1848; Doe. 138, Elliot to Jenkins, dt. FW, 3rd June 1848. IPFP P/198/29, 10th -
24th June 1848, Doe. 97, listed under FW, 17th June 1848, Jenkins to Elliot, Secy. Govt. India, FD, dt. FW, 17th May 
1848. IPFP Vo!. PI 198/34, 16th - 23rd Sept. 1848, Doe. 134, listed under FW, 23rd Sept. 1848, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong, 4th Sept. 1848; Doe. 136, Elliot to Jenkins, dt. FW, 23rd Sept. 1848. IPFP Vo!. P/198/35, 30th Sept. - 21st 

Oct. 1848, Doe. 24, listed underFW, 14th Oct. 1848,Jenkins to Elliot, dt. 8th Sept. 1848. IPFP Vo!. P/198/46, 28th 
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However, after an interlude of two peaceful years the internal power struggle of the 

Angamis and requests for protection by the village chiefs of Mozema and Kohima delivered the 

pretext for British intervention and their push into the Angami heartland: 

... and a road could be made via Mozepameh to Kohema when this routes would be open throughout 

the year and by increasing the number of schools and making roads, it is possible that the whole of the 

Nagas might be subdued at no veI)' distant day.137 

This move was sold to Fort William as humanitarian inteIvention, to stop " ... the constant 

murderous attacks of one village upon another ... " .138 By now we should have learned not to take 

such statements for valid expressions on the situation, but rather for deliberate exaggerations to 

justify further extensions of power for the local officers. We should also doubt the reality and 

substance of the requests for protection. The real extent of the" ... constant murderous attacks ... " 

was one homicide committed by members of one clan of Mozema on a member of another clan 

of the same village. Whether this killing triggered clan rivalry or whether it was an expression of it 

we do not know. It seemed that both parties were building alliances, though the configuration is 

not completely clear: at one time one party had the support of Khonoma, while the other used 

Cacharie mercenaries as back-up; at another time one party used both - Khonoma and 

mercenaries - and the British were called in by a former Manipur official, who in again other 

reports is stated to be the leader of the mercenaries. What was reported to the British was 

certainly part of the power struggle, and what the British officers, in turn, reported to their 

superiors was thus manipulated to render intervention necessary. What we know is that one 

killing had happened and that Bhog Chand, determined to investigate this case, was, on his arrival 

at Mozema, well received by both chiefs of the village. Chand, by then, was well known by the 

Angamis, had learned their language and had toured their hills extensively with only a small 

escort. He demanded the surrender of those who committed the murder. Nilholey, that is the 

name given to the chief to whose clan the perpetrators belonged, entreated Chand that he could 

not allow for the seizure of anyone of his clan, that this would humiliate him beyond repair. 

Chand instead should arrest himself and his rival chief Jubili and to take them both to Nowgong 

where the affair could be settled in the presence of Butler. Chand, on his part, scorned Niholey 

April- 5th May 1849, Does. 60-61, listed under FW, 5th May 1849. IPFP Vo!. P/198/ 47, 12th - 19th May 1849, Doe. 
42, listed under FW, 12th May 1849, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong Assam, 19th April 1849; Does. 42 and 49, listed 
under FW, 19th May 1849, Butlerto Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 17th April 1849. 
137 IPFP Vo!. P/198/47, 12th - 19th May 1849, Doe. 42, listed under FW, 19th May 1849, Butlerto Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong, 17th April 1849. 
138 Ibid., Doe. 41, Jenkins to Halliday, Secy. Govt. India, FD, FW, undated; Doe. 42, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 26th April 
1849 [there are sometimes a whole series of communications under one Doe. and sometimes not, there is no one 
logic behind the ordering]; Doe. 43,Jenkins to Butler, dt. Gowhani, 2nd May 1849; Doe. 44, Grey, Officiating Under­
Secy. Govt. India, FD, to Jenkins, dt. FW, 18th May 1849. 



91 

and detained two men of his clan. On this Nilholey, together with his clan, left the village, and 

attacked Chand and his party when it was staying in another village on his way back to 

Samaguting. Chand and several of his men were killed, the remainder of the party was left to 

escape to Samaguting.139 Yet, the fact that the Sepaj5 were running for their life, leaving behind 

their weapons and equipment, possibly resulted in a loss of reputation in the eyes of the Angamis 

("the empire of opinion"), and could have been responsible for the following attacks on 

Samaguting. But it also could have been that the arrogant conduct of Chand trespassed what the 

Angamis considered as bearable and thus led them to react in this violent way. Taking the chiefs 

to Nowgong to arbitrate or to hold responsible was possibly not seen as such, also that the 

western pan of their country had been taken over by the British, and that British panies toured 

their territory, but to arrest members of the clan obviously was not tolerable. 

What followed now, from November 1849 until March 1851, was an ever greater 

escalation during which, for the first time, British troops nearly uninterrupted stayed on in the 

Angami hills, moving about destroying villages and crops, but for the most time were besieged in 

their own stockades. The Angamis, on their pan, attacked in retaliation villages under British 

jurisdiction, that in turn, were armed by the British with guns. More and more clans and villages 

of the Angamis united and finally forced the British to withdraw from the hills and contributed to 

their decision to disconnect themselves from Angami affairs. From all evidence that we have it 

seems that the presence and conduct of the British troops triggered a temporary rallying-around­

the-flag in this hills. The British had to call on anillery and regular troops and still were only able 

to take a formidable fonress above Khonoma, because it was vacated by the Angamis. The 

massive outlay of the fonress alone shows the extent of collective endeavour, though it might 

have been brought about in an egalitarian way. The Angamis did not have to hold on to villages 

or fonresses, since the British could not at all control their movements, and were soon not able 

anymore to distinguish between population and foe. British presence also triggered challenges of 

neighbouring mighty villages, located funher to the east, not under the political influence of the 

Tengima group of villages. Those Nagas were obviously unaware of the firepower of British arms 

and stubbornly engaged them in open combat, resulting in hundreds of casualties. l40 

139 IPFP Vol. P/198/59, 17th - 24th Nov. 1849, Doe. 156, listed under FW, 17th Nov. 1849, Butler to Jenkins, dt. 
Nowgong Assam, 9th August 1849; ibid.,Jenkins to Halliday, Secy. Govt. India, FD, FW, dt. Gauhani, 14th August 
1849; Doe. 157, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 14th Aug. 1849; ibid., Jenkins to Halliday, dt. Gowhany 22nd August 
1849; Doe. 159, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 15th Aug. 1849; Doe. 161, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 9th 

October 1849 & Butler, Trau1.s aniA drentJtr<s in the Prmin:e if A ssam, pp. 174-179. 
14C See the following documents on the ensuing war: IPFP Vol. P/199/3, 19th - 26th April 1850, Doe. 287, listed 
under FW, 19th April 1850, Butler to Masters, Subassistant to the Commissioner Golaghat, dt. Nowgong Assam, 12th 

Feb. 1850; Doe. 277,Jenkins to Grey, dt. Gowhany, 16th Feb. 1850; Doe. 278,Jenkins to Grey, dt. 21st Feb. 1850; 
Doe. 285, Jenkins to Butler, dt. 17th Feb. 1850;Ooe. 290, Butler to Lt. Vincent, dt. Nowgong Assam, 15th Feb. 1850; 
Doe. 294, Jenkins to Grey, dt. Gowhani, 25th Feb. 1850; Doe. 296, Jenkins to Butler, dt. Gowhani, 24th Feb. 1850; 
Doe. 297, Grey to Jenkins, clt. FW, 22nd March 1850; IPFP Vol. P/199/5, 31st May- 7th June 1850, Doe. 139, listed 
under FW, 7th June 1850, Lt. Vincent to Butler, dt. Camp Mozumah, 6th March 1850; Doe. 140, Jenkins to Grey, clt. 
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Hitherto I have tried to show, via a careful reading of the accessible sources, that the 

endemic violence prevailing on the edges and inside the Angami hills, was an invention of the 

officers on the spot, designed to convey legitimacy to their desire for conquest. Further, that it 

was British intervention that then created the havoc in the first place that it was allegedly 

intended to stop. Grey, the then officiating under-secretary to the government of India, came to 

pretty much the same conclusion when analysing the communications of the officers on the 

frontier: 

The present state of affairs in the Naga Hills bordering upon Nowgong to the eastward and lying 

North of Muneepore would seem to have arisen entirely out of the endeavours made by the British 

authorities in ~am to restrain the violent and deadly feuds existing among different tribes and villages 

of Nagas. 141 

It was only the missing evidence of the reality of the "deadly feuds" inside the hills that eluded 

Grey, but he had established the fact that the raids had become more lethal, in other words the 

number of killings during single raids had become higher, that every intervention, so he 

continued, was a failure, the adopted measures did lead to new failures and on the situation of the 

British troops, that had then been in the Angami hills " ... with the exception of Jabulees 

immediate followers [the one allied clan from Mozema], the whole race is up in arms and 

prepared to offer the most determined opposition to the British Troops." 142 Approximately thirty 

years later, when the British were in the process of establishing themselves in the middle of the 

Angami hills, with preceding events similar to the one we have witnessed here, an attack of the 

Merhema clan of Khonoma on a British detachment unleashed again a general uprising. In the 

process of this the British were besieged in their stockade by thousands of Angami warriors, busy 

Gowhatty, 9th April 1850; Doe. 141, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Nowgong, 28th March 1850. IPFP Vol. P /199/4, jrd - 23rd 
May 1850, Doe. 11, listed under FW, 10th May 1850, Jenkins to Halliday, Secy. Govt. India, FD, FW, dt. Gowhatti, 
16th April 1850. IPFP Vol. P/199/5, Doe. 142, listed under FW, 7th June 1850,Jenkins to Grey, dt. Gowhatti, 25th 

April 1850; Doe. 145, Communications between Jenkins, Butler and Lt. Vincent, dt. between 16th of April and 6th of 
May 1850. IPFP Vol. P/199/4, Doe. 13, listed under FW, 10th May 1850, Grey to Jenkins, dt. FW, 10th May 1850. 
IPFP Vol. P/199/5, Doe. 144, listed under FW, 7th June 1850,Jenkins to Grey, dt. Gowhatty, 10th May 1850; no 
Doe. No., listed under FW, 12th July 1850, Lt. Vincent to Capt. Butler, dt. Camp Mozemah, 29th May 1850. IPFP 
Vol. P/199/12, 23rd - 30th August 1850, Doe. 66, listed under 30th August 1850, Jenkins to Grey, dt. Gowhatty, 28th 

May 1850; Doe. 68,Jenkins to Grant, Secy. Govt. Bengal, Judicial Dept., FW, undated. IPFP Vol. P/199/17, Doe. 
88, listed under FW, 8th Nov. 1850, communications between 20th Sept. and 22nd Oct.; Doe. 89, Grey to Jenkins, dt. 
FW, 6th Nov. 1850; Doe. 144, Grey to Jenkins, dt. FW, 8th Nov. 1850. IPFP Vol. P/199/21, 20th Dec. 1850, Doe. 
303, listed under FW, 20th Dec. 1850., Lt. Vincent to Butler, undated; Doe. 304, Jenkins to Grant, dt. Gowhatti, 2nd 
Oct. 1850. IPFP Vol. P/199/28, 7th - 21st Feb. 1851, Doe. 195, listed under FW, 7th Feb. 1851, Fouqett to Butler, dt. 
Camp Mozemah, 12th Dec. 1850; Doe. 194, Butler to Jenkins, dt. Mozumah, 17th Dec. 1850; Doe. 248, dt. 5th March 
1851. IPFP Vol. P/199/38, 11th - 20th June 1851, Doe. 95, Reid, Commanding Troops in Naga Hills to jenkins, 
undated; jenkins to Halliday, dt. Nowgong, 17th March 1851; Doe. 96, Grey to jenkins, dt. FW, 4th April 1851 and 
Butler, Trauls arrlA du:nturrs in the PrminE if A ssam, pp. 179-211. 
141 IPFP Vol. P/199/21, 20th Dec. 1850, Doe. 308, listed under FW, 20th Dec. 1850, Note by Officiating Under 
Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Dept., Grey, dt. FW, 19th Oct. 1850. 
142 Ibid., refers to Doe. 303 of the same Volume. 
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driving trenches up to the British fortification. One of the besieged later narrated the following 

incident: 

On the night of 24th, a Nlga who spoke Hindustani harangued us from behind one of the barricades. 

He said we had come here and occupied land, we had cut their trees, bamboos, and grass, we wanted 

revenue from them and made them furnish coolies. His speech ended with a query. - "What will 

happen now?" 

The next morning (24th) some friendly gaonbura of Kohima khels came to us and gave us to 

understand that our enemies wanted to let us go away if we liked. We were informed that the whole 

country was rising to annihilate US; that the villages of Viswema, Cheduma, Jakhama, Khonoma, 

Jotsoma, and Chetonoma khel of Kohima were determined to combine against us, but that now we 

might get away. At that time, there were at least 4,000 men surrounding us, and of these about 300 

had guns. 143 

The British finally were relieved, and the Angamis, after a protracted war, defeated. We will now 

try to make sense out of the previous narrative and at the end of what follows will have formed 

our opinion on why the Nagas took up general resistance and why they finally surrendered. 

2.6 Refuge-area wamor society 

The title of this sub-chapter is taken from Boehm's study on feuding,l44 and nicely depicts that 

we are only to understand these hill societies by placing them into the wider political context.145 

We will now subsequently turn shortly to the phenomena of headhunting, raiding, feuding, and 

war, in order to place the previous narrative into a wider context, before we will try to make our 

deductions on the constitution of contemporary Angami society. 

Headhunting has to be differentiated from the pure trophy taking in wars and raids 

existing at all times in all places, and may be defined as " ... an organized, coherent form of 

violence in which the severed head is given a specific ritual meaning and the act of headtaking is 

consecrated and commemorated in some form."146 There is no one symbolic meaning or 

reasoning, hence social and political factors have to be taken into consideration when trying to 

143 IFP-P, Vol. P/1551, Jan. 1880, Doc. 330, Cawleyto ColonelJ. Johnstone, Political Agent Manipur, dt. Kohima, 
28th October 1879, pp.268-269. 
144 Christopher Boehm, BlrxxlR~ TheEmctm:nt ardMaruwrm cfOJrflia inManterE:groani Other Trilul Societie; 
(pennsylvannia, 1984), chapter 3. That Boehm's book is both, a treatise of Montenegrin feuding and one on feuding 
in a comparative and theoretical way, see Keith F. Otterbein, 'Feuding - Dispute Resolution or Dispute 
Continuation?', In idem (ed.), Feudingard Warfare Sdated Works cfKeith F. atemin (Amsterdam, 1994), pp. 133-146. 
145 Thomas Gibson, 'Raiding, trading, and tribal autonomy in insular Southeast Asia', In Jonathan Haas (ed.), The 
A~ifWar(Cambridge, 1990), pp. 125-145, pp. 140-141. 
146 Hoskins, 'Introduction: Headhunting as Practice and as Trope', p. 2. 
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make sense out of headhunting acts.147 For the Angamis we have very little evidence of such pure 

headhunting cases. One of these was the killing of four women: "These murders were 

committed ... as propitiatory offerings for a good harvest, the limbs of the persons killed as well as 

the skulls being carried off to be stuck up in the Rice fields.,,148 The explanation given here points 

to some fertility concept involved, a reasoning widely accepted among Nagas today (personal 

communications) and in the literature on them The head-hunter was glorified as life-giver, and 

thus was his status enhanced.149 As the quote above lists the killed body as a whole was important 

and would have been carried off, if not considered far too impracticable, so for convenience 

mostly only the head was taken, especially when one was chased by the relatives of the victim.1so 

However, we have to keep in mind that the evidence about actual headhunting cases is scant, and 

that the existence of the practice was welcomed by the British as conveying further legitimacy to 

their conquest, as was the case elsewhere in Southeast Asia: "The battle over tribal sovereignty 

was largely waged over the suppression of headhunting."151 Headhunting was always the outcome 

of considerations at a specific time and place and did not follow from an automatic application of 

rules.152 Moreover, headhunting acts could as well be understood as statements on power 

relations,153 and related to that, as acts that symbolised one's political autonomy.1S4 

Raids, as Boehm has demonstrated with the help of his Montenegrin case study, were 

especially conducted when subsistence failed and! or to prove oneself as a man, in which case 

also heads were taken to give evidence of one's deeds.155 Thus raiding for Montenegrins could be 

a rite de passage as was headhunting for Ilongots.1s6 Raiding depended as much on historical 

circumstances and contemporaneous considerations as did headhunting, that is to say it was 

undertaken only after weighing the pros and cons and not if severe retribution was to be 

expected in return.1S7 Also, the composition of raiding parties could reflect real or projected 

political alliances, and thus could be an instrument of home politics. 158 Raiding among the 

147 Ibid., pp. 18 and 40-41. 
148 IPFP P/198/29, 10th - 24th June 1848, Doc. 97, listed under FW, 17th June 1848, Jenkins to Elliot, Secy. Govt. 
India, FD, dt. FW, 17th May 1848. 
149 J ulian J acobs, The N afj1S, Hill Projk ifN artheast Irr/UI: S cxiay, Odture and the Oionial E rrourrter (Stuttgart, 1990). 
150 An interesting interpretation, and aimed at universal value, stems from the German anthropologist A E. Jensen, 
who claims these killings as sacrifices, originating from the universal belief in planter cultures that death releases life, 
and the glorification of the killer as a remnant of the glorification of death as life-giver. A E. Jensen, M)tha un:lKult 
re N aturu'ikem {Miinchen, 1992 [1951]. 
151 Richard Alien Drake, 'Construction Sacrifice and Kidnapping Rurnor Panics in Borneo', GPania 59,1989, pp. 
269-279, p. 277, cf. Hoskins, 'Introduction', p. 33. 
152 Rosaldo, I~ Headhuntin& 1883·1974: A StudyinSodetyandHistory, p. 135-136 and passim. 
153 Sandra Pannel, 'Travelling to Other Worlds: Narratives of Headhunting, Appropriation and the Other in the 
Eastern Archipelago', GPania, 62,1992, pp. 162-178, p. 173, cf. Hoskins, 'Intrrxiuainrl, pp. 33-34. 
154 Hoskins, 'IntrrxIuction', p. 41. 
155 Christopher Boehm, BlaxlR~ The Enu:t:rrDt andManawrmt ifOJrflid inMorrletJ!groand Oher Trihd Saieti£s 
(pennsylvannia, 1984), pp. 40-41, 46, 72. 
156 Rosaldo, I~ Headhuntin& 1883-1974, pp. 140 ff. 
157 Boehm, Blaxl~ pp. 43-45. 
158 Rosaldo, I~ Headhuntin& p. 168. 
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Angamis will have been motivated and regulated in the same way. Yet in addition to the material 

and status enhancing incentives, raiding in Southeast Asia could also be driven by the desire for 

captives that could be ransomed or sold as slaves, or to adopt them into one's own society and in 

this way acquire manpower, a general objective of Southeast Asian warfare, as we have learned 

above. 

Raiding, on the other side, has to be differentiated from feuding, and Boehm follows here 

Radcliffe-Brown, Evans-Pritchard, and Gluckman159 in stating that feuding happened only inside 

the tribe between its component clans and had a regulatory function.160 The basis of feuding was 

the moral system in which everyone was the Other's equal and had the obligation that he was 

taught from childhood on to defend one's honour and revenge one's blood.l61 Yet to escape the 

crude and ahistorical functionalism of the British school of social anthropology, Boehm states 

that the institution of feuding was a conscious historical solution to the problem of the possibility 

of homicidal violence in a society without central authority and therefore contributing to social 

stability. 162 Boehm stresses that the extent of feuding was always exaggerated by visiting 

foreigners and that the percentage of people actually involved in feuding at a time, constituted 

only a tiny fracture of the total population, so that casualties were low and the majority of the 

people could conduct their daily affairs in peace.163 Moreover, feuding did not evolve in an 

automatic and inevitable fashion, every stage rather presented a turning point at which several 

considerations had to be made, and where arbitration to prevent escalation could either be 

offered or enforced by the community. Honour had to be bent and truces announced for the 

sake of social stability or in case of an outside threat or simply during harvest. Feuding was thus 

rather characterised by invention and modification rather than by following tradition,164 as were 

and must have been the feuding units, the clans: " ... the bertan [Ilongot for clan] and the feud, far 

from being a timeless bedrock of synchronic social structure, are historically conditioned and 

socially constructed." 165 

The Montenegrins, according to Boehm, constituted a segmentary political system, in 

which households made up clans, and clans made up tnbes. Cans were military and feuding units 

and tribes made up the one for territorial defence. The constitution of the tribes was, as the one 

of the clans, situational. While clans were competing with each other, inter-tribal feuding, that, if 

it happened, could develop into warfare, was rare. Rather they were conscious of the larger and 

more powerful plains neighbour (in this case, the Turks) and united in case of threats coming 

159 M. Fortes and E. E. Evans-Pritchard (eds.),A.fiUanPditUal S)5tem (London and New York, 1987 [1940]. 
160 Boehrn, BlaxlR~ pp. 195-197. 
161 Ibid., pp. 51-63, 85 and 187. 
162 Ibid., pp. 187,203-205 and 207. 
163 Ibid., p. 114. 
164 Ibid., pp. 119, 121-142, 144, 153 and 162-163. 
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from this side " ... to defend their territory and autonomy."166 The term "segmentary political 

systems" was coined by Meyer Fortes and Evans-Pritchard to come to terms with African 

societies that the British encountered in Africa and which lacked any discernible central authority 

that could be co-opted or coerced into the imperial enterprise.167 The evidence for the Angamis 

of our case and time of scrutiny represented rather a polity that was constituted out of ranked 

clans that vied with each other for dominance. In other words, they were organised in an 

egalitarian way internally, and their composition must have been changing, reflecting ideology, 

not sociology,168 but these clans were ranked among themselves, and thus egalitarianism extended 

only as far as clan boundaries. The reach of the clans' ritual dominance, that should not to be 

confused with effective rule, depended on their respective power, in accord with Tambiah's 

galactic polity. Also it seems from our evidence, and this would differentiate it from Tambiah's 

concept, that several clans could radiate their dominance at a time inside the same space (though 

it seemed that newly acquired firearms worked towards a centralisation of power), and Reid gives 

us examples of indigenous Southeast Asian state-formations based on balancing clans making up 

a federal structure: 

Though tension between these rival authorities was the rule, in the ideal Southeast Asian polity they 

could be overcome by a process of discussion and consensus. At their best, these institutions of 

pluralism provided a modest basis for contractualism within state structures. Most often, however, 

they also inhibited progress towards the bureaucratic institutionalization of state authority.169 

For African societies that shall serve us here as to give us a rough idea, despite all their fission 

and fractions, unity as whole was produced and perceived by the people themselves through 

numerous cross-cutting kinship ties, material interests, and common ritual values. Political units, 

165 Rosaldo, lforrtpt Headhuntirrg, p. 221. 
166 Boehm, BloaiR~ pp. 43-45, 48-49 and 184-185. 
167 M Fortes and E. E. Evans-Pritchard, 'Introduction', In idem (eds.), AfricanPaiticaJ S)5tem (London and New 
York, 1987 [1940], pp. 1-23. It is widely taken that they took the term "segmentary societies" from Emile 
Durkheim's De la di'lisiondu trawil social (1902), see for example Irene Leverenz, 'Segmentare Gesellschaft', In 
Bernhard Streck (ed.), WOrterbudJ der Et:hrx:W;ie (Koln, 1987), pp. 191-195 and Christian Sigrist, 'Gesellschaften ohne 
Staat und die Entdeckungen der social anthropology', In Fritz Kramer and Christian Sigrist (eds.), Gesdlschaften dn 
Staat. Bam 1: GleUhheit unl Ge;pIseitigfoei1 (Frankfurt am Main, 1978), pp. 28-44. Gellner, though, points out that the 
such described mechanism, albeit without using the term itself, was already noted by Emile Masqueray, F orrrntion dRS 
are dJez les jJOJJUlatitn st!dentaires de 1'A 19frie (paris, 1886) and conveyed to Durkheim, again without the term itself, by 
his teacher N. Fustel de Coulanges, La ate antique (numerous editions). Gellner, A rI1:hrujxhgy am Paitic;: Reulutians in 
the StlCI'e£i Grme, p. 163. Though, at least for the case of West Africa, Fortes and Evans-Pritchard seemed to have 
deliberately neglected the presence of states and empires to propagate their segmentary scheme, see Elizabeth 
Tonkin, 'Borderline questions: people and space in West Africa', In Hastings Donnan and Thomas M. Wlison (eds.), 
Border Apprauhs: A ~Apprauhs on Frontiers (Lanham, 1994), pp. 15-30, p. 21. 
168 As Reid writes in another context, idem, Scutheast A SUI in the A ~ if Corrm:rce, 1450-1680. V dunx T uo: Expamion 
am Crisis, p. 122. 
169 Ibid., pp. 263-265. In a similar vein Tambiah finds evidence that polities contemporary to Buddha could be 
" ... better described as segmentary states with ranked lineages rather than as democratic and republican in Western 
terms." Tambiah, Warid Onqueroram WaridRermrrer, p. 48. 
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that may be defined narrowly in relation to military actions and legal sanctions, could under no 

circumstances be understood in isolation. They were based on interlocking social systems 

transgressing their highly unstable political boundaries, and made the drawing of the latter to a 

certain degree into a wanton matter.170 The mobility of African people made rights over persons 

important not over things, borders had less importance which in turn was assigned to key points 

and centres rather than to bounded space,171 and again is congruent to Tambiah's findings that we 

discussed above, that, as we have just leamed, have to be qualified by our own evidence and 

Reids' that several clans could rule a territory in a pluralist way. 

In Chapter Four we shall hear more on the political constitution of the populations 

inhabiting the Naga hills with the help of more later dating evidence and literature. Here it shall 

suffice to liken contemporary Angami polity to segmentary political systems described elsewhere 

at other times. Without further research in oral histotj72 (and maybe not even with that) we will 

not be able to pin down how exactly the Angamis then were politically constituted. 

Yet from what was hitherto discussed it should have become clear that there existed no 

such social and ritual ties or relations with the newly on the scene arrived British conquerors. The 

British were clearly located outside the social systems, perceived as radically different and as 

predatory. This may account for the general resistance that was rallied to oppose British 

intrusion. Like Boehm's Montenegrins the Angamis united to fight this obvious Other. Although 

they fought in a decentralised way, they not only concerted their actions to a certain degree but 

also hit at their enemy's bases and allies. The totality of armed interactions and confrontations 

can safely be called war, according to modem definitions.173 That the Angamis in general avoided 

high numbers of casualties was in accord with the then practised warfare in Southeast Asia that 

for one avoided the wasting of precious manpower,174 but also becomes understandable from the 

fact that it was fought along real or fictional kinship ties that, as was explained above, did not 

allow for the idea of dying for a higher good. That the Angamis surrendered relatively easy in 

1880 can be ascribed to the fact that it was outside their imagination that the British would want 

to stay.175 They surely must have thought that this campaign, as all the ones before, was a 

170 Fortes and Evans-Pritchard, 'Introduction', pp. 17-23. 
171 Tonkin, 'Borderline questions: people and space in West Africa'. 
172 To be sure Visier Sanyu, A History if N aff1S am N afj1L:zm Dymrrics if Oral Tradition £n V illa~ F arrrntion (New Delhi, 
1996) is a study in oral history of Khonoma and Kohima, but thoroughly lacks a critical interrogation of his findings. 
He neither cross-checks them with historical sources, nor does he (to any satisfying extent) embed them theoretical. 
173 See Istvan Kende, 'Terrorism, wars, nuclear holocaust', Int:ern::ttional Social Sciem: jam?ai110, 1986, pp. 529-538. 
174 To name again Reid, Sattheast A sia in theA~ ifCarm:rre, 1450-1680. V durrr Ch:- The Lands biowthe Mnds, pp. 17-
18 and 120-124 and Douglas M Peers, 'Introduction', In idem (ed.), Wa:t/areamEnpires: Omtactardrorflia Ix1:u.ren 
E trropean am rvn-E wopean rriJitary am mzritinl! faras am adtures. (An Expanding World: The European Impact on 
World History, 1450-1800: Vol. 24, Aldershot, 1997), pp. XV-XXXIV. 
175 What was also one of the reasons for the easy conquest of Vietnam by the French:" ... the court did not fully 
understand the intentions of the French, thinking that since they came from so far away they would be interested 
only in obtaining certain trade advantages rather than conquering the country and occupying it by force." Ngo Vmh 
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temporary affair, and that the British, once they had received their tribute and were assured of 

allegiance, would return back to where they had come from. In other words, the surrender in the 

1880s meant something else for the Angamis than for the British. The actual surrender of the 

Angamis was not a punctual affair but a slow process of disbelief and realisation, a successive 

accommodation to the presence of the foreign occupants. The rather light administration that the 

British kept up, once the Angami hills were pacified, certainly helped the people to acquiesce to 

It. 

In order to investigate further into the reasons for resistance, I want to make another 

leap, right into our century. In Summer 2001 I conducted interviews with several Nagas in 

London. One of my main interviewees was Mr. Yong Kong, an elderly Ao Naga gentleman who 

came to London in the early 1960s to support Zaphu Angami Phizo, the pivotal figure of Naga 

nationalism, of whom we will hear more later, in his struggle to make the Naga case publicly 

known. My main interest was to find out why the Nagas had taken up arms against the Indian 

state and remained fighting after nearly 50 years. I had met him already for the third day and 

continued to come back to the point why the Nagas had given in to the British and why suddenly 

they demanded independence from the Indians. I argued in an awfully hair-splitting way and 

managed to get him furious, but suddenly, leaving all the proximate reasons aside, he very angrily 

said: 

No, you see, what outside world, or even people like you, do not understand is the Nagas are not 

fighting for independence, they are defending their territory, their territory, if your country is 

invaded.J76 

As Walker Connor writes: " ... grasping the obvious has always been a problem for academics and 

policy-makers."177 There is a difference between "fighting for independence" and "defending 

one's territory' , or homeland as Connor would term it.178 I would say that the Angamis from the 

1830s to 1880 were defending their territory, the occupation was not yet effected, every one 

could see the actual act of violent penetration and out of place of the foreign conquerors. Yet, 

since the British were very thinly present in the Naga hills, the subsequently subjugated groups 

could somehow arrange themselves with their ineffective rule. Though they had lost their 

political freedom, for most of the time they retained their individual one. The case was different 

with the sudden influx of Indian personnel in the aftermath of the transfer of power. Now, their 

Long, 'Vietnam: The Real Enemy', Bulletinc/OJrremxlAsianSdxiars, Vo!. 21, Nos. 2-41 April-Dec. 1989, pp. 6-34, p. 
7. 
176 Interview with Yong Kong, London, 7th August 2001. 
177 Walker Connor, 'Homelands in a World of States', In Montserrat Guibemau and John Hutchinson (eds.), 
Unlerstaniir7i5Nationalism(Cambridge, 2001), pp. 53-73, p. 60. 
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land was really taken away, of course there were other factors too, but here it is to stress that 

what happened in 1947, and before in 1849 and 1879, were invasions, only that by 1947 the 

Nagas already knew that the Indians came to stay. We will come back to this in Chapter Six. Here 

I simply want to suggest that the reason for the Angamis fighting the British in 1849/50 as in 

1879/80 was that they defended their territory. As Connor has demonstrated not only intra- but 

also inter-state wars were and are fought by individuals on grounds what he calls homeland 

psychology and which in turn eludes cold academic analysis: "Psychological perceptions of 

homelands and the emotions to which they give rise are the stuff that dreams - and nigjJtrmres -
are made of.,,179 

Until now we repeatedly stated that wars were not fought for land, that populations 

simply moved away in case of an attack 180 How then can I claim that the Angamis and later the 

Nagas fought to defend their territory? One factor might have been that the villages of the 

Nagas, other than those of their plains neighbours, were in general heavily built and resembled 

fonresses with a high labour input, the same was (and still is) true for the terraced rice fields of 

the Angamis. Yet the solution to our impasse may lie rather more in the fact that the lowland 

peasants simply moved from one polity and ruler to another, in case of a threat, or a too 

oppressive regime, or they were forcibly moved. That is to say for lowland inhabitants it was (and 

still is) the normal state of affairs to live under one or the other regime. Hill people, on the other 

hand, lived in these "peripheral areas" in conscious opposition to and rejection of lowland 

tutelage as Gibson has stated for three Southeast Asian people.181 In Schiller's Wtlhelm Tell WaIter 

asks his father Tell whether there existed countries where no mountains were and Tell confinning 

this describes the plains to him in the most lush detail. WaIter then with incomprehension queries 

why they then should toil and fear in the mountains instead of quickly descending into the 

paradisiacal lowland. Tell explains to him that the fields, forests, lakes and rivers of the plains 

belong not to the people themselves but to the king and church, and that the people in turn 

receive protection instead of bravely protecting themselves. Thus sobered WaIter replies that he 

staned to feel rather confined in the wide plains and in this case preferably would live under the 

threat of avalanches and glaciers.182 The Angamis, like the Swiss and Montenegrins, inhabited a 

178 Ibid. 
179 Ibid., pp. 58-60 and quote p. 72. Though I agree with the general line of this argument I feel the need to qualify 
the total emotional commitment implied by this interpretation, and would say that many soldiers fight with less 
enthusiasm than is generally attributed to them, and possibly only because they are forced to in several ways and then 
also very likely for other reasons like for immediate comradeship or self-defence. However, in my case of the 
Angamis here the incentive to fight is not a remote or abstract one mediated by politicians and officers, but an 
immediate and nearly individual defence of one's home and family. 
180 See for example Reid, ScutheastAsia in theAlJ! cfCorrm:rce, 1450-1680. V dum! Tun: Expansion ani Crisis, pp. 89-90. 
181 Thomas Gibson, 'Raiding, trading, and tribal autonomy in insular Southeast Asia', In Jonathan Haas (ed.), The 
A~cfWar(Cambridge, 1990), pp. 125-145. 
182 Friedrich Schiller, Wzlhdm Tdl (Stuttgart, 1979 [1804], pp. 61-62. 
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refuge-area, had a distinct sense of their individual and collective autonomy and were conscious 

about the fact that their freedom depended on the inaccessibility of their territory that they, in 

turn, were willing to defend. The defence was conducted by every man, voluntarily, since 

everyone was one's own master, fighting for one's own independence. Their "high military 

participation" foreshadowed in this later national armies. And to bring the female side in, the 

band of brothers will have been encouraged by their mothers, sisters, wives, and wives to be, as 

Gertrud in Schiller's Tell sweeps away her husband's hesitation to fight with her affirmation that 

they (the Swiss), too, are men (and maybe that he should not make her question that), that they 

also know how to handle a battle-axe, and that god helps the brave: "Ihr seid aum :Manner, wisset 

eure Axt Zu fiihren, und dem Mutigen hilft Gott!"183 Gertrud's husband was left with neither 

choice nor excuse. While in the lowlands legitimacy trickled down to the people from the god­

king, in the hills it was constituted out of the consensus of the collective will and at all times open 

to negotiation, a fact bringing us to our last point in this chapter. 

2.6 Nationalism, nothing new in the west 

Assamese historiography, in trying to trace back the prehistoric racial and genetic core of the 

Nagas in order to demonstrate their mixed origin,184 serviced the project of a greater Assam. The 

same is true, for their opposite number. Naga scholars too feel the need to legitimise present-day 

demands for recognition as a separate nation with the demonstration of Naga foreign relations 

going back to the third century AC185 Both claims follow the logic of nationalism that demands 

a nation in order to legitimately set up a state, i.e. a nation-state. A nation, in turn, must be 

presented as something like an endogamous kinship group that has already existed from time 

immemorial. 

Following the same logic are efforts to find historical sources purportedly relating to the 

Nagas in Vedic or ancient Greek or Chinese sources that,186 though interesting per se, and 

demonstrating the long history of settlement in those hills, will yet not have been the decisive 

element in the formation of Naga polities in the eighteenth and nineteenth century and thus 

neither can be made accountable for the resistance to the British, nor, for that matter, for the 

183 Schiller, Wzlhdm Tell, p. 15, italic in the original. 
184 Like H K. Barpujari is doing in his 'Introduction'to the first volume of idem (ed.). The Cnrrpn:hensiu: History if 
Assam Vd L· Fromtkfu.historic Tims to the Twifth CenturyA.D., pp. 1-24, trying to reconstruct the history of Assam 
with the anthropometric pseudo-science of so-called races, comparing hair types and asking for genetic studies to 
clarify why, for example, the Nagas are not homogeneous (17). To use Assamese sources in relation to the Nagas is 
problematic, since in their histories two directly competing national narratives are meeting. We are warned when we 
see that someone seriously refers and uses still anthropometric data, as we are when we read that writing and 
compiling this comprehensive history of Assam is a task of national importance as is Satish Bhattacharyya doing in 
his 'Publishers Note' (pp. V-VI) and H K. Barpujari in his 'Preface' (IX-XII) to the above mentioned volume. 
185 Shirnmi, Canparatiu: History if tk Narps: FromA rr:ient Perial Ti111826. 
186 D. C Sircar, 'Epico-Puraanic Myths and Allied Legends', In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The Cnrrpn:hensiu: History if 
Assam From the Pre-historic Tim:s to tk Twifth CenturyA.D. (Guwahati, 1990), pp. 81-82 and 88. 
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formation of modem Naga nationalism and resistance to Indian occupation in the twentieth 

century. 

This school of thought implicitly carries the notion that there are discrete biologically 

self-reproducing groups that share and possess a distinct language and culture, a congruence of 

race, language and culture, whose bearers should make up one society, its nation, and in turn be 

granted with its territory, its nation-state.187 Glltures and their bearers travelled through time in 

an unadulterated way" ... they could not mix, they had hard edges like billiard balls."188 Yet since 

there is no scientific way to determine who belongs to what people, ethnic group, or nation, such 

undertakings in the end boil down to a blatant racist point of view and always are the product of 

politics.189 

Frank Proschan takes the widespread existence of orally transmitted myths of origin in 

highland Southeast Asia as evidence for the existence of autochthonous, i.e. pre-colonial, 

conceptualisations of ethnicities that he considers as primary and the colonial influence as 

secondary, in opposition to Benedict Anderson. The myths decidedly conceptualise and represent 

a world of common humanity, that is pluralistic, multiethnic, multilinear and inegalitarian in 

which different groups may be differentiated according to phenotype, cultural markers, social 

status, economic opportunity, technological knowledge, and, and this is important for us, political 

authority.190 Butler, if we remember, related to us such a kind of myth prevalent among the 

Angamis in the first half of the eighteenth century, and thus alone could suffice to support us in 

our statement that the Angamis had a conception of themselves as different and that this under 

any circumstances included a political notion of them as well. Proschan draws support from 

Ronald R Atkinson who, with the help of oral history, re-constructed the pre-colonial: 

... ideological underpinnings and sociohistorical processes that contributed to the development ... ( ... )[ of 

a] common social order and political culture ... over almost all of what is now the Acholi District of 

Uganda - processes that laid fundamental foundations and set crucial parameters for the further 

187 For this doctrine mostly the German Romantic is blamed. See Isaiah Berlin's essays on the romantic school and 
on nationalism in his The Crcxlerrl TirrkrifHurrnnity. CJJapters in the History if Ideas (London, 1990 [1959] and on 
nationalism in his 'Nationalism: Past Neglect and Present Power', In A f(f1,inst the Omen!: E SSa)5 in the History if Ideas 
(London, 1997 [1959]. Berlin credits Herder with having created the basis for nationalist thinking. The central 
writings of Herder for this are: J ohann Gottfried Herder, ~ l:i?arxlJ.zmg Ukr den Ursprtmg, der S pradJe. ' (Stuttgart, 1966) 
and idem, A um ein! plJiJaophie der GeschUhte zur Bildurtg der M ersd?heit (Frankfurt am Main, 1967). 
188 Edmund Leach, 'Tribal Ethnography: past, present, future', In Elizabeth Tonkin et al (eds,), History ardE thnidty 
(London, 1989), pp. 34-47, p. 43, 
189 dlarles Keyes, 'Presidential Address: "The Peoples of Asia" - Science and Politics in the Oassification of Ethnic 
Groups in Thailand, dlina, and Vietnam', TheJourrnJ if A sian Studies 61, no. 4 (November 2002): pp. 1163-1203. 
Keyes asserts that this was especially true for the modem nation-state, In pre-nationalism time the markers for 
people were either related" ... to either Sinitic or Buddhist civilization, locality and kinship, not biology or even 
spoken language" (p. 1171). 
190 FrankProschan, 'Peoples of the Gourd: Imagined Ethnicities in Highland Southeast Asia', TheJourrnJ if Asian 
Studies 60, no, 4 (November 2001), p. 999-1032. 
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evolution of Acholi societal fonnation and ethnic consciousness over the nineteenth and twentieth 

centuries.191 

Atkinson's central point is that we have to go back to pre-colonial times to understand the effect 

(and maybe the approach also) of colonial workings. Acholi by the mid- to late seventeenth 

century was characterised by kinship based groups inhabiting single-village political communities, 

with occasional multi-village groupings. At that time it constituted a " ... multicultural frontier 

region ... " in which the inhabitants shared common features but did not fonn a single society. 

This changed with immigration in the course of the eighteenth century when new populations 

brought with them the new ideas and institutions of chiefship that brought about increased 

centralisation what in turn resulted in the processes described in the previous quote. l92 

Prasenjit Duara argues that to conceptualise political identity as only modem is wrong, 

and criticises the notion 

... that nationalism is a radically novel mode of consciousness. . .. because this position ignores the 

complexity of the nature of historical memory and causality and because it remains tied to the idea of 

self-consciousness as a uniquely modem phenomenon. In neither modem nor premodem society is it 

possible to sustain the notion of a unified consciousness presumed by the concept of nationalism.193 

Rather, so he continues: 

And: 

Whether in India or China, people historically identified with different representations of 

communities, and when these identifications became politicized, they came to resemble what is called 

modem "national identities.194 

I will argue that there were totalizing representations and narratives of community with which people 

identified historically and with which they may continue to identify into the modem nation. Of course, 

premodem political identifications do not necessarily or teleologically develop into the national 

identifications of modem times and there are significant ruptures with the past. A new vocabulary and 

a new political system - the world system of nation-states - selects, adapts, reorganizes and even 

recreates these older representations. But the historical memory of <lrchaic totalizations does not 

191 Ronald R Atkinson, The Roots ifEthnit.ity The Origjns if theAdxli ifUfjJrr:Ia Br/are 1800 (philadelphia, 1994), p. 1. 
192 Ibid., pp. 66-8I. 
193 Prasenjit Duara, Resaa1f5 History from the N atinrr QtestiorJing N arrati7.es if M aIem China (QJ.icago, 1995), pp. 51-52. 
For bringing my attention to both, Atkinson and Duara, I am indebted to the article of Proschan. 
194 Ibid., p. 54. 
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always disappear, and as this memory is periodically re-enacted, it often provides potent material along 

which to mobilize the new community.195 

The Tengima group of the later Angamis and Nagas, as becomes evident from our data, 

constituted such a politicised community that according to Duara qualifies as nation. Since 

Walker Connor sees passive resistance to an authority that is perceived as foreign as sufficient 

evidence for the existence of popular national consciousness, and hence the existence of a 

nation,t96 the here demonstrated prolonged and sustained violent resistance to the British 

invasion by the Tengimas might then surely suffice to proof my point. The Naga hills were home 

to a whole range of political identities whose bearers were conscious on themselves as on that 

fact. How and that these identities transformed into a larger one was not due to some genes but 

to history and it will be this history that will form the subject of the remaining chapters of this 

thesis. 

2.7 Conclusion 

Hill people, as has become evident here, were consClOUS on the fact that their lowland 

neighbours were superior in numbers, arms and organisation to them, and that it was the 

inaccessibility and undesirability of their territory that protected them from permanent 

subjugation, if not from occasional devastating invasions. Hence they were cautious not to 

unnecessarily provoke the wrath of their mighty neighbours. So far we have seen that the extent 

and number of raids carried out by the Angamis was greatly exaggerated by the men on the spot, 

the murderous zone a product of their reports. We have evidence of sometimes two, sometimes 

one, but also of none violent assaults a year. Attacks that have been mixtures of raids for 

property and testing one's manliness, and such exclusively to attain heads and limbs of victims to 

ensure fertility for the fields. Also, we have clearly political operations aiming at British forces, 

their bases, or as sanctions against subordinate villages for not opposing the British intruder. 

Finally, we witnessed a power struggle between two of the more powerful clans, a fight that must 

have been greatly exasperated by the additional firepower gained with either directly winning 

British support or the acquisition of guns, when we remember the fortress-like villages. However, 

the two years peace from 1847 to 1849 show that the Angamis for one had decided to give in to 

the British, if only for the moment, and that this must have been understood by all Angami clans, 

or they were made to understand by the stronger clans. This period of intensified communication 

between British held territory and Angamis, in a way a blind spot, since peace makes bad, in the 

sense of few, news, must have greatly enlarged the knowledge of the Angamis on their white vis-

195 Ibid., pp. 55-56. 
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a-vis, and thus influenced their decisions in their dealings with them. On the other hand the 

pattern of the interaction will in general have followed the one the Angarnis had with the central 

organised predecessors of the British. The point here is to reiterate that neither feuding nor 

headhunting were automatic reflexes of Angarni culture but subject to political considerations 

and decision-making.197 Further, that the Angarni hills were, at the time we are concerned with 

here, a polity organised in a segmentary way, in which clans may have split and rivalled with each 

other for domination, in which clans also may have called in outside allies for support in this 

internal power struggle, but on the understanding that these outsiders never wanted to stay on 

permanently. In this the Angarnis simply mirrored the alliance politics of their lowland 

neighbours. Finally, that the Angarnis were conscious about themselves as being different and 

separate in a political way, and thus determined to govern themselves, as may be surely deducted 

from the concerted and determined resistance to the British invasion. This resistance easily 

renders the whole sum of events from 1849 to 1851 liable to be qualified as war, respectively of 

conquest or resistance, depending on ones point of view, but confirming the notion of two 

opposed polities. 

196 Walker Connor, 'The timelessness of nations', Nat:i0r5 aniNatianalism 10 (1/2), 2004, pp. 35-47, p. 46, note 9. 
197 These are central statements of both Boehm's BloxlRer.erTiJ?and Rosaldo's I~ HeaIhunting. 
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Chapter Three 

Imperial Conquest and Withdr.lwal, 1860s-1947 

3.1 Introduction 

The concerted resistance of the Tengima group of the Angami Nagas and the limited interest of 

the British in the Naga hills brought about a change in British policy by 1851. Pivotal in this 

decision to call back the imperial personnel from the Naga hills was the then governor general 

Dalhousie who was not disinclined to entertain an aggressive forward policy, as can be seen, for 

instance, from his handling of the neighbouring Burma case unfolding at the same time.! This 

chapter explains the Naga hills' place in the British empire during the time of "high imperialism", 

documents and delineates the partial conquest of the Naga hills and the type of regime the British 

set up there, and their eventual retreat. 

3.2 Imperialism Unbound 

Chapter One located the reasons for British expansion into Naga territory in the general ideology 

of the empire, in the search for ever new revenues to finance a military-fiscal state that had 

resulted out of the incessant warfare among competing European states at the global leveL In this 

respect the picture didn't change much from the middle of the nineteenth century onwards. 

Quite to the contrary, once acquired, the fact of empire created an understanding of the British 

of themselves as an imperial race, and the more the real empire was falling to pieces the more 

British greatness and empire-being was enacted, evoked, and asserted2 

To be more precise, global competition between European states provided the main 

incentive for attacks on extra-European countries leading to massive territorial occupations in the 

time between 1760-1830.3 Geopolitics, though a little more relaxed in the post-1815 period, 

continued to shape British foreign policy and often provided the impulse for territorial 

1 A policy already criticised by a contemporary, see Richard Cobden, HawwTS are gx up in Irdia: the arirjn if the Burmse 
wr (London, 1853). Besides Lower Bunna, Dalhousie also had annexed Punjab, Oudh, Nagpur, Berar and Satara, in 
order to add " ... profitable revenue-bearing territory ... ", see E. T. Stokes, 'Bureaucracy and Ideology: Britain and India 
in the Nmeteenth Century', Trarsactions if the Rayd Histarica1 Sa:iety, Fifth Series, Vol. 30, London 1980, pp. 131-156, 
p.153. 
2 David Cannadine, 'The Context, Performance and Meaning of Ritual: The British Monarchy and the "Invention of 
Tradition", c. 1820-1977', In Eric Hobsbawm and T erence Ranger (eds.), The Imertion if Tradition (Cambridge, 1983), 
pp. 101-164, p. 153ff. 
3 C. A Bayiy, 'The First Age of Global Imperialism, c. 1760-1830', The Joorml ifIrrperial ani OJrrmJnuealth History, 
Vol. XXVI, May 1998, No. 2, pp. 28-47. See also Nicholas Tarling, InperialisminSootheastAsia: j4 f/u;tirT& passirrg, 
phase' (London and New York, 2001), chapters 1 and 2. 
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expansion. This drive was heightened again by renewed imperial rivalries after 1870.4 Adhering to 

the same logic, British cabinet members' war aims in World War One were the dismantling of 

rival empires and the enlargement of their own, an attitude that Edwin S. Montagu, secretary of 

state for India, found quite agonising: 

... equally acquisitive [as his cabinet colleagues] was the rounded Lord On-zon who for historical 

reasons of which he alone is master and geographical considerations of which he has peculiarly 

studied, finds reluctantly, very much against his will, that it would be dangerous if any country in the 

world is left to itself, or in control of any other country but ourselves, and we must go there, as I have 

heard him say, 'for diplomatic, economic, strategic and telegraphic reasons'.5 

Even after World War Two neither US-Americans nor Europeans wanted to de-colonise Asia 

and Africa but faced with the Cold War planned to exchange formal for informal contro1.6 

Certainly also for this later period, generally described as high imperialism, reasons for 

empire are not only seen to be rooted in geopolitics: one approach fuses metropolitan geopolitics 

and peripheral interests, seeing the first as the driving force and the second as shaping the 

peculiar fonn of the actual outcome;7 another one argues in favour of the decisive role the 

personnel of the proconsuls played in the overseas possessions;8 then there is still the reasoning 

for British finance being the driving and detennining force behind British imperialism and its 

disengagement;9 furthennore, we come across the factor of imperial politics serving home and 

party political interests in an age of increased suffrage;lO and we encounter an ideological 

hardening, the belief in the racial superiority of the British race having the duty to rule others for 

their own good, resulting from the facticity of an extensive existing empire and the necessity to 

4 Andrew Porter, 'Introduction: Britain and the Empire in the Nmeteenth Century', In idem (ed.), The Oxford History 
if the British Errpire, Vd /Il, TheNirmrmth Ontury(Oxford, 1999), pp. 1-28. For the decisive importance of 
geopolitics in British Foreign policy, see also Ronald Hyam, 'The Primacy of Geopolitics: The Dynamics of British 
Imperial Policy, 1763-1963', Thejam7tli iflrrperid ani Ccmmm.t.Pdth History, Vol. XXVII, May 1999, No. 2, pp. 27-52. 
Marvin Swartz believes that from 1865 onwards the decision-makers of the British empire already saw themselves 
challenged by a new round of global competition, see idem., The pditics if British foreign pdicy in the era if Disraeli am 
GladsUn (New York, 1985), pp. 6 and 12. 
5 Q. John S. Galbraith, 'British War Aims in World War I: A Commentary on "Statesmanship"', Thejanrnl iflrrperid 
ani ClJrrmJnuealth History, Vol. XIII, October 1984, No. 1, pp. 25-45, p. 25. 
6 Ronald Robinson, 'Wm. Roger Louis and the Official Mind of Decolonization', The janrnl if Irrperid am 
CJJrnrrumu:alth History, Vol. XXVII, May 1999, No. 2, pp. 1-12, p. 9. Wm. Roger Louis and Ronald Robinson, 'The 
imperialism of decolonization', Thejanrnl iflrrperid am 0xrmJnueaJth History, Vol. XXII, 1994, No. 3, pp. 462-511, 
p. 493. British military advisors, for example, were still around in India and Pakistan after the transfer of power. H 
W. Brands 'India and Pakistan in American Strategic Planning, 1947-54: The Commonwealth as O:>llaborator', The 
janrnl iflrrperialam Cnrnrrvnw?alth History, Vol. XV, October 1986, No. 1, pp. 41-54. 
7 Hyam, 'The Prirnacyof Geopolitics: The Dynamics of British Imperial Policy, 1763-1963'. 
8 John Benyon, 'Overlords of Empire? British 'Proconsular Imperialism' in Comparative Perspective', Thejanrnl if 
IrrperialamComrrJmimlthHistory, VoL XIX, 1991, No. 2, pp. 164-202. 
9 P. J. Cain and A G. Hopkins, British Irrperidism m I: Inrx:f1JUionamExparrsitm, 1688-1914; Vd 2: Crisis ani 
D«I.J11Struction, 1914-1990 (London, 1993). Albeit heavily criticised for oversimplification and mono-causality by D. K. 
Fieldhouse, 'Gentlemen, Capitalists, and the British Empire', Thejam7tli iflrrperid ani O:Jrmvrrr.u?alth History, Vol. 
XXII, 1994, No. 3, pp. 531-541. 
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justify that. ll 1hat is to say, really new, compared to what we encountered in Olapter One, 

seemed only to be the latter two rationales. Hence, even more so as with what Bayly has called 

the first age of global imperialism, the reasons for empire during the age of "high imperialism" 

were equally profound as they were diverse, or as Uday Singh Mehta puts it: 

The empire was a complex phenomenon infonned by the multiple purposes of power, commerce, 

cultural and religious influence, and the imperatives of progress, along with the myriad subsidiary 

motives of pride, jealousy, compassion, curiosity, adventure, and resistance.12 

Hence it would be absurd, in David Cannadine's words, to reduce a phenomenon as complex as 

the British empire to single causes that are supposed to be applicable across the imperial period 

and for all affected places, as well as for all involved processes and events. Rather, it was the 

study of factors in isolation leading to a neglect of scrutiny of " ... essential connections between 

overseas expansion, foreign policy, international relations and great-power rivalries ... ".13 An 

integral approach bringing the strands together concludes that in principle mid-Victorian British 

imperial expansionism knew no limits, but was constrained by the practical considerations a 

widely overstretched power had to make that at best " ... enjoyed an extra-European 'semi­

hegemony - a series of discontinuous regional hegemonies." 14 It were therefore limitations in 

power that tamed an otherwise unbound and all-out British drive for expansionism. 

Though it is an important lesson to learn that there existed a (near) pan-British 

acceptance of, a dedication to, and an desire for British imperialism, and that this ambition was 

only curbed by a lack of means, and it might help to explain why which territories were annexed 

or not, subjected to informal control or not, it does not absolve us from looking into the 

intricacies of every single case, since the mixture of motivations and factors for the followed up 

policies varied and determined the actual outcome and petformance of, for example, a respective 

imperial occupation. To phrase it differently, if we want to understand a certain territory and its 

people under imperialism and after, as is the case for this work, we do best to look into the 

details of the given case, and then embed it into the wider field. 1his sounds trivial, but I think 

we might be able to make statements about British imperialism by comparing supetficially several 

cases of British imperial holdings, but we will only be able to do the same on the respective 

10 Swartz, The pditUs if British foreigrt pdicy in the era if Disradi ani Gladsun, especially chapter 6, pp. 123-144. 
11 R J. Moore, Likralismaniln!ianPditUs, 1872-1922 (London, 1966), passim. For the connection between 
democracy and racism in the 1860s and 1870s, see also Thomas R Metcalf, 'Ideologies of the Raj', The NewCa~ 
Histaryifln:/ia, Vol. Ill, 4 (Cambridge, 1994), pp. 56-59 and Hugh Tinker, V~ Oozon toMamthttten {K.arachi, 
1997), pp. 45-46. 
12 UdaySingh Mehta, LikralismaniEnpire- Irdia in British Likral7fxught (New Delhi, 1999), p. 1. 
13 David Cannadine, 'Empire', In idem, HistarylnCMr Tinr (New Haven and London, 1998), pp. 143-154. 
14 John Darwin, 'Imperialism and the Victorians: The Dynamics of Territorial Expansion' E Yfiish Historicd Reciew, 
om (1997), pp. 614-642, p. 628. 
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holdings when we have examined their pre-colonial time, as well as having looked into their 

specific cases of colonial subjugation and occupation, precisely if we want to understand their 

post-colonial predicament. That is to say we understand the particular only against the general, 

but it is also necessary to conduct detailed case studies in order to fathom the general, or as Bayly 

puts it: "The effects of imperialism are as much part of its character as its causes.,,15 

The conquest of India was the result of the war with France. Once it had been conquered 

Its paramount significance and considerations of how to protect it and how to ensure the 

communication with it determined the conquest of new temtories that served either as buffer or 

support bases for either military or trade.16 Taking this into account, the importance of the Raj 

for the empire in its material and psychological effect might explain the general reluctance to let 

go of it.17 India was only surrendered since it was becoming ungovernable, the Indian army seen 

as unreliable and authoritarian rule thus not possible,18 since this then would have involved 

massive military action and cost,19 and would furthermore not have been condoned by the United 

States on which the British then depended.20 In this particular case it was the shifting balance in 

power to the advantage of the Indian independence movements that forced the British to yield, 

otherwise it held true what Burke, according to Mehta, had already been conscious about: 

"Another people's independence ... is always the limiting point of our vision - the darkness that 

reason does not illuminate."21 

15 Bayiy, 'The First Age of Global Imperialism, c. 1760-1830', p. 29. 
16 Hyam, 'The Primacy of Geopolitics: The Dynamics of British Imperial Policy, 1763-1963', p. 32 and 38-39. About 
the paramount value of the raj for the British, in general see Benyon, 'Overlords of Empire? British "Proconsular 
Imperialism" in Comparative Perspective', pp. 168-169 and 173-175; in financial respect see Cain and Hopkins, 
British lrrperialism, u:1. L' Ir7ID1.lltionarriExpansion, 1688·1914, chapter 10, pp. 316-350; in respect to deliver the means 
to great power status, see D. A Washbrook, 'India, 1818-1860: The Two Faces Of Colonialism', In Andrew Porter 
(ed.), The OxfardHistoryifthe British Enpire, Vd. Ill, The Ninketi:h Ort:ury(Oxford, 1999), pp. 395-420, p. 419; or 
India's crucial importance for Britain's imperial defence, even after WWII, see Pradeep Barua, 'Strategies and 
Doctrines of Imperial Defence: Britain and India, 1919-45', TheJcum:d iflrrperial arri Cnmum.tPaith History, Vol. 
XXV, May 1997, No. 2, pp. 240-266; and for a combination of these reasons, see RobinJ. Moore, 'Imperial India, 
1858-1914', In AndrewPorter (ed.), The OxfordHistoryifthe British Errpire, Vd. Ill, The Nin:trenth Ontury(Oxford, 
1999), pp. 422-446, pp. 441-443 and Judith M Brown, 'India', In idem (ed.), The OxfardHistory if the British Errpire, 
Vd. IV, The Tv.entieth Century (Oxford, 1999), pp. 421-446, p. 426. 
17 A P. Thomton, 'With Wavell on to Simla and Beyond', The Jannal iflrrperial arri Cw1rurruedth History, Vol. VIII, 
October 1979, No. 2, pp. 175-185. 
18 P. J. Marshall, 'The Transfer of Power in India: Lord Wavell and his Political Masters' (Review Article), TheJcum:d 
iflrrperial arri CnmmrmealthHistory, Vol. V, October 1976, No. 1, pp. 331-334 and Tinker, Vireroy Otrzanto 
M ou:ntl:w:ten, p. 207ff. 
19 But this did not mean that Labour was willed or even planned to surrender the rest of the empire, nor that it 
relinquished further imperial enterprises. Far from that, the imperial idea by then had firmly taken root among 
Labour. Kenneth O. Morgan, 'Imperialists at Bay: British Labour and Decolonization', TheJcum:d iflrrperial arri 
Cnmmrmealth History, Vol. XXVII, May 1999, No. 2 ,pp. 233·244. 
20 Louis and Robinson, 'The imperialism of decolonization', pp. 464·466. 
21 Mehta, LikralismarriErrpire: lrrlia in British Likral7hatfiJt, p. 39. 
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3.3 Return to the Naga HiUs 

The renewed British forward policy leading to the partial annexation and occupation of the Naga 

hills is explained in retrospect by the failure of the policy of non-interference. The retreat into the 

plains and protection of the frontier had proved itself unfeasible. More than 150 people, whom 

the British considered as their subjects, were reported to have either been killed or abducted in 

1851 alone. In 1854 Manipur invaded the Angami hills and the Angamis in turn asked the British 

for protection which was declined. The British shortened their line of defence, but were still 

unable to defend North Cachar, which remained subject to incursions by the Angamis. The 

proposal was made to give up North Cachar and the district commissioner (DO of Assam 

approved it. Yet, this was rejected by the then lieutenant governor of Bengal Sir C Beadon/2 who 

did not like the idea of giving in to "wild tribes".z3 The reality of the raids and the direction they 

came from should not be taken at face value, since these reports were certainly bent to suit the 

personnel of the garrison state and condoned by the presence of interests, transcending the field 

of Assam, for instance the competition with the colonial rival France in neighbouring Southeast 

Asia, the surge for trade routes in Assam, and possibly also the search for oil in Upper Burma. 

In 1866 it was again Sir Cecil Beadon who had vetoed the surrender of North Cachar and it was 

thereon suggested to move the head-quarters from Asalu back to Samaguting to again close in 

onto the Angamis.24 This suggestion was made by lieutenant colonel J.C Haughton, then 

officiating agent to the governor genera~ Northeast Frontier. He had been sent to the Northeast 

Frontier" ... to find a suitable location for an office to manage the Naga tribes, at present under 

our rule ... " ,25 referring to those Nagas living in Cachar. Haughton, after he had made himself a 

picture of the situation on the spot, together with an analysis of the previous correspondence on 

the Angamis, came to the conclusion that an officer, stationed at the frontier, would not be able 

to protect these, due to the inclination of the Nagas, as he saw it, to continuously wage war.26 

Haughton did not believe statements repeatedly made over the years claiming the Angamis would 

refrain from anyaggressions when left unprovoked27 To him, the lack of any perceivable central 

authority among the Angamis alone proved the impossibility of any guarantee to stop the raids.28 

22 Sununarised in 'Office Precis (1875)', In IrxiiaFareignPrrxm/irtgs - PdiJiatJ (IFP-P), VoL P/1035, August 1877, Doe. 
127, p. 124. 
23 Ibid., p. 125. On the other hand the British had other problems in the rnid-1850s and after (the Mutiny in general 
and the wars with the Bhutanese and Mishrnis in the Northeast), so that reports on the Nagas ceased for the time 
being, see Vols. Z/P/1775 and ZlP/1777, Indexes for 1854 and 1855. 
24 IFP-P, Vol. P/1035, Aug. 1877, Doe. 127, p. 125. 
25 IFP-P, Vol. P/ 437 /66, January 1866, Doe. 49, Lieutenant-ColonelJ.C Haughton, Officiating Agent to the 
Governor General, North-East Frontier, to the Hon'ble A Eden, Secretary to Government of Bengal, - No. 60C, 
dated River Soonnah, the 4th January 1864, pp. 174-178, p. 175. 
26 Ibid. 
27 Ibid. 
28 Ibid. 
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Objections against this version were raised by lieutenant Oarke, who at that time was assistant 

commissioner in North Cachar. Several Angamis, serving with him in the North Cachar Police 

Force, insisted that the Angamis were well disposed and that not them but other Nagas were 

responsible for the raids. These protestations should at least caution us towards the real basis for 

this renewed interventionist forward policy. As long as further research has not been able to shed 

more light on this area at that time we might as well take this story as the pretext for conquest, 

since Haughton swept Oarke's objections aside with his observation: "To me all the Nagas 

appeared essentially one people. "29 Haughton even saw the question as to who really was 

responsible for the raids as utterly irrelevant, since he was already convinced that the protection 

of the frontier was not practical like this and that a solution was only to be found in " ... avow[ing] 

our sovereignty over the whole of the Naga tribes not included within Munnipore or Burmah, 

and gradually to bring them to order."30 Legally or morally this did not pose a problem for him, 

for he concluded: "Ever since the first Burmese war, I believe, we have claimed the whole of the 

Angamee and Kutcha Naga territory as within our boundary."31 Conquest by force here clearly 

conveyed legitimacy to the conquistador. 

It was suggested that Samaguting be reoccupied and made into the headquarters for that 

area. Lieutenant Gregory, up to then based in Asalu and in charge of the sub-division North 

Cachar was to be shifted there. This was agreed by the lieutenant governor of Bengal Cecil 

Beadon. Consequently Asalu was abolished as headquarter and a new district was created with 

Gregory as DC, consisting of the part of the fonner Asalu subdivision, lying on the right bank of 

the river Dhansm, and a considerable new stretch of Naga country. The proximate objective was 

the protection of the plains. There was no reason lying for in the hills themselves as we may read 

from the following orders made by the government of India in 1866: 

29 Ibid. 

Lieutenant Gregory may take up the proposed position at Samagooting, and do his best by tact and 

good management, supported by a moderate display of physical force, to bring that portion of the hill 

tract adjacent to the plains into order. He will remember that our main object in having any dealings 

with the hill people is to protect the lowlands from their incursions. Instead, therefore, of exerting 

himself to extend our rule into the interior, he will rather refrain from such a course. Subject to this 

general principle his line of action may advantageously be left in great measure to his own good 

judgement. A conciliatory demeanour will of course be indispensable, and perhaps the expenditure of 

a little money to leading men will be useful. When conciliation fails, punitive measures will not be 

shrunk from. In some instances a blockade of the passes, so as to exclude the offending tribe or 

village from our bazaars, may be attended with good results. But in all cases the great point will be to 

select a penalty suitable to the circumstances of the particular affair. When roads are necessary, they 

30 Ibid., p. 176. 
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must be constructed in a simple and inexpensive manner, just sufficient for the opening of the country 

to the extent actually required.32 

Lieutenant Gregory with a police force of 150 took up position at Samaguting " ... and began the 

work of civilisation."33 The country populated by Nagas was described as being located roughly 

between" .. .longitude 97° on the east to longitude 93° on the west.,,34 The Naga hills district 

(NHD), it said, 

.. .forms it's western extremity. From the eastern frontier of that district the Naga country stretches 

along the Sibsaugor border in a narrowing Strip hemmed in to the southward by the Saramethi and 

Patkoi ranges. At the north-east extremity of Assam it is perhaps thirty miles in depth.35 

Samaguting was connected with Dimapur by a new road36 The move to Samaguting stopped the 

attacks upon the plains, but not the feuds among the Angamis themselves. Yet for the time being 

the British strictly adhered to their policy of non-interference.37 

On 6th February 1874 the districts of Goalpara, Kamrup, Darrang, Nowgong, Sibsagar, 

Lakhimpur, the Khasi and Jaintia Hills, the Naga Hills, the Garo Hills, and the district of Cachar 

were separated from Bengal and turned into a chief commissioner-ship.38 

3.4 Beyond Samaguting 

The renewed move into the heartland of the Angami territory was instigated when in spring 1874 

captain Johnstone, then officiating for captain Butler at Samaguting, took two Naga villages 

under British protection which he saw under an imminent threat of an attack by another Naga 

group. Although the government was aware of the danger of creating a precedent, it was willing 

to accept this extension of protection in case it suited the interest of the already administered 

country.39 Johnstone, in the same year, took a third village under protection and saw this as the 

beginning of the voluntary submission of the Nagas. He was very much of the opinion that the 

Nagas should be taken under British protection to stop the "tribal feuds" and that the Nagas 

31 Ibid. 
32 IFP-P, Vo!. P/1035, August 1877, Doe. 127, p. 125. 
33 Ibid. 
34 Ibid., p. 123. 
35 Ibid. 
361bid., P. 125. 
37 Ibid. 
38 "By a proclamation dated the 6th February 1874, the districts of Goalpara, Kamrup, Darrang, Nowgong, Sibsagar, 
Lakhimpur, the Khasi and J aintia Hills, the Naga Hills, the Garo Hills, and the district of Glchar were separated 
from the administration of the Government of Bengal, and taken under the immediate authority and management of 
the Governor General in Council. Bya notification of the same date they were formed into a Ollef 
Commissionership, Lieutenant-Colonel RH Keatinge ... being appointed the first Ollef Commissioner." Report on 
the Administration of Assam for the year 1921-22. Shillong: Government Press, Assam, 1923, p. 40. 
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themselves would then look to the British "as benefactors."40 Contraty to that, the government 

of Bengal had issued orders in 1872 to leave the Nagas to themselves: 

Any attempt to bring the country between the settled districts of British India and Bunnah under our 

direct administration, even in the loosest way that could be contrived under the Act of Parliament, or 

to govern it as British territory, should be steadily resisted.41 

By 1873 then, the government had extended the mandate to "political control and influence" but 

excluded actual rule. This was done in relation to the establishment of the Sibsagar boundaty.42 In 

March 1875 the chief commissioner (CO of Assam colonel Keatinge suggested continuing with 

what he called the "political occupation" in order to stop feuding.43 Keatinge received permission 

from the secretary of state to extend the British protectorate over certain Angami Naga villages 

on May 3rd 1877.44 In June the same year the government of India informed the secretary of state 

for India that it will have to extend its measures vis-a-vis the Naga tribes" ... in its own interests, 

as well as in those of common humanity." It had decided that the protection of the plains which 

had by then been achieved, did not suffice any more, and that the repression of feuds among the 

tribes across the border that involved massacres and bloodshed, also of women and children, 

would have to be addressed. Moreover, and possibly more important, the rapid extension of tea 

production in the Sibsagar district made it necessary to exert influence over the Nagas further to 

the east. Hence, suggestions were made to shift the headquarters into the interior of the Naga 

hills.4S In addition to the reasons of local importance relevant for the administration on the 

ground, we may assume that the secretary of state's decision to agree with that forward policy 

was guided by a rationale transcending Assam and the Naga hills. Among them were for instance 

the possibility of finding a trade route to China, the speculations about petroleum in Upper 

Burma and the presence of the colonial rival France in neighbouring Indochina, and are reflected 

in contemporary expedition reports.46 Additional reasons that would finally contribute to the 

39 IFP-P, Vol. P/1035, Aug. 1877, Doe. 127, p. 126-127. 
40 Ibid., p. 127. 
41 Ibid., ordered by the Govt. of Bengal in 1872 when the extension of Act 33 Vie., Cap. 3, to Assam was under 
discussion. 
42 Ibid. 
43 Ibid., p. 128. 
44 Ibid., the villages were in the then spelling: "Meziphernah, Sitikernah, Pherimah, Tesephirnah, Jalukernah, 
Phuirnah, Intu, Zowna, Nidzurna, Henima, Thesirna, Injas or Injaorna, and Insang." 
45 Ibid., Doe. 109, Govt. of India to Secretary of State of India, dt. Sirnla, 18th June 1877, pp. 129-130. S. K. Barpujari 
argues that since the 1860s numerous European settler-planters had moved into the hills and mixed with the tribals. 
It was this encroachment that forced the British to a forward policy. The successive extension of tea cultivation and 
the annexation of Upper Burma helped to receive the approval for a further push deeper into the hills by 1886, see S. 
K. Barpujari, 'Pararnountcyin the Hills, 1874-1914', In H K. Barpujari, The~i7£Historyif Assam Vaum! 
IV.: McxlemPeriai: yaniaJxJ toDiarrhy, 1826-1919 A. D. (Guwahati, 1992), pp. 220-257. 
46 See for example the following contemporaneous reports, demonstrating a decided interest in the region: Captain 
Henry Yule, 'On the Geography of Burma and its Tributary States, in illustration of a New Map of those Regions', 
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decision to annex Upper Bunna were the presence of private British agents that had already 

ahead of the state penetrated into Upper Bunna, stressing the importance of the forest products 

of the northern hill regions. Further contributing were reports of the Rangoon chamber of 

commerce on an increase of British teak exports from this region, and finally the argument 

brought forward by the London chamber of commerce that the complete annexation of Bunna 

would be the best remedy against the recession of that time.47 

Reports between November 1876 and August 1877 convey a picture of an escalation of 

raids by men from the Angami villages Khonoma, ]otsoma, Kohima, Vizwema, Kezama and 

Pheseama, sometimes with a high number of casualties (that again, we have to bear in mind, 

might have been exaggerated), possibly enabled by the use of firearms, especially by the Merhema 

clan of Khonoma, and maybe encouraged by the threatening presence of the British as rivals. The 

plan of Khonoma and Mozema to attack Samaguting, the then stronghold of the British, would 

be an indication for that.48 We know that on May yt! 1877 the secretary of state for India ordered 

the government of India to take steps, as quickly as possible, to prevent such "outrages" in the 

future, i.e. London now wanted something to be done,49 and on August, 23rd the India office 

authorised the administrative changes to shift the headquaners into the interior of the Naga hills: 

... to prevent and put an end to the anarchy and bloodshed which prevail among the Naga tribes. 

( ... ) ... in the opinion of the Majesty's Government, an attitude of indifference to the internal feuds 

amongst the Nagas, which result in wholesale massacres of women and children, could no longer be 

maintained without discredit to the British Government. The facts now reported show that both in 

the interests of our own subjects and for the sake of the Nagas themselves, a more active policy than 

as hitherto been pursued should be adopted towards the tribes inhabiting the hills on the south-east 

borders of Assam.50 

This change of policy marked the end of a series of weak viceroys that entertained a spectrum of 

foreign policy that had moved from passive non-interference to one of active alliance-building. 

With the return of the Conservatives to power in Britain, and Disraeli as prime minister and 

jcum:d if the RO)id Gwt;raphicaJ Saia:y, Vol. 27, London, 1857, pp. 54-108; General Sir Arthur Cotton, 'On a 
Communication between India and Clllna by the Line of the Burhampooter and Yang-tse',jamvJ iftheRO)id 
Gwt;raphimJ Society, Vol. 37, London, 1867, pp. 231-239. J. Coryton, 'Trade Routes between British Burmah and 
Western China' jcum:d if the RO)id Gwt;raphicaJ Saia:y, Vol. 45, London, 1875, pp. 229-249; According to Alastair 
Lamb, AsianFrontiers (London, 1968), it was the French challenge in Burma that contributed to the decision to annex 
Upper Burma in 1886 (p. 57), and his injection, if Clllna had been a great power in the nineteenth century, then 
Assam today would be part of a buffer zone (p. 65). 
47 Eric Tagliacozzo, 'Ambiguous Commodities, Unstable Frontiers: The Case of Burma, Siam, and Imperial Britain, 
1800-1900', OJnparati:l£ Studies in Society ani History, Vol. 46, No. 2, April 2004, pp. 354-377. 
48 IFP-P, Vol. P/1035, April- August 1877, Does. 133-177, dt. between 1st Nov. 1876 & 13th August 1877, pp. 135-
154. 
49 Ibid., Doc. 160, Secyof State India to Govt. of India, dt. India Office, London, 3rd May 1877. 
50 IFP-P, Vol. P/1036, Oct. 1877, Doe. 468, Secyof State India to Govt. ofIndia, dt. India Office, London, 23rd 
August 1877, p. 364. 
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Salisbmy as secretary of state for India, this changed, and " ... was the beginning of the new 

Conservative imperialism, motivated bya determination to make Britain a great power in Asia.,,51 

Lytton, who became viceroy in 1876 was briefed to entertain a forward policy, expressed in 

regard to Afghanistan, but his desire for conquest was also directed to Upper Burma and together 

with the general inclination to expansion might well have influenced the policy towards the Naga 

hills. 

The move into the Naga hills in winter 1877-78 was heavily resisted by the Angamis,52 

followed by the cessation of hostilities in February 1978. However, the Angamis did just stop 

fighting for the moment, and the British on their side also halted their attacks, in their words, to 

avoid further destruction, suffering and antagonising.53 

By March the shift of the headquarters to the site of Kohima into the middle of the 

Angami Naga hills was decided on.54 Half a year later, in November, the assistant secretary to the 

CC of Assam notified the foreign secretary in Lahore by telegram that Kohima had been 

occupied without opposition on November 14th.55 Shortly after, by 5th December 1878 the 

secretary of state agreed to the gradual extension of British power over the Nagas: 

... such extension, although involving a considerable increase of responsibility without much 

probability of proportionate fiscal advantage, as practically unavoidable. The continuance in 

immediate proximity to settled British districts of a system of internecine warfare, conducted 

principally against women and children, cannot be tolerated .... 56 

By April 1879 the CC of Assam notified that the headquarters of the NI-ID had been transferred 

from Samaguting to Kohima on 24th March 1879.57 In August 1879 Ridsdale reported to the 

government that, after having established themselves at Kohima, the Nagas still could hardly 

believe that the British would want to stay.58 In October of the same year the political officer 

51 S. Gopal, BritishPdicy inlrrIia, 1858-1905 (Cambridge, 1965), this quote p. 74; the paragraph is based on chapter 1 
and 2, pp. 1-128. Yet the conclusions drawn in respect to the Naga Hills are completely mine, Gopal doesn't even 
mention them once, a good indicator for their complete marginality to British policy. 
52 IFP-P, Vol. P/1216,Jan.-Feb. 1878, Feb. 1878, Does. 11,32,35 and 42. 
53 Ibid., Does. 74-76, dt. between 21st Jan. 1878 and 8th Feb. 1878, pp. 47-48. 
54 IFP-P, Vol. P/1219, Doe. 29, T. C Plowden, Offg. Under-Secy. Govt. India, FD, to CCAssarn, dt. Sirnla, 22nd 
March 1878, p. 44. 
55 IFP-P, Vol. P/1551, Doe. 504, Telgram, Assistant Secy., Shillong, to Foreign Secy., Lahore, dt. 22nd Nov. 1878, p. 
407. 
56 IFP-P, Vol. P/1391, Dec. 1879, Doe. 533, Secretary of State forIndia, to Govt. ofIndia, dt. India Office, London, 
5th Dec. 1878, p. 572. 
57 IFP-P, Vol. P/1551, Jan. 1880, Doe. 497, 'Notification - By dUef Commissioner of Assam.', dt. 14th Apri11879, 
p.392. 
58 Ibid., Doe. 507, Ridsdale to Secy. Govt. India, FD, dt. Shillong 19th August 1879, pp. 415-419, p. 417. 
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Darnant and some of his men were killed by men from Khonoma.59 This marked the starting 

point to the collective uprising of the Angamis, answered by the British with massive military 

operations,60 that lasted until the end of March 1880, and ended with the submission of the 

Angamis.61 By August 1880 London gave its permission to the extension of the NHD so as to 

include the Lhota and Angami Nagas.62 

The return closer to the Naga hills, the establishment of the NHD, and above all the 

decision by the Indian government to take action against the Nagas culminated in the last stand 

of the Angamis, their final defeat and subjugation. British interests were the invested capital in 

Assam, the possibility for trade routes to China, the proximity of the colonial rival France, and, 

last but not least, the general move to the supremacy of Asia, arguments not brought forward in 

the communications and not the reasons the local officers took as guidance for their action. 

While for these local officers the state and prospect of this area, and thus their careers, was of 

primary importance, this was not the case for the authorities in the administrative centres - the 

decision makers in the Indian government and in the India office. Therefore we may safely state 

that the Nagas were not finally defeated and occupied for their own sake. According to the 

chronicler of the Northeast, Alexander :Mackenzie, with the takeover of Assam, the British had 

come into contact with the hill people, and had to decide on their policy vis-a-vis them: 

... we found the Assam Valley surrounded north, east, and south by numerous savage and warlike tribes 

whom the decaying authority of the Assam dynasty had failed of late years to control, and whom the 

disturbed condition of the province had incited to encroachment. Many of them advanced claims to 

rights more or less definite over lands lying in the plains; others claimed tributary payments from the 

villages below their hills ( ... ). It mattered of course little to us whether these claims had their basis in 

primeval rights from which the Shan invaders had partially ousted the hill men, or whether they were 

merely the definite expression of a barbarian cupidity. Certain it was that such claims existed, and that 

they had been, to some extent and in some places, formally recognised by our predecessors. ( ... ) Wben we 

did arrive in any case at a definite understanding as to the rights of any tribe, we were ready, as a rule, to 

treat them fairly and liberally; ( ... ). But we are met to this day by difficulties arising the indefinite nature of 

the connection subsisting between the Assam sovereigns and their savage neighbours.63 

59 Ibid., February 1880, Doe. 249, Telgrarn, CC Assam, Darjeeling, to Foreign Secy., Simla, dt. 18th Oct. 1879, 
19h.39m: recd. 19th, 11-30 AM, p. 223 & Doe. 253, Telegram, Viceroy, Simla, to Secy. of State, London, dt. 21st 

Oct. 1879, p. 223. 
60 Ibid., Does. 250 - 260 Does. 275 - 335; ibid., March 1880, Does. 575-582. 
61 Ibid., April 1880, Doe. 220, Telegram, CC Assam to Foreign, Calcutta, dt. Dibrugarh, 29th March 1880, 6h25m, 
Recd. 11-45 AM, p. 249. 
62 Ibid., Doe. 616, India Office London, dt. 26th August 1880, p. 585. 
63 Alexander Mackenzie, HistarycftkRdations cftk Gmernrrert W1h the Hill Triks iftk Nmth-East FrontiercfBen;pl 
(Calcutta, 1884), p. 6-7. 
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According to Mackenzie the British decided out of financial reasons on a policy of non­

interference to.vards the hill people.M Yet, contrary to what Mackenzie had written, and in his 

following most of the other authors that had worked on the Nagas, the British did never care 

about leaving the Nagas to their independence as we have already seen at length during Chapter 

One. This was never a point of interest to them They conquered them the .vayand to the extent 

that suited and came cheapest to them The Nagas lost their self-determination to an imperial and 

economic enterprise, covered up as a civilising mission, without even being a desired object of 

this enterprise themselves. Their freedom and well-being have been, as will have to be shown 

later, and still are, a kind of collateral damage. 

3.5 Penetmtion 3nd Consolid3tion 

In early 1881 the British contemplated the measures to be taken to install their rule in the Naga 

hills.65 First, the boundaries of the district and its sub-divisions were to be fixed, to delineate the 

geographic extent of the measures to be taken.66 The next step was the assessment of revenue to 

finance or at least levy a contribution to the financing of the administration. Revenue was fixed at 

two rupees per house per year, and to be paid in two instalments. In March 1881 more than a 

hundred Naga villages had already paid house-tax.67 The British still had to rely on the village 

elders for information on the number of houses in each village, but projected to change this and 

to check these themselves.68 This was to turn into one of the major tasks for the district officials 

during their incessant touring through the district. Related to this was the creation and keeping of 

revenue registers.69 The revenue register therefore seemed to have been the mother of all files, 

the documentation that followed right on the geo-, topographical and meteorological data that 

had been necessary for the conquest.70 The point that followed was directly connected with the 

collection of revenue: the creation of a new authority - the elected or appointed headmen - who 

were to be responsible for the collection of revenue and who were to receive a commission for 

that service. This is more interesting since the British here aimed to transform the society of the 

Angamis from a radical democratic into a hierarchical one: 

64 Ibid. 
65 IFP-P, Jan. 1882, Doe. 135, Memorandum on the Administration of the Naga Hills District. By C. A Elliott, CC 
of Assam, dt. March 31st 1881, pp. 141-147. 
66lbid., p. 141. 
67 Ibid. 
68 Ibid., p. 142. 
69 Ibid. 
70 The stored intelligence regarding the natural conditions of the Naga hills as well as the till then collected 
knowledge on the distribution of the populations and their political organisation, including here also the social and 
political geography. 
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... the appointment of elected headmen, who rnight ... become the nucleus of some sort of village 

organization, and gradually grow to be possessors of power and authority over the young men of the 

village. Such a change, from the democratic and independent habits which the people now practice into 

one of subordination to a council of elders under a village headman, must necessarily be slow, but, if it 

can be effected, it will be a great help to good government?! 

"Good government" obviouslywas the one that was the cheapest to the British and structures of 

hierarchy allowed them the form of indirect rule involving the least of their own resources. 

"Good government" to the British then meant a clear power structure and chain of command 

and the subsequent involved responsibilities.72 Further, Elliott suggested to register all adult 

males, who were each to work for the British for 15 days a year.73 In addition to that he proposed 

the establishment of a small staff of permanent coolies to be flexible in regard to transport.74 

After revenue, power-structure, labour supply and transport were addressed, Elliott went on to 

argue for the disarmament of the Nagas: 

In order to change the Nagas from a warlike and marauding to a peaceful race, it is essential that the 

habit of carrying arms around should be stopped, and that everything should be discouraged which 

has a martial tendency, or leads the people to believe that they can successfully resist our arms. ( ... ) 

Thus in a few years the habit of handling arms, and the proficiency in their use acquired by warlike 

exercises, will have passed away,?5 

The material fact of being not used to carrying arms anymore was seen not only to have the 

impact of being simply physically unable to defend or attack, besides having lost the ability of 

handling arms, but moreover creating a shift in mentality from martial to peaceful. This is the 

more astonishing as we here find the colonialists engaged in the conscious demartialisation of the 

Nagas, although the British were and still are blamed bypost-1947 Indian media and political and 

anthropological writings as well, for being responsible, for what they see as the Nagas having 

become a martial race. However, this is to be discussed at a later stage. Here it is to be added that 

behind Elliott's thinking was the theoretical line drawn from the material to the mind. The 

biggest obstacle on the way to this achievement was seen by Elliott in the formidable defences of 

the villages: 

71 Ibid. 
72 At the moment of writing this - end of February 2003 - the US has openly stated that the military conquest of 
Iraq would be the opportunity for the democratisation of the whole of the Middle East and that history from now 
on will be written by the US and its allies. This for one makes it clear that legitimate interests are or can be defined 
by power, and the range of it. It makes one wonder if the introduction of authoritarian power structures by the 
British in the Naga hills and the aspired democratisation of the Middle East by the US are not related phenomena. 
73 IFP-P, Vol. P/1916, Jan. 1882, Doc. 135, Memorandum on the Administration of the Naga Hills District. By CA 
Elliott, CC of Assam, dt. March 31st , 1881, p. 142. 
74Jbid., p. 143. 
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This practice must be altogether put to a stop. ( ... ) ... the villages should be made as open and accessible 

to attack as the natural difficulties of their sites permit. ( ... ) ... it is no longer necessary that they should 

take upon themselves the burden of private defence.76 

To relieve the Nagas of the burden of private defence was surely not asked for in a perfectly 

altruistic state of mind, but to remove together with the village defences the will of the Nagas to 

defend themselves, above all against their new masters. The fall of the material fences should be 

followed by the fall of the defences in their mind This proposition was to change the structure of 

the settlements of the Nagas; from closed concentration to opening up to the outside and finally 

dispersion and dissolution into the surroundings - a metaphor for forced assimilation. The way 

the Naga landscape was now re-designed reflected their loss of self-reliance and sovereignty. 

Once the defences of the villages were destroyed, thought Elliott, one could think of issuing gun 

licenses, around 2-3 per village, or permit the carriage of spears for the defence against wild 

animals. At the same time the sepaJ5 were to be encouraged to kill all the wild animals?? 

Moreover, the use of the dispensary in Kohima should be encouraged to convince the Nagas via 

the healing of their ulcers, prevalent among them, about the good intentions of the British. The 

same was to be done regarding vaccinations, and here especially against the by then rampant 

small-pox: 

... it has often been found that wild and savage races recognise these benefits, and are led, by the 

receipt of medical treatment, to acknowledge with gratitude the benevolence of our motives.78 

Mter he had stressed the importance of medical work, he emphasised the "civilising and 

pacifying influence" of schools. He lamented the ignorance of Naga languages among the British 

officers and urged teaching the Nagas Assamese and Bengali.?9 The local officers were also to be 

encouraged to learn the local Naga languages and rewarded for achieving proficiency in them as 

for the preparation of Naga grammar and vocabulary books. In addition to that, especially the 

younger officers were to conduct an ethnography of the Nagas, since this was for one interesting 

in itself, furthermore important from a conservative point of view, and finally showed the rulers 

75 Ibid. 
76 Ibid., pp. 143-144. 
77 Ibid., p. 144. 
78Jbid., pp. 144-145. 
79 Ibid., p. 145, on this occasion he referred to the presence of a missionary of the American Baptist Society in 
Kohima, who obviously had not yet acquainted himself with the Angami language but Elliot was sure he would soon 
do so and was prepared to support him in the way it was sanctioned by the government. 
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interest in the matters of the ruled.80 Another point of interest was the preservation of forest, and 

related to that the restriction of slash and bum cultivation, or jhuning, and the encouragement of 

permanent, that is to say, terraced and inigated cultivation.8i Finally, the CL of Assam highlighted 

the paramount importance of direct and personal intercourse between ruler and ruled that had to 

be achieved through the incessant touring of the district officers and their assistants. Elliott fell 

into raptures when descnbing the fruits of the direct intercourse between a British officer and the 

natives via these tours: 

The brightest chapters of the history of our rule in India are those which record the civilizing 

influences exercised over Bhfls, Santhals, and other tribes as wild and as difficult to manage as the 

Nagas, by officers who have distinguished themselves by their justice, their sympathy, and their kindly 

interest in the people under them. Such sympathies and interests can best only be cultivated on tour, 

and I should wish that the Political Officer may be able to say at the close of each year that he or one 

of his Assistants has visited every village in his jurisdiction, entered into communication with the 

villagers, and inquired into their revenue assessment, their supply of contributed labour, their 

cultivation and forest clearance, their troubles from wild animals or diseases, and any other subject of 

local interest or importance which may come up.82 

Elliott's scheme for the administration of the Naga hills received the approval from the 

government.83 The boundaries of the NHD now included: 

... the Angamis, the Lhotas in the neighbourhood of Wokha, and a small portion of the Semas dwelling 

to the west of the Doyong, with the Rengma Naga lying between them and the Angami country .... 84 

This excluded the people then known by the British as Ao Nagas, then still called Hatigorias, the 

Eastern Angamis and the greater part of the Semas. The eastern boundary was roughly 

constituted by the Doyang river, the northern by the Inner Line of the Sibsagar, the western by 

the Nowgong district, and the southern boundary by the North Cachar district.8s 

In August 1884, three and half years after Elliott's memorandum, in The Adninistratirn 

Report an the Ndgp. Hills Distria f(Jf the)ear 1883-1884 the officiating secretary to the CL of Assam, 

80 " ••• to carry out a systematic record of the institutions which have hitherto existed among the Nagas, - the village 
constitutions, the origin of clans, the laws of marriage, inheritance, and private rights in land and water, the 
superstitions, legends, religious belief, historical traditions, folk-lore, and the like." Ibid., pp. 146-147. 
81 Ibid., pp. 145-146. 
82 Ibid., p. 146. 
83 Ibid., Doc. 136, dt. Sirnla, 11th June 1881, p. 149, from Secy. Govt. India, Foreign Depanment (FD), to CC Assam. 
On the 2nd of October London got informed about the final selection of Kohima as the central military station for 
the Naga hills. Ibid., Doc. 137, dt. Simla, 2nd October 1881, from Govt. India, to Secy of State for India, London, p. 
150. 
84 IFP-P, Vol. P/1917, Feb.-Apr. 1882, Apri11882, Doe. 207, from CJ. Lyall, Offg. Secy. CC Assam to C Grant, 
Secy Govt. India, FD, p. 175. 
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Stack, complained about the high wages in the NHD, and that they were hindering progress, and 

about the intention of the administration to reduce them step by step, however, without yet 

knowing how this was to be achieved.86 

Documented was also an increase in wealth in the Naga hills, showing itself for the 

British in the increase in the consumption of salt and cattle.8? McCabe, the DC of the district, had 

been 135 days of the year on tour in order to acquaint the Nagas with him and vice versa and 

reported that on the one hand the villagers on the Manipur side had asked to be taken under 

British authority, while on the other hand the Semas threatened to cut him up, if he dared to visit 

them Hence, the Semas were considered by McCabe as " ... the most uncouth and uncivilised 

'b f' "S8 tn e on my ronner .... 

Though he had not yet established his stand among the Semas, he had done so among the 

Hatigorias,89 among whom he had carried out a military strike on the village of Ratami to show 

his power and to convey to them his sense of justice: 

... the conviction that our power to avenge insult could not be questioned, or the justice of our dealings 

doubted. A great increase to the prestige of the British name was caused by the expedition against the 

Hatigoria village of Ratami, some men of which had murdered two Lhota boys in order to cany off 

their heads as trophies. Mr. McCabe's party, consisting of sepoys of the 44th Regiment under a British 

officer and Frontier Police, crossed the Doyong in full flood by a cane bridge 220 feet in length and 

scanered the Ratami Nagas, 500 or 600 in number, who opposed their advance with much boldness, 

though armed only with bows and spears. It was unfortunately impossible to seize the real offenders, 

and it was necessary to bum and destroy the village, the whole of which had sided with them.90 

Ratami was also punished as a warning to others on that side of the river. Otherwise house-tax 

was paid by 164 villages of the five tribes of the Angami, Kacha, Sema, Lhota and Rengma 

Nagas, totalling 17,933 houses. Yet the revenue did not even cover a quarter of the expenses of 

the administration. Tax moral had improved since in cases of delays the British withheld the 

commission that the appointed or elected headman received for collecting the tax. Houses, 

claimed by the Nagas to be uninhabited, and therefore not subject to house-tax, were pulled 

down by the British.91 Excise was mainly on opium, lFr9a, country-spirits and imported wines. 

Large bodies of coolies, working in transport or in roadwork, contnbuted heavily to the 

85 Ibid., pp. 175-177. 
86 Prcxadirli§ cfthe OitfCnrnission:r if A ssam (PCCA), Vol. P/2183, Judicial Department, Doe. 7, dt. Shillong, 9th 
August 1884, pp. 11-17, p. 11. 
87 PCCA, Vol. P/2183, Doe. 7, p. 12. 
88 Ibid. 
89 This it the Assamese name for the tribe that called itself" Aos", and would soon be called such by the British. 
90 Ibid., pp. 12-13. 
91 Ibid., p. 13. 
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consumption of country-spirits. Further sources of revenue were the selling of stamps, licences to 

capture elephants and fishery rights.92 A mission school had been opened at Kohima, teaching 

Assamese and English, in order to train copyists or clerks for the administration.93 For regular 

police work the British had enlisted a small body of detectives from among the Angamis, Semas 

and Kukis, since the normal police force were, despite promised rewards, not competent in any 

Naga languages.94 

92 Ibid. 
93 Ibid. 
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Together with the administration the British also had started to build-up the infrastructure, the 

houses for the officers in Kohima, a fort, adI:hery, treasury- and jail were in the progress of being 

built. The water-supply had been established, the filter-bed was projected. Several rivers had been 

bridged, roads, bridle- and foot-paths were either in the progress of being built or planned. 

Immigration from Assam and Nepal was encouraged, since local labour was hard to come by and 

forced labour difficult to get, but still used as means for transport. A postal line was established 

between Dimapur, Kohima, and Wokha. Medical help was increasingly being accepted by the 

Nagas, an Assamese doctor in Kohima and a young Naga had been trained as vaccinators. Stress 

was still laid on the acquirement and textualisation of Naga languages.95 

3.6 PoHcy Towards Tr:lI1s-Frontier Tribes 

The newly established NHD, still in the process of being realised, was a frontier district of the 

British empire. Although the British had tentatively laid down boundaries, in reality they were 

frontiers, unmarked, wnes rather than lines. Local people used to cross them without being 

aware of them. The problem the British faced there was how to deal with the Nagas living 

beyond the line they the British themselves had marked on their maps as boundaries. In June 

1884 the DC of the NHD requested advise and guidance from the CC of Assam on the policy to 

be pursued vis-a.-vis these trans-frontier Nagas. Up to that point the DC had punished those raids 

conducted among those Nagas residing inside the British district, then those carried out by those 

living under British jurisdiction on those living outside and, finally, raids by trans-frontier groups 

on villages under British jurisdiction, leaving aside only those among the trans-frontier people 

themselves. The DC also tried to serve as mediator in the area adjacent to its district. This 

territory contiguous with the district boundaries was called by the British to be under "political 

control", yet ill-defined in territorial extension and depth as well as in what kind of influence and 

authority should be exercised there. The DC thus advocated the slow but decisive extension of 

British control over the whole of the Nagas, since he was of the opinion that nothing else would 

work with the Nagas than direct subjugation.96 The report of the DC suggested an increase in 

violent raids. So it is that the secretary to the CC of Assam wrote about a considerable increase in 

incidents when referring this question to the govemment.97 This notwithstanding the government 

this time did not agree on any change of policy since it feared it would result in an extension of 

the administrated area. The territory concerned was the hill area bordering on the districts of 

95 Ibid., p. 16. 
96 PCCA in the Foreign Department (FD), Vol. P/2429, November 1885, Doe. 14, from Deputy O:munissioner 
(Dq of Naga Hills (NB) to the Secretary (SecY) to the Chief Commissioner (cq of Assam, dated (dt.) Kohima, 10th 

June 1884, pp. 16-17. 
97 Ibid., Doe. 16, from Secy er, Assam to Secy. Government (Govt.) of India, FD, dt. Shillong, 22nd August 1884, p. 
19. 
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Lakhimpur, Sibsagar and Naga hills. The extent of the area under political control was left to the 

decision of the CC Assam but there was not to be a change in policy: 

... interference with inter-tribal quarrels should, as a rule, be limited to those cases where they involve­

(1) Outrages on British subjects. 

(2) Violation of the Inner Line. 

(3) Danger to the interests of people inside the British borders by reason of the proximity of disturbances 

outside, such disturbances, for instance, as would be likely to intimidate coolies employed upon tea­

estates or cultivators.98 

The government was thus for the moment averse to any extension of the administrated area, but 

left it to the CC of Assam which area he thought expedient to be taken under political control. 

The CC therefore decided on an extension east of the country of the Lhotas. This affected all the 

villages of the Angamis and all of the Hatigorias. The CC used for the first time the term "Ao" 

instead of "Hatigoria", the name they carry until this day. The political control over all the 

Angami villages and the Ao villages lying west of the Nanga - the headstream of the Dikhu - was 

to be exercised by the NlID and the DC McCabe was ordered on an expedition to bring the fact 

that they were now under political control home to these communities. East of the Nanga the 

political control over the Ao villages was to be exerted by Sibsagar and DC colonel Clarke was to 

convey that message to them99 Accordingly McCabe toured the area termed by the British as the 

Eastern Angamis. The villages there offered to pay house-tax, since they wanted to be safe from 

raids and looting conducted by Manipur.100 On the whole McCabe saw the impact that his 

presence had even on the unadministered areas as positive, feuding scarcely happened anymore, 

and he threatened every village with summary punishment, if it took place.IOI 

Colonel W. S. Clarke, the DC of Sibsagar, toured the Ao area east of the Nanga in early 

1885, to inform the Nagas there of their new status. The new area then included under political 

control contained three Lhota villages, those Semas living close to Manipur and the area west of 

the Dikhu inhabited by the AoS.102 

McCabe toured his part of the Ao area "To bring home to the Ao tribe the fact that it is 

politically subordinate to the British Government.,,103 He destroyed the village drum of Ungma to 

98 Ibid., Doc. 15, from Secy. Govt. India, FD, to CC Assam, dt. Simla, 20th Oct. 1884, pp. 17-18. 
99 Ibid., Doc. 17, from Secy. CC Assam to DCNH, dt. Shillong, 21st Dec. 1884, pp. 25-26. 
100 McCabe then forced the Nagas of villages who were unwilling to serve as coolies to do so. Ibid., Doe. 20, from R. 
B. McCabe DC NH to Secy. CC Assam, dt. Kohima, 11th Jan. 1885, pp. 28-30. 
101 Ibid., p. 30. 
102 Ibid., Doc. 23, from Colonel W. S. Oarke, DC Sibsagar to Secy. CC Assam, dt. Sibsagar, 22nd Feb. 1885, pp. 37-
42, p. 37. 
103 Ibid., Doe. 24, McCabe DCNH to Secy. CC Assam, dt. Kohirna, 16th March 1885, p. 43. 
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force the people there to serve him as coolies.104 McCabe was advised on his tour by the 

missionary Oarke on " ... this semi-barbarous race."IOS McCabe investigated the reasons for feuds, 

and fined villages he found guilty.l06 In order to exercise political control McCabe was in favour 

of establishing a military post rather than cartying out annual promenades, since: 

" ... the punishment inflicted would follow at such a lapse of time after the commission of the offence 

that the motives of our actions might be misconstrued, and the inhabitants would simply regard us as 

a superior class of looters and murderers to themselves. to7 

Hence he suggested a post at Dngma staffed with a 100 men, in his opinion enough to control 

the country between the rivers Doyang and Dikhu and the plains. Communication with Wokha 

was to be maintained by a road that was to lead via Nankam, the river Doyang was to be crossed 

by a suspension bridge. l08 McCabe's tour financed itself through the fines taken from the Ao 

villages.l09 

In October 1885 the CC of Assam suggested that the whole territory then brought newly 

under political control should be put under the DC NHD, and not conjointly under Sibsagar, on 

grounds of greater accessibility from Kohima, the bigger force stationed there, the acquaintance 

of the Nagas with the DC Nl-ID and his acquaintance with them.110 

By 1884-85 the NHD contained 60 villages of Angami Nagas, 27 Kacha Nagas, 7 Semas, 

54 Lhotas, 8 Rengmas, 8 named Miscellaneous, and 8 Kukis, in total 172 villages with 18,783 

houses. House-tax and land revenue amounted to 30, 283 rnpre;, double the amount compared 

with 1881-82, and were brought by the headmen of the villages to the sub-divisional officer 

(SDO), who encamped at different central points. Excise was taken mainly from opium, alcohol 

and ffflnja. Education had not yet made substantial progress. Then, in order to renew and foster 

their authority the British assaulted five villages.11l 

On 3rd February 1886 the government approved of the extension of the area under 

political control made by the CC of Assam in the previous year, and that the so defined territory 

should be put under the DC of the NHD, but it cautioned not to hasten the result of 

amalgamation that this extension would probably have as a result. The government therefore was 

104 Ibid., p. 45. 
105 Ibid., p. 44. 
106 Ibid., p. 46. 
107 Ibid., p. 48. 
108 Ibid. 
109 Ibid., p. 49. 
110 Ibid., Doe. 26, dt. Shillong, gm Oct. 1885, Offg. Secy. CA:: Assam to Secy. Govt. India, FD. 
III PCCA, Vol. P/2429, FD, Resolution on the General Administration Report of the Naga Hills district for 1884-85, 
dt. Shillong, 2nd July 1885, pp. 5-11. 
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sure that the extension of political control meant the incorporation of that area into the 

administration in the not too distant future.1l2 

Feuding among Ao villages in the vicinity of the borders of the NlID, around the middle 

of 1886, gave the British the pretext to intervene. The refusal to comply with British orders on 

the side of the Aos brought the officers on the ground to ask for a permanent military post 

amongst their midst, yet which for the time being was rejected by the government. Political 

control was to be exercised by arbitration. 113 Despite the build-up of the administration and the 

efforts made to enforce the monopoly of violence, from a military point of view, that is to say in 

regard of the distribution of troops and their strength, the British did not trust the Nagas yet and 

considered not only the unadministered part of the Naga hills, but also the NHD itself still as 

enemy territory.114 

In February 1887 the DC NHD reported to the CC of Assam an appeal for help by the 

Eastern Angamis against a group called Mezamis, which were conducting raids on them The 

Mezamis inhabited five to six villages, which contained in total approximately 500 houses, just 

outside the area of political control to the north-east of Kohima and were under the leadership of 

a man named Sakhai. The DC further wrote that the Mezamis were unable to understand the 

distinction between villages under British control and protection and those outside. He asked for 

permission to carry out a punishment expedition against them115 This punishment expedition 

against the Sema villages of the Mezamis was taken as opportunity by the officiating DC NlID 

Porteous, to undertake his annual tour through Sema territory, considered to be under political 

control. Porteous wrote about 20-50 casualties as a consequence of the raids conducted by the 

Semas. The British, although obviously having defined the Sema country, had difficulties in 

identifying the villages, due to their apparently confusing names. Hence, besides punishment of 

the perceived culprits of the raids, reconnaissance was the other objective of the tour, called 

"promenade" by the British and to make them understand that from now on, the British would 

not allow them to take the law into their own hands anymore.116 However, punitive expeditions 

and promenades were often one and the same. After Poneous had entered the Sema village of 

Letsomi against the will of its inhabitants, he wrote: " .. .I explained to them the future policy of 

112 PCCA, Vol. P/2429, FD, Doe. No. 246-E, from Secy. Govt. India to the Offg. a:, of Assam, dt. Fort William, 3rd 
Feb. 1886. In the following Doc. No. 494, dt. Shillong, 9th March 1886, the Secy. a:, Assam communicated the 
orders of the Govt. to the DC NHD with a new, more flexible interpretation of what political control meant, yet, 
without substantial change simply acknowledging that the realities on the spot were to complex as to be carried out 
alongside perfectly fixed rules without scope for interpretation and modification. 
113 PCCA, Vol. P/2657, Does. No. 1,430 and 1,590, dt. 12th June 1886 and 6th August 1886. 
114 PCCA, Vol. P/2880, Military Department, Shillong, Feb. 1887, Doe. 1, Memorandum on the distribution of 
Troops and Transport, Eastern Frontier Districts, by J. J. Gordon, Brigadier - General, Eastern Frontier District, dt. 
Shillong, 12th August 1886, pp. 1-3. 
115 Ibid., Shillong Oct. 1887, FD, Doe. 7, from Offg. DC NHD, to Secy. CC A, dt. Kohima, 21st Feb. 1887. 
116 Ibid., FD, Oct. 1887, Doe. 4, Punitive Expedition against Mezami Nagas and promenade through Sema Country, 
dt. Kohima, 11th June 1887, from A Porteous, Offg. DC NHD to Secy. a:, A, pp. 3-11. 
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Government in the matter of inter-village feuds .... To show them I was in earnest, I destroyed 

their trophies of skulls."117 Poneous encountered hostility everywhere he went. On his approach 

the villagers were evacuated (women, children, old people, propeny), then the male villagers told 

the British that they were not allowed to enter the village and when they did so, retreated with 

threats and the throwing of stones.l1S The reception changed when Poneous came to the large 

Ao village of Nunkum, bordering Sema country: "The people possess a much higher civilisation 

than their Sema neighbours, and live apparently save from attack, their village being almost quite 

unfortified."119 He reponed that he had been well received and without fear by this village and 

that the Aos were differentiated by the way they disposed of their dead, not burying them, but 

lining them up. Notwithstanding his friendly reception Poneous also here burned all the skulls­

cum-trophies he could lay his hand on in front of the fflOI1bura. 120 From Nunkum he went to 

Pangti, a formerly hostile Lhota village: "Pangti is a large Lhota village. It was here that captain 

Butler was killed. The people are now as submissive as our own Lhota villagers, and coolies and 

supplies are readilyfurnished."121 The supply of coolies and rations were expected to be delivered 

or enforced at gunpoint. As a result of his promenade Porteous counted the pacification of the 

Mezamis, the adding of knowledge on the Semas, and the building up of influence among them 

He cautioned expectations regarding the stop of feuding in stating that experience has shown that 

only permanent military posts could stop that completely, but nevertheless he hoped to have 

made an impact in this respect. Finally, he stated that promenades were costly, and this one did 

cost 700 rupees, but that the realised fines, the sale of the cattle taken instead of money, summed 

up to Rs. 844.-, achieving a swplus of 144 rupees.122 Poneous afterwards got scolded by Lyall, the 

secretary to the CC of Assam, for not having produced a tour map with the printed names of the 

visited places.123 

McCabe, after having returned to his position as DC NHD, set out on a promenade 

through Ao Naga country in March 1888, the first after the lapse of three years. He went from 

Kohima to Wokha, to Yekum, Sanigaon, Lakhuti and Mekula, all Lhota villages, before arriving at 

the first Ao village ChangkilBorodubia (first, Naga name, second, Assamese name for the 

village), then via ColemsenlMukhigaon (ditto) to the small village Munching and then to 

Waromung, where he met the missionary darke, and where Ao delegations were awaiting his 

arrival to present him cases of murder and raids that had happened during these three years. In 

117 Ibid., p. 7. 
118 Ibid., e.g.: p. 9. 
119 Ibid., p. 10. 
120 Ibid. 
121 Ibid. 
122 Ibid., p. 11. 
123 Ibid., Judicial Department, Doe. 5, from C J. Lyall, Secy. CC Assam, to the DCNHD, dt. Shillong, 29th July 1887, 
p. 22. This sho"WS that not only we today become confused by the random transcription. 
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total there were ten murder cases, involving six villages, three of them trans-Dikhu ones, and 

therefore located outside the area of political control. McCabe found out that some strong 

villages took tribute from others, or not, in which case they preferred to take heads from them 

The village of Kongan refused to give up those involved in killings and told McCabe to burn 

their village, if he so wished, 250 houses, and that is what he did and then also burned Tamlu for 

the same reason. He was attacked at Yajim and burned that village too, together with dlihu, 

containing 500 houses and proceeded to Noksen and Letum and burned them as well. Besides, 

McCabe reported about the establishment of a new Christian village - Asongma - converts were 

to establish their own villages, either because they were forced to, or they wanted that themselves. 

McCabe enclosed a list of all Ao villages inside the area of political control, being 43, containing 

8,485 houses, leaving only one Ao village outside political control. McCabe made the case that 

since his last promenade in 1885 only three murders had been committed by those villages and 

that inter-village warfare had practically ceased, so he argued in favour of an incOIporation of the 

Aos into the NlID in order to bring them" ... into as civilized and amenable a state as that of the 

Lhotas and Angamis ... " .124 

The then secretary to the CC of Assam C J. Lyail, in his accompanying writing to 

McCabe's report to the government, justified the burning of the villages as partially regrettable 

and partially as the only possible choice, since he was of the opinion, that: "You can get no good 

out of these wild people unless you begin with making them thoroughly fear you." The 

suggestion to include the Aos into the NlID, so we can deduce from Lyall's writing, would be a 

well-advised one, in case they were willing to pay revenue. This, so Lyall, was to be investigated 

for the Aos as well as for Eastern Angamis and Khezamis.125 The assistant commissioner Naga 

hills A W. Davis had toured among the latter in April 1888, and reported that during the last 20 

years there had been only single incidents of head-taking, but no big raids, hence, that they were 

pacified, followed orders, of which he gave us an example: "13th 
- Losemi to Lozaphehmi 5 ~ 

miles. ( ... ) As not a single coolie had turned up by 6.30 a.m, I had one pig shot. The result was 

excellent, as in ten minutes from the time we were off." 126 Since they not only gave into forced 

labour when blackmailed, but were also willing to pay revenue, Davis suggested their 

incorporation into the NlID, hence Lyall's statement above.127 

124 PCCA, Vol. P/3166, FD, June 1888, Doe. 5, McCabe's Promenade through the Ao Country, 1888, dt. Kohima, 
24th March 1888, pp. 2-11, p. 10. 
125 Ibid., Doe. 4, from the Secy. CC A to the Secy. Govt. India, FD, dt. Shillong, 13th June 1888, pp. 1-2. 
126 PCCA, Vol. P/3351,July 1889, FD, Doe. 19, Diary of Mr. A W. Davis, Assistant-Commissioner, Niga Hills, 
from 4th to 25th Apri11888, Tour to visit the Eastem-Anganu and Khezami Villages lying within the area of Political 
Control, pp. 15-21, p. 17. 
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3.7 Incorporation of Aos into the NHD 

During his 1888 tour through Ao countty McCabe had, among others, destroyed the trans-Dikhu 

villages of Letum and Noksen to punish them for murder committed by some of the men of Aos 

living inside the area of political control. McCabe was then confident to have brought peace to 

this strip of land and to have definitely enforced the British monopoly of violence. Later in 1888 

it so happened that these two villages, Letum and Noksen, carried out a raid on the two villages 

inside political control Mongsemdi and Lungkhung " ... burning the former partially and the latter 

completely, and massacring in all over 200 people." 128 This raid, the British themselves 

acknowledged, was carried out in retaliation for McCabe's attack on the trans-Dikhu villages, 

whose populations, when seeking refuge in the jungles, were massacred " ... by a rabble of some 

hundreds of friendlies who had followed from Susu, Mongsemdi, Lungkhung, Salachu and other 

villages in the wake of our force." 129 The proposed answer of the CC of Assam was renewed 

punishment of Letum and Noksen and the pennanent occupation and inclusion into the NHD 

of the Ao area until hitherto only under political control,130 due to the impracticability of the 

latter.l31 Thence the CC suggested to " ... make the Dikhu our boundary in the strictest sense, and 

have nothing whatever to do with the people beyond ... ", argued against any further demarcation 

of areas under political control and proposed measures to restrict movement across the Dikhu.132 

The part which had thus been newly incorporated into the district contained 45 Ao 

villages with a total of 5,901 houses (every village was visited and all the houses counted), four 

Lhota villages with 560 houses in total, and two Langta or naked Naga villages (so-named by the 

British).133 

127 Ibid. 
128 Ibid., Doc. 31, Visit to certain trans-Dikhu Naga Villages and occupation of Ao Naga Country, from the Offg. 
Secy. CJ:2 Assam F. C. Daukes, to Secy. Govt. India, FD, dt. Shillong, 14th Nov. 1888, pp. 39-45, p. 39. 
129 Ibid. 
130 Ibid., p. 41. 
131 "It is the merest commonplace to observe that in engaging in conflicts of this sort with people like the trans­
Dikhu N;lgas we do so on very unequal terms. We can never inflict on them any damage which can compare with 
that which they can inflict on the Aos within our border. Even if there were not material difficulties in the way, the 
most ordinary views of morality as entertained by us would forbid it. As a rule, the most we can do is to burn a 
village, and if, which rarely happens, the people resist, to shoot a few of them. But the burning of a village or the loss 
of a few members of the tribe are with them such very ordinary events that they make linle impression." Ibid., p. 43. 
The CJ:2 forgot that they were nearly always so-called friendlies following on the British punishment expeditions, 
trying to prey on those having been driven out of their villages by the British and in this way being without 
protection. However, what the CJ:2 had in mind here was to argue the case that political control was not feasible and 
that the only alternative was permanent occupation. 
132 Ibid. 
133 Ibid., Doc. No. 191, from Porteous, Offg. DC NHD, to Secy. CJ:2 A, dt. Kohima, 29th May 1889, pp. 29-31 and 
ibid., Judicial Dept., Sept. 1889, Doe. 3, Addition of a new Sub-Division to the Naga hills, By Order of the CJ:2of 
Assam, F. C. Daukes, Offg. Secy. CJ:2 A, p. 2. 
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The extension of the NlID was a success. The following years were uneventful, years of 

consolidation, and so it seems, years in which one accustomed oneself to the other. Groups, 

villages and tribes outside the NlID left those inside in peace.134 

In 1893-94 the relations with the trans-Dikhu tribes and the British remained good, 

although the DC A E. Woods reported many cases of head-taking happening among them, as 

was the case among the Semas in the Tita valley, and apparently everywhere outside the area of 

political control. That is why Woods, keeping up the tradition with all of his predecessors, made a 

strong case for the incorporation of the Semas and Eastern Angamis.135 For 1894-95 Woods 

relayed the good message that small-pox had completely died out in the area of political control, 

but that, what he called, inter-tribal quarrels, were on the increase.136 We do not know about the 

real constellation of the fighting, nor about the reality of the reports, yet, what is striking is that 

the Nagas seemed to have by then perfectly understood the policy of the British, banishing and 

persecuting cases of head-taking inside the district and area of political control and those that 

were carried out across its boundaries, regardless of their direction, but non-interference in 

anything that happened among the people beyond the frontier. This remained the same for 1895-

96.137 

The rest of the century was quite as uneventful as the previous few years. Relations with 

the tribes outside the district and areas of political control were good, yet, among themselves 

" ... head-taking is going on merrily ... " as DC Davis put it,138 or as lieutenant W. M Kennedy's 

statement confirms "Head-taking is as prevalent as ever among themselves .... "139 These 

statements were always followed by more or less urgent explicit or implicit requests for 

intervention that would have meant the annexation of the adjoining areas. The requests, so it was 

brought forward, also came from the weaker villages affected themselves. HO 

134 PCCA, Vol. P/3807, FD, May 1891, Doe. 22, Political Report of the Naga Hills District, 1890-91, from A W. 
Davis, DCNI-ID, to Secy. CC Assam, dt. Kohima, 2sm March 1891, pp. 21-22 and ibid., Doe. 24, Copy of the Tour 
Diary of the Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills, forwarded by A W. Davis, DC NHD, dt. Kohima, 8th July 
1891, pp. 25-26. 
135 PCCA, Vol. P/4477, FD, Aug. 1894, Doe. 20, Political Report of the Naga Hills District for 1893-94, from Capt. 
A E. Woods, DC NHD to Secy CC Assam, dt. Kohima, 5th Apri11894, pp. 19-20. 
136 PCCA, Vol. P/4673, FD, May 1895, Doe. 5, Political Report of the Naga Hills District for 1894-95, from Capt. A 
E. Woods, DC NHD to Secy. CC Assam, dt. Kohima, 6th Apri11895, p. 5. 
137 PCCA, Vol. pi 4878, FD, Aug. 1896, Doe. 4, Political Report of the Naga Hills District for 1895-96, from Capt. 
A E. Woods, DCNHD to E. A Gait, Offg. Secy. CC Assam, p. 5. 
138 PCCA, Vol. P/5098, FD, May 1897, Doe. 8, Political Report of the Naga Hills District for 1896-97, from A W. 
Davis, DCNI-ID to Secy. CC Assam, dt. Kohima, 9th Apri11897, pp. 7-8, p. 7. 
139 PCCA, Vol. P/5337, FD, May 1898, Doe. 4, Political Report of the Naga Hills District for 1897-98, from 
Lieutenant W. M. Kennedy, Offg. DC NHD to Secy. CC Assam. 
140 PCCA, Vol. P/5558, FD, May 1899, Doe. 20, Political Report of the Naga Hills District for 1898-99, from Capt. 
A E. Woods, DCNHD to Secy. CC Assam, pp. 19-20, p. 19. 
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Inside the district and area of political control only minor incidences happened, resulting 

mainly from disputes over land, 141 an omnipresent feature of the following years, especially of the 

dreadfully boring and repetitious tour reports. 

At the end of the nineteenth century roads, bridges and bridle paths were obviously 

improving everywhere in the Naga hills, since this was constantly positively remarked by the 

officers.142 Yet, the betterment of communications and the increased intensity of contacts also 

contributed to the spread of diseases and helped them developing into epidemics of fever and 

dysentery.143 

Cole's diary also tells us about the new missionary settlement at Impur, that later on 

would develop into the mission centre. The missionary Clarke was joined by two more 

missionaries, in addition to that the missionary Rivenburg was active in Kohima.144 But it had not 

yet happened that many Nagas had taken to the offered western education for whatever reasons. 

However, this seemed quite alright for the colonialists, who, once the Nagas didn't pose a 

military threat anymore, could do without Orristianity and education. Though, these two initially 

were hoped to contribute to the pacification of the previously unruly Nagas, but once that had 

been achieved without them, and then only with military means, they only bore the potential for 

creating new disturbances: 

Nagas don't take to education very freely, and I think possibly that is just as well that they don't. An 

uneducated Naga is bad enough, but an educated Naga generally turns into an unmitigated scoundrel 

as we have experienced.145 

Wood's statement is exemplary for the attitude of the British officers on Nagas and education 

and Nagas and Orristianity for years to come, constituting a constant throughout the imperial 

personnel, and not only among the British.146 

However, at the end of the nineteenth century the Naga hills were of no real concern 

anymore for the British, who had successfully established their rule there. The Naga hills were 

141 Ibid. and PCCA, VoL P/5558, FD, May 1899, Doe. 20, p. 19. 
142 PCCA, VoL P/5098, FD, May 1897, Doe. 8, p. 8; PCCA, VoL P/5337, FD, May 1898, Doc. 4; ibid., 00. 1898, 
Doe. 9, Tour Diary of Captain A E. Woods, LS.C, Deputy Commissioner of the Naga Hills, for the month of June 
1898, pp. 9-10. 
143 PCCA, VoL PI 5337, FD, Oct. 1898, Doe. 8, Diary of Capt. H W. G. Cole, LS.C. DC NHD, for the month of 
Sept. 1897, pp. 7-8, p. 8. and ibid., Doe. 9, p. 9. 
144 Ibid., Doe. 8, p. 7. 
145 Ibid., Doe. 9, p. 9. 
146 See for example on Freneh West Africa Michel Leiris, PhantcmA/rika: Tag:bum ein::r Expe:Jitian wnDakar nuh 
Djil::wti 1931-1933. Erster Teil. Ethnologisehe Schriften Band 3 & Zweiter Teil. Ethnologische Schriften. Band 4 
(Frankfurt am Main, 1985; French edition L 'Afriquefartlmr. Deciakara Djil::wti 1931-1933[paris, 1934]. Leiris, for 
example, counters the colonial mantra that educated city Africans were corrupted and not any more real Africans 
with the astute observation that this would come equal to assert that a Parisian was not a real French compared with, 
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now routine and if I were to choose a quote exemplifying this, it were the following one by 

Woods: "13th Uune 1898] - Nankam-Mokokchong, 11 miles. - Crops everywhere excellent. 

Roads very good." 147 

Although the pattern of the tours remained the same, with the usual proceedings of surveying, of 

being welcomed by the villages, rice and coolie labour either supplied or forced to be given, the 

solving of land disputes, the information on certain illnesses Oeprosy in 1900), the comparison by 

the British of certain basic words of the vernaculars, sometimes, we get some new piece of 

information. In 1900, so it seems, the British had started to use the heliograph, a device to signal 

from elevated positions over far distances, yet that only worked in good weather.H8 And that 

some officers were of the opinion the Nagas would see them as gods, as "terhoma" " ... beyond 

the control of mortal man ... " .149 This god-like quality might have induced Woods to proceed far 

beyond the area of political control, forcing his way into the village Yachumi, against the 

expressed will of the population, killing some of the defenders, and letting his men loot the 

village and gave order to bum the village of 400-500 houses to the ground, and believed" ... this 

lesson to Yachumi will have a salutary effect in this valley and elsewhere ... " .150 This work of god 

was condemned by the CC of Assam Cotton who ordered Woods to ask in the future for 

permission for any expedition beyond the area of political control. l5l The government approved 

of Cotton's order, yet, went one step further, and even demanded that whenever a risk of 

complications with the trans-frontier tribes could be involved, the previous approval of the 

government of India was to be obtained.152 Woods' destruction of Yachumi went up the 

hierarchy and was even condemned by Lord Guzon as unauthorised and deplorable.153 The 

officiating DC of the Naga hills lieutenant Kennedy complained that due to these orders 

following the Yachumi incident, he was not allowed to interfere beyond the boundary. Most 

pressing, he saw was the need of intervention in the Tizu valley where Semas tried to push the 

Angamis out. Kennedy pleaded for the extension of the area of political control so as to cover 

the whole of the Sema tribe, otherwise, so he feared, the whole Tizu valley would relapse into, 

for instance, a Breton farmer. For the Punjab, see Ian Talbot, 'British Rule in the Punjab, 1849-1947: Otaracteristics 
and Consequences', The jamvl if /nperial am O:nmJnueaJth History, Vol. XIX, No. 2, pp. 203-221, pp. 204-205. 
147 PCCA, Vol. P/5337, FD, Oct. 1898, Doe. 8, Diary of Capt. H W. G. Cole, LS.C. DC NHD, for the month of 
Sept. 1897, Doe. 9, p. 9. 
148 AssamSroUariat ~ (ASP), Vol. P/5796, Foreign Department (FD), April 1900, Doe. 4, Diary of Captain 
A E. Woods, LS.C., Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, for the month of February 1900, pp. 5-11, p. 5. 
149 ASP, Vol. PI 6032, FD, May 1901, Doe. 5, Diary of Captain A Woods, LS.C., DC, NH, for the month of January 
1900. 
150 Ibid., p. 7. 
151 Ibid., Doe. 7, from the Offg. Secy. ex:: Assam to DC, NHD, dt. Shillong, 11th April 1900. 
152 Ibid., Doe. 8, from the Deputy Secy. Govt. India, FD, to the ex:: of Assam, dt. SimIa, 18th May 1900. 
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what he perceived as, anarchy, and in addition, this happening in sight of the British, would 

damage their authority.l54 The et:. Fuller supported an extension of the administration not only 

over the Tizu valley but also over the whole of the Semas and Eastern Angamis, since this 

" ... would possess the advantage of bringing under our protection the people of one mbe, 

intimately connected by descent and marriage and by trade, this making the work of 

Administration an easy one." 155 The reasons for that extension were still in the main moral ones, 

to stop" ... the constant occurrence of barbarous outrages close beyond our border."156 In January 

1904 the government granted the permission for the incOIporation of the Sema and Eastern 

Angami tribes. It was understood that these tribes had been already under close political contro~ 

that is to say, they enjoyed protection without being taxed, and since there were no objections yet 

reported on the side of the respective tribes for being taxed, and no additional costs for the 

administration to be expected, the extension of the district was permitted.157 The annexation, of 

course, first only manifested in the conveyance to the people that from now on they were taxed, 

met no opposition when the DC and SDO toured the newly incorporated territory,158 a strip of 

land being 40 miles long and 15 miles deep.159 

In a minute on the territorial redistribution of India, Curzon made a devastating 

judgement on the Assam district and its administration as being backward, not viable, and not 

attracting the best of people for employment. Curzon wanted to sever Assam from Bengal, to 

transform it from a chief commissioner-ship into a self-contained province playing a more 

vigorous role then hitherto was the case.l60 This in part did lead to the erection of Eastern Bengal 

and Assam as an independent province in 1905.161 A further reason was the break-up of the 

influence of the Congress party, then a " ... purely Bengali movement." 162 

In June 1906 the government of Eastern Bengal and Assam reported that the extension 

of the district in 1904 could be considered as a success, that the Nagas were positively inclined to 

153 Grrzon Collection, MSS Eur F 111/536. (Confidential) Summruyof the Principal Events and Measures of the 
Viceroyalty of his Excellency Lord Guzon of Kedlestar, Viceroy and Governor-General of India, in the Foreign 
Department, for the time-span of Jan. 1899 - April 1904. Volume 5, p. 12. 
154 Ibid., Aug. 1901, Proposal for extending the area of political control of the Naga Hills in the direction of the Tizu 
river, Doe. 27, from Lt. W. M Kennedy, I.S.C, offg. DC, NB, to Secy. Cf2 Assam, pp. 35-36. 
155 ASP, Vol. PI 6504, FD, Nov. 1903, Doe. 15, Extension of the Eastern Boundruy of the Naga Hills district, from 
F. J. Monahan, I.CS., Secy. Cf2 Assam to Secy. Govt. India, pp. 13-18, pp. 16-17. 
156 Ibid., p. 18. 
157 ASP, Vol., P/6733, FD-A proceedings, Aug. 1904, Doe. 41, Proposal for the extension of the eastern boundary 
of the Naga Hills district, from the Under - Secy. Govt. India, FD, to CC Assam, dt. Fort William, 26th Jan. 1904, p. 
59. 
158 Ibid., Does. 45 and 46; ibid., Sept. 1904, Doe. 16. 
159 Grrzon Collection, MSS E ur F 111/536. (Confidential) Summary of the Principal Events and Measures of the .... 
Volume 5, p. 12. 
160 Grrzon Collection, MSS E ur F 111/323, Minute by His Excellency the Viceroy on Territorial Redistribution in 
India, dt. 1st June 1903, pp. 9-10. 
161 Report on the Administration of Assam for the year 1921-22. Shillong: Printed at the Government Press, Assam 
1923, p. 49. 
162 Tinker, Vzffiuy, pp. 29-32. 
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the British and that life inside the district was as secure as anywhere in the plains, but that just 

across the frontier hundreds of persons were killed. This was brought forward as a reason why 

the lieutenant governor proposed to the government of India to simply push forward a line 12 

miles in depth or two days march away in which political control was to be established and 

raiding stopped.163 The proposal was not sanctioned, on financial grounds. Nevertheless, the 

government of India called for opinions from the local officers whether the already administered 

areas paid for their administration and whether the same could be expected from the new area 

that was suggested by the lieutenant governor to be incoIporated. l64 In its reply the government 

of Eastern Bengal and Assam opined that sooner or later the narrow strip of 60 miles of 

unadministered area of Naga hills between the British held territories in Assam and Burma had to 

be closed anyway.165 The lieutenant governor again stressed the responsibility of 

" ... sovereignty .. .for pushing back the pale of barbarism from its borders."166 He argued that costs 

mainly arose out of measures to erect the infrastructure of rule and once that was done, would 

not come up again, and, the greatest part of expense was for defence, and could not be seen as 

simply attributed to the district itself, but for the defence of the whole frontier area. In truth, so 

he continued, in this case the annexation saved expenses, since it made not only the protection of 

Assam possible, in the first place, but enabled the reduction in the numbers of troops in 

general.167 Yet, not enough was yet known on the territory, tribes and villages beyond the frontier 

as to make any precise statement on the expected revenue.168 This time the government of India 

supported the proposal for extension, especially in the light of escalated raiding just across the 

district boundary in the Naga hills,169 but the secretary of state for India did not sanction it, 

fearing that it would just lead to ever wider responsibilities, not covered by revenue.170 This 

notwithstanding, prospects of oil and coal resulted in the quick annexation of 14 Konyak villages 

163 Prrxmiir765 if the Gor1. if Eastern Betf!Pl arrl Assam (PEBA), Vol. PI 7222, Political Department (PD), July 1906, Doe. 
32, from J. E. Webster, LC.S., Offg. Secy. to the Govt. of Eastern Bengal and Assam, Judicial Department (ID), to 
the Secy. to the Govt. of India, Foreign Department (FD), dt. Shillong, 7th June 1906, pp. 29-31. 
164 PEPA, Vol. P/7783, PD-A, March 1908, Doe. 1, Proposal for the extension of the eastern boundary of the Naga 
Hills District, from the Assistant Secy. Govt. India, PD, to Secy. Govt. Eastern Bengal and Assam,]D, dt. Fort 
William, 12th Feb. 1907, pp. 1-3. 
165 Ibid.,]D, Doe. 12, from G. Milne, LC.S., offg. Secy. Govt. Eastern Bengal and Assam, to Secy. Govt. India, PD, 
dt. Shillong, 7th Dec. 1907, pp. 15-21, p. 17. 
166 Ibid., p. 18. 
167 Ibid. 
168 Ibid., pp. 20-21. This showed that tribes, though existing, were then not predominantly political units, but cultural 
ones. 
169 PEPA, Vol. P/8060, PD-A, May 1909, Doe. 22, from the Govt. of India, PD, to His Majesty's Secretary of State 
for India, dt. Simla, 16th July 1908, pp. 13-14. 
170 Ibid., Doe. 23, from His Majesty's Secretary of State for India, to Governor General of India in Council, dt. India 
Office, London, 13th Nov. 1908, pp. 14-15. 
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on 1St February 1910 to the NHD,171 no moral reasoning brought forward, demonstrating 

beautifully that annexation was unproblematic if there was considerable expected material return. 

The CC of Assam, confronted with what seemed an escalation of trans-frontier raids 

involving sometimes hundreds of dead, at times in sight of British officers not allowed to 

interfere, strongly argued for the slow but steady extension of British control over the whole of 

the hill tracts in full view of the fact that the areas won't pay for their administration. The CC saw 

this as his duty on humanitarian grounds. Moreover, according to the ex::, the existing situation at 

times forced the British to carry out punishment expeditions against villages, which as a rule were 

burned down, leaving their inhabitants defenceless to their enemy neighbours, and amounted to a 

death sentence.172 

However, the government of India from then on had, even more than before, other 

problems than the Naga hills. First, there was the First World War, then afterwards troubles on 

the Northwest Frontier, and so the government allowed the local officers friendly tours across 

the frontier until further decisions were carried forward.173 That being so, nothing was done on 

that matter from the last extension in 1910 onwards.l74 Then, the area in question now bordered 

on the newly incorporated Sornra tract, administrated by the government of Burma and the 

recently established subdivisions of the Manipur hills, and hence began to have closer relations 

with British administration. The gap was slowly closing, so to speak, and, according to the CC of 

Assam, Marris, it had to, in the name of the civilising mission.175 A month later Marris, while in 

Sirnla, was advised by the foreign secretary Bray to present his case for extension in such a way as 

to give definite reasons for the pushing of the line exactly to this or that point (e.g. towards some 

tribal boundaries), and therefore would not have to be changed again for a long period 

afterwards.176 The government of India then supported the proposal for extension " ... on 

humanitarian grounds ... ", but qualified that a definite and lasting boundary could only be found 

171 Prrxmli:rfjS iftkOJUfCamissirn:rif Assamlf!a:A), Vol. P/9110, August 1913, Doe. 53, fromJ. E. Webster, DC, 
NB, to the Commissioner, Surma Valley and Hill Districts, pp. 35-54, p. 46. "The annexed strip is bounded on the 
west by the Dikhu river, on the south by the Yangnyu and Anyang rivers, on the east by the Shiniong and Tigham 
streams, and on the north by the Taukokriver and the Inner Line of the Sisagar district." ibid., p. 35. On the people 
Webster wrote that they called themselves "Yamanyuha", that their neighbours, the Aos, called them either "Miris" , 
meaning enemies, or" Abors" , meaning savages, and that they otherwise were called " ... /errgfa or naked Nagas." ibid., 
p.36. 
172 PCCA, Vol. P /9363, May 1914, PD, from W. J. Reid, Ollef Secy. to the ex::: of Assam, to the Secy. Govt. India, 
Foreign and Political Department (F&PD), dt. Shillong, 3rt! April 1914, pp. 7-13. 
173 PrrxmJi1fjS iftk Gm.ermmt if Assam If!GA) , Vol. P/11282, Feb. 1923, Doe. 13, Extract If!aragraph 3) from 
Despatch No. 16, dt. 27th January 1921, from the Govt. of India, F&PD, to Secy. of State for India, p. 5. 
174 Ibid., Doe. 14, from A. W. Botham, Ollef Secy. to the Govt. of Assam, to Major F. H Humphreys, Deputy Secy. 
to the Govt. of India, FD, Demi-official, dt. Shillong, 3rt! Sept. 1921, pp. 5-9, p. 6. 
175 Ibid. 
176 Ibid., Doe. 15, from A. W. Botham, Ollef Secy. to the Govt. of Assam, to J. E. Webster, Commissioner Surma 
Valley and Hill Division, Demi-official, dt. Shillong, 3rt!/4th Oct. 1921, p. 9. Despite the fact that Marris in his 
previous communication had just established the fact that tribal boundaries were not relevant for boundary drawing. 
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after extensive survey operations.177 The whole argument was based on the arbitrary character of 

the present line and that the impression was to be made vis-a-vis the secretary of state that a 

lasting tribal boundary could be found. The strategy paid off, and London gave its approval. I78 

In his proposal for extension to the east, the new DC Hutton tried to combine tribal and 

geographical points. He included the whole of the Chang, Sema, and Sangtam tribes, some 

Kalyo-Kengyu villages for political reasons, and as few as possible Konyak villages, for 

geographical reasons, since the relations with the Konyak were good, and since they did not 

desire to be included.179 Now the NHD included Angamis, Kacha-Nagas, Kukis, Kacharies, 

Rengmas, Lhotas, Semas, Southern Sangtams, Aos, some Konyaks and some Kalyo-Kengyus.180 

Not all Naga-inhabited territory had been incorporated. The area outside of the district, by the 

British called the "Naga Tribal Area", remained until the end of British colonial rule only under 

political control.I81 The term "Tribal Area" described territory, which belonged neither to British 

India nor to any other state, and legally (although one might ask according in whose legal code, 

and anyhow to the complete ignorance of the overwhelming majority of the inhabitants of that 

area), at this stage, was regarded by the British as being under the direct executive power of the 

governor general. This status was only reversed after the Transfer of Power.182 Later, with the 

proclamation of the state Nagaland, this territory was turned into the T uensang district. The 

NHD initially constituted administratively a part of Assam, but was excluded from the criminal 

code of India through the application of the AssamFrootier Tracts R£gUlatian (1880) on April 22nd 

1884.183 The Morley-Minto constitutional reform in 1909 was not even concerned with the hill 

areas surrounding Assaml84 In the next step, the Montagu-Chelmsford reform in 1919, brought 

about by the major contribution India had made to the British war efforts/8s the hill districts of 

the province of Assam were entirely excluded and put under the administration of the governor, 

based on paternal principles.186 The committee did so on the advice of the CC of Assam, whom 

they met in Calcutta. The committee never went to the province itself.187 

177 Ibid., Doc. 45, the Governor General of India in Council, to Secy. of State for India, dt. Delhi, 2nd/9th Nov. 1922, 
pp. 25-27. 
178 Ibid., Doc. 47, from Secy. of State, to Viceroy (F and PD), Telegram, dt. London, 19th (received the 20th) Dec. 
1922, p. 27. 
179 PGA, Vol. P/11448, June 1925, A&PD, Political Branch (PB), Doe. 108, fromJ. H Hunon, DC, NB, to the 
Commissioner, Surma Valley and Hill Division, dt. Kohima, 7th Dec. 1923, p. 21. 
180 J. P. Mills, TheAoNaf!f1S (London, 1926), p. 404. 
181 Shibanikinkar Olaube, Hill Pdi!:Us in North-East Irriia (New Delhi, 1973), p. 14. 
182 Ibid., p. 25. 
183 Ibid., p. 17. 
184 Government of India Proposals and Dispatch of the Secretary of State, 1907, Vol. 1. 
185 Hennann Kulke and Dietmar Rothennund,A historyiflrriia (Calcuna, 1991 [1986], p. 273. 
186 Report if the frarrhise cumitu£, 1918-1919 (Calcutta: Superintendent Government Printing, India), p. 269. 
187 Ibid., p. 2. 
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3.8 Self-role, Simon-Commission and Exclusion ofBackwarr1 Tracts 

In the middle of December 1928 the SDO NHD C. R Pawsey, based in Mokokchung, brought 

forward a proposal for the fonnation of a tribal authority among the Nagas, namely first only for 

the Lhotas as a test-run for self-government. The DC Hutton was positively inclined to the 

proposal but the Assam government called them back. It did not wish the scheme to be carried 

out at this particular time, when the statutory commission was on its way to India. It wanted the 

NHD separated from Assam and therewith removed from the reach of the legislative council and 

hoped to win over the statutory commission for this exclusion of the hill districts. More self­

government in the hills would only have endangered this.188 

The statutory commission, composed of English members of parliament, was also called 

the Simon Commission, after their chairmen Sir John Simon. The commission was appointed in 

1927 and sent to India in 1928 to inquire into a new reform scheme that resulted in the 

Gozemm:ntc{IndiaActof 1935.189 

Hutton, the then DC of the NHO, called in a meeting with the Naga leaders, to be 

briefed about how they envisioned the time after the British departure. The Nagas, although 

isolated from the Indian independence movement, had realised that the British would not for 

ever remain on the subcontinent and so had started their own national movement for the 

regaining of their sovereignty, according to a brief description of Panmei.l90 It seems certain to 

most of the authors that the Nagas had conveyed to Hutton their desire for independence. 

Hutton passed his report on, which resulted in the visit of the Simon Commission, led by John 

Simon, Oement Atlee and E. Cadogan, in January 1929 to Kohirna. 

When the commission arrived in Kohima on January, 10th 1929, members of the Naga 

Oub handed over a memorandum in which they described themselves as the representatives of 

their people, empowered to articulate its wishes. The memorandum furthermore said that the 

Nagas had already heard about reforms, but since they were still administered by the British, they 

did not see a reason to complain. Now they had to realise to their regret that they were included 

in future reforms, without their knowledge, and that they would be falling under any provincial 

government, and demanded to be administered in the future directly by the British government: 

"We never asked for any reforms and we do not wish for any reforms." 191 The NalP Merrurandum 

to the S irrm GJmrissUn continued that they always had been at war with the Indians and Assamese 

188 PGA, VoL P /11738, Appointment and Political Department. Political-A June 1929. Proposal for the fonnation 
of a tribal authority among the Lhotas in the Naga Hi1Is district. Does. 105-114, dt. between 15th December 1928 and 
27th May 1929, pp. 1-5. 
189 Kulke and Rotherrnund, A histaryiflniia, p. 274. 
190 Neherniah Panrnei, Naga movement and its ramifications. In: R Vashwn, Aleube Iheilung u. a. (eds.). NafFS at 
Worn. New Delhi, 1996), pp. 85-100, p. 87. 
191 Naga Memorandum to Sirnon Commission, dated 10th January 1929. Appendix I., In R Vashurn, Aleube Iheilung 
et al (eds.), NafFS at Worn (New Delhi, 1996), p. 151. 



137 

before the advent of the British and that they had never been conquered, that they were not 

unified among themselves, and that the only thing unifying them was the British administration. 

Education was still only rudimentary among them, and they had as yet no-one who could 

represent all the tribes to the outside world, let alone in a provincial council. Their population 

was small, compared to those in the plains and a however designed representation on their side 

would have no weight at all. Their languages were completely different from those of the plains 

and they had not the slightest social affinities with either Hindus or Muslims who looked down 

on them, the former because the Nagas ate beef, the latter due to their diet of pork and both 

despised them on grounds of their lack of education which, however, was not the Nagas' fault. 

These statements were followed by fear of becoming dominated socially, culturally, politically and 

economically by the Assamese and Indians, if the Nagas were included under the reforms. Thus 

they asked to remain either under British protection and administration or to be left alone: 

If the British government, however, want to throw us away, we pray that we should not be thrust to the 

mercy of the people who could never have conquered us themselves, and to whom we were never 

subjected, but to leave us alone to determine for ourselves as in ancient timeS.192 

The memorandum was signed by 20 members of the Naga dub - mainly interpreters by 

profession - representing the different tribes. It is not so much the desire for independence 

speaking out of the memorandum, but the realisation filled with consternation that the future 

could lie with the plainsmen who were superior to them in every way, especially in numbers. The 

fear they might be culturally and economically overpowered by those despising them, and the 

realisation that they themselves were not yet advanced enough to represent their political interests 

to the outside world, led them asking for a postponement. 

The government of Assam suggested in their memorandum to the commission the 

exclusion of the backward tracts - including Naga hills - following the advice of the then DC 

NlID Hutton. The backward tracts were to be continued to be administered by British 

officers,193 under the" ... Governor-in-Council, as agent for the Governor-General in council, and 

at the cost of central revenues."194 Therewith the Naga hills were to be put under central rule. 

Hutton, who had been working on this proposal together with other officers stationed in the 

hills, mainly argued that the union between the plains and the hills was artificial, only brought 

about by British conquest and that their inclusion into any legislative scheme would be a farce, 

since the hill people neither had the education nor were they politically united in any organised 

192 Ibid., pp. 151-152. 
193 'Memorandum submitted by the government of Assam to the Indian statutory commission 1930', In Irrlian 
Stdtutary Ormission, Volume XIV. London: Published by his Majesty's stationary office, p. 100. 



138 

form as to make sense for them to be part in a representation scheme.l95 The Simon Commission 

then consequently followed their advice in their recommendation for constitutional reform, 

without working out a specific scheme: 

Nowhere in India is the contraSt between the life and oudook of these wild hillmen and the totally 

distinct civilisation of the plains more manifest. The main areas classed as backward tracts are the 

Lushai Hills, the Naga Hills, the Garo Hills, the North Cachar Hills, and the British portion of the 

Khasi and Jaintia Hills. To these must be added the Lakhimpur frontier tract, the Balipara frontier 

tract, and the Sadiya frontier tract - the last running up to the Abor country and the borders of Tibet. 

( ... ) 
These races must be among the most picturesque in the world, and until their energies are sapped by 

contact with civilisation they remain among the most light-hearted and virile. To the economic self­

sufficiency of the indigenous hill races - the Nagas, Kukis, Mishmis, and the rest - the tea-planter and the 

immigrant Bengali alike constitute a real danger. To the loss of self-respect, of confidence in their warlike 

prowess, of belief in their tribal gods, and of unfettered enjoyment in their patriarchal (or rather, in some 

tribes, matriarchal) customs - changes which tend to exterminate so many primitive races - there has now 

been added the curtailment of freedom to burn down the forest and sow seeds in its ashes. The process 

has already begun and the best judges doubt how far the recent quiescence of the hill tribes - for the last 

expedition against them was in 1918 - is due to contentment. If progress is to benefit, and not to destroy, 

these people, it must come about gradually, and the adjustment of their needs with the interests of the 

immigrant will provide a problem of great complexity and importance for many generations to come. 

The great majority of the hill tribes are far from forgetting their warlike past, with its long record of 

raids upon the plains. Many of them probably regard the pax Britannica as a passing inconvenience. l96 

The Assam government's stand was motivated on the one hand by a concern for the survival of 

the hill people: " ... the lesson of the history throughout the world appears on the best authority to 

that primitive tribes, robbed of their own culture and faced with the competition of another on 

unequal terms, speedily decay and die out."197 This lesson, it reads, caused them to question their 

own moral responsibility: " .. .it is a matter for the most serious consideration whether the British 

Government, which found the hill tribes independent, can leave them dependent." 198 A 

consideration that would later be drowned in the empire's post-war struggle to muddle itself out 

of the raj. A rather weightier motivation will have been the fear of rebellion, if the hill tracts were 

194 Ibid., p. 101. 
195 J. H Hutton, 'Note, dt. Kohima 17th March 1928', In InJian StaMary Ormission, Volume XIV, Appendix B, 1930, 
pp. 111-117. 
196 RepartiftheStaMaryCanrission, Volume 1, Paragraph 94, quoted from PGA, Vol. P/11892, Political-A, 
September 1931, Government of Assam. The Governor in Council. Appointment and Political Department. Doe. 
134, from W. A Gosgrave, Chief Secretary to the Govt. of Assam to Secy. Govt. of India, Reforms Office, dt. 
Shillong, 29th July 1931, p. 2. 
197 PGA, Vol. P/11892, Political-A, September 1931, Government of Assam. The Governor in Council. 
Appointment and Political Department. Doe. 134, from W. A Gosgrave, Chief Secretary to the Govt. of Assam to 
Secy. Govt. of India, Reforms Office, dt. Shillong, 29th July 1931, p. 4. 
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included into the constitutional refonns, with the following change of rule and administration: 

" .. .it would be difficult, and might be dangerous, to entrust to the Legislative Council the final 

administrative control of the hill districts and frontier tracts."!99 Its fears of the consequences 

would prove prophetic: 

The Ministers of the future would find the demand that the hill districts should be brought into line 

with the regulation districts in the plains irresistible, both on political and financial grounds. Any 

uncontrolled invasion of foreign officials into the Naga Hills, the frontier tracts or the Lushai Hills, 

would inevitably cause serious trouble.200 

The government resolved that the hill areas should be excluded, and be put under the governor 

of Assam, as agent for the central government.20! Furthennore, that officials, missionaries, 

ethnologists and leading natives should in co-operation develop a policy to guide the hill people 

to self-organisation and eventually to self-rule, aiming at the political unification of the hills: 

"What is needed for the future is a policy of development and unification on lines suited to the 

genius of the hill peoples ... " .202 

In the Naga hills that meant to continue with the establishment of tribal committees and 

tribal self-rule. The Lhotas' was, as mentioned before, the first one, and in 1934 it was a success 

and supported by every Lhota village.203 Alemchimba writes that the Lhota council was already 

founded in 1923, and that it continued from then on. The Aos had theirs running only from 

1939, and the other tribes from the middle of the 1940s, yet he does not specify anything 

further,z04 

In May 1935 the report of the Simon Commission was fiercely debated in the British 

parliament and the members of the commission said the Nagas did not ask for self­

determination, but for protection.20s On the basis of the recommendation of the commission the 

NHD was declared an excluded area of the Assam province on April!'! 1937.206 This meant the 

exclusion of the NHD from all refonns carried out in the rest of India, and that the legislation 

was not applicable there. The NHD was to be administered on the orders of the governor of 

198 Ibid., p. 7. 
199 Ibid., p. 10. 
200 Ibid., p. 5. 
201 Ibid., p. 1l. 
202 Ibid., p. 4. 
203 HuttonPapers, Tour Diaries, 26th July 1934. 
204 M Alemchimba,A BrU{Histroria:dA(:(D.(rtifNafFlarri(Kohima, 1970), p. 165. 
20; PadiarrmtaryDeb:ltt5. Fifth Series - Volume 301 HC, (London, 1935), 10 May 1935, columns 1343-1449. 
206 M Horam, Na[F Insurwr:; TIx! IPst thirtyy:ars (New Delhi, 1988), pp. 40-41. 
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Assam who again functioned as deputy for the governor general of India. This arrangement 

remained active until the Transfer of Power.207 

3.9 The TmnsferofPower 

The Second World War took the initiative from the British colonialists. Though they hadn't lost 

the war they had lost what they had possessed in hegemony to their ally the United States. In 

India that meant they had to organise their departure. 

Although basically of least importance, this was true for the Northeast in general and the 

Nagas in particular, the British felt they had a moral obligation towards the "backward tribes" 

and their furure protection. "While it seems that there had been plans back in 1928 to exclude the 

tribal areas of Burma and Assam and bring them together under a separate but united provincial 

administration, by 1944 it was recognised that such a scheme would be unworkable, since it 

would incur the ferocious opposition of the Indian National Congress (INC).208 And while in 

August 1944 Amery still envisioned a crown colony scheme, with the accession of that territory 

to the Indian union after a generation or SO/09 he dropped this scheme a month later as being 

impracticable for a number of reasons, among them again the objection of the INC, but also the 

lack of any strategic or economic benefit that could arise out of such an arrangement for Britain. 

Hence, agreed on was some tentative scheme to put the "backward tribes" under the central 

government in order to protect them from provincial politics and legislature, and, for this reason 

to appoint an advisor on the backward tribes to the central government.2IO To work out the 

details of a furure constellation the governor of Assam dow supported the set-up of a special 

commission to investigate on the spot.211 The representatives of Congress and League for Assam, 

respectively Bardoloi and Sa'adullah, on their part were also only marginally interested in the 

tribes' fate, but both took their inclusion into a provincial scheme for granted, albeit for different 

207 Asoso Yonuo, The Risirf, NafFS: A Historical aniPditiaJ Study (Delhi, 1974), p. 133-139. 
208 Extract from private and secret letter from Lord Wavell to Mr. Amery, dated 27th July, 1944, OIOC: 
UPJ/7/6787 
209 Extract from private and secret letter from Mr. Ameryto Lord Wavell, dated 9/10th August, 1944, In ibid. 
210 Ameryto Field Marshall Viscount Wavell, India Office, 28 September 1944, in Nicholas Mansergh and Penderel 
Moon (eds.), The TransfercfPmeer, 1942·7, Vdum V, TheSinia Cnrferem: Ba<kgrrxqriani~, 1 Septerrkr 1944-
28 July 1945 (London, 1974), No. 25, pp. 52-56; Field Marshall VISCOunt Wavell to Mr Amery, The Viceroy's House, 
New Delhi, 3 December 1944, In ibid., No. 128, pp. 263-264. Lord Pethick-Lawrence to Sir J. Colville, India Office, 
24 August 1945, In Nicholas Mansergh and Penderel Moon (eds.), The TransfercfPm.ter, 1942-7, Vdum VI, Thepat­
wtrphase: rewmJll5 by the LalxMrGatermln, 1 August 1945 - 22 Manh 1946 (London, 1974), No. 66, pp. 153-154. 
Nearly twO years later, some or other solution under the central government was implicitly confirmed, among others, 
the Naga hills, since for one the economic development of those hills was seen as beyond the capacity of any 
provincial Government, and the exploitation of the hill people, it was stated prophetically, following from an 
unprotected scheme, would trigger sustained resistance that would need a long time and considerable funds to quell, 
see 'The Tribes of the North-West and North-East Frontier in a Future Constitution. Note by Government of India, 
External Affairs Department', In Nicholas Mansergh and Penderel Moon (eds.), The TransfercfPI7liEr, 1942-7, Vdunr 
VII, TheO:lbin:tMission, 23 Manh- 29 Jun: 1946 (London, 1974), No. 15, pp. 30-35. 
211 Summary of views of Sir 0. Caroe and Sir A aow on the tribal question given to the Cabinet Delegation in 
discussions at the VIcroy's House, new Delhi on 28 March 1946, In ibid., No. 16, pp. 35-39. 
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and conflicting reasons.212 By May-June 1946 it had been decided that the constitution making 

body, the union constituent assembly, was to set up an advisory committee that had to deal and 

make recommendations for the proper representation of India's minorities in independent India. 

Due to the fundamentally different situations of, for example, the tribals in the Northwest and 

those in the Northeast, the advisory committee was to set up special subcommittees that should 

deal with these respectively. Stress was laid on the expertise and independence of its personnel 

and the weight that its suggestions should carry forward vis-a-vis the constituent assembly.213 Yet 

by the end of the year the Congress-dominated preliminary constituent assembly had decided that 

the advisory committee's proposals could be ovenuled by the constituent assembly, making sure 

as to grant just as many safeguards as to not endanger Congress dominance.m The constitutional 

safeguards reached by this procedure for the Northeast were later called "sixth schedule". When 

by February-March 1947 the Naga National Council (NNq sent a memorandum to the British 

prime minister, with copies to Simon and OlUrchill, asking for the setting-up of a 10-years 

interim government, during which they could develop themselves politically and decide 

afterwards whether they would prefer complete independence or some arrangement with the 

Indian union, the secretary of state for India Pethick-Lawrence was assured by Sir Henry Knight, 

former short-time acting governor of Assam, that the NNC represented no-one but itself and 

hence might be safely ignored.215 When shortly after the governor of Assam Oow confirmed to 

the contrary, this did not matter much, and Mountbatten, on pragmatic grounds, agreed on the 

inclusion of the Naga hills into Assam, with some safeguards.216 In July Hydari informed 

Mountbatten on his reaching an agreement with the Nagas217 and with the Indepenc/erKe A a the 

Nagas were ceded to the Indian union.2ls 

212 Minutes of Meeting between Cabinet Delegation, Field Marshal VIscount Wavell and Mr Gopinath Bardoloi on 
Monday, 1 April 1946 at 4.50 pm, In ibid., No. 35, pp. 76-80 and Note of Meeting between Field Marshal Viscount 
Wavell, Cabinet Delegation, Mr Qaiyum and Sir M Sa'adullah on Tuesday, 2 April 1946, in Ibid., No. 40, pp. 88-90. 
213 Text of Sir S. G1pps' Press Converence given on 16 May 1946. The Cabinet Mission's Statement, In ibid., No. 
305, pp. 595-599; Record of Meeting of Cabinet Delegation and Field Marshal Viscount Wavell on Saturday, 8 June 
1946 at 4 pm, In ibid., No. 474, pp. 842-843; Record of Meeting of Cabinet Delegation and Field Marshal Viscount 
Wavell on 18 June 1946 at 10 am, In ibid., No. 559, pp. 967-969; Office Memorandum on the Advisory Committee 
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215 Lord Pethick-Lawrence to Rear-Admiral VIscount Mountbatten of Burma, India Office, 12 April 1947, In 
Nicholas Mansergh and Penderel Moon (eds.), The Tran;ferifPauer, 1942-7, Vdmrr X, The MOO111l:¥uten VUeroy.tlt)r 
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402. 
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11 July 1947, In Nicholas Mansergh and Penderel Moon (eds.), The Tran;ferifPauer, 1942-7, Vdum! XII, The 
Mcuntlutten VifEro:plt;r Prirm, Parti1im, aniIrcIepen;/en:E, 8 JuJy- 15 A~t 1947 (London, 1974), No. 68, pp. 104-105. 
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More suspense can be found in the developments on the spot in the Northeast. The 

British officers there thought they really had the task of arranging matters for the hills in relation 

to the new state of independent India. They were searching frantically for a solution. At first they 

also didn't take the Nagas serious as actors on the political scene,219 seeing themselves as their 

advocates who would represent and negotiate their case vis-a-vis the Indians. Yet, the NNC fast 

emerged as the political mouthpiece of the Nagas, so that the British officers found themselves in 

the role of mere interlocutors, or advisors to the Nagas. The problem here for Pawsey was mainly 

that the NNC consisted mainly of government servants. So if he advised them, as they expected 

from him, this would have been unacceptable to both Congress and the League, and Pawsey 

would have risked his own transfer.220 By February 1947, the superintendent of Lushai hills, in a 

document that was supposed to serve as one of the models, and addressed to the secretary to the 

governor of Assam, with respect to the Lushai hills and other previously excluded areas, 

suggested autonomous self-rule, except in areas of foreign policy and defence.m The governor of 

Assam Sir Akhbar Hydari, in a personal answer to these suggestions, disagreed with him, 

demanded on the contrary a single administrative unit, since the autonomy Macdonald, the SP 

Lushai hills, was proposing was associated with "independent sovereignty". Furthennore, that the 

hill people had been isolated too long, and would be greatly profiting from intense intercourse 

with the plains, and finally the plains would pay for many of the facilities in the hills, 

consequently the hill people would have to give back something in return, and the governor here 

was thinking in terms of co-operation and participation in the running of the province. This, 

according to the governor, would be greatly beneficial, since the hill people were not part of the 

communal problem, and moreover, had a better understanding of democracy than the 

inhabitants of the plains.222 

Special consideration was given to the tribal areas, and Mills, in his position as advisor to 

the governor of Assam for tribal areas and states cautioned Walker, the political officer Tirap 

Frontier Tract, who beforehand had uttered his concerns to Mills and had asked him for advise 

that Sir B. N. Rau, constitutional advisor to the constituent assembly, was of the opinion that no 

constitution could be forced upon the Naga hills tribal area. Mills quoted Nehru who, in his 

opinion, had gone even further in saying during a speech held on 13th April 1947: "We do not 

want to compel any Province or portion of the country to join Pakistan or Hindustan." It is clear 

that both these statements assured Mills that the tribal areas were to be dealt with in, what he 

219 Private correspondence from Mills to Archer, dt. Shillong, 25th Oct. 1946, In A n:her Papers, MSSEur F 236/80. 
220 A n:her Papers MSS E ur F 236/78, paper 2c, note, dt. 26th Dec. 1946. 
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A n:her Papers, MSS Eur F 236/78, paper 7. 
ill Confidential. D. O. No: 58/47 /G621-23. Governor's Secretariat, to A R H Macdonald, SP, Lushai Hills, Aijal, 
dt. Shillong, 23rd Apri11947, In ibid., paper 30. 
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considered, a decent way, and so he told Walker to advise the Nagas in Tirap that they should ask 

for the present system to be continued. Furthermore, that they should be aware of being pan of 

India which might put up militaty posts in their area, and would give them also assistance in 

other respects. All in all Mills was satisfied with the developments at this stage and had faith in a 

continuation of an administration that he deemed as appropriate.223 This is also shown by the fact 

that he sent a copy of this document to Pawsey, commenting that he did not see any objections 

why the Nagas in the tribal area might not accept any constitutional arrangement that might be 

made for the NHD.224 The British officers in the Nonheast therefore contacted the Nagas and 

informed them about what would happen and how they could take part in shaping the changes. 

The drama between the agents of the former colonial power, unfolded its full 

dimension by the end of April 1947, when Mills, now visibly alarmed, informed the British 

officers that the advisory subcommittee indeed came with a pre-fabricated plan and was 

determined to push that through. It was the crucial point, where the frontlines became clear and 

the British agents fought an uphill battle until not much later, when they gave in and sided with 

their successors, in state agents solidarity.225 Consequently, he urged the officers to advise the hill 

people to be unanimous in their negotiations with the subcommittee, and in case of any surprise 

questions, to ask for time to think it over, although, so he went on, this had been taken as 

differences in opinion in the case of the Lushais. Secondly, he stressed that excluded and tribal 

areas should, under any circumstances, be dealt with separately, since the latter were 

" ... completely independent and at liberty to negotiate its own terms ... " .226 Mills had attached to 

this memorandum a draft he had written on the legal status of the tribal area, where he came to 

the conclusion that the " ... Naga Tribal Areas of the Naga Hills District and Tirap Frontier Tract 

are both technically and for practical putposes outside British India, for there is a statutory 

boundary between them and the adjoining districts of the Province."227 Of course, Mills 

considered them independent as Indian states under the suzerainty of the British crown, not as 

having the right to stay outside the new Indian union, although for the most cases they might not 

have been aware of either. The reason why Mills wanted to ascribe to the tribal areas the status of 

Indian states was because he was convinced that the tribals were not able to speak for themselves 

and that the Indians could not do that either, since the latter were in no way acquainted with the 

223 Confidential. S.O.No. A 11146. J. P. Mills, Office of the Adviser to the Governor of Assam for Tribal Areas and 
States, dt. Shillong, 16th April 1947, to G. E. D. Walker, Political Officer, Tirap Frontier Tract, In ibid, paper 13. 
224 Ibid. 
225 Memorandwn. Most Secret and Personal. Mills to all P.OS and D.G Naga Hills, dt. Shillong, 24th April 1947, In 
ibid., papers 32 - 34. 
226 Ibid. 
227 Ibid., papers 35-39. Draft attached to previous docwnent. 
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former, and that therefore British officers should be made into the representatives of the tribal 

areas, although he was aware of the fact that this was unacceptable to the subcommittee.228 

Mills reported that the subcommittee gave considerable weight to the written word, such 

as recorded treaties, likewise his own draft on the legal status of the tribal people was based on 

recorded treaties. Pawsey, on the contrary, wrote to Mills that any divided administration for the 

Naga hills (i.e., separate solutions for the tribal area and the excluded area or NJID) was 

unworkable, and he suggested a unitary solution under the central government. 1bis would also 

have the advantage of being compatible with the NNCs demand for a ten years interim period, 

in order to establish their own standing. The only problems Pawsey saw were that Hydari was 

utterly opposed to it, and the question as to what the subcommittee was up to. Pawseys proposal 

was motivated by his conviction that it was more important to stop headhunting, than who was 

actually in charge of the area.229 

Archer, SDO Mokokchung, agreed with Mills that the required solution was the creation 

of a state under the central government, which would allow for the gradual development of 

relations with the province of Assam, but was aware that his prime minister Attlee had said in the 

house of commons that the hills of the Northeast would be grouped with Assam. Attlee, as 

quoted by Archer, said: "In regard to the hills in the Northeast frontier they come into the 

Province of Assam and they will be dealt with by the Constitutional Assembly of which Assam 

fonns a part.,,230 Mills then informed Archer that the ministry had declared him a per500a rm grata 

and that he had to have left by the 1st August. Mills by then was convinced that everything he said 

was refused, simply since it was him who had said it.231 

Eight days later we encounter a much more liberated Mills who in a very personal 

language informed Archer that the Transfer of Power definitely was now fixed for the 16th 

August the same year, and that due to the drain of Indian civil service officers out of Assam, 

Archer, if he wished so, might be able to stay on without problems, as Pawsey was to do until 

January 1948.232 

In a last and desperate stand, just before his departure, Mills informed the governor that, 

according to the Indian Irx:/eperK:IerK: Bill, the tribal areas had to be considered as independent and 

free to decide whether they would wish to join India or not: 

228 Ibid. 
229 Communication from Pawsey to Archer, dt. Kohima, 30th April 1947, In ibid., paper 42 and Secret D. O. 
No./3/C, C R Pawsey, Office of the Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, to J. P. Mills, Adviser to the Governor of 
Assam Tribal Area and States, Shillong, dt. Kohima, 30th April 1947, In ibid., paper 43. 
230 Ibid.: Notes, paper 54, dt. 3rd June 1947. 
231 Lener from Mills to Archer, dt. 15th June 1947, In ibid., paper 55. 
232 Lener from Mills to Archer, dt. Shillong, 24th June 1947, In ibid., paper 56. 
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(1) Clause 2 Section 1. - confines the two Dominions to British India, apart from States which may 

accede to them (Section 4). 

(2) dause 2 Section 7. - Sub-section 1(c) - refers specifically to the tribal areas. Treaties and agreements 

lapse, as do any obligations of His Majesty. Apparently therefore the tribal areas become completely 

independent until new treaties and agreements are entered into.233 

Mills was not suggesting that the people in the tribal areas should be independent, but that a legal 

exposition on their constitutional status should be drawn up and that they in turn were to be 

infonned about that.234 

Pawsey, in a pre-Transfer of Power communication to Archer, where he laid open his 

antipathy to the demand of some Nagas, a minority in his opinion, for complete independence, 

and in which he assured himself that the British needn't have any reason to feel guilty. At the 

same time he regretted that they did not have more time to set everything right: 

I don't know what the eventual fate of the Nagas will be - there's nothing we can do to help them 

that we haven't already done. But it seems a pity that we couldn't have had a few more years to get 

things straight.235 

TIlls letter exemplifies the mental position of the British officers on the spot in the Northeast. 

They were in a paternal way genuinely concerned about the future fate of the Nagas. They were 

surely averse to the Indian takeover, but they were enough children of their time, enough 

propagandists of nineteenth century state theory to be utterly opposed to the idea that the Nagas 

could be independent again. Their antagonism towards the Nagas' demand for independence and 

later to their struggle for freedom followed from that. As agents in the field of action we may 

safely assume that as long as they were on the spot they did work for an integration into the 

Indian union, even though they would have preferred a more protective scheme. This is 

demonstrated by the fact that they sided with the group of the Nagas that was opposed to 

complete independence.236 And although the British officers of the NHD were advising the 

Nagas and trying to exert their influence on them,237 we now know that the British officials 

wanted to have a protected arrangement for the Nagas, but under no circumstances did they 

want them to become independent, nor did they believe that the majority of the Nagas wanted 

233 Copy of U. O. (Memo) No. All/46 dt. 8.7.47. from]. P. Mills, the Adviserto the Governor of Assam Shillong 
to the Governor's SecretaryU/O, dt. Shillong, 8'" July 1947, In ibid., paper 71. 
234 Ibid. 
235 Leuer from Pawseyto Archer, dt. Kohima, 18'" July 1947, In ibid., paper 72. 
236 Leuer from Archer to Mayangnokcha, dt. 23rd July 1947, In ibid., paper 75-76. 
237 Leuer from Mayangnokcha to Archer, dt. Mokokchung, 15th September 1947 & Communication to The President 
of the Naga National Council from members of the NNC, dt. Mokokchung, 19th September 1947, In ibid., 
unnumbered. 



146 

that in the first place.238 The more the NNC demanded independence the more hostile the British 

became towards them, and even advised their successors to just ignore them. The then president 

of the NNC Aliba Imti got singled out as hated figure - the caricature of the westernised 

savage.239 

3.10 Conclusion 

The partial conquest of the Naga hills and the light administration that was imposed on them 

followed from the interplay between, on the one side the metropolitan and global imperial 

orientation that, as we have learned, was only restrained by its limitations in means and power, 

and, on the other side from the raj's personnel' inclination to ever funher annexations. The 

retreat from the subcontinent and the hand-over of the Naga hills to the successor creation of 

the raj, the Indian union, was forced on the British by their dramatic loss in standing and power 

in the course and wake of World War Two. We have seen that there never had been serious 

contemplation on the side of the British decision-makers to give back the Nagas their 

independence. This was never a matter of concern to them. 

The colonial conquest was followed by the delineation of the area to be permanently 

occupied and the efforts to acquire the geographical knowledge about it, including about its 

inhabiting populations. The next step was the enforcement of the monopoly of violence, the 

disarmament of the population and the removal of the village defences, followed by the levying 

of house-tax and the installing of headmen responsible for its collection. Then, a labour-force 

was registered, permanent cultivation was encouraged and jhuning discouraged The forests were 

taken over into British possession, as were rivers, lakes and wild animals. Medical services and 

schools were established and efforts made to acquire knowledge on Naga languages and society. 

Immigration was encouraged to supply the labour market. The hard-ware, the infrastructure -

public buildings, roads, bridges, paths - were built or extended and the Nagas asked or 

encouraged to move around, to travel, to go on trade excursions, to appreciate their newly won 

general freedom, even when it was forced upon them. However, the administrative penetration 

was incomplete and rudimentary. As we shall see in the following chapter all this had profound 

but far from determining consequences on the Nagas' socio-political identity formation. 

238 Letter from Mills to Archer, dt. Shillong, 4th August 1947. In: ibid., paper 84; Letter from Pawseyto Archer, dt. 
undated [sometime in October 1947], In ibid., paper 87. 
239 Letters from Pawseyto Archer, dt. 24th October and 5th November 1947, In A rrher Papers MSS Eur F 236/76. 
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Chapter Four 

The T nlnsfonnation of Naga Societies under Ollonialism 

4.1 Introduction 

In the previous chapter we learned why the Naga hills were partially conquered and how they 

were administered. In this chapter the aim will be to delineate the consequences the British 

colonial rule had for the populations of the Naga hills in respect of their socio-political identity 

formation. It is often argued that the post-independence Indo-Naga war is a child of British 

colonialism, the result of their devious divide-and-rule policy. The line of argument runs roughly 

like this: before the British arrival the Nagas originally did not exist as a distinct people and 

entertained cordial relations with the plains population. Through British categorisation and 

drawing of administrative boundaries the people of the hills became the Nagas, now separated 

from the people of the plains. In short, British and missionaries then made the Nagas into 

Christian nationalists and implanted in them their hatred for the Indians. Striking is here that 

European agency and its rudimentary rule is ascribed the power to have created radical new 

political identities.1 

At the end of the colonial rule the Nagas had an elite that was conscious of their own 

nation-being, and could consequently form themselves into a national organisation. We may 

say that five factors - categorisation, administration, Christianity, the First and the Second 

World War - in their interplay with local agency, were decisive in this. For, since most of the 

factors were driven or at least imported by foreign agency, it will in the end have been the 

local people who decided how to act on them, and thus shaped the outcome. The organisation 

of this chapter will be as follows: first a brief theoretical discussion of the above-mentioned 

process, followed by a discussion on the possible pre-colonial socio-political organisation of 

the Nagas, and finally an assessment of Naga identity formation. 

4.2 Colonialism, Categorisation, Administration, Christianity, and war 

Colonial empires were conquered by violence, with often devastating consequences for the 

conquered.2 Where the colonial powers did not encounter central organised polities, their 

personnel set out to bring what lay before them into a meaningful order: 

1 See the critique of the more recent literature on the Nagas in the Introduction. 
2 C A Bayiy, 'The British and indigenous peoples, 1760-1860: power, perception and identity', In Martin Daunton 
and Rick Halpem (eds.), E rrpire ani CXhers: British E rmmters '1lith Irriiwms P8:ples, 1600·1850 (Philadelphia, 1999), pp. 
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The state, confronted with a diverse set of colonial subjects, set about the task of classifying them. ( ... ) 

The science of colonial domination required a process of sorting and labelling; early colonial archives 

are filled with the results of the laborious inquests into local societies earnestly conducted by the first 

generation of field administrators.3 

They assumed that these stateless societies were organised in tribes, and tribes were socially, 

politically, culturally, and even biologically bounded units. Administrators, who turned into 

anthropologists, were there to identify and understand these tribal units as a basis for indirect rule 

as Illife demonstrates in the case of East Africa: 

The term 'tribe' constituted the pivotal point of the indirect rule in Tanganyika. The colonial 

administrators refined that in the German period prevalent thinking in racial categories and assumed that 

every African belonged to a tribe, as every European belonged to a nation. This idea owes itself doubtless 

to a large degree to the Old Testament, Tacitus and Caesar, and to the academic distinctions between 

tribal societies, which are based on status, and modem societies, based on contracts, as on post-war 

anthropologists, who preferred the term 'tribal', rather than the more negative one 'savage'. Tribes were 

considered as cultural units, which 'do have a common language, a non-complex societal system and an 

established code of customs'. Their political and societal system was based on kinship. The membership 

to a tribe was inherited: The history of Africa presented itself as a enormous family tree - small tribes 

were off-springs of big ones, so that they, as parts of the bigger whole, when needed, could be re-jointed 
. 4 

agam. 

Ranger argues that Africans, together with Europeans, invented tribes, that African societies 

before European arrival constituted itself out of overlapping associations of ideas of social 

organisation, which allowed for a wide range of possible identities.s But when subsequently 

colonial bureaucrats were striving for effective units for administration, the Africans were striving 

for effective units in which they could act. The Europeans presumed that Africans belonged to 

tribes, and the Africans were just doing that, they created them.6 Ranger is not saying that African 

19-41. The less centralised the harder these societies were affected by their incorporation into the global political 
economy of the empire (ibid.). Moreover, many epidemic diseases could not sustain themselves among relatively 
small and isolated tribal societies, i.e. they could not develop antibodies against them, so once exposed to them they 
suffered heavy epidemics, see Jared Diamond, Guns, Germ arri Stai: the jaus ifhummscxieties (London, 1997), pp. 203-
205. 
3 Crawford Young, 'Ethnicity and the Colonial and Postcolonial State in Africa', In Paul Brass (ed.), Ethnic Craps am 
the State (London, 1985), pp. 57-93, p. 74. 
4 J. Iliffe, A McdemHistory ifT~ (Cambridge, 1979), pp. 323-324, cf Terence Ranger, 'Kolonialismus in 

Ost- und Zentralafrika: von der traditionellen zur traditionalen Gesellschaft - Einspriiche und 
Widerspriiche', In J an-Heeren Grevenmeyer (ed.), TradiJicnUe Gesdlschften urd ewrpiisd?er Kdarialisrms 
(FrankfurtlM, 1981), pp. 16-46, pp. 19-20, my re-translation. 

5 Ranger, 'Kolonialismus in Ost- und Zentralafrika: von der traditionellen zur traditionalen Gesellschaft -
Einspriiche und Widerspriiche', p. 22. 
6 Ibid., p. 24. 
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tribes are European constructions, but that they were created by Africans as answer to the 

colonial situation. 

An opposite standpoint is to state, like Maybwy-Lewis, that " .. .Africa which the 

colonialists conquered was a continent of distinct peoples, who came to be known as tribes.,,7 

This would, in contradistinction to Ranger, mean that the term "tnbe" is just a new name for 

something that was already there.s Consequently, the classificatory work of the colonial masters 

would have just identified existing units, and not have stimulated the creation of new ones. 

And when we take into consideration, as Connor reminds us, that the term "tribe" was 

never a hundred percent defined, that it was used, for instance, in Asia in such a way that one 

people consisted of several tribes (e.g. Pashtunes and Kurds), while in non-Arabic Africa, on the 

other hand, the term "tribe" was mostly applied to groups that presented separate people (e.g. 

Ashanti, Hausa, Ibo, Xhosa, Zulu),9 then the solution that suggests itself is to question, as Young 

is doing, the defining power of the colonialist and to concede only a modification of collective 

representations. 10 Young reminds us, for instance, that the French in North Africa had tried and 

failed to create an overarching Bemer identity. 11 

One of the first who questioned the usefulness of the concept of the "tribe" was 

Edmund Leach. Struggling with the lived complexity in Upper Burma he rejected it as unusable,12 

and as fictitious: 

.. .1 would claim that it is largely an academic fiction to suppose that in a 'nonnal' ethnographic situation 

one ordinarily finds distinct 'tribes' distributed about the map in orderly fashion with clear-cut boundaries 

between them. ( ... ) My own view is that the ethnographer has often only managed to discern the 

existence of 'a tribe' because he took it as axiomatic that this kind of cultural entity must exist. Many such 

tribes are, in a sense, ethnographic fictions. 13 

Leach demonstrated that social systems and cultures were not congruent, 14 and that societies only 

could be understood, if one studies them as they are - being in an interdependent relation with 

each other. 

7 David Maybury-Lewis, Jniig:rrns P~, EthnicGmps, ani the State (Boston, 1997), p. 53. 
8 Ibid., p. 54. 
9 Walker Connor, E t:hmn:tt:iomlism ?he qutst far urderstarriirf, (princeton, 1994), pp. 107-108. 
10 Young, 'Ethnicity and the Colonial and Postcolonial State in Africa', p. 75. 
11 Ibid., p. 77. 
12 Edmund R Leach, Pclitiral S)5tem; ifHifiianiBumu: A StudyifKadinSaial Struawes {London, 1964 [1954], p. 
XV. 
13 Ibid., pp. 290-29l. 
14 Ibid., p. 279. 
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It seems to me axiomatic that where neighbouring communities have demonstrable econODllC, 

political and military relations with each other then the field of any useful sociological analysis must 

override cultural boundaries.ls 

To what extent new categories concurred with old ones will have to be different in every- case, 

but we can assume, that as a rule, colonial categorisations had to be congruent, at least partially, 

with existing identifications, to be effective. Funher, that assumptions of " ... discrete, bounded 

groups, whose distribution could be captured on an ethnic map", 16 were then as they are today: 

not corresponding with a more complex and interconnected reality. Neither was the unit 

monolithic - other units of identification remained intact - nor completely bounded to the 

outside: the so-called tribes were overlapping socially, politically, culturally, and biologically with 

other fonnations. How these networks worked in detail would have to be the topic of intense 

further research, but how we may have to imagine, at least approximately, the dynamic of more 

inclusive identity fonnation and delimitation might become clearer with the following 

observation of Prasenjit Duara: 

Sociologically, communities may be thought of not as well-bounded entities but as possessing various 

different and mobile boundaries that demarcate different dimensions of life. These boundaries may be 

either soft or hard. One or more of the cultural practices of a group, such as rituals, language, dialect, 

music, kinship rules or culinary habits, may be considered soft boundaries if they identify a group but 

do not prevent the group from sharing and even adopting, self-consciously or not, the practices of 

another. Groups with soft boundaries between each other are sometimes so unself-conscious about 

their differences that they do not view mutual boundary breach as a threat and could eventually even 

amalgamate into one community. 

An incipient nationality is formed when the perception of the boundaries of community are 

transformed, namely, when soft boundaries are transformed into hard ones. This happens when a 

group succeeds in imposing a historical narrative of descent and! or dissent on both heterogeneous 

and related cultural practicesY 

Seen like this, then in the case of the Southeast Asia, including the Indo-Burma region, there are 

only soft boundaries among the hill people, and Leach considered them as essentially one people. 

Thus from a hill people perspective the potential for hard boundaries runs between hills and 

plains. IS 

I; Ibid., p. 292. 
16 Young, 'Ethnicity and the Colonial and Postcolonial State in Africa', p. 74. 
17 Prasenjit Duara, Rescui.rf, Historyfomthe NatiIrr QlestiorTirf, Narratiu:s ifMcdem China (Ollcago, 1995), pp. 65-66. 
18 Edmund Leach, 'The Frontiers of "Burma''', Car{klratir.eSIJ.ldU5 inSocietyaniHistory, Vol. 3, No. 1, Oct. 1960, pp. 
49-68. 
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However, the relative impact of colonial categorisation and of the other factors associated 

with colonialism on the life and consciousness of the local populations depended on the 

respective penetration of the lived reality through the colonial actors, their assistants and 

institutions. Communications, density and effectiveness of administration, proximity to economic 

and administrative centres, and the change of the mode of production - from subsistence 

economy to employment, from barter to money economy - all played a role.19 Dependent on the 

relative confrontation with the Other and its categorisation will have been the impact on self­

identification.20 

An important factor for the reformulation, extension and strengthening of social 

identities in the colonial encounter were the standardisation and textualisation of languages and 

the introduction of school systems.21 This was mostly done by missionaries, who functioned as 

informal extension of the colonial state in the area of cultural politics: 

In organising their labours, mission congregations faced immediate decisions on language. Unlike the 

state administrators, they did not really have the option of working only in the metropolitan language, as 

the nature of their task compelled much more intimate contact. Missionaries thus set themselves to the 

task of identifying, classifying, and reducing to writing selected African languages. On the basis of the 

most slender knowledge, resource-maximising choices were necessary, to identify a language which 

ideally could serve throughout the territorial domain of the congregation. 'The very act of producing 

grammars and dictionaries, printing manuals and catechism materials (and, for Protestants, Bibles), and 

using this new mission-standard form as the base for the embryonic primary schools and evangelical 

instruction introduced a radically new element into the dynamics of linguistic change in Africa,zz 

Missionary activities were often only carried out, or allowed and supported by the colonial 

authorities, where there was no prior existing larger political unit and! or a high, ergo book 

religion, and where it was perceived of having the potential for contributing to pacification. 

Especially if we recall the experience of Europe, where the standardisation of languages was, in 

established states, the open project of the state (as in Northwestern Europe), or among a self­

perceived cultural nation the project of a cultural elite (as in Central Europe), we may concede to 

it an unifying effect. Even more so since missionaries trained locals to carry out this work, and 

where the former failed to achieve the objective, the latter were often more successful. This task 

necessitated the establishment of educational and religious centres that provided a network in 

which members of beforehand often different and more localised societies now conversed in a 

19 Young, 'Ethnicity and the Colonial and Postcolonial State in Africa', p. 85; Donald L. Horowitz, Ethnic Groops in 
Corf/ict (Berkeley, 1985), p. 75. 
2J Richard J enkins, Rcthirkini!, ethrriciJ:y argum:rts an:i ex:ploratiln (London, 1997), passim. 
21 Young, 'Ethnicity and the Colonial and Postcolonial State in Africa', p. 76. 
22 Ibid., pp. 78-79. 
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common medium. But in stressing local agency, we have to see education and Christianity, made 

accessible by missionary translations, as welcome new means to counter white dominance, which 

the converts could turn to their own advantage, and which had an empowering and liberating 

effect. So did, for instance, the impact of the existence of indigenous missionaries convey the 

message of equality.23 

Further, social identity by its very nature depends on the context: group borders tend to 

change with the political context. One of the most important factors of the political context are, 

in Horowitz's view, territorial borders, which tend to give rise to persistent groups, because they 

are structuring the context for group interaction.24 When a territory, for example, is inhabited by 

two (in Horrowitz' tenn) ethnic groups, then the membership to either of them is important. If 

the territory becomes divided, the importance of this membership declines and other 

identifications are stepping to the fore, like region, religion and politics. During the colonial time 

territorial horizons were widened in Africa and Asia and led to a corresponding subgroup­

amalgamation. The colonial masters created territories out of loosely connected villages and 

regions, which led to, according to Horowitz, the formation of many new groups, for example 

the Malay in Malaysia, the Ibo in Nigeria, Kikuyu in Kenya, Bangola in Zaire, Moro in the 

Philippines.25 Colonial authorities and missionaries did bring them into a relationship or tied 

them into a coherent ethnic unit: 

Some amalgams emerged because other, lower-level identities were no longer apt, though many such 

groups also retained the older identities as alternatives, available for frequent invocation in appropriate 

circumstances.26 

Horowitz cites the examples of the Malay and the Kikuyu. Both are presenting cohesive units, 

who are still able to split along places of birth, but: 

Everywhere ... participants in the process of amalgamation had to adjust their identity upward to conform 

to the new and larger environment. ( ... ) They changed their identity by a process of shifting and sorting 

among the range of peoples they now confronted .... identity was forged through the interplay of self­

definition and definition by othersP 

23 Andrew Porter, '"Cultural Imperialism" and Protestant Missionary Enterprise, 1780-1914', The Jaowl if Irrperial 
ani C1Jrmvm.tealth History, VoL 25, No. 3, September 1997, pp. 367-391. 
24 Horowitz, Ethnic Groops in 0Jrflict, p. 66. 
25 Ibid. 
26 Ibid., p. 67. 
27 Ibid. 
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Even when differences inside the cohesive group were perceivable, the colonial context brought 

together groups whose differences were larger in extent. Identities with small differences 

transfonned in opposition to those with bigger differences to cohesive units, that means that a 

heterogeneous group per se could transfonn itself, in a even more heterogeneous context, into a 

homogenous one. Affinities were stressed and differences that were important in the past, were 

neglected. The previously heterogeneous Malays today are a homogeneous group vis-a-vis the 

Chinese immigrants: 

If assimilation involves the simplification of identities in a more heterogeneous environment, 

differentiation entails drawing fine distinctions among people in a less heterogeneous environment,28 

[and] Changing context can work for fission as easily as for fusion, and lower and higher levels of identity 

can coexist and be activated as territorial boundaries change.29 

Taking this into account, not the drawing of arbitrary borders was important, but the creation of 

territories that by far smpassed in size preceding political units.3° This could lead to the 

adaptation of prior existing social institutions, which were not posing a danger to colonial rule, 

meaning that prior existing kinship-based groups got more inclusive" ... one of the most powerful 

influences on the scope and shape of "we" and "they' has been the scope and shape of political 

boundaries."3! Cdonial units of administration turned into the dominant frames of reference for 

their inhabitants.32 The more the colonial administration effectively penetrated the respective 

territory, the more this was the case for its population. Otherwise, at least, and most probably in 

the first place, was the local elite affected by the drawing of colonial boundaries, their journeys 

and acts that took these as their frame of reference. Anderson's insights into the effects of the 

journeys of the elite, are based on the elite of the dominant groups inside colonial empires.33 Yet 

the dynamics Anderson describes surely worked in the same way, although on a smaller scale, for 

those segmentary groups who came under colonial administration and, as hinted at before, were 

subject to the work of missionaries. In the case of many segmentary societies, living on the 

margins of the colonial empires, administration and missionary networks served in the way 

Anderson describes for the elite of the dominant populations. The contact with western ideas, in 

especially the idea of the nation, affected group fonnation in the colonial empires. The 

diminishing legitimacy of the European dynasties and the upcoming of the nationalisms of 

28 Ibid., p. 68. 
29 Ibid., p. 69. 
3C Ibid., p. 76. Yet was only consequential when improved communications and increased interaction made these 
boundaries effective and meaningful. 
31 Ibid., p. 75. 
32 Young, 'Ethnicity and the Colonial and Postcolonial State in Africa', p. 80. 
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Europe forced the European aristocracy to jump on the bandwagon of nationalism and to 

perpetuate an official policy of nationalisation.34 They wanted to save their empires with the help 

of the national principle.35 The European model of the nation-state with its component of 

planned nationalisation-campaigns turned into a modeP6 that was exported via imperialism to 

Asia and Africa. Financial considerations made it expedient to create a bilingual elite in the 

colonies, who, through the language of their colonial masters, got access to print-media and to 

western ideas, and therewith to the " ... models of nationalism, the nation-being and the nation­

state."37 This bilingual elite was denied career opportunities in the colonial metropolis, and only 

found employment in their colonial units of administration. On their journeys inside these units, 

between the peripheries and the centres, they developed a growing sense of community.38 In the 

beginning these bureaucrats were not very many, but because of the growing needs of the 

colonial state in the twentieth centuty, they were joined by a whole army of bilingual 

intermediaries. They got their education in highly centralised colonial school systems, which 

corresponded structurally to the bureaucratic units of the colonial empires. The centralised form 

of the education system resulted in the young elite undertaking journeys from all parts of the 

colonial administration units to their centres, journeys which were similar to those of the 

bureaucrats. In those centres they developed a sense of community, with those who shared the 

same experiences?9 Thus the administrative unit turned into their world, inside which they, on 

the basis of a common language for administrative duties, developed an imagined community. 

This elite were provided with models of nationalism via the print media and herewith the 

instruction for putting them into action.40 

Yet, as already noted, we are not to understand these factors as starting out on a blank 

page, but as adapted to the existing situation: 

The state and its agencies certainly penetrated and modified society itself, but they entered it as tree­

roots grow into rock - along its extant fractures and potential flaws. Dissatisfied claimants and 

feuding subalterns often sought such intervention against their enemies. Social groups usually knew 

and sometimes had to account for their members, and enumeration was used and understood.41 

33 Benedict Anderson, Die E ifirrlurf!, der N atiarr Zur Kariere eim fd~ Korrzeptes (Franfurt, 1983 [Imtfim/ 
ilimunities: Rifla:tims on the Origin ani S pmu1 if N ationdisrriJ). 
34 Ibid., p. 90. 
35 Ibid., p. 9l. 
36 Ibid. 
37 Ibid., p. 118. 
38 Ibid., p. 117. 
39 Ibid., p. 123. 
40 Ibid., pp. 132-133. 
41 Sumit Guha, 'The Politics of Identity and Enumeration in India c. 1600-1990', c:w,uratiz.e Studies in Sait:ry ani 
History, 2003, Vol. 45, pp. 148-167, p. 155. 
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Further, as had been said already in Chapter Two, political communities and societies existed 

prior to the advent of European colonialism: 

Community structures of feeling and communication survived into the colonial era, and used the 

colonial public sphere to assert their claims. Some fissures closed and others opened. ... These 

communities had always been political; they now responded to the dialectic of colonialism and the 

opportunities of a new politics without being thereby transfonned into creatures of the colonial or 

post-colonial imagination.42 ... the social processes of identity formation continued independent of the 

official classifications. 43 

That is to say we have to do more research into local agency that always has to be placed into the 

interplay with the wider framework We have to take both seriously, and we have to take into 

account the limitations of a foreign power stretched thin on the ground, unless we may adopt its 

self-image of an omnipotent culture-hero (or villain). To try to ridicule people's assertions of 

their own difference as colonial, post-colonial, modem etc. constructs an assertion that often is 

fonnulated 

... precisely in opposition to a foreign-imperial presence. ( ... ) [and] ... entails the people's anempt to 

control of the technical and political means that up to now have been used to victimize them. ...an 

anack on the cultural integrity and historical agency of the peripheral peoples, ... [ and is to] do in 

theory what imperialism anempts in practice.44 

Having made space for this authoritative voice, it is time to explore briefly the pre-colonial socio­

political organisation of the Naga hills. 

4.3 The Pre-Colonial Socio-Political Organisation 

To understand the consequences of colonialism we have to try to fathom the pre-colonial starting 

point. In Chapter Two we tried to embed the Nagas in their pre-British colonial political 

landscape and showed in the example of the Tengima group of the later Angamis that there were 

groups around the Naga hills which had a consciousness that was political and not much 

different from nationalism. We will now set out to sketch a little more closely the socio-political 

design of several groups that later would be called tribes and today make up parts of the Naga 

nation.45 

42 Ibid., pp. 162-163. 
43 Ibid., p. 161. 
44 Marshall Sahlins, 'Goodbye to Tristes Trrpes: Ethnography in the Context of Modem World Hstorj,Jaund if 
MrxlemHistory65 (March 1993), pp. 1-25, pp. 4 and 7. 
45 The origin of the word "Naga" is not clear, despite efforts by anthropologists and historians (see, G. Kamei, 
'Origin of the Nagas', In R. Vashum, Aleube Ihleilung et al (eds.), Na~ at Work, (New Delh~ 1996), pp. 7-20, p. 7). 
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However, since our data is unfortunately itself the product of colonial investigation we 

will consider our findings as preliminary.46 The easiest to say is that the social organisation of the 

Nagas consisted of crosscutting ties among different groups. To be more precise the individual 

and the household were integrated into the society via being part of different units like lineages, 

clans, age-groups, classes, rrcJrt(}7j§47 and villages. These attachments were sometimes 

complementary and at other times in conflict with each other, as when a 1?1Jf'UJ1i!" for instance, had 

members from two or several clans, which opened the possibility for conflicting loyalties to either 

rrrJrnJ1f5 or clan. The Konyaks considered the loyalty towards the clan as of paramount importance, 

while the Aos, on the other side, rated the one towards the rmrung as higher. But in general no­

one was allowed to kill someone from his own clan.48 A child, as a rule, belonged to the clan of 

the social father, and clans often stretched over several villages. These clans, sharing and 

extending through a number of villages came closest to something like a tribe-type community. A 

clan, per definition, is a kinship group with an assumed common ancestor. dan relationships 

among the Nagas, however, could be manipulated to establish the wanted constellation between 

lineages. The clan defined how one was to address others, what one was allowed to eat, who one 

could marry and whom ones most likely foes were.49 

A village consisted of different groups. The respective importance of these lineages, clans, 

age-groups, ~ and classes depended on the emphasis which the different communities put 

on them, and varied from one to the other. Among the Semas and Thendu Konyaks the 

structuring principle were the rules of residence, among the Aos and Thenkohs this role was 

taken on by the age-groups, and among the Angamis by kinship relations. The respective 

There are references to the kiratas in old Sanskrit texts and Indian scholars argue that Kirata means "Indo­
Mongolian". Then the term "Naga" would be derived from Sanskrit Na~ - snake, or Ng - mountain/hill. Another 
theory says that the "Naga" developed out of the Assamese NcYiF - mountain-dweller. Further, there is the theory 
"Naga" stems from Sanskrit NCUW - naked. Ptolemy, who visited India in the second century A D., writes in his 
Gwgraphia about the Na~ (Sanskrit la;p - people), of whom was assumed that they lived in eastern India. Others 
assume "Naga" is a derivation from the Tibeto-Burmese NcR, it meaning "people", or see it as originated from the 
language of the Kachari, where the word Nck or Nckhar means warrior - there were frequent anned conflicts 
between Kacharis, Angamis and Zeliangrong (R Vashum , "Some reflections on Naga society. An Anthropological 
perspective", In ibid., pp. 61-77, p. 63). Yet, it is sure that "Naga" was an exogenous term, used in a wider sense for 
all hill peoples by the Assamese, Ahoms and Bengalis (Y. L. Roland Shinuni, Cmparatiu: History if the NaWJS: From 
Arrient Peria:i Till 1826 (New Delhi 1988), p. 49). It only was popularised and accepted as an endogenous and generic 
term through the use of it by the British (Kame~ 'Origin of the Nagas', p. 10). For the possibility that the Aryans, in 
the course of their conquest of the subcontinent, called all hill people "Nagas", see A L. Basham, The Won:kr thlt '1iDS 

Irrlia (Calcuna, 1992 [1967]), pp. 65 and 319. 
46 Possibly in the way of oral history as conducted in Uganda by Ronald R Atkinson, The Rem if Ethnicity The Orifirs 
if the A dxii ifUffUXla B(are 1800 (philadelphia, 1994). 
47 In societies in which the nvrnng was an important institution children in the age between 6-12 years stopped 
sleeping in their parents house, and instead moved into the ~ where they were prepared for their role as adults, 
and where they stayed until marriage, see JulianJakobs, The NilWJS: Hill Pr:rpk5 ifNartheast Irrlia (Stungart 1990), p. 56. 
48 Jakobs, The NaWJS: Hill Pr:rpk5 ifNartheast Irrlia, p. 53. 
49 Ibid., p. 56. 
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dominant units among these groups therefore were the village, the rrurur7i!, and the village council, 

and the clan.50 

Among the Thendu Konyaks, the chiefs, called a:rTf§ were not only political rulers, but also 

had ritual functions. They selVed as medium and vehicle of and for fertility. Nevertheless, the 

power of the a17i§ could be challenged, for example in the case of failing crops or the loss of 

tribute from other villages, a rebellion could be staged and the village might move to a more 

egalitarian system.5! This must have happened in the case of the Thenko Konyaks, whose villages 

were ruled by councils of elders, and in which the 17"IJrUI1f§ were the largest buildings, not those of 

the a17i§, as it was among the Thendus. Both communities knew the differentiation between 

classes of aristocrats and those of commoners. Yet, while the Thendus were organised in 

commoners and aristocrats, the differentiation was without meaning among the Thenkohs. 

Jakobs, in following Leach,52 sees herein two possible transformations of one form of society.53 

Among the Aos the political unit was the village.54 Every village was divided into two or 

more khels,55 corresponding to a territorial division. The khels were constituted of members of 

different clans.56 Every khd had 2-3 rrvnII1fI7 whose members came from different clans, but 

always only from the respective khel. The individual identified him- Iherself with the rrurur7i!,.58 The 

organisation of the village was based on age-groups, which moved periodically into the rmnmg, 

and that, depending on age, were responsible for different social tasks. The political affairs of the 

village were looked after by a village council. There was no village chief. The village council only 

assembled to deal with important decisions, and consisted of delegates of the different khd 

councils, which again split into independent councils, made up of members of the different 

17"IJrUI1f§. Every one of these councils was independent on its respective level,59 disputes were 

decided on and solved by the councils of the concerned leve1s.60 Each decision-finding was 

preceded by a simultaneous noisy exchange of different opinions. This led the British to conclude 

that there was no-one among the Aos who had real power. 

We already learned about the Angamis and the absence of any real authority among them, 

and consequently they were considered as the most egalitarian of all Naga groupS.6! The political, 

social and religious unit of Angami society was the clan, reflected in fortifications between the 

50 Ibid., p. 64. 
;1 Ibid., p. 70. 
;2 Leach, Pditical S)5tem ifHiiiarriBIII77U: A Study cf!Vuhin Saial StrnaurEs. 
;3 J akobs, The NafFS, p. 70. 
54 Mills, The A 0 NafFS, pp. 176-177. 
;; A kai is the territorial division of villages, sometimes more sometimes less obviously marked. 
~ Ibid., pp. 73-76. 
;7 Ibid., p. 187. 
;8 Ibid., pp. 73-76. 
;9 Ibid., pp. 181-185. 
60 Ibid., p. 195. 
';1 Jakobs, The NafFS, p. 72. 
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territorially separate living clans sharing a village. Oans of the same village often were engaged in 

a headhunting relationship with each other. These clans were by no means rigid institutions, but 

tended to split due to exogamous marriage rules. A village only united, if at all, in times of war 

with an external enemy.62 The political organisation of the Angamis was not completely clear 

even to Hutton who worked for decades among them. There must have been something like 

chiefs in every clan, according to Hutton, whose influence rested on their personal achievements, 

but manifested itself again, if at all, only in times of war. Their authority was nominal, and orders 

were only followed if they coincided with the wishes of the community, stressing again the 

consensual outlook of Angami society. Disputes mostly were discussed by an informal council of 

elders, under the participation of the public. The discussions went on until a consensus was 

reached, the decisions, however, were neither binding nor always followed.63 

The Rengmas divided each village into several kheIs, the lines between which were clearly 

drawn for everyone, yet not marked physically in any way. Every khel was inhabited by only one 

clan or, if otherwise, dominated by one, after which it also was named. Each khel had at least one 

rrIJrUJ1f964 representing an important institution,65 its state indicating the wealth of the respective 

khel.66 The members of a nvrung were also mostly members of the same khel and the nvrung 

represented the primary unit of identification.67 A village chief was chosen from one clan at a 

time and his office went from one clan to the other. He had no compulsory measures at his 

disposal and could be dismissed by public opinion. The respective clans chose the one among 

them whom they considered as the most able when it was for them to fill the office of the village 

chief. Disputes between clans often resulted into the decision to split, and could result in such a 

distancing that they could develop into marriage partners.68 It often happened that villages 

and! or clans headhunted on each other, but at the same time exchanged marriage partners. In 

that case, women who originated from the enemy village, could, despite headhunting, visit their 

parents, and enjoyed immunity for that time.69 

The basis of Serna society was either the village, or a part of it, the khel, under the control 

of a hereditary chief. The chief and his patrilinear relations (kinship) constituted the pivotal point 

among the Semas. He had considerable powers, but was assisted by a council of elders when 

important decisions had to be made or serious disputes had to be settled A khel consisted of 

62 J. H Hunon, TheAYf}U1i NalJlS: WzthSareNcm onNei~ Trik (Bombay 1969 [1921], p. 109. 
63 Ibid., pp. 142-144. We have discussed the Angamis' decision-finding process at some length in Otapter Two. 
64 J. P. Mills, The Rerwu NalJlS (Gauhati 1980 (1937), pp. 55-56. 
65 Ibid., p. 50. 
66 Ibid., p. 49. 
67 Ibid., p. 56. 
68 Ibid., pp. 139-140. 
69 Ibid., pp. 161-162. 
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members of several exogamous clans, yet played only an organisational role in the area where the 

territory of the Semas bordered that of the Angamis.70 

Among the Lhotas the village represented an independent political unit inside the tribe, 

and it was only in times of war that these villages united under the leadership of the most 

powerful of them. War was waged only against villages of other tribes.71 Headhunting inside the 

tribe was forbidden. Outside of times of war each village respected the sovereignty of the other 

one.72 Every village was divided into two or more khels, the division sometimes marked by a 

narrow strip. Khels were mostly inhabited by members of several clans, and each khel had a 

rrIJrUJ1i!,.73 The affairs of a village were dealt with by a council of elders coming from the whole 

village, only when the village was very big, then the council consisted of the most influential 

persons of the different khels?4 Disputes were settled by a council of elders with the participation 

of all concerned?5 

These sketches of the social and political organisations of different societies are idealised 

and standardised descriptions for which always only a part served as model for what was claimed 

to be covered. From the data presented here, I would say that Aos and Lothas had a different 

and more elaborate system then the others, and that theirs was not simply the democratic end of 

the scale (that in my view was wrongly ascribed to the Angamis who tended to be more 

dominated by pure clan politics), but an elaborate system that seemed to incorporate more 

segments of society and to have in-built checks and balances that may have made it possible for 

large populations to live together in a democratic way. However, before we proceed, we have to 

state the obvious, namely that these sketches, though presented and received as extra-temporal 

truths, were taken at a particular time (that is in the main during the first quarter of the twentieth 

century) and only conditionally transferable to, for instance, earlier periods. There is some 

evidence that the Angamis might have had real chiefs at an earlier stage/6 like their neighbours 

the Semas still had.77 Among the Konyaks the population of a village killed the chief and his 

family, if unsatisfied, and installed his son as chief, yet with lesser powers.78 Other villages of the 

Konyaks had given up their democratic practice only shortly before the contact with the British, 

and invited ~ from hierarchically organised villages to settle among them.79 The democratic 

villages of the Konyak were those bordering their democratic neighbours the Aos and were the 

70 J. H Hutton, The Semt Na[!flS (London 1921), p. 122ff. 
71 J. P. Mills, The LI:x:id Na[pS (London 1922), p. 96. 
72 Ibid., p. 104. 
73 Ibid., p. 24. 
74 Ibid., p. 97. 
75 Ibid., pp. 100-101. 
76 Hutton, The A YfF11i Na[pS, p. 142. 
77 Jakobs, The Na[!flS, p. 72. 
78 Ibid., p. 75. 
79 Ibid., pp. 70-2. 
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same that had been annexed by the British in 1910, both facts that might have contributed to the 

decision in favour of a more democratic constitution. Moreover, in the year of the annexation the 

SDO Naga Hills still speaks that "There are Ollefs in every village who command a lot of 

authority."so The Lhotas, on their part, once had powerful chiefs and then also developed a more 

egalitarian system of ruling councils of elders.sl 

At the beginning of British colonial intrusion into the Naga hills, the Nagas were not 

politically united, there was no central authority, nor did they carry the wish to unify. Rather, they 

were organised in a multitude of independent political systems. The Nagas as a unit existed, if at 

all, only in the generalisations of the plainsmen. For the inhabitants of the hills themselves this 

question most probably did not arise at that point in time. Though we have evidence of clan­

alliances and of villages that enacted some influence and could demand tribute, the political 

landscape remained fluid, and far from anything like effective rule, not to speak of any 

governance. Yet Jacobs sees the Nagas as having constituted one society: "The answer is that 

Naga society is one society, an aggregate of communities who share a set of structures or 

principles in common, but who emphasise them differently."s2 Jacobs, in writing that, employs 

here an ahistorical argument that simply is wrong, since, as we have learned earlier, in Chapter 

Two, there is simply no scientific way to define a people, and, the answer to that question always 

has to be found in politics,s3 and thus in history. Kamei even writes that the categorisation of 

Nagas according to cultural features proves difficult, since many neighbours share the same,S4 and 

let us now see how the British tried to tackle this question. 

At the beginning of the 1870s the British still knew only a little about the populations 

living in the Naga hills, except that they had to be Nagas. Butler, who was Deputy (})mmissioner 

(DO in the Naga hills in 1873, left us the following description of the area of settlement of the 

Nagas: 

Roughly speaking, they may be said to extend from the Kopili River on the west to the Bori Dihing on 

the east. Towards the north they occupy the whole hill country bordering upon the plain districts of 

Nowgong, Seebsaugor, and Luckhimpore. In a southerly direction we now know positively that they not 

only extend up to, but actually cross over, the great main watershed between the Irrawady and 

80 Pn:xmIir16S if the Gmernm::rt ifEastemB~ arriAssam(PEBA), 1910, P/8340, Nov. 1910, From The Subdivisional 
Officer Mokokchung, To The Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, No. 744G., dated Mokokchung, the 26th March 
1910, p. 52 and ~ if the ChUfOrmissinm-if Assam(PCCA), 1913, P/9110, August 1913, Doc. No. 53, From 
J. E. Webster, Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, To The Commissioner, Surma Valley and Hill Districts, No. 
250G., dated Kohima, the 25th April 1913. 
81 Jakobs, The NalflS, p. 72. 
82 Ibid., p. 64. 
83 (barles Keyes, 'Presidential Address: "The Peoples of Asia" - Science and Politics in the dassification of Ethnic 
Groups in Thailand, 0Una, and Vietnam." TheJoomd if A sian Studies 61, no. 4 (November 2002): pp. 1163-1203, p. 
117l. 
84 Kamei, 'Origin of the Nagas', p. 10. 
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Brahmaputra, how far, however, they really go down and extend into the valley of the Kaindwen or 

Nmghti85 has never yet been clearly ascertained.86 

He went on: 

... our knowledge of a great portion of the Naga country really rests almost entirely upon 'pure 

conjecture', and that beyond the fact of its mountainous character we know nothing at all about it up to 

the present date ... [and called the Naga Hills a] ... veryterra incognita .... 87 

Butler tried to isolate the tribes as units, seeing at the same time their relatedness. The Arung 

Nagas of northern Cachar were for him part of the Kacha Nagas, whom he again saw as related 

to the Angamis.88 The Angamis did not know that they were so described, as Butler found out, 

except those among them who could speak Manipuri or Assamese. They called themselves 

"Tengimah" and "Chakromah", yet were further sub-divided in groups and sub-groups that 

called themselves again differently. Therefore Butler decided to use the term "Angami" for the 

sake of simplicity.89 The Khezamis, living east of the Angamis, were difficult to differentiate from 

the latter by Butler, but still he understood them as a different unit.9O Only much later the 

Khezamis would be seen as belonging to the Angamis. 

About the Semas and Rengmas the British knew only where they settled, and on the 

Lhotas only that they divided themselves into three groups. In the Sibsagar district Butler 

recognised Hatighorias, Assyringias, Dupdorias and Namsangias, to each of whom he allocated a 

number of villages and he saw these four groups as four different tribes. The names of the 

groups were all terms given by the Assamese.91 Later, these four groups would merge into the 

tribe of the Aos. 

Other denominations of tribes, like " Tablungia" , "Jaktoongia", "Mooloong", 

"d1angnoi"92 and many others, were later to disappear. The British adopted these names from 

the Assamese, who called the groups according to the valleys through which they came into the 

plains.93 In the beginning, the British perceived smaller units of villages as tribes, whose 

boundaries were small streams and rivers, and easy recognisable. Later on, however, the tendency 

85 The nowadays Chindwin in western Myanmar. 
86 Captain Butler, 'Butler's account of the Naga tribes, 1873', In Histnry if the ReiatUn if the Gm.ernm:nt uith the Hill 
Tribe; if the Narth-East FrrmtierifBentF1, Alexander Mackenzie (Calcutta 1884), pp. 77-88, pp. 77-78. 
87 Ibid., p. 82. 
88 Ibid., p. 83. 
89 Ibid., p. 84. 
90 Ibid., p. 85. 
91 Ibid., p. 86. 
92 Ibid. 
93 Mackenzie, Histnry if the ReiatUn if the Gmerrmn. uith the Hill Tribe; if the Narth-East FrrmtierifBeJ7i!id, p. 400. 
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was towards the identification of larger units,94 and despite the cursory knowledge and the well 

perceived differences, there was no doubt for Butler about the unity of the "race": 

I may here remark that the shades of difference dividing one Naga tribe from another, especially if that 

other happens to be a close neighbour, are often very slight indeed. Thus, if we compare an Angami of 

Mezomah with a Kutcha Naga of Paplongmai, or with a Khezami of Kezakenoma, we should probably 

say they were very much alike; but let us miss over the nearest link or two, and compare the Angami with 

the Zami or LahU.pa, and we see how almost totally unlike they are. Portions of the dialect, manners, 

customs, and dress of anyone tribe we may like to take up will constantly keep cropping up in other 

tribes as we go on, thus clearly proving the unity of the race.95 

Yet other opinions existed as well, the Assam Census Repartof 1881 writes: 

The term Naga covers a variety of languages as well as of races. The 'Kacha Nagas' of North Cachar have 

no connection as far as we are aware, with the Nagas or the Nagas in the hills south of Sibsagar, of whom 

several branches exists, differing in tongue or at least in dialect ( ... ) as far as the Patkoi range; and in the 

Naga Hills District there are four races, the Angamis, Lhotas, Rengmas and Semas, who differ completely 

both in language and in dress ... 96 

and in an article of The Pi1n£r from March 24th 1870 the term "Naga" was seen as a generic term 

for a whole group of tribes, who inhabit a certain geographical region: 

... but they have no inter-tribal relations, no common bond of union. Each village is self contained and 

self governed; stockaded to meet the open attack; and ever on its guard against the treachery of its 

nearest neighbour. The smaller villages it is true obey for their own sakes the behests of the more 

powerful; but in most things each community stands alone.97 

The Nagas would only unite to fight off enemies from outside, like the Manipuris or British, but 

with the external threat the internal coherence would also disappear.98 

Woodthorpe, on the contrary, in 1881 divided those then known as Nagas into "Angami" 

and "non-Angami", who, for him, represented two different people.99 And Hutton later, after a 

long service first as sub-divisional officer (SDO), then as DC among the Nagas with extensive 

studies among and of them, concluded, that it was impossible to differentiate between those 

94 Butler, 'Butler's account of the Naga tribes, 1873', p. 86. 
95 Ibid., p. 85. 
96 'Assam Census Record (Extracts from)', In Mackenzie, History if the Rddt:ion if the Gmemnrrt uith the Hill T riks if 
the North-East FrortierifBertjpl, pp. 537-550, p. 549. 
97 Ibid., p. 556. 
98 Ibid. 
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groups called Nagas and other groups living in Assam and Bunna,IOO thus confinning Kamei's 

statement above. He found affinities between Kacha Nagas and Bodo-Kacharis, and between the 

Changs and Konyaks, and the Kachins and Singphos.lol At the same time the Nagas themselves 

fell into a variety of linguistic sub-groups and a multitude of cultural features/o2 manifesting 

themselves even in physical appearance and cementing their image as being a mongrel race: 

... just as each tribe, almost, contains traditions which cannot be reconciled with a homogeneous origin, so 

marked differences of type and physique are everywhere traceable, not only as between different tribes, 

where they are in some cases mostly pronounced, but as between individuals in the same tribe. \03 

The question "Who are the Nagas?" was overshadowed for the British by the question what kind 

of political organisation their adversary had Between the rivers Dikhu and Doyang the British 

had, on earlier expeditions, encountered villages that seemed to have proper chiefs, yet west of 

the Dikhu, in an area better know to the British, the villages seemed to be ruled in a democratic 

way. Hence Butler wrote in his report: 

... that a Naga nowhere really accepts a chief in our sense of the term. Oliefs they do have, but they are 

merely the nominal heads of each clan, men who by dint of their personal qualities have become leaders 

of public opinion but without the least particle of power beyond that given them by the vox populi and 

that only pro tern, upon the particular question that may happen to be exciting anention at the time 

being. The Government of every Naga tribe with whom I have had intercourse is a purely democratical 

one, and when ever anything of public importance has to be undertaken, all the Oliefs (both old and 

young) meet together in solemn conclave, and then discuss and decide upon the action to be taken, and 

even then it often happens that the minority will not be bound by either wish or act of the majority; and 

as to anyone single Chiefs exercising absolute control over his people, the thing is unheard of. 104 

Woodthorpe reported about the Angamis in 1881: " ... virtually every man does that which is right 

in his own eyes, and is a law unto himself."lo5 Both Butler and Woodthorpe were influenced by 

their contact with the democratically organised groups of the Nagas. 

The British, in Jakobs' view were confronted with what presented itself to them as an 

ethnographic chaos: " ... hundreds, if not thousands, of small villages seemed to be somewhat 

similar to each other but also very different, by no means sharing always the same customs, 

9'1 R. G. Woodthorpe, 'Meetings of the Anthropological Institute', In Verrier Elwin (ed.), The Na[pS in the Nin:tt:mth 
century (Bombay 1969 [1881D, pp. 46-82, p. 49. 
lOO J. H Hunon, 'Introduction', In Mills, The Lbeta Na[pS, pp. XI-XXXIX, p. XVI. 
\01 Ibid., p. xx. 
102 Ibid., p. XVI. 
103 Ibid., p. XXI, and only to indulge afterwards in an intense calf-study of the Nagas (ibid., p. XXII -XXIII). 
104 Butler, 'Butler's account of the Naga tribes, 1873', p. 86. 
105 Woodthorpe, 'Meetings of the Anthropological Institute', p. 56. 
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political System, an or even language."I06 Moreover, the Nagas seemed to live in a constant state 

of inter-tribal warfare/07 in which even parts of the same villages seemed to fight against each 

other, while neutral groups in-between went ahead with their daily routines unhindered. lOB 

Though the classification of the different groups as "Nagas" was not without difficulties, 

the British had to agree with the fact that had been established before their arrival that the hill 

dwellers had been ascribed with the generic term " Nagas " . Subsequently they had to begin with 

the identification of effective administrative units, the tribes. 

Today the tnbe is an imponant unit of identification and no Naga contemporary has any 

doubts about her tribal belonging, as there are no doubts about being a Naga. Moreover, tribes 

played, and still play, an imponant political role in the history of resistance, and as product of a 

well-aimed divide-and-rule policy carried out by the Indian state, tribalism today provides one fig­

leaf for the Indian administration not to tackle the Naga question in earnest. 

In the course of the gradual extension of their control over the Naga hills the British first 

preferred natural borders, then a mixture of the former and perceived tribal borders, in order to 

draw, if possible, tribal borders and not to split tribes by this.109 Then the British government 

asked its officers on the spot to write studies about the subjugated societies, which would serve as 

handbooks for future administrators, something to base their policy on, since, as Henry Balfour 

writes in his foreword to I-futton's monograph about the Semas: 

Lack of ethnographic knowledge has been responsible for many of the misunderstandings and fatal 

errors which have tarnished our well-meant endeavours to control wisely and equitably the affairs of 

those whose culture has been evolved under environments which differ widely from those of civilised 

peoples. 110 

The British government made an effort to understand the hill communities since it aimed at the 

cheap administration of them. Misunderstandings, resulting out of ignorance, led to problems, 

insurgencies, and those had to be countered with costly punishment expeditions, that were to be 

avoided, if possible. As a result several voluminous monographs were written about some of the 

groups that had been identified and delimited as tribes. Woodthorpe still wrote that the Nagas 

identified themselves with their home-village, or sometimes with a group of villages.\11 British 

knowledge in the beginning was based on old Ahom maps that divided the Naga hills into 

districts that supposedly referred to different tnbes. The names of the districts were at the same 

106 Jakobs, The Na[FS" p. 17. 
107 Mackenzie, Historycfthe R~ (the Gm.emm:rt uith the Hill Tril:6 cfthe North-East FrontiercfB~" p. 122. 
108 Woodthorpe, 'Meetings of the Anthropological Institute', p. 56. 
109 Sir Robert Reid, History (the Frrnier A Yf!IJS Bon/eri.rg anAssam Frrm 1883·1941 (Guwahati 1997 [1942], p. 159. 
110 Henry Balfour, 'Foreword', in Hutton, TheSeml Na[FS, pp. XV-XVIII, p. XV. 
111 Woodthorpe, 'Meetings of the Anthropological Institute', p. 47. 
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time names of the different tribes, derived from the names of the paths into the plains, which 

were used by different groups. The Nagas themselves did not know anything about these 

names.1l2 It was then up to the British to understand the bases for these categorisations. Ahom 

practice had resulted in the division into smaller units, i.e. small congregations of villages 

represented tribes, also for the British in the beginning. Therefore, in the reports of the 

nineteenth century one often comes across tribal names that later on do not turn up again, or 

tribal names get an adjectival direction attached or simply village names. In the course of time, 

however, with more knowledge, the tendencywas to be more inclusive: 

The gradual extension of British control of the area was therefore accompanied by a number of tools 

which helped to create a classificatory system according to which the diversity of facts could be arranged. 

Photography, map-making, the collecting of objects, anthropological and anthropometrical research, all 

contributed both to knowledge and to a subtle form of control: indeed, some would argue that these 

were one and the same thing. l13 

However, as the British acquired more and more knowledge about the Nagas, the writing of 

monographs about separate tribes did not become much easier. The culture of the Semas, for 

example, was for Hutton just a conglomeration of different elements, which they adopted on 

their migrations from other groupS.114 Where there was a common border with other groups, 

they mixed with them and they were differentiated again among themselves.1l5 The ideal type of a 

Semas became a question of degree and so Hutton's monograph about the Semas reads like a 

constant cross-referring to neighbouring groups. Among the Angamis it even seemed impossible 

for him to represent all differences inside the tribe: "Such an undertaking would necessitate a 

separate monograph for each Angami village." 116 Therefore he concentrated on the villages of the 

Tengami group. 117 Mills had problems with the Rengmas " ... describing adequately and 

simultaneously three widely sections of the same tribe ... ", 118 and in the obligatory chapter on the 

special character of the tribe he starts out: "No part is more difficult to write, for I know so many 

individuals, all differing one from the other, that it is hard to say that this or that trait is typical 

for the race."119 Mills did not seem to have such problems with the Aos, among whom he found 

six cultural characteristics, which differentiated them from their neighbours, the Semas and 

112 Ibid., which is unlikely, at least those who travelled to the plains must have been confronted with the external 
terms for them. 
113 Jakobs, The NalflS, p. 17. 
114 Hunon, The Semt NalflS, p. VII. 
115 Ibid., p. 5. 
116 Hunon, The A ~ NalflS, p. 11. 
117 Ibid. 
118 Mills, The ReJWnl NalflS, p. V. 
119 Ibid., p. 44-
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Lhotas,120 and there was one difference that for Mills manifested itself even in the physical 

appearance, albeit difficult to grasp: " ... Aos have a distinct average appearance of their own 

which distinguishes them from other tribes, though it is difficult to put into words just where the 

difference lies.nl21 Only on the fringes of Ao settlement area did Mills get into difficulties with 

definition and delineation: "Yachum and their small neighbourhood ( ... ) speak a dialect 

resembling Chongli,122 but follow Phom or Konyak customs to a great extent. Yachum recently 

told me that they really did not know what they were - Aos would not recognise them as Aos 

and their trans-Dikhu neighbours would not accept them as kinsmen.,,123 The Lhotas were 

generally believed to be a rather new formation and their origin of mixed nature,124 hence Mills' 

monograph reads similar as Huttons' about the Semas: a relative description - while one feature 

differentiates them from one group, the same feature identifies it again with another. Yet Mills, at 

last, could isolate one characteristic unique to the Lhotas: the tendency to commit suicide, mostly 

after tragic love affairs.125 

Mills and Hutton lived and worked long enough among the Nagas to be aware of the 

complexities, but as children of their time they subscribed to one people, one race, one origin, 

one language etc., and therefore tried to identify the pure forms and when and where the mixing 

happened, which they encountered every day: 

No Naga tribe is of pure blood, but the area which they inhabit has been the scene of a series of 

immigrations from north-east, north-west and south, and the different stocks introduced in this way have 

entered into their composition.126 

Hence tribal entities could only be represented as either ideal-typical or as relative.127 Still the 

same sense of duty that made them reveal the incongruities also encouraged the British to at least 

try to relate to existing structures in their process of categorising. So we learn from Mills that the 

Lhotas were only known to the British government under this name, and they called themselves 

"Kyon", meaning "human" in their own language. Further, they had also a generic term for 

western and eastern Kyon, respectively called "Ndrung" and " Liye" .128 In addition oral traditions 

120 Mills, TheAoNa~, p. 1. 
121 Ibid., p. 72. 
122 An Aa-dialect. 
123 Ibid., p. 2. 
124 Mills, The Lhaa Na[pS, pp. 4-5. 
125 Ibid., p. 20. 
126 Hunon, The A rp Na[pS, p. XXXV. 
127 If Hunon and Mills had started out not as administrators but as professional anthropologists of the nascent 
discipline social anthropology they surely would have smoothened the dissonance and presented monographs on 
neatly demarcated tribes. 
128 Mills, The Lhaa Na[pS, pp. 1-3. 
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testified a common origin of Lhotas and Southern Sangtams, Rengrnas and Sernas,129 and relate 

to us that parts of the Aos were driven out130 or assimilated, 131 that refugees of the Semas were 

ancestors of Lhota-clans,132 and that both - Lhotas and Rengrnas - confinned to have formed 

one common tribe in the past.133 The same was the case with all the groups other than the 

Lhotas. The Aos called themselves "Aor', possessed a tribal consciousness, and fenced 

themselves off vis-a-vis other groupS.134 Hutton wrote on the Sernas that they, without having the 

respective organisations, nevertheless possessed a clan- and tribal consciousness,135 and the 

Konyaks called themselves "Yamenu Ha", composed out of two clans, called "Then Ko" and 

"Then Du".136 Were these historical facts or invented traditions? We have to keep in mind that 

both, Mills and Hutton, wrote in the 1920s, several decades after the subjugation of most of the 

groups concerned here. 

All tribes were divided into phratries (compositions of several clans) and clans that more 

or less influenced types of rule, marriage rules, war and headhunting. Yet, those phratries and 

clans did not stop at the limits of the respective tribes, but had their equivalents in all other 

neighbouring groups, serving for instance as marriage partners and in this way had population 

exchanges as a consequence. Thus a network of relationships between the tribes developed,137 

which made the borders fluid and therefore also the therewith delineated units, called tribes or 

not. The same was true for the periphery of the tribes designed as Nagas, where they lived in 

interaction with other groups that today are not Nagas. 

So it seems that units were there that could be called tribes, but they were not the sole 

ordering principle, not a unified whole, so they could split and rearrange, and consequently were 

not hermetically sealed and self-reproducing.138 Rather to the contrary, they were embedded in a 

network of, at least, social relations, with possibly the religious, the political ones following from 

that. The Naga tribes had soft boundaries, which could have allowed for a process of fusion with 

relative ease. The lack of communications and possibly also of hard boundaries, however, neither 

129 Ibid., p. 4. 
130 Ibid., p. 5. 
131 Ibid., p. 89. 
132 Ibid., p. 90. 
133 Mills, The ReYf!!1U Na[pS, p. 4. 
134 Mills, The A 0 Na[pS, p. 1. 
135 Hunon, The Serm Na[pS, p. 121. 
136 Prrxmii~ if the Gm.ernrrm ifEastemBeYffJl arriAssam(PEBA), 1910, P/8340, Nov. 1910, From The Subdivisional 
Officer Mokokchung, To The Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills, No. 7 44G., dated Mokokchung, the 26th March 
1910, p. 52. 
137 Mills, The Uxta Na[pS, pp. 92-95. 
138 The formation of tribes is a continuous process. Mills, The Uxta Na[pS, counts 17 tribes; Verrier Elwin, NaifUard 
(Guwahati, 1997 [1961], counts 14; Yonuo, TheRisilfsNa[pS, 35; Kame~ 'Origin of the Nagas', 41; and R Vashum, 
Na[pS'RiWt To SrlfDetenrirutiorr A nA ~BistoricaJ Perspe:tize (New De~ 2000), even 49. Even though we 
acknowledge that these authors partially took different geographical units as frameworks of reference, there is an 
undeniable tendency towards multiplication. Tribes split, fonn alliances, change into tribes - all that makes one 
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made this process of wider nation-building possible nor necessary. If we take this as the pre­

colonial starting point, then we now may try to find out what consequences the British colonial 

period had for the social-identity and nation-formation of the groups that would develop into the 

Nagas. 

4.4 Colonial Conquest; Rule and Impact on Naga Identity 

British colonial rule in the Naga hills was always portrayed as a success story: it stopped 

headhunting and perpetual warfare, and brought peace and prosperity. Even the Nagas 

themselves today look upon the time under the British as having been greatly beneficial. This, 

however, is nostalgia, resulting from a contrast of the past with the bleak present of the ongoing 

military occupation. 

Contemporary reports in the wake of conquest from the Naga hills painted a dark picture 

on the dramatic deterioration of the living conditions. Fields and grain stores were destroyed, 

epidemics of small-box and cholera were rampant, the British demanded house-tax, supplies in 

rice, and pressed the Angamis into the forced labour of coolie work So, the political agent major 

T. B. Michell reported that the house-tax of 2 mpa::s was the maximum that the Angamis were 

able to pay and consequently he recommended dropping the extraction of rice from them 139 

Michell and the brigadier general J. S. Nation were arguing for the establishment of permanent 

transport arrangements that meant the hiring of coolies and ponies from somewhere else, since 

the Nagas were so averse to what the reports then called excessive seizure for coolie labour. To 

keep the peace other means of transport had to be used. HO And still in 1884 the DC NHD noted: 

wonder if there was not just only a new name given to an old thing, even though collective identities during British 
colonial time became wider and more inclusive. 
139 Irrlia FareignPrrxmiiYf5S - Pditiml rIFP.p), Vo!. P/1743, Aug. - Sept. 1881, Aug. 1881, Document 628, Major T. B. 
Michell, Political Agent, Naga Hills, to Secretary. C£ Assam, dated Kohima, 14th January 1881, pp. 659-662, p. 659. 
140 IFP-P, Vo!. P/1916, Jan. 1882, Doc. 88, Brigadier - General]. S. Nation, Commanding Eastern Frontier District 
to Quarter-Master-General in India, Head - Quarters, dated Shillong, 25th June 1880, pp. 91-92: 

... the experience we have gained up to the present time clearly shows that, as long as the force in the Naga Hills is 
maintained at its present strength, it can only be fed by means of an independent transport. Reports from the 
political and military Officers now at Kohima all show that the Nagas are perfectly willing to submit to our rule in 
every way except one - and that is the excessive demand for forced labor. This they object to so strongly as to say 
openly that, if enforced, it will again cause them to rise against us. It is quite probable that, as they settle down, they 
will give labor voluntarily and in sufficient quantities as they are, as a rule, fond of money; but they are utterly averse 
to being seized for iabor, and there is no doubt that such a practice, carried to the great extent which has hitherto 
been necessary, is a most fertile cause of discontent and ill-feeling which might at any time burst out into rebellion. 
( ... ) If we are to retain possession peaceably of the Naga Hills, it is imperative that we should as much as possible 
avoid the pernicious and dangerous system of forced labor ... 

And ibid., Document 101, Political Officer Naga Hills to the Secretary to the Ollef Commissioner of Assam, dated 
Kohima, 23rd September 1880, pp. 101-103: 

I have mentioned that whatever labor is required from this district must be impressed. No free labor is 
obtainable.The Nagas have not been accustomed to do the work of coolies, and there is nothing they 
dislike so much. During the late expedition large numbers of them were compelled to work, and even 
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Hillmen generally have a strong dislike to any restrictions on their liberty ... [t]hey are too well off to 

necessitate recourse to seeking employment. They can earn an easier livelihood by cultivating their 

fields or by trading than would be offered under the most liberal terms Government could give. 141 

The Nagas not only had an aversion towards dependant labour, but also could make a bener 

living without it. Either they had to be dispossessed of their means of production, or they had to 

be made to want to enter into dependent work. 

The NHD under British rule was part of the Province of Assam. The district was divided 

into the two sul:rdistricts of Kohima and Mokokchung. The headquarters for the whole district 

were in Kohima. There the DC was posted, who was responsible for the whole and also 

functioned as sul:rdivisonal officer (SDO) for the sul:rdistrict of Kohima, both connected by a 

bridle path. Mokokchung was the base of the SDO. Among the most important tasks the DC 

and SDO had to perform was the estimation and collection of taxes, as well as the senlement of 

disputes.142 The DC had nearly unlimited powers and only in extreme cases was he to get the 

permission of the chief commissioner (CC) of Assam, and he had to write an annual report for 

the British-Indian government.143 The administration was supposed to be based on the principle 

of personal rule, not only on an apparatus or an institution. l44 Present were a veterinary surgeon, 

a surgeon, an assistant of the DC, recruited among the Anglo-Indians,145 and four British officers, 

who commanded the paramilitary po lice-banalion of the Assam Rifles, manned mainly by 

Gurkhas or members of other hill tribes. The British also had created a regular police force, 

whose jurisdiction was limited to the city of Kohima and the road leading to Manipur.146 

In villages without chiefs the British asked the village population to elect or decide on one 

chief who was then supposed to function as the representative of the village vis-a-vis the British 

government, and had to be confirmed in office by either the DC or the SDO.147 These chiefs, 

called gunburas, turned into the representatives of the British administration. Granted official 

authority, they were empowered to collect taxes or functioned as village police officers, entitled 

now I find coercion necessary whenever labor is required for work in the station, or for assisting in 
bringing in supplies. Any large requirements for labor which must be impressed would cause general 
dis affection ... 

141 Pnxmii7f5S if the ChUf CamissiorJ:r if A ssam(PCCA), Military Department, Shillong, September 1884, Doe. 3, DC 
NI-Ito The Personal Assistant to the Chef Commissioner (CC) of Assam, dt. 19th March 1884, pp. 3-4. 
142 Mills, 1heAoNalflS, p. 404. 
143 Asoso Yonuo, 1heRis~ NalflS: A Histori.ad anIPditiad Study (Delhi, 1974), p. 109. 
1+4 P. D. Stracey, Na~NiFfotrrure(Bombay, 1968), pp. 12-13. 
145 Ibid., p. 12. 
146 Yonuo, 1he Ris~ NalflS: A Histori.ad anIPditiad Study, p. 110. 
147 Mills, 1heA 0 NalflS, p. 407. 
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to settle minor disputes, and could impose fines up to 50 mpe:s.148 As sign of their authority they 

either received a scarlet jacket or blanket.149 

The British employed interpreters, called cltmshis, among whose taSks it was to translate 

from the different languages into Nagamese, a regional lingua franc a, and to advise the DC or 

SDO in matters of culture and tradition of the respective groups. They were, by virtue of their 

office, the guardians, i.e. the interpreters, of traditions. ISO The cltmshis received, like the gun/:Juras, 

scarlet jackets and blankets as signs of their office.1Sl The British tried to decide disputes on the 

basis of tradition, " ... except where it is repugnant to our sense of justice ... " ,152 for which they 

needed the ddushis, about whom Mills wrote: 

They are very carefully picked men and the posts are much sought after, for though the pay is not high, 

the prestige is great. Care is taken that no tribal interests are overlooked. For instance, at Mokokchung 

there are interpreters from every tribe of the Subdivision. Among the Ao interpreters the interests of 

Ancients and duistians, of QlOngli, Mongsen and Changki and of each phratry are represented.153 

Minor disputes, however, were decided by the gpm/Juras and the councils of elders, in order not to 

subvert their sense of responsibility. Despite being not valid in the NHD, justice was dispensed 

of by the DC and SDO in the spirit of the IrrIian Penal Oxie and the Oxfes if Oininal and Ci'lil 

Prrxedures. I54 

The taxes per annum and per household for the Angamis were three mpe:s, for the other 

groups two, and for foreigners five.155 The gpm/Juras, old and sick people and those having served 

with the Naga Labour Corps in France, were exempted from taxes, as were government servants, 

whose salary was below 30 mpa:5 a month. As noted in the previous chapter, a register for every 

village was started, listing all houses, those taxed and those exempted. The number of the houses 

was periodically checked by the DC, SDO and their assistants, also revising and! or granting tax­

exemptions.156 The actual collection of taxes was done by the gpm/Juras, who received for that a 

148 Shibanikinakar Chaube, Hill Pdziia in Narth-East Irrlia (J'iew Delhi, 1973), pp. 33-34. 
149 Mills, The A 0 NafFS, p. 409. 
150 Ibid., p. 406. 
151 Ibid., p. 409. 
152 Ibid., p. 406. 
153 Ibid. That the ddushis were also important in another respect was already stressed in the wake of conquest: "I am 
to remind you that these interpreters are also delegates, who are accredited to the political officer on the part of the 
principal villages and tribes of the Naga hills, and that besides acting as interpreters, they serve as the medium for all 
communications between the political officer and those whom they represent. They reside at the head-quarters, and 
convey the orders of the political officer to their villages, and in various ways render themselves useful to him." Cl 
Lyall, Officiating Secretary to the Clllef Commissioner of Assam, to Sir A C Lyall, Secretary to the Government of 
India in the Foreign Department, IFP-P, Vol. P/1743, Aug. - Sept. 1881, Aug. 1881, Document 283, dated 20th June 
1881, pp. 239-240. 
154 Mills, The A 0 NafFS, p. 406. 
155 Yonuo, TheRi.si~ NafFS, p. 110. 
156 Mills, The A 0 NafFS, p. 404. 
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commission of 12.5 per cent of the revenue. In addition, a kind of indirect taxes for the 

population was their duty to look after the bridle paths, cany loads for government expeditions, 

and if necessary, to supply them with provisions. Besides this, they had to provide construction 

material for inspection bungalows and other government buildings, which were spread all over 

the country. For all other possible public works the Nagas were paid.157 

This burden was heavy at times. The fonner governor of Assam Sir Roben Reid reponed 

complaints among the Angami in the years 1886-87, due to the extensive recruitment for forced 

labour for the anny, in addition to the 16,500 Nagas, who were enlisted as poners.158 In 1891-92 

the British again enlisted 20,500 Nagas for forced labour.159 This is in line with the situation 

described at beginning of this section.l60 

In return the Nagas received security. The battalion of Assam Rifles guaranteed the 

complete end to raids inside the district. Funher, all homicides committed inside the distance of a 

two-days journey outside the district borders, i.e. in the Tuensang area, were punished. In 

addition, the Nagas had access to free education/61 free treatment, medicine, and food in the 

dispensaries, and a team of veterinary surgeons looked after the working animals, free of charge. 

Funher, rivers were bridged that previously were impossible to cross for six months a year, and 

thus trade flourished, due to the improved communications and the abolition of headhunting.162 

However, the increased interaction and communication inside the Naga hills, and again 

between them and the plains, resulted in a devastating spread of diseases.163 And so it happens 

that the overall impact of the civilising mission on the Naga hills was in Mills eyes a negative one, 

and that we find him writing about the good old headhunting times.l64 

The conversion of the administrative centres into little towns, the above-mentioned 

improvement of communications, and the payment for services, food and other goods had the 

157 Ibid., p. 405. 
158 Reid, History if the Frontier A ratS Barderi11l, anAssam Frcm 1883-1941, p. 110. 
159 Ibid., p. 152. 
160 Yet Fiirer-Haimendorf tells us that many Nagas volunteered, especially as porters for punitive expeditions, since 
these were the only occasions, where they could get into contact with the killed, and might even be able to lay hand 
on a finger or an ear and thus, according to downgraded requirements due to the colonial ban on headhunting, could 
acquire the status of a head-hunter. Very often it was sufficient to touch a killed one with ones' own ciao. Filler­
Haimendorf wrote in his report about the participation in one such punitive expedition, that the Nagas, who 
participated in it as porters, lived in permanent fear that the differences could be senled peacefully and that therefore 
no-one would be killed, see Ouistoph von Fiirer-Haimendorf, Die rrukten N a'iJlS: Dreizdm M anate urter KqfjafPYl 
In:liens (Wiesbaden, 1946 [Leipzig, 1939]. 
161 According to Yonuo the Nagas had to pay fees. Until 1903-04 there were 22 primary schools in the NJ-ID, one 
secondary school and two special schools. More than two thirds of the 647 students were in primary schools, the 
literacy rate was ca. 1 per cent, see Yonuo, The Risirg Na'iJlS, p. 110. 
162 Mills, The A 0 Na'iJlS, p. 405. 
163 Mills, The A 0 Na'iJlS, p. 405. 
164 Mills, The Uxta Na'iJlS, p. 48. 
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monetization of trade as a consequence and the emergence of a small community of shop­

keepers and petty entrepreneurs in the hills.165 

Chaube further sees the erosion of the clan and for the first time the introduction of a 

territorial authority in this area as a product of the British administration: 

... at the beginning of British rule ... the people's primary loyality was to the clan. Inter-clan disputes used 

to be solved either in conferences or through clashes. The 'village authority' under the new procedure 

was a territorial chief and the disputing clans were to accept his verdict. l66 

The delegation of disputes to the DC or SDO widened the perspective of the village population 

up to the borders of the district and weakened the orientation towards kinship in favour of a 

territorialone.167 

The rkb:zshis were the bridge between the British and the gunburas and were, according to 

Chaube, the first privileged class in the Naga hills. They were educated and came mostly from 

wealthy families, and in the beginning there was no other job possibility for them. Only much 

later were administrative positions made accessible to Nagas, which were then, in most cases, 

filled with rkb:zshis. 168 These young Nagas, who either were able to acquire higher education in 

Assam or Bengal, due to the financial power of their families, or on grounds of the help of 

church institutions, turned into a new elite and they began" ... to look upon Europeans as models 

and tended to become pro-western in taste and attitude."169 They received their education in 

English, which gave them access to western literature and ideas. Traditional claims to their land 

were now fed with the concepts of self-determination, democratic principals and nationalism, and 

later on, would also be termed as such. The English language enabled Nagas from all areas to 

communicate for the first time with each other and represented " ... eventually a common unifying 

bond among themselves as well as with the outside world"170 This new elite claimed leadership in 

the political as well as religious sphere.171 

Colonial administration was reduced to a minimum. With reference to Jenkins and Young we are 

in a position to assume that the relative confrontation of the Nagas with colonial categorisation 

was nearly non-existent. The category "Naga" remained irrelevant for the majority of the Nagas. 

165 dlaube, Hill PditUs in NartbEast IrrIia, p. 4l. 
166 Ibid., p. 35. 
167 Ibid. 
168 Ibid., p. 41. 
169 La! Dena, OnistianMissm ani Oianialism A Study ifMissiauryMcrr.enrrt in Nart:fxJ1st Irclia W11h PartiaJdr R(ererre 
to M anipur ani L usl:ui hills 1894-1947 (Shillong, 1988), p. 117. 
170 Yonuo, The Risirf!, Na'lJ1S, p. 155. 
171 Dena, OnistianMissUns ani Oianialism A Study if MissiorwyMcrr.enrrt inNart:fxJ1st Irclia W11h PartiaJdr Rt{ererre to 

ManipuraniLusl:uihiUs 1894-1947, p. 117. 
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'!be beginning monetization and the extension of the ways of communication also remained 

modest until the Second World War. Among the collective identities tnbe became more relevant, 

though the clan and other foci of identity retained their importance. The impact of the 

administrative borders was also of much less relevance than the determining role that is ascribed 

to them by Anderson and Horowitz, simply due to the persistence of social, cultural, economic 

and political ties which could not be superseded or substituted by the weak structures of the 

colonial administrative unit. Even though the categorisation of the Nagas by the British remained 

for the average village people negligible in its impact, it nevertheless was not lost on the elite of 

the Nagas. They began to think in the category of the "Nagas", thus seeing themselves as a 

nation that was entitled to self-determination, but were also aware about the fact that the nation 

in its consciousness about itself was yet to be realised. 

4.5 Christianity as Factor and Function 

Christianity nowadays is seen as the strongest factor responsible for the Naga nation formation 

and is subject to intense research. This is partly due to sponsorship of Naga scholars by 

theological studies, and partly because todays Nagas take Christianity as proof of their right to 

difference and thus as an important focus for identification. That is to say that other works than 

this deal more extensively with Christianity than will be possible here, but also that to take 

Christianity as the prime mover is an ahistorical and incorrect retrospective reasoning, as I will try 

to show. 

Christianity, and the work of the missionaries, was seen as one of the major, if not the 

principal cause for the lack of integration of the hill tribes into Indian society, for the desire of 

the Nagas for independence, and finally for their separatist movement.172 Consequently the 

Indian government later accused the missionaries of lending support to the separatists and asked 

them to leave the region:!73 

A unique feature of the political developments in the hills areas of the Northeast is the prominent role by 

Grristians. The politically active tribal elites in the hills are mostly Cluistians, and hence in these areas 

Grristians played a leading role in political developments of all kinds. When there was conflict between 

different political philosophies and objectives within a single hills area, the leadership on both sides was 

made up of Cluistians. The Naga and Mizo rebellions were led by Olristians who sometimes sought 

general public support for their movements by describing them as something akin to Grristian crusaders; 

but the peace movements in both areas have been initiated by the churches and the leaders of the 

government who reject the separatism of the rebels are also Ouistians. 174 

172 Frederick S. Downs, North East lniia in the rin.m!rth ani tuert:ieth a:rturi.es (Bangalore, 1992), p. 18. 
173 Ibid., p. 118. 
174 Frederick S. Downs, Gmstiarity in North East iniia: Historiral p~ (New Delhi, 1983), pp. 47-48. 
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The constitution of the Naga federal government (the government of the Naga resIStance, 

inaugurated 1956) proclaimed Ouistianity as state religion, while at the same time guaranteeing 

freedom of religion.175 All of Nagaland's (post-coloniaQ political agents are and were Christians,176 

although still in 1951 only 66,7 percent of the Nagas were Christians.177 

English colonial policy, initially in the hands of the British East India Company (EIq 

was highly sceptical of missionary work, rooted in the fear that missionary activities might 

provoke hostile reactions from locals, thus bearing the potential for disturbing peace and 

business.178 In 1813, however, the British parliament lifted all restrictions that had been imposed 

until then on missionary work in India.179 Local British officers in India's Nonheast were from an 

early moment on convinced that missionary work among the hill tribes, untouched by either 

Hinduism or Islam, would have a positive effect on their relations with the EIC180 Consequently 

the Baptist Missionary Society opened a mission-centre in Gauhati in 1829 on the invitation of 

the then chief commissioner (CO of Assam, David Scon.l81 Eight years later, on the request of 

major Francis Jenkins, three missionaries of the American Baptist Missionary Society - reverend 

Nathan Brown, O.C wner and Miles Bronson - came into Upper Assam, to start their work 

there.182 At first they established themselves in Sadiya, then later in Sibsagar. The American 

missionaries were very pleased about the possibility of working in eastern Assam, since they saw 

the hill tribes of this region as a spring board to Ollna, the real object of their proselytising 

desire.183 

Bronson made survey trips to the Nagas and was seen by them as an agent of the EIC 

that was pushing advances into their territory. Nevertheless, Bronson was able to take up his 

work at the beginning of the year 1840, in Namsang, a village of the Konyak Nagas, and was 

allowed to open a school there. Although it proved difficult for him to find students. The 

175 Downs, North East In:lia in the nin:teefrh ani t:w:rt:ieth rertmies, Footnote 32. 
176 Downs, 0mstianity in North East lrdia: HistorimJ Persp«tiu5, p. 48. 
177 Richard M Eaton, 'Conversion to Clu1stianity among the Nagas, 1876-1971', The IrrlianEaJl'U'7ic ani Social History 
RezieuJ 21, 1, (1984), pp. 1-44, p. 18, table 2. Therhuja sees Christianity as the most important factor in the newer 
history of the Nagas: "If one responsible dynamic factor were to singled out for an overall change in the life of the 
Nagas, it would undoubtly be the introduction of Clu1stianity among them." See, Khrieleno Therhuja, 'The Christian 
QlUrch among the Angarni Nagas', In K. Suresh Singh (ed.), TrilrJ SiJuatiaz inln:lia (Simla, 1972), pp. 294-301, p. 
294. 
178 Dena, 0mstianMissUn ani Cdonialism, p. 2. 
179 Ibid., p. 18. 
180 Ibid., p. 19. 
181 Ibid., p. 20. 
182 Ibid. Scon as well as Jenkins had to get permission for that from the government in Calcutta (ibid.). Despite and 
because the government tried as much as possible to keep missionaries out of the plains, where otherwise 
complications were expected and therefore a policy of neutrality in religious matters was pursued, did it indirectly 
encourage the Assamese authorities to invite Otristian missionaries to take up work among the hill tribes of the 
north-east to contribute to their pacification, see S. K. Barpujari, 'EarlyOtristian Missions in the Naga Hills: An 
Assessment of their Activities',]cum:d ifln:lianHistory, VoL XLVIII, Part 1., April 1970, S. 427-435, p. 427. 
183 Dena, Gm.stianMissUn ani Cdonialism, p. 23. 
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Konyak were of the opinion that only the young men related to the village chiefs were capable of 

learning to read and write. All others were either indispensable for field- or housework. Yet 

Bronson's efforts bore fruit in the sense that all chiefs from the neighbouring villages did send 

their children to his school. Notwithstanding that they all took the opportunity to learn reading 

and writing: no-one converted to Orristianity. The attitude and behaviour towards Bronson 

changed in a sense that the initial distrust gave way to a helpful familiarity. However, due to 

sickness, Bronson had to give up his work among the Konyak. This meant the end for a long 

time for any missionary work among the Nagas, which only resumed again in 1871 with the 

arrival of reverend E.W. Oark in Sibsagar.184 

Bronson was perfectly in line with contemporary British strategy when he was advertising 

his Christianising campaign, in order to receive support from the El C: it would lead to an 

adaptation of the Nagas to and an inclusion of them into the market economy, and seemed to 

equal or go along with their subjugation under and incorporation into the EICs rule. Bronson 

was helped by British plantation owners to set himself and his family up among the Nagas. He 

informed Jenkins, the agent to the governor general of the Northeast Frontier, about his plan to 

introduce the cultivation of green tea among the Nagas, which could then be sold to Mr. Bruce 

(one of the plantation owners who had helped him), but the profit, however, would fully belong 

to the Nagas. Bronson was of the opinion that this would cultivate the Nagas' "industrious 

habits", stimulate the market, civilise the Nagas, and would tie them to the EIC, and, above all, 

they seemed more than willing to do so: 

The Nagas appear to be ready to enter into the busine~ as well as to cultivate anything that would be 

useful and profitable I feel desirous of introducing several things such as wheat Potatoes, - garden 

vegetables of all sorts - also Cotton which would grow here finally - apples would grow here and all 

fruit trees. The change in people is striking when I first came up here, men women and children were 

running this way and leaping down precipies and fleeing to the woods for their lives now they are 

ready to keep about my house all day and each one seems desirous to supply with some thing which I 

need ... 185 

Jenkins, in his report to his superior, supported the idea of encouraging the Nagas to cultivate 

tea, remarked that Bronson was the first white to reside among the Nagas and to have learned 

their language, that they had accepted him, and that he Jenkins thought it was to have a civilising 

effect and that it would work for a positive reception of British power; further, that Bronson 

possibly would receive financial support from the Assam company or other independent 

184 Barpujari, 'Early Ouistian Missions in the Naga Hills: An Assessment of their Activities', p. 429. 
18; IPe Vo!. P/19S/38, 4th - 18th May 1840, Jenkins to Maddock, Secy. Govt. India, Po!. Dept., FW, dt. 14th April 
1840, includes undated letter from the Missionary Bronson to Jenkins [now directly under Government of India]. 
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speculators. Yet Jenkins asked the government to support the school that Bronson had started 

with 100 Rupees a month, in order to give pennanency to this institution, and added: "The 

Nagas ... have no priesthood and nothing like a received religion, and there are consequently no 

religious prejudices to oppose or offend."186 On May 11th 1840, the assisting secretary to the 

government of India, H V. Bayley informed Jenkins that the government had approved of his 

request for one year" ... in consideration of the peculiar circumstances '" to the civilization of the 

wild Naga tribes ... ", although it is not " ... consistent with the principles upon which the 

Government has hitherto acted ... ".187 More than two months later, on 22nd July 1840, Bronson 

reported to Jenkins about problems; his family had fallen sick due to the rains, there was no line 

of communication open with the plains due to the same reason, and that it was anyhow 

impossible to carry on without an elephant. Jenkins beforehand had asked Bronson to inquire 

about copper, and Bronson had been told by the Nagas that the copper works were done by 

upper Nagas, but he himself, Bronson, thought they were coming from Ava, the Burmese 

empire. Bronson's plan was to tour the upper hills in the cold season, yet the Nagas did not give 

him any information " ... concealing everything they can."188 Finally, Bronson asked Jenkins if 

anything could be done to make the Nagas feel dependent in their internal affairs, i.e. he 

encouraged him to subjugate them, since he perceived their freedom as detrimental to any 

endeavour to their civilising: 

... no thing that is so highly to prevent their improvement in civilization at least as their perfect 

independence of feeling and this is strengthened by the ready sale of their salt - which is ample to 

support them should they increase a hundred fold.- 189 

Bronson was aware of the EICs plan to annex half of the Nagas' salt wells and to incorporate 

them into the magistracy of Jaipur (then Jaypore), and at the same time to request the Nagas to 

work for the British. Bronson was definitely in favour of this plan, hoped that this would make 

them listen to him, and claimed that the late Purunder Singh had had these Nagas under Ahom 

control, but that they now were without authority, something he disliked and so he made a strong 

point for their subjugation: "Nothing keeps these people under like the feeling that they are 

subject to the directions of someone else."I90 They refused to cultivate tea and used him when 

they thought that it was to their benefit, but otherwise refused to listen to him; accordingly 

Bronson asked for their political and economic subjugation. Not much later Bronson abandoned 

186 Ibid. 
187 IPe Vol. P/19S/38, 4th - lSth May 1840, Doe. 129, HY. Bayley, Assist. Secy. Govt. India., dt. FW, 11th May 1840. 
188 IPe Vol. P/19S/47, Bronson to Jenkins, dt. Nam Sang, Naga Hills, 22nd July 1840, included as copy in Doe. 82, 
listed under FW, 9th Nov. 1840, Jenkins to Rev. Bronson, Naga Hills. 
189 Ibid. 
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his work among the Nagas and left the Naga hills, due to a death in his family and his own and 

his sister's sickness. However, he again had argued for the removal of their independence, so that 

they would be willing to become civilised, industrious, and plant and manufacture tea.191 Taking 

Bronson as an example, it becomes easily comprehensible why foreign missionaries failed in their 

work, and why it was only when drristianity was taken up by locals for proselytising, that the new 

religion took any notable hold in the hills. Bronson's episode also illustrates how the Nagas 

perfectly understood the missionaries' complicity with the colonial project, which aimed at their 

subjugation, and that they not only tried to use Bronson for their own benefit vis-a-vis the 

British, but also to get advantages inside their own local field of power. 

Renewed missionary activity started in 1871 with the missionary Oark, who started to 

work among the Aos. The territory of the Aos is south of Sibsagar, and was then outside British 

jurisdiction. Members of the tribe, however, often visited the plains and that was how dark met 

Subongmeren, a Naga from the Ao village Deka Haimong. Oark encouraged the drristian 

Assamese Godhula to learn the language of the Aos with the help of Subongmeren. Both were 

later sent by Oark to Deka Haimong to spread drristianity there. In November 1872 they 

succeeded in bringing a group of nine Nagas to Sibsagar, who allowed Oark to baptise them. 

After their return, these converts built a chapel in their home village. Oark several times visited 

Deka Haimong and was allowed to baptise 15 more Nagas. He planned to open a permanent 

mission among the Aos and asked permission for that from the then DC of Assam colonel 

Hopkinson. Hopkinson, on his part, was sceptical towards this plan, especially because of the 

IYl1l?Y' Lirx: R~tion (1873), and therefore submitted a correspondingly negative report to the 

government. l92 The government, nevertheless, gave Oark the permission, with the qualification 

not to do any commercial business and to start the mission among the Aos at his own risk In 

Wmter 1876 Oark and the drristian Aos founded the new village Molungyimsen, in the vicinity 

of Deka Haimong.J93 In March 1878 Oark's wife joined him there. Oark visited neighbouring 

villages, established schools, and handed them over to teachers who were to reside in the 

respective villages. He transcribed the language of the Aos, translated the gospel, and at the same 

time tried to adapt the translations as much as possible to the cultural understanding of the 

1'10 Ibid. 
191 IPCVol. PI 196/2, 15th - 29th Nov. 1841, Doe. 124, listed underFW, 22nd Nov. 1841, Jenkins to Maddoek, dt. 8th 

Nov. 184l. 
192 Barpujari, 'Early duistian Missions in the Naga Hills', p. 429. 
19} The presence of dark and the other Ouistians in the village, and the latter's refusal to take part in what they 
perceived as heathen practices, posed a challenge to the non-duistians of the village. dark reacted in the founding 
of a new village - Molung/Molungyirnsen - which remained the centre of Baptist missionary work until 1894, when 
it was shifted to Impur, see Gordon E. Pruen, 'duistianity, history, and culture in Nagaland', CUt:ributians tolniian 
S~ (New Series), 1974, No. 8, pp. 51-65, p. 52. 
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AOS.194 By 1885-1886 the church among the Aos had 79 members and many children visited the 

schools of the mission. Clark saw the necessity of sending more missionaries to the Nagas, to 

begin the work in the more innermost part of the Naga hills. Therefore in 1894 two more 

missionary-families arrived and they opened the new mission station at Impur, eleven miles north 

of Mokokchung.195 

Oark also wanted missionary work among the other tribes of the Nagas and in 1878 

asked reverend CD. King to take up his post amidst the Angamis. For this, however, the British 

government refused to give permission, on grounds of the hostile attitude of the Angamis 

towards the British. This notwithstanding, King proceeded into the Naga hills and began with 

preparations to start a mission station at Sarnaguting, close to Dimapur. The uprising of the 

Angamis in Oktober 1878, however, forced him to flee to Sibsagar. After the uprising had been 

put down, King returned and opened, with the help of an Assamese Ouistian, a mission and a 

school in Kohima. The Baptist church of Kohima was organised in 1883 and by 1887 had only 

seven members. King's family had to leave the Naga hills due to illness and Dr. Rivenburg 

replaced King by February 1887, continuing his work there until he retired in 1922. Rivenburg 

established a Christian community, opened schools and wrote Ouistian literature in the Angami 

language. Among the LhotaS, living north-east of the Angamis, the missionary family Witter had 

started to work as a recruit of Cark's encouragement, so that by the end of the nineteenth 

century, missionaries were active only among the Aos, Angamis and LhotaS.l96 

Their work only very slowly bore fruit, despite great efforts, which was partly due to the 

reluctant attitude of the British and their lack of protection, since they feared that unnecessary 

interference contained the risk of unrest and wars. Moreover, the work of the mission was 

seriously hampered by the insufficient means of communication, the lack of funds and other 

adversities, but above all by the Nagas' extremely hostile attitude towards the missionaries.197 

Even though the latter tried not to be perceived as too much in alliance with the British, the 

Nagas saw in them the agents of those who through their incursions into their land challenged 

their sovereignty.198 Cark did not make friends in trying to outlaw headhunting (before the Aos 

came under British jurisdiction), escaped only by chance an assassination attempt,199 and Cark's 

194 Barpujari, 'Early Ouistian Missions in the Naga Hills', p. 430. Pruen writes that Oark neared himself as much to 
the Ao way of life as his own Ouistian self-understanding and American heritage could allow him, see Pruen, 
'Ouistianity, history, and culture in Nagaland', p. 53. 
195 Barpujari, 'Early Ouistian Missions in the Naga Hills', p. 431. 
1% Ibid., pp. 431-432. 
197 Ibid., pp. 432-433. 
19& Ibid., p. 433. 
199 Pruen, 'Ouistianity, history, and culture in Nagaland', p. 53. 
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assistants, together with the converts, were discriminated against, threatened and put under 

pressure by their fellow Nagas, to return to their old faith.2OO 

Limited success among the Aos came only in the last decade of the nineteenth century. 

The revitalisation of the Ao church followed on a crisis caused by the decision of the 

missionaries to tighten the conditions for church membership. Ao church members often broke 

the rules, laid down by the missionaries, like the ban on the consumption of opium and rice-beer 

and on the participation at traditional religious practices, and it was thus decided in 1894 to 

disband the Molung church and to reconstitute it again under a stricter code. The result was a 

drastic reduction of the membership: only one Naga accepted the new code of conduct, and in 

the beginning of 1895 a second Naga doubled this number of church members to two, after 20 

years of missionary work However, one Naga with the name Caleph, to whom readmission into 

the reconstituted church had been denied, together with an Assamese friend, also living in 

Molung, started to preach with great zeal in a number of Ao villages. Although not being church 

members, they impressed many young people through their work, and succeeded in gaining 200 

members for the Ao church by the end of the nineteenth century.20l 

Around the same time the mission centre was transferred to Impur, close to 

Mokokchung, and developed into an important educational centre. There preachers and teachers 

were trained for churches and Orristian schools in the whole of the northern Naga hills. Around 

the turn of the twentieth century the Nagas developed a greater interest in education. The Aos 

became more active in the spread of the gospel among their own people as well as among other 

tribes. In 1905 there were around 551 church members from different tribes, though the majority 

were Aos. The growth of the Orristian community alarmed the guardians of tradition, and in the 

villages around Impur they tried to force the converts to participate in religious festivals and to 

obey the wrnd°2 
- days during which it was forbidden to work. This case was presented to the 

DC, who decided in 1907 that the Nagas had the right to free choice of religion and that they 

could not be forced to support any religion but their own. This represented a closing of ranks 

with those who were then called traditionalists and heightened the pressure on the Olristians, 

with the effect that it strengthened Orristianity's case and filled the church with life.203 

By 1915 the Ao churches had 1,700 members. Then World War One became something 

of a turning-point in the Orristian movement among the Nagas. Approximately 4,000 Nagas 

went with labour cotps to France and the Middle East, an experience that not only changed 

fundamentally the worldview of those who had lived through it, but also of those who were told 

200 Barpujari, 'Early Christian Missions in the Naga Hills', p. 433. 
201 Downs, OJristiarityinNarthEastln:iia, p. 127. 
2C2 wrm is the tenn for ritual-religious days, during which certain activities were taboo. 
2e) Downs, OJristiarity inNarth East In:iia, p. 128. 
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about it. This was especially true for young and educated Nagas, who by now became convinced 

that a new time had been established, against which resistance was futile, so that more and more 

tried to participate therein and to acquire pans of it in the form of Orristianity.204 Independent 

churches had been established in nearly all Ao villages by the end of the 1920s, and Orristian Aos 

were active in proselytising their neighbouring tribes, and by 1950 17,000 of the 50,000 Aos had 

become Christians.20s However, the most dramatic rise in the Orristian population was between 

1941 and 1951, from 34,000 converts out of 189,641 to 93,423 out of 205,950, ergo from 17.9 

per cent to 45.7 per cent, indicating that the Second World War played a major role. The 

percentage then rose to 52.9 per cent in 1961 and to 66.7 per cent in 1971.206 

The pace in which the Naga tribes adopted drristianity varied considerably. Even today, 

there are Naga tribes who are nearly completely Orristian, and those in which Christians are still 

in the minority. After the Aos who in the second decade of the twentieth centmy converted in 

large numbers, came the Semas in the late 1920s, followed by the Lhotas in the 1930s. Resistance 

among the Angamis against Christianity started to crumble away in the 1930s and considerable 

numbers of conversions among other tribes occurred in the 1940s.z°7 The conversion of the 

Konyaks, the biggest tribe of the Nagas, only really started after the end of the British rapes 

The conversions among Aos and Semas were not conducted by professional missionaries, 

but by indigenous laymen. Thus, at the beginning of the twentieth centmy, missionaries in 

Kohima were informed of the existence of Orristian communities among the Semas, about 

whose origins they were completely in the dark. The first Orristian Sema was a student in the 

Baptist school of Kohima, baptised in 1907. The converted Semas were subject to heavy 

persecutions at the hands of their fellow tribesmen, despite which their numbers increased to 500 

in 1925, doubled in 1926, and reached the figures of 6,500 in 1936, and 16,000 in 1950. A church 

centre was built in Aizuto, equipped with educational and medical facilities.209 Resistance was also 

strong among the Lhotas: only 10 per cent of the tribe were Orristians by 1936, and by 1950 

there were just about 3,000 church members.2
\o Despite the relatively early establishment of a 

missionary centre at Kohima, it was the Angamis who presented the most determined resistance 

against Christianity. There were only two Angami churches after nearly 40 years of missionary 

work, with 248 members altogether; in 1936 this number increased to 630 and in 1950 to 1,500.211 

The British had prohibited missionary work in the unadministered T uensang area, the territory of 

204 Ibid., p. 129. 
205 Ibid., p. 132. 
206 Eaton, 'Conversion to Ouistianity among the Nagas, 1876-1971', p. 18. 
2e7 Downs, OJYi.stUmity inNarth East IrrIia, p. 133. 
208 It were above all the ~ of the Konyaks who put up the most stubborn resistance against Christianity, ibid., p. 
139. 
20'1 Ibid., p. 135. 
21C Ibid. 
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the Sangtams, Clangs, Olakesangs and Konyaks. Here, it were laymen of the Semas and Aos, as 

well as tradesmen from these communities, who spread duistianity. Resistance was fiercest here, 

and many were killed in their attempt to proselytise. By 1950 the church of the Sangtam tribe had 

2,800 members, that of the Clangs 1,500, and that of the Otakesangs 700.212 

The staunchest opposition came from chiefs and elders, who feared for their control over 

the converts, and when the latter, for instance, refused to brew rice-beer for ritual use, this was 

seen as direct challenge by the traditional authorities. Consequently, converts were threatened, 

beaten up and! or driven out of the village, and their propertyconfiscated.213 

The appearance of the colonial power broke down traditional barriers and defence 

mechanisms. Hitherto, the base for socio-political structures had been autonomous village states, 

which became eroded through the imposition of a foreign administration. Now the people were 

organised alongside districts and sub-districts, which were under the control of foreign DCs and 

magistrates. Their authority was based on the presence of a foreign and superior army. New was 

not only that there was now an overall authority, but for most hill people that there was any 

paramount authority at all. Even though British colonial policy aimed at the least possible 

interference with traditional tribal cultures, they nevertheless passed laws, like the prohibition of 

warfare and headhunting, hitherto fundamental parts of these societies, which had a devastating 

effect on their socio-political structure.m Additionally, increased contact with Assam and Bengal 

due to trade, despite the Inrer Lirr Reg;Jatim, drove further inroads into their societies. The initial 

reaction of the Nagas everywhere was violent resistance, and after this had failed, they tried to 

arrange themselves with British rule as well as with Clristianity. Both, later on, were seen as 

giving protection against the larger perceived threat of being dominated by the Hindus.215 Downs 

thus clearly sees the acceptance of duistianity by the Nagas and other hill tribes as a strategy of 

acculturation in times of radical change and not as a prime mover: 

... the Christian movement in the North East is thus best understood not so much as a primary agent of 

change but as offering a means for at least some of the people to find and develop a satisfactory identity 

in the face of irresistible change imposed from without, most notably by government - first British and 

then Indian.216 

211 Ibid., p. 136. 
212 Ibid., p. 137. 
213 Dena, CbristianMissm ani O:iaridism, p. 89. 
214 Downs, Cbristianity inNarth Eastlrriia, pp. 14-15. 
215 Ibid., p. 16. 
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Chiefs, for example, who saw their authority as hopelessly undermined, could regain support by 

trying to monopolise Orristianity, in order to save or regain some of their power.2l7 Conducive 

for the acceptance of Orristianity were also the medical activities of the missionaries, who 

employed western medicine deliberately as a method to convert people.218 Sickness and religion 

were inseparably connected in traditional societies: the healing of sicknesses was a religious 

activity. When the Nagas realised that the medical treatment of the missionaries was not only 

cheaper, but also more successful than that of their priests, they concluded from that that the 

missionaries also had more power.2l9 Moreover, the presence of a superior foreign power allowed 

the questioning of traditional power structures and herewith also the traditional system of 

beliefs?20 

Helpful for Orristianity was also the interplay of cosmology with the socio-political order 

among the hill tribes. The basic cosmological structure of the indigenous religion knew the 

concept of subordinated spirits and one supreme being. The spirits took part in the events and 

processes of the microcosm of the local community, while the supreme being was the underlying 

principle of the events and processes of the macrocosm, in other words of the whole world. 

Since the microcosm constituted a part of the macrocosm, the spirits were either understood as 

manifestations of the supreme being, or as receiving their power directly from it. Where the 

subsistence economy governed traditional life, the social relationship of the people of a certain 

area happened inside certain limits of the microcosm. The people were conscious about the wider 

world, yet as something which did not matter much to them. As long as the boundaries of the 

microcosm were intact, the whole attention was given to the spirits. This showed itself in that, 

despite the conceptual existence of the supreme being, all prayers and sacrifice were directed to 

the spirits of the local microcOSm.221 Colonial rule and the alongside improvement of 

communications gradually weakened the boundaries of the microcosm. Now, life in this changing 

world brought with it a multitude of relationships that transgressed the boundaries of the 

microcosm and which were then, according to the indigenous cosmology, based on the supreme 

being. The hill tnbes saw the Ouistian concept of one god as being related to their own concept 

of one supreme being and seen this way, it presented merely a continuity of their cosmology. 

Moreover, Orristianity was also seen by the converts as being somehow connected with the 

changing world and with all its concomitants like education, medicine and technological and 

material superiority. The British outlawed warfare between villages and therewith made the 

spread of Orristianity easier. The erosion of the traditional socio-political systems and the 

217 J. H Hutton, 'Anthropology as Imperial Study', In Hutton Papers, (1938), Doe. 7. 
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dawning of a new era made duistianity appear as a possible approach to it, while the reception 

of Christianity was made easier by already existing cosmological concepts.222 

Another productive element was the translation strategy of the missionaries, who tried to 

modify the Christian concepts in their translations so as to make them as close to the indigenous 

one as possible. The traditional cosmology of the Aos, for example, knew the concept of a 

supreme god, named Ltmi/eizurrh:l, yet one which had rather less meaning for everyday life. For 

that were more important the spirits of the earth, called tsto'1gYf?m were more important. The first 

missionaries, who translated the Bible into the language of the Aos, decided to translate "god" as 

tsurrg,rem This did not directly challenge LtIJ1fieizt-l1l'bl, and established the duistian god in a well­

known way as one panicipating spirit, even though this one had obviously more power than the 

other tsungrr:m223 The traditional cosmological concepts of the Semas also knew a supreme god, 

called A lJ:m, with omnipotent and omnipresent qualities. Therefore it made more sense to 

translate "god" with A !hat and not with tsungrem Hence, both cases were not impositions of a 

foreign deity, but autonomous adoptions for one's own aims.224 The Angamis, as the only group 

among the Nagas, had the concept of a female supreme being, with the name Ukepempfu. Initially 

missionaries tried to use the tenn Ukepempfu. for god, which, however, failed due to the 

contradiction of god, the father and the female character of Ukeperxpfo, and might have been one 

of the reasons for the rather hesitant adoption of duistianity among the Angamis.225 

Downs sees the traditional socio-political organisation of the Nagas as based on the 

village and the frequent warlike state between villages or even khels inside villages was conducive 

to the genesis of different dialects inside one tribe, often leading to the creation of a new tribe. 

Christianity stopped that drifting apan by taking one of the dialects, transcribing it and using it as 

the base for the written language of the whole tribe. The transcription and reduction to writing of 

tribal dialects and the creation of a Christian literature was one of the most important factors in 

the creation of tribal identities above village leveF26 The first church structures were established 

along linguistic boundaries and in this way included for the first time all communities belonging 

to a tribe. These newly created structures transcended for the first time the previously existing 

separating lines between villages, clans and mountain ranges (the villages of the Nagas were 

mostly situated on these).227 Therefrom developed clear circumscribed tribal identities, building 

the basis later for tribal objectives in modem politics.228 Yet extensive proselytising work of 

221 Dena, GmstianMissUns ani CdmiaJism, p. 87. 
222 Ibid., p. 88. 
223 Eaton, 'Conversion to Ouistianity among the Nagas, 1876-1971', pp. 27-28. 
224 Ibid., pp. 37-38. 
225 Jakobs, The Na[pS, p. 156. 
226 Downs, Gmstianity inNcmh East Irrlia, pp. 262-263. 
227 Ibid., p. 167, footnote 345. 
228 Ibid., p. 279. 
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members of one tribe among other ones, together with wider church structures and their 

organisations, brought members of different tribes into close contact with one another and 

resulted for the first time in the commencement of a regional identity.229 The missionaries 

initiated and financed schools that at a later stage were taken over by the indigenous churches 

and supported by the British government. The educational system in this way was nearly 

exclusively in the hands of the churches and responsible for training a new elite that had to cope 

with the new situation under the British administration.230 By supporting the educational 

endeavour of the churches the colonial administration hoped to receive in turn loyal and 

disciplined citizens, with whom they could staff their administrative apparatus. However, the aim 

of the missionaries to create independent churches under local leadership injected the idea of 

independence into the colonised population.231 

Though this analysis could be smoothly reconciled with Benedict Anderson's, it is in my 

opinion turning the facts upside down. Firstly, we know by now that the socio-political ties of the 

Nagas did not stop at the village perimeter, and were most probably more inclusive; secondly, 

that the perpetual warfare and constant headhunting, which was allegedly so divisive, was more 

an intrinsic part of the coloniser's legitimising discourse than really a fact among the Nagas; 

thirdly, different languages (not dialects) were often normal inside one tribe and did not 

necessarily function in an isolating way in a doubtless multilingual environment; fourthly, the data 

on d1ristianity suggests that it was always other events that served as catalysts for d1ristianity 

and not the other way round. An Andersonian approach might be true for the elite but not for 

the mass of the Nagas, and it is the overwhelming majority that is decisive when we want to make 

statements on whether an agglomeration of individuals, or groups, is a nation, proven by a 

collective expression of will, like, for instance, a protracted guerrilla war.m Lastly, the idea of 

independence in this language and terminology surely came with Western education spread by 

d1ristian institutions, but was only a translation of an indigenous concept that had even more 

radically and decidedly insisted on personal freedom, compared with the independence of the 

whole people, which the Nagas now had to adopt to survive in the new state system As we have 

seen, both, World War One and Two served as catalysts for the spread of Olristianity, and thus 

were instrumental in making large parts of the Naga populations approachable for their small 

westernised, educated and often young elite, and we will come to this in a minute. Proof of this is 

that the Indo-Naga war though started only in the 1950s - turned out to have been the decisive 

catalyst for d1ristianity (and the Naga nation), and not the other way round - as was claimed by 

219 Ibid., pp. 210-21l. 
230 Ibid., pp. 276-277. 
231 Dena, Clmsti.mMissm ani 01aiaii.sm, p. 1l. 
232 And not only occasional terror anacks that can be carried out without support of the population. 



185 

the Indian Government's agents and press alike.m And it is the continuation of that war and! or 

that military occupation by India that gave Orristianity the dominant role it has today. 

4.6 The Two World wan' 
In the course of the First World War the British asked every village in the Naga hills to provide a 

certain number of men for deployment for work on the battlefields in France and the Middle 

East. Consequently approximately 4,000 Nagas joined the Naga Labour Corps and were deployed 

to the respective theatres of war. Apart from those serving in the Labour Corps, there were also 

Nagas who, being part of regular units in Manipur and Assam, saw active service.234 In his 

"Foreword" to Hutton's monograph on the Semas, Henry Balfour wrote that he came across 

several Nagas in France and wondered what consequences these experience might have on the 

Nagas, and how they would look at the British afterwards: 

In September, 1917, in Eastern France, I came across a gang of Nagas, ... engaged in road· repairing in the 

war-wne, within sound of the guns. They appeared to be quite at home and unperturbed. Earlier in that 

year I just missed seeing them in Bizerta, but the French authorities there described to me their self­

possession and absence of fear when they were landed after experiencing shipwreck in the Mediterranean 

- a truly novel experience for these primitive inland hill-dwellers! 

One wonders what impressions remain with them from their sudden contact with higher civilisation at 

war. Possibly, they are reflecting that, after what they have seen, the White Man's condemnation of the 

relatively innocuous head-hunting of the Nagas savours of hypocrisy. Or does their sarTl;foid save them 

from being critical and endeavouring to analyse the seemingly inconsequent habits of the leading people 

of culturedom? Now that they are back in the hills, will they settle down to the indigenous simple life and 

revert to the primitive conditions which were temporarily disturbed?235 

According to Naga authors (who as a rule do not give their sources) it was indeed the case that 

the Nagas perceived what they saw on the European battlefields as contradictory to the 

statements of condemnation about their barbarous headhunting practices. The same "civilised" 

people engaged in the conduct of a massive carnage, stretching over years, forbade the Nagas a 

comparatively harmless, yet for their culture essential, practice.236 The Nagas, according to 

Horam, saw therein a heightened hypocrisy, and this contributed to the general discontent and 

resentment against the British that had always been there. Even after pans of the Nagas had 

m See for example Rawle Knox, 'Naga1and To-day: Why Nehru Cannot "Free" Hill Tribesmen', New Delhi, Jan. 7, 
The Cizeru:r, Jan. 8, 1961; Gavin Young, 'Commonwealth's Unknown War - 2: Jungle Baptists Fight It Out With 
India' The Cizeru:r, May 7, 1961; Ursula Graham Bower, 'Sifting the Evidence on Naga Problem' The Cizeru:r,July 2, 
1961 and George Patterson, 'Nagas: Indians killed one in ten', Karachi, June 9, The Cizeru:r, June 10, 1962. 
234 Yonuo, TheRisiTf,NalJ1S, pp. 123-124. 
235 Baifour, 'Foreword', pp. XVI-XVII. 
236 Yonuo, The RisiTf, NalJ1S, pp. 126. 
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converted to Christianity and entertained a friendly mtercourse with mtSSlonanes and 

administrators, they were, as Horam expresses it, " ... never crazy about the British.,,137 No Naga, 

in Horam's view, would have done anything for the British just because of their white skin. 

Initially the Nagas called the British "half-cooked" and perceived them as portentous, yet 

accommodated themselves with their presence, and tried to make the best of it, believing anyhow 

that it would only be a temporary affair.m Further, Nagas returning from the front lines brought 

home with them stories about how their imperial rulers took severe beatings at the hands of the 

Germans. If the deteriorating image of and growing resentment against the British was one 

outcome of this war, so, as Horam argues, did the contact and interaction in France and the 

Middle East between Nagas of all different groups, including those from the unadministered 

areas, give rise to a sense of belonging among them.239 The majority of the recruits of the Labour 

Corps had been recruited from the " ... independent trans-frontier Nagas ... ", as they were called 

then, and this resulted in a closer relation between the British and those Nagas.240 Alemchimba 

goes even further and says that it was now that the Nagas saw the necessity for their political 

unification to be able to represent their interests in a world which would never be the same.241 

Y onuo writes that the Nagas in France had passed a verbal resolution to resolve all their 

differences and disputes on their return and to work from then on for the political unification of 

the Nagas, and this, for Yonuo, constituted " ... the spirit which spearheaded an upsurge of the 

Naga nationalist movement. ,,242 On their return some of those Nagas founded the Naga club in 

Kohima and Mokokchung in 1918, which for Panmei marked a turning point in the history of 

the Nagas, since it was the first organisation representing all tribes.m Among the founding 

members were important gpmiJuras, cItit1shis, government servants, priests, and other educated 

Nagas.244 The club was unofficially supported by the local administration.245 In the beginning the 

club's objectives were rather social than political; the members ran a co-operative shop, founded 

a football team and were supposed to support the district-administration, yet it developed into a 

political force, and, according to Yonuo, " ... raised its will against the British imperialism. .. " ,246 

237 M Horam, NalP InsUY[p10t 1k last thirtyyms (New Delhi, 1988), p. 35. 
238 Ibid. 
239 Ibid., p. 37. 
240 ~ if the Gm.errm:rl if Assam, 1923, P/11282, February 1923, Doe. 14, From A W. Botham, Ollef Secretary 
to the Government of Assam, To Major F. H Hump~, Deputy Secretary to the Government of India, Foreign 
Department, dated Shillong, the 3rd September 1921. 
241 M Alemchimba, A BrU/Historia:z1A cmtTt ifNa~ (Kohima, 1970), p. 162. 
242 Yonuo, lkRisiTf,NalJlS, pp. 126. 
243 Neherniah Panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', In R Vashum, Aleube Iheilung et al (eds.), NalJlS at 
Work (New Delhi, 1996), pp. 85-100, p. 86. 
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although in a peaceful and loyal manner.247 Panmei, in the same vain, sees the Naga club as an 

instrument against British imperialism,248 and Horam assumes that the members of the club 

already anticipated the dawning of India's independence: 

They were preparing themselves politically in the event of India gaining her Independence from the 

British - a happening they then visualized as being imminent. Thus their chief concern was the political 

future of their homeland after the exit of the British. The Naga dub was still in its infancy then, but the 

pattern of the future had already been installed in their minds.249 

None of the authors writing on the Naga club lays open his source of information. There are few 

details subsequent to its foundation, solely that it grew into the centre of social and political 

gatherings, and represented a « ••• sustained pressure group ... " .250 When we recall the contents of 

the Menvrandurn to the Sirrm OrmissUn (see previous chapter), we may agree that here Nagas had 

come together who, discussing their predicament, were aware of their plains neighbours' 

superiority; there was a danger that their future could be with them; were cognisant of their own 

disunity, and lack of consciousness on the part of the mass as Nagas; and that despite these 

negations, formed themselves as Naga population as such. However, they failed to realise that 

there was no way back to an existence outside of the state-system, and thus, rather than starting 

to work on a unification of the Nagas, they accepted the disunity as given. That being so we may 

speak of an incipient national elite, whose characteristic trait was passivity, possibly rooted in the 

understanding of their people's indifference towards potentially national affairs. 

This was to change with World War Two, which led to the hitherto most dramatic 

disruption and radical change of the people's life in the Naga hills. Before 1942 there were no 

lines of communication capable of supporting large numbers of troops east and south of the 

Brahmaputra. While the Northwest always had been expected to be the most likely route for a 

potential invader, the Arakan chain was simply seen as too difficult and unhealthy terrain. The 

Japanese assault on Burma, however, proved this view wrong and the threat to India's Northeast 

Frontier set off a massive allied war-effort to connect Assam with the rest of India by rail, road, 

river, and air. With that the Naga hills became first part of a potential and then virtual barrier 

against a Japanese invasion, and finally the central part of the front. Dimapur was turned into a 

base depot, initially to handle a 1,000 tons of supplies per day.251 As a consequence thousands of 

247 Ibid. 
248 Panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', p. 86. 
249 Horam, Na';F /rtSurwr:f The Lzt thirty )8t~, p. 37. 
250 Yonuo, TheRisin;sNa~, pp. 160. 
251 See Central Office of Information, The Canpaign inBurrru (London, 1946), p. 15; Vice-Admiral The Earl 
Mountbatten of Bunna, Report to tk O:niinri 0Ji£fs ifSt4Jby tk Suprui'FAUiai Cffmwr/er SCMJh.East Asia, 1943·1945 
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Nagas and other workers, recruited from all over India, were used by the British as forced labour 

to build this infrastructure. Lack of medical care, provisions and hygiene, together with the hard 

manual labour, resulted in the death of many of these coolies/52 in Mountbatten's own words: 

In Assam, as in Arakan, we were faced with considerable difficulties. At Dimapur (Manipur Road), 

which was the advanced base for the Central front, work on a completely new base had had to be 

undertaken in a highly malarial area. In addition to the operational troops, there was a labour force of 

about 60,000 employed on the construction of roads, airfields and other works.253 

The central office of infonnation gives different numbers. Here, from :March 1942 onwards 

28,000 tea estate labourers were working on the Dimapur - Kohima - Imphal road, provided by 

the India tea association. Later that number was to increase to 82,000 as a regular labour force. 

However, the total number of the labour force employed on the central front was three times as 

high, in other words approximately 250,000 labourers, consisting of imported but also local 

(Naga) labour.254 

In 1942 streams of Indian refugees coming from Burma flooded through the Naga hills: 

starved, they took everything eatable that they could lay their hands on. They also brought with 

them new epidemics into the Naga hills.255 Almost 190,000 of them reached Imphal alone, while 

others used more northern routes, following the retreating Indian, British, and Chinese forces.256 

The Indian auxiliary troops escaping from Burma, chased by the advancing Japanese, in the 

course of their escape route to the plains, fell upon the villages of the Nagas, drove their 

populations out, looted them/57 and finally burned them down.258 In addition to that east-to-west 

invasion of the hills, a large number of Indian auxiliary troops had been already stationed in the 

Naga hills.259 Imphal plain was made into the allied advance base for the defence of India and the 

re-conquest of Bunna. The material was transported via air and the Dimapur - Kohima - Imphal 

(New York, 1951 [London, 1951D, pp. 12-14 and Basil Collier, The War in the Far East, 1941·1945: A MilitaryHistory, 
(London, 1969), pp. 314ff. 
m Yonuo, The Risirrr, Naff1S, p. 142. 
253 Mountbatten, Report to the CJ::nbinn 0i4i c!StajJby the SUfJ"Il?J?'E A/Jiai O:nmtmer Sooth-East Asza, 1943·1945, p. 14. 
254 Central Office ofInformation, The OmpaigninBtmrri., p. 155. 
255 Yonuo, The Risirf, Naff1S, p. 142. 
251> Collier, The War in the Far East, 1941-1945: A Military History, p. 316. Among the first refugees using the hitherto 
un-surveyed route from the Hukawng valley across the Paungsao pass to Ledo was the Life magazine photographer 
George Rodger who, in his personal account, wondered himself about the friendliness of the Nagas who were 
supposed to be fierce headhunters, and resolved "Perhaps it was not the headhunting season." See George Rodger, 
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257 Ursula Graham Bower, Nar;p Path (London, 1950), pp. 205-212. 
258 W. J. Slim, D/81l inn VUtory (London, 1961 [1956D, p. 65. 
259 Arthur Campbell, The S~ A Story [rrmKrlJiJm (London, 1956), p. 34. 
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road, which had been turned into a two-lane all-weather route.2bO In 1943 alone the tonnage per 

month transponed along this road increased from 17,000 to 40,000, and again in 1944 to 2,500 a 

day.261 By January 1944 the lines of communication of Assam maintained 450,000 men, and by 

April 620,000.262 

By the end of March 1944 three Japanese divisions (approximately 100,000 men) had 

fought their way westward into the Naga hills and encircled 155,000 British and Indian troops in 

the Imphal area, and in early April they reached Kohima and besieged the garrison there.2bJ The 

battles of Imphal and Kohima were among the toughest in the war in this pan of the world and 

were fought with enormous deployment of planes, tanks, anillery, and men/&4 thus leading to 

comprehensive destruction.265 To supply Imphal area by air alone it needed 300 sonies or supply 

flights per day, adding up to 8,000 in totaF66 To prevent the Japanese from outflanking them, 

allied troops also were dispatched funher nonh and east into the Naga hills, to Jotsoma, 

Phekekrima, Mokokchung, Sakhalu, Zubza, and Wokha, and Japanese troops advanced to these 

positions/67 extending the area directly affected by the war over the majority of the hills, which 

brought them temporarily under Japanese administration: 

When the Japanese offensive was fully extended, only 25,000 tribesmen remained under our 

administration; but by the end of June, when the Naga Hills and other territories had been recovered, 

their number rose to 186,000.268 

The Japanese remained for roughly four months in the Naga hills, set up their administration and 

tried to win over the Nagas to co-operate with them. Though the Japanese administration was 

thus rather temporary, Yonuo is of the opinion that it nevenheless effected the abolition of the 

arbitrary division of the Naga hills by the British administration into administered and 

unadministered areas. The Japanese advanced without provisions and were supposed to live on 

what they could find on their way. Consequently they requisitioned everything that they could 

find in the Naga villages and paid for it with fake 10-Rupee notes. The Nagas also were forced by 

the Japanese to work as poners and guides for them, or were locked up so that they were not in a 

position to warn the allies. In the case of any suspicion of collaboration with the British, the 

:I,: Central Office of Information, The Carrpazgn in Bumu, p. 91. 
:1,1 S. Woodbum Kirby, The War A'(f1int Japan. Vdurre 1II: The Daisi7.£ Battle (London, 1961), pp. 23 and 30. 
262 Ibid., p. 319. 
2,} Collier, The War m the Far East, p. 415. 
:64 Kirby, The War Afflinst Japan. V durre 1II: The Dru.sZ7.£ Battle, pp. 329-341. 
:'5 So v.Tote Mills, for example, when informing Archer in August 1946 on his posting in Kohima: "Kohima was 
completely \vrecked in the war & a accommodation there is ... very bad." A rrher Papers MSS E ur F 236/80, Oct. 25,h 
1946, Shillong. 
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2,7 Kirbv, The War Afflinst Japan. V dum: Ill' The Daisz7.£ Battle, pp. 302-306. 
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Nagas were tortured and killed. According to Yonuo, the Japanese generally behaved in a fair 

way, apart from a few cases of rape, torture and murder. This notwithstanding, many villages 

were destroyed in the heavy fighting, the granaries burnt during retreats, and bombardments did 

not discriminate between civilians and combatants. The Nagas took refuge in the jungle.2bY 

To the Allies the Nagas served as stretcher-bearers,"7o and poners,"~l and the British 

officer in command afterwards praised the Nagas: 

Despite floggings, torture, execution, and the burning of their villages, they refused to aid the Japanese in 

any way or to betray our troops. ( ... ) they guided our colwnns, collected information, ambushed enemy 

patrols, carried our supplies, and brought in our wounded under the heaviest fire ... . 212 

In the battle of Kohima the DC Charles Pawsey seemed to have been instrumental in gaining the 

support of the Nagas.273 The dtixlshi Kosazu of the village Kig-v,rema later told Archer that 

Pawsey, prior to the Japanese invasion, had ordered the Nagas to kill as many Japanese as 

possible: 

.. .1 asked if any Japanese heads were taken in the fighting. Kosazu then explained that when the war 

approached the hills Pawsey issued an order urging the Nagas to kill all the Japs they could, but 

forbidding them to take their heads. Instead of this he but authorised them to remove a finger and an 

ear (Pawsey tells me that was done to avoid reprisals). Following this announcement, W'hilie Angami, a 

Naga of Kigwema killed two J aps but he is the only member of the village who did SO.274 

The allies considered the hill tribes of the Indo-Burma region as brothers in arms, and the Nagas 

as their most faithful ones.m Yonuo writes that many Nagas helped the allies, hoping to receive 

something in return in the future.m This is definitely an allusion to promises for independence, 

which later on, when not realise~ were perceived as a betrayal of the hill tribes in general and the 

Nagas in panicular, especially by British who had served during the war in the Naga hills.m That 

there was not always enthusiasm on the pan of the Nagas to get drawn into the war more than 

269Yonuo, TheRisirrt;Nagas,p.146-147. 
270 Central Office of Information, The Gmpaign m Bunm, p. 161. 
m Kirby, The War A tpim japan V dum: Ill: The Daisiu Batt/e;, pp. 336-337. Kirby reported that all men from 
Khonoma volunteered to serve the Allies" ... as porters, on condition that troops were sent to protect the village 
during their absence." Ibid., p. 337. 
m Slim, Difeat into Victory, pp. 291-292. 
27) Kirby, The War A tpinst japan V dum: Ill: The DaislU Batt/e;, p. 300. 
2~4 A rrher Papm, Tour Diary, 31.12.1946 - 11.2.1947, MSSEur F 236/74, dt. 8.1.1947, p. 8. 
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was necessary, may be seen from Bower's description of how she convinced a group of Nagas to 

fight for the allies: at first they did not really see why they should do this for the British, but then 

gave in reluctantly to Bower's mixture of promises and blackmail.278 The co-operation of the 

Nagas with the allies could anyhow not have been too ambitious, for the latter were entirely in 

the dark about Japanese movements and positions,m which would confirm what I was told by T. 

Muivah who grew up and experienced the war in T angkhul area, northern l\1anipur.280 This view, 

though, is challenged by Yong Kong, who aged roughly 15 at that time and living in 

Mokokchung, had two brothers in the Labour Corps working on the Imphal road, and who 

insists that the Nagas from the NHD supported the British war effort to a hundred percent.m 

The end of the actual fighting left the Naga hills as a transit and rest area, and for the sake 

of the reconquest of Burma, the lines of communication through the Naga hills, especially the 

Dimapur - Kohima - Imphal - Tamu road, were improved to serve as support lines/82 and 

Kohima remained a rest-area for at least two divisions.283 

Several authors see the Second World War as the central and most traumatic experience 

of the Nagas since the British conquest of the Naga hills: " ... it was the Second World War which 

had propelled psychological cataclysm far beyond its confines than anything that had taken place 

during the British rule for about 70 years" .284 And: 

The large-scale contact v.lth British, Indian and Japanese soldiers, over a period of some months, 

touched off a revolution in the minds of the Nagas. A v.indow was opened to the outside world, and 

through it blew in the v.inds of change that disturbed a stagnant life and wafted in new ideas and 

concepts. 

It kindled a new awakening among them. It brought to them new ideas of living and new concepts of 

freedom. Their social outlook underwent change. It all generated a mental ferment and restlessness 

among the post-war generations of Nagas.285 

Nibedon, though writing rather less metaphorically, saw the war as having achieved no lesser a 

consequence than the Nagas' entry into history: "No, not a single Naga remained entirely 

unaffected .. .In fact, there was utter chaos in the tribal societal fabric. .. [ the Nagas ] ... were 

plummeted into history.,,286 A window was tom open and the wind of destruction came in, but 

not due to some supra-history, but because of the affairs of others. Rustomji, who after the 
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Transfer of Power often had the opponunity to talk to Nagas, due to his position as adviser to 

the governor of Assam in tribal affairs, writes that the Second World Wrar and the extensive 

destruction of their country, above all, gave rise to the conviction among the Nagas that they 

wanted to be left alone.287 

After the war the British staned a programme of reconstruction. Temporary business 

transactions with the allies and the Japanese, together with compensations paid for services 

provided during the war, raised the standards of living in the Naga hills far above other hill tribal 

areas in the Nonheast, and gave rise to a petty bourgeoisie among the Nagas. The contact with 

numerous nationalities, about which the Nagas beforehand had only heard, made the Nagas 

perceive themselves as pan of a larger whole. Military requirements brought an immense 

improvement of the lines of communication and " ... transformed tremendously the economic, 

political, social, moral and cultural life of the Naga people.,,288 The massive confrontation with 

the outside world put their traditional way of life in question, resulting in " ... synthesizing western 

life into all aspects of their life.,,289 An increased interaction among the Nagas themselves, and 

their shared experience, made them forget their old feuds and made them stan talking in terms 

such as "unity" and "nation". The inscription honouring the dead of the battle of Kohima reads 

as follows: "When you go home tell them of us, and say for your tomorrow we gave our today,,290 

for Yonuo it mirrors " ... the sentiments of the Nagas of sacrifice their life for the sake of the 

nation, rising above the narrow bounds of selfish ends."291 While World War Two thus is seen by 

most authors as a collective trauma for the Nagas which destroyed their supposedly traditional 

life, Y onuo is of the opinion that the war, though not being the father of the Naga nation, was 

definitely its midwife. 

I have tried to sketch the war-time Naga hills, since I am convinced that it was this 

common experience and endurance on pan of the Nagas that made the mass of them for the first 

time receptive to whatever political programme their small elite might had. Prior to this 

cataclysm, talks of unification, self-determination, ete. must have appeared as utterly irrelevant. 

4.7 Conclusion 

The panial subjugation of the Naga hills had been carried out for reasons lying beyond them. 

Consequently, the administrative set-up was limited to the minimum, thus the categorisation of 

the hill tribes as "Nagas" by the British could not take hold among the mass of the Nagas, and 

19,; Nmnal Nibedon, NafFlarri.· The NitfJt 1the Guerrillz (New Delhi, 1983), p. 23. 
2S7 Nari Rustomji, Jrrperilkrl Fruntiers: Jniia's ,\iIYT'th-EasternBorderI.an:is, Delhi, 1983), p. 21. 
2SS Yonuo, The RislYf, ;\ia[JlS, p. 149. 
2sg Ibid., p. 150. 
2<t: Ibid. 
zg) Ibid. 
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only made its impact on a comparatively small elite. In their process of ordering and categorising 

the population into tribes, the colonial masters tried to orientate themselves along the line of 

existing structures. The doIxishis, the cultural interpreters and political envoys, played an advising, 

if not, decisive role. The result was the strengthening of already existing units of identification 

and organisation, possibly with a reifying tendency, but not superseding those units of the lower 

order. A supporting role was played by the language policy of the missionaries, and by the 

educational- and church structures, created and maintained in the main by indigenous people. 

This, together with the rudimentary administrative structures, presented a much wider 

framework, inside which a more closely knitted network constituted the field of action for the 

newly emerging elite among the Nagas. In their intercourse with British, missionaries and 

plainsmen, this elite started to see itself not only as members of different tribes, but most 

probably also as members of the Naga people. This was definitely the case after thousands of 

Nagas had served overseas in the war-zones of Europe and the Middle East. Not only did it give 

these men a wider vision of themselves, but it also placed that vision in a broader context. 

However, till the end of the 1920s this new Naga elite was also aware of the fact that the 

overwhelming majority of their people, far from seeing any necessity to unify, was not even aware 

of that question. Moreover, this elite, despite what they had witnessed, may have believed that 

there still was the possibility of a return to a life outside the world-wide state system. This all 

changed when the Naga hills themselves became forward base, frontline, and battle field of the 

war in the east in World War Two. The connection of the Naga hills with the wider region, 

accompanied by the rapid improvement of the lines of communication, the fast-moving 

penetration of the hills themselves, and the flood of people and armies of all kinds. Moreover, 

the battle of personnel and materiel also must have revealed to them their absolute powerlessness 

against states that could employ, move, and if necessary, designate to wholesale destruction. 

Notwithstanding this, the fact that the Japanese had been temporarily victorious, and had had the 

British on the run, demonstrated that the white man was anything but invincible and damaged his 

image beyond repair. This was the beginning of the end of European colonialism in all South and 

Southeast Asia. :Having said this, we may conclude that while colonial administration and 

Christianity delivered a small elite, it was the Second World War that widened political 

consciousness among the population. 
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Chapter Five 

India -s Nation-building and the Nagas, 1947-64 

5.1 Introduction 

This chapter sets out to shed some light on the actors in the Nehruvian era, in order to explicate 

in detail that despite claims at the centre for unity in diversity, the policy was to pursue unity 

violently and eradicate diversity. In the case of the Nagas the initial strategy was to give vernal 

assurances about constitutional safeguards, while at the same time non-implementing them. That 

was to ensure that the Naga hills as a separate unit would cease to exist after the first post­

independence decade. Once the Nagas protested, the Indo-Assamese actors sent out 

contradictory signals of appeasement and imposition, not allowing for a clear counter-position. 

When thereupon the Nagas finally came back to their original demand for immediate 

independence and continued to insist on that, the Assamese administration sent its paramilitary 

to make the Nagas change their mind. This terror campaign fired back and Shillong had to ask 

Delhi for the assistance of the Indian army (lA) that was subsequently committed to it by Nehru. 

The lA, unable to break the resistance and hard pressed itself, started a genocidal campaign that 

also did not achieve the objective. Thus, the government of India (GOI), via its intelligence 

bureau (IB), created with the cooperation of some Nagas, a pro-Indian faction that was to head a 

future Naga unit, and soon after was decided to be transformed into a state. This move was 

destined to split the Nagas. As this was also proved to be ineffective, Nehru, in his last month, 

allowed for some initiatives that resulted in a genuine cease-fire which, though not ending the 

war, was to give the Naga population some breathing time. 

The Indo-Assamese protagonists' stand vis-a-vis the Nagas was not different from the 

one we have encountered among the British in Otapter One and Three. They agreed on the same 

policy of state terror that made the lA into the main Indian agent in the Naga hills. Yet there was 

a crucial difference between the former British empire and the newly independent Indian state: 

imperialism had lost its legitimacy, and the doctrine of self-determination and democracy 

demanded a voluntary union of equals.1 This being so neither formal nor informal imperialism 

was left as a choice and nation-building had to be the order of the day, necessitating the total 

penetration of the projected territory and population. When the latter, however, proved highly 

1 Benedict Anderson, Die Erfiniu:rf,der Natiar Zur Kariereeins fd~Kmzeptes (Franfurt, 1983 [Irru?J.m:i 
0Jmmnities: R~ on t1x Origjnani Spread ifNatiomLisrrID, pp. 90-91. 
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recalcitrant, the Indian state resorted to terror, and then to nation-killing, genocide, to achieve its 
• ? 

aun.-

5.2 Nation-building 

The initial aim to create the independent India as a decentralised polity with autonomous states 

was dropped when Muslim League and Congress were competing for power. Moreover, the 

carnage of partition, the resistance of some princely states and the weakness of Congress in the 

periphery provided the impetus to create a strong centralised state, which was in any case 

favoured by Nehru and a section of the Congress leadership.3 The states became functional to the 

whole: 

These aims were explicitly enshrined in the legislative, financial and executive paramountcy of the 

centre. When to these provisions was added the residual and emergency powers invested in the centre, 

and the system of central planning in 1950, the autonomy of the states was severely curtailed.4 

Though all the powers enabled the centre also to respond flexibly to demands for provincial and 

regional autonomy,S mainly it provided the centre with the power to impose its will on the states: 

... the flexibility of the constitution, particularly with reference to centre-state relations, was dependent 

on political leadership at the centre which itself was hemmed in by the powerful compulsions of 

nation-building, economic development, and the need to win regular national mandates.6 

2 For the argument that this was widely practised by post-colonial regimes, see Walker Connor, E thmrntiondism 'The 
qutstJarunlerstaniin;,(princeton, 1994), pp. 16,20-24. 
3 This view is congruent with Robert L. Hardgrave and Stanley A Kochanek, Imia: Gmerrrm:nt am PditUs ina 
Deudoping Nation (San Diego, 1986), p. 112: "In India the nationalist elite, drawing on the colonial experience and 
faced by the chaos of partition, the integration of princely states, and demands for the creation of uni- lingual states, 
created a highly centralized federal system." And Ishtiaq Ahrned sees there already the root cause for the tough stand 
towards any sign of dissent on part of the minorities: " ... the trauma of Partition made the central elite overly sensitive 
to the question of unity. Herein can be detected from the start the tendency of overreaction by the Indian state to all 
signs of separatism among non-Hindus." In idem., State, Nation aniE thnUity in OJrtenparary South A sia (London, 
1996), p. 102. H M. Rajashekara even lists the Nagas' demand for independence among the reasons for what he calls 
prefactorial federalism in Inidia, a federal system with a central government that possesses overriding powers. Idem, 
'The Nature of Indian Federalism: A CIitique', A sianSurzey, Vo!. 37, No. 3, March 1997, pp. 245-253. For an 
altogether adverse view, that not only takes the Indian system as a genuine federal one, but also sees ideological 
foundations for that in ancient Indian political theory, see Myron Weiner, 'Ancient Indian Political Theory and 
Contemporary Indian Politics', In S. N. Eisenstadt, Reuven Kahane and David Shulman (eds.), 0rtJxxJaxy, Heterrxlaxy 
ani Dissent in Irriia (Berlin, 1984), pp. 111-129. 
4 Gurharpal Singh, Re-exaninin;, Centre-Stale ReiatUn inlnlia (Unpublished inaugural lecture, 2000), p. 2. "Under 
Articles 352-360 the central government can during an emergency take over the administration of a state and impose 
President's Rule. If the centre feels that the security of India or a part of it is threatened by external aggression or 
internal disturbance, Parliament can confer on the Union President the power of the legislature of the state to enact 
laws. Beween 1947 and 1984 President's Rule had been imposed 70 times in different parts of India." See also 
Ahmed, State, Nation ani E thnUity in Onerrporary South A sia, p. 104. 
; Ahmed, S tate, Nation ani E thnUity in Cort:enporary South A sia, p. 103. 
6 S ingh, Re-exaninin;, Centre-Stale Rdat:iI:n in I rr:Iia, p. 3. 
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Though Nehru initially had been opposed to any state reorganisation out of fear of 

precipitating the break-up of India, he finally gave in, since the demand was often either brought 

forward or supported by regional Congress units.7 Hence, the political elite proved willing to 

redraw state borders along linguistic lines.E This happened in order to contain South Indian 

separatist aspirations.9 However, this way of accommodation of Dravidian states was not feasible 

in the periphery, the border areas in the north-west and north-east. There, the threat to national 

integrity justified other methods than accommodation: 

In Jammu and Kashmir, Punjab and North-eastern states political accommodation soon gave way to 

coercion, electoral manipulation, and direct administration from New Delhi through President's Rule. 

The blatant subversion of legal and administrative structures was seen as necessary to manage the 

allegedly subversive regional forces. IQ 

A similar line of argument is put forward by Paul Brass who also sees linguistic federalism as an 

adequate instrument to preserve the unity of India, but one that did not work in some areas: 

States reorganization has either failed or been a far more prolonged and violent process before 

satisfying the political aspirations of the Sikhs in the Punjab and the tribal peoples in the northeastern 

region. Outright secessionist movements accompanied by bitter, prolonged, and bloody 

confrontations between insurrectionary groups and government security forces marked the politics of 

Punjab, Assam, and the Muslim-majority state of Kashmir as well in the late 1980's and early 1990s.11 

The reason for the failure of the Indian state to accommodate itself with its non-Hindu 

minorities lies for Brass for one in its secular ideology2 together with the centralising efforts of 

7 Ibid. 
8 Hardgrave and Kochanek, India: Gar.ernm:nt and PditUs in a ~ Naticn, p. 112. 
9 Ahmed, State, Nation arri Ethnicity in Cmenparary SaIth A sia, p. 112. 
10 Singh, Re-exarrini.rf5 Q:me.State Rdatims inIrx1ia, p. 4. 
11 Brass, Indian PditUs sirre IrrIepen:letre (Cambridge, 1994), p. 192. 
12 For Brass it was not the rise of militant Hindu-nationalism which led to the failure of accommodation in the 
periphery, but the other way round: secular ideology denied any declaration of difference and justified an intensified 
centralisation that led to the failure which in turn provided the conditions for the rise of militant Hindu-nationalism 
Nehruvian secular ideology was perceived as the pampering of minorities to the cost of the Hindu majority, was 
made out as the conceptual scapegoat for the near-total failure of the Indian state and was reversed under his 
daughter Indira, while the minorities were turned into the substantial scapegoats. Resulting in the Indian state as a 
formally Hindu one that remained factually in the hands of the upper castes, see Paul Brass, 'Secularism out of its 
place', ~ toIndians~(n.s.) 32,2 (1998), pp. 485-505. 

The destruction of the Babri Masjid of Ayodhya and the rise of the openly Hindu-nationalist Bharatyia 
J anata Party (BJP) to power has initiated a discussion of the religious content of the Indian polity and the reasons for 
it. Though it deals predominantly with the question of Hindu-Muslim accommodation, or the failure of it, it 
inherently is also concerned with the place of the periphery within the Indian state, even if it is not mentioned, since 
it deals with the capture of the Indian polity from the very start by a brahrnanical elite (or not, depending on 
viewpoint), and the relegation of all others at best to a role as second-rate citizens. In the following I shortly sketch 
some of the arguments: Ashis Nandy, 'The Politics of Secularism and the Recovery of Religious Toleration', In 
Veena Das (ed.), Minors qVidenx Camunities, Rias andSuniwrs in SmthA sia (Delhi, 1990), pp. 69-93 and R. N. 
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Indian state leaders and the never ending struggle for power at the centre, which just grew more 

intense during Indira Gandhi's time as premier.13 Still under Nehru, the use of the states' 

reorganisation commission and of reserve powers for dealing with regional political opponents 

undermined further the centre-state relationship. :Here, it W'aS especially the economic and 

political centralisation that made the states economically dependent on the centre.14 

Most authors draw a strong line between Nehru and his daughter Indira, seeing her, for 

example, as guilty for having reversed the devolution of power to the states, a process begun 

under her father, thus bringing about increased tensions in centre-state relations;15 or, that she 

replaced the politics of accommodation with the politics of manipulation, and that the 

centralisation of power also centralised problems, nationalised issues that beforehand had been 

Madan, 'Secularism in its Place', In Rajeev Bhargava (ed.), SroJarismarri its CritUs (Delhi, 1998), pp. 297-321; both see 
secularism as a foreign construct, inadequate for India, and both hold its imposition by a westernised elite on an 
essentially religious mass responsible for the emergence of religious nationalism, which is the instrumentalisation of 
religion for political aims. For Saral Jhingran, SroJarism in IrrIia: A rmppraisal (Delhi, 1995), every kind of 
communalism, in which every declaration of difference is included, can be traced back to colonial divide-and-rule 
policies, and therefore does not really exist. Secularism of the Nehruvian brand was prevalent in India three decades 
before and after independence and characterised by 'sann clharrm sarrulhn.a', the support for all religions and the 
positive discrimination of minorities. For him an Indian form of secularism is possible when one differentiates 
between the core and the periphery of religion (respectively the personal and the doctrinal). Akeel Bilgrami, 
'Secularism, Nationalism, and Modernity', In Rajeev Bhargava (ed.), Secularism am its Oit:i£s (Delhi, 1998), pp. 380-
417, sees Hindu-nationalism not as legacy of a bad colonial past following on a good pre-colonial time of tolerance, 
as it was for the previous authors, but as a form of the modem phenomena of nationalism, and resulted out of the 
forcing of a secularism of an ideal Nehruvian make, who refused to put it to discussion in the public sphere, and 
therewith missed the opportunity of giving Indian secularism the value of a negotiated and agreed kind. Subratra K. 
Mitra, 'Desecularising the State: Religion and Politics in India after Independence', Onparatiu: St:udies inS~arri 
History33 (4), October 1991, pp. 755-777, also takes Nehruvian secularism as an imposition on a religious 
population, for the sake of nation-building, that left no space for a formal role for religion in the public sphere, 
which that in turn re-conquered with vengeance after the demise of the Congress party. In Mitra's view Ayodhya and 
the destruction of the Babri Masjid was the turning point. For Mark Juergensmeyer, Rdigiats Natimalism Corfonts the 
Sa::uiar State (Delhi, 1994), secularism is a Cbristian western concept, that never had any legitimacy in India (agreeing 
in this with Nandy, Madan, Jhingran, Bilgrami, and Mitra), and thus the Nehruvian form was always already 
discredited as an extension of colonialism, and the death of Nehru was the wake-up call for a religiously legitimated 
nationalism that for Juergensmeyer is simply the indigenous variant. Again, also Juergensmeyer finds the roots of 
Hindu nationalism in its confrontation with British colonialists and Ouistian missionaries, the success of it in the 
Hindus' sense of deprivation under the rule of Nehruvian secularism. The Sikhs, on the other side, saw secularism as 
disguised Hindu rule and a threat to their identity, and the rise of Hindu nationalism was responsible for the wars in 
Punjab as well as in Kashmir. Then, in the eyes of Partha O1atterjee, 'Secularism and Tolerance', In Rajeev Bhargava 
(ed.), SroJarismam its CritUs (Delhi, 1998), pp. 345-379, Hindutva is completely in line with the modem state, its 
institutions, and Western secularism. Like the European fascists, the Hindu nationalists are aspiring to use the state 
to terrorise and assimilate the minorities into the mainstream in order to realise their vision of an unitary state. 
Nehruvian secularism, however, was guilty of perpetuating a communal policy since, though it protected the 
minorities, it interfered with the religion of the majority. Finally, in a meticulous study Christophe Jaffrellot, The 
HirrIu Nationalist Mau:rrmt am lniian PcliI:Us: 1925 to the 19905. London, 1996), gives us a model at hand that traces the 
strategies of Hindu nationalists and explains their success as heavily depending on the prevailing discourse. Space 
forbids me from sketching his elaborate model here. This little excursus, hov.-ever, shall suffice to demonstrate the 
irrelevance of the periphery for Indian politics and Indian political science, as I will demonstrate in relation to the 
Naga case, in the main text, that the Indian state, at least on the periphery, was from the outset, not one that could 
be understood in terms of secularism etc. but rather in terms of subjugation, of conquest, and occupation, and it is 
only in Peter van cler Veer, Rfiigims NatUndism HinJus arriMuslim inlrrIia (Berkeleyand Los Angeles, 1994), that we 
find an argument that allows us not to hold colonial rule or Western concepts responsible for that. 
13 Ibid. 
14 Singh, &ex~ Cenf:re.State RJ:Jatiaz in Irriia, p. 4. In contrast to Singh's view O1atte~ee portraits the states as 
financially autonomous, see Partha C1latte~ee, 'Introduction: A Political History of Independent India', In idem (ed.), 
StateaniPdi1ics inlrrIia (Delhi, 1997), pp. 1-39, p. 11. 
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resolved locally, within the context of a state, or in the bargaining between the centre and the 

state.16 Funher, that the role of the central govemment changed to an interventionist one in 

regional conflicts, encouraging secessionists by negotiating directly with them;17 that it exploited 

and! or aroused communal sentiments or the support of extremist groups for the sake of power 

politics and elimination of political opponents.1S Finally, that it appeased Hindu sensibilities on 

the one side, while dealing finnly with others (like Sikhs and Kashmiris) on the other; and above 

all turned away from the previous Omgress strategy of seeking the support of India's social and 

religious minorities.19 

A different approach is to see a continuity: 

Although Mrs Gandhi's rule stalled the broader processes of political regionalisation and 

decentralization, in labelling her as the deopatra of Indian politics we are, I believe, in danger of over­

attributing to Mrs Gandhi the long-tenn structural, ideological, economic and constitutional causes of 

centralisation that pre-date her arrival as prime minister ... .far from introducing radical innovations she 

was merely tapping into the rich repertoire of constitutional controls that had gradually begun to be 

accepted as the rule, the states lacked embedded constitutional safeguards that could have prevented 

abuse, the flexibility of the constitution could be transfonned into an elected dictatorship.20 

Another continuance, according to Singh, was the upholding of the distinction, 

established in the Nehruvian era, between "peripheral" and "mainstream" states, which 

intensified in the course of the 1980s, when the full coercive power of the Indian state was 

applied to the insurgencies in Assam, Punjab, and Jammu & Kashmir.21 Singh is of the opinion 

that it is wrong to blame the centralisation of Mrs Gandhi's rule for these developments, since 

such an argument is unable to explain why centralisation should have especially affected religious 

minorities who are in the majority in their states, like the Muslims of Jammu and Kashmir, the 

Sikhs of Punjab22 and the Ouistians of Nagaland. This reasoning draws a sharp distinction 

between the Nehruvian and post-Nehruvian eras which is unconvincing, because centralisation 

worked back then simply through different channels. Moreover, these claims for political 

sovereignty, in some cases go back to the time of independence and are not accommodable 

15 Hardgrave and Kochanek, lniia: Gm.errrnvt ani Pditics ina Deu:/cpirf, Natiaz, p. 112. 
16 Ibid., p. 122. 
17 Brass, lniianPditics sin:e IrrIeperrJenE, pp. 153 & 203. 
18 Chanerjee, 'Introduction: A Political History of Independent India', p. 31. 
19 Ahmed, Sta<e, NatimaniEthnicityinOnenpararySa4hAsia, p. 107. 
20 Singh, Re-ex~ Cen:re-Stttte ReIatims inlrrlia, pp. 5-6. 
21 Ibid., p. 6. 
22 One response to the authoritarian manner of the GOI to the states was the election victory in January, 
1983 of the newly fonned T elugu Desam Party, in Assam and Punjab regional opposition took on the 
character of insurgencies, see Olanerjee, 'Introduction: A Political History of Independent India', p. 31. 
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inside the Indian union.23 In Singh's VIew Indira Gandhi " ... merely accentuated eXlStmg 

li · "b al 24 po Cles ... , ut was not caus . 

Rather, neo-Gandhians25 do not see the " ... ethnic content of traditional Indian 

civilization ... ".z6 Moreover, India and its politics are dealt with in the respective works of political 

science as a case of exception. This is so due to its perceived and represented heterogeneity, 

diversity, complexity, and pluralism, which enables India, so it is portrayed, to combine and 

manage successfully in the main on account of its tolerant religion, Hinduism. Ethnicity either 

does not exist in the Indian context or is problematised. Hence, ethnic groups are constructed to 

serve vested interests, are not cohesive, and the Indian state is a neutral, secular arbiter. The 

reasons for the existing ethnic conflicts in India are thus to be found either in the perversion of 

Nehruvian values or in Nehru's modernising zeal, but the legitimacy of the Indian state is never 

questioned.27 

Singh terms this view of Indian politics "conventional wisdom" and unveils it as an 

ideological construct, in being ahistorical by ignoring the panition, which in essence was the 

creation of a Hindu majority state at the disposal of a Brahmanical elite. Following from this 

ahistoricity these writings claim the Indian state to be a secular one, not captured by an ethnic 

group, while in reality Hindus are more equal than others, non-Hindu groups are discriminated 

and their expressions of identity defamed as "communalistic", "instrumentalistic", etc. This 

results in an inability to perceive cumulative cleavages in the periphery and to explain the ethnic 

conflicts persisting there in terms of the post-Nehruvian tendency to centralisation.28 

Nation-building in India has brought in a " ... sharp divide between the core and peripheral 

regions." Hence, in order to understand better this division, we would profit from a 

reconceptualisation of India as: 

23 Singh, Re-exaniniYf, Cenf:re.State Rdatians inlniia, p. 6. 
24 Ibid., p. 7. 
25 Singh especially targets here B. Parekh, 'Ethnocentricity of the Nationalist Discourse' In N atians am N atiorulism, 
1995,1:1, pp. 25-52. One could also easily include the following three into the criticism: Nandy, 'lbe Politics of 
Secularism and the Recovery of Religious Toleration'; Madan, 'Secularism in its Place' and Jhingran, SroJarismin 
Irriia: A reappraisal, for seeing pre-colonial Indian society in general, and the Hindu one in particular, as a never-never 
land of tolerance and niceties in which everything bad was in some way or other introduced by the West. 
26 Gurharpal Singh, Ethnic CorflUt in Irrlia: A Case-Study if PW¥@ (London, 2000), p. 22. Support for this view is also 
to be found in Ainslie T. Embree, VtqJias in CHflict: Rdifimani NatiJ:mlisminMaiemln::Iia (Berkeley and Los 
Angeles, 1990), who rather than tolerance and synthesis in Hindu society's history finds that" ... all truths, all social 
practices, can be encapsulated within the society as strong as there is willingness to accept the premise on which the 
encapsulation is based" (ibid., p. 30), and in Van der Veer, Rdifioos Natimalism Hinius amMus/i;n inln::Iia, who 
clearly demonstrates not only the Hindu content of Indian nationa1ism but also its historical foundations (passim), 
and further that the complex term of "syncretism" is in a concealed way related to the processes of expansion and 
conversion (pp. 198-199). 
27 Singh, Ethnic CHflict in Irriia: A Case-StudyifPU1¥@, pp. 37-39. 
28 Singh, Ethnic CHflict in lniia, pp. 39-44. 
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... an ethnic democracy where hegemonic and violent control is exercised over minorities, especially in 

the peripheral regions, thereby creating the conditions for the resilience of ethno-nationa1ist separatist 

movements in the latter regions.29 

Post-colonial India can neither be understood as a fonn of secularized majoritarianism, 

nor as " ... ethnically accommodative cons oc iationalis m. .. " , as LijpharrO has tried to demonstrate, 

but as an "ethnic democracy' .31 The model and tenn of "ethnic democracy' was developed by 

Smooha in opposition to the viewpoint that" ... democracy in deeply divided societies takes either 

a majoritarian or consociational fonn ... " ,32 with the state as being neutral in both cases. Smooha 

argues that " ... there are some countries that combine viable democratic institutions with 

institutionalized ethnic dominance."33 This he calls "ethnic democracy' and is applicable in his 

view to Israel, with respect to the citizenship status of the Israeli Arabs, who are disadvantaged 

on the level of individual and collective rights as in the access to the power structure but 

nevertheless are able to strive for the betterment of their predicament with democratic means.34 

To see India in this way calls for a rigorous reassessment" ... of Indian democracy since 

1947 ... ", the partition facilitated to install" ... a majoritarian and unitary state ... " with the 

recognition of " '" Hinduism as meta-ethnicity ... " and: 

'" though the minorities have been granted individual and, in some cases, collective rights, the 

recognition of these rights has been based on a tactical accommodation with hegemonic Hinduism.)5 

The Hindu-majority exerts hegemonic control over its non-Hindu mmontles, and when 

challenged, switches to violent control: 

'" whereas violent control resembles overt domination, suppression and open confrontation, 

hegemonic control combines elements of coercion with some degree of consent that often underpins 

administrative structures.36 

29 Ibid., p. 35. 
3~ Arend Lijphart, 'The Puzzle of Indian Democracy: a Consociational Interpretation', A m:rican Pditiad Scienx Retiew, 
90:2 Oune 1996),258-268. 
)1 Singh, Ethnic Corflia in InJia, pp. 45-46. 
32 S. Smooha, 'Minority StatuS in an Ethnic Democracy: the statuS of the Arab Minority in Israel', Ethnic ani Racial 
Studies, 1990,13:3,389-414, p. 389. 
33 Ibid. 
)4 Ibid., p. 410. For a positive answer to this approach and its further development see Y. Peled, 'Ethnic Democracy 
and the Legal Constraints of Gtizenship: Arab Gtizens of the Jewish State', A nrrimnPditiad Scienx Reriew, 86:2 Oune 
1992),432-443, and O. Yftachel, 'The Ethnic Democracy Model and its Applicability to the Case of Israel', Ethnicani 
&aal Studit5, 15:1 Oanuary 1992),124-136. Latter labels India under the multi-ethnic consociational model (ibid.: 
128). 
3; Singh, Ethnic Orflia inlnJia, pp. 45-47. 
36 Singh, Ethnic Orflia inlnJia, p. 47. 
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The nOM-eastern states, Punjab and Kashmir are examples of the exertion of hegernonic and 

violent control. The: 

... de facto ethnic democracy ... extends constitutional rights to minorities but mitigates their de jure 

application through the excessive application of residual controls and placation of dominant ethnic 

sentiment. Where ethnic groups have contested, often violently, the nature of hegemonic control, the 

Indian state has readily resorted to violent control and has made such contests 'unthinkable' by the 

ideological, economic and political resources at its disposal, and 'unworkable' by its coercive practiceY 

A case in point is for Singh the work of Joyce Pettigrew8 who, also working on the 

Punjab, drew most of her data from interviews with Sikh guerillas, and who clearly illustrates 

Singh's view that the" ... psychosis of fear, the civil war conditions, and the brazen use of violence 

by the state is calculated policy. "39 Further, that" ... state terror was a continuation, by other rrrnns, 

of the traditional policy of ethnic conflict management by the Indian state in Punjab."40 

Although Singh's delineation of the Indian state comes closest to my findings when 

working on the Nagas, and, although Singh himself remarks that "language and definition are 

power," I deem the use of the term "ethnic democracy" as an unhappy one, and he may have 

overlooked that it had been created by an advocate of ethnic democracy.41 I would rather be 

inclined to follow Connor's dictum who says there is no need for the existence of salt water in­

between two groups to qualify their relationship for the term" colonialism", or in other words, an 

imperial subjugation is also possible between people sharing a land border,42 and we could add, in 

the absence of any Europeans. The image of India was dominated by the non-violence preaching 

of the vegetarian Mohandas Gandhi and the non-alliance and peace to others lecturing Jawaharlal 

Nehru. However, there are signs of change, and in a recent publication already two articles on 

state terrorism in India are included.43 The terms "imperialism", "military conquest and 

occupation", "state terrorism", and even "genocide"44 are in my opinion more appropriate to 

describe long periods of relationship between the Indian state and some groups on its periphery 

than "ethnic democracy". Even though it, as a concept, includes the term "violent control", that 

to me sounds more as an euphemism for what we find in our data, and will be demonstrated in 

37 Ibid., p. 48. 
38 Joyce Pettigrew, The Sikhs if tlx! Pw'9aD Urhe:trd V cia:s ifStatearriguerrilla W:leru! (London and New Jersey, 1995). 
39 Singh, EthnicO:r/lia inlnlia, pp. 29-3l. 
4C Ibid. 
41 Peled, 'Ethnic Democracy and the Legal Constraints of Citizenship: Arab Citizens of the Jewish State'. 
~2 Connor, E thrvmtim:dism The quest far uniersttzrriiTf5. 
43 Jeffrey A Sluka, Dmth Squad: The A rthrrpdutycfState Terror (philadelphia, 2000). Therein on India: Cymhia K. 
Mahmood, 'Trials by Fire: Dynamics of Terror in Punjab and Kashmir', pp. 70-90 and Joyce Pettigrew, 'Parents and 
Their Ollldren in Situations of Terror: Disappearances and Special Police Activity in Punjab', pp. 204-225. 
« For the use of this term in the Indian case I receive support from Iqbal A Ansari, 'Human Rights Situation in 
India - An Overview', In idem (ed.), HummRi'ifots inlrriia (New Delhi, 1998), pp. 1-23, p. 8. 
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the subsequent and last chapter. Singh's reason for choosing such a conciliatory tenninology will 

be rooted maybe in the wish to be heard at all by the Indian political science community, to find 

at least some open ears and doors and not to be stigmatised as a radical from the outset.45 If he 

would have employed the terms I suggested, he would have been outside of the "order of 

discourse", outside of what is considered as true.46 Political scientists working on India tend to 

somehow get less enraged over violence than uneasy embarrassed by its naming in a direct 

language. A graphic language may contain the danger it deteriorating into a pornography of 

violence,4? but nevertheless is trying to describe what is, but should be unacceptable. The 

question is rather who is being served by this "objectivitY' .48 The scholars, like the mass media, 

represent the standpoint of the ruling elite of the Union, mutually assuring themselves that they 

are right, and it is not clear whether they are only out to deceive everyone else, or whether they 

are also duping themselves.49 

This subjugation of peripheries by stronger centres is in line with a long history of state­

formation. It is even more in line with the specific history of newly independent states that owe 

their territorial extent to colonial conquests, to the legacy of empires. The problem is, however, 

that these states, like India, achieved their independence because of the ideology of self­

determination. The idea of the nation is based on the right to self-determination" ... the refusal of 

people to accept political rule by those deemed aliens ... "so, that forcefully served as catalyst for 

independence movements all over the world.51 While this right to self-determination was 

45 Although if one follows the chronology of the articles one cannot but realize the strong tendency to a clearer 
standpoint and language. 
46 Michel Foucault, Die 0rrInurfs des Diskurses {Frankfurt am Main, 2000; [in the original: L 'arrIre du disaxme (paris, 
1972)J. 
47 E. Valentine Daniel, C1Japters in anA rthrqx!graphyifVidern: Sri Lariears, Sirhahs, am Tarriis (Delhi, 1997), p. 4. 
48 When P. Timothy Bushnell, Vladimir Shlapentokh, Guistopher K. Vanderppol, and Jeyaratnam Sundram, , State 
Organized Terror: Tragedy of the Modem State " In idem (eds.), S we Orwmizai Terror. The CAse if V ident IrTteml1 
Rtpn3sion (Boulder, 1991), pp. 3-37, write " ... the severe scholarly neglect of the subject of violence and terror is just a 
part of the neglect of the more general subject of repression." (ibid., p. 3), then this, in the Indian case, equals for me 
tacit support for this repression in the form of propaganda. 
49 Teresa Joseph demonstrates at the Kashmir example how the Indian mass media perpetrates the stand point of the 
central government in denouncing any criticism of the ISF as illegitimate interference into India's sovereignty, as 
defamation of India in general and of the brave Indian soldier in particular, and in the final analysis as anti-national. 
This reporting does not only shape public opinion but ironically also serves as basis for decision-makers. That is the 
mass media in an uncritical way takes government information at face value, and the government in turn sees that as 
confinnation of its view and takes it as a basis to act, see TeresaJoseph, 'Kashmir, human rights and the Indian 
press', OJrterrpararySaahAsUt (2000) 9 (1), pp. 41-55. Already in the 1960s Galbraith has noted that "The Indian 
press is free but highly cooperative" in relation to the Indo-Ollnese border crises. John Kenneth Galbraith, 
A rrlussad:rr's Jamvl: A nA17l?I'ialn Viewiflniia (Bombay, 1972 [1969D, p. 118. Also in relation to the Indo-Olinese 
border war, the former TirrEs correspondent for India Neville Maxwell writes how it is still not admitted in India that 
it was Nehru's forward policy that triggered the Indo-Olina war, and that this failure on part of the political elite of 
India - " .. .first duped, now self-deceived." - to have a critical reading of their country's own history has severe 
consequences also for contemporary Indo-Ollnese relations. Neville Maxwell, 'Forty Years of Folly: What caused the 
Sino-Indian Border War and Why the Dispute Is Unresolved', Critimi AsUtn Studies, 35:1 (2003), 99-112, p. 112. 
Hence, what we find in India is a vicious circle of self-deception with serious consequences not only for the 
minorities but also for the state. 
sc Connor, E thrvmticnJlism the qut5t for ~tan:lin& p. 12. 
51 Ibid., p. 5. 
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proclaimed during and after World War One only by a few politicians, it developed into the 

official doctrine of the United Nations after the Second World War.52 However, the post-colonial 

successor states were obviously multinational states, and this turned the elite of the therein 

dominant group, which proclaimed the right to self-determination for themselves, into advocates 

of multinational states.53 

In their desire to preserve their multinational states, they received support from the 

United Nations Organisation (UNO), that placed the right to self-determination below the 

inviolability of state borders. Or stated differently, the right to self-determination is considered as 

an inviolable human right, but not one which can challenge the sovereignty of existing states.54 

After two world wars the main concern was to avoid further wars between states. The Cold War 

also stabilised the post-World War Two political map, both main protagonists and their follow­

ship tacitly agreed that the territorial integrity of existing states, or the states, which came into 

existence after the withdrawal of the imperial powers, should not be put into danger, whatever 

the doctrine of self-determination was saying in theOIy.55 The new elite also drew ideological 

support from liberal advocates of the right to self-determination who at the same time were 

against granting the same to smaller groups taken to be inferior. These had for their own good to 

be absorbed by bigger nations, implying simply that education would lead to assimilation, and 

justified power on grounds of an evolutionist worldview.56 So, after the achievement of 

independence, the task of the elite of the imperial successor state was now to focus the loyalty of 

the new citizens on the new state and to transcend rival loyalties. That is to say they emulated the 

export model of the European empires whose elites as Anderson57 has shown, tried to transform 

their multinational empires into nation-states. The result was that despite official declarations in 

favour of multinational states and a secular, political notion of nation, the actual policy 

perpetuated was one of so-called nation-building, which actually was a policy of nation­

destroying:58 "The refusal of multiplicity, the dread of difference - ethnocidal violence - [is] the 

52 Ibid., p. 38. 
5) Ibid., p. 5. 
54 James Mayall and Mark Simpson, 'Ethnicity is not enough: Reflections on Protracted Secessionism in the Third 
World', In Anthony D. Smith (ed.), Ethnicity a:rri NaticrnJism (Leiden, 1992), pp. 5-25, p. 6. 

The right to self-detennination is blocked by Article 2 (7) of the Olana of the United Nations (UN), which 
guarantees the principle of the territorial integrity of states, see Owen Lynch, 'Indigenous Rights in Insular Southeast 
Asia', In Odtural SttniuJ Report 22 S~tAsian Tribd Groops a:rriEthrac Mimrities (Cambridge, 1987), pp. 27-46, p. 
38. And herewith the right to ownership of the group that happened to capture the state. 
55 Mayall and Simpson, 'Ethnicity is not enough: Reflections on Protracted Secessionism in the Third World', p. 5. 
The UN was also anxious to grant self-determination only to people not to minorities, while at the same avoiding to 
define what a people is. States, however, only have minorities, no further people, see Nagengast, 'Violence, Terror, 
and the Crisis of the State', A mual Reciewcf A rthrrpciogJ, 1994,23, pp. 109-136. 
56 Mayall and Simpson, 'Ethnicity is not enough', pp. 6-7. 
57 Anderson, Die E rfirriurr6 der N atiar Zur Kariere ein?s fd~ Knrrzeptes. 
58 Connor, E~m, p. 22. 
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very essence of the state. "59 Whereever protective measures for minorities were introduced, they 

were essentially disguised assimilation programmes.60 

In the Indian case the major tool for this change on the periphery was the Indian Army. 

The post-Transfer of Power Indian army fundamentally resembled its imperial predecessor. One 

difference, however, posed the recruitment of its personne~ now aspiring a representative 

constitution, and in this way being intimately connected to nation-building and national identity 

what in turn delivered the reasons to fight.61 One of the legacies of the raj, however, was the 

omnipresence of the military, especially in its role to upheld internal security. While this was 

generally opposed to by post-independence Indians and especially by their government, this, 

however, was not the case for the periphery where the military continued to play its traditional 

role. Indo-Pakistani hostility and the perceived threat posed by Ollna prevented a reform of the 

armed forces, since in times of crises the civilians had to rely on the military, making it easy for 

the army to withstand any attempt to reform. 62 Though politicians and civil service successfully 

curbed the militarys part in the decision-making process,63 where it was deployed and in 

command, like in the very peripheral Naga hills, it still had a free hand. This remains disturbingly 

true until today.64 For then, it meant that a young and inexperienced officer COtpS,65 probably 

eager to prove itself and earn its merit, found itself in charge of a major crisis in nation-building. 

Despite continuous affirmations of its professionalism and striking power, the reality probably 

was closer to an ill-equipped66 and ill-trained force, clearly demonstrated by the contemporaneous 

debacle in the Indo-Ollnese war.67 This rout by the Chinese, however, unleashed a military build­

up that bore fruits towards the end of the 1960s. It perhaps explains GOl's assent to the ceasefire 

59 P. dastres, 'De l'ethnocide' L 'HW17l!, 1974, 14 (3-4), pp. 101-110, p. 110, cf. Nagengast, 'Violence, Terror, and the 
Gisis of the State', p. 110. 
60 See for example Kirk Endicon, 'The Effects of Government Policies and Programs on the Orang Asli of Malaysia' 
In Cultural Survival Report 22. Scutheast Asian Trib:tJ CJra"ps aniEthrDc Mimrities (Cambridge, 1987), p. 47-51, about 
the Orang Asli of Malaysia, or David Maybury-Lewis, Irrliwrns Prxples, E thrDc CJra"ps, ani the Stale (Boston, 1997), pp. 
17-21 about Clliapas. 
61 Stephen P. Cohen, The InlianA m1)l Its cmtribution to the deuJqJm:n if a mtion (Berkeley, Los Angeles, London, 
1971), pp. 181ff. 
62 Cohen, The IniianA m1)l Its aJI1trihutian to the deuJqJm:n if a mtion., pp. 170 and 181ff. 
63 Ibid., p. 17l. 
64 Even today and even in Assam the Indian Anny has not only a free hand even against local officials but in general 
behaves like an occupational one, see Kunja Medhi, 'Human Rights in North-East India: A Contemporary 
Perspective', In Ntab Alam (ed.), HummRiifots inIniia: IssU15 am ~ (Delhi, 2000), pp. 289-304. 
65 Cohen, The InlianA~, p. 176. Cohen stressed that not only the officer corps had no experience, but also the 
political leadership, and especially Nehru and Menon meddled with detail military questions till the disaster of 1962. 
66 That the Indian soldiers had worse gear than even the aA's Tibetan guerrillas, see Kenneth Conboy and James 
Morrison, The aA 's Socret War in Tzh:t (Kansas, 2002), p. 172. 
67 See Galbraith, A rri:w;sador's JamuJ.. AnA rrFYiam '1iewif Iniia, pp. 169ff and passim, and especially illustrative his 
recollection of Nehru's reaction to the Ollnese offer for ceasefire: "The Prime Minister was inclined to think that the 
OUnese offer of ceasefire and withdrawal was real. He cited two factors as inducing the Ollnese offer. One of these 
was the unexpected anger of the Indian people when aroused - an anger that was unfortunately unmatched by 
military effectiveness. And the second factor was the speed of the American response." Ibid., p. 179. That the Indian 
Army's prestige had been created by its predecessor and shattered only after a few days of fighting the Cllinese, was 
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in the Naga hills and the proceedings of the peace mission as providing a breathing space to 

regroup and build-up its military potential and capability, in order to re-launch with even greater 

vigour subsequent assaults on the stubborn jt.D7iiis.68 Thus, when for example, in 1961 The Tim:s 

correspondent wrote: 

The Indian Anny was committed soon after the underground had struck its first blows against the 

administration. The Anny's natural strategy was to attempt to wipe out guenillas as quickly as 

possible. 

Villages thought to be supplying of supporting the underground were heavily punished or, if 

persistent, razed after their inhabitants had been brought together in stockaded centres to be held 

under guard. The guerrilla forces were also vigorously harried. 

In the recollections of the Annyofficers and some officials those tactics brought the underground 

to its knees, and they grumble now that they were cheated of victory and condemned to a long and 

frustrating campaign by the Government's "Gandhian" hankering. 69 

Being humiliated by the Chinese was one thing, but being humiliated by the Nagas 

definitely smacked of a "myth of the stab in the back" and called for rectification as soon as 

possible. However, before this could be done, the lA had to fight the lndo-Pakistani war of 1965, 

and had to crush the Mizos in 1966-67, both campaigns possibly contributing to the explanation 

why the ceasefire held for so long in the Naga hills. When then the army was again unleashed 

unto the Naga hills it was better equipped and staffed but surely not better suited to fight a few 

recalcitrant insurgents. Even today though being deployed in the main for now more than five 

decades in operations against fellow-citizens, the lA still considers its main task as the territorial 

defence of the union. This has as a consequence that it behaves in its counterinsurgency 

operations as that what it is - a land-army that moves in massive force against an enemy, and till 

today could not be convinced of the impracticality of this approach in a guerrilla war, let alone in 

low-intensity insurgency.7o 

5.3 The Indian Man:S- Burden 

The "Hill Tracts" of Assam feature just in about half a page of Volume III of the Round Table 

Conference in 1931. In Annexure 14, the Merrurarxlum ro;p.rding the pait:ioo if Assam, Srijut 

supported by its inability to come to tenus with the Nagas, see Guy Willt, 'India faces the Shadows', The ffiener, 
October 10,1962. 
68 Judith M Brown has it that the lA was in every respect in a miserable state after their rout by the Olinese, leading 
to a massive build-up, so that by 1966 the number of armed forces had been doubled as compared to a decade 
before and the expenditure more than trebled. Idem, Nthru: A Pditical Life (New Haven and London, 2003), pp. 325-
330. 
69 Times correspondent, Delhi,Jan. 15, The Tirrrs, 16.1.1961. 
7~ See Rajesh Rajagopalan, 'Innovations in counterinsurgency: the Indian Anny's Rashtriya Rifles', Contenparary Sooth 
Asia 13 (1), March 2004, pp. 25-37. 
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Chandradhar Barooah argued against the separation of any part of the hills from the province of 

Assam. While he agreed on the continuation of cenain "backward tracts" under the 

administration of the governor as agent to the governor general, he nevertheless stressed that 

every effort should be made to include the hills into the constitution of Assam, i.e. to end their 

protected status. Equally important, he went on, was the unhindered and legitimate access to and 

share of mineral wealth and other resources on part of the people of Assam that might be 

discovered in the hills. Barooah called the hill people "aboriginal inhabitants.,,71 This position had 

not changed much when fifteen years later the departure of the British was imminent and the 

Transfer of Power projected. The representatives of Congress and League for Assam, 

respectively Bardoloi and Sa'adullah, took only so much interest into the hill people's destiny as 

to take their inclusion into Assam as given, Bardoloi on grounds of his Greater Assam thinking 

(he was of the opinion that Assam had formed a unit for approximately 3,000 years) and 

Sa'adullah in order to outnumber the Hindus and so to include Assam into the provmces 

grouped to join Pakistan.72 In the words of the then governor of Assam Andrew dow: 

The Assamese, both Caste Hindu and Muslim, professed solicitude for the tribes, but neither had 

troubled to study the question, nor had any real sympathy with the tribes. This solicitude, which was 

very recent, was motivated almost entirely by considerations relating to their own differences, and 

especially the question of Pakistan. The Hindus felt that that the majority of the tribesmen in Assam 

would strengthen the case against its inclusion in Pakistan: the Muslims tended to stress the fact that 

the Hindus (like themselves) were a minority in the Province and that they and the tribes were in the 

same danger of Hindu domination. In consequence none of the parties concerned had made any 

serious attempt to face this complex problem in a constructive way?} 

We further have already learned that the Congress-dominated constituent assembly had 

resolved to overrule proposals made by the advisory committee to ensure Congress dominance.74 

When the election of the members of the advisory committee was on the agenda of the 

constituent assembly, Govind Ballabh Pant, sitting for the United Provinces and in charge of 

moving this point, made it clear that the question of minorities had been used by the British to 

71 Srijut dlandradhar Barooah, 'Annexure 14. Memorandum regarding the position of Assam', In lniianRatrrl TaIie 
Cn{err:rre (Serord S{5sio1, JIb SepteJr"b!r, 1931 - 1" lJ£renier, 1931. Pramiirrg5 if Fmal Structme 0Ymri.ttn:? ani M imriJie; 
~(Volume Ill), (Calcutta, 1932), pp. 1497-1500. 
72 Minutes of Meeting between Cabinet Delegation, Field Marshal VIscount Wavell and Mr Gopinath Bardoloi on 
Monday, 1 April 1946 at 4.50 p.m., In Nicholas Mansergh and Penderel Moon (eds.), The Tr~ferifPauer, 1942·7, 
Vdum? VII, TheCAbimMissim, 23Marrh- 29 Jun: 1946 (London, 1974), No. 35, pp. 76-80 and Note of Meeting 
between Field Marshal Viscount Wavell, Cabinet Delegation, Mr Qaiyum and Sir M Sa'adulJah on Tuesday, 2 April 
1946. In ibid., No. 40, pp. 88-90. 
73 Summary of views of Sir O. Came and Sir A dow on the tribal question given to the Cabinet Delegation in 
discussions at the Viceroy's House, New Delhi on 28 March 1946. In ibid., No. 16, pp. 35-39. 
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create disunity, and that the minorities' concems were thus a child of imperialism: "So far, the 

minorities have been incited and have been influenced in a manner which has hampered the 

growth of cohesion and unity." Further on in his speech, while mentioning the necessity of 

safeguards to satisfy the minorities, he nevertheless clarified that the ultimate aim was to be the 

abolition of any minority status.75 Nominated for the advisory committee was also one Naga 

whose name obviously gave some problems to K. M Munshi who was reading out that pan: "In 

Number 35, the name is wrongly spelt, it should be Shri Mayang Nokcha. I do not know how to 

pronounce it. He represents the North-Eastern tribal areas." The name was listed as "Shri 

Mayang Mokcha" .76 The Gorkha representative Damber Singh Gurung drew attention to the fact 

that there was no Gorkha nominated for the advisory committee: "Now, Sir, if there is no 

Gorkha on the Advisory Committee, who will speak for them and how will their interests and 

rights be safeguarded?"77 His objection simply was ignored. Before him had already Jaipal Singh 

(sitting for Bihar), the most outspoken advocate of the ;Urrgjis, as he called himself, pointed out 

that the tribes were underrepresented on the advisory committee. It was also Jaipal Singh who 

stated the absence of any minority representative from the union centre committee in charge of 

working out the centre-state relations.78 The INC was detennined not to let any cabinet mission's 

demands for minority safeguards interfere with its state-building project, irrespective of general 

and vaguely held assurances.79 

Four months later J. J. M Nichols-Roy (sitting for Assam, and a Ouistian) requested 

Nehru to make a statement, in his function as a member of the interim government, in which he 

should guarantee the people in the tribal and panially excluded areas of Assam that their hitheno 

protective scheme will not be withdrawn. Roy saw this as necessary in order to alleviate 

apprehensions and fears in the respective territories.80 Nehru's reply is interesting in several 

respects: 

74 Cabinet. India and Bunna Committee. Paper LB.(47) 14. Indian Policy. Memorandum by the Secretary of State for 
India, India Office, 6 February 1947, In Nicholas Mansergh and Penderel Moon (eds.), The Trarsfer ifPouer; 1942·7, 
VdurrFIX, Thejixirgc{a tinrlirrit, 4 Nar.etrkr- 22 MarriJ 1947 (London, 1974), No. 355, pp. 628-630. 
75 Ontituent A ssmiiy DeI:wes. Official Report. Vol. II, 20-1-1947 to 25-1-1947; 24th Jan. 1947, pp. 328-333. 
76 Ibid., pp. 336 and 348. Mayangnokcha returned to the Naga Hills at the end of March 1947. His attention to the 
constituent assembly in New Delhi and his experiences there seemed to have changed him from someone 
propagating a union with India to someone close to the demand for complete independence. In A rcher Papers, MSS 
Eur 236/79, paper 15, dated March 31/47. 
77 Ibid., p. 341. 
78 Ibid., p. 357. 
79 See Cause 6 of 'India Office Press Release, 13 December 1946. Proclamation of Indian Independence, text of 
Pandit Nehru's Resolution', In Mansergh and Moon (eds.), The TranferifPouer; 1942·7, Vdum:IX, Thejixinf,c{a tinr 
lirrit, 4 Nar.etrkr- 22 MarriJ 1947, No. 190, pp. 343-344:" And wherein adequate safeguards shall be provided for 
minorities, backward and tribal areas, and depressed and other backward classes." 
8e Ontituent Assmiiy Deb:ttI5. Official Report. Vol. III, 28-4-1947 to 2-5-1947; 30th April 1947, pp. 461-462. 
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I completely agree that the tribal areas and the tribal people should be protected in every possibly way 

(Hear, hearj, and the existing laws - I do not know what those laws are, but cenainly the existing laws 

should continue and may be, should be, added to when the time comes. But thinking of this in tenns 

of a fundamental right would be, I submit, entirely wrong. [Fundamental rights were on the agenda of 

the assembly on that day] ( ... ) every care should be taken in protecting the tribal areas, those 

unfonunate brethren of ours who are backward through no fault of theirs, through the fault of social 

customs, and may be, ourselves or our forefathers or others; that it is our intention and it is our fixed 

desire to help them as much as possible; in as efficient a way as possible to protect them from possibly 

their rapacious neighbours occasionally and to make them advance. ( ... )81 

Thus, initially Nehru gave a general assurance on the continuation of the existing laws, at 

the same time he admitted his ignorance on them, either genuinely or strategically, but already 

hinted at the eventually necessity of amending, i.e. altering these laws. In congruence with that 

was his clarification that these safeguards could not be taken as fundamental rights. Further, it 

becomes evident that he saw the claimed or actual difference as defective and something to be 

overcome in the direction of assimilation, and was in essence a denial of the recognition of 

dijfereY1{£. That nearly no-one perceived and stood up to this paternalistic aggression might be due 

to the fact that Nehru understood it quite well to wrap and bracket his paternalism with general 

and emotional assurances of tolerance, solidarity and communality that appealed to the hearts of 

the people, like when he ended his statement here: " .. .1 want them to feel sure that they have the 

sympathy of the whole of India with them. (0xers)."82 It is very likely that he himself also 

believed in the good intentions of his policy, making it also more difficult for others to discern 

the violence behind such goodwill. Even more definite was Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel's response 

that may be expressed in condensed form in one of his sentences: "It is not befitting India's 

civilization to provide for tribes. "83 The existence of tribes and all other separate interests for 

Patel had been the evil device of the British, and together with any special rights to be removed 

within ten years.84 

Nehru, as late as 1944, when in prison in Ahmadnagar, still had allowed for "The right of 

any well-constituted area to secede from the Indian federation or union" ,85 despite the danger 

such secessions could pose to the unity of India. With reference to Jinnah's Muslim League and 

to the princely states of India, and in view of the atmosphere which was to be expected to be 

highly emotional charged at the time of independence, Nehru made the restriction: 

81 Ibid., p. 466. 
82 Ibid. 
83 Ibid., p. 467. 
84 Ibid. 
85 Jawaharlal Nehru, 1heDisaneryiflrrJia. (New Delhi, 1982 [1946], p. 534. 
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Before any such right of secession is exercised there must be a properly constituted, functioning, free 

India ( ... ). Thus it may be desirable to fix a period, say ten years after the establishment of the free Indian 

state, at the end of which the right to secede may be exercised through proper constitutional process and 

in accordance with clearly expressed will of the inhabitants of the area concerned.Bb 

This seemed to reflect the standpoint of the INe leadership as well, since at that time 

they all were detained together with Nehru,87 and Nehru explicitly had written about the above 

quotation: "The Congress has in effect agreed to it.,,88 Yet, two years later, on August 1st 1946 

Nehru, as president of the INC, had sent a letter to the secretary-general of the Naga National 

Council (NNq, T. Sakhrie, in which he had expressed his opinion that the territory of the Nagas 

was much too small to be politically and economically independent, further that the population 

was too backward, and therefore in need of considerable help. Consequently, Nagaland had to 

become an integral part of India. Nehru assured the Nagas' autonomy, while at the same time 

they should be included into the jurisdiction of Assam, sans separate electorate. On the one hand 

Nehru promised the Nagas their own law, on the other hand he did not see any reason why 

Indian law should not be applicable. Details that were to be clarified, he referred to the future 

advisory committee. In the question about the common language the Nagas surely had to choose. 

Nehru gave them a free hand to decide, but made himself perfectly clear that the choice had to 

be made between Assamese or Hindustani, while he himself would see the latter as the 

appropriate.89 This letter, written approximately nine months before the above mentioned debate 

in the constituent assembly, extrapolates Nehru's theoretical good-will vis-a-vis the minorities. To 

make things worse, his paternalism was infonned by complete ignorance of the local conditions 

of the northeastern hills. On the one side he favoured the integration of the minorities into the 

mainstream of Indian society, while simultaneously giving them written assurances and therewith 

guaranteeing them vaguely this or that protection. In essence the aim was integration via 

assimilation: the Nagas' insistence on difference was simply ignored. Nehru's letter was received 

86 Ibid. Although a linle earlier, in his treatise 'The unity of India' and in the collection of articles with the same 
name,ja-waharlal Nehru, The Urirycflniia: 0iIa:tai W~ 1937·1940 (London, 1942), he saw the unityofIndia as a 
fact for already 5 - 6,000 years. It even included Central Asia, a unity that was in essence culturally (pp. 13-15), but 
also mentally and laid down in a sacred geography by Shankaracharya (Buddha) (p. 16). The absence of political 
unification was only due to the lack of modem communications (p. 17). Conflict came into this area only with the 
Muslims (ibid.), and the equally divisive princely states were the creations of the British (p. 18). Pre-Muslim and pre­
British India's nationalism had been not an imposed one but a natural one (p. 19). Nehru here rambled on his litany 
that India constituted a unit since India was a unit etc., every difference in reality was underlining its unity, and 
everything that worked against that unity, everyone that did not agree to belong to it, had to be a devious British 
creation. 
87 Neville Maxwell, lniia arri rh! NafFS (London, 1973), p. 8. 
88 Nehru, The Discmery cflniia, p. 534. 
89 M Alemchimba, A BrUfHistoriaJ AClJJQ't ifNa[plan:i (Kohima, 1970), pp. 166-169. 
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positively by the NNC Its expressed empathy with and sympathy vis-a-vis the Nagas assured the 

NNC Moreover, since the leadership of the INC was still held in high esteem by the NNC 90 

The Nagas had positively taken Nehru's letter as a guarantee by Congress for safeguards 

and autonomy. Shortly after, however, the GOI and the external affairs department (EAD) 

requested the governor of Assam to withdraw or modify the B~ Eastern Frcntier Reg;datim, 

1873 and the ann Hills ~ 1896, both designed to keep the access to the area restricted. 

This order, as the Nagas understood it, had been motivated by parry politics, and shattered their 

truSt in Congress safeguards.91 

Contributing further to the confusion must have been statements by Nehru such as the 

one on 13th April 1947: "We do not want to compel any province or portion of the country to 

join Pakistan or Hindustan." Or, as we have already learned that Sir B. N. Rau, constitutional 

advisor to the constituent assembly, said that no constitution could be forced upon the Naga hills 

tribal area. But we also know that he, too, assumed that they would have to join, especially 

because these areas were seen as vital for India's defence: India would have to establish military 

bases in these tribal territories.92 Following the same line, Sir Akbar Hydari, the new governor of 

Assam, refused the autonomy plan for all previously excluded areas, made by S. R H 

Macdonald, the superintendent (SP) Lushai hills.93 

The constituent assembly of India on 22nd April 1947 informed the hill people of the 

Northeast that the British prime minister had announced the Transfer of Power from British into 

Indian hands not later than June 1948; further, that how India would be governed after that date 

was to be decided by Indians themselves, and that for this reason the constituent assembly was 

formed, which in turn had set-up an advisory committee and in turn several subcommittees, of 

which one would soon visit the hill people " ... to find out from you how you wish the 

administration of your area to be carried on in future. "94 The document told those addressed that 

the advisory committee would not come with a pre-arranged plan, but wanted to promote the 

wishes of the hill people, since they would know best about their needs. This, however, was 

followed by a list of questions that were already prescribing the administrative structure 

90 Yonuo, The Risi~ Na[J1S: A Historiad anlPditiad Study, p. 196. 
91 A rrher Papers, MSSEur 236/78, paper 5, dated 13th January 1947 & Copy of No. Ex/Misc/81/46/14-G.S. dt. 
29.3.47 from the Secretary to the Governor of Assam, Shillong to the Deputy Commissioners, Naga Hills, 
Lakhimpur and Cachar; Superintendent, Lushai Hills; Political Officers, Sadiya, Balipara and Tirap Frontier Tracts. 
Subject: - Repealing of Bengal Eastern Frontier Regulation, 1873 01 of 1073) and the Olin Hills Regulation (V of 
1896). As copy also inA rrher Papers, MSS Eur 236/78. 
92 Confidential. S.O.No. A 11/46. J. P. Mills, Office of the Adviser to the Governor of Assam for Tribal Areas and 
States, dt. Shillong, 16th Apri11947, to G. E. D. Walker, Political Officer, Tirap Frontier Tract. In ibid, paper 13. 
93 A R H Macdonalt, S. P. Lushai Hills, to the Secretary to the Governor of Assam, dt. Aijal, 14th Feb. 1947. In 
A rrher Papers, MSS Eur 236/78, paper 7. Confidential. D. O. No: 58/47/G621-23 and Governor's Secretariat, to A 
R. H Macdonald, SP, Lushai Hills, Aijal, dt. Shillong, 23rd Apri11947. In ibid., paper 30. 
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consisting of local self-governing bodies, a provincial legislature and ministry, leaving creative 

space only in the way they were elected and constituted.95 It did not, for example, inquire whether 

they would like to be part of the Indian union in the first place. The local British officers were 

ordered to communicate this document to the representatives of the people in the excluded and 

partially excluded areas, but not to those in the tribal areas.96 The case of the tribal areas then was 

considered as being different, and Mills, in personal communication to Archer, quoted the above 

mentioned constitutional advisor Rau: "The tribal areas are unofficially in the position of 

states ... " (to use Rau's own words). Yet, time was short, the advisory committee was hard pressed 

to get its report out before the end of June 1947, and the problem was to acquire the opinion of, 

for example remote living tribes like the Konyaks or Changs, on their wishes regarding the future 

administrative arrangements.97 

On the way the advisory subcommittee worked we get some glimpses from an obviously 

alarmed Mills who, and it is to be stressed, always was in favour of the incOIporation of the hills 

into an independent India: 

Most Secret and Personal. 

To All P.Os and D. C Naga Hills. Shillong, the 24th Apri11947. 

The Advisory Subcommittee of the Omstituent Assembly has returned from the Lushai Hills to 

Shillong and I have had the opportunity in discussion of gaining a very clear impression of their 

methods and attitude. ( ... ) 

2. The outstanding impression gained is that the Subcommittee are quick to seize on any differences 

of opinion and to stress them. If no differences are immediately apparent cross-examination on points 

which have not occurred to the hillmen will usually produce them. Where differences of opinion can 

be shown the Subcommittee clearly consider themselves free to choose the alternative they themselves 

prefer or even to dictate to people "who do not know their own minds". 98 

Thus the subcommittee was clearly not out to inquire about the hill people's desire, but to find 

ways to impose on them a pre-arranged scheme. In the case of the Naga hills the subcommittee 

94 Constituent Assembly of India, to The Hill peoples of the Naga Hills, Mikir Hills, Cachar Hills, Khasi & J aintia 
Hills, and Garo Hills, signed R K. Ramadhyani, Deputy Secretary Constituent Assembly of India, dt. 220d April 
1947. In ibid., paper 25. 
95 Ibid. 
96 Memo. No. 688-371/C To DC, Naga Hills; SP, Lushai Hills; SDO, North Cachar Hills; PO, Sadiya Frontier 
Tract; PO, Balipara Frontier Tract; PO, Trrap Frontier Tract; Dc, Garo Hills; Dc, Khasi and Jaintia Hills; DC, 
Sibsagar and DC, Nowgong. signed P. R Adams, Secretary to the Governor of Assam, Governor's Secretariat 
Shillong, clt. 25th Apri11947. 
97 Personal communication from Mills to Archer, clt. Shillong, 23rd Apri11947. In A rrher Papers, MSS Eur 236/78, 
paper 28. 
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finally did neither go to Wakching (Konyak area) nor to Mokokchung (Ao area, sub-divisional 

headquaner of NHD), but announced its arrival on May 19, and planned to stay the following 

twO days, the 20th and 215t.99 

That also the governor of Assam, Hydari, was unwilling to grant the Nagas any separate 

solution, and that his vision for Assam was inspired by the example of the United Kingdom may 

be taken from Archer's personal notes in which Archer, having obviously had a meeting with 

Hydari: 

We can't have any of this Verrier Elwin nonsense - anthropologists' museum. They have got to come 

in. If they revolt; we shall shoot them up. It will be a pity but it will not be our fault; We couldn't give 

Nagas residual Powers.( ... ) They can have a council at the district board level. A Naga Government is 

out of question. We can't have lot of hill governments. I would like an Assam like the United 

Kingdom where English, Welsh and Scottish are all one. This is the best I can do for them. If they 

don't accept it, they must take the consequences.( ... ) I rely on you to make the Nagas understand. 100 

Archer also gives us his reaction to this, demonstrating that neither did the opinion of the British 

officers count, nor the wishes of the Nagas themselves, but only the ideal of one representative 

of the ruling class of India: 

I came away with such despair - ... . our news mattered nothing - the Nagas also did not matter -

Mills had also not been asked - Hydari had never even seen the hills - a whole minor autonomy that 

did not matter - The rest to the plains. IDI 

Mills allowed himself to contemplate about the contradiction of the official Congress policy on 

the one side, verbally declaring that no-one will be forced into the union, and the furious reaction 

of Hydari to any scheme « ••• cunailing their hold on the hills." 102 

Discussions between Hydari and the Nagas were held from 26th to 28th June 1947 at 

Kohima. The outcome was the draft that later on should be called Nin: Pdnts, or H)dari, 

Agrwrmt, recognising the right of the Nagas to develop themselves according to their own 

wishes, and in general handing over affairs in the Naga hills - judicial, executive, legislative, land 

and taxation - to the NNC Point six guaranteed the transfer of the forests previously included 

into Sibsagar and Nowgong districts and to include, as far as possible, all areas inhabited by 

Nagas. Point eight stated that the 0Jin Hills Reg;Jatims and the l3erffd Eastern Frrntier Regukn:ims 

98 Memorandum. Most Secret and Personal. Mills to all P.Os and D.C Naga Hills, dt. Shillong, 24th April 1947. In 
ibid., papers 32 - 34. 
99 Telegram to SDO Mokokchung, dt. Shillong, 7th May 1947, 11.55h. In ibid., paper 45. 
lOO Ibid.: Notes, paper 53, dt. 6th June 1947. 
181 Ibid. 
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would remain in force, having bearing mostly for the barring of immigration of plainsmen into 

the hills, and point nine, which would develop into the main bone of contention, delimited the 

period for which the agreement was to be valid. It said the following: 

The Governor of Assam as the Agent of the Government of the Indian Union will have a special 

responsibility for a period of 10 years to ensure the due observance of this agreement, at the end of 

this period the Naga Council will be asked whether they require the above agreement to be extended 

for a further period or a new agreement regarding the future of the Naga people arrived at. I03 

Although granting a far-reaching autonomy in paper, Hydari had managed with this agreement 

not only to conciliate the NNC, but also to bring the Naga hills under the authority of the 

governor of Assam. This, later on, would leave enough room to manoeuvre, in order to bring the 

hills into Assam. However, the Nagas preferred to decide to see this last clause as granting them 

the right to self-determination, after the lapse of ten years. This was denied by the Indian side. 

By the beginning of July the subcommittee presented its findings to the delegates of the 

hill people. No British officers were present. Except the Nagas, all hill people accepted the 

proposed scheme. The subcommittee treated the Naga hills as pan of Assam, and doing this 

referred to Attlee's statement in the house of commons, and asserted that its own scheme would 

cover by and large the agreement reached between Hydari and the NNC, and in some points 

would even go further. The Naga delegates present at this meeting objected to this and wanted 

their territory treated as independent, and left for further consultations with the NNC 104 In the 

immediate pre-Transfer of Power period information and communication from the centre to the 

periphery were delayed, since more urgent matters had to be settled. Hence, it was after that 

meeting that Nehru congratulated Hydari on his success in the negotiations with the NNC, and 

informed him that he would forward the papers to the constituent as se mbly. 105 Nehru, so it 

seems, was satisfied with the Hydari Agreement. 

Around the beginning of August the Indians - including Nehru and Nicholas Roy -

started to blame the British officials for the Nagas' demand for independence.106 Archer, in an 

undated paper summed up the attitudes of the three main Indo-Assamese actors towards the hill 

areas around the Brahmaputra valley: 

1:2 Letter from Mills to Archer, dt. Shillong, 24th June 1947. In ibid., paper 56. 
103 Secret. A G. P. [G. S. (G.] 3-50-5-7-1947. In ibid., paper 58. I will give the full text in the next chapter. 
104 Minutes of the meeting of the Assam Tribal and Excluded Areas Sub-Committee at Shillong on the 4th, 5th and 7th 
July 1947. In ibid., papers 60-70. 
105 Copy of D. 0. No. 973/ c dt. 18.7.47 from P. F. Adams, Adviser to the Governor of Assam, to C R. Pawsey, DC, 
NH Confidential. Memo. No. 61/ C, dated Kohima the 30th July, 1947. Copy forward to Mr. Archer, Addl. DC, 
Mokokchung for information. Please tell Mayangnokcha. In ibid., paper 79. 
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Nehru's anitude - resentment at " .. rk..p . .! [unreadable] exclusion" at same time - a p .. rnrna ... w .. h 

[dino] not to harm their culture or impair their traditional way of life - a denial of "plains hostility" 

and "plains danger" - how to make them feel themselves a part of India - anger ... [at anything?] which 

might make them feel non-Indian - wish to give cargo grants ... [unreadable]-

Hydari's attitude - to make them "citizens of modem India" - to modernise the wildes -

.... [ unreadable] tribal council law by the IPC and ryC - Hindustani for the tribal languages - to make 

the Nagas Assamese - ... [unreadable] Indian Political Thought - the value of ... [dino, real? high?] 

cultures - caste cultures -

Bardoloi - "integration of the hills and plains" - close ...... [unreadable] - "bridging the gulf" _107 

Difference had to be eradicated. Assimilation was the objective, rather unity than 

diversity. As Archer's wife noted: 

But G [her husband W. G. Archer] felt all along that the Govemeur's anitude was directionally 

opposed to his. There was this same air of condescension that we have found in all plainsmen. The 

belief that these primitives can only be turned into Indians by eliminating all their individuality. The 

conception of an Indian that contains all types of people just does not appeal to them.108 

This was followed by a description of Kohima that to her appeared squalid with its conugated 

iron and cosmopolitan population (Gurkha officers, Assamese soldiers, Sikhs looking for girls, 

Bengalis with children, drunken Naga women etc.) and so we may safely assume was proof to her 

of cultural decay and to her knowledge exactly what the governor would want and the Qmgress 

would perceive as progress.109 

By December 1947 the governor assured the NNC that they would be consulted before 

any constitutional proposals were to be implemented, further, that the aim was to put into effect 

the agreement reached in June.llo This was so, notwithstanding that Hydari indicated in a speech 

held in Gauhati in March 1948 that he proposed the incorporation of the tribes of Assam into 

the economy of Assam in the course of the running five-years-plan without, however, wanting to 

force integration on them.II1 

106 Lener from Pawsey to Archer, dt. Kohima, 3rd August 1947. In ibid., paper 82. 
107 A rrher Papers MSS Eur F 236/79, paper 18, undated. 
108 Ibid., paper 20, Sept. 2nd. 
109 Ibid. 
llC Communication from Archer to Secretary NNC, dt. Mokokchung, 27th December 1947. In A rrher Papers, MSS 
Eur 236/78. 
111 TJ:e Statesmz7l, 28.3.48, anached to a confidential communication from the Office of the High Commissioner for 
the United Kingdom, New Delhi, to the Commonwealth Relations Office, London, dated 13th April 1948. In Oloe, 
LlPJ/7/10635. 
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That the new Indian state was determined to hold its grip over and integrate the 

northeastern hill areas is also confinned by the discussion of the constituent assembly 

surrounding the adoption of the sixth schedule (see sub-chapter 3.9). One side of the debaters 

propagated a stand, best descnbed as benevolent paternalism, as represented for example by 

Ambedkar who stressed that the hills would, despite all safeguards, nevenheless be indisputably 

part of Assam and after a lapse of approximately ten years would have to have lose their local 

autonomies and by then would be fully integrated into the province.1I2 The other side of debaters 

saw such a proceeding as painfully sluggish and displayed an aggressive and impatient 

expansionism. Kuladhar Otaliha, Brajeshwar Prasad, Rohini Kumar Olaudhuri, and Shibban Lal 

Saksena decried the hill people in general but the Nagas in particular as primitive savages, their 

insistence on being different as the outcome of an evil plot staged by British imperialists and 

foreign missionaries, and any concession to these tribals as the blueprint to catastrophe. As 

Brajeshwar Prasad explained: 

The responsibilities of parliamentary life can be shouldered by those who are competent, wise, just 

and literate. To vest wide political powers into the hands of tribals is the surest method of inviting 

chaos, anarchy and disorder throughout the length and breadth of this country.1D 

The implementation of the "principle of self-determination", for Prasad, is equivalent to 

the opening of Pandora's Box.1l4 Yet, it was rather a question of emotions, since reality was far 

less seriously opposed to the integrity of the newly established Indian union, as the president of 

the constituent assembly Rajendra Prasad made evident in a retort to a critic of that very sixth 

schedule: "Power is given to the Parliament under the paragraph 20 to repeal the whole of the 

Schedule, if it thinks necessary. What more do you want?" 115 

A paper produced by the Calcutta branch of the British high commission on the hill areas 

of Assam recognised this power of the Indian parliament to amend or repeal any part of the sixth 

schedule. This "reform" had predated any external or communist threat and hence was: 

... dictated ... by a desire to speed administrative reforms with the object eventually of extending the 

areas under normal administration, of reducing to uniformity further areas of a province which 

112 Constituert AsseniJy IJehIJ:I3. Official Report. Vol. IX, 30-7-1949 to 18-9-1949; 5th Sept. 1949, pp. 1004-1005. 
113 Ibid., 6th Sept. 1949, p. 1009. 
114 Ibid. 
115 Ibid., p. 1013. For the whole debate about the Sixth Schedule, see ibid., pp. 1001-1097. 
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abounded in special problems, and of initiating developments which the British had allegedly 

neglected.116 

Further, notes exchanged between the high commission in Delhi, and the commonwealth 

relations and foreign office in London, between April 1948 and May 1950, show that the British 

officials had decided not to exlubit publicly any interest in the developments in the Northeast, 

since the Indian authorities on their side, according to the British (and as we also have found it in 

the debates of the constituent assembljJ were convinced that the sixth schedule was the outcome 

of a deliberate ill-will on part of the former imperial power. In early 1950 accusations were made 

by the Indian home secretary Iengar that British officials and missionaries in the past encouraged 

Naga aspirations for independence. This, in the course of the exchange of notes, was denied by a 

former British member of the Indian external affairs ministry in an answer to an inquiry by the 

commonwealth relations office. This notwithstanding, the official continued, Britain would be 

found objecting towards anything like Naga independence. We also gather from these 

communications that the Northeast was perceived as of vital strategic concern to India's officials, 

and the British themselves were worried about Communist infiltration into the Northeast, and 

concerned about India's capability to halt the advance of Communist ideology. The Nagas, so 

these British officials were concluded, had been incited by Communists.117 The Indian officials 

believed in the omnipresence of a multitude of national and international threats and conspiracies 

aimed at the destruction of independent India. This paranoia seemed to resemble their ruler 

predecessors' and led, at least in the periphery, to the continuation of the "garrison state". 

5.4 Greater As'sam 

For Assam Delhi was far away and busy with other things, and that remained true throughout, 

and not only for the period under consideration here. Assam in the late 1940s and early 1950s, 

was present very infrequently in the international press, and that only due to floods and 

earthquakes, occasional and localised violence described as communal, tribal, or Communist, and 

finally in the context of India's Northeast Frontier policy, which was determined by her 

considerations for her own defence against Communist Ollna and Nepali Communists. lls 

116 Sptria1 Report No 52: TheAssamfrortieran:as unier the r1!WantitutUn Office of the High Commissioner for the 
United Kingdom, 6, Alhuquerque Road, New Delhi, dated 13th February 1950, Harrison, to B. J. Greenhill, 
Commonwealth Relations Office, London, S. W. 1. In OIOC: LlPJ/J/10635. 
117 Notes exchanged between the Office of the High Commissioner for the United Kingdom, New Delhi, the 
Commonwealth Relations, and the Foreign Office, London, dated between April 1948 and May 1950 and 
Confidential (FL 10114/11). L. A C Fry, Foreign Office to B. J. Greenhill, Commonwealth Relations Office, dated 
7th March 1950. Both in Oloe., UPJ/7/10635. 
118 The Tzms, 20.11. and 23.12.l946; 2. and 27.1.,24.3. and 12.4.1947; 30.12.1948; 8.3., Aug.-Sept. (major earthquake) 
and 30.10.1950; 16.4.l952. 
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Indeed, Assam itself was of very marginal interest. The Nagas on their pan first were 

mentioned in association with the plan of the construction of an imperial war cemetery at 

Kohima, and the Naga hills as possible source of anns for communist insurgents in Upper 

Assam, and in relation to a major headhunting incident.119 General questions in the Lde SaliJa in 

1951 on the potential of the NHD for mineral wealth and agriculture, and in 1952 on the 

eradication of headhunting in the Naga tnbal areas via development schemes, indicate that the 

Nagas did not yet pose a political problem for the central administration.120 Furthermore, the 

short discussion in the Lde SaliJa on 25th May 1951 on communications in the Naga hills 

supports statements made by two of my interviewees that in the initial post-independence time 

nothing much had changed in the Naga hills, and rather that the Nagas were administering 

themselves for the time being.121 For although Assam was now in charge of administering the 

NHD, and the governor of Assam in charge of the Naga hills tribal area as agent of the president 

of India,122 neither had initially the means nor the manpower effectively to implement the duty 

going along with the office - contrary to that run statements in the literature that suggest the 

build-up of the Assamese administration immediately after the Transfer of Power.l23 Yet these 

will have referred to 1948 or even 1949, and not 1947. How the change on the spot might have 

been, we will try to unravel closely in the next chapter. Here it is important to note that though it 

had been brought to Nehru's attention that the Nagas were dissatisfied with the neglect of their 

point of view, the incorporation of the hill areas was left to the Assam administration. The 

Assamese themselves were for a long time fighting Bengali dominance and demanding sWlraj for 

Assam, independent from India. The quest for preserving Assamese identity turned into the one 

of building a Greater Assam by an Assamisation of the hills, triggering in turn a chain reaction of 

independence demands from the hill people. At the end of the British raj literally everyone in and 

around Assam wanted independence. The Nagas were by no means an exception, but maybe only 

the most stubborn. Most of the different hill and plains people gave in to Congress for the time 

being, but the post-independence history of the Northeast shows that this was on revocation. 

However, the Assarnese elite became dominated, already under the Ahoms, by caste Hindus who, 

then organised in Congress, decided for several reasons (among them the fear of Pakistan and 

119 The TinB, 22.9. and 30.10.1950; 1.9.1951. 
12" Lck Sai:blDehztts, Vo!. 8,1951,26.5., O>lumns 4679-4681 and Lde Sai:blDehztts, Vo!. 1, 1952, 19.5.,? 
121 Lck Sai:bl Dehztts, Vol. 8, 1951,26.5., O>lumns 4646-4647; Interview with Mr. Yong Kong, London, 7.8.2001 and 
with Mrs. Adino Phizo and Mr. Kevilevor Phizo, London, 19.7.2001. 
122 Through the provisional constitutional order of August 15th 1947 were the before excluded and tribal areas now 
not anymore under the jurisdiction of the governor and his representatives, but did now fall under the Assamese 
administration, see Shibanikinkar Olaube, HiD Pdit:ia in North-East InIia (New DeJh~ 1973), p. 82. 
123 Luingam Luithui and Nandita Haksar, Na[Flani File A questionc{HummRifPts (New Delhi, 1984), p. 23; Nari 
Rustomji, InperiIlaiFrrrtim: JnIia's North-EastemBorderItm:Js (Delhi, 1983), p. 60. 
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Communism) to remain within the Indian union.124 The Assamese for long had viewed the 

exclusion of the hill regions from the administration of Assam as a devious divide-and-rule device 

on the part of the British.125 The Transfer of Power brought the opportunity to reverse this. 

Now, as quick as possible, the Assamese wanted what they saw as a political, cultural and 

administrative reunification of the hills and the plains. The moment was there to build a Greater 

Assam, including the hill regions reaching until the international borders of O1ina, Bunna and 

East-Pakistan.126 

5.5 Hostiles 

The first incident, giving the Naga hills wider national public attention was when in March 1953 

Nehru, 127 together with his Burmese colleague U Nu, toured the Indo-Bunnese border region, 

primarily" ... to study personally the law and order situation in the frontier areas."!28 The source 

for the situation were the movements of "dacoits" and "lawless elements".129 When Nehru and U 

Nu visited Kohima about 3,000 Nagas left the reception ground as a protest against Nehru's 

refusal to their demand for independence.Bo An unmatched re-narration of Nehru's humiliation, 

who normally used to be the darling of the masses, is given by Gita Mehta: 

The airplane landed, a great white bird with the symbol of the Indian nation, Emperor Asoka's pillar 

of truth, blazoned on its side. Would the child-like tribals be frightened by this miracle of 

aerodynamics descending from the heavens with its cargo of democratic divinity? Would they run for 

cover? But no, they were standing steady under quivering head-dresses watching aircraft personnel 

leaping out to fix the steps for the Prime Minister's descent, as the press photographers pushed 

forward for a clear view through their lenses. 

124 Girin Phukon,AssamAttzlude to Fmaltsm (New Delhi, 1984), pp. 5,20,46,55,57,68-73,91 and passim. 
Phukon's book seems to me the best on the time around the Transfer of Power. 
m Thus a typical explanation of the Naga's uprising is to blame collectively the OA, British secret agents, 
Communist China, and Orristian missionaries, all in lieu threatening the unity of India, see for example Saroj 
dlakrabarty, The Vphemd Years in N artJr East IrrJid.· A da:um:rtary imiepth study if A ssam Ixioo:UIsts 1960-1983 (Calcuna, 
1984), p. 97. 
126 Rustomji, IrrperiIlalFrontiers: lniia's NartJrEastemBarderiarrJs, pp. 11,27-28 and 36. 
127 Though Nehru had been earlier approached several times by Naga delegations in general and by Phizo, who 
slowly crystallised as the Naga national leader, in particular. In the words of the head of the intelligence bureau 
Mullik: "Phizo saw Pandit Nehru ... some time in 1949 in Delhi, but at that time the Prime Minister got the 
impression that Phizo was crank and had not be taken seriously. Phizo again met Pandit Nehru in Shillong or 
Dibrugarh in April 1950. The latter gave Phizo almost a blank cheque within the Constitution and told him that the 
provisions made in the 6th Schedule should be tried, and anything not found to be satisfactory by the Nagas could be 
amended and there would be no difficulty about it. But this assurance did not satisfy Phizo. He wanted a definite 
clause to be inserted on the terms of the 9-point agreement that the Nagas would have the right to secede, if they so 
desired, after ten years from the date the Constitution came into force. This, however, the Prime Minister was 
naturally not willing to concede." See B. N. Mullik, My Years Wzth NdJru: 1948-1964 (Bombay, 1972), p. 299. 
128 Associated Press, Delhi, March 11, The Tinrs, 12.3.1953. 
129 Ibid. 
DC Reuter, Kohima, March 30, The Tt17lS, 31.11.1953. 
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Finally the great man himself appeared - to be received by a reverence so profound that even the 

accompanying journalists were silenced. Possessing a sense of history, the leader solemnly descended 

the aircraft steps, asswning this warlike people wished to give him a colourful guard of honour. 

I suppose they did. Because as soon as he was on terra finna, they all turned with regimental 

precision and lifted their colourful sarongs. The Prime Minister of India found himself taking the 

salute of hundreds of naked tribal behinds. 131 

It was thereafter that GOI gave Assam's chief minister Bishnurarn Mehdi a free hand for 

a tougher policy.132 However, the first incident that drew the attention of the international press 

and of Delhi was the attack on Yimpang in which 57 people were killed and which was portrayed 

as the result of an inter-village feud between the fonner village and another one named 

Pangsha.133 When in late April 1955 reports came into Delhi saying that troops were being 

dispatched into Tuensang, the official explanation was that they were sent there to hunt 

"subversive elements and restore order". The Assam Rifles obviously had been attacked and 

weapons had been distributed to some villages to terrorise the population. m A month later A K. 

Chanda, deputy minister for external affairs admitted in the Ld?, SaliJa that it were separatists 

who had assaulted another village on grounds of its cooperation with GOI, and he promised 

"prompt and effective action against the wrongdoeers."!35 In July Nehru, in his double 

functioning as prime minister and minister of external affairs, admitted that some areas in the 

Northeast Frontier Area (NEF A) had been declared disturbed, but could not say whether the 

anned units operating there were the paramilitary Assam Rifles or the regular Indian anny. When 

asked about the possible reasons for the unrest Nehru suggested it were the Nagas of the 

adjacent NfID who were inciting the villagers in T uensang.136 The central government, so it 

appears, had to rely for information on the remote Northeast's local administration.137 Two 

weeks later the parliament was infonned, in response to a well-aimed question, that the regular 

anny was not yet involved in any fighting and was only performing garrison duties in T uensang. 

Nehru referred to petty incidents.138 A week later it became evident that Bunnese security forces 

were cooperating with their Indian colleagues in fighting " hostiles " , and according to Nehru's 

information, were estimated at being between 400 and 500 strong. The questions, as a rule, were 

posed by Rishang Keishing, who as member of parliament for the reserved scheduled tribes of 

131 Gita Mehta, Sruk(S ani Ladders: A ViewifMcdemlrrJia (London, 1997), pp. 95-96. 
132 Nehru, albeit informed by IB officer S. M Dutt on potentially dangerous situation in the Naga hills, trusted the 
judgement of the Assamese government and considered it as an internal affair of Assam, see Mullik, My Yam Wzth 
Nehru, p. 301. 
133 Reuter, Shillong, Assam, Nov. 28, The T1J7l5, 29.11.1954. 
134 Reuter, Shillong, Assam, April 21, The T1J7l5, 22.4.1955. 
135 Reuter, Delhi, May 5, The Tim:s, 6.5.1955. 
136 Ld?- SaMaDeb:w5, Vol. 4, 25th July 1955, Columns 2944 - 2946. 
137 Ld?- SaMaDeb:w5, Vol. 4, 28th July 1955, Columns 3111- 3112. 
138 Ld?- SaMaIJebw3, Vol. 4, 10th August 1955, Columns 3541- 3542. 
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Outer Manipur, seemed to have independent means for information on the Northeast. 139 All the 

efforts to portray what was going on in Tuensang as a series of petty incidents were contradicted 

when details arrived that the political officer of the NEF A administration had asked the army to 

assist the local administration, and GOI had assented to post one battalion in the southern sector 

of the Tuensang division. l40 By the end of that month, finally, The Express had news that the 

Nagas were fighting a war of independence, and that Nehru had sent in "steel-helmeted troops"; 

further, that the Nagas had proclaimed a republic and had elected some "Hong Khin" as head of 

state. Nehru, so The Express continued, had asked Burma for help and the Burmese military had 

launched operations against the Nagas. Casualties were mounting on both sides, and The Express 

predicted that the Nagas would be capable of holding up the struggle for a long time. 141 As early 

as from September 1955 onwards regular troops had been also sent into the NHD and were 

engaged in regular fighting. 142 By the end of September the correspondent for the Ma'YKh3ter 

Guardian Taya Zinkin, reporting from Bombay, wrote about military operations against 

"terrorists" in the Tuensang area who were attacking villages, and drew their weapons from 

World War II dumps or were supplied by the NNC In the previous two weeks, according to 

official numbers, nearly twenty lA troops had lost their lives as had 54 Nagas. From originally 

500 "rebels" there were still some 200 left fighting. Zinkin repeated the Indian litany blaming 

everyone and everything but themselves, and that the demand for independence among the 

Nagas was created by the last Assam governor Andrew dOW 43 and supported by foreign 

missionaries. Indians, according to Zinkin, were outraged at that demand, were of the opinion 

that it was unrealistic and that the Naga hills were anyway not economically viable. Zinkin may 

well have represented the liberal end of the spectrum of Indian opinion. l44 The Tim::s admitted 

that information was only available from official sources and that what happened since 

independence may never be known. Nevertheless it corrected the numbers of the insurgents 

upwards to now nearly 2,000 and it seemed that Nehru had ascribed the reasons for the uprising 

to a hastened pace of assimilation on part of the Assam administration.145 By late December 1955 

the official number of casualties on Naga side was 258 killed and 68 wounded since the beginning 

139 Lck Sa/;ha~, Vol. 4, 16th August 1955, Columns 3683 - 3685. 
140 Times correspondent, Delhi, Aug. 19, The Tinrs, 20.8.1955. 
141 BertramJones from Calcutta, in Expn5s, Tuesday, 31.8.1955. 
142 CL. Proudfoot, Fldsh if the Khukri: History if the 3nl Garklxl Rifles, 1947 to 1980 (New Delhi, 1984), pp. 53-61. 
143 While it is true that dow's predecessor Robert Reid was in favour of some scheme for the hill tribes that would 
have excluded them from Indian politics, it is also true that he could not get anyone interested in that, see Sir Robert 
Reid, Yam if~inBe1fJ1lardAssam(London, 1966), p. 110. Andrewdow, to the contrary, even tried to 
persuade the Nagas to acquiesce themselves with being part of Assam and hence part of the Indian Union, see Nari 
Rustomji, ErWartedFrortiets: Sikkim Bhutanardlniia's NartJrEastemBardedarris (Bombay, 1971), p. 48. dowalso 
personally repudiated this accusation, see To the Editor of The Tinrs, 7.10.55. 
144 Taya Zinkin from Bombay, Sept. 27, in Man:hester Guardian (MG), 28.9.1955. 
14; Times correspondent, Delhi, Sept. 29, The Tzm:s, 30.9.1955. 
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of the fighting.146 That one would have expected the ratio between killed and wounded the other 

way around, is a phenomena that we are to encounter more often. The par1iamentaty secretaty of 

the external affairs ministry, Hazarika, told the Lck Satha that the "disorders had arisen from the 

demand by rebel tribesmen for an independent State"; funher, that the above mentioned 

casualties had occurred "while Indian troops were restoring order recently in the Naga tribal area 

of India's north-east", but "that the situation had improved considerably' .147 The situation, 

according to GOI representatives' descriptions would continue to improve over the following 

years, and would be part of a strategy to play down the scale of the fighting and destruction. 

Those who demanded independence had to be only a few, and were singularly responsible for the 

fighting, they and their demand defamed and ridiculed as "misguided", "extreme", "hostile", 

"terrorist" etc. The overwhelming majority of the Nagas had to be protected from them by 

Indian troops. Thus, by the end of 1955, eight years after the Transfer of Power, the fighting in 

the Naga hills, whether in the district or tribal area, had made its way into the consciousness of 

the decision-makers in the Indian capital as a minor but persistent threat to India's newly won 

territorial integrity. 

By Apri11956 according to the press already three battalions of the regular lA had been 

deployed to the Naga hills, to an area which then held approximately 350,000 inhabitants, and 

this despite Nehru's assurances that the situation was improving, that more and more had 

surrendered, and that those who continued only had World War Two weapons, and were 

engaged only in guerrilla warfare. Nehru also had reminded the lA that they were not fighting in 

enemy country and "that their approach to the people should be one of extreme friendliness" .148 

That this was then beyond the lA's capacity will to be shown in detail further down, but Nehru's 

exhortation stemmed from an awareness, according to the MarK.hester Guarrlian, that the uprising 

had genuine motives: 

... New Delhi is well aware that the solution of the problem does not lie in a display of anned might 

alone, for the problem is mainly political. In his evidence before the States Reorganisation 

Commission Phizo demanded independence for the Naga land. If after nine years of Indian 

independence Nagas still talk of independence the malady must have deep roots requiring careful 

diagnosis and appropriate treatment. 149 

It had by then been understood in Delhi that measures, previously undertaken by the 

GOI to hasten civilisation in the Naga hills, were taken as aggression against their way of life by 

146 Delhi, Dec. 20, The Tims, 21.12.1955. 
147 Ibid. 
148 MC, 28.4.1956. 
149 Ibid. 
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the Nagas and thus could be exploited by the "extremists." In the beginning, so it was believed, 

there was trouble in the Tuensang area which had awakened the otherwise donnant design for 

independence in the NHD. The desire for independence arose, according to "observers", due to 

the suspicion that was felt towards the Assamese, and Phiw wanted to form a separate state out 

of all hill districts, and that the opinion among the people was divided, and that the states 

reorganisation committee had not taken it into consideration back then. Delhi saw that the 

unification of all Naga territory had a case, further that its administration could be conducted by 

elected leaders. Once violence had stopped these were matters that could be negotiated, although 

Nehru made it clear that independence was out of the question.150 

Despite the repeated incantation of an improved situation, at the beginning of May 1956 

details of a battle came in between Indian security forces (ISF) and 200 rebels armed with 

machine and sten guns, as well as with regular rifles near Kohima (where the lA had its 

headquarters), during which 30 rebels were killed. The lA ultimatum to surrender all arms by 3rd 

May had ran out and now a full-scale military campaign was expected.l51 A day later it was 

reported that since mid-April more than 100 rebels had been killed and many more wounded, 

and that fourteen villages had been burned down by the rebels. Nehru stated he had no 

information about any assistance by Pakistan or any other foreign government for the rebels, and 

denied that the rebels had gained control over anyterritory.152 On the side of the government 17 

people had been killed, 30 wounded and five were unaccounted for. Nehru signalled his 

government's readiness to grant a wider autonomy to the Nagas on the condition of the cessation 

of violence.153 Later the same month, Taya. Zinkin of the Marxhester Guardian, accused the Shillong 

(Assamese), administration of having created the troubles in the NHD with its "ineptitude", since 

there reigned tranquillity in the neighbouring Manipur and Tuensang hills which were ruled by 

the centre. The Nagas in Tuensang seemed, according to Zinkin, content to remain inside the 

Indian union. Zinkin ridiculed the Nagas' demand for independence as well as the Nagas 

themselves in the usual way. He had been to the Naga hills and related a story he had heard about 

a district official whose chopped off head " ... arrived in Shillong, neatly packed in a wicker-basket, 

with the enclosed note: 'Please next time send a more polite man.'"I54 In Zinkin's view the 

insurgency, or, " ... the whole trouble ... " as he termed it, was due to the civilising vigour of the 

Victorian-minded and prudish Assamese officials; the Nagas' resistance but a refusal" ... to cover 

those shiny bottoms ... » .155 

150 Mainly MC, 28.4.1956, but minor info also from T1II1eS correspondent, Delhi, April 20, The Tinrs, 21.4.1956. 
151 BUP, New Delhi, May 3, in MC, 4.5.1956 and Reuter, Shillong, Assam, May 2, The Tinrs, 3.5.1956. 
152 BUP, New Delhi, May 4, in MC, 5.5.56. 
153 Times correspondent, Delhi, May 4, The T urES, 5.5.1956. 
154 ByTaya Zinkin, Bombay 21, in MC, 22.5.56. 
155 Ibid. 
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To do justice to Zinkin, he also descnbed how the Hyiari Agrr£11Vlt's existence, after 

Hydari's death, was simply denied by the GOl. Thereupon the Nagas staned with non­

cooperation and soon after the terror staned. The situation in the hills was severe, the lA in a 

difficult position, and the Nagas violently split into rebels and 10yalists.l56 

Later that month Lakshmi Menon, the parliamentary secretaty for external affairs, was 

speaking in parliament on the improvement in the Naga hills, despite isolated attacks. Nehru also 

stated that once the problem of violence was tackled, the political matters had to be settled 

together with the Naga leaders.1s7 It was the Indian member of parliament (MP) Joeshwar Singh 

who called into doubt all affirmations that the insurgents were but a few and certainly soon 

would be pan of the past. Singh held first-hand information, since he had been held in captivity 

by the Nagas, and after his release stressed that there was no way of playing down the situation 

since, despite the Indian troops having their headquaners in Kohima the stretch between 

Kohima and Khijuma, near Mao in Manipur, on the Dimapur-Imphal road, was effectively under 

Naga control1S8 

Singh's evidence was funher corroborated by the fact that India continued to move lA 

reinforcements into the Naga hills. GOI had funher decided on publishing newspapers in seven 

different Naga languages to counter Phizo's propaganda and to convince the Nagas of remaining 

within the Indian union. Phizo, by now, had been singled out as the main culprit. The task of 

counter-propaganda, however, was entrusted to the army, since the Nagas, as had now become 

apparent, did not trust the Assam government. Delhi now clearly saw the Assamese civil 

authorities as being responsible for the trouble in the first place, and for the prospect of its 

protracted nature. Still, the army had problems finding its way around, distinguishing friend and 

foe, and building up an intelligence network. This, as well, was blamed on the basic mistrust by 

the Nagas of the Assamese.1s9 The Assamese clearly fulfilled a scapegoat role, in the absence from 

the narrative of the British and missionaries. 

Hitheno, GOI had to rely for information on the provincial administration and its agents 

or on the lA personnel deployed there. It thus could vety well have been the case that the 

information reaching Delhi was tailored for provincial or institutional interests. Although, by the 

end of July 1956 the minister for home affairs, Dattar, had visited the Naga hills, and had met, 

among others, the governor and the chief minister of Assam,160 it is still to be assumed that he 

relied for the organisation and course of his visit on the men on the spot. The official body-count 

to date was 371 killed on the rebels' side compared to 68 on the side of the government. The 

156 Ibid. 
157 BUP, New Delhi, May 23, in MG, 24.5.56. 
158 BUP, NewDelhi,June 19, inMG, 20.6.56. 
159 MG, 5.7.56. 
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army was now in command of the area, but was hindered in the progress of its operations by the 

seasonal monsoon in the already difficult terrain.161 The chief of army staff had toured the Naga 

hills in the previous June to assess the situation.162 Shortly afterwards, with nearly a month's 

delay, the Lck Sai:J.Ja was informed of an attack by Nagas, carried out in the middle of July, on a 

railway station in the Sibsagar district and the damaging of a railway bridge with the probably 

intended consequence of disrupting train services.163 

Then from September 1956 onwards voices were raised, publicly suspecting that GOI 

might deny access to foreign journalists not so much because it held foreigners (the British and 

missionaries) responsible for having instigated the unrest in the first instance, but rather" ... due to 

an unwillingness on the part of the Indian government to have their actions in that area exposed 

to world opinion?" , as was suggested by Graham Greene, who pretended to have applied in vain 

for a visa and come across a significant justification for the denial: 

An official at the High Cnmrnissioner's Office in London has infonned me that no permits to this 

area have been allowed for many months past and that there is no chance at the moment of my 

receiving a permit. I suggested that an Indian writer would not be forbidden access to Cyprus, and his 

reply was that the case was different - Cyprus was "colonial territory," a new definition of colonialism, 

an area open to world opinion. l64 

Indeed, for the Naga hills the previously so much criticised and denounced Berlf!fll Eastern Frwtier 

R.tguidt:iaz. 1873, and the 0Jin Hills Regulat:im 1896, had been reactivated, this time to keep out the 

international press.165 

In October the Assam government again predicted an early successful conclusion of the 

"police action" with, around the corner the end of the monsoon and the ensuing offensive. This 

notwithstanding the special correspondent of The Tims, who had come as far as Shillong, was 

declined permission to visit even Kohima, despite him agreeing to close supervision. The 

officials, it appeared, were by now in a belligerent mood: 

This new-found confidence about the military situation seems to have banished finally any leanings 

towards a "negotiated" settlement. "Phizo is a madman and has simply got to be smashed," an Indian 

official said. "He is so completely obsessed with the idea of independence that there is no further 

purpose in talking with him." In the same spirit, references to the Naga "rebellion" are now somewhat 

160 Lcl? SaI:iJa Deb:tt:t5, Vol. 5, 31st July 1956, Column 639. 
161 Times correspondent, Delhi, July 31, The T1J113, 1.8.1956. 
162 Lcl? SaI:iJa Deb:tt:t5, Vol. 5, 3rd Aug. 1956, Columns 784-785. The questions of the MP Bibhuti Mishra betrayed a 
concern whether the chief of army staff had also had an opportunity to meet the village people. 
163 Lcl? SaI:iJa Deb:tt:t5, Vol. 5, lom Aug. 1956, Column 110l. 
164 Graham Greene, in To the Editor of The T1J113, 3.9.1956. 
165 Times correspondent, Calcutta, Sept. 6, The Tims, 7.9.1956. 
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frowned upon: the present events are described as "just a police operation against a band of terrorists" 

_ ... 166 

In the same month Nehru toured Assam for four days and discussed the state of affairs in 

the Naga hills with NEF A - officials and a delegation of Nagas from Mokokchung. 

Simultaneously the intensified military operations announced were under way in the discussed 

area under the command of lieutenant general Thimayyas.167 Nehru then, at a public meeting at 

Jorhat, called" ... the demand for an independent Nagaland absurd. Nagas were as independent as 

other Indians and the demand therefore did not arise." 168 In his speech he seemed to equate Naga 

independence with their continued preservation as museum pieces, and a merger with Assam, as 

he suggested for NEF A, seemed to amount to the arrival at modernity. Nehru, who as we know 

by now, was in theory sympathetic to the tribals, could retain his sympathy only once the tribals 

followed his evolutionist worldview and shed their past and difference. Nehru was not only not 

capable of understanding minority fears in other terms than as vested interests of a local elite, but 

he was also utterly exasperated at every insistence of difference that he saw as fissiparous 

manifestations of past backwardness, coming into his way of building a nation. Nehru, who was 

aware of contemporary literature on nation and nationalism, knew that the nation had still to be 

achieved, and the panition painfullyalened him to its fragility, to its potential for "balkanisation" 

and from then it was his paramount task to fight off any attempt to leave the Indian Union.169 

In December 1956 the guerrilla war, defying all avowals to the contrary, continued into 

the cold season, and it is the first time we find a reference to the so-called "resettlement 

schemes": " ... good progress had been made in many areas resettling villagers who had been 

driven away.,,170 A week later the army issued an optimistic all-clear for the Naga hills that 

betrayed that the Nagas had fought in an organised way, that there had been no day in 1956 

without fighting and that the Naga fighters had previously brought territory under their control. 

The army had established twenty bases and was perpetually patrolling the jungle paths, forcing 

the rebels to take recourse to guerrilla techniques.171 

5.6 Divide-and-Rule 

In January of 1957 Naga snipers shot at trains passing in Assam bordering the Naga hills with the 

effect of suspending train services.172 This might have been due to efforts to slow down troop 

166 Times special correspondent, Shillong, Assam, The Tims, 12.10.1956. 
167 Tunes correspondent, Calcutta, Oct. 19, The Tzms, 20.10.1956. 
168 Times correspondent, Calcutta, Oct. 21, The Tims, 22.10.1956. 
169 Brown, Nfhru, A Pditiral Life, p. 141 and chapters 10 and 11, pp. 185-222. 
170 Times correspondent, Delhi, Dec. 7, The Tims, 8.12.1956. 
171 MC, 18.12.56. 
172 Times correspondent, Delhi, Jan. 10, The Tims, 11.1.1957. 
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deployment, since one week after the second general elections, Anthony Mann, for the Daily 

Te/e;7aph reported from Calcutta that more than 30,000 Indian troops, at least one and a half 

regular divisions, were fighting the Nagas. Mann drew parallels to the Mau Mau in Kenya.173 

Zinkin in Bombay also wrote that the Naga hills had been turned" ... into no-man's land and 

guerrilla jungles ... ". The military, he continued, permanently issued statements about the 

impending collapse of the uprising. Movements inside the Naga hills were only possible in 

convoys, and even the trains were intenupted in Upper Assam. Phizo, despite having a reward on 

his head, had managed to become a hero in the Naga hills, and so much so that Q)ngress had not 

dared to contest elections there. The wider picture of the hills showed that as a result of the 

general elections Q)ngress had lost all contested seats in the hill districts. This was taken as a 

result of dislike of the Assam administration by all hill people.174 

In 1957 the central government took away control over the Naga hills from the Assam 

state government and sent in some administrators, considered as elite. Some Nagas were won 

over to cooperate and were made into the Nagas People's Convention (NPq.175 The NPC on its 

part asked for the application of greater force against the Naga fighters. However, there seemed 

to exist some doubt whether it was the right policy by Delhi to rely on the NPc, since it was not 

clear whether it had any support of the majority of the Nagas.176 In July 1960 GOI and the NPC 

signed an agreement by which the previous NHD and the Tuensang area was to form the 

sixteenth state of the Indian union.177 

The end of August 1957 saw large-scale army operations but no security in the Naga hills. 

The NPC in Kohima had demanded separation from Assam and the unification of Naga areas 

under central rule, called the uprising a rebellion against the Assam government and stressed that 

there always was peace in centrally administered T uensang. 178 A month later GOI declared an 

amnesty after a meeting between Nehru and a Naga delegation, consisting of nine Naga leaders, 

on 25th and 26th September in Delhi. Nehru retold the delegation that independence was not 

173 Anthony Mann from Calcutta, in Daily T eJegraph, Tuesday, one week after the second general election (no exact 
date). The number of 30,000 for the troops fighting in the Naga hills was later confirmed to be the official number 
byStephen Harperfrom New Delhi in WreklyDispatch, Sunday, 31.3.57. 
174 Taya Zinkin from Bombay, March 26, in MG, 27.3.57 
175 The NPC was a joint venture of dissident NNC leaders, members of the Naga church, and Mullik's Intelligence 
Bureau (IB), see Aosenba, 7'Ix Natp Resistarre Mar.errrrt: PrrEp«ts ifPetUEarrlA rrrai OJrflia, pp. 52 and 56. While the 
intention of the Nagas engaged in the NPC was to find a negotiated settlement, the intent on the Indian side was 
clearly to divide the Nagas. This policy was already criticised in the Ra.j)a SaIJJa in 1958 as short-sighted, see Rajp 
SalJJaDeJ:uus, Vol. 22, No. 1,27. Aug. 1958, Column 1263. Bhola Nath Mullik's IB as an organisation had " ... deep 
colonial roots. Established in 1887 as the Central Special Branch, it had been organized by the British to keep tabs 
on the rising tide of Indian nationalism. Despite several redesignations before arriving at the title Intelligence Bureau, 
anticolonialists remained its primary target for the next sixty years." See Conboyand Morrison, 7'Ix (]A '5 Socret War 
in Tiht, p. 32. At least in the periphery, the IB could continue its institutional tradition. 
176 Rawle Knox, 'Nagaland To-day: Why Nehru Cannot "Free" Hill Tribesmen', New Delhi, Jan. 7, 7'Ix CiJsener, Jan. 
8,1961. 
177 Gavin Young, 'A meeting with Nagas' prisoners', 7'Ix CiJsener, April 9, 1961. 
178 Taya Zinkin from Bombay, Aug. 26, in MG, 27.8.57. 



228 

possible, yet that the constitution could be changed to meet their demands. He accepted the 

proposal of merger between Tuensang and NHD into one unit within the Indian union, 

administered by the governor of Assam at the behest of the president of the union and under the 

authority of the ministry of external affairs.179 Nehru now fell in with the chorus blaming British 

and missionaries for "Naga troubles". The former isolated them from the rest of India, allowing 

only the latter to enter the Naga hills who had spread hatred for the Indians, and: 

Some of the Nagas were converted to Ouistianity .... and were educated to some extent. Because of 

their education they became the leaders of the Nagas. One of the last acts of the British officials was 

to encourage these Nagas to claim independence.18o 

In parliament Nehru responded to questions on the agreement reached with the Naga 

delegation and stated that it had been accepted by the NPc, i.e. that it had given up its demand 

for independence. Further, responsibility for the new NHD would lay with the ministry of 

external affairs, working in close cooperation with the ministry of home affairs and in 

consultation with the Assam government. Finally, already convicted or detained persons had 

been released, and only very few minor incidents of violence were still occurring. Yet no de­

grouping of villages had hitheno been undertaken.181 It was then the home minister Pant who 

introduced the Bill for the administrative unification of the T uensang tribal area and the NHD in 

parliament and the motion was adopted.182 

By May 1958 the Nagas seemed intent to carry their struggle into Assam Anned Nagas 

operated in the districts of United Mikir, Cachar and Sibsagar and GOI declared the whole of the 

former and parts of the second and third as to be "disturbed areas".183 When maniallaw was 

declared under the name of The A mal FarrT!S (Assam and Mam'pur) Sproal P(J{JEtS Bill (1958), this 

was criticised by the members of the Raj)u Sai:ha for its prolonged duration (without name and 

legalisation maniallaw had been already practised in the Naga hills since 1956), or on the grounds 

that it might lead to loss of control over the military. But Nehru in his final statement in that 

debate made it clear that measures like these were the normal tools of any state, otherwise 

Fascism would be the inevitable outcome.l84 

In September 1958 news came through that Phizo had made his way to East Pakistan, 

and was for the moment in Dacca. It was evident that Phizo sought to relate his case to the 

179 Times correspondent, Delhi, Sept. 26, The T/Jr1!S, 27.9.1957. 
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182 Lde Salha/Jeluti5, Vol. 8, 20th Nov. 1957, Columns 1437-1438. 
183 Reuter, Shillong, Assam, May 2, The T/Jr1!S, 3.5.1958. 



229 

outside world, but Nehru cautioned the Lck SaliJa saying that Phizo had been hitheno 

unsuccessful, and that there was no danger that the issue of Naga independence would be taken 

up in the United Nations.185 Later this month questions were answered by Lakshmi Menon 

regarding the number of casualties, and Menon, reading out an obviously prepared chart, divided 

into Nagas, Indian civilians, and lA personne~ killed, wounded, or taken prisoner (respectively: 

1207, 1235, 1686; 28,36,2; 162,452, Nil), was confronted with the question why the numbers of 

killed Nagas and those wounded were about the same. One would expect the latter to be several 

times higher. Menon was not in a position to answer this question, signifying again that the 

central government was out of the picture and that developments on the scene were reponed by 

the respective agencies, i.e. in this case by the ISF, especially the lA Further, when it was asked 

whether listing "Nagas" and "Indians" meant that the fonner were not Indians, it was answered 

that the latter meant Indians other then Nagas, but when it became clear that the Nagas' list did 

not include any casualties of friendly Nagas, the matter was interrupted.186 This illustrates the fact 

that the Indian state, when fighting another people, had to deny it even to itself, which in turn 

resulted in such surreal debates. 

In October new raids by anned Nagas in Manipur were reponed, 187 and although it is 

unclear where the author had his information from, a repon by The TirrFs special correspondent 

dating from the end of the month described a war-ridden and destitute country, in which the 

anny did not know who was friend and who was foe, mostly the fonner by day and the latter by 

night: 

Unable to identify the enemy, Indian soldiers have killed several innocent people on the slightest 

suspicion. Several villages have been destroyed, and their inhabitants sent to live in bigger villages 

watched by the Army. But still the enemy remains untractable. 188 

International observers still were banned from verifying the completely positive picture 

painted byGOI on the developments in the Naga hills in the months preceding March 1959. The 

Nagas of 16 tnbes had demanded to be united in one unit and that now had been achieved. They 

were now administered by a number of "hand-picked" men of the Indian frontier administrative 

service, a branch of the external affairs ministry and thus removed from the Assam 

administration. Every year the equivalent of nearly one million English pounds were spent on 

184 Rai>a SaIiJa Deb:ztc5, Vo!. XXII., No. 1, 25. August 1958, Columns 963-976; 27. August 1958, Columns 1253-1312 
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welfare and econonnc development. New roads, hospitals, and schools were built in 

collaboration with the "peaceful Nagas". Agriculture was again flourishing. Rebels were and had 

already responded to the amnesty, and some of them had settled to a quiet life. Re-grouping of 

villages had been given up, and we may assume that this meant that de-grouping had been 

effected. Naga volunteers had been armed to protect the villagers from the rebels. lA forces had 

been considerably reduced. All in all, the problem looked solved, though it was admitted that 

there still remained approximately 2 - 3,000 rebels at large.l89 The next thing we hear is that six 

persons died, among them four policemen, in an ambush by Nagas near Imphal around the 

beginning of November 1959.190 

In 1960 Phizo had reached London, accused India of massive human rights abuses and 

demanded a fact-finding mission on the situation in the Naga hills. Two days after Phizo's arrival 

in London, the Nagas resumed their attacks in Dimapur area and intetrupted the train services 

between Gauhati and Dimapur. The Indian defence minister Krishna Menon, then in London, 

denied all charges made by Phizo, that ISF were undertaking punitive expeditions including 

systematic rape of women and the destruction of the cropS.191 At the end of July 1960 Phizo held 

a press conference in London where he repeated in detail his accusations that would qualify for 

the UN definition of genocide.192 This clearly motivated GOI to do something to regain the 

initiative and so the foreign affairs subcommittee of the Indian cabinet had decided to suggest the 

setting up of a Naga state as part of the Indian union. Incidentally a Naga delegation had arrived 

in Delhi which was just demanding what the foreign affairs subcommittee had proposed.I?3 On 

the first day of August and then again three days later, Nehru informed the Lck Sabha that his 

government had agreed to convey statehood to the former NlID and therewith fulfil the demand 

of the NPC as presented to him in the form of what would become known as the 16-Pci:nts­

Agrwrmt. He further briefed the house that the new state would not be able to pay for its own 

administration and therefore needed to be heavily subsidised. Nehru had declined an offer by 

Phizo to cooperate, since he could not agree to his conditions for cooperation and due to Phizo's 

allegations against the ISF who, except in very few cases, had behaved "according to high 

standards and high traditions." Yet Nehru admitted, when asked, that Jayprakash Narayan had 

visited Phizo in his hotel, indicating some effort to find a common way. Finally, GOI had 

negotiated and found an agreement with the elected representatives of the Nagas, meaning the 

NPC Some members of the house criticised the name "Nagaland" of the new union state, 

189 Times correspondent, Delhi, The Tims, 20.3.1959. 
190 Reuter, Imphal, N.E. India, Nov. 1, The Tims, 2.11.1959. 
191 Reuter, Delhi,June 16, The Tims, 17.6.1960; Times correspondent, Delhi, June 17; The Tims, 18. 6.1960; The 
TirrB, 20., 27. and 29.6. 1960. 
192 The Tims, 27.7.1960. 
193 Times correspondent, Delhi, July 26, The TtmS, 27.7.1960. 



231 

finding it too "outlandish", others asked how it possibly could be that citizens of India could 

have an agreement with their own government.194 The Tim?s speculated that this concession of 

statehood would give a strong boost to the demand for a Pt-tr9abi Sum. Phizo, on his part, had 

denounced the agreement as null and void, since the NPC was not representative, and before any 

agreement could be reached, a joint Indo-Naga commission would have to investigate the 

atrocities committed in the Naga hills and foreign journalists would have to be given free 

access.195 The Indian correspondents in London, as well as Nehru, described Phizo " ... as a 

sinister but slightly comic mountebank poohpoohing his activities ... ". The continued ban of 

foreign journalists from the Naga hills led to the growing suspicion that GOI had something to 

hide there.196 The whole chimera of control over and peace in the Naga hills became apparent 

when the minister of defence Krishna Menon had to answer questions regarding the shooting 

down of an Indian air force plane there, bringing to the fore the struggle of the lA when, for 

example, its outposts were besieged in the rough terrain. It had to rely on fighter planes that in 

turn had to cover supply aircraft that dropped supplies to the beleaguered forces.197 Obviously 

the Indian state in all its senses had still very incompletely penetrated these hills, had even 

problems holding its bridgeheads there. The increase of Naga attacks was interpreted by GOI as 

a sign of desperation in the face of the successful negotiations with the NPc, while they were 

most likely to convey the fact of their irrelevance to the political problem at stake.198 The 

continued increase in fighting was admitted and at the same time downplayed by Menon and 

Nehru in the Lde SaMa by a demonstratively displayed nonchalance and a vagueness in their 

statements ("firing etc."). It was not only to be made clear that this was to be handled by the 

military but also that the military had everything under control and that did not need closer 

scrutiny by GOI. Nehru further briefed the parliament that the elections to the interim body (on 

its way to Nagaland statehood) were nearly completed and that it soon would be able to function 

(as being advisory to the governor of Assam who was also to be governor of Nagaland), and he 

also admitted that the NPC had asked for the inclusion of all Naga-inhabited land (Manipur hill­

areas, Assam bordering Naga hills, parts of NEF A north to the Naga hills), but that GOI had not 

consented to that. l99 

Simultaneously, there were preparations under way to launch a guided tour for the 

international press to the Naga hills,zoo which then materialised in December 1960. During this 

one-week-tour the Nagas were, despite the close supervision and shielding of the journalists, 
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repeatedly able to bring their point for independence across to them, at the same time 

demonstrating their unbroken ability to strike at the ubiquitous ISF even at their stronghold 

Kohima.201 Many of those who openly approached the journalists in this way were later reponed 

to have been arrested?02 

Phizo's renewed proposals, a referendum to assess the Naga populations' satisfaction 

with Union statehood, and secondly, as a political solution to the continuing war, a qualified 

sovereignty jointly guaranteed by India, Pakistan, and Bunna, which did not necessitate an UN 

membership. GOl's reaction was to deny the possibility of negotiations with Phizo or any of his 

representatives.203 Pressure mounted on GOI, exerted by officials, army, and pro-Indian Nagas, 

to crush the Naga resistance byforce.204 

Prior to this, the Reverend Michael Scon, who had helped Phizo to come to London, and 

had supponed his cause since then, but insisted on not being his representative, had arrived in 

Delhi, and, although he had not been allowed to proceed to the Naga hills, had been given time 

to discuss Phizo' S standpoint with Nehru. 205 Scott had already acquired a name as a fighter for the 

weak in Africa,206 and later would be one of the members of the Nagaland peace mission. There 

are strong indications that GOI at this point would have been able to negotiate directly with 

Phizo who still commanded the overwhelming suppon of the Naga people. The granting of 

statehood, the declaration of an amnesty, the pouring in of funds, and the calling off of the army 

- all were done in order to create moderates.207 In the end this divide-and-rule policy, with the full 

understanding that the overwhelming majority of the concerned population, was adverse to such 

a co-option and creation of a collaborative class, cannot be considered as successful, even when 

evidently succeeding in fulfilling the ultimate objective to keep the periphery inside the Union, 

for it creates a low-level war zone. 

5.7 Statehood and Peace Initiative 

In February 1961 the minister of home affairs Govind Ballabh Pant admitted in the Rajp Salha 

an intensification of rebel Naga activities around the turn of the year and this also on Manipur 

territory, but denied that this indicated the Manipur Nagas' demand for inclusion in the future 

Nagaland state.208 In August 1961, the chairman of the interim body, Imkongliba Ao, was 
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assassinated, and was succeeded by T. N. Angami?09 The guerrilla war kept its momentum, 

troops continued moving in and this all was interpreted by GOI as a sign of growing desperation 

on the side of the rebels. Thus the intensification of the fighting could be considered as an 

improvement of affairs, the eradication of the "hostiles" had only not yet been effected. When 

pressed, they escaped into Burmese territory. In this way 1961-2 witnessed the absurdity that the 

escalation of the war was portrayed as a positive development, with its solution always around the 

corner.2IO 

The wider context showed continuous proof of discontent with the federal set-up. The 

granting of statehood to the Nagas and the decision to declare Assamese an official language lent 

renewed vigour to the by then already long-standing demand for a separate state by the Assam 

hill people, who accused the Assarnese administration of aiming at dominance.211 Support for the 

picture of a region in which frustration was the main growing factor is lent by the former US 

ambassador to India, J. K. Galbraith, who was able to visit parts of the Northeast in May 1962 

and reported about it in one of his letters to Kennedy: 

My recent travels have taken me up along the Chinese frontier and back to the Bunna border. In 

addition to their better-publicized problems with the Chinese, the Indians are having very serious 

trouble in living with people within their own borders. This is an area with a large number of 

ethnically separate groups and all are unhappy in their present relations with the Indians. The Nagas 

are in open revolt and tie down a couple of divisions but they are only the extreme case. A half dozen 

other ethnic or linguistic groups are asking what they can have in the way of independence, autonomy 

or self-determination.212 

The internal pacification was accompanied by the external, and Nehru's aggression 

towards Goa finally shattered India's image as mediator and peace maker in the world, and 

vehemently brought to the fore the difference between discourse and action since independence: 

Indian military action to safeguard her own interests has never squared with her peaceful international 

protestations. Kashmir and Hyderabad asserted Indian rights against Pakistan in the chagrin after 
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partition and without consistent principle. Action against the Nagas, certainly in its early stages, was in 

no way conciliatory. Goa is a case of ruthless aggression.m 

The start of 1963 was characterised by the build-up for a massive military campaign to be 

thrown against the Nagas.214 According to a comment in The Chsener, the lA, frustrated by the 

thrashing it had received from the Olinese, but now re-anned by America and Britain, saw the 

Naga hills as a welcome training ground to lift the morale of the troops and test the new 

hardware. The task was the extermination of the Naga guerrillas.215 At the same time Nehru 

declined the truce offered repeatedly by the Nagas guerrillas,216 and Phizo's offer to come to 

India for talks.217 This scenario continued,2ls and Nehru, his military, and his humiliated 

population seemed decided at least to bring the Naga campaign to a successful conclusion.219 

GOI went ahead with threatening the Naga population with holding it responsible in toto, in case 

the rebels should not respond to its amnesty offer,z20 Phizo, from London, appealed to the UN to 

halt the build-up of attacks by the Indian air force, and the on-going arrangements for putting the 

populations of 700 villages into concentration camps. At the same time Phizo signalled the 

Nagas' willingness to accept the verdict of plebiscite, even when carried out under Indian military 

occupation.221 The resettlement scheme was confinned by The Guardian that the GOI planned to 

re group about 700 villages into " .. .200 self-sufficient centres to afford greater protection to the 

people." The aim was the separation of the fighters from the villagers, the wording " ... the 

complete transfer of people from scattered villages to big centres to be raised overnight with full 

civic amenities" evokes the picture of holiday resons. However, the report further recorded an 

intensification of the fighting.m The amnesty offer proved to be a failure and the violence was 

also carried into Manipur. GOI now demanded an unconditional surrender,223 and the Indian 

press called for no mercy towards the "hostiles". In the meanwhile it had become known that 

Nehru secretly had sent his parliamentary secretary S. C Jamir to London in order to meet 
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phizO.224 Nothing, however, came of it, and with the inauguration of the Nagaland state on 

December 1st 1963 the road was closed for further negotiations with the guerrillas.m 

The international press was banned during the elections for the new Naga state assembly 

and they were, according to eye-witness accounts, not only held under close military surveillance, 

but also accompanied by severe military repression.226 Then, Nehru in his very last months 

reopened the negotiation process in giving his go-ahead to a peace initiative of the Naga Baptist 

missionaries, the formation of a peace mission that included the foreigner Michael Scon. This 

initiative would, via the cessation of hostilities,227 lead to a lasting ceasefire, that for several years 

brought a lull to the Naga hills. 

5.8 Conclusion 

Whereas Singh writes that Nehru already had laid the fOWldation for what he terms as ethnic 

democracy, it would appear that Nehru and the INC had clear plans to conquer the people at the 

periphery. For this a near-total consensus prevailed among the Indo-Assamese decision-makers 

and agents, to continue the old garrison state of the dead raj. Nehru's pose as, and speech of, a 

freedom fighter, and the euphoria of a post-colonial and self-determined world had,228 for quite 

some time, obscured the survival of the "garrison state" that now had to fight more viciously 

than ever. This was so because by then any form of imperialism had lost its legitimacy and 

concomitantly the idea of self-determination had firmly taken root among the populations the 

Indian union set out to subjugate, strengthening their resolve to resist and making any war into a 

peoples' war. This had as a consequence that the "garrison state" now had to fight the people as a 

whole, and since it had to pretend to fight on behalf of this very people it was actually fighting, it 

had to employ terror to deter and criminalise those who resisted.m Finally, the resistance of the 

peripheral people against being included into the Indian union embittered the Indians, who, after 

their own long subjection, now took it personal and would not allow anyone to endanger their 

nation-building. 
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Chapter Six 

The Nagas' War 

6.1 Introduction 

In this chapter, from the perspective of the Nagas, we will provide evidence that the newly 

independent Indian state was not exceptional, but conformed with nation-building policy of 

many post-colonial states that has been characterised by state-terror and genocide.! Initially it was 

Assamese expansionism that already employed terror; this, in turn, made Nehru send the Indian 

army into the Naga hills which unleashed a genocidal campaign. The Nagas, faced with this 

onslaught, united to an unprecedented degree, and from then on thoroughly considered 

themselves as a nation. The Indian "Other", the enemy, trying to define the Nagas by violence, 

served as the negative against which unification could be defined.2 Christianity, far from being a 

prime mover itself, was employed as a means for mobilisation and unification.3 

The Nagas were living in a terrain which was difficult to access, and even under British 

imperialism were only very lightly administered On the departure of the British there existed a 

small western educated Naga elite. The mass of the Nagas was by then not affected, and in 

general neither was aware nor did they care, since they lived their life relatively undisturbed, and 

so did not anticipate any radical changes, if they were aware of any to come at all. This was not 

much different on the plains, where, there also, the great majority of the people was unaware of 

the political developments. The main difference in the hills was that any kind of feudalism was 

consciously rejected, prevalent there was a high political participation in opposition to 

subordination, an ethos of freedom not known on the plains. However, the educated elite of the 

Nagas, always in contact with the more traditional leading figures of the different Naga groups, 

now entered the political process at the worst of all times. The British, trying to uphold the image 

of an ordered retreat, muddled through as fast as they could, and on their way out, tried to advise 

the Nagas to remain within the Indian union. The Indian political elite for its part, inherently 

split, and in its respective groupings only loosely structured, sent off different and contradicting 
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Genocidal State: An Overview', In Pierre L Van den Berghe (eel), State VidenEaniEthnicity(Ntwot, 1990), pp. 19-
52, p. 20; OJturaJ Suni:uu Report 22 SoothezstAsian Trib:d Grmps aniEthricMimritiJ!S (Cambridge, 1987) andJames 
Mayall and Mark Simpson, 'Ethnicity is not enough: Reflections on Protracted Secessionism in the Third World', In 
AnthonyD. Smith (ed.), EthnicityaniNatim:tlism(Leiden, 1992), pp. 5-25. 
2 Richard Jenkins, Rethirkin;, ethricity aT'jJIt1'l!J1S ani explm-atUn (London, 1997), pp. 69, 107, 137 and 139; Carole 
Nagengast, 'Violence, Terror, and the Crisis of the Stare',A11IWIReUer.uif A~ 1994,23, pp. 109-136, p. 122 
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signals. The Nagas then came around from their demand for immediate independence to one 

accepting an interim solution, a scheme that had even been suggested by Nehru himself in one of 

his publications in as late as 1944. However, the Nagas who again received different and 

conflicting responses, were signalled and assured in their demand, requested to await further 

negotiations, and, in the end, simply ignored. The Indian state and its agent started and continued 

with its incorporation of the Nagas and their territory. This was the first time the Naga 

population in general came into direct and lasting contact not only with this new state and its 

agents, but for the first time at all with any foreign agency that tried to actually govern them. The 

imperial predecessor in the main ruled through the indigenous structures, was only slightly 

present, and villages for years saw no British at all. But now the Nagas were confronted with the 

will and actions to effectively incorporate them into the economy and administration of the new 

polity. As a rule the Assamese and Indians regarded them as inferior, their language and way of 

life considered as something to be overcome and changed into that of the dominant group, or 

were not even considered as being capable of assimilation and relegated to the lowest layer of 

society. The Nagas had to realise that the legal safeguards of their rights were nil and void in the 

reality of state incorporation. Local communities reacted to that in defence of their self-esteem 

and perceived right to their way of life in either non-cooperating and! or threatening and! or 

attacking the agents of the new state with words or deeds. The elite, partially engaged in 

renegotiating their political leeway, was also busy in trying to mobilise and unify those which were 

perceived of being the bearer of their identity, and to value it positively, in face of all the 

derogation.4 

It was now to the agents of the new state, who had just turned from servants into 

masters, to teach these savages a lesson. Again, irrespective of the official propaganda by the 

centre, which either denied the existence of trouble at all, or if admitting it, denounced it as the 

product of foreign agents or the actions of misguided child-like fellow citizens, in need of 

guidance, the agents on the spot were convinced that the savages understood only one language: 

force and violence. Terror and torture became part of a deliberate policy.s In the long run it 

served the determination to unite and fight back. The ensuing fighting developed into a full-scale 

war and more and more Indian troops were sent into the Naga hills. Due to the superior 

fire power of the Indian army (lA) the Nagas resorted to a guerrilla war in which combatants and 

4 Isaiah Berlin, TheCrrxkBiTirrb:rifHummit)r cmprm indxHistoryifldMs. London, 1990 [1959], p. 261 and Olarles 
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civilians were hardly to be distinguished. The state forces, seldom able to catch those who were 

ambushing them, redirected their reprisals against the whole population, and thus firmly 

established a regime of terror out of their personnel's fear and to deter civilians from helping the 

guerrillas. Therewith they guaranteed themselves being continuously seen as a foreign 

occupational power in clearly creating a them-us divide inscribed in violence, making sure that 

the bequeathed humiliations would always drive people into the forces of resistance. The 

experience of such violence, especially against non-combatant elderly people, women and 

children, and the stories about it, constituted from then on an integral part of the Naga social 

identity and of the history of this identity. It was this ongoing war of the Indian state against the 

Nagas as a whole, already under Nehru's premiership, that cemented the Nagas into a nation 

using Christianity as a distinguishing unifier and determined to fight off of what they saw and still 

see as an invasion of their land.6 

6.2 Finding One -s Stand in a Post-Imperial Asia 

Thus, in order to understand why the majority of the Nagas supported the guerrilla war we have 

to uncover the responsible factors affecting the mass of the people over a considerable period of 

tIme. 

However, the happenings in the Naga hills before and after the Transfer of Power are 

anything but well documented This is the outcome of at least three factors. First, the Indian 

government's success in shielding off, denying, and defying its agents' conduct there. Second, the 

world opinion's general indifference to the Nagas' fate. And, finally, the Nagas' unwillingness to 

document something that is so obvious and so emotionally important to them in a detailed and 

systematic way. Horam writes that a reconstruction of the exact course of events proves difficult, 

since there is rarely any material about this time, and since most of the participants are dead and 

if they had produced written material, it was lost or destroyed in the fighting of the coming 

6 In addition to the already cited literature the following works delivered the comparative and theoretical thoughts to 
this Introduction: Emest Gellner, Nations ani NatioruJism (Oxford, 1983); Carter G. Bentley, 'Ethnicity and Practice', 
Conparati'l£Studies inScxietyarriHistory, 1987,29.1, pp. 24-55; Pierre L. Van den Berghe, 'Introduction', In idem (ed.), 
State ViderxEarriEthnicity (NIwot, 1990), pp. 1-18; Joyce Pettigrew, T/;e Sikhs if the PWJ"ab: urhard uia:s ifstatearri 
~ Uderx:e (London and New Jersey, 1995) and Cynthia Keppley Mahmood, F i~far Faith arri Natinrr DiaJagut5 
uithSi[jJMiJiJants (philadelphia, 1996).; SumantraBose, T/;e~inKashrrir: Demxrcuy, SeJfDetemirutianarriaJust 
PetUE (New Delhi, Thousand Oaks and London, 1997); E. Valentine Daniel, Oxtpters inanA rthrqx1aj!y ifViden:e: Sri 
Larkans, S irhalas ani T anils (Delhi, 1997); John L. Comaroff, 'Ethnicity, Nationalism and the Politics of Difference 
In an Age of Revolution', In John L. Comaroff and Paul C. Stem (eds.), Persp«tiu:s an NatioruJismarri War 
(Amsterdam, 2000 [1995], pp. 243-276; Cynthia Keppley Mahmood, 'Trials by Fire: Dynamics of Terror in Punjab 
and Kashmir', In Jeffrey A Sluka (ed.), De:d:hSquad: T/;eA~ifState Terror (philadelphia, 2000), pp. 70-90; 
Walker Connor, 'Homelands in a World of States', In Montserrat Guibemau and John Hutchinson (eds.), 
Urc1mtarriiYf, NatioruJism (Cambridge, 2001), pp. 53-73; Ashutosh Varshney, 'Ethnic Conflict and Civil Society: India 
and Beyond', WarldPditia 53 (April 2001), 362-398 and David Webster, '" Already Sovereign as a People"; A 
Foundational Moment in West Papuan Nationalism' PacificAffairs, Wmter 2001-2002, Vol. 74, No. 4, pp. 507-528. 
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years.7 This notwithstanding, the material I have laid out here should sufficiently suppon my 

argument, but can only be considered as the beginning to more research on that rather under­

worked field. 

Again, notes taken, and documents written by British officials, as well the exchange of 

communications among them and others, or simply received and stored, as in our case by W. G. 

Archer, are for us, a major source of information on the developments in the Naga hills in the 

years around the Transfer of Power. 

We have evidence that in the very first phase when it had become known that the end of 

the raj was imminent, the Nagas decidedly were poised towards regaining their former freedom. 

In this way at the end of December 1946 Sa' adulla the former prime minister of Assam reponed 

about a delegation of Nagas that had come to see and tell him that the Nagas were determined to 

become independent again with the British depanure. They also told him that they had already 

conveyed this message to Bardoloi, the then prime minister of Assam, who had toured the Naga 

hills during the previous month. Sa'adulla quoted one of the leaders as saying the following: 

We fought the British in 1879 and we will fight anyone who attempts to rule over us. The British 

conquered our country by force of arms, now that they are going to quit, the land is ours, and we 

purpose to govern the hills as best as we can.8 

Though it is not specified who the Nagas were, except the reference to them as "leaders" on 

grounds of the quote, we might well assume that they came from Khonoma. A funher indicator 

for this is that Archer in succession to the above, has added a quote by Pawsey who must have 

said that it was the Orristian clan of Khonoma that was in favour of complete independence, that 

another of the Khonoma clans was indifferent and the third against independence. According to 

Pawsey the Orristian clan of Khonoma wanted independence to re-impose Khonoma's 

domination" ... to terrorise the region - as Khonoma did before ... ".9 Archer, then relatively new as 

SDO NHD, gives the following account from a conversation he had in the village of Khonoma 

on the last day of the year 1946: 

After lunch I sat on a high fort post ... talking to Unelhu about the coming changes. He is attached to 

the public works side of the Deputy Commissioner Office and is himself a resident of Khonoma. He 

was full of pride in the village and dismay for the future. "Even if the British go" he said "Burma will 

come in. From congress we can expect nothing. But Khonoma will fight." 10 

7 M Horam, Natp Insurwr;r The last thirtyy:ars (New Delhi, 1988), p. 55. 
8 Hand-written copy of article by the newspaper TheStdteSmm, from 26.12.46 by Archer, inA rrher Papers, MSS Eur 
236/78, paper 2. 
9 Ibid., paper 2b. 
10 A rrher Papers, MSS Eur 236/74, dated 31st December 1946. 



240 

The Naga National Council (NNq, so Archer wrote at the end of 1946, was nearly exclusively 

composed of government servants and by then the only political mouthpiece of the Nagas. 

Hitherto Pawsey, the DC, had always been consulted by the NNC for advice but this had become 

a problem for him under the new political situation. What Archer wrote in relation to the article 

in The Statesmm hints that he understood the demand for complete independence as a tactical, 

bargaining one, starting with independence but aiming at effective autonomy. The nearing end of 

British rule had surprised everyone. The NNC thereupon instantaneously materialised, and in 

Archer's view, the absence of Pawsey (on leave) given as responsible for the lack of unity among 

the Angamis who had split into western, eastern, and southern Angamis. l1 However, Archer's 

view of the affair was most likely tailored to the British view. The data suggests that it was more 

like the following: the Nagas hearing of the imminent departure of the British decided to be again 

independent, since they had been this before. It was then the British officers who had talked 

them into changing their stand, and so the Nagas agreed somehow, that is to say not 

unanimously, on the interim solution by February 1947. This in turn was portrayed by the British 

as Nagas' traditional divisiveness.12 

On 13th January 1947 Archer tells us something about Kevichusa Angami (tribal 

attachment here had obviously been turned into family name) who came to tea. Kevichusa had 

served as sub-deputy magistrate and in this position had been transferred 17 times, and until 1942 

11 A rd?er Papers, MSS Eur 236/78, paper 2c and 2d. Some of the existing literature has the following on the NNC: C. 
R Pawsey, DC of the NHD from 1937 to 1947, did help in April 1945 to form the Naga hi1ls district tribal council 
(NHDTq, with the aim to repair some of the damages, done in the course of the fighting of the Second World War 
(Nehemiah Panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', In R Vas hum, Aleube Iheilung et al (eds.), Nal!flS at 
Worn (New Delhi, 1996), pp. 85-100, p. 87). The NHDTC, however, did not last long. Its name was changed into 
NNC by representatives of all tribal councils, meeting February 1946 in Wokha. The NNC was to be the political 
mouthpiece of the Nagas. It consisted of 29 members, representing the different tribes on a proportional basis. 
Office bearers of the NNC were elected by its members. Every Naga was a member of the NNC and every family 
contributed voluntarily to it (M. Alemchimba,A BrUfHistoricalAa:amtifNa~rri(K.ohima, 1970), p. 165). For 
several years the NNC published the newspaper Nal!fl Nation, using it for the political forming of opinion of the 
Nagas (panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', Worn, p. 87). The NNC saw itself as a territorial 
organisation, an inter-tribal government, not of tribes, but of a nation, and was, according to the two sub-districts 
Kohima and Mokokchung, organised into two central councils. Both of these councils were themselves divided into 
tribal ones, which again were split into sub-tribal councils. Approximately five villages formed a sub-tribal council. 
The members of these councils were not elected, but agreed on by consent. The central council of Kohima had 12 
members, seven of them were Angami. The Mokokchung council consisted of 15 members - five Aos, four Semas, 
three Lothas, two Sangtams and one Chang. The Konyaks were in the beginning neither present nor represented, 
neither were the groups from the unadministered areas. The founding president of the NNC was Mayangnokcha Ao, 
Imti Aliba Ao was secretary and jointsecretary was the Angami T. Sakhrie. Imti Aliba, son of a priest and graduate 
from the University of Shillong, had been previously the secretary of the Assam Hills Student's Association, a 
student wing of the Communist Party of India. The central council of Kohima was headed by the teacher Angami 
Lungalong (Shibanikinkar Chaube, Hill PditUs in Narth-East Irdia (New Delhi, 1973), p. 141). Decisions inside the 
NNCwere achieved by general consent, see Luingam Luithui and Nandita Haksar, Na~File A questionifHurmn 
Ri[/7ts (New Delhi, 1984), p. 2l. 
12 Further evidence about efforts to finding a common solution to all the hill people is that the Assam Hills Students 
Association founded in Calcutta in 1945 proclaimed on 8th January 1947 an Indo-Burma Movement with the aim of 
unifying the tribal people and territories of Indo-Burma and of making them via a plebiscite independent or 
autonomous, see A rd?er Papers, MSS Eur 236/78, paper 3. 
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always had been posted outside the Naga hills. He had thus, as many others of the Naga elite, a 

clear idea of the Northeast. Kevichusa told Archer that hitheno all work had been done by the 

tribal councils, and that it was only for the cabinet mission that the NNC had been founded. 13 He 

continued to tell Archer about the ongoing divisions among the Nagas. Khonoma and the 

Western Angamis, for example, were for complete independence while the rest was not sure 

whether this could be achieved. Simultaneously no-one had faith in the guarantees given by the 

Indian National Congress (INC) after Nehru's letter to Sakhrie (about which we already learned 

in the previous chapter) that was interpreted by the Nagas as assurance of a genuine autonomy, 

but then his subsequent directive to the governor of Assam to remove the am Hills Re;sulation 

negated that. The NNC was about to protest but faced the problem that nearly all its members 

were in government service and thus blocked from political work Another point of concern was 

the lack of any Naga representation in either the constituent assembly or the advisory committee 

that made the Nagas fear that the constitution would consequently not take their needs into 

consideration.14 

By Februaty-March the NNC sent a memorandum to the British prime minister, with 

copies to Simon and Churchill, asking for to set up a 10-years interim government, during which 

they could develop themselves politically and decide afterwards whether they would prefer 

complete independence or some arrangement with the Indian Union. The British in Delhi and 

London, however, had decided to ignore the NNC 15 

The NNC also wanted to represent the tribal areas, i.e. the by then still unadministered 

pan of the Naga hills, yet were discouraged to do this by Archer. This was so since the 

constitutional adviser Rau had recommended to Mills to treat the excluded and tribal areas as 

separate cases.16 'While the Nagas frantically worked for a unified stand British and Indians now 

both suggested separate solutions and stressed the Nagas' divisiveness. 

On April 11th the NNC met to choose five members that should stan to work on a draft 

constitution for the Naga hills. One of the appointed members was Mayangnokcha and the work 

13 On 18th Apri11946 Kevichusa and Mayangnokcha were chosen by the Kohirna tribal council to represent the 
Nagas vis-a-vis the cabinet mission, if they were called upon. Kevichusa was EAC (we get to know later that he was 
assistant to the Dq and Mayangnokcha headmaster of the government Middle English school Mokokchung, In 
ibid., paper 1, dated 2.5.46. 
14 Ibid., paper 5 and 6. It is not clear whether Mayangnokcha's listing for the advisory committee was inconsequential 
or not known. To recapitulate, the basis for the Transfer of Power in India was created on Mai 16th 1946 through the 
cabinet mission's plan. The constituent assembly of India set up an advisory committee on the aboriginal tribes, 
which was divided into three subcommittees. One of it was meant to report on the north-eastern region, and should 
make suggestions on its future administrative form. Cllairman of this subcommittee was Gopinath Bardoloi, the then 
chief minister of Assam, one of its members was to be Aliba Imti Ao, see Olaube, Hill PditUs in Nart;b.East lniia, p. 
76. 
15 Lord Pethick-Lawrence to Rear-Admiral VIScount Mountbatten of Burma, India Office, 12 Apri11947, In 
Nicholas Mansergh and Penderel Moon (eds.), The Transfer if P01IEr, 1942· 7, V dUlre X, The M ountb:ztten V Ueru)i1lty 
Farrrulation if a Plan, 22 Marrh - 30 May 1947 (London, 1974), No. 134, pp. 217-220. 
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on the constitution was to begin on May 1 SI in Kohirna. By then the " ... solidarity of the Naga 

Nation ... " had been decided by the NNC as " ... its ultimate goal."!7 Three days later Aliba Imti 

was nominated instead of Mayangnokcha. The Angamis, according to Pawsey, were afraid the 

Aos might go over to the Congress, and were increasingly annoyed by the Assam governor's 

appeasement towards Congress. Furthermore, it had already become clear that the subcommittee 

would not be able to go to Wakching, to meet there the representatives of the tribes living in the 

tribal areas, hence they were asked to come to Mokokchung. The representatives were Hopongki 

for the Sangtams, Imlong for the Changs, and Chingkai for the Konyaks.!8 All of whom were by 

then still completely independent.!9 

By 22nd April 1947 the constituent assembly informed the hill people of the decision to 

grant independence to India not later than June 1948 as announced by the British prime minister 

Attlee in the house of commons. At the same time the coming of the subcommittee of the 

advisory committee to the constituent assembly was announced with the already mentioned 

statement that they did not come with a pre-arranged plan, but at the same time clearly limiting 

the scope to a solution inside the legislation of the province of Assam 20 This memo was not 

distributed to the tribal area, but forwarded to the " ... representative people and bodies ... " as the 

secretary to the governor of Assam Adams expressed it/! giving us an organizational chart of 

contemporary Naga politics: 

Copy forwarded to: - 1. Naga National Council. 

2. Add!. Deputy Commissioner, Mokokchung. 

3. Headmaster Govt. High School, Kohirna. 

4. Angami Sub-Tribal Council. 

5. Kacha Naga &Kuki S. T. Council. 

6. Lotha Sub-Tribal Council. 

7. Sema Sub-Tribal Council. 

8. Rengma Sub-Tribal Council. 

!6 Personal communication from Mills to Archer, dated Shillong, 23rd April 1947, InA rcher Papers, MSS Eur 236/78, 
paper 28. 
17 Mayangnokcha to Archer, dated Mokokchung, 26th April 1947, In ibid., paper 40. 
18 Pawseyto Archer, dated Kohima, 29th April 1947. In ibid., paper 41. In the end, however, the subcommittee only 
came as far as Kohima, and did not even make to Mokokchung. 
19 J. P. Mills, Adviser to the Governor of Assam to G. E. D. Walker, Political Officer, Tirap Frontier Tract, 
Confidential, Memo. No. AlV 46, dated Shillong, 16th April, 1947 and Memo No. 63/G., byC. R Pawsey, Deputy 
Commissioner, Naga Hills, dated 30th April, 1947. In ibid., paper 13. 
20 Constituent Assembly of India, to The Hill peoples of the Naga Hills, Mikir Hills, Cachar Hills, Khasi and J aintia 
Hills, and Garo Hills, signed R K. Rarnadhyani, Deputy Secretary Constituent Assembly of India, dt. 22nd April 
1947, In ibid., paper 25. The members of subcommittee were the Assamese Gobinath Bardoloi, the KhasiJ. J. 
Nichols-Roy, Rup Nath Brahma, the Naga Aliba Imti, and A V. Thakkar, In ibid., paper 109 and 115. 
21 Memo No. 688-371/C., Governor's Secretariat, Shillong, the 25th April, 1947, sdi P. R Adams, Secretary to the 
Governor of Assam. In ibid., paper 26. 
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9. Ao Sub-Tribal Qmncil.22 

The "Sub-Tnbal" obviously is "Sub" in relation to the tribe of the Nagas. Seen like this we find 

here six sub-tribes politically represented. 

The subcommittee on May 7th cancelled Mokokchung and Wakching, and aIUlounced its 

arrival at Kohima on 19th of May, staying the two subsequent days.23 The NNC, the same day, 

dispatched this infonnation to the different tribal councils (this time no "sub-"), and to Pawsey 

and Archer, and that all members were to come ("without fail") to Kohima on May 16th 1947.24 A 

day later a provisional programme was formalised that showed the sequence in which the 

different persons and parties were to meet the subcommittee, and gives a more complete picture 

of the structure of contemporaneous Naga politics than the above one dispatched by Pawsey. 

First, DC Pawsey was to see the subcommittee, then the members of the NNC, then the ones 

from the Kohima central council, followed by the Mokokchung central members, then 

subsequently by the Rengma, Lhota, Sema, Zemi, Sangtam, and Chang tribal council members 

(the last two from the administered parts of their tribes). Then, the representatives of the 

independent Naga tribes, followed by the one of the church ("collectively"), the women's society, 

the student's leaders, and finally the gwnburas and the cldushis. The visit was to be concluded by a 

trip to the interior, a football game, and a garden party.25 What we find here is the overarching 

organisation of the NNC, consisting of British educated government servants, members of the 

district and sub-district capitals, as well as members from both the administered and of the 

unadministered parts of the Naga hills, the church as party, as well as the women's organisation, 

and the students', and the village chiefs and interpreters - a rather pluralistic picture. 

The tnbal area groups like the Konyaks, Phoms and Kalyo Kengus could not be 

contacted and thus had to go unheard by the subcommittee. Yimchunger and Sangtams had 

drafted memoranda that could be presented, and the Changs were represented by Imlong. In 

general the restriction of the subcommittee's visit to Kohima seemed to limit the scope of 

representation considerably.26 

22 Memo No. 1108-15/G., dated Kohima the 1st May, 1947, sd/C R Pawsey, Deputy Qmunissioner Naga Hills. In 
ibid. 
23 Telegram to SDO Mokokchung, dated Shillong, 7th May [1947], 11:55h. In ibid., paper 45. 
24 Office of the Naga National O>uncil. 7th May 47. No. 94 - 112/NNC, Joint Secretaries NN.C T. Sakhrie. In ibid., 
paper 46. 
25 Office of the Naga National O>uncil. Provisional Programme. T. Sakhrie, Joint Secretary Naga National Council, 
8.5.1947. In ibid., paper 47. 
26 Archer to Pawsey, Mokokchung, gm May 1947, In Ibid., paper 90. Before its visit to the NHD, the subcommittee 
had received a list of organisations, which had to be interviewed, from the then DC Pawsey, who himself was not 
present at the time of the visit. At the time of the visit of the subcommittee on May 20th 1947 at Kohima there was 
no permanent president of the NNC Therefore, Kevichusa Angami, senior extra-assistant commissioner of Kohima, 
functioned as his deputy. The members of the subcommittee first refused to talk to a government official as a 
representative of a political organisation (Chaube, Hill PditUs inNCJYth.East /rx/ia, p. 141), but had to realise, that 
nearly all leaders of the Nagas were serving in the government (ibid.: 69). Kevichusa and Lungalong presented 



244 

On May 12th Archer conveyed his opinion on the position of the tribes in the hitherto 

unadministered tract (mentioned were the Phoms, Kalyo Kengyus, and Konyaks) to Pawsey, 

since theywere not able to make themselves heard by the subcommittee: 

So far as I know the tribal areas (except the Konyaks) want to be integral part of the Naga State and jll 

the same time [underlining in the original] get lavish grants from the centre. The Konyaks aren't at all 

on grants they want to go on head-taking but have no objection to forming a single Naga unit 

provided the first two points are observed.27 

Naga decisions are reached by consensus not by majority, so that may have been responsible for 

the conflicting conditions - if they were conflicting at all - and one wonders what the second 

point to observe had been. A unified Naga state would have been possible, as would have been 

grants, if not from Assam, then from the centre, and if simply to keep and help develop that area 

in exchange for the right of stationing troops at the border for strategic pwposes. The question 

of headhunting (as shown in Olapter Two), intimately connected to the one of political 

autonomy and power, as well as to the discourse on the mbes' right to independence, could safely 

be left to the Nagas to sort out. 

Further information on some Konyaks' point of view around that time on the situation 

we get from some excellent notes taken by Archer. In one of these notes Archer quoted the 

Konyak gwnbura from Kongon: 

What have we gained from British rule? Only Loads to carry. Letters to be sent, house tax to be paid. 

How happy we were before they ever came! British or Congress rule - it is all the same. All we want is 

to ... [unreadable, possibly the last word is "needs" or "heads"]' 

Then, Archer continued: 

When I said to a gaonbura of Kongon "Is it good that head-hunting has been stopped?" he replied 

"What shall I say? Taking heads from nearby villages like O ... ig [unreadable] or Wakching - that is 

bad. But to take them from distant villages how good that is." 

themselves as the sole representatives of the NNC, supported through the statement of Mayangnokcha Ao, who 
confirmed that their authority was based on general agreement (ibid.: 142). Both conveyed to the subcommittee the 
demand of the NNC for a 10-years interim solution, with an arrangement for extensive autonomy, and the inclusion 
of the option to secede from the Indian union after that period. The members of the subcommittee told the Nagas 
that they were not authorised to recommend any arrangement outside the Indian constitution. The Nagas replied 
that they are not prepared to accept anything inside the constitution. The talks did not bring about any results 
(Alemchirnba, A BrUf Historical A arxmt ifNa~ni (Kohima, 1970), pp. 169-170. 
27 Archer to Pawsey, Mokokchung, 12th May 1947. InA rrher Papers, MSS Eur 236/78, paper 94. 
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The chief that was to represent the Konyaks vis-a-vis the subcommittee did not see that his 

fellow-Konyaks were convinced that the new rulers would be able to subjugate them: 

Chengais' [otherwise Chengkai] interpretation of the prevailing Konyak view - "If the British cannot 

control us, how can a plainsman?" and "A column - what's the use of that? It comes and bums a 

village. Then it goes away and we sit and laugh."28 

The Konyaks, or at least those who talked to Archer, were either indifferent about or did not 

know who, for example, Mohandas Gandhi was. After Archer had told them about his 

assassination, and after they had inquired into the details, they just laughed, and when they got to 

know that he had been fighting for India's independence, they stated that it then had been him 

who was responsible for all their trouble, and they asked whether he had been Hindu or Muslim. 

Theywere aware of this existing difference.29 

Later, in autumn, the situation in Konyak area started to get confusing, as the following 

extract of a memo written by Archer in his function as SDO, confirms: 

The Ang with some Konyak villagers of Wangla (Sq. 229) saw me today and reported that Chingai, 

Head Interpreter Wakching realised ten rupees from each of the administered Konyak villages in 

September 1947. Chingai, they say, announced that 'there was no longer any Sahib in Mokokchung 

and they must pay him ten rupees for buying a new one!! The Ang of Mon (unadministered - Sq. 205) 

is said to have protested and to have announced that he would declare his own Raj instead. 

This is the second recent incident involving Konyaks - the first being a minor one from Namsang 

village which also declared that there was no longer any Raj in Mokokchung and accordingly refused 

to give coolies.30 

While the refusal to comply to forced labour is readily understandable, as is the declaration of 

ones' own raj, but the idea to collect money to buy a new raj seems rather strange - maybe raj 

then meant protection, and one had to pay for it. 

During the course of the first half of 1947 Archer believed he was witnessing an 

increasing demand for complete independence among the Nagas, the wish to get a pan-Naga 

state, including the Tirap frontier tract (1F1), the NI-ID, the Naga hills tribal area (NHfA), and 

28 This and previous two quotes: Notes by Archer, undated, but most likely from around May - June 1947, due to 
their location between other documents dating from then. In ibid., paper 101. 
29 A rrher Papers, MSS Eur 236/79, paper 12, undated. According to Yonuo the communal violence which 
accompanied the negotiations about the modalities of India's independence, resulting in more than 200,000 killed, 
induced the NNC to ask the Assamese on May 21st 1947 not to accede to the Indian Union, but to join, as an 
independent state, a ten year federation with an likewise independent Nagaland (Asoso Yonuo, The Rising NalJ1S: A 
Histariad anlPciitiad Study (Delhi, 1974), pp. 171 and 184). When the Assamese rejected this suggestion, the NNC fell 
back on the demand for an autonomous district as a stepping stone to independence (ibid., p. 196). 
30 Memo. No. G., Office of the SDO, Mokokchung, dated the 9.10.47, ADC Archer, In A rrher Papers, MSS E ur 
236/78. -
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the forests that in the past had been transferred to the Sibsagar district. Further, a growing 

uncertainty about the intentions of the central government, and an unwillingness to take into 

consideration any sharing of sources with Assam, and, so Archer, a general vagueness paired with 

confidence about the funding and controlling of a future Naga state that, especially with 

hindsight to the tribal area, was definitely to the dislike of Archer.3! Overall the opinion among 

the Nagas at the point did have a propensity towards complete independence and the 

incorporation into this scheme of all Naga inhabited areas, then a reluctance to any common 

solution with Assam, a growing distrust towards the coming Indian government, and finally for 

Archer too much naivety in their belief of being capable of creating a viable state. Archer thus 

remained inside the liberal tradition legitimising imperialism. The Nagas, however, hitherto 

lightly, certainly not effectively, if at all, administered, had been viable before the British arrival, as 

they were then, and there was no reason to believe on their side why they could not be so in the 

future. This standpoint was not, as Archer saw, a new development but simply a return to an 

earlier one. 

By the end of June Pawsey sent a message to Archer, telling him, among other things that 

the negotiations between Hydari and the Nagas were not going well.32 In Archer's papers we find 

a draft of the Nine-Points-Agrrerrmt resulting out of these negotiations, that would have given the 

Nagas wide judicia~ executive, and legislative powers. It said the Nagas were to come under a DC 

appointed by the governor of Assam but otherwise were free to administer themselves what they 

could pay for themselves. Point six ensured the re-transfer of forests from Sibsagar and 

Nowgong districts back to the Nagas and to bring as far as possible all Nagas into one 

administrative unit for which this agreement then would be in force. These two points remained 

important demands of the Nagas until today. Point eight granted that both, The OJin Hills 

31 Undated notes by Archer. In ibid., paper 102. 
32 Pawseyto Archer, Kohima Naga Hills, Assam, 27.6.47. In ibid., paper 57. The advisory committee submitted its 
report on July 28th 1947 that had been accepted by all political groups of the hill regions of Assam, yet not by the 
representatives of the Nagas (Chaube, HiJJ Pditia in Narth-East Inlia, p. 76). This was the reason why subsequent to 
the visit of the subcommittee Nehru did send the then gouvemor of Assam, Sir Akbar Hydari to Kohima, to 
negotiate once again with the NNC (Alemchirnba, A Brit{ Historiad A arxmt ifNagpklnJ, p. 171). The NNC finally 
accepted the agreement as a starting point for further negotiations and a possible better arrangement in the future (Z. 
A Phizo, 'A Letter from Jail', In Luingam Luithui and Nandita Haksar (eds.), Nagpklrd File A Qe;tian if Humm 
Ripfots (New Delhi, 1984), pp. 41-56, p. 51; Yonuo, 1heRising Na[j1S: A Historio:d anlPditical Swdy, p. 175). But at this 
time 4/5 of the NNC members were government officials and directly subordinated to Pawsey. During the talks 
with Hydari Pawsey did exert pressure on them, and made it seem as if the agreement was accepted unconditionally 
(phizo, 'A Letter from Jail', p. 51). Hydari communicated to the Nagas that they never could expect more than 
autonomy, and did warn the NNC that, if they tried to secede, they had to take the intervention of the Indian army 
into account (Alemchirnba,A Brit{HistoriadAarxmtifNa~ p. 172). This threat by Hydari, according to Phizo, 
was received by the NNC and Naga population alike as a challenge, and did set up both against the agreement 
(phizo, 'A Letter from Jail', p. 51). Also the fear of the Nagas of a possible electoral success of radical Hindu parties, 
like the Jam Sallfo, RamtRafJa Parishad, Rashtri:y:z S7iIr)WllSermk Sallfo, HirrluMahasalha or A ry:t Sarmj, in the eyes of 
the Nagas would be tantamount to cultural annihilation, did lead the NNC to shrink back more and more from 
joining the Indian Union. Even if they disagreed within the NNC about how to achieve independence, all agreed that 
this was the aim they were striving for (Yonuo, 1heRisingNa[j1S, p. 176). 
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Regulations and The Berrgpl Eastern Frmtier R~tions would remain in force, and thus contradicted 

Nehru's fonner directive to the governor. Hydari, however, had been sent by Nehru to the Naga 

Hills with far-reaching powers and the order to achieve an agreement. The last, the ninth point, 

should develop into the main bone of contention between the NNC and the governor. Due to 

the centrality of this agreement I give the full text of the draft as found in the contemporary 

papers of Archer in the footnote below.33 

33 A rrher Papers, MSS Eur 236/78, paper 58: Below is copied what later should be named the Nir¥:Pants- or Hydari­
Agrwrrnt: 

A G. P_ [G. S. (Q.] 3 - 50 - 5 - 7 - 1947. Secret. Tribes Represented at Discussions on the 26th, 27th 

and 28th June, 1947, at Kohima: 

Western Angamis 
Eastern Angamis 
Kukis 
Kacha Nagas (Mzeffil) 
Rengmas 
Semas 
Lothas 
Aos 
Sangtams 
Changs 

HEADS OF THE PROPOSED UNDERSTANDING 

That the right of the Nagas to develop themselves according to their freely expressed wishes is 
recognised_ 

1. Judicial. - All cases whether civil or criminal arising between Nagas in the Naga Hills will be 
disposed of by duly constituted Naga Courts according to Naga customary law or such law as may be 
introduced with the consent of duly recognised Naga representative organisations save that were a 
sentence of transportation or death has been passed there will be a right of appeal to the Governor_ 

In cases arising between Nagas and non-Nagas in (a) Kohima and Mokokchung town areas, and (b) in 
the neighbouring plains districts the judge if not a Naga will be assisted by a Naga assessor. 

2. Executive. - The general principle is accepted that what the Naga Council is prepared to pay for 
the Naga Council should control. This principle will apply equally to the work done as well as the staff 
employed. 

While the District Officer will be appointed at the discretion of the Governor Subdivisons of the 
Naga Hills should be administered by a Subdivisional Council with a full time executive President paid 
by Naga Council who would be responsible to the District Officer for all matters falling within the 
latter's responsibility, and to the Naga Council for all matters falling within their responsibility. 

In regard to: (a) Agriculture - the Naga Council will exercise all the powers now vested in the 
District Officer 

(b) G W. D. - the Naga Council would take over full control. 
(c) Education and Forest Department - the Naga Council is prepared to pay for 

all the services and staff. 

3. Legislative. - That no laws passed by the Provincial or Central Legislature which would materially 
affect the terms of this agreement or the religious practices of the Nagas shall have legal force in the 
Naga Hills without the consent of the Naga Council. In cases of dispute as to whether any law did so 
affect this agreement the matter would be referred by the Naga Council to the Governor who would 
then direct that the law in question should not have legal force in the Naga Hills pending the decision 
of the Central Government. 
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The Naga representatives rejected the recommendations made by the subcommittee to 

the advisory committee, due to the fact that they did not treat the NHD as independent, but as 

part of Assam, with far-reaching powers for the governor of Assam, among them, for example, 

the one to dissolve the NNC Instead the Naga delegates referred to the agreement reached 

shortly before with Hydari and asked that it should be presented to the constituent assembly for 

acceptance as basis for the future relations between India-Assam and the Naga hills. The 

subcommittee, chaired by Bardolo~ declined and referred to Attlee's statement in the house of 

commons that the excluded areas would be part of Assam.34 

The incongruent policy took its toll and in mid-July the NNC had, according to Pawsey 

" ... a minor split and the Extreme independent party have broken away." Pawsey, to be sure, 

perceived this as a very positive development. For him those who had broken away were a tiny 

minority, led by the Merhema khel of Khonoma, and he continued to write that the " ... outside 

villages are fed up with it all."35 

4. Land. - That land with all its resources in the Naga Hills should not be alienated to a non-Naga 
without the consent of the Naga Council 

5. Taxation. - That the Naga Concil will be responsible forthe impostion, collection, and 
expanditure of land revenue and house tax and of such other taxes as may be imposed by the Naga 
Council. 

6. Boundaries. - That present administrative divisions should be modified so as (1) to bring back 
into the Naga Hills District all the forests transferred to the Sibsagar and Nowgong Districts in the 
past, and (2) to bring under one unified administrative unit as far as possible all Nagas. All the areas so 
included would be within the scope of the present proposed agreement. No areas should be 
transferred out of the Naga Hills without the consent of the Naga Council. 

7. Anns Act. - The Deputy Commissioner will act on the advice of the Naga Council in accordance 
with the provisions of the Arms Act. 

8. Regulations. - The dUn Hills regulations and the Bengal Eastern Frontier Regulations will remain 
in force. 

9. Period of Agreement. - The Governor of Assam as the Agent of the Government of the Indian 
Union will have a special responsibility for a period of 10 years to ensure the due observance of this 
agreement, at the end of this period the Naga Council will be asked whether they require the above 
agreement to be extended for a further period or a new agreement regarding the future of the Naga 
People arrived at. 

34 Minutes of the meeting of the Assam Tribal and Excluded Areas Sub-Committee at Shillong on the 4th, 5th and 7th 

July 1947, dated 8th July 1947 at Shillong, sd. R K. Ramadhyani. In ibid., papers 60-70. 
35 Pawseyto Archer, 18.7.47, Kohima, Naga Hills, In ibid., paper 72. It was this break-away faction that, when the 
Indian government interpreted the agreement in such a way that neither autonomy nor secession could be 
considered (M. Horam, NalJl I~ttYfPry 1helast thirty)Wr! (New Delhi, 1988),p. 43), and when it became clear that the 
constituent assembly of India was unwilling to accept the agreement at all (Luithui and Haksar, Na[FlarriFile, p. 22), 
travelled to Delhi, in orderto present its case, among others, to Gandhi. The meeting was held on July 19th 1947 in 
Bhangi colony. Gandhi ensured the Nagas on India's peaceful standpoint and guaranteed them complete freedom to 
decide, including their right to independence (panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', In Vashum, Iheilung 
et al (eds.), Naf!f1S at Work, p. 89). It was on this occasion that the Nagas had to promise Gandhi that their policy 
would be one of non-violence, Interview with Yong Kong, London, July 1st 2001. In the initial phase of their 
resistance the Nagas implemented this, modelling their resistance along the lines of non-violent non-cooperation of 
the INC. 
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On 30th July Archer received a confidential memo forwarded by Pawsey and sent to him 

by Adams on 18th July, the advisor to the governor of Assam, in which he informed him that 

Nehru had congratulated Hydari on his success in the negotiations at Kohima (and Impha1), and 

that Nehru had forwarded the papers (i.e. the Nin:-Pants-AgrretrEI1t) to the constituent assembly 

and the states department, and though nothing had been decided yet, Adams was optimistic. 

Pawsey asked Archer to inform Mayangnokcha.36 This contradicted the decision of the Sub­

committee which had decided to ignore the agreement and confirms the confused state of affairs 

in which people like the Nagas had to make their decisions. In accord with that is Pawseys 

observation on the Shillong administration that, around the beginning of August, descended into 

chaos, making it unlikely to receive any orders from that direction.37 Around the same time Mills 

expressed his surprise on hearing that the Nagas were out for complete independence, and in 

putting up rumours of tribal war simply perpetuated the colonial rationale: 

My dear Bill, ... I am entirely bewildered by the announcement in the Statesman that the Nagas 

prepare to declare their independence. Surly only the Angamis want it. The Rengmas, I'm told, are 

already putting up defences against possible Angami raids - they are old enemies. Nlou ... o 

[unreadable] of bhot ... so [ditto] in G. S's Office, is convinced that the Lhotas will be raided, tOO.38 

Simultaneously, a Naga delegation had been in Delhi, trying to see Nehru, yet who referred them 

to Ramadhyani who in turn refused to amend the ninth clause of the agreement with the same 

argument as the subcommittee, i.e. that all hill tribes should be receiving the same conditions. 

Nehru seemed to have said that the agreement was between the Nagas and the Governor of 

Assam, hence only the latter was able to alter it. When on this point one Naga delegate stated that 

the Nagas then will have it their way, Nehru answered that, and now I quote Archer's notes 

" .. .India could not be split into a 100 pieces - Nagas got angry with him - Nehru said if they 

fought we all ... [ unreadable]" .39 

On the very day India achieved her independence Imti Ahba and Kumbho Angami, for 

the NNC sent communication to Hydari, following a telegram dispatched the previous day, to 

stress again that the Nagas only could be part of the Indian Union, if the NiwPcints-Agrwrmt 

was accepted with the ninth clause modified as follows: 

36 Confidential. Memo. No. 61/C, dated Kohima the 30th July, 1947. Copy of D.O. No. 973/c dt. 18.7.47 from P. F. 
Adams, Adviser to the Governor of Assam, to C R Pawsy, Deputy Commissioner, Naga Hills. In A rr:her Papers, MSS 
Eur 236178, paper 79. 
37 Pawseyto Archer, Kohima, 3.8.47. In ibid., papers 82 and 83. 
38 Mills to Archer, Lum Soh Phoh, Shillong, Assam, Aug 4th 1947. Ibid. 
39 A rr:her Papers, MSS Eur 236/79, paper 7, dated Wokha, 7th August 1947. 
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The Governor of Assam as the agent to the Government of the Indian Union will have a special 

responsibility for a period of 10 years to ensure the due observance of this agreement, at the end of 

this period the Nagas will be free to decide their own future!40 

Certainly the new version of the clause left less room for ambivalence and clearly conveyed the 

freedom to secede without naming it, and so it is not astounding that Hydari refused the 

alteration of the ninth clause of the agreement with the following wording: 

I therefore propose that the wording of the understanding reached at Kohima which I have 

scrupulously followed and the substance of which has been accepted both by the Prime Minister of 

the Indian Union and of Assam should be maintained. 

I hope the Naga Leaders will accept this position. If they do not then I am afraid we must maintain 

the status quo till they do or till the constituent Assembly passes the Constitution Act whichever is 

earlier.41 

Shortly before that, confusing the picture further, the Kohima and Kacha Nagas had declared 

their independence and left for Shillong, probably to see Hydari. The other Nagas, for the time 

being, stuck with the NwPaints-Agrrem:nt with the meaning of a ten years interim period, that, as 

we have seen, had been declined by Hydari. On the very day of Transfer of Power the Indian 

ceremonies were boycotted by the Nagas in Kohima, instead a Naga flag was hoisted by Mrs 

Kevichusa and only taken down after Pawsey had convinced her in the course of long 

negotiations. The hauling down of the Naga flag, however, triggered the angry reaction of a Naga 

crowd. The civil surgeon, obviously Indian, hoisted an Indian flag outside his house which was 

immediately hauled down by the Nagas. Naga government servants refused to take the new oaths 

of allegiance. A day earlier the Khonoma group, according to Archer, had sent out telegrams to 

declare Naga independence, and Archer was not sure whether Pawsey had intercepted them all. 

At last Archer could not find anything about the Nagas in the press. Hydari then also revised his 

former decision and declared his willingness to accept the revised form of the ninth clause but 

stated it would not convey the right to secede from the Indian union after the lapse of ten years. 

Finally, Khonoma seemed not to know, again, according to Archer, what to do after their 

declaration of independence and came round to agree to the ten years interim period 42 

Archer himself on the 15th August was in Wokha, Lhota country, where the day was just 

like every other day and everyone was busy working on the fields due to the end of the 

40 Communication from NNC (president Aliba Imti, secretary Kumbho Angamtj to governor of Assam, dated 
Kohima, 15th August 1947. Copy in A rrher Papers, MSS Eur 236/78. 
41 Extract from a letter dated 26th and 27th August, 1947 from His Excellency The Governor of Assam, copy as 
Memo. No. 6462-63/G., dated Kohima the 1st September 1947, Sdi eR Pawsey, Deputy Commissioner, Naga 
Hills. In ibid. 
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agricultural period. In general the Lhotas, according to Archer, wanted an Assam raj, since they 

expected money and prosperity from the connection with the plainS.43 The run-up to the British 

departure and the very day itself constituted a bewildering chaos in the Naga hills in respect to 

politics due to the tunnoil prevailing in the wider framework and it would be incorrect to post­

facto order it into a nice and smooth narrative arriving inevitably at the outcome. The Nagas had 

to navigate between the different and incongruent statements and acts of the following: the 

Assam government, the governor of Assam, the departing British administrators, the 

subcommittee, and the different agents at the centre (Nehru, who said one thing and then did the 

opposite; Gandhi and Rajagopalacharia, who promised them their right to self-determination, and 

other minor ones contributing to the confusion). At the same time they had to unify themselves 

and negotiate their organisation and stand for the future, and everything with no prior 

experience, and without recognising that for all Indian actors their independence would be out of 

question. 

In the ten days between August 24th and September 2nd Hydari propagated the fusion 

between hills and plains and Pawsey had set up a committee to work on a Naga constitution. 

Aliba Imti was angry about that and Nehru had announced that the CJJin Hills Regulation - that 

controlled the movements into the hills - had been ended, without consultation with local 

authorities. Archer mused it happened for party political pmposes.44 A paper dating from the 2nd 

September, and probably written by Archer's wife, described the post-Transfer of Power 

atmosphere in Kohima as tense, reiterates the boycott of celebrations, and states that though the 

group that was for complete independence was small, it included: 

... some of the most powerful personalities. It's chiefly people from Kohima and the Khonoma group 

that want it. I was ... [unreadable] when reading a few days ago on a ... [ditto] of the first siege of 

Kohima - 1871 [9?] to find that it was the Khonoma group that led the attack on the new british Raj. 

It is those same 6 villages Khonoma, Jotsoma, Mezoma, Sachema, Kigwema and Kirufena who once 

were leading the attack .. ( ... ). 

After having stated this, she commented on the rest of the Nagas: 

But the majority of Nagas although they do not go quite so far as the Khonoma group are very 

definitely wanting independence within the Union and all of them who are Court servants have 

refused to make the new oath of allegiance to the Indian Union.45 

42 A rd?er Papers, MSS Eur 236/79, papers 7 and 18, undated. 
43 Ibid., paper 8, undated. 
44 Ibid., paper 13, dated August 24 - September 2 [1947] and paper 14, undated. 
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The Urra Die (Our Home News) published by the information department of the People's 

Independence League, dating from the last days of August 1947, and probably written by 

members of the independence group that broke away from the NNC therein published a 

declaration of independence comprising the southern Nagas, including the Manipur hill and 

Cachar Nagas on August 14th and that they would negotiate to join Pakistan "on suitable 

terms.,,46 The paper quotes John Adams, Lincoln, Webster, Don Quixote and Patrick Henry on 

"liberty" and "independence" giving ample proof of the influence of western ideas. Moreover it 

is written in a colourful Christian language, and constitutes evidence that the English the Nagas 

learnt was the English of the American Baptists' bible - heavy, turgid, verbose, and metaphorical. 

Furthennore, that publication gives testimony to a split among the Nagas that happened on 13th 

August in Kohima at the NNC meeting, and somehow the anonymous author holds the 

Mokokchung group of the NNC responsible for the failure of the interim solution that had been 

projected from 19th February 1947 onwards.47 

Shortly afterwards Aliba Imti inquired with Hydari whether his refusal to modify clause 

nine was his last word 48 Three days after that Aliba Imt~ in a communication to the chainnan of 

the tribal council of the Aos, wrote that he had anticipated the resistance of the Indians towards 

the modification of the ninth clause of the agreement, and therefore he strongly advocated 

action: 

(1) Decision should be made in favour of non-cooperation with existing govt. (2) One month 

ultimatum be given to the govt. of India. (3) From the beginning of Nov. '47, the govt. servants of 

Naga people should be ready to lay down their pens.49 

The same day Aliba Imti wrote to Nehru and insisted " ... upon the recognition of our 'Claim' 

submitted to you during our New Delhi discussion",so a reminder, so to speak, to Nehru, held in 

strong words, but also expressing awareness of the fact that Nehru also had other things (the 

Nagas were aware on the occurrences in Kashmir and Punjab) to do. The "claim" Imti brought 

forward for recognition was the modification of clause nine.51 Mayangnokcha, though by then 

not a member of the NNC anymore, was informed by Aliba Imti that on 23rd September a NNC 

45 This and previous quote, In ibid., no numeration, dated Sept. 2nd. 
46 Copies of the Un-a Die (Our Home News), published by the information dept. of the People's Independence 
League. AZ/8 2847 & 3047 AZ8C [the "47" will be the year, the "8" the month, the number before the "47" the 
day of the month, the question remains what the 'AZ' is standing for], In A rr:her Papers, MSS Eur 236/78. 
47 Ibid. 
48 Aliba Imti, president, NNC to His Excellency, The Governor of Assam, Shillong, dated Kohirna, the 6th 

September 1947. In ibid., as copy to the ADC Mokokchung for information. 
49 Aliba Imti, president, NNC to chairman, tribal council, dated Kohima the 9th Sept. '47. In ibid. 
50 Aliba Imti, president, NNC to Pundit J awaharlal Nehru, The Prime Minister of Indian Union, dated Kohima the 
9th Sept. '47. In ibid., as copy to the SDO Mokokchung for information. 
5! Ibid. 
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meeting was due. Pawsey and Archer had argued against working out the details of an agreement 

with the governor of Assam during a general meeting.52 Consequently, four days later we come 

across a communication signed by four Aos, one Gang, and one Sangtam, to Ahba Imti, stating 

they would not be able to attend the meeting, and suggesting the set-up of a small committee that 

in consultation with the DC should work out such an agreement and the legislation based upon 

it, and finally that the draft that was to be arrived at in this way should be presented to the NNC 

for approvaP3 It seems that the British officer's influence was stronger among the Aos and their 

neighbours in the Mokokchung subdivision. However, this suggestion was adopted at the NNC­

meeting at Kohirna on 23rd - 25th September as point two of the agenda, and the members 

elected. Point one requested all tribal councils to give their opinion on what to do vis-a-vis the 

Indian government and its reluctance to concede the Naga's demand. Point three to approach the 

DC to leave the collecting of the taxes to the NNC for the ongoing year, point four that" ... the 

Gurkha and other domiciled people ... " could not be included at that stage, and therefore had to 

be represented by the NNC for the moment; point five the adoption of an resolution of the 

Dimapur tribal union to keep the Dimapur area inside the Naga hills; point six about the 

necessity for the presence of the members; and finally point seven on the instantaneous 

admittance of the Konyak tribal council into the NNC via its representatives Jugai and Sayong 

for the Lower Konyaks and Zulumung for the Upper Konyaks. Resolved was also that the next 

meeting was to be held in Wokha on 22nd October 1947.54 From a paper, written by a proponent 

for immediate independence after the above meeting, we gain an understanding on the 

composition of the NNC - representatives of eight tribes: 7 Aos, 4 Semas, 3 Lhotas, 7 Angamis, 

1 Chang, 2 Sangtams, 3 Zernis, and 2 Rengmas - 29 in total, Angamis, Aos, Semas, and Lothas 

represented the strongest. It seemed, however, that the NNC meeting at Kohima had failed to 

make a quorum, since only five members had attended (in sharp contrast to the public that 

attended in considerable numbers and left disappointed). The author accused the Aos for 

wanting to leave everything to the DC, and the NNC in general for having no policy worth the 

name. Between the break-away group, demanding complete independence, and the NNC, despite 

their conflicting standpoints, continued to be interaction, mutual debate and influence, a process 

of bringing the other around or finding a common line. Also we can comprehend from this paper 

that the educated Nagas were conscious about the wider developments, the statements in the 

Indian newspapers assuring the existence of one whole undivided India, the ones made in the 

constituent assembly on the impossibility of retaining any restrictions on movement inside the 

52 Mayangnokcha to Archer, dated Mokokchung, 15th September 1947. In ibid. 
53 From the members [of the NNC probably] Imkongmeren Ao, Imtisosang Ao, Yajenlemba Ao, Subongnoklu Ao, 
Imlongchang, and Hopongki Sangdem, dated Mokokchung, the 19th September 1947. In ibid. 
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Indian union (with reference to the Northeast), on the Lushais' (the later Mizos) decision to join 

Burma and the governor of Assam's reaction stating that the Lushais were part of the Indian 

union, were not free either to join Pakistan nor Burma, could be granted as much autonomy as 

they could manage, had first to bring their house in order, that they could not secede after ten 

years, and had to stay within India. The Lushais' reaction seemed to have been disenchantment, 

since they had thought they really were free to choose, or at least, that was how they had 

understood the subcommittee's assurances. The author of the paper stated that the Nagas' 

position was not different from the one of the Lushais', and mentioned that the members of the 

NNCs delegation to Delhi were told by the responsible officers in the external affairs 

department that the Nagas could not be granted any special status apart from that conceded to 

other tribes. Thereupon the author challenged the NNC by suggesting putting the decision to the 

Naga people in the form of a referendum, and continued confidently: "We know definitely that 

people in the villages are very angry and they will never agree to join India." And he ended with 

what he titled as "First Sign", a piece of news that said that Bardoloi and Nehru had agreed to 

settle Punjab refugees in the Dimapur area.55 Kumbho Angami thus strongly expressed his 

protest towards the premier of Assam Bardoloi to settle refugees on Naga land, reminded him 

that this would nul counter to the NimPoints-Agrrerrmt and requested him to call off the 

scheme.56 

More than a month later, at the beginning of November, the NNC dispatched an 

Ultirrutum to the Gmern:mmt if India that was addressed to Nehru. This paper gives us an important 

contemporaneous recapitulation of recent developments from the NNCs point of view. It said 

the NNC had submitted on 19th February 1947 to GOI a memo requesting an interim solution of 

ten years with option to secede after ten years. Yet, there had been no reply, and after the lapse of 

three months they re-sent the memo with further details on the envisioned scheme, in essence 

demanding autonomy plus the option for independence after the interim had passed. The same 

memo was also submitted to the subcommittee with whom the NNC met on 20th May 1947. Yet 

the subcommittee had its own scheme and was not willing to go beyond it, hence the NNC 

rejected it. This resulted in the governor of Assam Hydari journeying to the Naga hills to 

negotiate with the NNC and the outcome was the NimPoints-Agrrenwt, sans the amendment 

granting the right to secede after ten years, and thus not agreed on unanimously by all Nagas. A 

minority still wanted to have this amendment made, and finally the NNC decided that it would 

54 Resolutions passed in the N.N.C. Meeting at Kohima on 23 - 25 Sept 1947, Secretary NNC, Kumbho Angami. In 
ibid. 
ss Copy of the Urra Die (Our Home News), published by the infonnation dept. of the People's Independence 
League. This time no date was given, but surely it must have been written shortly after the September meeting of the 
NNC. In ibid. 
56 Letter from Kumbho Angami to The Premier of Assam, Shillong, dated Kohima, 29.9.1947. In ibid. 
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have what in the end had already been the original demand Since then the NNC has been 

threatened, and when in Delhi asked Nehru for this amendment, received a disappointing 

treatment. This having been so, the document concludes, the NNC had no choice but to issue an 

ultimatum of 30 days to GOI, after which the Nagas would stop cooperating with India and 

would secede from the Indian union on 6th December 1947.57 Aliba Imti then infonned the tribal 

councils that until an answer was received by GOI, people should be forbidden from working on 

tea-plantations or similar plains-holdings, and that Nagas living outside the Naga hills should be 

kept infonned of the situation and were called upon to follow closely the developments between 

the Nagas and GOI.58 Eleven days later an even more urgent telegram left the NNC office: 

National Q)uncil sits 26 Kohima. All members and public leaders must attend without fail. Situation 

vexycritical. Meeting may last days. SdlKumbho.59 

By the beginning of December 1947 the NNC seemed to have agreed on December 31 SI as the 

ultimatum to leave the Indian union.60 

Another meeting of the NNC was scheduled for the 281h December 1947.61 From the 

notes Archer made on the communication he had received from Mayangnokcha we gather that 

he suspected that the meeting was about the "constitutional proposals" and his opinion that 

those whom he called "moderate leaders", and we may assume that these were the ones who 

were in favour of autonomy only, were in a difficult position as long as there were no funds 

arriving, we may assume from the centre.62 Pawsey had already suspected at the beginning of 

November that there would be no funds for Tuensang, i.e. the tribal areas, since the centre was 

far too busy with Punjab and Kashmir.63 

In the meantime the governor of Assam assured the Nagas that the proposals to the 

constitutional assembly would be drafted in cooperation with the Nagas, and that a draft should 

57 Ultimatum to the Government of India, To Jawaharlal Nehru, Prime Minister, Indian Union, from T. Aliba Imti, 
president & Kumbho Angami, secretary, on behalf of the NNC, dated Kohima, 4th November 1947. In 
LlPJ/7/10635. 
58 Memo No. /83/NNC, Urgent, Subject: Precautionary Measures. Office of the Naga National Council, Kohima, 
Naga Hills, Assam, 9/11/1947, T. Aliba Imti, President, NNC InA n:Ixr Papers, MSS Eur 236/78. 
59 Copy of telegram from the Secretary, NNC to the Cllairman, Mokokchung Central Council. Date of dispatch: 
20.11.47 Date of receipt: 21.11.47. In ibid. 
60 A rr:her Papers, MSS Eur 236/79, paper 4, dated Chara1i, 2nd and 3rd December 1947. 
61 Memo No._ Office of the Naga National Council, Head Office, Kohima, dated, the 21st. Dec. 1947, Aliba Imti, 
President. InA rr:her Papers, MSS Eur 236/78. . .. . 
62 Communication from Mayangnokcha to Archer, dated 23.12.47, Wl~ the a:uched telegram slgne? by Aliba !mtI, 
in A rr:her Papers, MSS Eur 236/76. From the telegram we learn that copies of It were sent to the charrmen of tnbes of 
the Ao, Sema, Lhota, Sangtam, Chang, and Konyak tribal councils with the request. to inform the divisional 
members. Mayangnokcha himself was chairman of the Mokokchung central council. 
63 Pawseyto Archer, dated Kohima 5th November 1947, In ibid. 
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be ready by 20th January 1948.64 Six months later, on June 22nd 1948, a delegation of Nagas asked 

Hydari if the agreement still was valid and would be implemented. Thereupon Hydari and 

Bardoloi gave them written assurances that this never had been put into question.65 Contrary to 

these assurances, the Assamese and Indians continued to build up their administration,66 and by 

November 9th 1949 the chief minister of Assam, Gopinath Bordoloi, infonned a NNGdelegation 

that GOI never had accepted the Hydari-agreement. This was taken by the NNC as a betrayal. 

Those inside the NNC, who had hitherto favoured an interim solution, now lost ground, and a 

clear majority now swayed towards immediate independence.67 Alemchimba sees the NNC at this 

point unanimously behind the demand for independence.68 

6.3 The Takeover 

In the previous chapter we already noted the scant documentation of events from 1948 to 1955, 

when finally regular fighting had started. At least for the central government the Naga hills did 

not pose a problem till 1955. Further, discussions in the Lde SaliJa on 25th May 1951 on 

communications in the Naga hills supports statements made by two of my interviewees that in 

the initial post-independence time nothing much had changed in the Naga hills, and rather that 

the Nagas were administrating themselves for the time being.69 For although Assam was now in 

charge of administering the NlID and the NHfA by the governor of Assam as agent of the 

president of India, neither had initially the means nor the manpower to effectively implement the 

duty going along with the office. So the build-up of the Assamese administration effectively 

started in 1950 or after. Then, however, the massive influx of foreigners that looked down on the 

Nagas as savages further aggrieved the Nagas and only strengthened their resolve to be 

independent. Only administrators who could be spared elsewhere were sent into the Naga hills, 

and those in turn tried to get reposted to the plains as fast as they could. The attempted 

incoIporation of the people was accompanied by the attempted penetration of the land with the 

help of a massive material onslaught of build-up in infrastructure. The Tim:s saw this in line with 

other post-colonial states: 

Like other newly independent countries, India was very keen to consolidate her territory and bring it 

under unifonn administration. From Delhi, thousands of miles away, and from not-so-distant 

Shillong, administrators were dispatched to the land of the Nagas, where the British had mostly left 

64 Office of the adviser to His Excellency the governor of Assam for tribal areas & states, Walker, to W. G. Archer, 
ADC, Mokokchlli'g, Naga Hills, dated Camp Margherita, the 26th Dec. '47. In A rrkr Papers, MSS Eur 236/78. 
65 Yonuo, The Risirrg, Nag1S, p. 177. 
66 Luithui &Haksar, Nag:dardFile, p. 23 
67 Panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', p. 89. 
68 Alemchimba,A BrU{HistarimlAa:rxmtifNafFlarrl, p. 174. 
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the tribes to look after themselves. The task of the administrators (who had no knowledge of tribal 

societ0 was to raise the primitive Nagas to the level of the Indians, so that they could enjoy the same 

benefits as other citizens of the country. This miracle of transformation was to be accomplished as 

soon as possible so that the Nagas would cease to feel different from the Indians and would give up 

their demand for a separate homeland.70 

Othetwise infonnation abounds that the Nagas felt aggrieved by the take-over of the Assam state 

administration and its officials.71 

Possibly due to strategic reasons GOI made an effort to install itself immediately in the 

hitherto independent areas. Thus, by February 1949 the chiefs of what they called "Free 

Nagaland" sent via Kohima a letter to the governor general of India (and to the United Nations 

Organisation (UNO)). This, and the subsequent document, furnishes us with crucial insights into 

the stand of the Nagas in the former unadministered part of the Naga hills in the immediate post­

Transfer of Power period, and particulars about the move of India's state agents into this area. 

Therein the chiefs state being the descendants of the villages Khukishe and Khetoi, occupying an 

area " ... between the Tizii river and Patkoi Hills or Saramati ... ", a territory never included in the 

administered part of the Naga hills and self-ruling all along, without any interference even by the 

British. They stressed their sovereignty stemming from them having always looked after their 

own security and protection, of being utterly democratic, and wishing to be on friendly terms 

with the Indian Union, but that they" ... strongly object the encroachment of our sovereign right 

and annexation of our land in any form at any time." India put up military bases in their territory 

and had begun to demand tax, forced labour and imposed fines. The letter reiterated the desire of 

the chiefs to be on amicable terms with India, but that they were worried about the plan to 

occupy their land which had always been independent. The concluding paragraphs called for a 

stop of this encroachment and offered negotiations: 

Therefore, we urge Your Excellency to look into the matter immediately and stop all the designs of 

control and annexation of our Free and Independent Territory, so that we may not be unnecessarily 

dragged into a conflict, which will ruin us and will not make India a nation any more stronger. 

For further discussion of this very important matter if the Indian Government finds it 

necessary, we hope the Indian Government would be pleased to fix a time as to when an Ambassador 

69 Lde Sa/::ha DeI::uu5, Vo!. 8, 1951, 26.5., Columns 4646-4647; Interview with Mr. Yong Kong, London, 7.8.2001 and 
with Mrs. Adino Phizo and Mr. Kevilevor Phizo, London, 19.7.2001. 
70 Special correspondent, The Tims, 28.10.1958. 
71 Rawle Knox, 'Nagaland To-day: Why Nehru Cannot "Free" !'fill Tri~~men', .New DeJ?i, Jan. ~, The Cb.;~, Jan. 
8, 1961. The best and most competent account is .given ?~ Nru: RustomJ~ I~ Fronl1ers! pasSlffi. RustomJl, a 
Parsi, and previously DC in Assam was part of this administration as adVISer on tnbal questIOns. He served under 
nine different governors. 
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from Free Nagaland would be welcomed by the Indian Government to meet preferably in Shillong as 

it would be inconvenient for our people to come so far to New DelhiJ2 

Nearly nine month later the chiefs of "Free Nagaland" sent anew a memorandum to the general 

secretary of the UNO (with a copy to the British chief delegate to the UNO and possibly also 

one to the president of the USA). Therein, in an urgent tone, they asked for help, being 

convinced of facing an imminent Indian invasion of their country, and thus " ... appealed to reason 

rather than to force ... ". The memorandum repeated their claim of always having been 

independent and that they intended to remain so, and, that they wished for cordial relations with 

the Indian Union. Describing their country as being situated between China, Burma, and India, 

they accused the latter "Following close upon the attainment by India also of 

independence ... "(the "also" alluding to their own consistent independence in contrast to India's 

long dependence) to secretly engaging in subjugating their country and simultaneously keeping it 

concealed from the other two neighbouring countries. Indian officials ostensibly had begun to 

demand " ... tributes or taxes ... " from the population of this land. Thereupon the Nagas had 

lodged a formal complaint " ... to ascertain whether the officials were indeed acting on the orders 

of their Government or were, as was the general suspicion, attempting to collect money for their 

own personal pockets." The suspicion was unjustified and confirmed was India's aspiration for 

occupation both by letters from the GOI demanding taxes and the acknowledgement of its 

suzerainty. Moreover "These demands were accompanied with threats that India would not 

hesitate to use force in the event of our non-compliance with their orders." The threat of 

invasion by military force had been conveyed openly to the Nagas by Indian officials, and, so the 

memorandum continues, they were conscious about the fact that they could not stand up to the 

military might of India, and hence were asking the UNO" .. .for rescue." They stressed again their 

own age-old tradition of independence in contrast to India's long history as " ... slave country ... " 

and that though they were " ... poor and backward ... " and without " ... representations in 

international affairs ... " they intended to remain sovereign, 

... or else we should have become province within the Republic of Burma, our immediate eastern 

neighbour, kith and kin with whose people we are. Again, we have China to our North whence came 

our ancestors and from whom we inherit our treasured culture and tradition. Most important of all are 

the Nagas in Naga Hills whose struggle for freedom from India's domination had, naturally, our 

whole hearted sympathy. Mention must be made to the fact that these Nagas are our own people 

though not independent like us. Our consistent policy is the establishment of a free, sovereign Naga 

State in which these Nagas shall also have a share provided they of their own free will elect to severe 

72 Letter from Khetoi, Kukishe HQ., Free Nagaland, P. O. Kohima, Naga Hills, to His Excellency, the Governor 
General of India, New Delhi, dated February, the 16th, 1949. In UP]/7/10635. 



259 

their present administrative relations with India and take part in the Naga Union Government. It 

must, however, be clearly understood that any effort on the part of these Nagas for their own freedom 

is entirely of their own initiative and we have not the slightest desire to interfere in such an issue in the 

deciding of which their own free will must prevail?3 

Expression is here given to the feeling of relatedness among the Nagas of "Free Nagaland" to 

those in the Naga hills formerly under the raj, and to Burma and China, on grounds of descent, 

ongoing social and cultural relatedness, a feeling of affinity that is much later granted paramount 

importance in their resistance towards the Indian state by Sanjoy Hazarika.74 

Of utmost significance was also Zaphu Angami Phizo who, in June 1946, returned to 

Nagaland, and later on would become the "voice of the Nagas"?5 Even when he had already 

been for a long time in exile in London, he remained for most of the Nagas, as long as he was 

alive, their only leader. Described as "Moses of his people" or "father of Naga nationalism", he 

unified the Nagas, who beforehand had been divided into clans and tribes, and he " ... spelt out 

loud and clear what was in the heart of many Nagas, namely, an independent Naga nation."76 

Phizo, born in Khonoma, because of anti-British statements was sent into an exile of his choice. 

He went to Rangoon. Phizo was made to understand that he only could return after the British 

left the Naga hills. When in 1942 the Japanese army and Subhas Chandra Bose's Indian National 

Anny (INA) marched into Burma, the Japanese asked Phizo and his brother whether they wanted 

to cooperate with them, in return for Naga independence. Phizo agreed and consequently was 

admitted into the INA 77 After the Japanese had been driven out of Burma Phizo became a 

British prisoner of war, and following his release in 1946, he returned to Kohima, where T. 

73 From Khukishe HQ., Free Nagaland, to the Secretary General, UNO, Lake Success, New York, USA, dated 
November 1949, signed by Khetoi, chief of Khukishe; Khevishe, chief of Tsiiko and Vihoto, chief of Hoshepu. In 
LlP]/7/10635. 
74 Painting it in an imaginative language: 

The jungles of Southeast Asia sweep down from Bhutan and Arunachal Pradesh across seven other 
nations. Bangladesh, Myanmar, Thailand, Laos, Kampuchea, Malaysia, and Vietnam - spanning 
political boundaries, irreverential even of physical frontiers. Ethnic coalitions, oral traditions and 
lifestyles based on respect for nature have mattered more in these regions than frontiers. Here men 
and women, with common origins but different nationalities, share a racial, historic, anthropological 
and linguistic kinship with each other that is more vital that their links with the mainstream political 
centres, especially at Delhi, Dhaka and Rangoon. 

It is this affinity that has played a role in the unrest and insurgencies that have long troubled the 
Northeast of India. The embattled communities have been bonded by suffering and opposition to the 
brutality of government crackdowns against militancy and revolts. 

Affinity and Identity. These, more than any other factors, represented the principal compulsions that 
triggered the Naga, Mw, Meitei, Tripuri and Assamese affirmation of separateness from the non­
Mongolian communities that dominate the Indian subcontinent. 

Sanjoy Hazarika, Stra1lPS in the Mist: T ak if War and Peace fromlrriia's N OI'th!tst (New Delhi, 1995), p. XVI. 
75 Horam, Naff1- In;urwry, p. 45. 
76 Ibid. To underestimate Phizo's role, for Aosenba, is to fail to comprehend Naga reality, see Aosenba, The NalP 
R5istarx:e M memmt: Pmpeas if Peace arriA rmxi Carf/ia (New Delhi, 2001), pp. III -IV. 
77 Nrrmal Nibedon, Nag:dard: The Nilfot if the Guerrillas (New Delhi, 1983), pp. 23-34. 
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Sakhrie introduced him into the NNC Sakhrie then was the general secretary of the NNC, came 

from the same khel of Khonoma as phizo?8 The khel was that of Merhema, having a long 

tradition of a dominant position in the Naga hills as well as of resistance against outside forces.79 

In 1948 Phizo withdrew from the NNC and founded the People's Independence League 

(PIL). He did this to consolidate his position as a leader, and to push the demand for a sovereign 

Nagaland that was to include the NHD, the Tuensang frontier area, but also all the other Naga­

inhabited areas of India and Burma.8o To build up a national consciousness, Phizo and his staff 

incessantly toured the Naga Hills, organised the youth in the Naga Youth Movement (NYM) and 

the women in the Naga Women's Society (NWS). In every village people from all walks of life 

started party cells, to support the party, and to which the villagers could come and discuss with 

the party workers. The councils of all levels (village, mountain chain or tribe) backed the party.81 

The same year Phizo was detained on grounds of anti-Indian subversive activities, and on his 

release unanimously elected President of the NNC on December 11th 1950.82 Following his 

election he filled most of the important positions in the NNC with his own people from the 

PIL.83 

As early as November 22nd 1948 Phizo, in a letter that he wrote in jail in Calcutta to the 

Indian governor general Rajagopalacharia, expressed his concerns that the repressive Indian 

policy in the Naga hills was bound to fail " ... my turbulent Naga people cannot be frightened into 

submission."84 Phizo perceived the ISF's conduct as intended provocation to give GOI a pretext 

at hand to declare a state of emergency that would result in military rule. The Nagas, however, 

would answer with non-violent resistance.8s 

In 1950 Phizo met Nehru and informed him about the decision of the Nagas not to join 

the Indian union. Nehru rejected this claim, and at the same time began to claim the NNC only 

represented a small western influenced minority, the overwhelming majority of the Nagas, 

however, decisively wanted to be part of the Indian Union. This brought Phizo to the decision to 

carry out a plebiscite.86 In a letter to the Indian president, dated January 1't 1951, Phizo invited 

78 Nibedon, NagpJarrl: The NiiJt if the Guerrillas, p. 57. Nibedon saw Sakhrie as the strategic head of the NN~ and as 
the visionary of the Nagas. (ibid., pp. 57 and 60). Sakhrie later was murdered and Phizo was held responsible for 
ordering his murder. Sakhrie was against armed resistance. 
79 See Pieter Steyn, Zapuphizo: V DUe if the NafPS (London, 2002). Steyn, though mostly not giving his sources, must 
have moved through the Naga hills with Angami Nagas in the course of World War Two operations, and part of his 
book is a recollection of oral history narrated on these occasions. 
80 Horam, NaffllnsurwrJ, p. 59. 
81 Ibid. 
82 Panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', p. 89. 
83 Yonuo, The Risil'f, NafPS, p. 201. 
84 Phizo, 'A Letter from Jail', pp. 52-53. 
85 Ibid., p. 53. 
86 Luithui and Haksar, NagplarrlFiJe, p. 24. 
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the Indian government to send observers to monitor the planned plebiscite.87 Therein Phizo also 

reiterated the excesses of the ISF, claiming they" ... slaughter our nationals in cold blood."88 GOI 

ignored the invitation, the plebiscite, however, was started on May 16th 1951, and brought to an 

end in August of the same year.89 It was carried out by the two youth organisations NYM and 

NWS, touring all villages. Voting was mostly by thumb-print, considered as being more 

meaningful and credible, and therefore meant to pre-empt possible accusations of fraud.90 The 

plebiscite resulted in 99 per cent assent in favour of independence, weighed several kilograms and 

was sent to the Indian president.91 GOI, in the end, refused to recognise the result, for Phizo and 

the NNC, however, it presented an unequivocal confinnation of their policy and a strong 

mandate for their mission.92 In December 1951 a delegation of the NNC confronted Nehru with 

the result of the plebiscite. Nehru called the demand for independence absurd and warned the 

delegation about the possible violent result of their policy.93 

The plebiscite showed for the first time the organising capacity of the NNC, which it 

proved again during the general election of 1952/4 resulting in a total boycott: 

... the government went ahead with the election arrangements and the entire election paraphernalia was 

made ready, electoral rolls were prepared, polling booths were set up, ballot boxes were made and 

Returning Officers were stationed. Nagas, on the other hand, were indifferent to the going-on and went 

about their daily work with studied calm and the whole election show proved to be a mockery as a result 

of the election that never was.95 

On March 11th 1952 again a delegation of the NNC, led by Phizo, set out to see Nehru, who then 

lost his composure, shouting at the Nagas that they would never get their own state. The NNC 

thereon told Nehru that they were determined to continue their fight for independence through 

non-violent means, following the examples of Gandhi and Christ.96 

The new chief minister of Assam Bishnuram Medhi openly propagated the Assamisation 

of all minorities, if necessary by force,97 and he had herein the full support of the Indian foreign 

87 Z. A Phizo, 'A Letter to the President of India', In Luithui and Haksar, pp. 57-60, p. 57. 
88 Ibid., p. 60. 
89 Chaube, HillPditUs inNartbEastlrxlia, p. 108. 
90 Yonuo, The Risirfi!, Nagj1S, p. 202. 
91 Chaube, HillPditUs in NartbEastlrxlia, p. 108. 
92 Yonuo, The Risirfi!, Nagj1S, p. 202. 
93 Alemchimba,A BrU{HistoricalAa:rxmtc{Naffdand, p. 174. 
94 Chaube, Hill PditUs in NartbEastlrdia, p. 108. 
95 Horam, Nafft InstIYfF'¥Y, p. 50. 
96 Yonuo, The Risirfi!, Nagj1S, p. 204. Nehru's statement at that occasion became infamous among the Nagas: "Whether 
heaven falls or India goes to pieces and blood runs re~ in the country, I don't care. ~ether I an:! here or for that 
matter any other body comes in, I don't care. Nagas will not be allowed to become mdependent. Kaka D. Iralu, 
Nagplandandlniia: The Blaxiard the Tears, (no publishing place mentioned, 2000), p. 80. 
97 Rustomji described Medhi as" ... shrewd, narrow-minded and parochially Assamese." Rustomji,IrrperiJ/«lFrontiers, 
p.36. 
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rninistry.98 Medhi's attitude towards mmontles was well-known throughout the hills, 

consequently, during his visit to Mokokchung in 1950 he was received by demonstrations.99 

In the aftermath of the 1952 elections boycott, following the last meeting with Nehru, the 

Nagas started their civil disobedience campaign; they refused to pay taxes, the ~as returned 

their red coats - signs of their official function; government seIVants left their offices and 

students their schools.lOO To the Assam administration this came equal to an open rebellion, and 

it reacted with a massive deployment of armed forces into the Naga hills, convinced, according to 

the insider Rustomji, that these "savages" would only understand the language of force.10l 

On October 18th of the same year, following reports that the Assam police had tortured a 

Naga-boy to death, a demonstration was staged in Kohima, in the course of which one 

demonstrator was overrun by an Indian police officer and the till then peaceful demonstration 

took a violent turn. During the following fighting a highly respected Angami judge, who intended 

to arbitrate, was shot and killed 102 

Consequently the atmosphere was already heated between the Nagas and the government 

when Nehru and his Burmese colleague Thankin UNu visited Kohima on the 30th March 1953. 

Yet this was exactly why the Nagas welcomed the visit. Representatives of all tribal councils and 

other leading personalities from all over the Naga hills came to Kohima. They saw it as a 

favourable opportunity to convey to Nehru their unanimous desire for freedom and drew up a 

memorandum. 103 The then DC of the NHD Barkat~ however, did not allow them to present it to 

Nehru, or even to utter anything during the visit, they should rather be quiet and listen to what 

the two Premiers had to say.l04 The Nagas assumed that Barkati's orders were Nehrus', so they 

left the place, chosen for the visit, at exactly the moment when Nehru and U Nu appeared 

Furthermore, as sign of their disapproval, the Nagas slapped their backs ides while leaving.los 

Nehru was furious and held Medhi responsible for that fiasco, who in turn sacked Barkati on the 

spot.106 Thereafter the Indian government decided to give Medhi a free hand and warrants were 

issued to arrest eight NNG leaders.l07 Thereupon nearly the whole leadership of the NNC went 

underground, for the time being, and the Assam Police (AP) shortly afterwards started to raid 

one village after the other.108 The number of the randomly arrested, of the tortured and the 

98 Nibedon, Naf!j1ianJ.· The Niinifthe Guerrillas, pp. 54-56. 
99 Alemchimba, A BrU{HistaricalAamntifNaf!j1iarrl, p. 175. 
100 Panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', p. 89. 
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102 Alemchimba, A BrU{HistaricalAamntifNaf!j1iarrl, p. 180. 
103 Ibid. 
104 Yonuo, TheRisi~ Na[pS, p. 204. 
105 Nibedon, Naf!j1iarrl: The Niin if the Guerrillas, p. 48. 
106 Yonuo, The Rising Na[pS, p. 205. 
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108 Yonuo, The Rising Na[pS, p. 205. 
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sexually harassed and raped women went up. 100 More and more AP units were moved into the 

Naga hills,l1O and once in the country, they forced the population at gunpoint to cany their 

equipment, a practice legalised by the Assamese government in September 1953.111 

All authors agree about the consequences of the police operations: for Alemchimba they 

were a confirmation of the NNGpropaganda.l12 Panmei,113 Luithui and Haksar l4 and Horam115 

see in them the reason why so many went underground and why the Nagas now once and for all 

developed" ... a burning resentment against India and Indians ... " .116 

One of the attempts to defuse the situation was the Naga goodwill mission to Assam 

(NGM). The Nagas hereby accepted an invitation of the then president of the Assam Pradesh 

congress committee (APcq, Bimala Prasad Chaliha. The NGM travelled from November 30th to 

December 15th 1953 through Assam's bigger towns. Its 12 members came from the Naga 

women's federation, the women's association, the different local councils and from the NNC 117 

From its report we learn about the mood in Assam towards the Nagas, as well as about the 

situation in Nagaland from the perspective of its members. It said that although the APcc, under 

the leadership Chalihas, was positively inclined towards the Nagas, it nevertheless did not accept 

their demand for an independent state. The Praja Socialist party seemed not yet decided, but 

from the Bolshevik party of Assam the Nagas hoped to get support, despite ideological 

differences.118 The Communist party of Assam was categorically against Naga sovereignty, and 

the Hindu Mahasabha Assam branch rejected the demand of the Nagas and called upon the 

Indian government to immediately start a programme for their Hinduisation.119 

The Indian press portrayed the Nagas as puppets of a foreign conspiracy, described the 

land of the Nagas as an integral part of India, and called the endeavours for independence as 

being separatist and anti-Indian. The resultant problem was an internal matter for India, and the 

population in general believed the press in this. They were convinced that the Nagas had to be 

subjugated and tamed, in order to then adopt them into their civilised society. This made law and 

order measures necessary, due to the primitiveness of the Nagas. The Indian politicians portrayed 

the Nagas as backward head-hunters and even educated Indians believed the Nagas to be 

savages, devoid of reason, cannibals, and denied that they were human and the possibility of 
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110 Yonuo, The Risirg Nagps, p. 205. 
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having a political consciousness. Therewith they implied, that the British and the missionaries 

were behind the Naga's demand.120 

The members of the NGM were warned that there existed a strong tendency inside 

Assamese politics to declare a state of emergency in the NHD, in order to break the resistance of 

the Nagas before any news of that could come to be known by the outside world. This was 

intended to be achieved by the Indian government by terrorising the village populations and it 

was believed it could be successful without necessarily having to apprehend the leaders of the 

Nagas. l21 This was to happen after the visit of the Indian president, scheduled for the middle of 

February 1954. The Nagas had to expect mass-imprisonment and a bloodbath, exceeding by far 

everything which was experienced until then. The report mentioned two newspaper articles from 

December, 3rd 1953, in which Bishnuram Medhi ruled out every possibility of independence for 

the Nagas. Medhi saw only a handful of Orristian Nagas behind the demand for independence 

who had been incited by missionaries and the British. He refused to talk to the NNC and called 

for an iron fist policy.122 It was well-known in the political circles of Assam, according to the 

report, that Medhi just waited to get a free hand for sending the anny into the NHD.123 

The situation in the NHD, already from September 1953 onwards, had been 

characterised by the Faruxi Labacr Regulatioo (issued in September 1953), the introduction of the 

Standing Order from October 1953, that both took the jurisdiction out of the hands of the local 

councils; in new emergency laws; in thefts and looting committed by ISF of the houses, gardens, 

fields and firewood of the Nagas; in the treatment of the Nagas by the ISF; in the disrespect 

towards Naga traditions and religions; in raids on villages and the terrorising of the population; in 

the tearing down of house roofs, and the peeling of the bark from the trees, in order to kill them; 

in the torture of detainees, and the encouragement by the authorities to do so; and finally, in the 

order to the ISF to rape Naga women when- and where-ever possible.124 

By autumn 1953 the Naga population had rallied behind the NNC, and the civil 

administration had collapsed.125 By 1954 the underground had spread into the Tuensang frontier 

division (TFD).126 India had already sent troops into this previously unadministered area in 1948, 

in order to build up its administration. The Nagas who were living there saw that as an 

invasion.127 So it is not surprising that the propaganda of the NNC fell on fertile ground there. 

Phizo tried to win over the tribes and their chiefs of the TFD - the Konyak, Chang, Phom und 

120 Ibid., pp. 78-80. 
121 Ibid., p. 78. 
122 Ibid., p. 86. 
123 Ibid., p. 90. 
124 Ibid., pp. 91-92. 
125 Parunei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', p. 90. 
126 Aosenba, The Na[p R£sistarre M merrmt: ~ if Peace aniA nnri 0Jrflia, p. 50. 
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Yimchunger - for the NNC On September 18th 1954 he proclaimed "The People's Souvereign 

Republic of Free Nagaland", with Hongking, as president. According to Nibedon, this 

government had the full suppon of the population of the 1FD.128 

In 1954 the Assam Rifles (AR) began to undenake comprehensive military operations in 

Tuensang. The paramilitaries used village rivalries129 to ponray themselves as ordering forces and 

the whole affair an atavistic tribal war. On? of July 1954 a contingent of AR surrounded the 

village of Chingmei and opened fire: 31 inhabitants survived with bullet wounds, the rest were 

killed, among them old people and children. On November 15th AR-units raided the village of 

Yingpang, killing 60 men, women and children. Twelve days later the village Chingmei was 

bombarded again and this time completely destroyed.130 In March 1955 units of the AR were 

attacked in the lFD, as retribution for the destruction of villages in the Aghueto area. On 20th 

July 1955 a state of emergency was imposed in the 1FD.131 

At this time the whole leadership of the NNC had resurfaced and was no longer 

underground, and denied having anything to do with the unrest. On August 15th 1955 phizo and 

other NNGmembers met Medhi in Shillong. They called upon the government to stop the 

fighting and handed over a declaration in which the NNC once more confirmed their 

commitment to non-violence.132 The ISF brought the situation in the lFD under control,133 for 

the time being at least. 

At the beginning of 1955 a state of emergency was also imposed on the Mokokchung 

sub-district.134 According to Yonuo a NNGdelegation met again with Medhi in October 1955, to 

discuss the possibility of a peaceful solution, yet with no result since Medhi was determined to 

solve this by force. 135 If this is correct, then this meeting would have taken place after regular 

fighting had already staned, and considerable acts of violence had already been meted out.136 

January 1956 marks the beginning of widespread armed conflict, and on January 31st of 

the same year a state of emergency was imposed on the whole of the Naga hills.137 Nibedon saw 

the reasons for the uprising in the conduct of the AP- and AR-units, who had been " ... on a 

127 Yonuo, The Risi7f5 NalPS, p. 211. As confinned by the further above mentioned and partially quoted documents 
originating from there. 
128 Nibedon, NawJand: The NiFft if the Guerrillas, p. 49. "Hongking" means "Get out" in Chang language, see 
Aosenba, The Nal!flRfSistarr£Mme:nrnt, p. 50. Phizo had been to Tuensang already from late 1952 onwards, and 
enjoyed a strong standing among the tribes there, see Steyn, Zapuphiza· Voi.re if the NalPS, pp. 86-87. Thus it is clear 
that if there was a president of this government, it was Phizo. See also ibid., p. 94. 
129 Aosenba, The N al!fl RfSistarre M GlJ!11'1!f1t, pp. 50-51. 
130 Luithui and Haksar, NafjliarriFile, pp. 26-27. See also Aosenba, The Na[pResistarr£Mme:nrnt, p. 5I. 
131 Y onuo, The Risi7f5 N alPS, p. 213. 
132 Ibid. and Aosenba, The Na[p Resistarre Mme:nrnt, p. 52. 
133 Luithui and Haksar, NafjliarriFile, p. 27. 
134 Neville Maxwell, Irriia arri the NalPS (London, 1973), p. lI. 
135 Yonuo, The Risi7f5 NalPS, p. 214. 
136 See the beginning of the following sub-chapter and Kaka D. Iralu, NawJarriarrilmia: The Blaxlarri the Tears, pp. 
86-89. 
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rampage ... ,,138 and had spread terror.139 In this way they drove elite and the mass of the Nagas 

alike,l40 into armed res istance. 141 The armed forces of the Nagas soon reached a strength of 

approximately 15,000 troops and ovetwhelmed the Assamese paramilitaries.142 

On March 22nd 1956 the NNC set up the Naga federal government (NFG) in Phensiyu, 

in Rengma area, replacing the Hongking government. The NFG passed a constitution and 

declared Nagaland as a sovereign republic.143 Nehru was outraged. In his eyes the Nagas were 

about to endanger the nation-building project that had just begun. He ordered the army to quell 

the uprising. The commander in chief of the army was said to have replied to Nehru that it was a 

political problem, in need of a political solution. Nehru retorted that this was why the army was 

there,t44 and on April 2nd 1956 Nehru handed over the responsibility for NHD to the army.145 

The army moved into the Naga hills and occupied the most important centres. 

6.5 war 
The village diary of Mokokchung tells a tale of a systematic terror campaign against the villagers 

at the hands of the paramilitary Assam police battalion (APB), starting with destruction of houses 

and beatings on 26 April 1955; rapes on 14 May and destruction of 200 granaries and all of the 

fields also in the same month; further destruction of the harvest on September 9 and the rape of 

five women, including two aged 13 and 14, beatings of a couple in the police station, leading to 

the death of the man in the course of the week On 29 April the following year again the APB, 

now reinforced by the 9th Gurkha rifles, set ablaze the whole village including the granaries, 

several villagers were arrested and severely beaten, two men, among them one 60 years old, taken 

away and shot. Their bodies were never handed over to their families. On 17 May 1956, a young 

man from the village was shot, as was one 13-year old girl on 14 July, and on 10 December, the 

APB attacked the village, killed two boys aged 14 and 13, and injured one aged 15. And then it 

became worse and more comprehensive.146 A meticulous description of human rights violations 

that even today are endemic in India, and part of a wider culture of violence in South Asia for 

which Imitiaz Ahmed holds the violent anti-colonial resistance responsible.147 

137 Luithui and Haksar, Na[JdardFi1e, p. 27. 
138 Nibedon, N a[Jtlan:i: The N ign if the Guerrillas, p. 41. 
139 Ibid., p. 57. 
140 Ibid., p. 36. 
141 Ibid., p. 63. 
142 Ibid., p. 74. 
143 Panmei, 'Naga movement and its ramifications', p. 91. 
144 Nmnal Nibedon, North East India: TheEthnic Expksion (New Delhi, 1981), p. 28. 
145 Luithui and Haksar, Na[JtlardFi1e, p. 27. . 
146 'Village Diary - People of Mokokchung Village, Nagaland, dated 27 April 1964', In IWGIA Document 56, The 
N a~ mtianard its stn@e aglinst ~ A report cwpilai by IWGIA (Copenhagen, 1986), pp. 136-140. 
147 Imtiaz Ahmed, 'The Gyof Sakeena: A post-nationalist critique of violence in South Asia', Maintre:un, Vol. 37, 
No. 11, March 6, 1999, pp. 14-21, p. 15. 
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From an autobiographical account of a member of the y-d Gurkha rifles we receive 

additional evidence that regular troops had also already been sent into the NHD as early as 

September 1955. The Gurkha and his colleagues were told it would only be for a few days, but in 

the end they stayed on for two years, and were involved in regular combat.148 For 1be Tim:s 

fighting started in February 1956 with devastating effect: 

.. .Indian troops and the rebel Naga tribes are now engaged in a game of death. Terror has paralysed 

life there. Fields lie fallow. In the orchards, orange trees are drying up for want of care and the ground 

is littered with decayed fruit. Most of the region's 350,000 inhabitants, whose villages have been 

regrouped, degrouped, and regrouped again, are destitute, living on rations the Indian troops give 

them every third or fifth day.149 

However, despite these harsh measures, and despite the continuous influx of troops, not much 

had changed by 1958, since: 

... the Indian Army does not know who is a loyal Naga and who is a rebe~ they look the same. By day 

they are loyal, and by night they join the rebels, supply them with food and clothes, and tend their 

wounded. Unable to identify the enemy, Indian soldiers have killed several innocent people on the 

slightest suspicion. Several villages have been destroyed, and their inhabitants sent to live in bigger 

villages watched by the Army. But still the enemy remains untractable.1so 

It has to be stressed that we do not know on what basis these newspaper reports were written, 

whether they were based on accounts of eye-witnesses to whom the journalist had access or from 

where else he had his information. Until then only Nagas and Indians had access to the war-zone. 

However, the more time progressed the more concerned the reports on the situation became. 

Further proof of the severity of the situation, and certainly contributing to its further 

deterioration, was the legislation of 1be A mrd Fara:s {Assam and Manipur} SjXXial PCJlR£YS Bill, 1958. 

This, however, was simply a geographic extension of the already granted special powers to the lA 

in the NHD in 1956. In 1957 it was extended to the combined area of NHD and NHTA Special 

powers meant in essence the declaration of martial law, and the bill of 1958 was simply the post­

facto legalisation of an already established practice. That one normally does not have martial law 

on a permanent basis was noted back then by P. N. Sapru, during the debate in the &jp, Sabha: 

"I can understand your having martial law and martial law is, after all, a temporary law. Martial 

148 C. L. Proucifoot, Flash iftreKhukri: Historyiftre3rd GorkhaRijUs, 1947 to 1980 (New Delhi, 1984), pp. 53-6l. 
149 Special Correspondent, The TTmS, 28.10.1958. 
ISO Ibid. 



268 

law you don't have for three years; you don't have for two years; you don't have for a year.,,151 

Further support is to be drawn from three case studies documented by IWGIA, telling tales of 

whole tribal populations going to live in the jungle form 1956 to 1959 in order to escape the lA, 

permanently on the run, malnourished and sick By 1959 they returned, but still the work in the 

village and on the fields was done by women, children, and elder people while the men were 

fighting in the jungle till the ceasefire of 1964.152 

Gavin Young of The Obsener who in early 1961 travelled illegally through the Naga hills 

with the Naga resistance, captured some of the stories in which the Nagas told their reasons to 

fight. Young tells us the following about what was told him by a lieutenant P. Vikura from the 

Naga home guard: 

His face was impassive as he told me his story. His father had been bayoneted to death by Assamese 

riflemen of the Indian Army in 1956, and his mother gaoled. VIkura, who was eighteen at the time, 

was at school in central Nagaland. He and two hundred other students ran off into the jungle when 

the Indians began to organise Naga students into labour squads. He has been with the Home Guard 

ever since,153 

Young also met Isak Swu who back then was acting foreign secretary and the younger brother of 

the then leader of the federal government of Nagaland. Swu had studied politics and economics 

in Gauhati, and 

... would have preferred to have continued his studies at a Baptist seminary in the United States. "But I 

could no longer tolerate seeing the Nagas treated like beasts by Indian officials and Army officers," he 

told me. "I tried my best to explain the position of my people in an attempt to minimise their 

maltreatment, but my efforts were in vain. After the burning of six villages, including my own, in the 

Sema area round C1J.ishi, I found I had no reasonable alternative but to come away and work in the 

national movement." 154 

While GOI in its propaganda played on incidents of conflict between single Naga villages, thus 

trying to portray a scenario of civil war in which the Indian forces would enter as arbitrating and 

finally ordering forces, in reality its agents and agency tried everything to bring about a field of 

151 Raj;u SabhaDeb:ttes, Vol. 22., No. 1,25. August 1958, columns 963-976; 27. August 1958, columns 1253-1312 & 
28. August 1958, columns 1313-1474; for Sapru's comment, see 27. August 1958, column 1287. 
152 'Three case studies', In IWGIA Document 56, The N alJZ rution and its str'Uf!Jie afFinst wxxide A report wrrpikl by 
IWGIA (Copenhagen, 1986), pp. 73-82. 
153 Gavin Young, 'Commonwealth's Unknown War - 2: Jungle Baptists Fight It Out With India', The azener, May 7, 
1961. 
154 Ibid. Swu today, together with T. Muivah, leads the contemporary main national resistance group, the National 
Socialist Council of Nagalim (NSCN), demonstrating, despite the long years of war and many breaks, an amazing 
continuity. 
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infighting factions and irreconcilable standpoints. Gavin Young in 1961 talked to a young Naga 

who in the late 1950s was forced to join the village guards that were supposedly created to 

protect the Naga population from the "hostiles". In 1959 then, he and 58 others were 

commanded into a village suspected of collaboration with those demanding independence. In this 

operation he became witness to the lengthy torturing of five villagers. Furthermore, in an earlier 

operation conjointly with the Assam rifles he had to watch the repeated rape of a Naga girl and 

the battering of the male population ordered by an Indian officer. Thus, he later ran away to the 

Naga army, bringing with him six Indian rifles.155 

By November 1960 access for the international press to the Naga hills was still denied, so 

when judging the situation there, Ursula Graham Bower, an anthropologist working among the 

Nagas during the raj, had to rely on Indian sources. Hence she was quoting the Indian journalist 

Easwar Sagar of The Madras Hindu, who had been able to tour the Naga hills for one week and 

whom Bower quotes with his description of getting to Kohima: 

... The newcomer is instantly aware of the numerous eyes and ears which are sharply tuned to look for 

trouble: the vehicles in convoy with escorts out to front and rear, the soldiers in the road protection 

parties guarding the bad points on the route, the innumerable check-posts, the two sides of the road 

denuded of all trees and high grass which could provide cover for the sniper, the armoured cars which 

patrol the streets of Kohima. .. l56 

For Bower this was proof enough that the "hostiles" were active at the very nerve-centre of 

Indian power in the Naga hills, for which, however a small guerrilla force would suffice to keep 

the 30,000 Indian troops engaged Furthermore, she tried to make sense of reports of outbreaks 

of violence in the very opposite and extreme corners of the Naga hills, the north-eastern among 

the Sangtams and in the south-western close to Tamenlong. For her this were as expressions of 

dissatisfaction. Finally, she took from the Indian press the information about the "grouping" of 

village populations into" concentration camps" in which the detained people had to live on half 

rations. Bower at this point of time has understanding for the GOl's policy and applied 

measures.157 

When finally a group of 12 foreign correspondents were allowed on a strictly guided tour 

of the international and national press into the Naga hills by the end of 1960, The Tim!S 

correspondent understood from the omnipresent ISF, more than 30,000 of them, and their 

155 Gavin Young, 'Commonwealth's Unknown War - 3: Charges of Atrocities on Nehru's Doorstep', The Chener, 
May 14, 1961. 
156 Easwar Sagar in The Hinlu, undated, cf Ursula Graham Bower, 'Nagas Fight on in dosed Land', The Chener, 
Nov. 13, 1960. 
157 Ibid. That 30,000 Indian troops were fighting ca. 2,000 Naga army were the official Indian government numbers, 
Gavin Young, 'An Unknown War - 1', The CiJsener, April 30, 1961. 
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patrolling in double strength, that the Naga anny was still able to operate. Moreover, the 

"overground" supporters were repeatedly able to approach the press corps with their statements, 

blaming the ISF of committing atrocities, denouncing the NPC of being Indian puppets, and 

reasserted their determination to complete independence.158 In a follow-up article The TirrI5 

correspondent narrated how everywhere on their tour, despite close supervision by officials, the 

people told them of their wish to be free, and his conclusion was that all of them wanted to be as 

independent as possible from any country, and that the difference between those in the NPC and 

those in the NFG was one of degree, the former did not believe in the possibility of sovereignty, 

and thus tried to get as much independence inside the Indian union, whereas the latter insisted on 

complete independence.159 

The CiJsener correspondent, also party to this tour, and at this stage definitely anti-Naga, 

also testified how, despite all arrangements, the group was approached by pro-independence 

Nagas as for example Phizo's niece Beilieu and Lungshim Shaiza, a relative of hers. The DC 

Naga hills Ramunny finally conceded meetings between the journalists and the pro-Phizo group 

on the condition that the former would also see the NPCl60 Knox, after his visit, was convinced 

that 90 percent of the Nagas would opt for independence if asked.161 He also seemed to see the 

necessity of some sort of inquiry into atrocities conducted by the ISF to appease the Nagas: 

Because the Nagas have long memories it may also be necessary to satisfy them by some sort of 

governmental inquiry into the past activities of the Indian security forces. Indian official records show 

60 to 70 complaints of brutality over the past five years. All were inquired into and 24 persons 

punished. I have had access to the laboriously compiled, handwritten records of a single Naga village 

- Indian military unit and officers, places and dates, are listed - that make more than 70 such 

l · 162 compamts. 

His account also hints at the entire alibi-function of Indian investigations. Indian officials seemed 

also to have admitted that they aggravated the situation by considering and treating the Nagas as 

158 Special correspondent, Mokokchung, Nagaland, Dec. 17 (delayed), The Tims, 19.12.1960. 
159 Special correspondent, Jorhat, Assam, Dec. 22, The Tims, 23.12.1960. On the officials shielding off of the 
correspondents from the population and its surreal results the journalist gave us the following notable anecdote: 
"The feeling that they were being denied free access to all opinions reached its strongest pitch perhaps - and 
certainly the tour its most bizarrely comic moment - when, after a tribal dance, an imposingly barbaric chieftain 
came forward to make a long and passionately chanted declamation, emphasizing his points by driving his spear into 
the ground: according to the translator all this was about his people's satisfaction with the hospitals and dispensaries 
the Government had built, but according to the ubiquitous whisperers of the "overground" it was in fact a turbulent 
affirmation of the Nagas' desire for independence. The annoyance of the officials seemed to reinforce this claim." 
160 Rawle Knox, 'Nagas Slip Messages to Reporters', Kohima, Naga Hills, Dec. 17, The C1Jsener, Dec. 18, 1960. 
161 Rawle Knox, 'Nagaland To-day: Why Nehru Gmnot "Free" Hill Tribesmen', New Delhi, Jan. 7, The C1Jsener, Jan. 
8, 1961. 
162 Rawle Knox, 'Nagaland To-day: Why Nehru Gmnot "Free" Hill Tribesmen', New Delhi, Jan. 7, The C1Jsener, Jan. 
8,1961. 
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inferior,163 and Young's description of pan of his interview with the crew of the downed Indian 

Air Force plane in early 1961 is illuminating on what Indian anny personnel might have had in 

mind when facing the Nagas. This holds true even when taking into consideration that it was 

conducted during Naga capture: 

"I knew very little of the situation in Nagaland at that time." Singha told me. "In the LAF. we are not 

briefed on the Nagas - mainly, I suppose, because we are not expected to come into contact with 

them in the nonnal way." 

"My impression was that the rebels were a handful of guerrillas or dacoits. I knew that some of 

them at least were Clrristians. But I found this difficult to reconcile with my belief (and that of the rest 

of my crew) that Nagas were head-hunters and even cannibals." 

Naga officers (who are practising Baptists) shouted with laughter as Misra added, "When we 

climbed out of the aircraft we didn't know how we would be received. I believed we might be 

eaten." 164 

The Nagas on their part were aware of being looked on " ... as colourful, semi-naked savages", 165 

and this was so despite many of them being educated and having English as second language.166 

Gavin Young's description of the lA's inability to locate the captured Indian Air Force men 

demonstrates its being an occupational force in 1961: 

For more than seven months, Indian Army units in Nagaland (believed to comprise three divisions or 

30,000 men) have been searching for the men in vain. All their efforts, including the use of military 

aircraft, have been frustrated by the extreme difficulty of operating effectively in such savage terrain 

against a well organised, well armed and determined Naga military force which seems to have the 

support of most Nagas civilians. It is this difficulty, too, which has baulked Indian attempts to end by 

force the Nagas' war for independence for their remote, land-locked country; a bitter, costly struggle 

which assumed nation-wide proportions in 1955 and 1956 and which shows no sign of abating.167 

Young himself witnessed the scorched earth policy of the lA resulting besides widespread 

destruction in food shortages. And Isak Swu, whom we earlier quoted on his rationale to join the 

resistance, told Young in 1961: 

We want to be rid of these Indians once and for all, after all the crimes they have committed in our 

land. They say we are poor and backward and that they will bring us prosperity. We say, rather poverty 

163 Ibid. 
164 Gavin Young, 'A meeting with Nagas' prisoners', The CiJsener, April 9, 1961. 
165 Gavin Young, 'An Unknown War - 1', The CiJsener, April 30, 1961. 
166 Gavin Young, 'Commonwealth's Unknown War - 3: Olarges of Atrocities on Nehru's Doorstep', The CiJsener, 
May 14, 1961. 
167 Gavin Young, 'A meeting with Nagas' prisoners', The CiJsener, April 9, 1961. 
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and rags and freedom to choose our friends and allies than all the schools and hospitals in the world 

with Indian overlords.168 

Young was shown evidence that the Nagas had built up an effective parallel administration, that 

rested on voluntary support of the population, contrary to Indian government statements that the 

"hostiles" terrorised the population. We know by now from comparative cases, and the Nagas 

back then already told Young so, that the guerrilla war could only be sustained for so long due to 

the voluntary support of the people. A not inconsiderable amount of funding was used to ensure 

the collaboration of parts of the Indian officialdom: 

A significant item in the Budget covers payments to Indian Gvil Servants and soldiers, including 

officers. When I asked Naga officials if Indians did indeed accept bribes, they laughed as if the 

question were hardly worth answering. "Some Indians who realise the true state of affairs sympathise 

with us. In some cases officers secretly tip us off before an attack and they have helped us in other 

ways. But they wouldn't dare express their views Openly.169 

Young starts the concluding part of his trilogy stating that Indian casualties in this war were 

" ... three times higher than combined British losses in Cyprus and Mau Mau operations ... " and by 

describing the ease with which Naga units were traversing the country even in 1961, unafraid of 

any Indian attack, well-armed with weapons and ammunition captured from the ISF, but 

contemplating getting heavier arms from the Chinese, if no-one else would supply them.!70 That 

the Naga fighting units could move in such a casual way is itself proof of the occupational quality 

of the lA, otherwise they would have been informed of the presence of this very visible foreigner 

and his whereabouts. Young, when travelling with the Naga soldiers through the Naga hills, came 

across villagers living in sheds in the jungle to either escape or being put into one of the Indian­

built concentration camps and being coerced into labour squads for the Indians. The children 

especially, so Young witnessed, showed signs of malnutrition.!7! This information is important, 

because it has often been written that "regroupment" and populations living in the forest had 

only been a feature of the very early years, i.e. 1956-7, and that thereafter the situation had 

improved considerably. Added to these statements were often claims on the break-down of the 

resistance, or loss of support for it from among the population. Young's testimony from his 

peregrinations alone show, on the contrary, the Naga units moving like "fish in the water" , due to 

168 Gavin Young, 'Commonwealth's Unknown War - 2: Jungle Baptists Fight It Out With India', The Cbsener, May 7, 
1961. 
169 Ibid. 
170 Gavin Young, 'Commonwealth's Unknown War - 3: Charges of Atrocities on Nehru's Doorstep', The Cbsener, 
May 14,1961. 
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precisely having the support of the population. The lA, quite the reverse; and owing to it being 

an occupational one, was left with no choice, and continued to target the population, driving it 

from their villages and fields into the woods. On the other hand, the refugees Young had a 

chance to meet, were happy not afraid, when coming across the Naga anny that helped them 

with food and medicine. In the same vein, were the Naga troops welcomed by the large villages 

and the risk of hosting them willingly accepted. Young was given binoculars and shown by his 

village hosts Indian military posts, that had been established in regular intervals on the prominent 

ridges, visible from the village perimeters. Adding to that the Indian air force frequently patrolled 

the area. But again all this confinued that the ISF were an alien body in a foreign territory with no 

connections to the civil population whatsoever, deepening the rift by perpetuating rampant 

human rights abuses: 

The tenor of Naga civilian complaints of Indian injustice was unvarying. Villagers jostled their way 

forward to describe personal sufferings in vivid detail. The stories of burnt rice-stores and houses 

seemed endless. Individuals told how they had been beaten and tied up for hours without water, how 

they had been bound and hung head downwards from trees to be flogged; how sons, brothers and 

fathers had been bayoneted to death. 

Refugee women described how Indian troops had arrived in their village on September 6 last year 

[1960], searching for the Home Guard and the four captive Indian airmen. "We were all rounded up 

and the men separated from the women. Our men were forced to run the gauntlet of Indian troops 

armed with stout sticks. Then they lay helpless on the ground. Three men died then - one of them a 

travelling pastor. " 

"Later we women were told to run into the jungle and scatter. Afterwards we heard from survivors 

that most of the men had been shot 'trying to escape.' We were about 120 men and women before the 

Indian patrol arrived. There are thirty survivors, only three of them men. All our crops were burnt. 

How can we dare go back?" 

These women and their children are being cared for now by the Home Guard. Other villagers 

complain that they are forced to work for the Indian Army as menials without pay, facing a beating if 

they refuse. Nagas ask: "Are we animals to be treated like this? Isn't there some intemationallaw to 

protect us from this treatment?" They say that whole villages have been moved to other areas of 

Nagaland and re grouped in "concentration camps." 172 

Out of what Isak Swu had to say to Young it is clear that for him the reality of the Naga hills was 

difficult to reconcile with Nehru's rhetoric and international standing, and although he strongly 

believed that Nehru, as prime minister, had to be aware of what was going on, he nevertheless 

171 Gavin Young, 'Commonwealth's Unknown War - 3: Charges of Atrocities on Nehru's Doorstep', The Cisener, 
May 14,1961. 
172 Ibid. 
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was not quite sure.173 Young's series of articles precipitated a number of venomous letters to The 

Obsener editor by readers of Indian origin that, among other things, blamed Young's report " ... to 

be unduly elaborate and often obscene."174 However, Young in his retort to these letters, clarified 

once more the Nagas' point of view as it had been relayed to him. He had been told by the Nagas 

that they had not started to fight for 8-9 years, and only did so when they were sure to be looked 

upon as only "a batch of bandits." Furthennore, they did not fight to achieve independence in 

the sense of achieving separatism, but independence understood by them as their traditional one, 

that they never had surrendered. Finally, according to Young's impression, though the Naga 

leaders were demanding complete independence, they were prepared to accept something short 

of it.175 After the Indian government's version had also been published, which, of course, did not 

contain much new information but pretty much simply denied all Young had written,176 Ursula 

Graham Bower set out again to sift the evidence. While she was proceeding in a very careful way, 

she, from her own experience, and in the face of the Indian predilection to blame missionaries 

and British imperialists for the Nagas' recalcitrance, decidedly concurred with Young in his 

portrayal of Nagas' perception of their right to freedom: 

... one must again emphasise that the Nagas' deep-rooted desire for freedom, and their sense of 

'apartness' from the plains people, is common alike to Cluistian and pagan. It reaches far back into 

history and long antedates both the missionaries and the British.177 

This is in line with the argument I had brought forward in Chapter Two that the hill people's 

perception of themselves, regardless of European imperialists' presence or absence, was a 

conscious distancing from the plains people, defined by their own free and self-detennined way 

of life in contradistinction to the plains' feudalism. Coming back to Bower's effort to understand 

the state of affairs in the Naga hills from a distance via the available evidence, she draws a 

conclusion I would like to support: 

And now to consider the picture. In the first place, the official Indian view is that the backbone of the 

resistance has been broken and the guerrillas reduced to a minority, but the N.N.C's armed forces are 

well-organised, well-disciplined and well-equipped and, though nothing is definitely known of their 

numbers, 1,500 to 2,000 seems possible - the N.N.C claim many more. There is no sign of outside 

assistance, either in arms or money; morale is high; relations with local villagers seem good; both the 

guerrillas and their civilian supporters appear to move freely in spite of the presence of Indian troops, 

173 Ibid. 
174 'Letters to the Editor: The War In Nagaland', Tk Cbsen.er, May 28, 1961. 
175 Ibid. 
176 T. N. Kaul, 'A Reply to Gavin Young: The Nagas ofIndia', The Cbserzer, June 25, 1961. 
177 Ursula Graham Bower, 'Sifting the Evidence on Naga Problem', Tk Cbsen.er, July 2, 1961. 



275 

and underground and overground civilian 'hostiles' are active even in and about Kohima, as witness 

events during the recent Press visit. All this argues fairly widespread popular sympathy, and the 

minority, if such it is, is far from negligible.178 

Her careful wording notwithstanding, she is likening the NNC to an iceberg and the NPC " ... to a 

shallow-draught boat, with all its bulk above the surface and possibly not much grip on the 

water ... " .179 

By May 1961 it had been confirmed by the Burmese Foreign Minister U. E. Maung that 

Indian troops had operated in and from Burma, and that there had been a stop to this. The lA in 

the first half of this year seemed to have been canying out constant assaults in the T uensang area, 

operating also from the Burmese side, in an effort to find the Indian Air Force captives before 

the onset of the summer monsoon.180 Phizo, later that year, informed the press about a 

substantial increase in Indian troops in Nagaland and an increased offensive backed up by Air 

Force: "The people in the Pochir area are being hunted day and night. Men, women and children 

are shot like animals. In one small village they beheaded 20 people.,,181 The situation had not 

changed much in April the following year. 40,000 Indian troops, and that was the official 

number, were unable to win the war. Moreover, Naga leaders had obviously agreed to respect 

India's perceived strategic concerns and had offered free military passage in exchange for non­

interference into the internal affairs of Nagaland. Guy Wmt here saw parallels to British-Irish 

history, and that Britain back then, like India, missed the opportunity, and later was left with 

nothing.182 This is to say, that even after seven years of fighting/83 the door was not yet closed to 

a face-saving solution for both sides184 that could not only have ended the war, but also would 

have avoided the consequences of its long-term continuation.185 However, despite the heavy 

178 Ibid. 
179 Ibid. 
180 AP, Rangoon, May 6, The Ci7sener, May 7, 1961. 
181 Staff Reporter, The Ci7sener, September 3,1961. Phizo claimed a doubling of force from 40,000 to 80,000. The 
area of Pochir is located ca. 50 miles eastwards of Kohima in the direction of Burma. 
182 Guy Willt, 'India's "Irish" Problem", The Ci7sener, April 15, 1962. A comment later that year likened the fate of 
the Nagas to that of the Irish and Red Indians in the past, and the Kurds and Angola in the present, called it a 
scandal, and stated that whether the Nagas could be accommodated inside existing state boundaries depended on 
state policies, 'Comment', The Ci7sener, September 16,1962. David Astor, one of the owners of The Ci7sener, was in 
the vanguard of decolonisation, according to one of his main centre-page authors who did not agree with that 
standpoint, see Sebastian Haffner, A is E nJarr:ler rmskiert: E in Gsprlil.h rrit Jutta](rug iikr das E xii (Stuttgart & 
Miinchen, 2002), p. 64. My own impression, however, when flipping through the year's issues, was that, at least in 
relation to the Nagas, there was no over-reporting at all. 
183 Willt quotes the Nagas on claiming 70,000 casualties to that point, adds however that he thinks this number is 
excessive, Guy Willt, 'India's "Irish" Problem", The Ci7sener, April 15, 1962. 
184 In granting, for example, as much autonomy to the Nagas as had been to Bhutan. Editorial, 'The need of Asian 
unity', The Ci7sener, November 4, 1962. 
185 Among these we may list the direct and indirect casualties, devastation of infrastructure (villages, fields etc.) and 
environment, prevention of economic and cultural development, destruction of social fabric, creation of culture of 
violence, a gun culture with many opposed and irreconcilable actors, groups of war-winners, rampant drugs-abuses 
and epidemic spread of HIV etc., in short the denial of a decent, dignified life to whole generations of people. 
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military presence in and around the Naga hills, 153 Nagas managed to reach East Pakistan nearly 

unhindered, a distance of about 500 miles with the main objective of countering India's 

propaganda maintaining that the majority of the Nagas wished to stay inside the Indian union, 

further, to give testimony about anny excesses.186 George Patterson, for The CiJ.sener, flew out to 

Pakistan to meet this party of Nagas. He was infonned by the military commander of the Naga 

forces, general Kaito, that the ISF kept 214 bases all over the Naga hills, and he gave the 

following description of the Naga anny, that modelled itself on its opponent's predecessor and 

on the model of the opponent itself, and puts in front of us the picture of a regular anny: 

Kaito estimated the Naga "Home Guard" at 40,000 trained soldiers, in four divisions, each with its 

regional commander. They had barracks and training grounds. Their military organisation and ranks, 

he said, were patterned on the British and Indian Armies, in which many of the Nagas had served. 

Their uniforms were Indian Army olive green, with Gurkha-type slouch hats and steel helmets. They 

had light arms and ammunition, but these had been of little use recently against the helicopter spotting 

and communication system of the reinforced Indian Army and jet bombing attacks.187 

The Nagas relayed a series of instances of combat and successive Indian reprisals to Patterson, of 

which he gave the ensuing: 

At Satazou village, 37 miles from Kohirna, a battle took place between Naga Home Guards and a Sikh 

Regiment in which the Indians lost over 150 dead, including the brigade commander and medical 

captain. In return the Indians burned down 14 villages [names given] and destroyed all rice stores and 

domestic animals. In one village, Iphonumi, the Chief, Kivimhu, could not escape because his wife, 

Ghuvuli, was about to give birth. The Indian Army took Kivimhu away, beat and tortured him. 

At the same time other Indian troops tortured Ghuvuli, accusing her of giving help to the rebels, 

and, finally, thrust bayonets into her abdomen and forced out the unborn child. Later Kivimhu was 

taken to the spot, shown his dead wife and child, and asked if he was pleased with the result of his 

actions. He asked permission to bury his wife and child, but was refused and was subjected to more 

torture. No one was allowed to bury the dead bodies, and they were gradually eaten away by dogs and 

pigs. When the Indian troops went away the villagers buried the bones.188 

To call this unduly elaborate and often obscene would be to blame the messenger for the 

message. The number of casualties among the Nagas was put above 100,000, and four times the 

number, so Patterson quoted his informant: 

186 Special Correspondent, The Cbsen.er, May 20, 1962. 
187 George Patterson, 'Naga general: I have Indian 'atrocity' proof', The Cbsener, June 3, 1962. 
188 Ibid. 
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.. .Naga men, women and children are being held in 180 concentration camps and prisons in appalling 

conditions. Our men are made to stand in unnatural, stunted positions night and day, unable to lie 

down or stand up. The Indians want them to confess infonnation which often they to not have ... ( ... ) 

No food is given them and if their relatives try to bring them food it is taken away by the Army and 

the relatives are beaten and tortured as collaborators. Women give birth to children unattended. No 

sanitation is provided. Cold water is thrown on camp inmates during the night to keep them from 

sleeping, and break their resistance. When mothers have asked for water for their crying children, this 

has being refused.189 

This was followed by a plethora of rape allegations most inconspicuously committed in churches, 

or forced copulation at bayonet point of Naga men and women, all obviously designed to 

humiliate the Nagas where it hurt them most. Hence, included into the destruction of the villages 

and rice storage houses were more than 400 churches.l90 These reports render it comprehensible 

that the Indian genocidal campaign strengthened the case for Christianity in the eyes of the 

Nagas, and served as its ultimate catalyst among them, as is corroborated by the data. Patterson's 

report further bears testimony to a rather naive belief among the Nagas in the UN and its 

willingness to act on their behalf. 

As was said at the beginning, the exact sequence of events is difficult to establish without 

further in-depth research. Yet, considering our above quoted contemporary evidence, it 

nevertheless suffices to demonstrate that the Indian state engaged from the very beginning 

onwards in a genocidal campaign aimed at subjugating the peripheral Nagas. Horam states that 

there are no neutral reports about this time and the following years, that there had been 

accusations and exaggerations on both sides, on the one hand about the number of killed, and on 

the other about the rebels who surrendered.m This, of course, has to be like that, as in any war, 

and needs careful sifting of the evidence, but nevertheless, would not be impossible. In many 

books on Naga modem history, written by Nagas and Indians, not only in official replies, do we 

find very general statements about the careful behaviour of the ISF, accompanied by reports on 

the excesses committed by it, which the Nagas would never forget nor forgive. This contradiction 

seems to indicate that even critical minds did not want to present themselves as unpatriotic 

prosecutors of the Indian jaWln Yet, what we get to know is enough to point towards a war of an 

occupying force against an occupied people. In the following we will see that the literature agrees 

with this judgement, even so, as a rule, it hastened to employ an appeasing tone and spread the 

blame equally on Nagas and Indians. Whether this was due to the acknowledgement of the 

continued power imbalance and the wish for further accommodation, or is ascribable to the 

189 George Patterson, 'Nagas: Indians killed one in ten', Karachi, June 9, The Chener, June 10, 1962. 
190 Ibid. 
191 Horam, Nag:llnsUl"fPlY, p. 69. 
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success of Indian propaganda, we are unable to say. This notwithstanding, even according to the 

then chief of the Intelligence Bureau and Nehru's confidant Mullik, it was the people of the 

Nagas fighting the ISF, making the massive presence of troops mandatory.192 The anny had 

orders to break the resistance of the Nagas, unofficially also that of the civil population: 

... there can be no denying fact ( ... ) the military applied themselves with full-blooded vigour to the 

business of 'softening up' the recalcitrant Naga. ( ... ) There was soon retaliation from Phizo's private anny 

and it was not long before it was a matter of doubt as to who was softening up whom .... 193 

The ISF were not able to bring the situation under control. The only ones they could apprehend 

and hold responsible were old people, women and children - every Naga was a "hostile", as the 

Nagas then were calledl94 For ambushes the ISF took revenge on the civilians.195 

Scott, member of the peace mission in the 1960s, was the only non-Indian and non-Naga, 

who could move officially and unhindered through Nagaland in the middle of the 1960s. He 

drove more then 3,000 miles through the Naga hills, visited many villages and talked to a lot of 

people.196 Hundreds showed him their scars, injuries and cripplings, told him, that the ISF 

attacked villages, suspended their inhabitants from the ankles and then beat them Up.197 Scott 

writes that he personally couldn't possibly verify all the accusations, but that he saw everywhere 

widespread destruction and heard everywhere personal accounts.198 According to them dozens of 

villages were raised to the ground, their populations driven into the jungle, their elders beaten up 

and tortured, churches desecrated by obscene actions and! or burnt down. Many Nagas were 

resettled, herded into overcrowded and unhygienic camps, where famines ensued, during which 

many of the children died.199 

Maxwell, the The TirrEs correspondent, was part of the mixed group of Indian and western 

journalists who was being allowed on an organised tour into Nagaland. In a follow-up publication 

he wrote that he was secretly handed over a detailed list of cruelties committed by the ISF in a 

village. Later, one further such list reached him: 

192 Luithui and Haksar, NawJarxlFile, p. 29. 
193 R .. T~llnrlF' 31 ustomJl, lif~flJ,KU ront:zers, p. . 
194 Ibid., p. 81. 
195 Nrrmal Nibedon, North Eastb~: 7heEthnicExp/c6ion (New Delhi, 1981), p. 29. 
196 Michael Scott, 1he Searrh for Peare (London, 1968), p. 14. 
197 Ibid. 
198 Ibid., p. 17. 
199 Ibid., p. 31. 
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... detailing the names of the victims, the nature of the ill-treatment (beating, rape and other sexual acts, 

torture by water or electricity, desecration of churches, and killings by bullet or beheading), dates, and 

very often the names of the units - even the individual soldiers.2°O 

The meticulous listing of the excesses and what was known about comparable wars - in Malaysia, 

Algeria, Vietnam - was contributing for Maxwell to the credibility of the accusations. However, 

a final proof could only be brought about by an independent commission/ol and this the Indian 

government refuses to allow until today. Maxwell also reports on the Indian parliamentarian 

Lohia, who succeeded in 1956, despite the prohibition, to reach the Naga hills. He was arrested 

and deported. After his return he reported to the Indian parliament, that the ISF would indulge in 

an " ... orgy of murder ... ", of mass rapes, torture and massacres of the village population.202 

Stracey, an Anglo-Indian, responsible in the 1950s and 1960s for the Nagaland forest 

administration, wrote about the situation there: " ... the usual series of arrests, beatings and worse 

( ... ) along with burning of villages, destruction of granaries and orchards and lifting of 

livestock .. " ,103 and about curfews and shoot an sigfJt orders.204 Even though Stracey saw these 

measures as necessary,205 he doubted that they would be successful: 

Destroy Nagaland, yes - by regrouping the villages so as to isolate them from contact with the 

hostiles, by filling the jails with suspects, by literally creating a scorched earth peace - but end the 

movement .... 206 

His doubts about the success of all these measures were not nourished by the to be expected 

antagonisation of the population, but by the inaccessible and uncontrollable nature of the border 

with Burma,z°7 

Rustomji confirms the resettlement of whole villages, the locking up and cramming in of 

whole parts of the population behind barbed wire, the scarcity of water, the absence of sanitation, 

medical facilities, schools or even real dwellings. This was done, according to Rustomji, to teach 

the Nagas a lesson, and the responsible authorities, with minor exceptions, did not see it 

inadequate to lock away these "primitives" or to transport them from one place to another like 

animals.208 

200 Maxwell,Irda arrJ the NafFS, p. 11. 
201 Ibid., p. 12. 
2°2Jbid., p. 11. 
203 P. D. Stracey, NafJdard Nigfotmtre (Bombay, 1968), p. 83. 
204 Ibid., p. 84. 
205 Ibid., p. 83. 
206 Ibid., p. 141. 
207 Ibid. 
208 Rustomji, IrrperilkdFruntiers, pp. 49-50. 
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Ten years after that, the Mizos began their independence struggle, and were to face the 

same "law and order-measures" of the Indian government: 

... the regrouping of their villages into virtual concentration camps by security troops under order of 

officials in the Home Ministry in Delhi ( ... ). Tens of thousands of persons were uprooted and moved, 

within a radius of about twenty to fifty kilometres, to a settlement. The old buildings and homes were 

either torched, demolished or left to rot. The destruction of this symbiotic relationship between the land 

and its people ( ... ) destroyed the structure of society among the Mizos. ( ... ) Stories of atrocities: rape, 

extortion, destruction of property, damage to churches and illegal detentions abounded.209 

Jamir, the long-time chief minister of the Nagaland state, and back in 1960s parliamentary 

secretary to Nehru, i.e. certainly not Delhi's opponent, wrote about the then predicament of the 

Nagas: 

The ten years from 1954 to 1964 were marked by untold bloodshed and violence. ( ... ) Police action, mass 

arrests, the burning of villages and granaries, the grouping of villages, the isolation of all Underground 

families in heavily guarded camps ( ... ). The expedience of declaring curfews in many villages during 

harvest season to pressurise the villagers into bringing about the surrender of the Underground from the 

respective villages ( ... ). These harsh punitive measures not only failed, but they merely increased the 

antagonism between the Naga people and the authorities ( ... ). Most of the villages and granaries were 

burnt down and the people preferred to run away and hide in the jungles for safety rather than live under 

a constant threat to their life and limb and to the meagre remains of their property.210 

He I d· Id" full 1 " 211" h f .. ." 212 Th ul nee, n la ea... -sea e war..., ... s ort 0 an extermmatlon campaIgll... . e res t 

was the complete and utter antagonisation of the population,213 hate of the ISP214 and forced 

more and more people into armed resistance: 

... it is ironic but true that the very same Army which was in the Naga Hills to prevent insurgency drove 

so many Nagas to insurgency and rebellion. Before the Army stepped in, official callousness had done 

enough damage but the bunglings in the corridors of power were trivial compared to the pig-headedness 

of the Indian soldiers who became the most effective agents for recruitment of talent to the 

Underground ranks. Naga Nationalism, hitherto an embryonic concept, now became the obsession of 

almost every Naga. No longer was it possible to point out this or that village or tribe as agitators for the 

209 Hazarika, S trarljpS if the Mist Tales if War & Peare JrumI nIia's N artIx:ast, pp. 113-114. 
210 S. C Jamir, 'Nagaland and the Special Constitutional Provision' In Luithui and Haksar (eds.), NawdaniFile, pp. 
61-72, p. 63. 
211 Horam, NaIF I'Yl5urwrY The last tJi:rty)81rs, p. 206. 
212 Nibedon, N arth East Irxiia: The E thnic ExJhion, p. 46. 
213 Ibid. 
214 Horam, NaIF I'Yl5ttYfPXY, p. 88. 



281 

entire Naga Hills from the Konyaks to the Zeliangs became the locus of agitation which had for its goal­

Naga Independence. The Naga search for a distinct political and social identity had formally began.215 

Indian officers and politicians proclaimed for years that violence would be the easiest and fastest 

solution but again and again they were wrong. Different Governors over 30 years stated as to 

have solved the Naga problem. Yet this was always only: 

... the exhaustion following army repression ( ... ). The violence of military operations on the other hand 

sows yet further seeds of discontent and bitterness, and no sooner have the victims of such violence 

recuperated than they take to arms again with redoubled vigour and the whole brutal process of 

repression and violence is started anew.216 

In this way the war started in the middle of the 1950s, and continued till 1997, when it finally 

transfonned into a low-level civil war that pennanently threatens to relapse into a full-scale 

guerrilla war. 

6.6 Conclusion 

The Transfer of Power in India saw also the transfer of power in the NI-ID to the Indo­

Assamese administration. One consequence of this was the influx of numerous tradesmen from 

the plains. Another, the coming into effect of new laws, which brandished traditional usufructs as 

illegal. The theory of the sixth schedule was telling about the protection of minorities. The reality 

of the conduct of the new masters spoke of chauvinism and indifference, of subjugation and 

colonisation, instead of equal rights, of assimilation into the lowest layer of Indian society, not of 

respect. We have seen that this is a common aspect of the nation-building of post-colonial states, 

making the "post-" invalid for the periphery. 

The new administration penetrated now into even the most remote villages. Every Naga 

was from then on confronted with his categorisation as an inferior primitive, as someone who 

had no rights in what he had hitherto considered as his own country. Suddenly, the collective 

identity had for everyone noticeable consequences, the negative categorisation in concert with the 

exerted pressure to assimilate, served as catalysts for this very identity. Nehru's integration was 

perceived by the Nagas as invasion, and as insincere, as treasonable. Violent transgressions on the 

side of ISF, obviously in accord with official policy, further eroded any willingness to submit to 

Indian rule. By 1950 this had allIed inside the NNC to a change of mind. An interim solution 

215 Ibid., p. 52. 
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was now no longer considered as acceptable, the demand now was for immediate independence. 

The means to work towards this end, however, remained for the time-being non-violent. 

In order to refute the accusation that only a tiny western influenced minority was behind 

the demand for independence, the NNC decided to conduct a plebiscite. The population could 

be mobilised for that through the already established party structures and voted against the new 

administration. It is questionable that the mass of the Nagas had already then thought at that 

point in time in terms of "nation" and "self-determination". More likely, they voted against what 

they perceived as an invasion by the Indians. Confronted with the plebiscite, Nehru categorically 

ruled out the possibility for self-determination. The answer of the NNC was to employ sat:pgraha, 

the strategy of non-violent non-cooperation the INC itself had used against the British. GOI, 

however, busy with the fallout of partition and with Kashmir, delegated the Naga question to the 

Assamese state government. This government saw the Nagas as a horde of savages who would 

only understand the language of violence, and consequently started a campaign of terror to show 

the Nagas their place. Jenkins has demonstrated that a state which during the incOlporation of a 

region continuously falls back on violence will fail to establish its monopolisation of violence.217 

The reasons for the protracted guerrilla war were rooted in the Indian state's massive use 

of violence, annulling Gellner's "weakness of nationalism",218 the upholding of it in the face of 

overwhelming force, ample proof, according to Walker Connor, of the collective will and 

consciousness of a people, finally forced together by the Other's scorn and use of force.219 

Without this long-drawn-out war and intimate threat, the local Naga groups, though 

acknowledging relatedness, would certainly have chosen to remain politically independent also 

from each other. Their unification may be likened to the process Linda Colley has described for 

their former imperial rulers, for whom permanent warfare with the outside was the main unifying 

factor.22o But other than with Britain, the successive unification of the Naga people seems to have 

been a more egalitarian process. Similar as to Britain, religion was to be the nation-builder, but as 

a function not as a factor. In other words, the war forced upon the Nagas by Nehru served as a 

catalyst for the Naga nation, and of developing it into a Christian one. 

So we may say that Singh's re-evaluation of India as an "ethnic democracy' would have 

to be predated. Not only were the structures prepared for it under Nehru, but India, from the 

very start onwards, used force to coerce the periphery. This force can safely be termed state 

terror and genocide, since it aims at the physical elimination of a people and! or them being 

different. 

217 Jenkins, Rethirkingethricity argurrents a:rdexplarat;i,(n, p. 137. 
218 Gellner, Natiors an/Nationalism, pp. 43-50. 
219 Connor, 'Homelands in a World of States', p. 61. 
220 Linda Colley, Britons: F orr;jng the Nation 1707·1837 (New Haven and London, 1992). 
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Conclusion and Epilogue 

The aim of this work has been to demonstrate the continuation of two interrelated processes; 

that the continuing political divide between hill and plains people dates back to the pre-colonial 

period, and that this divide is rooted in the efforts of subjugate the hill people which has often 

promoted attempts to conquer them by force. That the hill people's resistance has resembled a 

movement for political independence is as such no mere accident of history. In other words, if 

instead of conquest by force mutual relations based on the principles of equality and voluntarism 

would have been offered, especially during the first two decades after India's independence, at a 

time when the ideology of imperialism had already been thoroughly discredited, then there was 

possibility that the region would not be tom by the kind of civil and nationalities wars that afflict 

it today. Such a post-colonial constitutional framework is more likely to have accommodated the 

demands of most of the nationalities in India's troubled Northeast region.1 

The method chosen to demonstrate this argument in our case-study of the Nagas was to 

render the respective historical agency meaningful by embedding it into a larger framework. Since 

the British and Indians were more powerful agents, the chapters about them precede those 

dealing with the Nagas: Chapters One and Three focused on the invasions by the British and 

Chapter Five the Indians'. The reaction of the Nagas to these incursions is dealt with in Chapters 

Two, Four and Six. The initiative for conquest always lay with the British and the Indians. Both 

had to adapt their strategies of invasion and occupation to the circumstances created by the 

Nagas. 

While British imperial ideology drew its legitimacy from the proclaimed difference of the 

Other and from the right of conquest, the Other, once conquered, was not only allowed, but had 

to remain different. In the case of the economically unpromising Naga hills this meant that within 

certain limits the Nagas were allowed to handle their own affairs and encouraged to keep their 

identity. This helped the Nagas to come to terms with their subjugation and defeat. The 

independent Indian union, on the other hand, was based on the negation of imperialism by the 

right to self-determination and was theoretically a voluntary union of people. Imperialism thus 

1 For the argument that centralisation leads to discrimination and this in turn to demands for secession and that the 
formal right to secede is the most effective check against centralisation and thus against secession, see Detmar 
Doering and J Urgen G. Backhaus, 'Introduction: Secession as aRight', In idem (eds.), The Pditical E wmm; if Sw:ssion: 
A Sourre Bad?, (Neue Ziircher Zeitung Publishing, 2004), pp. 7-17. 
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ends where consent starts. Since the Nagas refused to give their consent the government of India 

had to use force, which in turn, only strengthened the Nagas' resolve to regain independence? 

The pre-modern multi-centred world knew regional empires, states etc., but due to a lack 

of means of communication and control, in addition to shortage in manpower and surplus of 

land, the centres did not seriously try to subjugate inaccessible frontier areas that constituted a 

refuge for populations outside larger polities. When European states began to erect world-wide 

empires, many of these former regional empires and states turned into peripheral colonies from 

the perspective of the European metropolises. The frontier areas of these peripheries now were 

in many cases pacified, but not really integrated into the administration of the colonies, and when 

these colonies themselves returned from periphery to centre by regaining their independence, 

they in turn endeavoured to incorporate the former frontiers that represent the peripheries of 

today. In this way the former colonised periphery has transformed into a metropolis and now 

exerts imperial policy on the former frontier, its contemporary periphery. However, if empire was 

justified in the past, today most states aim to rule by the principles of self-determination and, at 

least in theory, the rule of law. The case of the Nagas demonstrates that imperialism and 

colonialism are very much a feature of nation-building in India.3 

To recapitulate: the British "military-fiscal state", itself a product of permanent warfare 

on a global scale with its rival France, acquired actual control over the East India Companys 

holdings in South Asia by the end of the eighteenth century.4 The British possessions in India 

developed into state-like structures that were equally militarised, its personnel poised for 

conquest and thus were adequately described as "garrison state". When Burmese actions 

delivered the pretext for war the British invaded Assam, expelled the Burmese from there and 

thus came into contact for the first time with the hill people known to the plains people as 

"Nagas". Initially the British saw the Nagas as potential allies and described them neutrally, but 

when British interest directed itself at the hills, their inhabitants were suddenly portrayed as 

"bloodthirsty savages" who had to be subdued for the sake of Assam and also their own. 

2 See Paula Bane~ee's findings on the women's resolve to become independent in her 'Between Two Armed 
Patriarchies: Women in Assam and Nagaland', In RitaManchanda (ed.), Womn, WaramPeaa?inSadhAsia: BeyJYCi 
Victim'xodamA&m)! (New Delhi, Thousand Oaks & London: Sage Publications, 2001), pp. 131-176. 
3 See O'Leary who, by engaging with Gellner's theory of nationalism, makes the observation that after the First 
World War and despite the Wlisonian doctrine the victorious powers redrew the boundaries not on the basis of self­
determination but along geopolitical lines, and during the G>ld War borders were preserved with the complete 
disrespect of the principle of self-determination, so he concludes that" ... power politics, and power resources, 
provide an alternative (or at least a supplementary and over-determining) selection mechanism to that implicit in 
Gellner's theory." Brendan O'Leary, 'Ernest Gellner's diagnosis of nationalism: a critical overview, or, what is living 
and what is dead in Ernest Gellner's philosophy of nationalism?', In John A Hall (ed.), The State if the Nation: E rrxst 
Gel1rrr am the Throry if N ationalism (Cambridge, 1998), pp. 40-88, p. 61. 
4 More than half century before acquiring nominal control. 
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However, when several different strategies did not effect the subjugation of the Nagas, this 

objective was abandoned for more than a decade. 

These people of the hills were conscious of themselves as politically different and as 

comparatively free in contrast with the people living in the quasi-feudal states of the plains. They 

also knew that they were militarily weaker and that it was only the difficulty of their terrain that 

protected them. Socially, they were organised in a multitude of polities, which were partially 

based on a mix of (strategic) kinship and territory, had a high military participation, a strong ethos 

on individual freedom and collective responsibilities, and cross-cutting ties between the different 

groups whose actual extent and quality still evades rigorous analytical understanding. Hence when 

the British invaded their hills the Nagas could rally, and also enforce, strong support. They 

employed a mix of staunch resistance and conciliation, always with the understanding that the 

foreign conquers would never stay. 

From the middle of the 1860s onwards the British again started to encroach on and 

partially conquer the Naga hills; a process that dragged on into the twentieth century and was 

never completed. The motivations for this renewed move forward - a move that not only 

affected the Naga hills - were manifold and can be ascribed roughly to three reasons: the wish to 

distract from politics at home, the imperial ideology of late Victorian Britain, and the beginning 

of a new round of great powers rivalry.s None of these reasons actually demanded the conquest 

of the Naga hills that were of only marginal interest to the British. This explains the reluctant and 

partial nature of the conquest and defined the set-up of the administration as consequently very 

light. Moreover, in order to avoid problems experienced in other hill regions, the Naga hills were 

excluded from the administration of the plains and protected from unhindered immigration. 

When the British were eventually forced to leave India they did not - despite being conscious of 

the fact that hill and plains cultures were antithetical6 
- want a separate solution for the Nagas 

beyond the vague demand for the inclusion of some safeguards for them and other minorities in 

the constitution of the Indian Union. The Congress-dominated constituent assembly was 

determined to allow only nominal safeguards and projected the integration of the hill people via 

assimilation. 

The light British administration notwithstanding, the opening up of the Naga hills had a 

devastating effect on the populations there, with resulting famines, forced labour, epidemics, loss 

5 These are the reason in addition to those leading to the empire in the first place. 
6 As Neville Maxwell reminded me of in a letter, dated January 29, 2001. 
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of self esteem and value. In respect to their social and political identity formation it meant the 

widening of their horizon through heightened interaction among themselves as well as with an 

increasing number of Others. This process was, however, confined only to a small and westem­

educated elite that was predominantly trained by Christians, often Christian themselves, and 

employed in the service of the colonial government. Confronted with contemporary affairs and 

influenced by western ideas, this elite started to think about its people as a "nation". But the elite 

was an exception. For the majority of the Nagas it was only the Second World War that made 

them receptive to arguments of their elite that a life purely oriented at and dedicated to the locale 

was not possible anymore. The boundaries of the populations which were considered by the 

plains people as "Nagas" had already been roughly defined before British arrival. The British 

were only left with the task to find out the basis of this categorisation and the finer divisions 

among these people themselves. 

The hardening of these boundaries into national ones was realised by post-colonial policy. 

The agents of the newly independent India professed to respect the right of the Nagas to speak 

for themselves. This, however, was only liberal rhetoric. As a rule Indians and Assamese looked 

down on the Nagas as half-savage JimJis, saw them as unintelligible forest dwellers that had to be 

ruled and Indianised, if necessary by force - the best language these savages understood. This 

attitude and objective was not uncommon in the post-colonial world. The government of India 

thus deprived the Nagas of any right that could have gone unchallenged and, finally, invaded and 

occupied their country. When the Nagas refused to obey orders or to cooperate, they were 

terrorised into submission. The Nagas retaliated in kind and Nehru sent the anny in. From then 

on it was the Indian anny that was the main nation-building agency in the hills. As Naga 

resistance persisted, the Indian state started to employ a second strategy: concessions, a share of 

power and funds to build up a collaborator class in order to divide the Nagas. The strategy which 

McGany and O'Leary define as "Hegemonic Control"7 has divided Naga factions against each 

other. From the perspective of the Indian State, it has proven extremely successful. 

It was precisely these short-sighted and very crude measures that antagonised the Nagas 

to the extent that they categorically refused to become incOlporated into the Indian union and 

became detennined to keep fighting for regaining their freedom, despite heavy costs. The 

modem Indo-Naga war is clearly a product of post-colonial politics and could have been avoided. 

There were several points and turnS where Phizo signalled that the Nagas would accept 

7 See] ohn McGarry and BrendanO'Leary, The PditUs if eJJmic OJrflict RewJation: case Studies if Prw-acted Ethnic OJrflict 
(London, 1993), see chapter 1. 
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something short of complete sovereignty. Nehru had the standing to push such constitutional 

arrangement through parliament, but it seemed not to have been within the scope of India's 

decision-makers' imagination. Rather than negotiate, India's political elite then and now were 

ideologically inclined for expansion and domination, not for accommodation. An interesting 

topic for future research would be into the different sources that feeds this post-colonial ideology 

that has served as the ideological underpinning for the post-colonial policy as it was employed 

vis-a.-vis the Nagas,8 in particular, and the periphery in general. Qualitative research among retired 

army and administrative personnel who have served in the Naga hills would have to be part of 

such an undertaking. 

Regarding the Nagas themselves, further research is urgently needed. This would include 

recording oral histories which could then be embedded, and cross-checked with other historical 

and contemporary sources about the region. Likewise, a detailed narrative of the Nagas under 

British colonialism is still missing - a task which would require a major research effort in which 

the excellent collection of documents held by the British Library would need to be carefully 

evaluated. Above all, the very recent history of the Nagas demands that researchers be allowed 

free access to the region to write a history that transcends the all pervasive propaganda as well as 

addresses the serious limitations of the region being sealed off from the rest of the world for 

several generations. 

8 Chandler, for instance, has demonstrated at the example of the notorious Tuol Sleng prison under the Democratic 
Cambodia regime that to understand the unique form of state terror we have to abolish the tradition-modem divide, 
see David Chandler, Voia:s from S-21: Terror am History inPol Pot's Stmt PnSon (Berkeley, 1999). 



THE UNIVERSITY OF HULL 

Identity, war and The State In India: 

The Case Of The Nagas 

being a Thesis submitted for the Degree of PhD in 

the University of Hull 

by 

Man.:us Franke, MA 

December 2004 



Page 2 

Page 4 

Page 28 

Page 33 

Page 62 

Page 75 

Page 121 

Page 190 

VI 

List of Maps 

Location of NagaJand 

Northeast India 

Source: Majid Husain, Nagpl4nd: Habitat, 

Society and Shifting Cultimtion 

(New Delhi, 1988). 

Source: Joysankar Hazarika, Geopditif5 if 
Northeast Indi£t (New Delhi, 1996). 

Assam in PIe-Partition Days Source: E. Gait, History if Assam 

(Calcutta, 1963 [1905]. 

Naga Frontier Source: H K. Barpujari, Problem if the 

MapofBunna 

Hill Trik (Gauhati, 1978). 

Source: Captain Henry Yule, 'On the 

Geography of Burma and its Tributary 

States',faumal if the R(J)I1i Gea;;-aphical Saiety, 

Vol. 27, London, 1857, pp. 54-108. 

Angami Naga Countty Source: J. H Hutton, The A rIgflm Nagas 

(Bombay, 1969 [1921J). 

Naga Tribes Source: Ibid. 

Japanese Offensive Source: S. W. Kirby, The War Agzinst Japan 

(London, 1961). 

In pocket at end of thesis India and Adjacent Countnes, Sheet No. 83, Dibrogarh 

Source: Survey of India Office, Calcutta, 1924. 



AP 
APB 
AR 
CC 
DC 
EIC 
Gal 
lA 
IB 
INA 
INC 
ISF 
MP 
:MNF 
NE FA 
NFG 
NHD 
NHDTC 
NHG 
NHTA 
NPC 
NSCN (I-M) 
NSCN(K) 
NNC 
NWS 
NYM 
PIL 
SDO 
SP 
TFD 
ULFA 
UNO 

VII 

Abbreviations 

Assam police 
Assam police battalion 
Assam rifles 
chief commissioner 
district commissioner 
East India Company 
government of India 
Indian army 
intelligence bureau 
Indian National Army 
Indian National Congress 
Indian security forces 
member of parliament 
Mizo National Front 
Northeast Frontier Area 
Naga federal government 
Naga hills district 
Naga hills district tribal council 
Naga home guard 
Naga hills tribal area 
Naga People's Convention 
National Socialist Council of Nagalim (Isaak - Muivah) 
National Socialist Council of Nagaland (Khaplang) 
Naga National Council 
Naga Women's Society 
Naga Youth Movement 
People's Independence League 
sub-divisional officer 
superintendent 
Tuensang frontier division 
United Liberation Front of Assam 
United Nations Organisation 



alhou 

ang 

dobashi 

gaonbwa 

fPl11tl 

gximm 

khel 

lurr;foizwrba 

rmndald 

rmrung 

raj 

raja 

'Y)tlt 

sa1:)Ugraha 

sepoy 

swraJ 

thana 

tsungrem 

ukepenopfu 

VIII 

G/OSS3ryr 

supreme being in Sema cosmology 

chief among the Konyak Nagas 

mtetpreter 

village headman 

auspicious days during which certain activities were taboo 

warehouse (here for storing food provisions) 

territorial division of Naga villages 

supreme being in Ao cosmology 

symbolic figure representing the universe 

young men! women dormitory with social and educational tasks 

British rule in South Asia 

king 

settler-cultivator 

non-violent non-cooperation 

soldier in British service 

self-rule 

police post 

earth spirits 

supreme being of Angami cosmology 

SpeJling 

It was endeavoured to standardise the spelling of names and places in the main body of the text. 

The spelling in the quotes and in the sources in the footnotes that is often at random, however, 

was left untouched. The important places and names, though, will be recognisable. 

In the same way the spelling in the quotes was left in the original, despite often being 

mistaken or dated. 



IX 

Preface and Acknowledgements 

In 2000 I took up the opportunity offered by the Department of Political and International 

Studies at the University of Hull to pursue doctoral research. Professor Gurharpal Singh who was 

designated my supervisor, has with his rare mixture of protestant work ethic, faculty and good 

humour, provided invaluable support in the completion of this thesis, notwithstanding his move 

to the University of Birmingham. I also want to express my gratitude to Professor Norton for his 

encouragement and assistance in expediting the many formalities associated with the final 

submission of the thesis. 

I am grateful to the Ferens Educational Trust of the University of Hull for funding and 

thus enabling my research and especially to Rachel Blakey for solving the practical problems 

involved. 

I acknowledge my thanks to the staff of the Graduate Research Institute of the University 

of Hull and of the Brynmor Jones Library, Hull, the staff of the library of Delhi University, the 

National Library Calcutta, the British Library, the SOAS library, London, the library of the Red 

Cross delegation in Delhi, the library of the South Asian Institute, the University Library, and the 

library of the Max Planck Institute for Comparative Public Law and International Law - all at 

Heidelberg. 

I also have to thank several Nagas, of whom I want to name only two: Luithui Luingam 

and Mr. Yong Kong, the conversations and friendship with both were (and are) not only of great 

personal worth but also of invaluable importance for the conduct of this research. 

Thanks also go to Jens Franz and Jeffrey Kile for both being friends in London and 

beyond, and for correcting early versions of some of my chapters and J ens for helping in the final 

stages of the thesis. And I can not thank enough Paul Bilic and Chris Masters of Collingham 

College, London, for their straightforward and positive responses when I asked them to correct 

the English of my thesis. 

Finally, I want to thank my parents, Helga and Heinrich Franke, for their immense 

tolerance, patience, and help. 

Heidelberg, December 2004 



288 

SeJect Bibliography 

1. Private and other Papers, and Official Records, Oriental and India Office Libr.lry, 

London 

A rdJer Papers MSS Eur F 236/74, 76 and 78-80. 

BcmmmPapers, MSS Eur F 229/26. 

Curzon Cdlection, MSS Eur F 1111323, Minute by His Excellency the Viceroy on Territorial 

Redistribution in India, dt. 1st June 1903, pp. 9-10. 

Curzon Cdlection, MSS Eur F 111/536. (Confidential) Summary of the Principal Events and 

Measures of the Viceroyalty of his Excellency Lord Curzon of Kedlestar, Viceroy and 

Governor-General of India, in the Foreign Department, for the timespan of Jan. 1899 -

April 1904. Volumne 5. 

HuttonPapers, Tour Diaries, IORNeg 11711 and 11712. 

Extraaframpriwteandsro-et IetterframLard WaWl toMr. Army, dated 27th July, 1944, In 

L/PJ/71 6787. 

Extraaframpriwteandsro-et IetterframMr. Army to Lard WaWl, dated 91 10th August, 1944, In 

L/PJ/7/6787. 

Notes lXchangrl kt7.RRen the q]ia: if the HigfJ Camrissiarr?r far the Unitai Ki:rlfPnm, New Delhi, the 

Corrrrrvrrw:zdth Relations, and the Fareifffl Cffoe, Lcrndan, dated between April 1948 and May 

1950 and Canfidentid (FL 10114/11). L. A. C Fry, Fareifffl Cjfire roB. j. GrrenhiI1, 

Corrrrrvrrw:zdth Relations Cjfire, dated rh March 1950, both in L/PJ/71 10635. 

Letter framKhetoi, Kukishe H q, Free NawJand, P. Q KdJirru, Nagjl HiDs, to His Excellency, the 

GCJlEY'J1lJ'f Ge1rral if India, NewDeIhi, dated February, the 16th
, 1949, In L/PJ/7/10635. 

SpecialReportNa 52: TheAssamfrantierarw; undertherx:wronstitutian. Office of the High 

Commissioner for the United Kingdom, 6, Albuquerque Road, New Delhi, dated 13th 

February 1950, Harrison, to B. J. Greenhill, Commonwealth Relations Office, London, S. 

W. 1, In L/PJ/J/l0635. 

The Statesmtn, 28.3.48, attached to a confidential communication from the Office of the High 

Commissioner for the United Kingdom, New Delhi, to the Commonwealth Relations 

Office, London, dated 13th April 1948, In L/PJ/7/10635. 



289 

Ultirrutumto the Gmermrmt {India, To Jawaharlal Nehru, Prime Minister, Indian Union, from T. 

Aliba Imti, president and Kumbho Angami, secretary, on behalf of the NNC, dated 

Kohima, 4th November 1947, In L/PJ/7/10635. 

Bmgal Socret andPditical Cmsultations (BSPq arriIntiexes, 1824 - 1833. 

Bmgal Pditical Consultations (BPQ andIntiexes, 1832 - 1837. 

India Pditical Consultations (IPQ andIndexes, 1838 - 1843. 

India Pditical andFareignProcff!dirlf§ (IPFP) andIntiexes, 1843 - 1851. 

India FareignandPditicalPrrmxlirr;§ (IFPP) andIntiexes, 1854 - 1855. 

India FareignPrrx:E£dirlf§ (IFP) andIntiexes, 1866, 1877 - 1882. 

ProceRdirlf§ {the OJiefComrissU:n?r{ Assam(PCCA), 1884 - 1889,1891,1894 - 1899,1913 -1914. 

AssamSecretariat Prrxmling; (ASP), 1900 - 1901, 1903 - 1904. 

Prrxmling; {the Gmermrmt {Eastern Bmgal andAssam(pEBA), 1906 - 1910. 

ProceRdirlf§ if the Gmermrmtif Assam(PGA), 1923 , 1925, 1929 & 1931. 

2. Official Publications 

'Assam Census Report (Extracts from 1881)', In Alexander Mackenzie, History if the Relations if the 

Gmermrmt WJh the Hill T riks if the N cmh-East Frontier if Bmgal (Calcutta: Printed at the 

Home Department Press, 1884), pp. 537-550. 

Balfour, Henry, 'Foreword', In J. H Hutton, The Semz NagtS. London: MacMillan and Co., 

Limited, 1921), pp. XV-XVIII. 

Barooah, Srijut dlandradhar, 'Annexure 14. Memorandum regarding the position of Assam', In 

IndianRamdTableCon[ererx:e(SecandSessian), 1'Septerrix?r, 1931- pt Dererr/x;r, 1931. 

Prrxl!f!dirlf§ if F ederal Structure Cormittee am M imrities Cormittf£ CV olume Ill), (Calcutta, 

1932), pp. 1497-1500. 

Browne-Wood, Sub-Assistant Commissioner, Nowgong, 'Extracts from a report of a journey 

into the Naga Hills in 1844', In Verrier Elwin (ed.), The Nagas in the Nim:eenth Century 

(London: Oxford Univen:ity Press, 1969), pp. 232-243. 

Butler, Major John, Trauds and A dr.entures in the Prmim if A ssam during a Residerx:e if fatrl1en)W1S 

(London: Smith, Elder, and Co., 65, Comhill, 1855). 



290 

Butler, Captain John, 'Butler's account of the Naga tribes, 1873', In Alexander Mackenzie, History 

if the Relations if the Gmermrmt uith the Hill TriJxs if the Nab-East FrrnierifBengpl (Calcutta: 

Printed at the Home Department Press, 1884) pp. 77-88. 

, 'Rough Notes on the Anganu Nagcls and their Language',Jatmal iftheAsiaticSociety, Vol. 

44, No 4, 1875, pp. 307-346. 

Central Office of Information, The Gtrrpaign in Burmt (London: His Majeso/s Stationery Office, 

1946). 

ConstituentAsserrblyDemtts. Official Report. Vol. 11, 20-1-1947 to 25-1-1947; 24th Jan. 1947, pp. 

328-333. 

ConstituentAsserrblyDemtts. Official Report. Vol. Ill, 28-4-1947 to 2-5-1947; 30th April 1947, pp. 

461-462. 

ConstituentAsserrblyDemtts. Official Report. Vol. IX, 30-7-1949 to 18-9-1949; 5th Sept. 1949, pp. 

1004-1005. 

Coryton,]., 'Trade Routes between British Burmah and Western Cbina',Jatmal if the Ra;ul 
GwgraphU:al Society, Vol. 45, London, 1875, pp. 229-249. 

Cotton, General Sir Arthur, 'On a Communication between India and Cbina by the Line of the 

Burhampooterand Yang-tse',Jatmal iftheRapl GeqffaphU:al Society, Vol. 37, London, 

1867, pp. 231-239. 

Gmermrmt if India Propaals and Dispauh if the Secretary if State, 1907, Vol. I. 

Grange, E. R, 'Extracts from a Tour-Diary of 1839' and 'Into the Naga Hills', In Verrier Elwin 

(ed.), The Nagps in the Nineteenth Centwy (London: Oxford University Press, 1969), pp. 

203-218. 

Hutton, John Henry, The A ngtrri Nagps: With SorrI! Notts an NeigfJbaning TriJxs (Bombay: Oxford 

University Press, 1969 [1921]. 

, The Serru Nagps (London: MacMillan and Co., Limited, 1921). 

, 'Introduction', In J. P. Mills, The Lhota N agps (London: MacMillan and Co., 

Limited, 1922), pp. XI-XXXIX 

, 'Note, dt. Kohima 17th March 1928', In Indian Statutory Comrission, Volume XIV, 

Appendix B, 1930, pp. 111-117. 

, 'Anthropology as Imperial Study', In HuttonPapers, (1938), Doc. 7. 

Kirby, S. Woodburn, The War Ag:t-inst Japan V ~ IlL· The Decisiw Battles (London: His Majeso/s 

Stationary Office, 1961). 

, The war Agp,inst Japan V ~ IV: The &:orquest if Burmt (London: His Mafeso/s 

Stationary Office, 1965). 

Ld?- SabhaDeb:ltts, Vol. 8,1951,26.5., Columns 4646-4647 and 4679-4681. 



291 

Lc* SabhaDebates, Vol. 1, 1952, 19.5.,? 

Lc* Sabha Debates, Vol. 4, 25th July 1955, Columns 2944 - 2946; 28th July 1955, Columns 3111 -

3112; 10th August 1955, Columns 3541- 3542 & 16th August 1955, Columns 3683 - 3685. 

Lc* SabhaDebates, Vol. 5, 31st July 1956, Column 639; 3"1 Aug. 1956, Columns 784-785 & 10th 

Aug. 1956, Column 110lo 

Lc* SabhaDemtes, Vol. 8, 11th Nov. 1957, Columns 9-12 & 20th Nov. 1957, Columns 1437-1438. 

Lc* SabhaDebates, Vol. 44, r t & 4th Aug. 1960, Columns 146-157 &899-915. 

Lc* SabhaDebates, Vol. 46, 5th Sept. 1960, Columns 6913-6918. 

Lc* SabhaDebates, Vol. 47, 22nd Nov. 1960, Columns 1516-152lo 

Lc* SabhaDebates, Vol. 61, 23rd March 1962, Columns 1306-1307. 

Lc* Sabha Debates, Vol. 2, 4th May 1962, Columns 2593-2594. 

Lc* SabhaDebates, Vol. 3, 14th May 1962, Columns 4419-4426. 

Mackenzie, Alexander, History if the Relations if the Gmernnwt uith the Hill T riJx;s if the N arfh. East 

FrontierifBengd (Calcutta: Printed at the Home Department Press, 1884). 

Mansergh, Nicholas and Penderel Moon (eds.), The TransferifPmREr, 1942-7, Vdum V, TheSirria 

Carferenre· BadewrwdandPrrreedi:r/f§, 1 Septenix?r 1944 - 28 July 1945 (London: Her 

Majeso/s Stationary Office, 1974). 

, The TransferifPmREr, 1942-7, Vdum: VI, Thepat-wrphase: 1rWrrm£S by the Labatr 

Gmernm?nt, 1 A Uf!JISt 1945 - 22 March 1946 (London: Her Majeso/s Stationary Office, 

1974). 

, The TransferifPmREr, 1942-7, Vdum: VII, The Cabim:Missim, 23 March - 29 Jun: 1946 

(London: Her Majeso/s Stationary Office, 1974). 

, The Transfer if Pooer, 1942-7, V dum IX, The fixing if a tirrr lirrit, 4 N ar.err/x;r - 22 March 

1947 (London: Her Majeso/s Stationary Office, 1974). 

, The TransferifPmREr, 1942-7, Vdum:X, TheMatrIt"hltten Via?raplty: Farmdatian ifa Plan, 

22 March - 30 May 1947 (London: Her Majeso/s Stationary Office, 1974). 

, The TransferifPmREr, 1942-7, Vdum:XII, TheMatrIt"hltten Via?raplty: Pn"nces, Partition, and 

Independena!, 8 July - 15 A Uf!f'St 1947 (London: Her Majeso/ s Stationary Office, 1974). 

'Memorandum submitted by the government of Assam to the Indian statutory commission 1930', 

In IndianStatutary Cormission, Volume XIV (London: Published by his Majeso/s 

Stationary Office), pp. 78-Q8. 

Mills, J. P., The Lhota N agJS (London: MacMillan and Co., Limited, 1922). 

, TheAoNagJS (London: MacMillan and Co., Limited, 1926). 

- ,The Rer1f!!YU NagJS (Gauhati: Spectrum Publications, 1980 [1937]). 



292 

Mountbatten of Bunna, Vice-Admiral The Earl, Report 1XJ the CanVirx.d Oie.ft ifStaffby the SuprerrF 

Allied Corrmuxier Sadh-EastA sia, 1943-1945 (New York: Philosophical Library, 1951 

[London, 1951]. 

ParliarrmtaryDebttes. Fifth Series - Volume 301 HC, (London, 1935), 10 May 1935, columns 

1343-1449. 

Pemberton, Captain R Boileau, Report on the easternfrrntier if British India (Gauhati: Department of 

Historical and Antiquarian Studies in Assam, 1966 [Calcutta, 1835]. 

Rajp SabhaDebttes, Vol. 22, No. 1,25. August 1958, Q)lumns 963-976; 27. August 1958, 

Columns 1253-1312; 28. August 1958, Q)lumns 1313-1474 & 24th Sept. 1958, Columns 

4431-4433. 

Rajp SabhaDebttes, Vol. 32, 15th Sept. 1961, Q)lumns 57-58. 

Reid, Sir Robert, History if the Frontier A n'aS BarderingonAssam Fram1883-1941 (Guwahati, Delhi: 

Spectrum Publications, 1997 [1942]. 

Report on the A dni:nistration if Assam for the;ear 1921-22 (Shillong: Government Press, 

Assam, 1923). 

Report if the franchise curmittee, 1918-1919 (Calcutta: Superintendent Government Printing, India). 

Shakespear, L. W., History if Upper Assam Upper Burmth and North-Eastern Frontier (London: 

MacMillan, 1914). 

U.S. Department of State, India CatntryReportonHummRigpfS Praaia?sfor 1998, Released by the 

Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights, and Labor, February 26, 1999, pp. 6-7, 

http:// www.state.gov/www/globaVhuman_rights/1998Jrrp_report!india.html. 

Wade, Dr. John Peter, 'A Geographical Sketch of Assam 1800 AD. Appendix' (Reprinted from 

'The Asiatic Annual Register' 1805 '), In idem, AnAallW7t if Assam (Madhupur Tea 

Estate: North Lakhimpur, Assam, 1927 [1800], edited by Benudhar Sharma. 

Welsh, Captain, 'Welsh's Report on Assam, 1794', In Alexander Mackenzie, History if the Relations 

if the Gorernnrnt W1h the Hill Triks if the The N arth-East Frontier if Bengpl (Calcutta: Printed 

at the Home Department Press, 1884), Appendix A, 377-394. 

White, Major Adam, A Mem:ir if the 14te DaUd SaX!: AWU 1XJ the GmEmnr Getrral on the North-East 

Frontier if Bengpl and Cormissiorrr if Rerenue and Cimdt in Assam (Guwahati: Department of 

Historical and Antiquarian Studies in Assam, 1988 [1831). 

Wucox, Lieutenant R, 'Memoir of a Survey of Assam and the Neighbouring Countries, executed 

in 1825-6-7-8', In OIOC: UPS/20/D16, Political and Secret Department (Bunna 

Office), Selection if Papers &gprding the Hill Tracts lmiHmA ssamand Burmth A nd 01 The 

Upper Brahrrnputra (printed at the Bengal Secretariat Press, 1873), pp. 1-82. 



293 

WoodthOlpe, RG., 'Meetings of the Anthropological Institute', In Verrier Elwin (ed.), The Na[pS 

in the Nirmenth Century (Bombay: Oxford University Press, 1969 [1881], pp. 46-82. 

Yule, Captain Henry, 'On the Geography of Bunna and its Tributary-States, in illustration of a 

New Map of those Regions',Jarrna/ if the Ra;ul Gwgraphical Society, Vol. 27, London, 1857, 

pp. 54-108. 

3. Books 

Ahmed, Ishtiaq, S tdte, Nation and Ethnicity in Ccrnterrparary Sooth A sia (London: Pinter, 1996). 

Alemchimba, M, A Brief Historical A a:amt ifNag1iand (Kohirna: Naga Institute of Culture, 1970). 

Anand, V.K., Corflict in Nag1iand: A Study ifInsUYfFlCY and CoonterinsUYfFlCY (Delhi: Chanakya 

Publications, 1980). 

Anderson, Benedict, Die Erfindung der Nation: Zur Karriere eines folgenreichen Konzeptes 

(Frankfurt: Campus, 1983 [IrrugjrRl Comrunities: Rifleaions on the Origjn and Spmui if 

N atinrJalism]. 

Aosenba, The N agl ResistarK:e M merrFnt: Pmpws if Peaa! andA rmrl Conflict (New Delhi: 

Regency, 2001). 

Ash, Timothy Garton, History if the Present: E sstl)5, Skeuhes and Dispatrhes fromE urope in the 1990s 

(London: Penguin Books, 2000). 

Atkinson, Ronald R, The Roots if Ethnicity: The Origins if the A dxii if Uglnda B(are 1800 

(Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 1994). 

Banerjee, Anil Chandra, The Eastern FranJier if British India 1784-1826 (Calcutta: A Mukherjee and 

Co., 1946[1943]. 

Banks, Marcus, Ethnicity: anJ:hrrJpdu;jcal cunstruaions (London: Roudedge, 1996). 

Barooah, Nirode K., Da'lid Srott in North-east India 1802-1831: A Study in British Paternalism (New 

Delhi: Munshiram Manoharlal, 1970). 

Baruah, Sanjib, India A~inst Itself. Assamand the Pditics ifNatinrJality (philadelphia: University of 

Pennsylvania Press, 1999). 

Barpujari, H K., PrrHemifthe Hill Trilx:s North-East FranJier 1822-42 (Gauhati, Assam: Laywer's 

Book Stall, 1970),Vol. I. 

Basham, A L., The Wonder that WIS India (Calcutta: Rupa, 1992 [1967]. 

Bhaumik, Subir Insttrg!YllCra;sji:re: North-East India (New Delhi: Lancer, 1996). 

Bayly, C. A, Irrperial Meridian: The British enpire and the 'lRl1Yld 1780-1830 (London: Longman, 1989). 



294 

Berlin, Isaiah, The Crrxieed Tirrkr ifHummity. OJapters in the History if Ideas (London: John Murray, 

1990 [1959]. 

Bhattacharjee, J ayanta Bhusan, Guhar under British Rule in N arth East India (New Delhi: Radiant 

Publishers, 1977). 

Bhuyan, S. K.,Arlf!Jo-AssamseRelat:iuJs 1771-1826 (Gauhati: Department of Historical and 

Antiquarian Studies in Assam, 1949). 

Boehm, Christopher, BlaxlRereJ1ff.·The Enactm?nt andMana~ if Conflict inM01'1terlt!!Oand Other 

TrWal Societies. (pennsylvannia: University of Pennsylvannia Press, 1984). 

Bose, Sumantra, The ~ in Kashrrir: Demx:racy, Self Detemination and a Just Pw:e (New Delhi, 

Thousand Oaks & London: Sage Publications, 1997). 

Bower, Ursula Graham, Nagl Path (London: Butler & Tanner Ltd., 1950). 

Brass, Paul, IndianPditia sm Independence (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1994). 

Brewer, John, The SineliS if pooer. War, 11'ln?)' and the E rrg/ish state, 1688-1783 (London: Unvin 

Hyman,1989). 

Brown, Judith M, Nehru: A Pditical Lifo (New Haven and London: Yale University Press). 

Cain, P. J. and A G. Hopkins, British irrperialism Vd 1: irrnmtttionandexpansioo 1688-1914 

(London: Longrnan, 1993). 

,BritishInperialism Vd 2: Crisis andDewnstruaioo, 1914-1990 (London: Longrnan, 1993). 

Campbell, Arthur, The Siltf.· A StoryframK.chiml (London: George Allen & Unwin Ltd., 1956). 

Carrier, James G. (ed.), History and Tradition inMelarK!SianA~ (Berkeley: University of 

California Press, 1992). 

Chakrabarty, Saroj, The UpheawJ Yea1S in Narfh.East IrJdi£l.· A cla:um?ntary in-depth study if Assam 

hdcrausts 1960-1983 (Calcutta: Sree SaraswatyPress Limited, 1984). 

Chandler, David, V0ia5 framS-21: Terror andHistory inPd Pot's Socret Prison (Berkeley: University of 

California Press, 1999). 

Changkiri, L. Atola, The A rlfJlni NaWJS and the British, 1832-1947 (New Delhi: Spectrum Publishers: 

Distributors, United Publishers, 1999). 

Chasie, Charles, The Nagl Irrbruiio (Kohima: Standard Printers & Publishers, 1999). 

Chaube, Shibanikinkar, Hill Pditia in Narfh.East IrJ£!i4 (New Delhi: Orient Longrnan, 1973). 

Cobden, Richard, HUWUU1S are gJt up in IrJdi£l.· the arigjn if the BU'r71'I5e uur (London: William & 

Frederick G. Cash, 1853). 

Cohen, Stephen P., The IrJ£!i4nA my. Its rontrilJution to the deu:lopnwt if a nation (Berkeley, Los 

Angeles, London: University of California Press, 1971). 

Cohn, Bernard S., A nA rTJ:hropdnist armng the Historians and Other EssCl)5 (Delhi: Oxford University 

Press, 1990). 



295 

Colley, Linda, Britoos: Forging the N at:im, 1707-1837 (New Haven and London: Cape, 1992). 

, Capti:u?S: Britain, enpire and the uadd, 1600-1850 (London: Yale University Press, 

2002). 

Collier, Basil, The War in the Far East, 1941-1945: A Military History (London: Heinemann, 1969). 

Comaroff, John and Jean, E thnugraphy am the HistxJriml Imtgjnat:icn (Boulder: Westview, 1992). 

Conboy, Kenneth and James Morrison, The CIA's S£tret War in Tikt (Kansas: University Press of 

Kansas, 2002). 

Connor, Walker, E thnanationalism The quest far understanding (princeton: Princeton University Press, 

1994). 

Daniel, E. Valentine, OJapters inanAnthropagraphyifVidence: Sri Lankans, SinhaJas andTanils 

(Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1997). 

Dena, Lal, CJmstian M issia?s and Cdonialism A Study if M issimary M CJr.eI1'E11t in N artheast India Wzth 

PartiaJar Reference to Manipur and Lushai hills 1894-1947 (Shillong: Vendrame Institute, 

1988). 

Diamond,Jared, Guns, Germ andStrei: thefates ifhumlnsocieties (London: Jonathan Cape, 1997). 

Downs, Frederick S., CJmstianity in North East India: HistxJriml Perspoctiw (New Delhi: ISPCK, 

1983). 

Downs, Frederick S., North East India in the nin1R£nth and tuentieth renturies (Bangalore: Church 

History Association of India, 1992). 

Duara, Prasenjit, Re5ating History fram the N atwn: Qiestionirg N arratiw if M aIem China (Chicago: 

The University of Chicago Press, 1995). 

Elwin, Verrier, Nag:dand(Guwahati: Spectrum, 1997 [1961]. 

Embree, Ainslie T., Utopias in Conflict: Religiooand Nationalism in MaIemIndia (Berkeleyand Los 

Angeles: University of California Press, 1990). 

Fabian, Johannes, TirrE and the Other: HawA nthropdagy rnlke5 its Wject (New York: Columbia 

University Press, 1983). 

Ferguson, Brian R &Neil L. Whitehead (eds.), War in the Trihal Zen.' Expa:ndirrt,States and 

IndifPWIS Wa1fore (Santa Fe, New Mexico: School of American Research, 1992). 

Foucault, Michel, Die Ordnung des Diskurse5 (Frankfurt am Main, 2000; [in the original: L 'ordre du 

disrourse (paris, 1972)]. 

F6rster, Stig, Die nikhtiWZ DierK!r dcr East India Cmparty: UrsadJen unci HirrtergrUnde der britischen 

Expansia?spditik inSUdasien, 1793-1819 (Stuttgart: Steiner, 1992). 

Fortes, M, & E. E. Evans-Pritchard (eds.) , AfricanPditical S)5tem (London and New York: KPI, 

1987 [1940]. 



296 

Filler-Haimendorf, Christoph von, Die nadeten NafPS: DreizelmMooate unter Kopfog:mIndiens 

(Wiesbaden: Eberhard Brockhaus Verlag, 1946 [1939]). 

Galbraith, John Kenneth, A rrWssador's Jatmal: A nA rrnican ViewifIndia (Bombay: Jaico 

Publishing House, 1972 [1969]). 

Gellner, Emest, Nations and Natimalism (Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 1983). 

,A nt:hrvpd.ai!J and Pdit:U:s: Reulutions in the Sacred Grure (Oxford: Blackwell, 1995). 

Giddens, Anthony, The NatimState and Viderre: V dunr Tw if A Canterrparary Critique if Historical 

Materialism (Cambridge: Polity Press, 1985). 

Gopal, S., British PdicyinIndia, 1858-1905 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1965). 

Gosh, B.B., History ifNagaland(New Delhi: S. Chand & Company Ltd., 1982). 

Guha, Amalendu, Planter-Raj toSwraj: Fref!£!amSt'rUfJ!/eandEl«:tnral Pdit:U:s inAssam 1826-1947 

(New Delhi: Indian Council of Historical Research, 1977). 

Gundevia, Y. D., War and Peace in Nagpland (New Delhi: Palit &Palit, 1975). 

Haffner, Sebastian, A Is E ngfander rmskiert: E in Gespram rrit Jutta Krng Ukr das Exil (Stuttgart & 

Miinchen, 2002). 

Hardgrave, Robert L. and Stanley A Kochanek India: Gaternm!nt and Pdit:U:s in a Deudoping N atian 

(Fort Worth and London: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich College Publishers, 1993). 

Hastrup, Kirsten (ed.), Other Histories (London: Routledge, 1992) 

Hazarika, Joysankar, Geopdit:U:s ifNarth East India: A Stratet)cal Study (New Delhi: Gyan Publishing 

House, 1996). 

Hazarika, Sanjoy, S trang;rs in the Mist: Tales if War & PfLK£ fromlndia's N artheast (New Delhi: 

Penguin Books, 1995). 

Herder,]. G., AbhandlungUkrden Ursprungder SpradJe(Stuttgart: Reclam, 1966 [1770]). 

- AudJ eine Philaophie zur Bildungder Menscheit (Frankfurt am Main: Suhrkamp, 1967 [1774]. 

Horam, M, NagpInsUYfPlC)'.' The last thirty)f!drs (New Delhi: Cosmo Publications, 1988). 

,NafPS ddWl)5 andrrwtrr?rlds (New Delhi: Cosmo Publications, 1988). 

Horowitz, Donald L., Ethnic Grrups in Conflict (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1985). 

Iralu, Kaka. D., NagplandandIndia, the Blaxiam the tears: A historical aa:amt if the 52)f!drs Indo-Nagp 

wr and the story if tha;e Wx; uere rrr.er alkmed to tell it (2000 [neither place nor publsher 

given]). 

Jacobs, Julian, The NafPS: Hill Peop!is ifNartheast India (Stuttgart: edition hansjorg mayer, 1990). 

Jaffrelot, Christophe, The Hindu Nationalist MmerrEflt and Indian Pdit:U:s: 1925 to the 1990s (London: 

Hurst, 1996). 

J enkins, Richard, Rethinking ethnicity: arr;m:nts am explorations (London: Sage, 1997). 



297 

Jensen, A E., Mytha undKult bei Natuniikem {Miinchen: Deutscher Taschenbuch Verlag, 1992 

[1951]. 

Jhingran, Saral, Secularism in India: A RedfJIlraisal (New Delhi: Har-Anand, 1995). 

Juergensmeyer, Mark, Religj.oos Nationalism Cafrunts the Secular State (Delhi: Oxford University 

Press, 1994). 

Khanna, S. K., Ency:iopaRdia ifNartiJ.East India (Delhi: Indian Publishers' Distributors, 1999). 

Koenig, Wtlliam]., The Burm'Se Pdity, 1752-1819: Pditicr, adrrinistratin1, am Social Orglnizatioo in the 

E arty KJJn.l:wmg Peria! (The University of Michigan: Michigan Papers on South and 

Southeast Asia, 1990). 

Kulke, Hermann and Dietmar Rothennund, A history if India (Calcutta: Rupa, 1991 [1986]. 

Lamb, Alastair,AsianF~: Studies ina ~Prd:iem(London: Praeger Publishers, 1968). 

Leach, E. R, Pditical S)5tem ifHijJlandBumu: A StudyifKadJinSocial St:ruct:un5 {London: G. Bell 

and Sons, Ltd., 1964 [1954]. 

Leiris, Michel, PhantomAfrika: TagdmdJ eim-Expedition 'lmDakar nadJ Djibaai 1931-1933. Erster 

Teil. Ethnologische Schriften Band 3 und Zweiter Teil. Ethnologische Schriften. Band 4 

(Frankfurt am Main, 1985; French edition L 'AfiiquefantiJrrE DedakaraDjihaai 1931-

1933[paris, 1934]. 

Luithui, Luingam and Nandita Haksar, Nagpland File: A questioo if Hum:mRitfts (New Delhi: 

Lancer International, 1984). 

Mahmood, Cynthia K., F igjJtingfar Faith and Nation: Dialagues Wth Sikh Militants (Philadelphia: 

University of Pennsylvania Press, 1996). 

Mankekar, D.R, On the Slippery Slope in Nag[1iam (Bombay: Manaktaias, 1967). 

Mann, Michael, BerIgflien im Urrbn«h: Die Herausbildung des britischen Kdonialstaates 1754-1793 

(Stuttgart: Steiner, 2000). 

Mao, Ashikho Daili, Na?f1S: PrWlem andPditicr (New Delhi: Ashish Publishing House, 1992). 

Marwah, Ved, Unciw Wa1S: PathdugyifTerrarisminIndia (New Delhi: HarperCollins, 1995). 

Maxwell, Neville, India am the Na?f1S (London: Minority Rights Group, 1973). 

Maybmy-Lewis, David, brli[p1a1S Peoples, Ethnic Gra-tps, and the State (Boston: Allyn and Bacon, 

1997). 

Mc Gany, John and BrendanO'Leaty, ThePditicr ifethnicOnjlictR~tion: Case Studies if Protracted 

Ethnic Ccrnjlict (London: Rontledge, 1993). 

Mehta, Gita, Snakes andLadders: A ViewifMcxlemIndia (London: Secker & Warburg, 1997). 

Mehta, Uday Singh, L ikralismam E rrpire: India in British L ikral 'ThrugjJt (New Delhi: Oxford 

University Press, 1999). 



298 

Metcalf, Thomas R, 'Ideologies of the Raj', The NewCa~ His1XltyiflndW., Vol. ilIA. 

(Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1994). 

Misra, Udayon, The Periphery Strikes Bade: ~ ID the Nat:im-State inAssamand NaPnd 

(Rashtrapati Nivas, Shimla: Indian Institute of Advanced Study, 2000). 

Moore, R J., LikralismamlndW.nPaitia, 1872-1922 (London: Edward Arnold, 1966). 

Mullik, B. N., My Yea?S Wzth N ehru: 1948-1964 (Bombay: Allied, 1972). 

Nehru, Jawaharlal, The Unity if India: Cdlected W~ 1937-1940 (London: Lindsay Drummond, 

1942). 

, TheDisaneryiflndia (New Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1982 [1946]. 

Nibedon, Nirmal, NarthEastlndia: The EtlmicExp/aion (New Delhi: Lancers Publishers, 1981). 

, NagrJiand: The NigfJt if the Guerrillas (New Delhi: Lancers Publishers, 1983). 

Orwell, George, Bunre;eDd)5 (Hannondsworth: Penguin Books, 1967 [1934]. 

Pagden, Anthony, Lards ifall the7.RJJYld.· ldedugjes iferrpireinSpain, BritainandFrarKEc 1500- c1800 

(New Haven & London: Yale University Press, 1995) 

- PeoplRs and errpires (London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 2001). 

Peers, Douglas M, BetliE£nMa?S amMarmvn: CdanialA rnies and the GanisonState in Early 

Nimeenth-CenturylndW. (London: Tauris Academic Studies, 1995). 

Pettigrew, Joyce, The Sikhs if the Pwjab: Unheard Voias if State am Guerrilla VidenaJ (London: Zed, 

1995). 

Phukon, Girin, AssamA ttitude to Federalism (New Delhi: Sterling Publishers Private Ltd., 1984). 

Proudfoot, C L., Flash if the Khukri: His1Xlty if the 3rd Garkha Rifles, 1947 to 1980 (New Delhi: 

Vision Books, 1984). 

Reid, Anthony, S~t A sia in the AfJ? if Corrm!rre, 1450-1680. V clum? OK!: The Lands l::daw the 

Wtnds (New Haven and London: Yale University Press, 1988). 

,San:heastAsia in theA~ifCorrm!rre, 1450-1680. VaUJ1'l? Tuv: Expansianand Crisis (New 

Haven and London: Yale University Press, 1993). 

Reid, Sir Robert, Yea?S ifOJa~ inBeYfj1i amAssam(London: Ernest Benn Ltd., 1966). 

Richards, Louanne, A JatrrX!YintoNagrJiand(Oxford: Abzu, 1995). 

Rodger, George, RedM<wRisi~(London: The Cresset Press, 1943). 

Rosaldo, Renato, I~ Hedhtmtirrg, 1883-1974: A Study in Society and History (Stanford, California: 

Stanford University Press, 1980). 

Rustomji, Nari, E rKhanted Frontiers: S ikkim, Bhutan and Indid's N arth-E astern Barderlands (Bombay, 

Oxford University Press, 1971). 

,InperilledFrontiers: IndW.'s Narth-EasternBarderlands (Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1983). 

Said, Edward W., Oientalism(New York: Vintage Books, 1979). 



299 

Sanyu, Visier, A History ifNafPS and Na[piam· Dynarrit5 if Oral Traditioo in VilJafj! Farrrut:im (New 

Delhi: Commonwealth Publishers, 1996). 

Scheuch, Manfred, BedrriJte Viiker{Wien: Brandstiitter, 1995). 

Schiller, Friedrich, WUhelmTeI1 (Stuttgan: Reclam, 1979 [1804]. 

Scott, Michael The Search for PealE (London: Zed, 1968). 

Shimmi, Y.L. Roland, Conparatiw History if the NafPS: FromA rrient Peria! Till 1826 (New Delhi: 

Inter-India Publications, 1988). 

Singh, Gurhatpal, Ethnic Ca1jlia in India: A Case-Study if Punjab (London: Macrnillan, 2000). 

Slim, W.]., Defeat into Viaory. London: Cassell, 1961 [1956]. 

Sluka, J effrey A (ed.), Death Squad: The A nthrupdogy if State Terror (philadelphia: University of 

Pennsylvania Press, 2000). 

Steyn, Pieter, Zapuphiza· V Dire if the NafPS (London: Kegan Paul, 2002). 

Stocking, G. W., ViaorianAnthrupdogy (New York: The Free Press, 1987). 

Stohl, Michael & George Lopez (eds.), The State as Terrorist" The Dynani1:s ifGmernmmtal Videna! 

and Repression (London: Aldwych, 1984). 

Stracey, P. D., NagdandNigpt:rnlre (Bombay: Allied Publishers Private Ltd., 1968). 

Suganemi, Hidemi, On the causes if wr (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1996). 

Swanz, Marvin, The pditics if British foreign pdiry in the era if Disraeli and GIads~ (New York: St. 

Manin's Press, 1985). 

Tambiah, Stanley J., World Conqueror and WarId Renama;r. A Study if Buddhismand Paity in Thailand 

a~inst a histxJrical bWegrrund (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1976). 

, Sri Lanka: Ethnic Fratricide and the Disrrurrtling ifDerrrxracy (Dehli: Oxford University 

Press, 1986). 

Tarling, Nicholas, Irrperialismin Srutheast Asia: 'A ./lreti11f!J passing phase' (London and New York: , 

2001). 

Thomas, Nicholas, Out qTirre: History and E uiutWn inA nt:hropcia#al Discause (Cambridge: 

Cambridge University Press, 1989). 

Tinker, Hugh, V Um.ry.- Curzcn to M amtbatten (Karachi: Oxford University Press, 1997). 

Todorov, Tzvetan, Die E~Armikas: Das PrrJiemdes Anderen (Frankfun am Main: 

Suhrkamp, 1985[La rorquffede l'AtrErique. La question de l'autre, 1982]. 

Van den Berghe, Pierre L., (ed.), State Videna! and Ethnicity (Niwot: University Press of Colorado, 

1990). 

Van der Veer, Peter, Religjms Natianalism HirrJus amMuslim inIndia (Berkeley: University of 

California Press, 1994). 

Vashum, R, et al (e(k), NafPS at Work (New Delhi: NSUD Publication, 1996). 



300 

Vashum, R, N ag:ts C Rigftt To Self Detenrimtim: A nA nthropcIugjcal-Histurical Persptrti'l£ (New Delhi: 

Mittal,2000). 

Verghese, B. G., India's N art:hedst Resurf!!llt: Ethnicity, Insurg;rx:y, Garemarxe, Derelapnwt (New Delhi: 

Konark Publishers, 1996). 

Weber, Max, Gesarrmite A ufidtze zur Wtssenschafolehre (Tiibingen: Mohr, 1973). 

Webster, Anthony, GentIerrm Capitalists: British Irrperialism in Sooth East Asia 1770-1890 (London: 

Tauris Academic Studies, 1998). 

West, Andrew, The M ~t Da.r![pOOS L~ the c/eudoprrmt if identity, pauer am nv:rgjnality in the British 

transfer to India am the Nag:ts (Hull: Centre for South-East Asian Studies, 1999). 

WIlson, AJ., The Break-Up if Sri Lanka: TheSinhakse-Tarril Ccnjlia(London: C Hust & Company 

, 1988) 

Wolf, Eric, Europe and the People Wzthatt History (Berkeley, California: University of California 

Press, 1982). 

Y onuo, Asoso, The Rising Nagas: A Historical and Political Study (Delhi: Vivek Publishers, 

1974). 

4. Anicles 

Ahmed, Imtiaz Ahmed, 'State, military and modernity: the experience of South Asia', Canterrparary 

SoothAsia (1994), 3 (1); pp. 53-66. 

, 'The Cry of Sakeena: A post-nationalist critique of violence in South Asia', Mamstredm, 

Vol. 37, No. 11, March 6,1999, pp. 14-21 

Anderson, Benedict, 'The State and Minorities in Indonesia', In Glltural Survival Report 22, 

SattheastAsian Tribal Gratps amEthnicMimrities (Cambridge: Glltural Survival, 1987), pp. 

73-81. 

Ansari, Iqbal A, 'Human Rights Situation in India - An Overview', In idem (ed.), HummRigftts 

inIndia (New Delhi: Institute of Objective Studies, 1998), pp. 1-23. 

Bane~ee, A C 'The East-India Company and Assam', In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The Conprehensi1£ 

History if Assam Vd. IL' Medier.ul Perial: Pditiad. From Thirteen Century A. D. to the Tmtty if 
Yandabo, 1826 (Guwahati: Publication Board, Assam, 1992), pp. 300-331. 

, 'Internal Dissensions and Foreign Invasions', In H K. Batpujari (ed.), The Conprehensi1£ 

History if Assam, Vol. 11: M edier.ul Perial: Pditiad. From Thirteen Century A. D. to the T mtty if 
Yandabo, 1826, (Guwahti: Publication Board, Assam, 1992), pp. 332-352. 



301 

Banerjee, Paula, 'Between Two Armed Patriarchies: Women in Assam and Nagaland', In Rita 

Manchanda (ed.), Wcnm, War am ped(£ in Sooth Asia: Bepzd Viairrixxxi amAwx:y (New 

Delhi, Thousand Oaks & London: Sage Publications, 2001), pp. 131-176. 

Barpujari, H K., 'Preface', In idem (ed.), The ConprrlJensiw History if Assam V cl l· FromPre- historic 

Tirres rothe Tuelfth CenturyA.D. (Guwahati: Publication Board, Assam, 1990) pp. IX-XII. 

, 'Introduction', In idem (ed.), The ConprrlJensiw History if Assam V cl L- FromPre-historic 

Tirres rothe Tuelfih CenturyA.D. (Guwahati: Publication Board, Assam, 1990), pp. 1-24. 

Barpujari, S.K., 'Early Christian Missions in the Naga Hills: An Assessment of their Activities', 

jannal if Indian History, Vol. XLVIII, Part I., April 1970, pp. 427-435. 

- ,'Paramountcyin the Hills, 1874-1914', In H K. Barpujari, The ConprrlJensiw 

History if Assam Vdum Ill· McxlemPerial: YandaboroDiarrhy, 1826-1919 A. D. 

(Guwahati: Publication Board, Assam, 1992), pp. 220-257. 

Barua, Pradeep, 'Strategies and Doctrines of Imperial Defence: Britain and India, 1919-45', The 

jannal iflrrperial am Cnrm:lrmPalth History, Vol. XXV, May 1997, No. 2, pp. 240-266. 

Baruah, Sanjib, 'Confronting Constructionism: Ending India's Naga War',jannal ifped(£ Resrurrh, 

vol. 40, no. 3,2003, pp. 321-338. 

Bhaumik, Subir, 'North-East India: The Evolution of a post-colonial Region', In Partha 

Chatterjee (ed.), Wa~ if Freedom Fifty Yru~ if the Indian Natian-State (Delhi: Oxford 

University Press, 1998), pp. 310-327. 

Bayiy, C. A, 'The First Age of Global Imperialism, c. 1760-1830', Thejannal iflrrperia/ am 

CarrmJm.iRalth History, Vol. XXVI, May 1998, No. 2, pp. 28-47. 

, 'The British and indigenous peoples, 1760-1860: power, perception and identitY, In 

Martin Daunton and Rick Halpem (eds.), E rrpire am Others: British E rmmters 'l1ith 

IndiWJfJUS Peoples, 1600-1850 (philadelphia, 1999), pp. 19-41. 

Behrend, Heike, 'Frauen und Krieg. Zur Gewalt in postkolonialen Widerstandsbewegungen in 

Afrika', In Peter J. Briiunlein &Andrea Lauser (eds.), KriegundFrieden: Et:lmdagjsche 

Perspeieti:ren (Bremen: kea-edition, 1995), pp. 161-172. 

Bell, Morag, Robin Butler and Michael Heffeman, 'Introduction: Geography and imperialism, 

1820-1940', In idem (eds.), Gro;?[aphy and irrperialism 1820-1940 (Manchester: Manchester 

University Press, 1995), pp. 1-12. 



I 

302 

Bentley, Carter G., 'Ethnicity and Practice' Cmparatiz.e Studies inSaietyarrlHistory, 1987,29.1, pp. 

24-55. 

Benyon, John, 'Overlords of Empire? British 'Proconsular Imperialism' in Comparative 

Perspective', The Jatmal if Irrperial am C'nrn--mul'dlth History, Vol. XIX, 1991, No. 2, pp. 

164-202. 

Berlin, Isaiah, 'Nationalism: Past Neglect and Present Power', In idem, Agnnst the Current: Esstt)5 

in the History if Ideas (London: Pim1ico, 1997, edited by Henry Hardy [1959], pp. 333-355. 

Bhattacharyya, 'Publishers Note' ,In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The Conprehensiw History if Assam Vd 

L· FramPre-historic Tim:s to the Twlfth CenturyA.D. (Guwahati: Publication Board, Assam, 

1990), pp. V-VI. 

Bilgrami, Akeel, 'Secularism, Nationalism, and Modernity', In Rajeev Bhargava (ed.) , 

Sa::uldrismam its Critics (Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1998), pp. 380-417. 

Brands, H W., 'India and Pakistan in American Strategic Planning, 1947-54: The Commonwealth 

as Collaborator', TheJatmal ifIrrperial arrl C'nrn--mul'dlth History, Vol. XV, October 1986, 

No. 1, pp. 41-54. 

Brass, Paul, 'Secularism out of its place', Cootributia7s to Indiansocidagy (n.s.) 32, 2 (1998), pp. 485-

505. 

Brown, Judith M, 'India', In idem (ed.), The Oxford History if the British E rrpire, Vd IV, The 

T'lR£Yltieth Century (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999), pp. 421-446. 

Bryant, G.]., 'Pacification in the Early British Raj, 1755-85', TheJatmal ifIrrperial and 

C'nrn--mul'dlthHistory, Vol. XIV, Oct. 1985, No 1, pp. 3-19. 

Bushnell, P. Timothy, Vladimir Shlapentokh, Christopher K. Vanderppol, andJeyaratnam 

Sundram, , State Organized Terror: Tragedy of the Modem State', In idem (eds.), State 

Orrflnized Terror: The Case if Vident Internal Repressioo (Boulder: Westview Press, 1991), pp. 

3-37. 

Cmnadine, David, 'Empire', In idem, History In Our Tim! (New Haven and London: Yale 

University Press, 1998), pp. 143-154. 

- ,'The Context, Perlormance and Meaning of Ritual: The British Monarchy and the 

"Invention of Tradition", c. 1820-1977', in Eric Hobsbawm and Terence Ranger (eds.), 

The Imention ifTraditim (CarrIDridge: Cambridge University Press, 1983), pp. 101-164. 

Canny, Nicholas, 'The Origins of Empire: An Introduction', In idem (ed.), The Oxford history if the 

British errpire. Vd 1: The orig,ns if errpire.. British meYSOO enterprise to the ooe if the se7ErTJrenth 

century (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1998), pp. 1-34. 

Chatte~ee, Partha, 'Secularism and Tolerance', In Rajeev Bhargava (ed.), Sa::uldrismam its Critics 

{Delhi: Oxford University Press 1998 [1994], pp. 345-379. 



303 

- , 'Introduction: A Political History of Independent India', In idem (ed.), Stare and Pditics in 

India (Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1997), pp. 1-39. 

Chanopadhyaya, S., 'Economic condition', In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The Carprehensiw History if 
A ssam, Vd L' FrornPre-historic Tim?s to the T uelfih Century A .D. (Guwahati: Publication 

Board, Assam, 1990), pp. 233-264. 

Cohn, Bemard S., 'The British in Benares: A Nineteenth Century Colonial Society', In idem, A n 

A nt:hropdq§st anvng the HistorUms and Other E sstt)5 (Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1990), 

pp. 422-462. 

Cornaroff and Cornaroff,John and Jean, 'On Toternism and Ethnicity', In idem, Ethnut,rapbyand 

the Histuricd Imlginatim (Boulder: Westview, 1992) pp. 49-68. 

Cornaroff, John L., 'Ethnicity, Nationalism and the Politics of Difference In an Age of 

Revolution', In John L. Cornaroff and Paul C Stern (eds.), Perspwi:r.es 00 Nationalism and 

War (Arnsterdam, 2000 [1995], pp. 243-276. 

Connor, Walker, 'Homelands in a World of States', In Montserrat Guibemau and John 

Hutchinson (eds.), UnderstandirYg, Natimalism (Cambridge: Polity Press, 2001), pp. 53-73. 

- ,'The timelessness of nations', Nations andNatimalism 10 (1/2),2004, pp. 35-47. 

Oelinsten, Ronald D., 'In Their Own Words: The World of the Torturer', In Ronald D. 

Oelinsten and Alex P. Schrnid (eds.), The Pditics if Pain' Torturers and Their Masters 

(Boulder: Westview Press), pp. 35-64. 

Dandavate, P., Haksar, N. et al1990, 'Report of a Fact Finding Team', In A R Desai (ed.), 

Rej7YfSsionandResistanre in India (London: Sangam, 1990), pp. 292-307; 

Darwin, John, 'Imperialism and the Victorians: The Dynamics of Territorial Expansion', E rrJish 

HisturicdRer.iew, CXII (1997), pp. 614-642 

Das, Veena, 'Time, Self, and Community: Features of the Sikh Militant Discourse', In N. Jayaram 

and Satish Saberwal (eds.), Social OJrflict (Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1996), pp. 175-

191. 

Doering, Detrnar and Jiirgen G. Backhaus, 'Introduction: Secession as a Right', In idem (eds.), 

The PditUal E ~ if Seression: A Same Bale (Neue Ziircher Zeitung Publishing, 2004), 

pp. 7-17. 

Eaton, Richard M, 'Conversion to Christianity among the Nagas, 1876-1971', The Indian 

EcomnicandSocialHistoryRer.iew, 21,1, (1984), pp. 1-44. 

Edney, Matthew H, 'The Ideologies and Praxis of Mapping and Imperialism', In idem, MappirYg, 

an errpire: The ~aphical coostn«1im if British India, 1765-1843 (Chicago: University of 

Chicago Press, 1997). 



304 

Endicott, Kirk, 'The Effects of Government Policies and Programs on the Orang Asli of 

Malaysia', In GUtural Survival Report 22, SaaheastAsian Trim! Grrups andEthnicMinnrities 

(Cambridge: GUtural Survival, 1987) pp. 47-51. 

Ertman, Thomas, 'The Sinews of Power and European State-Building Theory, In Lawrence 

Stone (ed.) , Anlrrperial State at war. Britdinfrom1689 to 1815 (London: Routledge, 1994), 

pp. 33-51. 

Fieldhouse, D. K., 'Gentlemen, Capitalists, and the British Empire', 1bejatmal iflrrperial am 
Cammrw.edth History, Vol. XXII, 1994, No. 3, pp. 531-541. 

Fortes, M and E. E. Evans-Pritchard, 'Introduction', In idem. (eds.) , AfricanPditiad S)5tem 

(London and New York: KPI, 1987 [1940], pp. 1-23. 

Galbraith, John S., 'The "Turbulent Frontier" as a Factor in British Expansion', Cnrpara1ile 

Studies in Society am History, Vol. H., No. 1, Oct. 1959, pp. 150-168. 

- ,'British War Aims in World War I: A Commentary on "Statesmanship"', 1be jatmal if 

Irrperial am Cammrw.edth History, Vol. XIH, October 1984, No. 1, pp. 25-45. 

Gallagher, John and Ronald Robinson, 'The Imperialism of Free Trade', TheEanonicHistory 

R~ Second Series, Vol. VI., No. 1,1953, pp. 1-15. 

Gatade, Subash, 'Why the Armed Forces Special Powers Act should be Dumped', Mainstrf!am, 

Vol. XLII, No. 32,July31, 2004, pp. 3-5. 

Gibson, Thomas, 'Raiding, trading, and tribal autonomy in insular Southeast Asia', In J onathan 

Haas (ed.), TheArzthrqxiogyifWar(Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1990), pp. 

125-145. 

Guha, Sumit, 'The Politics of Identity and Enumeration in India c. 1600-1990', Cnrparatiw Studies 

in Society am History, 2003, Vol. 45, pp. 148-167. 

Hoskins, Janet, 'Introduction: Headhunting as Practice and as Trope', In idem (ed.) Heddhunting 

and the Social Irrugjnation inSaaheastAsia (Stanford, California: Stanford California Press, 

1996), pp. 1-49. 

Hyam, Ronald, 'The Primacy of Geopolitics: The Dynamics of British Imperial Policy, 1763-

1963', 1bejatmal iflrrperial andCammrw.edthHistory, Vol. XXVII, May 1999, No. 2, pp. 

27-52. 

Jamir, S. C 'Nagaland and the Special Constitutional Provision', In Luingam Luithui and Nandita 

Haksar (eds.), N agpland F i1e: A Qte;tion if Humm RirjJts (New Delhi: Lancer International, 

1984), pp. 61-72. 

Joseph, Teresa, 'Kashmir, human rights and the Indian press', Canterrparary Sooth Asia (2000) 9 

(1), pp. 41-55. 



305 

Kakar, Sudhir, 'Some Unconscious Aspects of Ethnic Violence in India', In N. Jayaram & Satish 

Saberwal (ed), Social Ccnflia (Delhi: Oxford University Press, 1996), pp. 149-158. 

Kamei, Gangmumei, 'Origin of the Nagas', In R Vashwn, Aleube Ihleilung u.a. (e(k), Nagts at 

Work (New Dehli: NSUD Publication, 1996), pp. 7-20. 

Kelman, Herbert C, 'The Social Context of Torture: Policy Process and Authority Structure', In 

Ronald D. Crelinsten and Alex P. Schmid (eds.), The Pditits if Pain' TCJY'tUm"s and Their 

Masters {Boulder: Westview Press, 1995), pp. 19-34. 

Kende, Istvan, 'Terrorism, wars, nuclear holocaust', International Social ScierKEJatrnalll0, 1986, pp. 

529-538. 

Keyes, Charles F., 'Presidential Address: "The Peoples of Asia" - Science and Politics in the 

Classification of Ethnic Groups in Thailand, China, and Vietnam', TheJatrnal if Asian 

St:udils 61, no. 4 November 2002): pp. 1163-1203. 

Krome, Neingulo, 'Human Rights Movement in Nagaland', In Naorem Sanajaoba (ed.), Humm 

RigjJts: Principk, Practias & A buses (New Delhi: Ornsons, 1994), pp. 173-178. 

Kuper, Leo, 'The Genocidal State: An Overview', In Pierre L. Van den Berghe (ed.), State Videna? 

andEthnicity (Niwot: University of Colorado Press, 1990), pp. 19-52. 

Leach, E. R, 'The Frontiers of "Burma"', Corrparati1£ Studies inSa:ietyandHistory, Vol. 3, No. 1, 

Oct. 1960, pp. 49-68. 

- 'Tribal Ethnography: past, present, future', In Elizabeth Tonkin et al (eds.), Histaryand 

EthnUity(London: Routledge, 1989), pp. 34-47. 

Leverenz, Irene, 'Segmen1iire Gesellschaft', In Bemhard Streck (ed.), WOrterbuOJ der E t:hndq§e 

(Koln: DuMont, 1987), pp. 191-195. 

Levy, J.S., 'The Causes of War: A Review of Theories and Evidence', In Tetlock et al (eds.), 

Beha'liar, Society, and NudRar War (New York: Oxford University Press, 1989), pp. 209-333. 

Lieberman, Victor, 'Local Integration and E uroasian Analogies: Structuring Southeast Asian 

History, c. 1350-c. 1830', McdemAsianStudies 27, 3 (1993), pp. 475-572. 

,'Transcending East-West Dichotomies: State and Gllture Formation in Six 

Ostensibly Disparate Areas', MalemAsian Studies 31, 0 (1997), pp. 463-546. 

Lijphart, Arend, 'The Puzzle of Indian Democracy: a Consociational Interpretation', A m:rican 

Pditical ScierKE Red.ew, 90:2 Gune 1996), 258-268. 

Linnekin, J ocelyn, 'Cultural Invention and the Dilemma of AuthenticitY, A m:ricanA '111hrvpdq!fst, 

March 1991, Vol. 93, No. 1, pp. 446-449. 

Long, Ngo Vinh, 'Vietnam: The Real Enemy, Bulletin ifCaxErrmAsian Sdxiars, Vol. 21, Nos. 2-

4/ April-Dec. 1989, pp. 6-34. 



306 

Louis, Wm. Roger, and Ronald Robinson, 'The imperialism of de colonization', TheJatmal if 

Irrperial am Cnrrrum.edth History, Vol. XXII, 1994, No. 3, pp. 462-511. 

Lynch, OwenJ., 'Indigenous Rights in Insular Southeast Asia', In Glltural Survival Report 22, 

SaJt:hedstAsian Triktl Gratps amEthnicMimrities (Cambridge: Glltural Survival, 1987), pp. 

27-46. 

Madan, T. N., 'Secularism in Its Place', In Rajeev Bhargava (ed.), SeaJarismand its Critics (Delhi: 

Oxford University Press, 1998), pp. 297-320. 

Mahmood, Cynthia K., 'Trials by Fire: Dynamics of Terror in Punjab and Kashmir', In Jeffrey A 

Sluka (ed.) , Death Squad: The A nthropdagy if State Terror (philadelphia: University of 

Pennsylvania Press, 2000), pp. 70-90. 

Manor, James, "Ethnicity' and politics in India', Internatia1alAjfairs, 1996, Vol. 72, 3, pp. 459-475. 

Marshall, P. J., 'The Transfer of Power in India: Lord Wavell and his Political Masters', (Review 

Anicle) TheJatmal ifIrrperial am Camrrmu!alth History, Vol. V, October 1976, No. 1, pp. 

331-334. 

, 'The English in Asia to 1700', In Nicholas Canny (ed.) , The Oxford history if the British 

errpire, V £i 1, The arigjns if errpire: British mersedS enterprise to the ooe if the serenJlr:?rdh a!J1tUry 

(Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1998), pp. 264-285. 

Maxwell, Neville, 'Forty Years of Folly: What caused the Sino-Indian Border War and Why the 

Dispute Is Unresolved', CriticalAsianStudies, 35:1 (2003),99-112. 

MayaU, James and Mark Simpson, 'Ethnicity is not enough: Reflections on Protracted 

Secessionism in the Thirld World', In Anthony D. Smith (ed.), Ethnicity am Natianalism 

(Leiden: E.J. Brill, 1992), pp. 5-25. 

Medhi, Kunja, 'Human Rights in North-East India: A Contemporary Perspective', In Mtab Alam 

(ed.), HummRigjJts in Irr:lia: Issues am 0xd1eng5 (Delhi: Raj Publ., 2000), pp. 289-304. 

Mina, Subratra K., 'Desecularising the State: Religion and Politics in India after Independence', 

OJrrparati1£Studies in Society am History 33 (4), October 1991, pp. 755-777. 

Moore, Robin J., 'Imperial India, 1858-1914', in Andrew Porter (ed.), The Oxford History if the 

British E rrpire, V £i Ill, The Nirx:tRenth Century (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999), pp. 

422-446. 

Morgan, Kenneth 0., 'Imperialists at Bay: British Labour and Decolonization', The Jarmal if 

Irrperial am Cnrrrum.edth History, Vol. XXVII, May 1999, No. 2, pp. 233-244. 

'Naga Memorandum to Simon Commission 1996 (10. Januar 1929)', In R Vashum, Aleube 

Iheilung et al (eds.), Naff1S at Work (New Delhi: NSUD Publication, 1996), pp. 151-152. 

Naga People's Movement For Human Rights, 'Report of NPMHR', In A R Desai (ed.), 

ReJ7rfSsionandResistarKE inIrriia (London: Sangam, 1990), pp. 288-291. 



307 

Naga People's Movement For Human Rights, 'Abrogation of Fundamental Rights in Naga 

Areas', In A R Desai (ed.), RepressicnamResistarre in India (London: Sangam, 1990), pp. 

308-311. 

Nagengast, Carole, 'Violence, Terror, and the Oisis of the State', A nnual Redewif A nthrufxiaty, 

1994,23, pp. 109-136. 

Nandy, Ashis, 'The Politics of Secularism and the Recovery of Religious Toleration', In Veena 

Das (ed.), Mirrors ifVidena:: Gmrunities, RUts arxi Suniwrs in Satth Asia (Delhi: Oxford 

University Press, 1990), pp. 69-93. 

O'Brien, Jay, and Wtlliam Roseberry, 'Introduction', In idem (eds.), GddenA[!3, Dark Ags: 

Irrugjnirrg the Past inA nthrufxiaty am History (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1991), 

pp. 1-18. 

O'Leary, Brendan, 'Ernest Gellner's diagnosis of nationalism: a critical overview, or, what is 

living and what is dead in Ernest Gellner's philosophy of nationalism?', In John A Hall 

(ed.), The State if the Natim: Em:st GeI1rl?1am the ThearyifNatia1alism (Cambridge: 

Cambridge University Press, 1998), pp. 40-88. 

Ortner, Sherry, 'Theory in Anthopology since the Sixties', Carparatiw Studies in Society am History, 

1984,26: 126-166. 

Otterbein, Keith F., 'Feuding - Dispute Resolution or Dispute Continuation?', In idem (ed.), 

Feuding and Wa?fore· SeiectRd Works if Keith F. 0tterIxin (Amsterdam: Gordon and Breach, 

1994), pp. 133-146. 

Panmei, Nehemiah, 'Naga movement and ist ramifications', In R Vashum, Aleube Iheilung et al 

(eds.), NagtS at Work (New Delhi: NSUD Publication, 1996), pp. 85-100. 

Peers, Douglas M, 'Introduction', In idem (ed.), Wa?fore am E rrpires: Onttut and rorrJlia betuRen 

European am ~ European nilitary am nv:ri.tim: forres and cultures. (An Expanding World: The 

European Impact on World History, 1450-1800: Vol. 24, Aldershot: Ashgate, Variorum, 

1997), pp. XV-XXXIV. 

Peled, Y., 'Ethnic Democracy and the Legal Constraints of Gtizenship: Arab Gtizens of the 

Jewish State', ArtEri.canPditiral Scim:e Red.ew, 86:2 Gune 1992),432-443. 

Pettigrew, J., 'Parents and Their Clllldren in Situations of Terror: Disappearances and Special 

Police Activity in Punjab', In Jeffrey A Sluka (ed.),DPAth Squad: The AnthrufxiatyifState 

Terror (philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2000), pp. 204-225. 

Phizo, Z. A, 'A LetterfromJail', In LuingamLuithui and Nandita Haksar (eds.), NagdandFile: A 

Q-testionifHurrunRigjJts (New Delhi: Lancer InternationaL 1984), pp. 41-56. 



308 

- ,'A Letter to the President of India', In Luingam Luithui and Nandita Haksar (eds.), 

Nagi4ndFile· A Q!estiooifHummRiiJts (New Delhi: Lancer International, 1984), pp. 57-

60. 

Porter, Andrew, "'Cultural Imperialism" and Protestant Missionary Entetprise, 1780-1914', The 

Janna/ iflrrperial and ~ History, Vol. 25, No. 3, September 1997, pp. 367-391. 

, 'Introduction: Britain and the Empire in the Nineteenth Century', In idem (ed.), The 

Oxfard History if the British E rrpire, V cl Ill, The Nirx!tRenth Century (Oxford: Oxford 

University Press, 1999), pp. 1-28. 

Proschan, Frank, 'Peoples of the Gourd: Imagined Ethnicities in Highland Southeast Asia', The 

Janna/ if Asian StudiI:s 60, no. 4 (November 2001), p. 999-1032. 

Pruett, Gordon E., 'Christianity, history, and culture in Nagaland', Cmtributians to Indian S cx:idutY 
(New Series), 1974, No. 8, pp. 51-65. 

Radcliffe-Brown, A R, 'Preface', In M Fortes and E. E. Evans-Pritchard (eds.), AfricanPditU:al 

S)5tem (London and New York, 1987 [1940], pp. XI-XXIII. 

Rajagopalan, Rajesh, 'Innovations in counterinsurgency: the Indian Armys Rashtriya Rifles', 

Canterrporary Sadh Asia 13 (1), March 2004, pp. 25-37. 

Rajashekara, H M, 'The Nature of Indian Federalism: A Oitique', AsianSuney, Vol. 37, No. 3, 

March 1997, pp. 245-253. 

Ranger, Terence, 'Kolonialismus in Ost- und Zentralafrika: von der traditionellen zur raditionalen 

Gesellschaft - Einspriiche und Widerspriiche', In Jan-Heeren Grevenmeyer (ed.), 

Traditionale Gesel/sdJaften urx:l europaischer Kdmialisrrns (Frankfurt am Main: Syndikat, 1981), 

pp. 16-46. 

Reid, Anthony, 'Introduction: A Time and a Place', In idem (ed.), Sootl:xz:tstAsia in the Early 

MalemEra: Trade, Pouer, andBelief(Ithaca and London: Cornell University Press, 1993), 

pp. 1-23. 

'Report of the Naga Goodwill Mission to Assam (22th December 1953)', In Luingam Luithui and 

Nandita Haksar (eds.), Nagi4ndFile· A QitstiooifHum:mRiiJts (New Delhi: Lancer 

International, 1984), pp. 74-94. 

Robb, Peter, 'The Colonial State and Constructions of Indian Identity: An Example on the 

Northeast Frontier in the 1880s', MalemAsianStudiI:s 31, 2 (1997), pp. 245-283. 

Robben, Antonius and Carolyn Nordstrom (eds.), 'The Anthropology and Ethnography of 

Violence and Sociopolitical Conflict', In idem (eds.), FieIdrmrk under Fire: Canterrporary 

Studies ifVidenceandSuniw (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1995), pp. 1-23. 

Robinson, Ronald, 'Wm. Roger Louis and the Official Mind of Decolonization', The Janna/ if 
Irrperial and Corrmmu:alth History, Vol. XXVII, May 1999, No. 2, pp. 1-12. 



309 

Sahlins, Marshall, 'Goodbye to Tristes Trqxs: Ethnography in the Context of Modem World 

Hstory',Jatmal ifMcxlemHistory 65 (March 1993), pp. 1-25. 

Sankalia, H D. & T.C Shanna, 'The Prehistoric Age', In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The Corrpr£hensire 

History if A ssam Vd L· FromPre-historic Tims to the T ueIjih Gntury A.D. (Guwahati: 

Publication Board, Assam, 1990), pp. 25-43. 

Sharp, John, 'Introduction: Constructing social realitY, In Emile Boonzaier and John Sharp 

(ecls.), SoothAftiamKeyoords: The uses ardabuses ifpditicd anEpts (Cape Town and 

Johannesburg: David Philip, 1988), pp. 1-16. 

Sigrist, Christian, 'Gesellschaften ohne Staat und die Entdeckungen der social anthropology, In 

Fritz Kramer and Christian Sigrist (eds.), Gesellschajien dn Staat. Band 1: Gleichheit und 

Geg?nseitigjeeit (Frankfurt am Main: Syndikat, 1978), pp. 28-44. 

Simons, Anna, 'War: Back to the Future', ArrnualRedewif Anthrupdag;;, 1999,28: 73-108. 

Singh, Bhawani 'Terrorism in Asia: The Indian Variant', Pditical ScierKe Reriew, 1986, Vol. 25, No. 

3-4, pp. 78-93. 

Singh, Gurharpal, Re-exarrining Centre-State ReIatians inlrdid (Unpublished inaugural lecture, 2000). 

Singh, Nimai N., 'Human Rights Abuses by Security Forces in Manipur', In Naorem Sanajaoba 

(ed.), HummRigjJts: Prirx:ipk, Praail:es & Abuses (New Delhi: Omsons, 1994), pp. 179-193. 

Sircar, D. C, 'Epico-Puraanic Myths and Allied Legends', In H K. Barpujari (ed.), The 

Corrpr£hensiw History if Assam Vd L· FrrmthePre-histori.c Tims to the TueIjih GnturyA.D. 

(Guwahati: Publication Board, Assam, 1990). 

Smooha, S., 'Minority Status in an Ethnic Democracy: the status of the Arab Minority in Israel', 

EtlmicandRacial Sum, 1990, 13:3,389-414. 

Stokes, E. T., 'Bureaucracy and Ideology: Britain and India in the Nineteenth Century', 

Transaaions if the Ray:;d Historiral Society, Fifth Series, Vol. 30, London 1980, pp. 131-156. 

Stone, Lawrence, 'Introduction', In idem (ed.) , Anlnperial State at War. Britainfram1689 to 1815 

(London: Routledge, 1994), pp. 1-32. 

Tagliacozzo, Eric, 'Ambiguous Commodities, Unstable Frontiers: The Case of Bunna, Siam, and 

Imperial Britain, 1800-1900', Corrp:tratiw Sum in Society and History, Vol. 46, No. 2, April 

2004, pp. 354-377. 

Talbot, Ian, 'British Rule in the Punjab, 1849-1947: Characteristics and Consequences', TheJatmal 

iflnperial and Cormvrruealth History, Vol. XIX, No. 2, pp. 203-221. 

Taussig, Michael, 'GUture of Terror - Space of Death: Roger Casement's Putumayo Report and 

the Explanation of Torture', CmparatiwSum in Society and History, 1984,26, pp. 467-497. 

Taylor, Charles, 'Nationalism and modernitY, In John A Hall (ed.), The State if the Nation: E nrst 

GeI1rK?randthe ThearyifNatimalism(Cambridge, 1998), pp. 191-218. 



310 

Therhuja, Khrieleno, 'The Christian Church among the Angami Nagas', In K. Suresh Singh (ed.), 

Tribal Situation inIrrIia (Simla: Indian Institute of Advanced Study, 1972), pp. 294-301. 

Thomton, A P., 'With Wavell on to Simla and Beyond', The Joomal ifIrrperial and Comrrmo!alth 

History, Vol. VIII, October 1979, No. 2, pp. 175-185. 

'Three case studies', In IWGIA Document 56, The NafF na;t;imand its stn@eafFinstg:naide.· A 

reportrorrpikdbyIWGIA (Copenhagen, 1986), pp. 73-82. 

Tonkin, Elizabeth, 'Borderline questions: people and space in West Africa', In Hastings Donnan 

and Thomas M WtIson (eds.), Border A ppmu}xs: A ~ Appmu}xs en Frontiers 

(Lanham: University Press of America, 1994), pp. 15-30. 

Van den Berghe, Pierre L., 'Introduction', In idem (ed.), State Vidence and E thnicity (Niwot: 

University of Colorado Press, 1990), pp. 1-18. 

Varshney, Ashutosh, 'Ethnic Conflict and Gvil Society: India and Beyond', WarldPditUs 53 (April 

2001),362-398. 

Vashum, R, 'Some reflections on Naga society: An Anthropological perspective', In R Vashum, 

A Iheilung u.a. (eds.), Naff1S at Work (New Delhi: NSUD Publication, 1996), pp. 61-77. 

'Village Diary - People of Mokokchung Village, Nagaland, dated 27 April 1964' , In IWGIA 

Document 56, The N afF nation and its stn@e afFinst g:naide.' A report rorrpikd by IWGIA 

(Copenhagen, 1986), pp. 136-140. 

WaIter, Dierk, 'Colonialism and Imperialism', in E rr;dopaedia ifViderKe, Pe£UI!, and Corflict, Vd 1 

(San Diego: Academic Press, 1999), pp. 355-365. 

Washbrook, D. A, 'India, 1818-1860: The Two Faces Of Colonialism', in Andrew Porter (ed.), 

The Oxford History if the British E rrpire, Vd Ill, The NiJrteenth Century (Oxford: Oxford 

University Press, 1999), pp. 395-420. 

Weiner, Myron, 'Ancient Indian Political Theory and Contemporary Indian Politics', In S. N. 

Eisenstadt, Reuven Kahane and David Shulman (eds.), 0rthaInxy, Heterrxlaxy andDissent in 

India (Berlin, 1984) pp. 111-129. 

Webster, David, "'Already Sovereign as a People"; A Foundational Moment in West Papuan 

Nationalism' PadjicAffairs, Wmter 2001-2002, Vol. 74, No. 4, pp. 507-528. 

Wesseling, H L., 'Colonial Wars: An Introduction', In]. A de Moor and H L. Wesseling (eds.), 

Irrperialismand War. Esstl)5 en Cdooial Wars inAsia andAfrica (Leiden: E. J. 
BrilVUniversitaire Pers Leiden, 1989), pp. 1-11. 

White, Hayden, 'The Forms of Wildness: Archeology of an Idea', In Edward Dudley and 

Maximillian E. Novak (eds.), The WzldMan Wl1hin: AnIml~ in WE3tem ThatgJJtfromthe 

Renaissana: to Rommticim (pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1972), pp. 3-38. 



311 -
Wolpin, Miles D., 'State terrorism and death squads in the New World Order', In Kumar 

Rupesinghe and Marcial Rubio C. (eds.), 1be aJture if Udena! (Tokyo: United Nations 

University Press, 1994), pp. 198-236. 

Yftachel, 0., 'The Ethnic Democracy Model and its Applicability to the Case of Israel', Ethnic and 

Racial StudiRS, 15:1 Ganuary 1992), 124-136. 

Young, Crawford, 'Ethnicity and the Colonial and Postcolonial State in Africa', In Paul Brass 

(ed.), EthnicGratps and the State (London: Croom Helm, 1985), pp. 57-93. 

5. Newspapers and JoumaJs 

Daily Telegraph 

Far E astern E CDJ1011ic Redew 

Mainstream 

MandJester Guarditm 

N eue ZUricher Zeitung 

North-East Sun 

S Uddeutsche Zeiturrg 

1beExpress 

1be Guardian 

1be Frantlin! 

the little rrugain! 

1be Obsener 

1beTirrn 

Wre1ely Dispauh 


	417173-001
	417173-002
	417173-003
	417173-004
	417173-005
	417173-006
	417173-007
	417173-008
	417173-009
	417173-010
	417173-011
	417173-012
	417173-013
	417173-014
	417173-015
	417173-016
	417173-017
	417173-018
	417173-019
	417173-020
	417173-021
	417173-022
	417173-023
	417173-024
	417173-025
	417173-026
	417173-027
	417173-028
	417173-029
	417173-030
	417173-031
	417173-032
	417173-033
	417173-034
	417173-035
	417173-036
	417173-037
	417173-038
	417173-039
	417173-040
	417173-041
	417173-042
	417173-043
	417173-044
	417173-045
	417173-046
	417173-047
	417173-048
	417173-049
	417173-050
	417173-051
	417173-052
	417173-053
	417173-054
	417173-055
	417173-056
	417173-057
	417173-058
	417173-059
	417173-060
	417173-061
	417173-062
	417173-063
	417173-064
	417173-065
	417173-066
	417173-067
	417173-068
	417173-069
	417173-070
	417173-071
	417173-072
	417173-073
	417173-074
	417173-075
	417173-076
	417173-077
	417173-078
	417173-079
	417173-080
	417173-081
	417173-082
	417173-083
	417173-084
	417173-085
	417173-086
	417173-087
	417173-088
	417173-089
	417173-090
	417173-091
	417173-092
	417173-093
	417173-094
	417173-095
	417173-096
	417173-097
	417173-098
	417173-099
	417173-100
	417173-101
	417173-102
	417173-103
	417173-104
	417173-105
	417173-106
	417173-107
	417173-108
	417173-109
	417173-110
	417173-111
	417173-112
	417173-113
	417173-114
	417173-115
	417173-116
	417173-117
	417173-118
	417173-119
	417173-120
	417173-121
	417173-122
	417173-123
	417173-124
	417173-125
	417173-126
	417173-127
	417173-128
	417173-129
	417173-130
	417173-131
	417173-132
	417173-133
	417173-134
	417173-135
	417173-136
	417173-137
	417173-138
	417173-139
	417173-140
	417173-141
	417173-142
	417173-143
	417173-144
	417173-145
	417173-146
	417173-147
	417173-148
	417173-149
	417173-150
	417173-151
	417173-152
	417173-153
	417173-154
	417173-155
	417173-156
	417173-157
	417173-158
	417173-159
	417173-160
	417173-161
	417173-162
	417173-163
	417173-164
	417173-165
	417173-166
	417173-167
	417173-168
	417173-169
	417173-170
	417173-171
	417173-172
	417173-173
	417173-174
	417173-175
	417173-176
	417173-177
	417173-178
	417173-179
	417173-180
	417173-181
	417173-182
	417173-183
	417173-184
	417173-185
	417173-186
	417173-187
	417173-188
	417173-189
	417173-190
	417173-191
	417173-192
	417173-193
	417173-194
	417173-195
	417173-196
	417173-197
	417173-198
	417173-199
	417173-200
	417173-201
	417173-202
	417173-203
	417173-204
	417173-205
	417173-206
	417173-207
	417173-208
	417173-209
	417173-210
	417173-211
	417173-212
	417173-213
	417173-214
	417173-215
	417173-216
	417173-217
	417173-218
	417173-219
	417173-220
	417173-221
	417173-222
	417173-223
	417173-224
	417173-225
	417173-226
	417173-227
	417173-228
	417173-229
	417173-230
	417173-231
	417173-232
	417173-233
	417173-234
	417173-235
	417173-236
	417173-237
	417173-238
	417173-239
	417173-240
	417173-241
	417173-242
	417173-243
	417173-244
	417173-245
	417173-246
	417173-247
	417173-248
	417173-249
	417173-250
	417173-251
	417173-252
	417173-253
	417173-254
	417173-255
	417173-256
	417173-257
	417173-258
	417173-259
	417173-260
	417173-261
	417173-262
	417173-263
	417173-264
	417173-265
	417173-266
	417173-267
	417173-268
	417173-269
	417173-270
	417173-271
	417173-272
	417173-273
	417173-274
	417173-275
	417173-276
	417173-277
	417173-278
	417173-279
	417173-280
	417173-281
	417173-282
	417173-283
	417173-284
	417173-285
	417173-286
	417173-287
	417173-288
	417173-289
	417173-290
	417173-291
	417173-292
	417173-293
	417173-294
	417173-295
	417173-296
	417173-297
	417173-298
	417173-299
	417173-300
	417173-301
	417173-302
	417173-303
	417173-304
	417173-305
	417173-306
	417173-307
	417173-308
	417173-309
	417173-310
	417173-311
	417173-312
	417173-313
	417173-314
	417173-315
	417173-316
	417173-317
	417173-318
	417173-319
	417173-320
	417173-321
	417173-322
	417173-323
	417173-324
	417173-325
	417173-326
	417173-327

